

Twentieth International CALL Research Conference

# **Social CALL**

**10 - 12 July 2019** Hong Kong









# **Social CALL**

# **Proceedings**

# The Education University of Hong Kong 10 - 12 July 2019

Composed by Jozef Colpaert, Ann Aerts, Qing Ma, Jackie Lee Fung King

Proceedings, 2019 Cover: Nieuwe Media Dienst, University of Antwerp

ISBN 9789057286230

Alle rechten voorbehouden. Niets uit deze uitgave mag worden verveelvoudigd, opgeslagen in een geautomatiseerd gegevensbestand, of openbaar gemaakt, in enige vorm of op enige wijze, hetzij elektronisch, mechanisch, door fotokopieën, opnamen of op enige manier, zonder voorafgaandelijke schriftelijke toestemming van de uitgever.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system of transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, or otherwise, without the prior written permission of the publisher.

Uitgave en verspreiding:

Universiteit Antwerpen Prinsstraat 13 2000 Antwerpen www.uantwerpen.be

# **Table of contents**

Table of contents	4
Foreword	9
Keynote presentations	11
Yueguo Gu	13
Transformative learning for the aging and aged population	13
Mirjam Hauck, Antonie Alm Social CALL: Trajectories, Turns and Trends	<b>14</b> 14
Selected plenaries	15
Wang Qi	
A comparative study of Chinese and foreign English teachers' online collaborative reflection	17
M. Rafael Salaberry	26
The affordances of social media to develop social networks in study abroad contexts	
Paper presentations	35
Mehrasa Alizadeh	
Quality Matters <sup>®</sup> in blended course design and development	
Sahal Alshammari	44
The impact of social media on language learning: a Saudi university case study	
InJung Cho	50
Integrating North Korean defectors into the South Korean education system	50
Jozef Colpaert, Evelyn Spruyt	60
Toward a task design model for mental acceptance and motivation: a transdisciplinary approach	60
Heba Sayed El-Toukhy	68
Using mobile technology to help visual impairment students	68
Kolbrún Friðriksdóttir, Birna Arnbjörnsdóttir	74
The usefulness of Icelandic Online: Motivational factors and student retention	74
Hui Guo	77
Using mobile apps to develop L2 speaking: an ecological perspective	77
Ching-yin Hsu, Chih-cheng Lin	84
Epistemic development in small groups in a task-based and mobile-assisted language learning cla	assroom
Hsiao-Ling Hsu, Hao-Jan Howard Chen	92
The investigation of personal pronouns used in academic lectures	92
Helizhu Hu, Qing Ma	100
i ne multi-case study of English teachers' mobile-assisted technology use in Southwest China from ecological understanding	m an 100
0	

Cuixia Hu, Liemei Huang108	8
A design of college English internet-based blended teaching with the guidance of Chinese standards of English language ability	8
Kristi Jauregi Ondarra113	3
Inclusive telecollaboration meets diversity in TeCoLa: teachers' & learners' voices	3
<b>Kyeong-Ouk Jeong, Hwa-Seon Kim<sup>*</sup></b>	<b>0</b> 0
Goh Kawai	<b>6</b> 6
Chao-jung Ko	<b>4</b> 4
Xiaofang Kuang, Weiwei Yan, Bo Sun, Yuanyuan Lv*, Juan Yang	<b>8</b> 8
Chunlin Lei, Fulan Liu <sup>*</sup>	<b>6</b>
Wenjin Li, Zhihong Lu       151         Effect of AWE-based writing on EFL learners' oral performance at different proficiency levels       151	<b>1</b> 1
Shan Li, Zhihong Lu	<b>7</b> 7
Yueh Chin Lin	<b>2</b> 2
Hui-Chuan Lu, An Chung Cheng, Yue-Hsueh Fang       171         Developing a web-based adaptive evaluation tool: a case of Spanish copular verbs       172	<b>1</b> 1
Sarah H.J Liu	<b>6</b> 6
Sihui Liu, Aditi Jhaveri       18         A corpus-driven genre analysis of captions of food-related posts of popular Hong Kong foodies on       18         Instagram       18	<b>3</b>
Beate Luo       194         Improving reading rate through vocabulary learning using an online learning platform       194	<b>4</b> 4
Boning Lyu, Chun Lai       202         Learning through social media in the ecology of language learners       202	<b>2</b> 2
Qing Ma, Yi Ching Eugene Leung & Shanru Lin	<b>8</b> 8
Yanjin Pan, Shin-Chieh Hsieh, Seng-Hian Lau	<b>8</b> 8

Joan-Tomas Pujola, Olivia Espejel, Pilar Concheiro*	.227
First encounters in a virtual exchange project: analysis of students' interactions and their reflections.	. 227
Takeshi Sato, Masa'aki Ogura*, Shoma Aota**, Tyler Burden***	.235
Does an automated translation bot support or hinder L2 collaborative interaction? - In terms of L2	
production and motivation.	. 235
John Sloan, Beate Luo*, Julie Carson-Berndsen	.240
Emotional response language education: a first 'in-the-wild' evaluation	. 240
Yanjie Song, Hiroaki Ogata <sup>*</sup> , Kousuke Mouri <sup>**</sup>	.248
Enhancing pupils' English vocabulary learning mediated by a learner-generated content tool from an	
ecological perspective	. 248
Vance Stevens	.257
Thinking SMALL about social media assisted language learning	. 257
Xiangyu Tan	.273
Exploring adult EFL leaners' engagement with oral corrective feedback in one-on-one online English	
tutoring	. 273
lingxuan Tian	.278
Imitating American TV dramas in the Online exam-oriented English language preparation class	. 278
Pi-hua Tsai	.286
Computer-assisted pronunciation training through learner-made family narratives	. 286
Yun-Pei Tseng, Hsien-Chin Liou	.293
Including learners with different needs of cross-register materials: Corpus analysis of TED talk transcri	ipts
with polysemous phrasal verbs	. 293
Aurelio Vilbar, Rohizani Yaakub*, Rose Makaramani**, Zanabazar Bayarchimeg***, Norlida	
Ahmad*, Magnolia Laus, Cherry Malaque, Jeraline Gumalal	.297
Telecollaboration among Malaysia, Mongolia, Thailand, and the Philippines to develop intercultural el	book
on local indigenous knowledge system	. 297
Le Vo Thi Hong	.308
Learning to write business email by email exchange with smartphones	. 308
Pham Vu Phi Ho	.315
Future of CALL for Vietnamese Students	. 315
Na Wang, Jingyuan Zhang, Juanwen Chen	.324
Designing CALL courseware for an EAP situation: a report on a case study	. 324
Pei-Ling Wang, Hsiao-Chien Lee, Chien-Chin Chen	.330
English majors creating bilingual picture books: a collaborative online task	. 330
Ting Zeng, Ju Wen*	.340
Is SET system effective in promoting EFL learners' speaking proficiency? Evidence from a longitudinal study	3/10
study	. 540
Sumei Wu, Meei-Ling Liaw, Paige Ware	.347
Virtual rReality simulations: a medium for promoting pedagogical interactions among teachers in an	247
ווונפוכטונטראו נפופנטוואטטראנועפ גיטןפכנ	. 34/

Lisha Xu
Facilitate Aautonomous learning of Chinese language with social media enhanced pedagogy
Lu Yunru, Qing Ma
The usefulness and improvement of one-to-one online oral English courses in China
Elena Yurieva, Elena Sokolova371
English for specific purposes: from GE teacher to ESP practitioner
Artem Zadorozhnyy, Yu Baohua
The importance of informal digital learning practices for English language acquisition
Chen Zhao, Wei Wei
Is mobile-assisted online feedback a better way to improve pronunciation than face-to-face feedback at
both word and phrase level?
Chunping Zheng, Lili Wang, Yutong Lu and Xiaohan Yu389
Effects of video-based collaborative and formative practices on EFL learners' public speaking anxiety and
language proficiency
Sha Zhong
Exploration and practice of blended teaching modes of college English based on the platform of
ReallyEnglish

It is my pleasure to welcome you to the XXth International CALL Research Conference at the Education University of Hong Kong. More than 150 participants from more than 20 countries have submitted papers which all focus on the conference theme "Social CALL".

The International CALL Research Conferences aim to put CALL on the map as a respectable and respected discipline. As exponents of this discipline, CALL researchers and practitioners do have considerable responsibilities. Intellectual, but also social responsibilities.

Our XXth conference addresses the social dimensions of CALL, more specifically the social challenges and responsibilities in our work. Participants have brought together papers which focus on a wide variety of relevant issues such as diversity and inclusion; migration and integration; critical consciousness and critical pedagogy; intercultural and transcultural dialogue; minority languages; language for Specific Purposes (small target groups); learner-learner, learner-teacher and learner-NS interaction; the ecology of the learner; the ecology of the teacher; identities and cultures; gender issues; disabilities (cognitive, physical, sensory); the Matthew effect; privacy (recordings) and data protection; Communities of Practice; user rights; author rights and ownership; accessibility, cost, usability and usefulness of educational resources; telecollaboration and social media.

I wish to thank my associate editors, the members of our editorial board, the local organizer Ma Qing and her team, our keynote speakers Mirjam Hauck, Antonie Alm and Gu Yueguo, conference manager Ann Aerts, and all the participants.

The International CALL Research Conferences were initiated by Keith Cameron, the founding editor of *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, at Exeter University. In 2002, I was asked to take over both the editorship of the journal and the organization of the conferences. Since then, the following have been organized:

Xth edition: "CALL Professionals and the future of CALL Research" (Antwerp, 2002)
XIth edition: "CALL and Research Methodologies" (Antwerp, 2004)
XIIth edition: "How are we Doing? CALL and Monitoring the Learner" (Antwerp, 2006)
XIIIth edition: "Practice-Based & Practice-Oriented CALL Research" (Antwerp, 2008)
XIVth edition: "Motivation and Beyond" (Antwerp, 2010)
XVth edition: "The Medium Matters" (Taichung, 2012)
XVIth edition: "Research Challenges in CALL" (Antwerp, 2014)
XVIIth edition: "Task design and CALL" (Tarragona, 2015)
XVIIIth edition: "CALL in Context" (Berkeley, 2017)
XIXth edition: "CALL your DATA" (Bruges, 2018)

It is our intention to keep the CALL conferences annual instead of biennial, and to change the continent every year. Should you be interested in hosting one of our conferences, just let us know.

#### **Jozef Colpaert**

Editor CALL Journal Organizer International CALL Research Conferences

# **Keynote presentations**

# Yueguo Gu

The Institute of Beiwai online education, Beijing foreign studies university, Beijing, China

gyg@beiwaionline.com

# Transformative learning for the aging and aged population

### Abstract

Transformative learning, conceptually speaking, consists of two essential component: transform and learning, while it, executively speaking, operates in two different but closely interconnected domains: the individual personal domain and the public educational system domain. This paper focuses on the special sector of the first domain – individuals aging 60 and living far beyond. The learning for the late adulthood is generally covered under the banner of lifelong learning. Lifelong learning, as shown in Jarvis (2004, 2005, 2009), is often treated, both conceptually and syllabus-wise, as an extension of and supplement to what is provided on traditional campus. Some retirees in China, for instance, attend  $\xi$ 

大学 for the courses originally offered to college or university students.

The objective of this paper is twofold. One is to explore the nature as well as practice of learning for 60-and-above individuals. The message to take home is: They need to self-transform themselves in worldviews, life styles, knowledge stores, skill buildings, etc. The other is to critically review the existing practice of lifelong learning provided by educational systems. The message to take home is: The existing lifelong learning programmes must be transformed, some areas quite drastically too, to meet the ever-changing needs of the aging and aged population. This is a continuation of my previous two studies (Gu, 2018, 2019). Hence the burden of proof is offered there.

### References

Gu, Yueguo, 2018. Lifelong learning in life course perspectives: ChinaCALL's manifesto. Plenary speech at GloCALL and 15<sup>th</sup> ChinaCALL Conference at Liverpool University, Suzhou China.

Gu, Yueguo, 2019. Late adulthood FL learning and the aging brain. Plenary speech at the  $2^{nd}$  Conference on ELE in Chinese context. BFSU, Beijing China.

Jarvis, Peter, 2004, 3<sup>rd</sup> edition. Adult Education and Lifelong Learning. London: Routledge.

Jarvis, Peter and Stella Parker, eds., 2005. Human Learning: A Holistic Approach. London: Routledge.

Jarvis, Peter, ed., 2009. The Routledge International Handbook of Lifelong Learning. London: Routledge.

# Mirjam Hauck, Antonie Alm

The Open University, Milton Keynes, United kingdom University of Otago, Otago, New Zealand

mirjam.hauck@open.ac.uk, antonie.alm@otago.ac.nz

### Social CALL: Trajectories, Turns and Trends

### Abstract

Over the past five decades our field has moved through several distinctive phases: from its behavioristic beginnings, via communicative and integrative CALL, to social CALL. We will share our respective CALL trajectories up until today, with reference to these milestones, before honing in on the multifarious dimensions of Social CALL and their affordances and limitations.

Our starting points are the mid-late nineties: in very different educational and geographical contexts we were drawn to using technology for the learning and teaching of German and the cultures of German-speaking countries. We were looking for ways of making the learning process a social experience for our students, who were either physically remote from native German speakers and with no access to authentic German language resources or - for a variety of reasons including personal circumstances such as health or age, for example - had chosen to study languages at a distance. The trajectories of our social CALL experiences have taken many turns over the years, reflecting shifting language-learning paradigms and technological developments. Today, as possibilities for social CALL seem endless, we are on different paths, yet we both question the impact of the social on the learner's ability to critically engage with their learning.

We have moved from a paradigm of scarcity to a paradigm of abundance. One of the side effects, if not risks for CALL, or indeed any form of technology-mediated learning, is to become anti-or unsocial. In the second half of our talk we will explore how this trend manifests itself and consider explanations for this development. We will share with the audience what inspired us to consider what we maybe don't hear or read about, namely issues of inclusion and exclusion in CALL, and what CALL researchers and practitioners may need to draw out more to get to the core of Social CALL.

We will also challenge the audience to give thought to what we - the CALL community - can and should be doing in an era of clashes between abundance and superdiversity on the one hand, and countervailing political attempts to stem the free flow of people and communications on the other. This will ensure that language learners have the skills that prevent them from jumping into superficial conclusions about who others are and how they express themselves. Skills that encourage them to consider past as well as present literacy practices, and to take a critical stance towards today's media. We will foreground the need for a critical lens for thinking about ourselves, and for engaging with otherness both off-and online. As CALL researchers and practitioners of language learning and teaching, we will argue, we need to find ways of supporting our learners more than just linguistically in the current socio-political climate, or indeed, in any socio-political climate. This should entail learning how to use digital technologies for public engagement, global citizenship and the enhancement of democracy – for better lives and more sustainable futures.

# **Selected plenaries**

# Wang Qi

Northwest Normal University

qiwang@nwnu.edu.cn

# A comparative study of Chinese and foreign English teachers' online collaborative reflection

### Abstract

This study is designed to compare the contents, the levels, and the social network features of Chinese and foreign English teachers' online collaborative reflection in the two internet forums. The data were analyzed through content analysis, descriptive analysis, and social network analysis. The results show: a) Teachers in both forums attach importance to teaching methods and evaluation. However, the Chinese English teachers have less interest in pedagogical theory, and foreign English teachers focus more on applying educational technology into their classroom. b) Chinese English teachers' expert reflective level is much lower than that of foreign English teachers, and both of them lack establishing goals and commitment to profession. c) There are some differences of the social network features of sociogram, cohesion, and ccentrality analysis between the two forums.

### **Conference paper**

#### Introduction

Previous studies have revealed the positive benefits of collaborative reflection and have concluded that collaborative reflection helps teachers improve their practice as professionals, and discover and develop their unique professional stances (Glazer, Abbot and Harris, 2000), and also helps facilitate their higher-order thinking(Kim & Lee, 2002), refine their teaching skills and approaches to teaching and provide a means for improvement (Martin & Double, 1998), take their knowledge to the next level through deeper analysis, application, and evaluation (Nicholson & Bond, 2003), and create the conditions where teachers learn about their practice, by talking about their experiences, becoming aware of their assumptions and expectations, questioning these assumptions and revising their perspectives (Kraft, 2002). In collaborative reflection, teachers reflect through group discussion and discourse and have an opportunity to examine their teaching practice and deconstruct or transform their existing believes (Akyel, 2000).

As technology-supported environments have been developed to facilitate collaborative reflection, there have been increasing efforts worldwide to encourage teachers' collaborative reflection online. Many technology-enhanced learning environments have also been widely used to facilitate collaborative reflection using feedback (Schwartz, Lin, Brophy, & Bransford, 1999; Xie, Ke, & Sharma, 2008). For example, videos have been used to allow peer teachers to observe and model how other more experienced teachers performed their teaching practices (Fadde, Aud, & Gilbert, 2009; Stockero, 2008). Furthermore, more studies have taken pre-service teachers as their research subjects. A study from South Korea found that science pre-service teachers' collaborative reflection efforts (e.g., sharing dilemmas, teaching, observing) enhanced their individual reflection, knowledge, and perspectives of teaching (Yoon & Kim, 2010). South African pre-service teachers found their collaborative reflection sessions to be positive experiences amid the many challenges of school-based teaching through an electronic discussion board (Mukeredzi & Mandrona, 2013). Online discussion board participation has also been linked to helping pre-service teachers develop their professional identity or "teacher's voice" (Sutherland, Howard, & Markauskaite, 2010).

The rise of social media services has offered new possibilities for teachers' collaborative reflection online. The form of microblogging communication can support professional and personal growth of teachers in supportive online communities through services like Twitter, Facebook, or Edmodo (Mills & Chandra, 2011). Wright (2010) found that pre-service teachers who regularly reflected upon experiences by microblogging on Twitter cultivated a sense of community around practicum experiences and decreased feelings of isolation; The character limit aided purposeful reflection and helped focus on creating more effective teaching. Krutka et al (2014) encouraged collaborative reflection among pre-service teachers using Edmodo, and findings indicated these teachers found the site highly usable, and appreciated the choice and influence afforded them through the medium.

However, this research is far from enough, and very few studies discussed the contents, the levels, and social network features of English teachers' online collaborative reflection. Thus, this study aims at answering the following research question: What are the major contents, the levels, and social network features of English teachers' online collaborative reflection in the two forums? Are there any similarities and differences between them? Are there any implications?

#### Methodology

#### Contexts, Participants and Data

This study was conducted in two internet forums. One is from *Cambridge English Teacher Online Professional Development (CETOPD)* and the other is from *Xing Si Kao Chinese Education Resources Service (XSKCERS)*. The former provides the platform of six sections: *courses, webinars, knowledge, discussion, careers and communities*. In "discussion" section, the professors, such as Penny Ur, Jack Richards, Nicky Hockly, Mike McCarthy, ect. are served as consultants, and the English teachers from more than 30 countries are the participants. The latter also provides the discussion section with 1 consultant for Chinese English teachers from all over the country. This study selected 50 topics (grammar, pronunciation, reading, speaking, listening, writing, questioning, group work, discourse, textbook, professional development, homework, curriculum, educational technology, etc.) from August 12, 2013 to June 1, 2015 respectively in the two forums. Entries of 50 topics are analysed according to the contents and the levels of collaborative reflection, and the data are classified by their ideas or statements, which are analysed and compared for answering research questions.

#### Instruments and Data Analysis Coding the Collaborative Reflection Contents

This study, according to the 50 topics collected from the two forums, revised the *Topic Category of Reflection Framework* (Ho and Richards, 1993) into 7 thematic categories for coding and analysing the teachers' collaborative reflection contents (see Table 1).

Thematic category	Sub-category
Theories of teaching	Theory introduction; Theory application; Personal understanding
Instructional approaches and methods	Pedagogical methods; Pedagogical content; Student development and management; School context
Evaluation of teaching	Evaluation of self's or others' teaching; Evaluation of educational issues; Solution to problem
Self-awareness of strengths & weaknesses	Perception of self as a teacher; Personal growth; Personal goal
Instructional technologies and corpus	Instructional technologies; corpus in teaching and learning
Phatic and encouraging expressions	Greetings, encouragements, etc.
Questions and replies on technology	Questions and replies on using the internet forums

Table 1.	Thematic Category	on Fnalish	Teachers'	Collaborative Reflection Contents

#### Coding the Collaborative Reflection Level

This study adopted *Three Stage Developmental Model of Teacher Reflection* (Crotty, 2001) for coding and analysing English teachers' collaborative reflection levels (see Table 2).

li	able 2 Three Stages of	
	Cognitive Level	Description
	Knowledge	1. Briefly describes the relevance of the evidence or artifacts
ctive	Comprehension	2.Demonstrates an understanding of student development and relevant instructional plans
Refle er	Application	3.Connects college coursework concepts with practical classroom applications
L L	Analysis	4. Shows evidence of taking a teacher's perspective
ginne	Synthesis	5.Establishes short term goals based upon perceived strengths and weaknesses
Beç Pra	Evaluation	6.Includes an awareness of their own professional development as a teacher
	Knowledge	1.Supports and clarifies new understanding with evidence
	Comprehension	<ol><li>Examines and recommends varied instructional strategies as a result of assessing student needs</li></ol>
ate er	Application	3.Demonstrates an awareness of teaching and learning theory through classroom application examples
nedia tive tione	Analysis	4.Shows ability to take multiple perspectives (teachers', parents' students', and principals')
cti	Synthesis	5. Establishes professional goals for teaching and learning
Int refl Pra	Evaluation	<ol> <li>Includes references to feedback from other professionals(colleagues) about their own teaching</li> </ol>
6)	Knowledge	<ol> <li>Supports insight, creativity and understanding with evidence and artifacts</li> </ol>
flective	Comprehension	2.Demonstrates an in-depth understanding of pedagogical theory, subject matter and student development and uses correct terminology throughout
Re titi	Application	3.Assists or mentors other teachers
pert Praci	Analysis	<ol> <li>Includes multiple perspectives (personal, professional, political, and philosophical) of individuals and society</li> </ol>
L X	Synthesis	5. Establishes long term goals and commitment to profession
	Evaluation	6.Includes instances of giving and getting feedback from colleagues

# Table 2 Three Stages of Teacher Reflection Developmental Model

#### Data Analysis

A content analysis was conducted according to the categories of the two coding frameworks. First, two researchers cooperated together to establish the standard for analysis, which is essential for the reliability of the data. Second, they classified the entries respectively into the appropriate categories. Third, Pi index was adopted for inter-coder reliability. The formula 2M/N1+N2 can measure the agreement between the two raters. According to this, the inter-coder reliability of collaborative reflection content is 0.7, and level is 0.8, which means the classified data are reliable. Finally, the number and percentage of each category were calculated for further analysis.

#### Social Network Analysis Software (SNA)

Features of Sociogram, cohesion and centrality were analysed by SNA software Ucinet 6.186, which can be used to analyse social network relation in the process of teachers' collaborative reflection. Sociogram analysis aims at showing the whole structure of the teachers' collaboration. Cohesion analysis is for analysing the relations between the members and events. Centrality analysis is for measuring the individual centrality in the forum. This study selected 12 discussion topics for social network analysis.

#### Results and Discussion The Contents of Chinese and Foreign English teachers' collaborative reflection

Topic Category	Chinese Teachers		Foreign Teachers	
Topic Category	N	%	N	%
1. Theories of teaching	91	2%	243	14%
<ol><li>Instructional approaches and methods</li></ol>	1173	27%	518	30%
3. Evaluation of teaching	1472	34%	462	27%
<ol><li>Self-awareness of strengths and weaknesses</li></ol>	335	8%	71	4%
5. Instructional technology	27	0.6%	133	8%
<ol><li>Phatic and encouraging expressions</li></ol>	1028	24%	201	12%
<ol><li>Questions &amp; replies on technology</li></ol>	190	4%	92	5%

Table 3. Percentage of Teachers' Collaborative Reflection Contents in the Two Forums

In Table 3, the main trend of contents in two forums is similar. Both teachers attach importance to the instructional methods and evaluation. However, Chinese English teachers concentrate more on evaluation of teaching and phatic expressions, esp. on evaluation in new curriculum innovation, but they have little interest in instructional technology and teaching theories. In contrast, foreign English teachers have more interest in theories and technology in teaching practice. They like discussing on what classroom technologies are essential today? the digital divide; using technologies with young learners; teaching speaking and writing online, mobile learning; corpora and vocabulary and grammar; digital literacy; corpora and the advanced level learner; integrating technology, etc. This may indicate they often use technology in teaching and have more experience about the technology appliance. The consultants of *CETOPD* always provide the help from the perspective of theories. Moreover, it is worth mentioning that the famous professors as the topic consultants palv the central role in discussion, and give teachers strong support on teaching and learning from theory perspective, which helps them better understand the theories and exchange ideas, and also greatly encourage teachers to get more involved in applying theories into practice.

After reading the entries in detail, we also found Chinese teachers like evaluating teaching and learning while foreign teachers like describing their teaching experiences. Besides, polite and encouraging expressions are an essential means for establishing the friendly relations in online environment, and Chinese teachers pay more attention to it than foreign teachers. In addition, Chinese teachers have stronger awareness of self-development and improvement than foreign teachers. Finally, when encountering the technology problems of using internet forums, Chinese teachers normally discuss the problems by themselves and help each other or share their own experience. Fortunately, foreign teachers can get support from the moderators and technicians of *CETOPD*.

Table 4. Percentage of Teachers' Collaborative Reflection Levels in the Two Forums					
Chana	Cognitive Level	Chinese Teachers		Foreign Teachers	
Stage	Cognitive Level	N	%	N	%
	1. Knowledge	913	35.08%	267	18.2%
	2. Comprehension	18	0.69%	126	8.6%
	3. Application	58	2.23%	115	7.8%
Beginner	4. Analysis	148	5.69%	140	9.5%
Reflective	5. Synthesis	52	1.99%	22	1.5%
Practitioner	6. Evaluation	316	12.14%	48	3.3%
		1505	57.82%	718	48.9%
	1. Knowledge	451	17.33%	59	4.1%
Intermediate Reflective Practitioner	2. Comprehension	29	1.11%	37	2.5%
	3. Application	166	6.38%	10	0.7%
	4. Analysis	70	2.69%	23	1.6%
	5. Synthesis	25	0.96%	2	0.1%
	6. Evaluation	221	8.49%	105	7.2%
		962	36.96%	236	16.1%
	1. Knowledge	60	2.31%	18	1.2%
	2. Comprehension	16	0.61%	181	12.3%
E. w. e. t	3. Application	45	1.73%	300	20.4%
Expert Reflective	4. Analysis	14	0.54%	8	0.5%
				4	0

0

0

135

0

0

5.19%

1

7

515

0

0.5%

34.9%

5. Synthesis

6. Evaluation

#### The Levels of Chinese and Foreign English teachers' collaborative reflection

In Table 4, most teachers' collaborative reflection levels in the two forums are at the beginner stage. They briefly describe the relevance of the evidence and artifacts, and connects college coursework concepts with practical classroom applications, and few of them establish short term goals based on perceived strengths and weaknesses. However, more Chinese teachers have awareness of their own professional development than foreign teachers, but fewer of them demonstrate an understanding of students' development and relevant instructional plans. At the intermediate stage, very few teachers in both forums establish professional goals for teaching and learning. But more Chinese teachers prefer giving new understanding and expressing their novel ideas about related evidence, and demonstrating an awareness of teaching and learning theory through classroom application examples, but fewer of them examine and recommend varied instructional strategies as a result of assessing student needs. At the expert stage, in both forums, there are no statements of E5, which shows teachers lack of establishing long term goals and commitment to profession, and very few teachers analyse the relevant events from multiple perspectives of individuals and society. More importantly, far more foreign teachers (12.3%) demonstrate in-depth understanding about the related pedagogical theories, student development and subject matters and uses correct terminology throughout than Chinese teachers (0.61%).

#### Social Network Features of Chinese and Foreign English teachers' collaborative reflection

Sociogram Analysis

Practitioner



Fig. 1 Sociogram of CETOPD

Fig. 2 Sociogram of XSKCERS

Sociogram is used to analyze the relationship between all network members. Fig.1 shows the whole network structure of *CETOPD*, and the connections between members are represented by directed arrows. 7 members play central roles in discussions and communication while most members just participate in several or few discussions. It is obvious that there are more nodes (161members) and ties (361) in Fig.1 than in Fig.2(29;118), which means more teachers participate in discussion in Fig.1. But the density of Fig.1 (0.0209) is lower than that of Fig.2 (0.8573), which indicates that the interaction among the teachers is more intensive in Fig.2.

Cohesion Analysis



Fig.3 Collaborator-clique Connections of CETOPD Fig.4 Collaborator-clique Connections of XSKCERS

Cohesion analysis is to show the relationship between the members and the events (topics). The red nodes refer to the members in collaboration, and 12 blue squares refer to the events. The more connection between the nodes and the square, more active the members are. In Fig.3, 2 members participate in more than 6 events, which shows they participate actively in discussion, and establish more collaborative relationships with other members, and more members focus on one event, which helps further and deeper collaborative reflection. In Fig.4, 5 members participate in 10 events. They collaborate with others actively and build closer and more stable relationships with others in collaboration.

#### Centrality Analysis



Fig.5 Centrality Power Distribution of CETOP Fig.6 Centrality Power Distribution of XSKCERS

Centrality analysis is to evaluate the importance of the members in a community, as well as an indicator to measure their status and social prestige. The members who participate in discussion regularly and actively are "core members" or "leaders". In Fig.5 and 6, the size of the blue squares represents the members' contribution and the influence in the collaboration. In Fig.5, 9 squares are much bigger than the others, which shows they are the leaders and have more influences than others. 6 of them are consultants and responsible for providing the discussion topics and giving teachers advice and help. Besides, 3 teachers also make the significant contributions to the discussion. However, in Fig.6, 2 squares are bigger than others, including 1 consultant, who are the leaders in collaboration, and make more contributions than other teachers.

#### **Conclusions & Implications**

This study has revealed online collaborative reflection facilitates teachers' knowledge to be commonly shared and supports teachers' learning from their experiences. Such professional development has been found to effectively occur when teachers work in a small group reflecting on their own or colleagues' instructional beliefs and practices (Falk & Drayton, 2009; Yoon & Kim, 2010). From above analysis, the major findings and implications of Chinese and foreign English teachers' online collaborative reflection are as follows:

Firstly, teachers in both forums pay more attention to their teaching strategies and evaluation, and would like to exchange the ideas and share their experience. However, Chinese teachers have weak awareness and narrow vision on teaching and learning theories, and seldom combine theory with practice. Thus, Chinese online forum does need more famous professors as the topic consultants who can guide and give teachers more professional advice and support on theories, and also encourage them to apply theories into practice. In addition, the effectiveness of online collaborations depends on such factors, like technology available to the group, the group size, the skills of the moderator/technician (Hathorn & Ingram, 2002a). Thus, Chinese online forum should have the technicians who can provide the technical support for teachers to communicate smoothly online.

Secondly, all most half teachers' online collaborative reflection levels in both forums are at the beginner stage, and very few teachers establish short and long-term goals and commitment to profession and analyse the relevant events from multiple perspectives of individuals and society. Although there are more Chinese English teachers at the intermediate level, yet much less teachers are at expert level. One reason is that they need more supports and guidance from professional experts or consultants. The other reason is that the open time of each discussion is only 2 hours in *XSKCE* and only one consultant discussed with teachers. But in *CETOP*, each discussion always continues for several days

with more consultants' supports. Even after discussion, there are still some moderators replying the teachers' questions, which do help teachers deeply understand theories and have more confidence and willingness to apply them in practice.

Thirdly, from analysis of the 12 discussion topics, there appear different social network features in the two forums. More foreign English teachers participate actively and frequently in each discussion, and there are also more leaders who have more influences and make more contributions in *CETOPD*. It is obvious that the consultants in *CETOPD* have become the centres who guide more teachers focusing on each topic for further discussion. Thus, Chinese online forum needs more professional consultants as centres in discussion.

#### References

Akyel, A. (2000). Collaboration to explore teaching: A case study. TESL Canada Journal, 18 (1).

Crotty, T., & Allyn, D. (2001). Evaluating student reflections. [Online]. Available: ERIC Document ED 459174 (pp. 21).

Fadde, P.J., Aud, S., & Gilbert, S. (2009). Incorporating a video-editing activity in a reflective teaching course for preservice teachers. Action in Teacher Education, 31 (1) pp. 75-86.

Falk, J. K., & Drayton, B. (2009). Creating and sustaining online professional learning communities. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.

Glazer, C., Abott, L. and Harris, J. (2000). Building a Process for Teachers' Collaborative Reflection. National Educational Computing Conference. Atlanta, GA.

Kraft, N. P. (2002). Teacher research as a way to engage in critical reflection: A case study. Reflective Practice, 3 (2), pp. 175-189.

Hathorn, L. G., & Ingram, A. L. (2002a). Online collaboration: Making it work. Educational Technology, 42(1), 33-40.

Ho. B., & Richards, J. C. (1993). Reflective thinking through teacher journal writing: Myths and realities, Prospect (8). 7-24.

Kim, D. and Lee, S. (2002). Designing Collaborative Reflection Supporting Tools in E-Project-Based Learning Environments. Journal of Interactive Learning Research, 13.

Krutka, D. G., Bergman, D. J., Flores, R., Mason, K., & Jack, A. R. (2014). Microblogging about teaching: Nurturing participatory cultures through collaborative online reflection with pre-service teachers. Teaching and Teacher Education 02. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016</u>/j.tate.2014.02.002

Martin, G. A. and Double, J. M. (1998) Developing Higher Education Teaching Skills Through Peer Observation and Collaborative Reflection. Innovations in Education and Teaching International 35: 2, 161- 176.

MaKinster, J. G., Barab, S. A., Harwood, W., & Anderson, H. O. (2006). The effect of social context on the reflective practice of preservice science teachers: Incorporating a web-supported community of teachers. Journal of Technology and Teacher Education, 14(3), 543–579.

Mills, K. A., & Chandra, V. (2011). Microblogging as a Literacy Practice for Educational Communities. Journal of Adolescent and Adult Literacy, 55(1), 35-45.

Mukeredzi, T. and Mandrona, A. (2013). The journey to becoming professionals: student teachers' experiences of teaching practice in a rural South African context. International Journal of Educational Research, 62: pp.141–151.

Nicholson, S. A., & Bond, N. (2003). Collaborative reflection and professional community building: An analysis of preservice teachers' use of an electronic discussion board. Journal of Technology and Teacher Education, 11(2).

Schwartz, D.L., Lin, X.D., Brophy, S., Bransford, J.D. (1999). Toward the development of flexibly adaptive instructional designs. To appear C.M. Reigeluth (Ed.), Instructional design theories and models, Vol. II, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Mahwah, NJ, pp. 183-213.

Stockero, S.L. (2008). Using a video-based curriculum to develop a reflective stance in prospective mathematics teachers. Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education, 11 (5) pp. 373-394.

Sutherland, L., Howard, S.& Markauskaite, L. (2010). Professional Identity Creation: Examining the Development of Beginning Preservice Teachers' Understanding of Their Work as Teachers. Teaching and Teacher Education: An International Journal of Research and Studies, 26 (3), 455-465.

Wright, N. (2010). Twittering in teacher education: reflecting on practicum experiences. Open Learning: The Journal of Open, Distance and e-Learning, 25(3), 259-265.doi:10.1080/02 680513.2010.512102.

Xie, Y., Ke, F., & Sharma, P. (2008). The effect of peer feedback for blogging on college students' reflective learning processes. The Internet and Higher Education, 11 (1), pp. 18-25.

Yoon, H. G., & Kim, M. (2010). Collaborative reflection through dilemma cases of science practical work during practicum. International Journal of Science Education, 32(3), 283–301.

# M. Rafael Salaberry

Rice University, Houston, USA

salaberry@rice.edu

# The affordances of social media to develop social networks in study abroad contexts

#### Bio data

M. Rafael Salaberry (PhD, Cornell University) is Mary Gibbs Jones Professor of Humanities at Rice University. His research focuses on second language development/teaching, the acquisition of tense/aspect, and educational applications of technology. He serves on the Editorial Boards of Language@Internet and Journal of Spanish Language Teaching.

### Abstract

The impact on new technologies has been regarded to have had a positive impact among at-home, classroom-bound learners (i.e., internet-based tools allow for direct interaction with L2 users irrespective of location), whereas the opposite is the case for learners in SA settings (i.e., internet-based tools may disrupt and limit the level of immersion and opportunities for social interactions in the L2 with local L2 users).

In the present paper, I argue for the expansion of the analysis of affordances and constraints of both in-person- and online-only settings of communication to account for the new integrated environment enacted in SA programs that brings together the combinatorial power of both physical and virtual interactions. This new, expanded SA setting creates interactional and learning possibilities that were not available in SA settings that predated the appearance of social networking technologies.

#### **Conference** paper

#### Introduction

The expanded use of social media has changed the nature of the traditional Study Abroad (SA) setting in which learners were expected to be completely immersed in the L2 with few opportunities to connect with L1 speaking friends and family. Nowadays, participants in SA programs stay in daily or even hourly contact with friends, family, fellow students and local native speakers with the use of mobile applications such as *Facebook, Whatsapp, Twitter, Instagram* and *Snapchat*. In the popular press, the opportunity to engage in multiple and frequent interactions using the learners' L1 has been regarded as a negative feature of social networking sites that detract from the desired "total immersion" setting of most SA programs (e.g., Doerr, 2013; Huesca, 2013).

Arguably, the potential negative consequences of the use of social media in SA settings are neither as dire nor as bad as sometimes believed (for recent critical perspectives on this point see, e.g., Durbidge, 2018; Godwin, 2016). In some cases, the contact with families may provide the type of (positive) emotional support that can make the SA program viable for some students (e.g., Arbelaiz, Areizaga & Camps, 2017; Hofer et al, 2016). More importantly, learners may functionally allocate their use of social media in strategic ways that do not necessarily affect their interactions with the local community abroad. For instance, data from L2 French learners in a SA program (McManus et al, 2014) show that the use of L1 English was segregated to the context of social media with a concomitant increase in the use of L2 French in most face-to-face interactions on site.

Once we consider the nature of the examples presented above, not only can we reject the negative view of the effect of the use of social networking sites abroad, but we can also argue that SA settings bring about a type of interactional dynamics that is different than the one represented in online-only settings, or face-to-face only contexts. More precisely, it is in SA environments where we find "convergent interactional practices across virtual and physical locations" (Page, 2015: 345). In the present paper, I will argue for the expansion of the analysis of affordances and constraints of both in-person- and online-only settings of communication to account for the fact that the new integrated communication environment enacted in SA programs brings together the combinatorial power of both physical and virtual interactions. This new, expanded SA setting creates interactional and learning possibilities that were not available in the "immersion" environment of SA settings the predated the appearance of the networking technologies of the 21<sup>st</sup> century.

#### The differential effect of social networking sites in distinct learning settings

In general, the impact on new technologies has been regarded to have had a positive impact among at-home, classroom-bound learners (i.e., internet-based tools allow for direct interaction with L2 users irrespective of location), whereas the opposite is the case for learners in SA settings (i.e., internet-based tools may disrupt and limit the level of immersion and opportunities for social interactions in the L2 with local L2 users). The view that social networking sites have a negative effect on learning abroad is, however, misguided given that it is based on a one-dimensional view of the effect of social media (for an extended discussion, see Godwin, 2016). Once we bring into focus the analysis of both affordances and constraints of different communication channels, we can visualize the effects of social interactions mediated by new technologies. From that perspective, SA settings bring about a type of interactional dynamics that is different than the one represented in online-only settings.

#### Social interactions in SA settings

The most obvious advantage of SA settings is the opportunity for learners to have access to socially contextualized interactions in the L2 (as opposed to the "socially dehydrated" interface of classroom instruction). Ideally, the opportunity to engage with competent speakers of the language in a variety of social interactions beyond simply academic exchanges in SA environments leads learners to both expand the range of speakers and situations to use the language and the depth of engagement through those interactions. To achieve this socially oriented goal, SA learners need help to create social networks abroad that go beyond their immediate academic network of fellow learners and instructors. Overall, however, previous research on this topic has not identified the precise relationship between the development of students' social networks (including their motivation/attitude) and their eventual language gains (e.g., Gautier & Chevrot, 2015). In effect, data from studies that preceded the appearance of internet-based social networking reveal as much. Rivers (1998), for instance, was among the first studies to note that students who did not develop their social networks and interactions with L2 speakers, increased their proficiency nonetheless because they spent a lot of time reading newspapers or watching TV. Similarly, Isabelli-García (2006) reports on the case of a student who did not develop his social network (he preferred to use English and had a negative attitude toward the local culture), but who still managed to improve his proficiency because he was an assiduous reader of Argentine newspapers and other media (noninteractive).

The previous discussion is useful to understand the limited knowledge we have about one of the most vaunted features of SA programs. In practice, the lofty goal of the purported environment of "complete immersion" in the SA setting has been heavily promoted, but not achieved in practice (e.g., Wilkinson, 1998, 2002). For instance, many SA programs, especially short-term ones of the type offered by US universities, are "sheltered" programs with academic courses that are taught by faculty from their own institution or local instructors and that provide some limited opportunities to interact with non-pedagogical staff from the program. Salaberry, White and Burch (2019) provide an extended discussion of the benefits afforded by new and expanded definitions of contexts of learning. In this

respect, online communication in general, and social networking sites in particular, have become a significant component of how social networks are built, grown and maintained in SA settings. I turn next to the analysis of the features of online communication that need to be part of the discussion of how SA settings promote or hinder L2 acquisition.

#### The brave new world of online communication

The first decade of the new century ushered in a wide range of social networking sites that have become ubiquitous in discussions about potential applications to L2 pedagogy. Facebook, the most successful in reaching out to a large number of users, was officially launched in 2004 and soon after Twitter started its operation in 2006. WhatsApp and Instagram were launched in 2009 and 2010 respectively (both were eventually acquired by Facebook; the latter in 2012 and the former in 2014). Snapchat started operations in 2011. Apart from social media platforms, there have been language-oriented applications that, one could argue, have become useful pedagogical tools (e.g., GPS-enabled search engines, Google translate). As an example, Google translate was first offered in 2006 and ten years later, Alphabet introduced neural machine translation with the goal to translate entire sentences at a time (as opposed to word by word or short phrase translations). By 2018 Google translate was processing 100 billion words a day with a purported user base of up to 200 million users (Wikipedia). In sum, the combined affordances of the social networking capabilities of widely used social media platforms and the new software of phones, tablets and laptops focused on social interaction and mobility has created a new set of conditions that provides new meaning to the phrase "computer mediated communication" of the 1990s.

In line with the above-mentioned statement, specific research on online interactions for pedagogical purposes has been carried out for as long as these new technologies have been in existence. In particular, there have been important studies on the characteristics and outcomes of class-to-class internet-based telecollaboration projects (e.g., Warschauer 1996; Belz 2003; Belz & Thorne 2006; Kinginger 2004), tandem learning between single individuals and individuals working on class-based projects (e.g., O'Rourke, 2005, 2007), and multiplayer online games (e.g., Thorne et al. 2009). These and other studies have been useful to understand the ways we can achieve conversational coherence in a variety of online interactions, from computer mediated communication (e.g., González-Lloret, 2011) to the asynchronic uses of tweeting (e.g., boyd, Golder, & Lotan, 2010) and Facebook posts (e.g., Warner & Chen, 2017) to the new discursive environment of retweeting (e.g., boyd, Golder, & Lotan, 2010), and the theoretical analysis of new types of online narratives such as "small stories" (e.g., Georgakopoulou, 2015). New features of social media such as multimodality, immediacy, co-construction, embeddedness, mobile use, etc. expand the range of options to communicate and interact in the L2 (see Page, 2013 for extended discussion).

In contrast with the growing database of studies focused on online learning in general, however, there have been few projects specifically designed to understand the affordances and constraints of convergent interactional practices of face-to-face and social network interactions in SA settings. A new research agenda on this topic requires a clear-eyed reconceptualization of an interactional setting that is based on the tight integration of information from various channels of interaction each one with its own affordances. To this effect, it is useful to assess what Clark and Brennan (1991: 142) list as factors that have an effect on the choice of medium of communication and the expected achievement of the interactional goal: copresence, visibility, audibility, cotemporality, simultaneity, sequentiality, reviewability, and revisability. In essence, researchers need to incorporate into their models of social interaction the coding features that help us understand the affordances and constraints of different communication media.

#### Interaction in the study abroad setting: In-person and on-line

As stated above, to achieve the socially oriented goal of SA, learners need help to create social networks abroad that go beyond their immediate academic network of fellow learners and instructors. Therefore, learners need to expand the range of speakers and situations to use the language and the depth of engagement through those interactions. As a consequence, the new interactional habits of learners in SA settings introduced by online communication abroad have prompted SA program designers to come to terms with a pedagogical need that actually predated the introduction of new social media technologies (see Salaberry, 2000 for an early discussion of this phenomenon). Technology has not changed the nature of the learning process. Instead, it is the ubiquitous and ever-present use of social networking sites that has prompted us to pay more attention and to harness opportunities that already existed before.

For instance, we already knew that making use of all linguistic resources at the disposal of learners was of great benefit. As an example, Hassall (2015) provided empirical evidence to show that learners faced with the challenge of learning L2 pragmatics had a better chance of success when they interacted with other students in their L1. In other cases, even more importantly, the strategic benefit of using the L1 was to provide learners with access to an expanded network of native speakers. A surprising finding from Dewey, Belnap & Hillstrom (2013), for instance, was that the improvement in L2 Arabic was explained in part by the English language proficiency of the students' social network. The greater the English proficiency of the learners' Arab friends, the more gains they were likely to make in Arabic (see also Kimura, 2019; Shiri, 2015).

With the above-mentioned strategic options in mind, I outline here a few possibilities to be pursued in research and program design.

#### Tracking data:

The problem faced by previous studies in SA settings to track the social interactions of learners and how they develop their social networks abroad (see discussion above) can now be effectively addressed with the use of tools from the new social media. Elola and Oskoz (2008), for instance, showed how the analysis of the use of blogs was used to study the types of interactions learners had outside of the classroom. More importantly, the access to more information about social interactions across settings (virtual and physical) will provide SA program designers with a more comprehensive understanding of how the different linguistic resources of language learners work together as part of the composite picture of L2 learning.

#### Multilingual identity and ability:

Through the access to more interactions in the L1, and more broadly, multilingual interactions that new social media have introduced to the SA context, L2 learners are being introduced into a type of multidimensional type of interaction that is more ecologically-valid than the compartmentalized vision about linguistic-cultural interactions of the "old" SA setting. The nature of networked multilingualism in Facebook (Androutsopoulos, 2015), for instance, showcases the new realities of online communication, and, by extension, the need to integrate, rather than isolate the new communication settings from previous (mostly physically-present) settings.

#### All language abilities and all linguistic resources:

The goal of providing sufficient and high-quality interactions with L2 users in the SA setting is perceived to be dependent on two important precepts: a threshold of language ability that would permit learners to meaningfully engage with L2 users on a consistent and frequent basis, and the minimal or no use of the L1 to maximize their chances to build their social networks abroad. These precepts are, however, axiomatic in nature and therefore coherently tied to a theoretical view of how L2 learning occurred in SA settings that predated the present one that incorporates a significant dimension of online communication. A minimum linguistic threshold is important, but it is not as relevant as before once we adopt learning goals that both allow learners to focus on a translingual and

multilingual learning goal and to make use of all linguistic resources available to interact in the SA context.

#### *Translingual/transcultural identity:*

Given that SA settings provide learners with the opportunity to engage in socially contextualized interactions in the L2 leads learners to work, implicitly or explicitly, on an evolving definition of a language ideology (Müller & Schmenk, 2016). As Darvin (2017: 4) explains, "[a]t the very heart of critical literacy is the examination of how meanings are represented in ways that maintain and reproduce relations of power." The integrated SA context that was described above presents learners with a new type of social/interactional literacy that makes an integrated use of both virtual and physical interactions (as it happens in the real world of the SA setting). By way of "liberating" the learner from programmatic constraints that reflect early definitions of language learning abroad (predicated primarily on face-to-face interaction), it is possible, in principle, to focus not just on the logistical opportunities to expand the "world" of social interactions in the L2, but to expand the view to incorporate a re-definition of identity.

**An integrated approach to guiding the combined nature of language interactions** The opportunities to radically change the context of L2 learning abroad are not as radical as one may expect from a conceptual point of view. By way of integrating all linguistic resources to address the learning goals of SA programs (most visibly incorporating the use of the L1), we may explicitly incorporate some of the processes in face-to-face interactions into a model that includes both virtual and physical environments of interaction in programs abroad.

One of the most obvious options to achieve this goal is to structure exchanges between learners and L2 users (e.g., in-tandem learning or language exchanges) whereby learners and expert L2 users interact in both their languages as they take on different roles (as mentor-mentee) (e.g., Fernández-García & Martínez-Arbelaiz, 2014). A second option that enhances the type and range of interactional practices is focused on the expansion of social engagements with a variety of local speakers (young and old; male and female, etc.) and the types of interactional settings also (academic and non-academic, interactional and transactional, etc.). An extension of the previous option are activities that focus learners on the explicit contrastive analysis of both linguistic uses and cultural mores, leading to the translingual and transcultural analysis of language (e.g., teaching the L1 in a local school in the L2 setting).

#### Conclusion

As much as Thorne (2010: 158) argued for "greater epistemological and linguistic pluralism" of the type that would lead to "increased openness to heterogeneous (and potentially stigmatized) digital vernaculars," the present article expands that call to action to consider the types of conceptual and programmatic changes in SA programs prompted by the functional convergent allocation of communication resources reviewed above. Ironically, the perceived "negative feature" of social networking sites in the SA context (i.e., they lead to interactions in both the L2 and the L1) can become a positive one once we consider the totality of the experience abroad and the opportunities to use the full range of linguistic and cultural resources that learners bring to the task at hand.

### References

Androutsopoulos, J. (2015). Networked multilingualism: Some language practices on Facebook and their implications. *International Journal of Bilingualism*, *19*(2), 185-205.

Back, M. (2013). Using Facebook data to analyze learner interaction during study abroad. *Foreign Language Annals*, *4*6(3), 377-401.

Barrett, R. (1999). Indexing polyphonous identity in the speech of African American drag queens. In M. Bucholtz, A. Liang, and L. Sutton (Eds.), Reinventing identities: The gendered self in discourse (pp. 313-332). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Belz, J. A. (2003). Linguistic perspectives on the development of intercultural competence in telecollaboration (1). Language, Learning & Technology, 7(2), 68-68.

Belz, J. A. and Thorne, S. (Eds.) (2006). Internet-mediated intercultural foreign language education. Boston: Thomson Heinle.

boyd, d., Golder, S., & Lotan, G. (2010). Tweet, tweet, retweet: Conversational aspects of retweeting on Twitter. In Proceedings of the 43rd Hawai'i International Conference on System Sciences. Kauai, HI: IEEE Press.

Clark, H. H., & Brennan, S. E. (1991). Grounding in communication. Perspectives on socially shared cognition, 13(1991), 127-149.

Darvin, R. (2017). Language, Ideology and Critical Digital Literacy. In S. Thorne and S. May (Eds.), Language, Education and Technology, Encyclopedia of Language and Education (pp. 17-30). Cham, Switzerland: Springer.

Dewey, D. P., Belnap, R. K., & Hillstrom, R. (2013). Social Network Development, Language Use, and Language Acquisition during Study Abroad: Arabic Language Learners' Perspectives. Frontiers: The interdisciplinary journal of study abroad, 22, 84-110.

Doerr, N. M. (2013). Do 'global citizens' need the parochial cultural other? Discourse of immersion in study abroad and learning-by-doing. Compare: A Journal of Comparative and International Education, 43(2), 224–243.

Durbidge, L. (2019). Technology and L2 engagement in study abroad: Enabler or immersion breaker? System, 80, 224-234.

Elola, I., & Oskoz, A. (2008). Blogging: Fostering intercultural competence development in foreign language and study abroad contexts. Foreign Language Annals, 41(3), 454-477.

Fernández-García, M., & Martínez-Arbelaiz, A. (2014). Native speaker–non-native speaker study abroad conversations: Do they provide feedback and opportunities for pushed output? System, 42, 93-104.

Gautier, R., & Chevrot, J. P. (2015). Social networks and acquisition of sociolinguistic variation in a study abroad context: A preliminary study. In R. Mitchell, N. Tracy-Ventura, and K. McManus (Eds.), Social interaction, identity and language learning during residence abroad (169-184). Amsterdam: EUROSLA Monographs Series 4.

Georgakopoulou, A. (2015). Small stories research. In De Fina, A., and Georgakopoulou, A. (2019). The handbook of narrative analysis (pp. 255-271). Chichester, UK: Wiley-Blackwell.

Giddens, A. (1991). Modernity and self-identity: Self and society in the late modern age. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.

Godwin-Jones, R. (2016). Emerging technologies integrating technology into study abroad. About Language Learning & Technology, 1.

González-Lloret, M. (2011). Conversation analysis of computer-mediated communication. CALICO Journal, 28(2), 308–325.

Hassall, T. (2015). Influence of fellow L2 learners on pragmatic development during

study abroad. Intercultural Pragmatics, 12(4), 415–442.

Hofer, B. K., Thebodo, S. W., Meredith, K., Kaslow, Z., & Saunders, A. (2016). The Long Arm of the Digital Tether: Communication with Home during Study Abroad. Frontiers: The Interdisciplinary Journal of Study Abroad, 28, 24-41.

Huesca, R. (2013). How Facebook can ruin study abroad. Chronicle of Higher Education. Retrieved from http://chronicle.com/article/How-Facebook-Can-Ruin-Study/136633/

Isabelli-García, C. (2006). Study abroad social networks, motivation, and attitudes: Implications for SLA. In M. A. DuFon & E. Churchill (Eds.) Language learners in study abroad contexts (pp. 231-258). Clevedon, UK: Multilingual Matters.

Kimura, D. (2019). Seriously, I came here to study English. Study Abroad Research in Second Language Acquisition and International Education, 4(1), 70-95.

Kinginger, C. (2004). Communicative Foreign Language Teaching through Telecollaboration. In K. van Esch and O. St. John (Eds.), New insights into foreign language learning and teaching (pp. 101–113). Frankfurt am Main: Peter Lang.

Martínez-Arbelaiz, A., Areizaga, E., & Camps, C. (2017). An update on the study abroad experience: language choices and social media abroad. International Journal of Multilingualism, 14(4), 350-365.

McManus, K., Mitchell, R., & Tracy-Ventura, N. (2014). Understanding insertion and integration in a study abroad context: The case of English-speaking sojourners in France. Revue française de linguistique appliquée, 19(2), 97-116.

Milroy, L. & Gordon, M. (2003). Sociolinguistics: Method and interpretation. Oxford: Blackwell.

Müller, M., & Schmenk, B. (2016). Conceptualizations, images, and evaluations of culture in study abroad students. Canadian Journal of Applied Linguistics/Revue canadienne de linguistique appliquée, 19(2), 128-150.

O'Rourke, B. (2005) Form Focused Interaction in Online Tandem Learning. CALICO Journal, 22(3): 433–466.

O'Rourke, B. (2007) Models of Telecollaboration: E-Tandem. In R. O'Dowd (Ed.), Online Intercultural Exchange: An Introduction for Foreign Language Teachers (pp. 41–61). Clevedon: Multilingual Matters.

Page, R. (2015). The 17 Narrative Dimensions of Social Media Storytelling. In De Fina, A., & Georgakopoulou, A. (2019). The handbook of narrative analysis (pp. 329-347). Chichester, UK: Wiley-Blackwell.

Page, R. (2013). Stories and social media: Identities and interaction. New York: Routledge.

Reinhardt, J. (2019). Social media in second and foreign language teaching and learning: Blogs, wikis, and social networking. Language Teaching, 52(1), 1-39.

Rivers, W. (1998). Is being there enough? The effects of homestay placements on language gain during study abroad. Foreign Language Annals 31(4), 492-500. Salaberry, M. R. (2000). Pedagogical design of computer mediated communication tasks: Learning objectives and technological capabilities. The Modern Language Journal, 84(1), 28-37.

Salaberry, M. R., White, K., & Burch, A. R. (2019). Language learning and interactional experiences in Study Abroad settings. Study Abroad Research in Second Language Acquisition and International Education, 4(1), 1-18.

Thorne, S. L. (2010). The "intercultural turn" and language learning in the crucible of new media. In F. Helm & S. Guth (eds.), Telecollaboration 2.0 for Language and Intercultural Learning (pp. 139-164). Bern: Peter Lang.

Thorne, S.L., Black, R.W. and Sykes, J. (2009). Second Language Use, Socialization, and Learning in Internet Interest Communities and Online Gaming. Modern Language Journal, 93: 802–821.

Warner, C., & Chen, H. (2017). Designing talk in social networks: What Facebook teaches about conversation. Language Learning & Technology, 21(2), 121–138.

Wilkinson, S. (1998). Study abroad from the participants' perspective: A challenge to common beliefs. Foreign Language Annals, 31, 23–39.

Wilkinson, S. (2002). The omnipresent classroom during summer study abroad: American students in conversation with their French hosts. The Modern Language Journal 86:2 (157-173).

Warschauer, M. (1996). Comparing Face-to-face and Electronic Discussion in the Second Language Classroom. CALICO Journal, 13(2): 7–26.

# Paper presentations
### Mehrasa Alizadeh

Osaka University, Toyonaka, Japan

mehrasa@cmc.osaka-u.ac.jp

## **Quality Matters® in blended course design and development**

### Bio data



Mehrasa Alizadeh is a specially appointed assistant professor at the Cybermedia Center, Osaka University. Her main research interests include online course development and quality assessment as well as AR/VR applications in language education.

### Abstract

This research investigates the use and application of quality assurance rubrics and standards for online/blended course design within the context of teaching English for general academic purposes (EGAP). In an attempt to reform an existing blended course of EGAP, the Quality Matters<sup>®</sup> Higher Education Course Design Rubric (fifth edition) has been used to assure the quality of course design and development from the outset. After the course was implemented with a cohort of undergraduate students at Osaka University, it was peer-reviewed by a certified reviewer affiliated with Quality Matters (QM). The first round of peer review yielded a score of 70 out of a total of 99, resulting in failure to meet several QM standards. Based on the suggestions and recommendations of the reviewer, the course was further revised in terms of content and interface, and it was reviewed for a second time by the same reviewer, this time yielding a full score of 99. This study highlights the importance of quality assurance in online/blended course design and development, particularly in the context of teaching English to university students.

### **Conference** paper

### Introduction

Blended learning in higher education has received considerable attention (Garrison & Kanuta, 2004; Garrison & Vaughan, 2008). The most widely recognized reason for the popularity of blended learning in the literature is that it is believed to combine the best of both worlds by mixing effective face-to-face and online learning elements, given that it is well designed. The number of blended university courses throughout Japan is also increasing and is expected to grow rapidly (Gruba & Hinkelman, 2012). As McCarty, Sato, and Obari (2017) have pointed out, blended learning in the context of Japanese higher education can provide a more integrated approach to teaching and learning, prevent learner alienation, enhance completion rates, lower dropout rates, and improve the quality and quantity of interaction. With the exponential rise in the number of blended courses over the past years, the need to evaluate the quality of blended course has also gained importance; thus, quality assessment is essential in blended course design, development and delivery (Gruba, Cárdenas-Claros, Suvorov, & Rick, 2016).

There are numerous checklists, guidelines, and rubrics for online and blended course design developed by various institutes, such as Rubric for e-Learning Tool Evaluation by Western

University (Anstey & Watson, 2018), Higher Education Course Design Rubric by Quality Matters<sup>®</sup> (Adair & Shattuck, 2015), Illinois Quality Online Course Initiative Rubric by Illinois Online Network (University of Illinois, 2018), and Blackboard Exemplary Course Program Rubric (Blackboard Community Programs, 2012). Among these guidelines and rubrics, the Quality Matters Higher Education Course Design Rubric has been selected as the main frame of reference for designing, developing, and evaluating a blended course of English for general academic purposes (EGAP).

### What is Quality Matters<sup>®</sup>?

Quality Matters (QM) is an international organization that specializes in quality assurance for online education in both K-12 and higher education. It aims to promote and improve the quality of online/blended education and student learning within the United States, where the organization is based, and internationally through a variety of ways such as developing course or program quality assessment rubrics, providing professional development for online/blended course design and evaluation, and offering peer review and certification of quality in online education. As reported by Shattuck, Zimmerman, and Adair (2014), QM has been adopted by numerous educational institutions and individuals to review and assess the quality of their online and blended courses. While the QM rubric is not so well-known in the realm of foreign language education, it has been widely used and applied to different programs (see Dietz-Uhler, Fisher, & Han, 2007; Harkness, 2015; Lowenthal & Hodges, 2015; Martin, Ndoye, & Wilkins, 2016; Kwon, DiSilvestro, & Treff, 2017).

Nonetheless, one study has been found within the literature which investigates the use of the QM rubric within an EFL (English as a Foreign Language) setting. In this study, Al Zumor (2015) examines the standards of the QM rubric, 2011–2013 Edition. The findings indicate that the rubric has the potential for enhancing online foreign language education in general and can in particular make EFL learning process more humanized by increasing the instructors' and learners' sense of online presence. Similarly, in the present study, the QM rubric has been utilized as the major reference to evaluate a blended course of EGAP.

### **Case Description and Setting**

The blended course of English for general academic purposess, officially titled "Practical English (e-learning)", was first offered in 2012 at Osaka University with the aim of helping undergraduate students improve their academic English proficiency, getting them prepared for studying in English-speaking countries, and enabling them to gain a score of 490 to 520 on the TOEFL ITP<sup>®</sup>. The students would typically go through 12 weeks of online self-study using a commercial package called Linc English and an online library of video lessons known as English Central. Although one of the course objectives was to get the students prepared for study-abroad programs, it did not sufficiently include practice on language production in spoken and written forms and mostly focused on receptive skills.

In an attempt to enhance the existing course, the researcher jointly designed and developed a new blended course to replace the old one. The new course aims at developing students' practical English language skills, in particular speaking, in an integrated way so that they can advance to higher levels of conversational and general academic English (up to B2 and C1 levels on the Common European Framework of Reference for Languages), as well as gain skill and confidence when speaking. The course was offered at three levels to accommodate for different proficiency groups. It started with a face-to-face orientation session, during which the students were introduced to the course and were informed about the course schedule, requirements, access to online materials, assignment submission, grading policy, etc. In total, there were five face-to-face and ten online study sessions. The online component of the course was hosted on the Osaka University learning management system (LMS), Blackboard Learn. Table 1 clarifies the main differences between the two versions of the course. Table 1

Old and New Practical English (e-learning) Compared

Course Components/Features	Old Course	New Course
Placement test	Х	$\checkmark$
Different levels	Х	$\checkmark$
Integration of skills	Х	$\checkmark$
Speaking/writing tasks	Х	$\checkmark$
Focus on global themes	Х	$\checkmark$
Group project	Х	$\checkmark$
Free of charge	Х	$\checkmark$
Hosted on the university LMS	Х	$\checkmark$
Quizzes	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
Audio-visual materials	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
Face-to-face and online sessions	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$

### **Quality Matters Peer Review**

The fifth edition of the QM Higher Education Course Design Rubric (Quality Matters, 2014) was accessed and used via a paid institutional subscription. This version of the rubric consists of eight general standards and 43 specific standards to measure the quality of online or blended courses. Annotations explain the applications of the standards and their interconnectedness. The rubric features a weighted scoring system in which standards with three-point values are considered essential, and all must be satisfied for a course to meet the QM standards overall. Also, a minimum score of 84 out of 99 (nearly 85%) is required for a course to be QM-certified. The eight general standards of the rubric are as follows.

- 1. Course Overview and Introduction
- 2. Learning Objectives (Competencies)
- 3. Assessment and Measurement
- 4. Instructional Materials
- 5. Learning Activities and Learner Interaction
- 6. Course Technology
- 7. Learner Support
- 8. Accessibility and Usability

The fifth edition of the rubric was available until July 1, 2018 before the sixth edition was released. As a result, the web link in Quality Matters (2014) takes users to the most recent version of the Higher Ed Rubric, i.e. the sixth edition, instead of the fifth which was the most recent version available during the course review and was thus utilized in this study. The new edition features the same general standards, yet there are some modifications made to substandards, and the total score has been changed from 99 to 100.

There are several QM review types including self-review, internal review, preparatory review, and official course review. In the present study, self-review was initially undertaken to informally evaluate the quality of the blended course. Self-reviews are confidential, and the reports are not available to anybody except for the individual conducting the review. A preparatory review was then carried out to benchmark the course. This paid review is an unofficial review process carried out by a master reviewer who is also a content expert so as to determine if a course meets QM standards. The outcome of this process is a report that provides insight on the strengths and weaknesses of a given course with recommendations and suggestions regarding areas in need of improvement.

### Results

### Peer Review: Round 1

The first round of the QM peer review yielded a score of 70 out of 99, implying that the course did not meet the QM standards. The course was then revised in accordance with the reviewer's comments and suggestions. Below is a list of the six essential sub-standards which were not initially met.

STANDARD 1.1 Instructions make clear how to get started and where to find various course components.

STANDARD 2.4 The relationship between learning objectives or competencies and course activities is clearly stated.

STANDARD 3.3 Specific and descriptive criteria are provided for the evaluation of learners' work and are tied to the course grading policy.

*STANDARD 5.3* The instructor's plan for classroom response time and feedback on assignments is clearly stated.

STANDARD 7.2 Course instructions articulate or link to the institution's accessibility policies and services.

STANDARD 8.2 Information is provided about the accessibility of all technologies required in the course.

### Peer Review: Round 2

After making amendments to the course in accordance with the recommendations of the QM peer reviewer, the course was reviewed once again by the same reviewer, and it currently meets all the requirements of the Higher Education Course Design Rubric (fifth edition) with a full score of 99/99. More details on the problems found with the course and the ways in which the reviewer's comments were addressed are described below.

### STANDARD 1.1

According to the reviewer, the instructions were available, but they were not readily seen by the students. To address this issue, a welcome page was created and set as the course entry page, in which information about navigating the course menu and content was provided through written instructions and screenshots.

### STANDARD 2.4

Previously, the course activities were not clearly linked to the course objectives and learning outcomes mentioned in the syllabus. The connection was clarified by assigning each type of activity to the corresponding learning outcome in the syllabus.

### STANDARD 3.3

This standard was met by sharing the evaluation rubrics for speaking and writing tasks with the students. Every writing and speaking assignment included a link to its respective rubric in order to assure consistency in evaluating and scoring students' work. These rubrics were not immediately visible to guest viewers, and therefore the course was evaluated as lacking this essential component in the first round of review. However, the score for this standard was restored during the second round of review through writing a note to the reviewer on the amendment worksheet.

### STANDARD 5.3

This shortcoming was rectified by adding a new section to the syllabus titled "Response Time and Feedback Schedule" in which a rough schedule was provided for responding to inquiry emails and grading assignments.

#### STANDARD 7.2

To address this issue, a new link was added to the course menu through which students could access a page containing information on Osaka University institutional policies for each faculty.

#### STANDARD 8.2

In order to meet this standard, a new page was created which contained information on the technologies required in the course, for instance a computer with a standard browser, and links were provided to the accessibility pages of the websites introduced to the students.

### **Discussion and Conclusion**

This paper reports on a study conducted at Osaka University which involves the design, development, delivery, and evaluation of a blended course of EGAP. The course was peer-reviewed using the Quality Matters Higher Education Course Design Rubric (fifth edition), and

it currently meets all the standards of this rubric upon amendment. This study underlines the significance of continuous improvement in online/blended course design and development. The QM peer review has aided in improving the course design and development process in light of establishing clear links between learning objectives and learning activities as well as bringing more ease and convenience to students in course navigation. The course needs to be rerun before more conclusions can be drawn on the effectiveness of the changes made; however, the literature on the application of QM to online/blended learning programs—studies such as Harkness (2015) and Hollowell et al. (2017)—bears sufficient evidence to the effectiveness of the QM rubrics and peer review in assuring excellence in online/blended learning programs.

This evaluation report is based on the data collected during the first round of implementing the blended course. Running the course several times with various groups of students could add to the validity of the findings and also aid in further improving the shortcomings of the existing course. After all, quality assurance is an ongoing process rather than a one-shot procedure (Adair, 2014). Another limitation is related to lack of sustainability and discontinued practice. The course was designed and developed to fulfill the requirements of the doctoral program that the author was enrolled in; however, other instructors may not be willing to adopt it to their contexts since it requires a great amount of time and effort on the part of the instructor.

The current study has implications for online or blended course designers and developers as well as teachers. It introduces resources and methods to design, develop, deliver, and evaluate such courses. Below is a list of points to bear in mind when designing, developing, and administering online/blended courses.

- Embracing change: Since online course design and development is an on-going process, it requires constant evaluation and improvement. It is thus important to maintain a positive attitude toward making changes whenever and wherever necessary.
- Using open educational resources (OERs): It is not always necessary to create new materials from scratch. Instead, online course designers are recommended to look for OERs first and create their own content only when the latter fails.
- Considering time demands: Creating online materials and hosting them on an LMS can sometimes take longer than making traditional print materials. The process might seem lengthy, but it is usually worth the time and energy spent.
- Prioritizing course objectives: Course objectives are the main component of any educational program. It is essential to establish clear relationships between learning objectives and the rest of course components.
- Ensuring learner-friendly course structure and navigation: There is no need to emphasize that the online system where the course is hosted should be easy to use and navigate. In fact, research by Kobayashi and Little (2011) has proven that learner satisfaction with a course is strongly dependent on the ease of use and navigation of the online interface.
- Explicitly stating the requirements: All requirements including regulations, assignments, and projects should be clearly and explicitly communicated with learners to ensure success.
- Setting clear evaluation criteria: After deciding upon evaluation criteria such grading policy and rubrics, learners should be informed of them.
- Paying attention to accessibility and usability: With the rise in the diversity of learners, it is essential to ensure that a course is accessible to and usable for all learners.
- Fostering social presence: Building an online learning community with peers and instructors can help improve the sense of social presence and stop learners from feeling isolated in the online environment.
- Providing technical support: Unpredicted technical issues can occur any time, but it is important to provide learners with sufficient technical support both in case of system failures and when shortcomings in learners' computer skills stop them from performing online tasks properly.

The author also recommends designers to take a look at an evaluation rubric before embarking on the task of course design so as to assure the appropriacy of their choices and decisions from the outset. This latter point further highlights the significance of faculty development in using rubrics such as the QM rubric. In fact, QM provides professional development courses and workshops for faculty who wish to learn about effective online course design as well as those who aim at becoming QM peer reviewers. Roehrs, Wang, and Kendrick's (2013) study on preparing faculty to use the QM Model is a recommended source to refer to for universities and institutes of higher education which are considering the adoption of this model.

As a final word, like many institutions of higher education worldwide, Osaka University is adopting online and blended learning more than ever before. As suggested by Roehrs et al. (2013), more online courses will be implemented from now on, and this stresses the increasing need for more faculty development opportunities to assure quality in online education and student satisfaction. The author hopes that this study can inspire instructors and researchers at Osaka University and other universities around the world to consider the benefits and affordances of blended learning and to enrich their students' learning experiences through offering quality blended courses.

### References

Adair, D. (2014). A process to improve course design: A key variable in course quality. In K. Shattuck (Ed.), Assuring quality in online education: Practices and processes at the teaching, resource, and program levels (pp. 81–90). Sterling, VA: Stylus.

Adair, D., & Shattuck, K. (2015). Quality Matters<sup>™</sup>: An educational input in an ongoing design-based research project. American Journal of Distance Education, 29(3), 159-165. https://doi.org/10.1080/08923647.2015.1057094

Al Zumor, W. H. Q. (2015). Quality Matters rubric potential for enhancing online foreign language education. International Education Studies, 8(4), 173–178. http://dx.doi.org/10.5539/ies.v8n4p173

Anstey, L. & Watson, G. (2018, September). A rubric for e-learning tool evaluation. EDUCAUSE Review. Retrieved from https://er.educause.edu/articles/2018/9/a-rubric-forevaluating-e-learning-tools-in-higher-education

Blackboard Community Programs. (2012). Blackboard exemplary course program rubric. Retrieved from https://www.blackboard.com/resources/getdocs/7deaf501-4674-41b9b2f2-554441ba099b\_bbexemplarycourserubric\_nov12final.pdf

Dietz-Uhler, B., Fisher, A., & Han, A. (2007). Designing online courses to promote student retention. Journal of Educational Technology Systems, 36(1), 105–112. https://doi.org/10.2190/ET.36.1.g

Garrison, D. R., & Kanuta, H. (2004). Blended learning: Uncovering its transformative potential in higher education. The Internet and Higher Education, 7(2), 95–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2004.02.001

Garrison, D. R., & Vaughan, N. D. (2008). Blended learning in higher education: Framework, principles, and guidelines. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Gruba, P., & Hinkelman, D. (2012). Blending technologies in second language classrooms. London, England: Palgrave-Macmillan.

Gruba, P., Cárdenas-Claros, M. S., Suvorov, R., & Rick, K. (2016). Blended language program evaluation. London, England: Palgrave-Macmillan.

Harkness, S. S. J. (2015). How a historically black college university (HBCU) established a sustainable online learning program in partnership with quality Matters<sup>™</sup>. American Journal of Distance Education, 29(3), 198–209. https://doi.org/10.1080/08923647.2015.1057440

Hollowell, G. P., Brooks, R. M., & Anderson, Y. B. (2017). Course design, quality Matters training, and student outcomes. American Journal of Distance Education, 31(3), 207–216. https://doi.org/10.1080/08923647.2017.1301144

Kobayashi, K., & Little, A. (2011). Learner perceptions on the usefulness of a blended learning EFL program. JALT CALL Journal, 7(1), 103–117. Retrieved from http://journal.jaltcall.org/articles/7\_1\_Kobayashi.pdf

Kwon, K., DiSilvestro, F. R., & Treff, M. E. (2017). Online graduate course evaluation from both students' and peer instructors' perspectives utilizing Quality Matters<sup>™</sup>. Internet Learning, 5(1), 7-16. https://doi.org/10.18278/il.5.1.2

Lowenthal, P. R., & Hodges, C. B. (2015). In search of quality: Using quality Matters to analyze the quality of massive, open, online courses (MOOCs). International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning, 16(5), 83–101 Retrieved from http://www.irrodl.org/index.php/irrodl/article/view/2027/3438

Martin, F., Ndoye, A., & Wilkins, P. (2016). Using learning analytics to enhance student learning in online courses based on quality Matters standards. Journal of Educational Technology Systems, 45(2), 165–187. https://doi.org/10.1177/0047239516656369

McCarty, S., Sato, T., & Obari, H. (2017). Implementing mobile language learning technologies in Japan. Singapore: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-2451-1

Quality Matters. (2014). Standards from the QM higher education rubric (5th ed.). Retrieved from https://www.qualitymatters.org/sites/default/files/PDFs/StandardsfromtheQMHigherEduc ationRubric.pdf

Roehrs, C., Wang, L., & Kendrick, D. (2013). Preparing faculty to use the quality Matters model for course improvement. MERLOT Journal of Online Learning and Teaching, 9(1), 52–67 Retrieved from http://jolt.merlot.org/vol9no1/roehrs\_0313.pdf

Shattuck, K., Zimmerman, W. A., & Adair, D. (2014). Continuous improvement of the QM rubric and review processes: Scholarship of integration and application. Internet Learning, 3(1), 25-34. https://doi.org/10.18278/il.3.1.4

University of Illinois. (2018). Quality online course initiative (QOCI) rubric. Retrieved from https://www.uis.edu/ion/resources/qoci/

### Sahal Alshammari

Northern Border University, Rafha, Saudi Arabia

sahal.alshammari@nbu.edu.sa

# The impact of social media on language learning: a Saudi university case study

### Bio data

Sahal Alshammari holds Ph.D. in the area of TESOL/linguistics from University of Kansas, USA. Besides research papers to his credit, he has also authored a couple of fictions in Arabic language, of which *Yasir* has been declared best-seller with more than 30,000 copies sold so far. He has written scripts for educational films as well as documentary films for various media channels.

### Abstract

The influence of social media has not been fully investigated in the Saudi context to determine whether it has a positive or negative impact on learning English. This paper examines the influence of social media on learning the English language by correlating Level 2 (L2) learner's daily use of social media with their overall academic achievement. A questionnaire-based survey is used to explore the use of social media by 102 English L2 learners in the English department at Northern Border University. It correlates the academic achievements of the participants in skills courses with their use of social media. Other variables such as family background, gender and socio-economic status (SES) are investigated to determine whether they affect social media usage. The results of the study prove the influence of social media on L2 learning in the context of Saudi Arabia, particularly reading and vocabulary. Other language skill variables such as writing, speaking and listening as well as the variables for family background, gender and SES show no significant correlation. As a result, social media can be considered an effective tool for teaching English to L2 learners outside as well as inside the classroom.

### **Conference paper**

### Introduction

The growth in the use of social media is unparalleled (Tess, 2013). Its widespread use is considered a distraction from other aspects of life including education and many educators complain that social media affects the process of learning. This study investigates the effectiveness of social media to ascertain whether it is a supportive tool for language learning. The context for this study is Saudi Arabia where English is considered a foreign language and where L2 learners have few opportunities to practice using English outside the classroom. The rapid development of social media has enabled users to participate in rather than be negative receivers of it (Liu, 2017). In other words, social media can provide L2 learners with an alternative environment where they can use the second language they are learning in interactions outside the classroom. This opportunity has not been investigated, at least not in the Saudi context. Most studies have sought the perceptions, attitudes and beliefs of learners and educators about social media and its influence on L2 learning. Moreover, other studies have tested the influence it has on L2 learning within the classroom and adapted particular tools within the parameters of education. This study takes a different approach. It seeks to find a correlation between L2 learners' authentic use of social media in everyday life and their actual levels of language learning based on

the grade point averages (GPA) of their language skills course to assess whether social media can be an effective factor in language learning.

### Literature Review

Teaching a foreign language has always been difficult in environments where instructors play a central teaching role. Many studies indicate that teaching English in Saudi universities is still a struggle, and that outcomes, particularly in writing are poor (Alrabai, 2014; Zahid Javid and Umer, 2014; Sahal Rghailan Alshammari, 2016; Barnawi and Alhawsawi, 2017; First, 2018; Sahal R. Alshammari, 2018). However, huge advances in technology have created unique and free opportunities to develop outcomes in English in the classroom in both second and foreign language contexts. Instead of expensive laboratories that cost millions of dollars to establish and just as much to maintain, smart devices provide students with access to free programs and applications that support their conscious and unconscious language learning. A strong point of social media is that it is based on a different model to that of the traditional classroom. Learning English in a classroom uses a teacher-based approach with the teacher at the center of the learning process and where learning the second language is achieved through grammatical drills (Alseqhayer, 2005). Whereas learning using social media is based on sharing, creating, discussing and modifying user-generated content (Ahlqvist, Bäck, Halonen and Sirkka, 2008). Therefore, social media offers a new approach to teaching and learning a new language.

Various studies have been conducted to explore the influence of particular platforms on specific aspects of language learning. Ariana and Mirabela (2014) conducted an experiment to investigate the influence of Facebook on vocabulary learning. 127 college students in their first and second years at the Faculty of Economic Sciences participated. The results indicated an improvement in vocabulary performance, although it was not significant. The participants in the Facebook group were more motivated and the lessons via Facebook seemed to appeal more to them (Ariana and Mirabela, 2014). Another study examined the influence of Web 2.0 tools on learning new vocabulary (Eren, 2015). The results indicated that the experimental group statistically outperformed the control group in gaining new vocabulary.

Another aspect of language learning that has been investigated is reading skills. Reading in English is difficult for Arab learners as the English writing system is very different from the Arabic system (Feghali, 1997). For example, the writing system in English works from left to right whereas Arabic writing goes from right to left. Therefore, support from social media in reading skills is crucial. Mahmud and Ching (2013) investigated how Facebook enhanced L2 learning, particularly reading and writing. The participants were exposed to activities implemented via Facebook. The activities consisted of three tasks, reading, writing, and discussion. The results showed that Facebook had a positive influence on L2 learners' attitudes to language learning in general, particularly reading, writing and grammar (Mahmud, Ehsan and Ching, 2012). A similar study explored the effectiveness of integrating the use of blogs in English as a second language (ESL) classrooms. The study targeted low proficiency students to determine how blogs improved L2 learners reading, writing, and discussion skills (Abu Bakar, Latif and Ya'acob, 2010). The results showed that L2 learners believed that their use of the blog had enhanced their communication skills and reduced their anxiety.

### **Research Questions**

- 1. Does social media have an impact on language learning skills? If yes;
- 2. What skills are significantly affected by social media?

### The Methodology

### Study Sample

102 students from the English department on the Rafha campus of the Northern Border University (NBU) participated in this study, of which 54 were female and 47 were male.

The participants were selected during the third through to the eighth semester. They were asked to bring a copy of their transcript as a condition of participating to ensure they had the right grades. It is not a goal of the study to encourage students to use social media and then assess its influence on their language learning. The main goal is to investigate the L2 learners everyday usage of social media and its influence on their behavior. It is expected that the findings of the study will produce a perspective that influences students to use social media as a study tool outside the classroom to boost their language skills.

### Study Tools

The main research tool is a questionnaire that attempts to correlate participants' use of social media with the grades they achieved on their skills course. The first part of the questionnaire relates to students' academic achievements and their grades from the skills courses in listening, speaking, reading, and writing. The researcher added two courses, vocabulary and grammar because they are related to the skills courses, particularly to writing and language learning in general. The total GPA is added to the items to ascertain whether social media has an effect on their total achievement. The second part relates to the quantitative use of social media and focuses on aspects such as the number of activated accounts, time spent, and the period since participants joined social media. The third part focuses on the qualitative use of social media. It is related to the type of social media and the preference for using social media. It explores why participants use social media in English and what language they choose to use, whether they prefer speaking or writing and favor listening over reading while interacting on social media. The questionnaire was designed by two expert instructors who have been teaching English to L2 learners for several years. It was also reviewed by professors from the English department in the NBU. The items in the questionnaire were found to be highly reliable (a: .898).

### Study Procedure

The questionnaire is designed to investigate whether there is a relationship between type and amount of social media use and L2 learners' achievements in language learning. First, the data is analyzed to discover if there is any difference in the use of social media between genders. Next, both the quality and quantity dimensions are correlated with grades in an attempt to discover if social media usage has any impact on second language learning. The English department at NBU runs compulsory courses in language skills, including: Listening and Speaking 1, Listening and Speaking 2, Reading 1, Reading 2, Writing 1, Writing 2, Advanced writing, Vocabulary 1 and Vocabulary 2. As the participants are all at different levels, they were asked to produce the grade from their latest course in each of the language skills along with those from the vocabulary courses. They were also asked to provide a copy of the latest version of their transcripts to confirm their scores.

This study limits its investigation to the use of social media in the English language. Therefore, all the answers to the quality and quantity dimensions relate to the use of English, not Arabic. For example, the following answer would be in the quantity dimension: I spend x number of hours using social media in English. The participants are given four choices: Less than an hour, 2-4 hours, 4-6 hours or more than 8 hours. The main goal of this paper is to determine whether there is a correlation between social media usage outside the classroom and academic achievement inside the classroom.

### Generalization of the Results

This study explores the impact of social media on different aspects of language learning. First, the only significant relationship is between students' achievement. The second dimension is between students grades in reading skills and time spent on social media (r (100) = .238, p = .017). as shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Correlation between Reading Academic Achievement and Time Spent on Social Media (daily)											
Table 1. Correlation between Reading Academic Achievement and Time Spent on Social Media (daily)	T-1-1- 1	C	In a hearing a second		A send success A shall success such as a	1 The C		C!-!	N4	/ J = 11	`
	I ANIE I	Correlation	nerween	Reading	Academic Achievement and	i lime S	nent on	Social	Menia i	( dallv	1
	TUDIC I.	Conclution	Detween	recuanty	reductine reflet chiefte and		pene on	Social	i iculu	(uuny	,

	Reading	Time Spent on Social Media (hours)				
Pearson Correlation	1	.238**				
Sig. (2-tailed)		.017				
Ν	101	101				
Pearson Correlation	.238**	1				
Sig. (2-tailed)	.017					
Ν	101	101				
**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).						

The results show that the more students use social media in English the better their reading skills are. Other relations show no significant correlation between students' achievement. This dimension includes the number of activated accounts they had when they started using social media and their language preference.

The third dimension includes the type of social media and indicates two significant relationships. First, the results show that the more students use social media for an academic purpose the better their reading skills are (r (100) = .273, p = .006), as illustrated in Table 2.

Table 2.

Table2. Correlation Between Reading Academic Achievement and Using Social Media for Academic Purposes

	Reading	Using Social Media for Academic Purposes				
Pearson Correlation	1	.273**				
Sig. (2-tailed)		.006				
Ν	101	101				
Pearson Correlation	.273**	1				
Sig. (2-tailed)	.006					
Ν	101	101				
**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).						

Second, the results indicate that having friends on social media will improve the vocabulary for L2 learners (r (100) = .216, p = .030), as shown in Table 3.

	Vocabulary	Using Social Media to Make Online Friends				
Pearson Correlation	1	.216*				
Sig. (2-tailed)		.030				
Ν	101	101				
Pearson Correlation	.216*	1				
Sig. (2-tailed)	.030					
Ν	101	101				
*. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).						

Table 3. Correlation Between Vocabulary Academic Achievement and Using Social Media to Make Online Friends

Other aspects of using social media such as preferences for using receptive skills, reading and writing, and productive skills, speaking and writing have no influence on students' academic achievement.

To determine whether there are any statistical differences between males and females use of social media, an independent sample t-test was conducted. The results show that there are no statistical differences between males (M=3.13, SD=.43) and females (M=3.06, SD=.40), conditions; t(.100)= .804, p=.423, as illustrated in Table 4. This means that both male and female students have the same language preferences when using social media in English. Although the male and female students study in separate buildings and have their own instructors and the same syllabus, their social media preferences are universal and go beyond the limits of the college.

Table 4	Statistical	Differences	Usina	Social	Media	Between	Males and	l Females
Tuble I.	Statistical	Differences	osing	Social	i iculu	Detween	Thurce und	i i cinaico

Gender	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	t. value	p. value
Male	48	3.13	0.43	0.904	0 422
female	53	3.06	0.40	0.004	0.423

### Discussion

The literature review shows the positive influence of Facebook on vocabulary learning (Ariana and Mirabela, 2014), which is in keeping with the findings of this study which shows that having online friends on social media has a significant correlation with high academic achievement on vocabulary courses. This might be due to the need of L2 learners to use new vocabulary while chatting with native and non-native English-speaking online friends. Also, vocabulary courses provide L2 learners with an enormous amount of new vocabulary, so social media represents a practical field for using it. Moreover, the study shows a significant correlation between academic achievement in reading with time spent on social media and the use of social media for academic purposes. Various studies have confirmed the positive influence of social media on reading skills (Abu Bakar et al., 2010; Mahmud et al., 2012). However, this study is notable in that it tests social media as a non-scholastic activity as practiced by learners in their daily lives. Therefore, we can confidently say that social media, particularly Facebook, has a positive impact on reading skills because it has been tested as an effective tool in the classroom (Mahmud et al., 2012) as well as outside it; in both cases the results show a significant influence on reading skills.

Although three significant relations have been found in this study, many variables did not show any significant correlation with academic achievement particularly writing, listening, and grammar skills. Moreover, there was no significant impact found due to family background, gender and SES on the nature of the usage of social media. This might be due to the fact that the participants are L2 learners who study English in a foreign language context, and only use English for academic purposes. Therefore, when asked about their language preferences when using social media in their everyday lives, the majority i.e. 76 percent chose Arabic. This shows that the majority of participants use Arabic when using social media so only a few variables influence the enhancement of their skills.

However, the study presents authentic data after testing for the actual influence of social media on students' academic achievement. It agrees with the findings of other studies regarding the influence of social media use on reading skills (Abu Bakar et al., 2010; Mahmud et al., 2012). Unlike other studies it did not present the use of social media in the classroom but tested its influence outside the classroom. Moreover, it correlates student usage with student grades to produce reliable results. The results of this study and others confirm the importance of using social media as a supporting tool for teaching English as a second language. It demonstrates the influence of social media even in an environment where supportive cooperative classroom learning is not officially carried out as is the case of Saudi Arabia.

### Conclusion

This study confirms the influence of social media on L2 learning in the context of Saudi Arabia particularly on reading and vocabulary. It provides new evidence that using social media unconsciously and outside the classroom is effective at enhancing learners' reading and vocabulary skills. Therefore, English departments should encourage their students to use social media in the English language. For example, they could organize scholastic events on the use of social media in English and form groups for peer interaction. Finally, more research should be carried out to explore the influence of social media on various aspects of language learning in different contexts.

### References

Abu Bakar, N., Latif, H., and Ya'acob, A., 2010. ESL Students feedback on the use of blogs for language learning. The Southeast Asian Journal of English Language Studies, 16(1), 120–141.

Ahlqvist, T., Bäck, A., Halonen, M., and Sirkka, H., 2008) Social Media Roadmaps. In VTT Research Notes. Retrieved from http://www.vtt.fi/inf/pdf/tiedotteet/2008/T2454.pdf?g=sociable-media.

Alrabai, F., 2014. A model of foreign language anxiety in the Saudi EFL context. English Language Teaching, 7(7), 82–101. https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v7n7p82.

Alseghayer, K., 2005. Teaching English in Saudi Arabia: Slowly but steadily Changing. In Teaching English to the World: History, Curriculum, and Practice (pp. 125–134).

Alshammari, S. R., 2016. Improving Saudi English learners' second-language acquisition in argumentative writing through self-regulated strategy development. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses, 103.

Alshammari, S. R., 2018. Experiential Study in Learning English Writing: An Inquiry into Saudi Learners' Concerns. International Journal of English Linguistics, 8(4), 181–191. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijel.v8n4p181.

Ariana, M. S., and Mirabela, A. P., 2014. The Impact of Social Media on Vocabulary Learning Case Study. Annals of the University of Oradea, Economic Science Series, 23(2), 120–130. Retrieved from http://steconomiceuoradea.ro/anale/volume/2014/n2/013.pdf.

Barnawi, O. Z., and Al-hawsawi, S., 2017. English Education Policy in Saudi Arabia: English Language Education Policy in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia: Current Trends, Issues and Challenges. In English Language Education Policy in the Middle East and North Africa (Vol. 13, pp. 199–222). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-46778-8.

Eren, O., 2015. Vocabulary Learning on Learner-Created Content by Using Web 2.0 Tools. Contemporary Educational Technology, 6(4), 281–300. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=trueanddb=ericandAN=EJ1105759andsit e=ehost-live.

Feghali, E., 1997. Arab Cultural Communication Patterns. South African Journal of Science, 21(3), 345–378.

First, E., 2018. English proficiency index. Retrieved from Education First website: https://www.ef.com/sa/epi/.

Liu, Y., 2017. Social Media Tools as a Learning Resource. Journal of Educational Technology Development and Exchange, 3(1). https://doi.org/10.18785/jetde.0301.08.

Mahmud, M. M., Ehsan, S. D., and Ching, W. S., 2012. Facebook does it really work for L2 learners. Educational Sciences, 3(2), 357–370.

Zahid Javid, C., and Umer, M., 2014. Saudi Efl Learners' Writing Problems: a Move Towards Solution. 2014(March), 4–5. https://doi.org/10.5296/jse.v6i4.10203

## InJung Cho

Graduate School of Asia-Pacific Studies, Waseda University, Tokyo, Japan

injungcho@toki.waseda.jp

# Integrating North Korean defectors into the South Korean education system

### Bio data



### Abstract

Entrenched in South Korea's formal education system, North Korean defectors have been substantially marginalized and their rights to education have not been fully fulfilled. They face complex educational impediments pertaining to mental illness, language barriers, social prejudices, financial debt from brokers, and lacking common knowledge to understand new curriculum. While various educational stakeholders such as government agencies, alternative schools, and NGOs have provided educational assistance programs, the impacts have been insignificant or a short-term success. Thus, this paper proposes seven alternative policy solutions and evaluates each of them based on three criteria consisting of cost, efficacy, and feasibility. Based on the rates, the paper illuminates the three most optimal policy solutions that could successfully integrate defector students.

**Keywords**: *defectors, migration, social discrimination, student adjustment, resettlement, educational policy, integration, South Korea* 

### **Conference** paper

### Introduction

There is an increase of North Korean defectors entering South Korea. A study by the Ministry of Unification (2018) reported that 947 defectors entered South Korea in 1998. In 2018, the number has grown to 31,827, 50 percent under age 29. Neglected and treated as outcasts in their new education system, there is a growing need to understand how to fully integrate the refugees. This paper will examine the processes and issues defectors face integrating into the South Korean education system and society followed by alternatives recommendations.

### **Causes of Defection**

According to NK News, personal freedom was the primary reason for recent North Koreans' defection in 2014, followed by socioeconomic factors (Ji, 2016). The increasing discontent with the regime due to censorships, economic hardships, and hunger motivated North Koreans to defect. Recent changes in the gender ratio increased as more women continued to defect in comparison to males in order to escape human trafficking, as females totaled more than half of the defectors in 2002 and 83 percent in 2017 (KEDI, 2018).

### **Challenges for Defectors in Education**

Defectors are in worse conditions regarding health, medical care, education, employment, and rights. They are susceptible to serious mental health problems, resulting in education integration difficulties. Experiences of violent traumatic events before defecting still haunts their mental health. A study involving post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and depression found that nearly 71 percent of defectors experienced PTSD symptoms while another 29-49 percent displayed prevalence of depression symptoms (Park, Lee, & Jun, 2018). Not only did these factors hindered the defectors' adjustment, but they also suppress their anxieties. Being trapped in cycles of negativity, isolation, and hostility, this was called 'Masked Depression', a term used when a North Korean student is suffering from depressed but does not speak out (Kim, 2015). The article noted that Masked Depression led to: school absences, alcoholism, smoking, and internet-binging, leading to school dropouts.

Several defectors report that the language barrier is troublesome as the two countries have different terminologies. According to Kwong (2018), while defectors understand 70% of South Koreans, South Koreans cannot understand defectors. The article notes defectors feel the need to learn the Seoul dialect to be successful. This also includes learning English, where North Koreans struggle in courses that primarily use English learning material. This problem is severe that a 2016 study by the Korea Development Institute (KDI) found that 30 percent of defectors dropped out, citing English difficulties as the reason (Choi, 2018).

South Koreans' attitude towards defectors have shown a deteriorating trend. In 2005, a survey conducted by South Korea's Unification Ministry showed that 15 percent expressed negative public opinions; however, that proportion surged to 41 percent in 2015 (Yong, 2016). Lee and Son's (2011) study also showed that South Koreans in their 20s has the most negativity towards defectors. The study speculates that the two nations' split for more than 50 years caused the young generations' such antipathy (Sung & Go, 2014).

Many defectors reach South Korea through brokers in which the costs from \$2,500 to \$15,000 (Fifield, 2017). Usually deferred to the South Korean government, however, those payments were reduced from \$9,400 to \$5,600 in 2005 to prevent a developing business in defector smuggling (Lankov, 2006). This yet left many defectors with considerable debts, forcing young defectors to pursue low wage jobs instead of education (Ryu et al., 2015). Consequently because of the debt, employer prejudice, and lack of working rights awareness, North Koreans were exploited, underpaid, and cannot afford extra schooling to keep up with South Korean counterparts.

Defector students lack the foundational knowledge. South Korean textbooks are predominantly based on Western European and American cultures, whereas North Korean textbooks are widely influenced by Chinese and Russian cultures (Kwon, 2012). According to a research conducted with elementary defector students in 2012, they often struggled in understanding textbook contents due to the American and South Korean historical figures (Kwon et al., 2012). The defectors' lack of background knowledge caused alienation during class, entailing passive participation, and impeded their academic interest.

### Third Country Nationals

The Ministry of Unification also recognizes another group, Third Country Nationals (TCNs), who are half-blooded North Korean immigrants coming from abroad. TCNs have accounted for approximately half of total North Korean defectors and about 60% of those TCNs are from China (KEDI, 2018). They are only provided partial government benefits and are ineligible for affirmative action status, while North Koreans are guaranteed a certain number of quotas from universities (KEDI, 2018). Thus, TCNs are subjected to significantly more competitive college application processes, competing with domestic students.

Since TCNs have mostly resided in foreign countries – China, Vietnam, etc – they often struggle due to significant language barriers. Furthermore, parental involvement in supporting the TCN's education would also pose challenges as both parents would be

unable to understand the South Korean textbooks (KEDI, 2018). Therefore, TCN students are weakly equipped to educate in Korean.

### **Current Resettlement Programs**

Numerous educational assistance programs have been provided by various educational stakeholders. Nevertheless, as the Asan Institute argues "Quantity is no substitute for quality" (Seo, 2017) regarding the current resettlement programs, many of them are insignificant or focused on a short-term goal. The Ministry of Education's affirmative admission policy excludes TCNs from beneficiaries and its 12-week adaptation training program, Hanawon, lacks physical capacities and vocational education to address the defectors' financial constraints (KEDI, 2018; Kirk, 2016). Furthermore, government-funded e-learning websites fundamentally cater towards local students and issued supplementary textbooks exacerbate the defector students' study burden, which shows a stark contrast to the original intent of each learning method (Ministry of Education, 2018). Most of alternative schools are also ineligible to grant official accreditation (Koh, 2016)

# Policy Alternatives to Integrate North Korean Defectors into the South Korean Education System

Defectors face problems such as high school dropping out and prejudice. If the status quo is to continue, North Korean defectors may permanently be labelled as outcasts. Thus, seven policy alternatives are proposed to address issues pertaining to their integration in South Korea's education system.

# Policy Alternative #1: Ministry of Unification and Ministry of Education – Equal Government Benefits for Both North Korean Defector Groups

The Ministries of Unification Education should reform policies such that defectors and TCNs are both recognized as North Korean defectors and provided equal government benefits. By implementing a more inclusive policy reform that entitles TCNs to also receive affirmative action status and full university tuition support, the government could alleviate the financial burdens that have previously prevented TCNs from enrolling in higher education. Through such policy reform, the Korean government would benefit more than half of the total North Korean defectors who previously were excluded from government support. Subsequently the government could fulfill TCNs' fundamental human rights to higher education and reduce their marginalization, resulting in the TCNs' integration into the South Korean education system.

### *Policy Alternative #2: Ministry of Unification and Ministry of Education – Income-Driven Loan Repayment Initiative*

The Ministries of Unification and Education should enable an Income-Driven Repayment Loan plan for North Korean defectors by paying off their broker fees upfront. Currently, North Korean defector students are illegally working to pay off their broker fees. As a result, defector students are being exploited. Thus, North Korean defector students are susceptible to vicious cycles of economic struggles from being unable to pay off their broker expenses, thereby exacerbating their risks of dropping out of public education.

By lending enough monetary funds to pay off broker fees, the government could alleviate North Korean defector students from their financial debt and incentivize them to focus on their academic studies instead of resorting to blue-collar work. The government could set conditions where North Korean student borrowers are granted grace periods where they do not start repaying their loans until post-university graduation. As such, North Korean defector students who find employment after attaining their university degrees could gradually repay their financial obligations to the government in a 30-year timeframe based on income without interest rates. For example, a North Korean defector student who graduates and earns the equivalent of \$50,000 USD could repay his/her government loan in thirty years whereas a North Korean defector graduate who earns \$100,000 USD could repay in fifteen years. Thus, an income-driven loan repayment plan could enable more primary school students to become more academically involved and ensure the likelihood of a higher salary professional occupation.



#### Figure 1. Comparison of Status Quo vs Policy Alternative (Created by Author)

*Policy Alternative #3: Ministry of Unification – Establishment of the Office of Inter-Korean Cooperation* 

The Ministry of Unification should further establish its impact by creating a sub-agency, the Office of Inter-Korean Cooperation, responsible for inter-agency collaborations within the various Korean ministries. Since Hanawon is only short-term, the Ministry of Unification cannot ensure full defector assimilation.

The Ministry should seek to play a more long-term role as a mediator between North Korean defectors and other Korean ministries to further establish North Korean defectors' assimilation. For example, the Ministry of Unification's Office of Inter-Korean Cooperation could jointly coordinate a mentorship and tutoring program with the Ministry of Education by connecting North Korean defector students to local university students, thereby enabling more North Korean students to receive academic support.

The Office of Inter-Korean Cooperation could implement public awareness campaigns in association with the Ministry of Culture to address school bullying and social prejudices attached to North Korean defectors. Examples of public awareness campaigns could include North Korean defector speaking events in public schools, essay and arts contests hosted by school districts depicting North Korean students' struggles, school festivals that foster the sharing of cultures between North Korean and domestic students through food and music, and more.

In addition to jointly implementing programs with other ministries, the Office of Inter-Korean Cooperation could be an accountability office and ensure that other ministries are implementing their North Korean integration programs effectively. As previously mentioned, the Ministry of Education currently lacks oversight of its 'Preferential Admissions Program', a policy requiring Korean universities to recruit a certain number of North Korean high school graduates for admission. Thus, due to the lack of enforcement by the Ministry of Education, roughly 25 domestic universities failed to meet the policy requirements and consequently did not accept any North Korean defector in 2013. The Office of Inter-Korean Cooperation could therefore hold the Ministry of Education accountable and advocate that it strictly enforces its policies by publishing publicly-available performance reports of the Ministry of Education.

# *Policy Alternative #4: Ministry of Unification - Reform of Hanawon through Decentralization and Cross-Collaboration with Agencies & NGOs*

Figure 2. Additional Hanawon Localities in South Korea (Created by Author)



While Hanawon provides a 12-week training program that is crucial for resettlement, the small facility cannot fully accommodate all incoming defectors (Kirk, 2016). Thus, one proposition would be to create a more collaborative platform with both Korean ministries, other provincial governments located outside of Seoul, and civil society organizations. The core idea of the plan would be to expand services by decentralizing Hanawon as a single facility based in Seoul to establishing additional local centers in coordination with other provincial governments and NGOs located outside of Seoul. In doing so, there could be less capacity constraints solely on the Seoul facility by balancing responsibilities with other partners. Ultimately, by offering Hanawon in additional localities, the lack of facilities could be resolved (Figure 2).

Furthermore, Hanawon could benefit from its collaborations with other Korean ministries, which could result in long-term impact. For example, Hanawon could connect defectors who are nearing the completion of the program with the Ministry of Education to facilitate the defectors' transition into the appropriate public schools with certified teachers who can effectively teacher North Korean defectors. Furthermore,

Hanawon could incorporate vocational programs in its education curriculum by collaborating with neighboring vocational schools as well as providing additional language lessons and psychological counseling in collaboration with NGOs such as Liberty in North Korea, Teacher for North Korean Refugees, World Vision, and more. By providing educational assistance with the support of NGOs, Hanawon could ensure the continuation of defectors' Seoul dialect and English language-learning as they could transition into the following NGOs' language programs once completing Hanawon. Additionally, by supplementing Hanwon with NGOs' support, the Korean government could better address the psychological challenges that defectors may experience as NGOs could be better equipped with the necessary expertise to properly identify and mitigate the issues.

# *Policy Alternative #5: Ministry of Education - Additional Content on E-Learning Websites that Cater Towards North Korean Defector Students*

Current contents are fundamentally designed for domestic students thereby lacking the capacity to meet defector students' educational needs. The government's investment on developing supplementary textbooks entailed unexpected aggravation of the defector students' academic stress. To alleviate the students' overwhelming academic burden while promoting learning engagement, the Ministry should expand its efforts on developing elearning materials instead. Special themes need to be added for defector students such as historical context and events, vocabularies/terminologies, examination system, and more. In this regard, the e-learning materials would enable a more interactive and friendly learning environment for defector students. To provide for TCNs who lack Korean, the learning materials should also be provided in multiple different languages. These websites should also be further utilized as virtual spaces where defector students can conveniently receive education assistance by interacting with educators, sharing knowledge with other peers, and networking through communication.

Figure 3. Supplemental North Korean Learning Contents in E-learning Website (Created by Author)



# *Policy Alternative #6: Ministry of Education - Accreditation of Alternative Schools that Meet Education Standards*

The Korean government should also consider the process of accrediting additional alternative schools and refer to Yeomyung School as a benchmark. The Ministry of Education could host workshops and conventions to jointly develop curriculums that may accommodate the needs of the North Korean defectors while also meeting the educational standards to be eligible for diplomas. The Ministry could provide teaching materials with opportunities for the alternative schools to make certain changes to best accommodate the students' needs. Furthermore, the Ministry could host knowledge sharing symposiums in which teachers from established alternative schools could exchange their teaching methods with other teachers to better engage and communicate with students. As defectors rely on alternative schools as their last chance, the government should ensure that the defectors are granted diplomas for their efforts rather than making them overcome additional obstacles. By cross-collaborating with alternative schools, not only will the government provide an accepting community that is needed for the defectors to succeed, it will also maintain national performance expectations.

# *Policy Alternative #7: Ministry of Education & Ministry of Unification - Teacher Trainings that Promote Social and Emotional Learning (SEL)*

To resolve teachers' negligence and biased attitudes towards North Korean defector students, the Ministries of Education and Unification should jointly conduct teacher training programs that foster Social and Emotional Learning (SEL) in educators. As a result, teachers may develop awareness and empathy for a defector's backgrounds and hardships and be better equipped to address their emotional instability and educational needs. The Korean government should incentivize local teachers to do home visits of North Korean defector students and engage with their parents to raise awareness about the significance of education and persuade them to support their children's learning. Constructing a close engagement between teachers-parents through active communication and persistent exchanges could result in more inclusive classroom environments enforced by the teachers.

#### Figure 4. Positive Effects of SEL Teacher Training (Created by Author)



### **Evaluation of Policy Alternatives: Evaluation Criteria**

<u>Criterion #1 – Cost (Weighted 1/3)</u>: This determines the cost-benefit of enacting a policy alternative. Costs would include factors such as total administrative, IT, and implementation costs. Scores will range from 1 to 10 with 1 providing the least cost-benefit and 10 offering the most cost-benefit.

<u>Criterion #2 – Efficacy (Weighted 1/3)</u>: The efficacy criterion would seek to determine how effective the policy alternative would be in integrating North Korean defector students into South Korea's education system. The efficacy criterion will be measured using a 1 to 10 scale system, with 1 representing the least effective and 10 being the most effective at providing education opportunities for North Korean students.

<u>Criterion #3 – Feasibility (Weighted 1/3):</u> Lastly, this criterion seeks to determine the political feasibility and the likelihood of bipartisan support to enact the policy solution. Feasibility will be classified according to the level of bipartisan support on a 1 to 10 ranking system. A score of 1 will represent low bipartisan support while a 10 will represent high bipartisan support.

### **Outcomes Matrix**

	Cost: Total administrative, IT, and implementation costs 1/3 Weighted	<b>Efficacy:</b> Successful integration of Defector Students 1/3 Weighted	<b>Feasibility:</b> Bi-partisan support to enact policy solution 1/3 Weighted	Weighted Total
Alternative #1 Status Quo	7 – No additional costs but Korean economy may become affected	3 – Continuation of North Korean students' early dropouts	3 – With continuous incoming defectors, status quo is not sustainable	4.3
Alternative #2	2 – Government benefits for TCNs	8 – TCNs would have government support for	1 – Could provoke public protest as taxpayers would	3.6

Equal Government Benefits for Both Defector Groups	would increase taxes for citizens	university tuitions and enrollment	be paying for defectors	
Alternative #3 Defector Student Loan Repayment Initiatives	2 – Substantial IT, administrative, and HR costs; risks of student default rates	6 – Broker debt would be paid off so defector students could focus on academics	3 – Policy could increase student loan default rates nationally	3.6
Alternative #4 Establishment of the Office of Inter- Korean Cooperation	<ul> <li>4 – Substantial IT, administrative, and HR costs; ministries would have to hire additional staff too</li> </ul>	7 – interagency collaboration would provide language mentorships, counselling, etc.	8 – Office of Inter-Korean Cooperation could develop closer relationships with other ministries	6.3
Alternative #5 Decentralization of Hanawon and Cross- Collaboration with Partners	4 – Investments needed to create additional localities; NGO partners could reduce expenses	5 – Local Hanawon centers may disagree with decision-making; Can provide Hanawon to remote areas	5 – Other local governments may not see the merit in Hanawon; NGO participation higher	4.3
Alternative #6 E-Learning Contents for North Korean Defector Students	<ul> <li>8 – E-learning sites and databases</li> <li>already exist; Need to contact private education institutions</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>7 – Supplementary</li> <li>contents would be</li> <li>more effectively</li> <li>delivered; Remote</li> <li>areas can benefit</li> <li>too</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>9 – Infrastructure for E-learning already exists; Could foster public-private partnerships</li> </ul>	8.0
Alternative #7 Accreditation of Alternative Schools	5 – Need to develop standardized frameworks that approve alternative schools for diplomas	8 – Accreditation would enable defector students to receive diplomas and pursue higher education	5 – Previously accredited one school; alternative schools may disagree to adhere to frameworks	6.0
Alternative # 8 Teacher Training for Social & Emotional Learning (SEL)	4 – Logistics costs (teacher manuals, lecturers from experts, etc.) would be considerable	10 – Teachers would be better equipped to address defectors' academic and emotional needs	6 – Government could reduce defectors' class aggressions; Teachers may not partake unless incentivized	6.6

Based on the criteria and the weights assigned on each one, the sixth policy alternative, "E-Learning Contents for North Korean Defector Students", represented the most optimal policy solution. It would not only be effective in delivering supplementary class materials in a more engaging manner, but also provide translations in Chinese, Vietnamese, and Mongolian for TCN students who have had limited learning opportunities in comparison to both native North Korean defectors and domestic students. The threshold for recommendations was up to the rating of 6.3. Therefore, it seems critical for the Korean government to heavily consider policy alternative eight, "Teacher Trainings for SEL", as well as policy alternative four, "Establishment of the Office of Inter-Korean Cooperation." While these two policy options scored relatively low in the cost criteria, their efficacy and feasibility exhibited high potential for practicality and public acceptance. As a result, the following policy options are recommended in chronological order:

- 1. Policy Alternative #6 E-Learning Contents for North Korean Defector Students
- 2. Policy Alternative #8 Teacher Trainings for SEL
- 3. Policy Alternative #4 Establishment of the Office of Inter-Korean Cooperation

### Conclusion

South Korea should no longer consider itself a 'homogenous' country. It has become an increasingly diverse nation with the continuous flow of migrant workers, foreign students, expatriates, as well as incoming North Korean refugees. Thus, for the nation to reap the benefits of the potential economic benefits and human capital that North Korean refugees may provide, social services, societal views, and education opportunities must adapt in South Korea for the long-term educational integration of North Korean defectors. Despite the country's hardships for its new arrivals, South Korea remains the most prominent host for North Korean defectors and one of the most desired destination for defectors. Thus, not only will the policies enacted for the education of North Korean defectors provide a foundation for future defectors, they may also play significant roles for future North Koreans after the reunification of the two Koreas.

### References

Choi, G. (2018). North Korean Refugees in South Korea: Change and Challenge in Settlement Support Policy. The Korean Journal of International Studies, 16(1), 77-98.

Fifield, A. (2017, September 09). Escape from North Korea: Defectors risk all on a perilous 2,700-mile trek. Chicago Tribune. Retrieved from http://www.chicagotribune.com/news/nationworld/ct-north-korea-defectors-20170909-story.html

Ji, D. (2016, September 07). Middle class N.Koreans fleeing for non-economic reasons: MoU. NK News. Retrieved from https://www.nknews.org/2016/09/middle-class-nkoreans-fled-to-s-korea-due-to-non-economic-motive-mou/

Kim, C. (2015, February 01). North Korean Youth Depression - A March of Endless Suffering. Hankook Ilbo. Retrieved from https://www.hankookilbo.com/News/Read/201502011271891440

Kirk, D. (2016, November 28). Inside Hanawon, where North Koreans learn the capitalist way of life. NK News. Retrieved from https://www.nknews.org/2016/11/inside-hanawon-where-north-koreans-learn-the-capitalist-way-of-life/

Koh, B. (2016, December 22). Alternative schools help young N.K. defectors find new dreams. Yonhap News, Retrieved from http://english.yonhapnews.co.kr/news/2016/12/21/020000000AEN2016122100580031 5

Korean Educational Development Institute (KEDI). (2018). Talbughagsaeng jido gyosayong maenyueol [Guidance Manual for Teachers Making Together, A United World]. Chungcheongbuk-do: KEDI.

Kwon, S. (2012). bughan-italjumin-ui hangug-eo sayong hagseub siltae mich jeongchaegjeog jeeon [Situational Analysis Regarding North Korean Defector Students' Korean Language Usage and Learning]. National Institute of Korean Language, 22(3).

Kwon, S., Won, J., Kim, E., Ju, J., Lee, S., & Lee, S. (2012). Talbughagsaeng jidoyong gug-eogwa gyoyuggwajeong pyojun-an gaebal: chodeung [Developing Standardized Korean Language Curriculums for Elementary North Korean Defector Students]. Korean Educational Development Institute, 16(35).

Kwong, M. (2018, March 02). A North Korean's Unexpected Challenges in the South: Learning the Language, Ditching the Accent. CBC. Retrieved from www.cbc.ca/news/world/north-korean-language-accent-1.4554545 Lankov, A. (2006). Bitter Taste of Paradise: North Korean Refugees in South Korea. Journal of East Asian Studies, 6(1).

Ministry of Education. (2018). Utilizing E-Learning for Elementary and Secondary Schools. Chungcheongnam-do: Ministry of Education.

Park, S., Lee, Y., & Jun, J. (2018). Trauma and Depression among North Korean Refugees: The Mediating Effect of Negative Cognition. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 15(4).

Robertson, P. (2016, July 05). North Korea's Caste System: The Trouble with Songbun. Human Rights Watch. Retrieved from https://www.hrw.org/news/2016/07/05/north-koreas-caste-system

Ryu, S., Kim, S., Kim, J., & Lee, J. (2015). Damunhwa - talbug hagsaengdeul-ui jinlogyoyug mich chwieobjiwon ganghwa bang-an-e daehan yeongu [A Study on Strengthening Career Education and Employment Support for Multicultural Students and North Korean Refugees]. Ministry of Education.

Seo, Y. (2017). Two Fundamental Problems of Current Supporting Policies of North Korean Refugees and Multicultural Solutions through Social Integration. Journal of Korean Political Science Association, 21(2), 301-327.

Sung, J., & Go, M. (2014). Resettling in South Korea: Challenges for Young North Korean Refugees. Retrieved from The Asan Institute for Policy Studies: http://en.asaninst.org/contents/resettling-in-south-korea-challenges-for-young-north-korean-refugees/

Yong, K. (2016 January 19). Poll: Growing Number of S. Koreans See N. Korea as Enemy. VOA News. Retrieved from https://www.voanews.com/a/poll-growing-numbersouth-koreans-see-north-korea-enemy/3153415.html

# Jozef Colpaert, Evelyn Spruyt

University of Antwerp, Antwerp, Belgium

jozef.colpaert@uantwerpen.be, evelyn.spruyt@uantwerpen.be

# Toward a task design model for mental acceptance and motivation: a transdisciplinary approach

### Bio data



Jozef Colpaert teaches Instructional Design, Educational Technology and Computer Assisted Language Learning at the University of Antwerp, Belgium. He is editor of Computer Assisted Language Learning (Taylor and Francis), head of the Center of Expertise for Higher Education and organizer of the International CALL Research Conferences. He is currently working on the empirical and theoretical validation of Educational Engineering, a novel instructional design and research method.



Evelyn Spruyt represents the University of Antwerp as project partner within the Erasmus+ TECOLA project. She is currently testing the task design model in pilots and experiments with language teachers in Flanders.

### Abstract

The Erasmus+ TECOLA project (www.tecola.eu) focuses on pedagogical differentiation through telecollaboration and gamification for intercultural and content integrated language teaching. The role of the University of Antwerp as partner is the development of a task design model for telecollaboration in virtual and gamified environments.

The task design model is based on two gaps in literature on task-based language teaching (TBLT), technology-mediated TBLT and telecollaboration, which are also encountered in current pilots and exchanges in practice. The first gap is the disregard for established concepts and principles from motivation theory and psychology. Secondly, tasks are seen as products with features that may have an effect on learning, however not much is said about task design as a process.

In this presentation, we will first highlight the theoretical foundations for conceiving the task design model by presenting the models involved. We will then explain the task design model itself and how it has been presented to and used by teachers. The model itself is an evolving concept which is being tested in the Winter and Spring of 2019 in various exchange projects in Europe.

Finally, we will show that this project is an illustration of how transdisciplinarity (Colpaert, 2018) can be a better solution than interdisciplinarity, especially in cases where multiple disciplines come together: linguistics, language acquisition, technology, psychology and pedagogy.

### **Conference paper**

### Task-based language learning and teaching (TBLT)

Grounded on socio-cultural views on language learning, TBLT has been established for some time now as one of the main approaches to language learning and teaching worldwide (Van den Branden, 2006; Van den Branden, Bygate & Norris, 2009; Thomas & Reinders, 2010; González-Lloret & Ortega, 2014). TBLT has been identified as the most advanced form of communicative language teaching as learners are expected to act not only as language learners, but also as language users (Ellis, 2003; Van den Branden, 2006). Tasks, the smallest unit of syllabus design and evaluation, are at the centre of each rich language learning activity and they are generally structured into three stages: pre-task, in-task and post-task (Ellis, 2003; Van den Branden, 2006). For the development of the task design model, we adopted Van den Branden's (2006) definition of tasks viewed as "an activity in which a person engages in order to attain an objective, and which necessitates the use of language" (p. 4).

### Challenges for TBLT

Although much is already known about TBLT, little is said about the challenges TBLT is facing. Not much has been written or researched about TBLT and collaborative learning and, consequently, about TBLT and telecollaboration. And both in literature and practice, TBLT has thus far failed to address the psychological-motivation side of tasks and tasks are seen as products, not as processes.

### Collaborative learning

A first challenge for TBLT, as said before, is collaborative learning. For many years now, collaborative learning has established itself as a key concept in pedagogy. In short it is seen as a situation in which two or more people learn or attempt to learn something together (Mitnik et al., 2009). In collaborative learning, students are active participants in their own learning process and this is why, for obvious reasons, collaborative learning is used in student-centred settings (Colpaert & Gijsen, 2017).

Research shows that collaboration is beneficial for learners, and researchers agree that it should be included in the design of powerful learning environments. This is why many teachers have started exploring collaborative activities with their learners. Benefits from the teacher's point of view are fewer teacher-centered classrooms and the subsequent assumption of a reduced workload. Given the pressure many teachers are confronted with, this is an understandable rationale. When the students are working together, the teacher has time to focus time on other obligations (Colpaert & Gijsen, 2017).

However, since the learner is the point of focus of TBLT, the question that remains is: do students really want to work and learn together? The way learners experience a collaborative task, depends on a number of factors such as type of learner, flexibility of the learner and concerns related to anxiety when it comes to collaborative learning (Belz, 2002; Kramsch and Thorne, 2002; O'Dowd, 2003; O'Dowd & Ritter, 2006; Colpaert & Gijsen, 2017). The need for and the effect of collaborative learning largely depends on factors such as modality, activity type, task type, context and personal goals (Ellis, 2003; Colpaert & Gijsen, 2017).

### Telecollaboration

Another challenge for TBLT is telecollaboration. In language learning contexts, telecollaboration is understood to be: "Internet-based intercultural exchange between people of different cultural/national backgrounds, set up in an institutional blended-learning context with the aim of developing both language skills and intercultural communicative competence (as defined by Byram 1997) through structured tasks" (Guth & Helm, 2011, p.42). During these exchanges learners get a chance to engage online in authentic meaningful communication with new peers from other countries. Telecollaborative exchanges, especially in innovative e-learning environments such as 3D

or virtual spaces and when using appropriate telecollaborative tasks, have the potential to facilitate interaction and collaboration, enhance language learning and intercultural communicative competences (ICC) in a technology mediated setting.

TBLT has been the prominent approach to learning and teaching in technology-mediated learning environments (Van den Branden, 2006; Van den Branden et al., 2009; Thomas & Reinders, 2010; González-Lloret & Ortega, 2014). However, although the idea of designing tasks from a task-based perspective has gained and secured widespread support with researchers all over the world, there's up-to-date not yet cogent evidence that designing technology-mediated tasks according to TBLT criteria can result in successful learning.

Research-based evidence shows that FTF tasks play an important role in successful language learning (Ellis, 2003; Samuda & Bygate, 2008) yet, we do not have enough knowledge on how tasks work in technology-mediated settings (Hampel, 2006; Doughty & Long, 2003; Wang, 2007). Additionally, there is a need to explore how tasks can be designed to fully maximize the potential of interaction in an online medium (Thomas & Reinders, 2010). Over the past two decades researchers in the field of Computer Assisted language Learning (CALL) have been increasingly interested in tasks design, but to this date TBLT and CALL have not been able to answer the question of "how to integrate new technologies and language tasks into an organic and mutually informative whole" (González-Lloret & Ortega, 2014, p.4).

Adding on to the challenge of designing tasks for technology-mediated TBLT are the fact that they need to be collaborative tasks. Up to date few studies have tried to question or criticize the acclaimed benefits of collaborative tasks when applied in the field of technology. Most evidence supporting advantages of collaborative learning stems from research that has been conducted in traditional classroom-based settings and it is by no means a valid assumption that collaborative learning in a technology-mediated setting can trigger the same results. Technology allows us to design and work with tasks in highly varied environments, but we cannot assume that tasks work in the same way as they do in the FTF classrooms (Thomas & Reinders, 2010).

Hence TBLT is, as described, potentially a suitable approach for second language learning in technology-mediated settings, but TBLT-based tasks do not necessarily create acceptance and willingness in the learner' mind. This brings us to the next challenge for TBLT: psychology.

### Psychology

TBLT literature, research and practice tend to overlook the psychological-motivational characteristics of tasks, also in technology-supported settings (Poupure, 2013). In spite of teacher effort and expertise, if students are not engaged and motivated, the task (and learning altogether) will fall short (Dörnyei & Tseng, 2009). It is therefore important that tasks are designed in such a way that they elicit learners' motivation and engagement, i.e. that they are meaningful to all those involved. For telecollaborative activities to be effective, students need to be convinced that the task is meaningful to them and useful to others, i.e. their peers and teachers (Foster & Skehan, 1999; Ellis, 2009; Colpaert, 2010). For telecollaborative activity to be successful, teachers should acknowledge that there is no such thing as one task that will be meaningful to all learners involved. Hence, TBLT is in dire need of a model showing how tasks are to be designed to elicit learner motivation and engagement (e.g. by guaranteeing meaningfulness).

### Task design

The last flaw in present-day TBLT literature, research and practice is that tasks are seen as products with features that may have an effect on learning, but too little is known about task design as a process of conceptualizing and specifying the best possible tasks for a specific context (Samuda & Bygate, 2008; O'Dowd & Waire, 2009). Task design is often seen as automatic and logical, which is a misconception since one of the key difficulties of TBLT for teachers is to actually implement a task-based approach in their particular context (Ellis & Shintani, 2013).

### The TECOLA project

After our international CALL Research conference on task design (Colpaert et al., 2015), the University of Antwerp embarked on the Erasmus+ TeCoLa project (www.tecola.eu) that focusses on pedagogical differentiation through telecollaboration and gamification for intercultural and content integrated language teaching. Antwerp University's role as project partner was the development of a preliminary, theoretical task design model for telecollaboration in virtual and gamified environments that closed all four above mentioned gaps in TBLT literature, research and practice. Starting points to develop and test this model are secondary school level language learning and teaching contexts in Europe. The task design model should become an inspirational methodological framework rather than a set of prescriptive guidelines.

### Motivation

To close the above mentioned gaps, we focussed on the mental acceptability of the task, the learners' willingness to do the task, and their identification with the task. We built our task design model on theories such as Self-Determination Theory, Dörnyei's L2 SELF model and Colpaert's Personal Goal Theory. We also used some other theories (Expectancy Theory, Attribution Theory etc.), but these would lead us to far within the scope of this paper. In the next section, we will describe motivation on three levels: a global level, a local level and an individual level.

### On a global level

The Self-Determination Theory describes motivation on a global level since it discusses three universal innate psychological needs: competence, relatedness and autonomy (Deci & Ryan, 2000) Apart from that it also presents six universal levels of regulation and identification:

- amotivation: no participation
- external regulation: passive participation because of demand, reward or punishment
- introjected regulation: participation to maintain self-esteem
- identified regulation: learner values the goal of the task
- integrated regulation: learner believes in the task
- intrinsic regulation: complete identification with the task ('this is me')

### On a local level

On a local level motivation can be described in terms of personal goals. Personal goals seem to be non-conscious or unconscious volitions related to a specific learning situation. They are not linked to concrete actions, but mostly to states of mind or feelings. Personal goals are not related to life-in-general (like be happy, rich, and healthy), but they mostly spring from attitudes toward the learning situation. They are certainly individual to a large extent, they differ within a group, but it has always been possible to group them or find some kind of common denominator. A few personal goals (such as the desire to be respected) seem to be universal (Colpaert, 2010).

In cases of problematic motivation, too much direct focus or emphasis on pedagogical goals is counterproductive. It is better to first create willingness or acceptance in the learner's mind. In other words, it will prove beneficial to start with focussing on factors which stimulate or hinder the learning process in the learner's mind, before turning to what they have to acquire. These factors are the personal goals. (Colpaert, 2010).

Personal goals are design concepts derived from an abstraction of hidden factors that stimulate or hinder a group (or subgroups, personas) in the learning process. They are not necessarily psychological realities, but rather assumptions about some aspects of the user which have appeared to be of decisive importance for the design process. Personal goals are only 'real' to the extent that they contribute to the efficiency and effectiveness of the design process in a first step, and (more indirectly) contribute to the result in terms of acceptance, learning effect, self-efficacy, interest, and motivation in a second step (Colpaert, 2010).

### On an individual level

On an individual level, motivation is directed by the motivation self-system of L2 learning (Dörnyei, 2009). This motivational self-system suggests that a person has three selfimages: the present self, the ideal L2 self and the ought-to L2 self. The present self is the person as he/she is as a second language speaker in that moment. The ideal L2 self is a person's imagined ideal future self as a second language speaker. This ideal L2 self can promote motivation by pushing the present self to strive to become the ideal self, which will be done by integrative and internalized motivation in language learning. The ought-to L2 self includes the things a person believes they should do/have in order to meet expectations or avoid negative outcomes, which is associated with extrinsic motivation (Dörnyei, 2009).

### The task design model

As indicated before, TBLT is facing the challenges of (tele)collaboration and psychology/the learners' mental acceptance of the task. Apart from that, although TBLT criteria have been widely accepted to guide teachers through their process of task specification (or shaping), they do not say anything about task design, meaning the process of conceiving a task concept or idea. Tasks keep falling from the sky. With our task design model, we try to close both gaps in the knowledge about TBLT, while facing the challenges of designing tasks for (tele)collaboration.

The task design model itself is an evolving concept which will be tested in the Spring of 2019 in various exchange projects in Europe. The model has already gone through extensive changes based on the feedback of TECOLA partners; 100 students in teacher education at the University of Antwerp (September 2017 - January 2018); 200 participants at conference presentations (CALICO 2017, CALL 2017, DFLL 2017 in Taiwan, PP-TELL 2018 in Taiwan, WorldCALL 2018 in Chile...); 85 participants at Teacher Training events organized at Ghent University, Mons University and Antwerp University in January 2017, and the teachers we are coaching in the TeCoLa project.

The task design model right now has the form of a questionnaire which should help teachers in conceptualizing and specifying more activating tasks on the one hand, and in gathering and analyzing data on the other. The questionnaire is divided into four categories: pedagogical approach, activity type, psychology and autonomy. For each category, between four and eight questions are asked to help the task designer work out said category.

### Pedagogical approach

The part about the pedagogical approach poses questions about targeted competences and required knowledge, skills, insight and attitude. An example question from the questionnaire is: "Does the task target more than knowledge and skills?".

### Activity type

The part about the activity type tries to identify which of the following four types of activities are being used:

- Tell: this activity is just communicating without any expected nor observable task outcome. It's just about the activity itself. Present yourself, your school, your country... This task is not necessarily strongly bidirectional.
- Interact: this activity is to do something with words with no tangible, measurable or describable task outcome but with possible (desirable) effect on the other person such as in the case of negotiating, convincing, .... The effect is that the other person is convinced, has made a concession, has come up with a new idea ... This kind of tasks is more strongly bidirectional.

- Do: this activity leads to a real outcome in terms of observable phenomena (e.g. typical TBLT tasks such as go and buy something, play a game ...).
- Make: this activity leads to an artefact, mostly non-physical in the case of telecollaboration (exception activities with 3D printer?).
- •

No outcome type is more valuable than the other. All depends on what is needed in a specific context. But our hypothesis is that the more challenging the context (e.g. the lower the motivation), the more reason for choosing "do" and even "make" types. An example guestion from the questionnaire is: "Does the task require making something?".

### Psychology fit

The part about the psychology is divided into three qualities and three levels, and helps the task designer to make the task as meaningful as possible. The qualities and levels are the following:

- three qualities:
  - meaningful: a task can be more authentic, acceptable and relevant
  - useful: a task can have an additional result for learner, learning environment or others
  - rewarding [advanced level only]: a task can address universal needs (competence, relatedness, autonomy), personal goals (respect, support, ...) or Ideal Self Images
- three levels (based on the research presented in the part about motivation):
  - o global or universal: what we know learners worldwide want
  - $\circ$  local or context-dependent: what we know 'our' learners want
  - individual: what we know some learner want
  - 0

An example question from the questionnaire is: "Does the task represent a real world activity?".

### Task autonomy

The last part of the questionnaire, about autonomy, determines the degree of freedom for the learner:

- Fixed task: tasks should be executed as such
- Task with degrees of freedom: learners can/should make some choices
- Negotiated task: learners discuss the task among themselves, with the teacher or with the other class and suggest changes
- Designed task: learners design a task themselves

This axis not only represents degrees of freedom for the learner, but also increasing importance of the pre-task discussion. On the lowest level, learners will probably first vent their reactions before actually starting to execute the task. The higher the level, the more complex and interesting this pre-task execution stage becomes. It is hypothesized that the pre-task discussion will be more interesting than the in-task discussion.

The four types of task autonomy represent dimensions of task complexity but also potential activating power. Their purpose is not to have all 'levels' combined into one task, nor to prototype tasks on all levels. Within the TeCoLa project, partners and teachers should start with the simple straightforward task-as-is and then gradually evolve towards more complex tasks, in whatever order. An example question from the questionnaire is: "Will the task description leave some options for the students?".

### **Research-based: transdisciplinarity**

As said before, the TeCoLa-project, telecollaboration and our task design model can be located within the scope of Computer-Assisted Language Learning. CALL has a multidisciplinary character; it can be located within multiple disciplines: linguistics, technology, pedagogy, psychology, design and research.

When different people from the CALL field work together, this can be viewed as interdisciplinarity, which involves the combining of two or more academic disciplines into

one activity. However, interdisciplinarity only occurs on one side, not on both. The more disciplines are involved, the weaker the model.

Therefore, Colpaert (2018) proposes a better solution than interdisciplinarity in cases like the TeCoLa project, where multiple disciplines come together (e.g. linguistics, language acquisition, technology, psychology and pedagogy). In this new approach, two levels are being distinguished: the activity level and the conceptual level. The activity level is the level where researchers and actors normally work in their own habitat. The conceptual level is the level where they create new knowledge constructs together, hereby transcending the boundaries between them. These constructs can then be instantiated back on the activity level as concrete discipline- or actor-specific notions.

Rather than talking about interdisciplinarity, Colpaert suggests talking about transdisciplinarity, which is an activity that stands for a new way of thinking. The activity consist in the co-construction (conceptualization and specification) of mental artefacts or knowledge constructs on a higher level of abstraction. These constructs can be models, concepts, objects, methods, metaphors, images and even frameworks. The activity consist in crossing boundaries between disciplines (linguistics, pedagogy, psychology, technology, sociology...).

CALL as a discipline should be transdisciplinary in essence: this is the only way to build its own knowledge base, theory, language and identity. It is also the only way to respect and integrate findings from psychology and motivation theory

### References

Belz, J.A. (2002). Social dimensions of telecollaborative foreign language study. Language Learning & Technology, 6, 60–81.

Colpaert, J. (2010). Elicitation of language learners' personal goals as design concepts. Innovation in Language Learning and Teaching, (4)3, 259–274.

Colpaert, J. (2018). Transdisciplinarity revisited. Editorial. Computer Assisted Language Learning, DOI: 10.1080/09588221.2018.1437111

Colpaert, J., Aerts, A., Oberhofer, M., & Gutierrez-Colon Plana, M. (Eds.) (2015). Task design and CALL. Proceedings of the Seventeenth International CALL Research Conference (Tarragona, Universitat Rovira i Virgili, 6–8 July 2015). Antwerp: University of Antwerp. 478 p. ISBN 9789057284786.

Colpaert, J., & Gijsen, L. (2017). Ontological specification of telecollaborative tasks in language teaching. In Collaborative learning and new media: New insights into an evolving field (pp. 23–40). Frankfurt am Main, Germany: Deutsche Nationalbibliothek.

Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2000). The "what" and "why" of goal pursuits: Human needs and the self-determination of behavior. Psychological Inquiry, 11, 227–268.

Dörnyei, Z. (2009). The L2 motivational self system. In Motivation, language identity and the L2 self (pp. 9–42). Bristol, UK: Multilingual Matters.

Dörnyei, Z., & Tseng, W.T. (2009). Motivational processing in interactional tasks. In A. Mackey & C. Polio (Eds.), Multiple perspectives on interaction: Second language research in honor of Susan M. Gass (pp. 117–134). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.

Doughty, C.J., & Long, M.H. (2003) Optimal psycholinguistic environments for distance foreign language learning. Language Learning & Technology, 7(3): 50–80.

Ellis, R. (2003). Task-based language learning and teaching. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.

Ellis, R. (2009). The methodology of task-based teaching. The Asian EFL Journal, 11(5), 6–23.

Ellis, R., & Shintani, N. (2013). Exploring language pedagogy through second language acquisition research. Oxon: Routledge.

Foster, P., & Skehan, P. (1999). The influence of planning and focus of planning on task-based performance. Language Teaching Research, 3, 215–247.

González-Lloret, M., & Ortega, L. (2014). Towards technology-mediated TBLT: An introduction. In M. Gonzàlez-Lloret & L. Ortega (Eds.), Technology-mediated TBLT: Researching technology and tasks (pp. 1–22). Amsterdam, the Netherlands: John Benjamins Publishing Company.

Guth, S., & Helm, F. (2011). Developing multiliteracies in ELT through telecollaboration. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.

Hampel, R. (2006). Rethinking task design for the digital age: A framework for language teaching and learning in a synchronous online environment. ReCALL, 18(1), 105–121.

Kramsch, C., & Thorne, S. L. (2001). Foreign language learning as global communicative practice. In Globalization and language teaching (pp. 83–100). London, UK: Routledge.

Mitnik, R., Recabarren, M., Nussbaum, M., & Soto, A. (2009). Collaborative Robotic Instruction: A Graph Teaching Experience. Computers & Education, 53(2), 330–342.

O'Dowd, R. (2003). Understanding 'the other side': Intercultural learning in a Spanish-English e-mail exchange. Language Learning & Technology, 7(2), 118–144.

O'Dowd, R., & Ritter, M. (2006) Understanding and working with 'failed communication' in telecollaborative exchanges. CALICO Journal, 23(3), 623–642.

O'Dowd, R. & Waire, P. (2009) Critical issues in telecollaborative task design. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 22(2), 173–188, DOI: 10.1080/09588220902778369

Poupure, G. (2013). Task motivation in process: A complex systems perspective. The Canadian Modern Language Review, 69(1), 91-116. doi:10.3138/cmlr.1139

Samuda, V., & Bygate, M. (2008). Tasks in second language learning. Basingstoke, UK: Palgrave Macmillan.

Thomas, M. & Reinders, H. (Eds). (2010). Task-Based Language Learning and Teaching with Technology. Bloomsbury Publishing.

Van den Branden, K. (2006). Task-based language education: From theory to practice. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

Van den Branden, K., Bygate, M. & Norris, J.M. (2009). Task-based language teaching: a reader. Amsterdam, The Netherlands: John Benjamins Publishing Company.

Wang, Y. (2007). Task design in videoconferencing-supported distance learning. CALICO Journal, 24(3), 591–630.

## Heba Sayed El-Toukhy

Tanta University, Tanta, Egypt

Toukhyh2006@gmail.com

## Using mobile technology to help visual impairment students

### Bio data



Heba Sayed El-Toukhy. Currently, TEFL lecturer at Tanta University; Egypt. Has attended and presented in national and international conferences. Former instructor of English language at the American University in Cairo (AUC). Former Associate Professor in king Khalid University (KSA). Holds the Honor rolls as best English Instructors of the years 2001,2004,2005 from the AUC.

### Abstract

The aim of this study is to examine the use of mobile technology for supporting E-Learning of Visual Impairment students in the governmental schools, primary stage. For this purpose; certain APPS were adapted, other was created to help such students. 14 students were selected randomly and applied upon. The findings of the study revealed that using Mobile Technology raised the students listening and reading skills achievements also raised their self- esteem.

### **Conference paper**

### Introduction

The Importance of using technology in the educational process of students with disabilities was discussed throughout many articles around the world. Nowadays, Egypt started to focus on such topic and take into account such students after long neglecting. Supporting E-Learning for visual impaired students has become life time opportunities to the most neglected students in classrooms in Egypt in order to raise their self- esteem and start living normally also learning a new language with its skills.

Researches show that the same principles of teaching English to normal students that appear in curriculum are valid for teaching students with disabilities; yet, language instruction to the disabled students is more effective when teachers start to:

- Create a language- rich environment
- Adjust teaching to the individual pace of each student
- Break down the learning into sub- tasks in keeping with students needs
- Provide extensive drilling, memorization and repetition of the learning material

From such principles came the idea of using Mobile Technology. To motivate students, teachers and parents use the apps created; apps needed to be simple, clear, and most of all free to download, also, available to the students at schools and homes offline. For such reasons, the researcher integrated it into the students' individual education plan at every stage, presentation, assessment, implementation and evaluation.

The importance of using educational computer software to teach Visual disabled children can be attributed to a number of reasons, including:

- Educational computer software offers a feature of interaction that provides better educational experiences and more activities; they minimize the effect of isolation of which the visual impairment students suffer. As a result, such software creates opportunities for interaction between the learner and the software.
- Educational software, especially individualized instruction, considers individual differences among the learners so that each student will master the material, as the software designed for the Visual impairment students (in terms of self-learning) provides them with an opportunity to control and follow up the presentation time and to repeat it according to their needs
- Educational software offers the feature of variation since they are composed of various elements such as sound, animation, pictures etc. which will increase the visual impairment students' ability to deal with them.
- Educational computerized software addresses the visual senses due to containing pictures, drawings and texts. In addition, they address the sense of sight, touch and smell by using the virtual status technology, then making use of the other senses to learn the material.

As a result for the various uses and benefits of computers, Mobiles and technology, the researchers sought to teach English to visual impairment students in the elementary stage through technology software in an attempt to improve learning the skills of reading and listening in English at the beginning of their education.

### Problem of the study

Visual Impairment students communicate with the others normally as if they were normal through they need a lot of attention and special and various methods to be taught with. Such methods requires a specialized, patient and a capable teacher who can teach Visual Impairment children according to their pace and needs

In this regard, the importance of this study stems from our attempt to search for new and developed means to teach disabled children in such a way that helps in improving their quality of learning and raising its efficacy. It also updates this group of children with the current rapid developments that may help make them more knowledgeable about the community and allow them to enjoy the latest developments.

All of the above has urged the researchers to implement this research on the efficiency of Mobile and computer software in teaching visual impairment children the skills of reading and listening in English.- an experimental study for the elementary stage in the Tanta, Egypt. This method relies on using Mobile app as software to learn reading and listening in order to save effort and time.

### Hypothesis of the study

The study set out a group of hypotheses that are relevant to the nature of the research. It uses the experimental methodology based on an experimental group to measure the efficiency of using Mobile app in teaching visual impairment students the skills of reading and listening in English. The hypotheses are as follows:

- There are no significant statistical differences between the means of the scores of both pre- post tests in the reading achievement test.
- There are no significant statistical differences between the means of the scores of both pre- post tests in the listening achievement test.
- There are no significant statistical differences between the means of the scores of both pre- post scales in the self-esteem scale.

### Methodology and procedures Sample of the study

The sample was chosen from Ali Mobark primary school, Tanta, Egypt. Then the program was applied to a sample consisting of 19 Visual impairment students of the second grade, five of them were excluded as they didn't want to complete using the app, who were studying the English language course during the First month of the second academic semester of the academic year 2018-2019.

### Instruments of the study

- The Mobile app, software and books of the academic year so as to become compatible with self-learning.
- Mobile educational software that was prepared and developed by the researcher and an It designer and other computer programs to make use of them in teaching the Visual impairment students.
- The achievement tests that were prepared by the researcher to measure achievement in the skills of English reading and Listening.
- Self- esteem scale that were prepared and developed by the researcher to measure the improvement of the Visual impairment students' self- esteem.

The results showed that the abilities of visual impairment students who learn by Mobile app are better than learn by the traditional method. In addition, the results showed that using Mobiles in the tests helps to minimize worries and concerns from the tests that take a traditional form.

Moreover, the results confirmed improvement for the benefit of Visual impairment students who learn by Mobile app and due to the visual feedback, which plays a significant role in such improvement in learning and raising their self- esteem. This was noted by the researcher and was mentioned in the results, as this study confirmed raising the efficiency of learning and training by Mobile Technology.

### Results of the first hypothesis

In testing the first research hypothesis that states,: there are no significant statistical differences between the means of the scores of both pre- post tests in the reading achievement test. By referring to Table 1 and 2, the researcher obtained the following results as shown in the table from the statistical tests.

Group	No. of Participants	Means	SD	t. value	Sig	Sig.(2.tailed)
Experimental	14	8.79	.893	15 74	0 276	0.00
Control	14	15.57	1.342	15.74	0.270	0.00
	Table (1) result	s of T- Tes	t for the f	first hynoth	necic	

Group	No. of Participants	Means	SD	t. value	Sig	Sig.(2.tailed)
Experimental pre	14	10.00	1 204	16 227	0.024	0.00
Experimental post	14	15.57	1.284	10.237	0.034	0.00

Table (1) results of T- Test for the first hypothesis

Table 1 confirms that there is a significant statistical difference between the two groups (Control and Experimental) in the post test due to the progress of the participants from the experimental group who learned by using the Mobile Technology and computers software compared with the control group who learned by the traditional method.

Table 2 confirms that there is a significant statistical difference between the (pre and post) in the post test due to the progress of the participants from the experimental group who

Table (2) results of T- Test for the first hypothesis

learned by using the Mobile Technology and computers software compared with the control group who learned by the traditional method.

### Results of the second hypothesis

In testing the first research hypothesis that states,: There are no significant statistical differences between the means of the scores of both pre- post tests in the listening achievement test. By referring to Table 3 and 4, the researcher obtained the following results as shown in the table from the statistical tests.

Group	No. of Participant s	Mean s	SD	Freedo m Degree	t. value	Sig	Sig.(2.tailed )
Experimenta I	14	8.50	1.9 5	26	11.57	0.30	0.00
Control	14	16.29	1.5	24.98	4	8	0.00

Group	No. of Participants	Means	SD	t. value	Sig	Sig.(2.tailed)
Experimental pre	14	9.50	1.562	16.427	0.059	0.00
Experimental post	14	16.36				

Table (3) results of T- Test for the second hypothesis

Table (4) results of T- Test for the second hypothesis

Table 3 confirms that there is a significant statistical difference between the two groups (Control and Experimental) in the post test due to the progress of the participants from the experimental group who learned by using the Mobile Technology and computers software compared with the control group who learned by the traditional method.

Table 4 confirms that there is a significant statistical difference between the (pre and post) in the post test due to the progress of the participants from the experimental group who learned by using the Mobile Technology and computers software compared with the control group who learned by the traditional method.

### Results of the Third hypothesis

In testing the first research hypothesis that states,: There are no significant statistical differences between the means of the scores of both pre- post scales in the self-esteem scale. By referring to Table 5 and 6, the researcher obtained the following results as shown in the table from the statistical tests.

Group	No. of Participants	Means	SD	t. value	Sig	Sig.(2.tailed)
Experimental	14	9.93	1.81	11 462	0 1 2 2	0.00
Control	14	16.71	1.26	11.402	0.155	0.00
Table (E) regults of T. Tost for the third hypothesis						

Group	No. of Participants	Means	SD	t. value	Sig	Sig.(2.tailed)
Experimental pre	14	8.64	1.385	21.809	0.422	0.00
Experimental post	14	16.71				

Table (5) results of T- Test for the third hypothesis

Table 5 confirms that there is a significant statistical difference between the two groups (Control and Experimental) in the post test due to the progress of the participants from the experimental group who learned by using the Mobile Technology and computers software compared with the control group who learned by the traditional method.

Table (6) results of T- Test for the third hypothesis
Table 6 confirms that there is a significant statistical difference between the (pre and post) in the post test due to the progress of the participants from the experimental group who learned by using the Mobile Technology and computers software compared with the control group who learned by the traditional method.

#### Summary and discussion

The results showed that the abilities of Visual impairment students who learn by computer are better than the Visual impairment students who learn by the traditional method. In addition, the results showed that using computers in the tests helps to minimize worries and concerns from the tests that take a traditional form. Moreover, the results confirmed improvement for the benefit of Visual impairment students who learn by computer software and due to the visual feedback, which plays a significant role in such improvement in learning. This study confirmed raising the efficiency of learning and training by computer software.

#### Recommendations

- Have access to the international trends and recommendations regarding the dual language instruction.

- Prepare and qualify specialized teachers in English for the Visual impairment and expose them to training courses in using Mobiles technology and computers in the English curriculum.

- Due to the spread of computers and multimedia software in large quantities, the researcher would suggest encouraging and developing self-learning by using computers through adopting appropriate computer software that is specially designed for the Visual impairment students and extend them to the audio impairment students by the educational institutions. This will enable the special disabled students to use them in self-learning and practice it at home.

- Among the most important motivations of this research is extending teaching the use of the technology to the deaf students, as that will open various fields for them in continuing education and self-learning. Currently, English is the universal language for communication and self-learning through the world web.

- To apply the same research on other syllabuses and curriculums to examine the efficiency of learning with the help of computers.

#### References

Abbott, C. (2002) Making communication special, in C. Abbott (ed.) Special Educational Needs and the Internet: Issues for the Inclusive Classroom. London: Routledge/ Falmer.

Audit Commission (2002) Statutory Assessment and Statements of Special Educational Needs: In Need of Review? London: Audit Commissioner.

Banes, D. and Walter, R. (2002) Internet for All. London: David Fulton.

Bauer, A.M. and Ulrich, M.E. (2002) 'I've got a palm in my pocket': using handheld computers in an inclusive classroom, Teaching Exceptional Children, 35(2): 18–22.

Booth, T., Ainscow, M., Black-Hawkins, K., Vaughan, M. and Shaw, L. (2000) Index for Inclusion: Developing, Learning and Participation in Schools. Bristol: CSIE.

Cuban, L. (2001) Why are most teachers infrequent and restrained users of computers in their classrooms?, in J. Woodward and L. Cuban (eds) Technology, Curriculum and Professional Development: Adapting Schools to Meet the Needs of Students with Disabilities. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.

Dee, L., Florian, L., Porter, J. and Robertson, C. (2002) Developing curriculum guidance for person-centered transitions. Paper presented to the European Educational Research Association Conference on Educational Research, Lisbon, September.

Department for Education and Skills (2001) Special Educational Needs Code of Practice. London: DfES.

Gunter, P.L., Miller, K.A., Venn, M.L., Thomas, K. and House, S. (2002) Selfgraphing to success: computerized data management, Teaching Exceptional Children, 35(2): 30–4.

Hardy, C. (2000) Information and Communications Technology for All. London: David Fulton.

Lou, Y., Abrami, P.C. and d'Apollonia, S. (2001) Small group and individual learning with technology: a meta-analysis, Review of Educational Research, 71(3): 449–521.

Loveless, A. and Ellis, V. (2001) ICT, Pedagogy and the Curriculum: Subject to Change. London: Routledge/Falmer.

Male, M. and Gotthoffer, D. (1999) Quick Guide to the Internet for Special Education. Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.

Means, B. (ed.) (1994) Technology and Education Reform: The Reality Behind the Promise. San Francisco, CA: Josssey-Bass.

National Research Council (2000) How People Learn: Brain, Mind, Experience and School. Washington, DC: National Research Council.

Paveley, S. (2002) Inclusion and the Web: strategies to improve access, in C. Abbott (ed.) Special Educational Needs and the Internet: Issues for the Inclusive Classroom. London: Routledge/Falmer.

Pearson, M. (2003) Online searching as apprenticeship: young people and web search strategies, in G. Marshall and Y. Katz (eds) Learning in School, Home and Community: ICT for Early and Elementary Education. London: Kluwer Academic.

Reed, D.S. and McNergney, R.F. (2000) Evaluating Technology-based Curriculum Materials. ERIC Digest EDO-SP-2000–5. Washington, DC: ERIC Clearinghouse on Teaching and Teacher Education.

Stanford, P. and Siders, J.A. (2001) E-pal writing! Teaching Exceptional Children, 34(2): 21–4.

Woodward, J. and Rieth, H. (1997) A historical review of technology research in special education, Review of Educational Research, 67(4): 503–36.

Woodward, J., Gallagher, D. and Rieth, H. (2001) The instructional effectiveness of technology for students with disabilities, in J. Woodward and L. Cuban (eds) Technology, Curriculum and Professional Development: Adapting Schools to Meet the Needs of Students with Disabilities. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.

Yelland, N. (2003) Learning in school and out: formal and informal experiences with computer games in mathematical contexts, in G. Marshall and Y. Katz (eds) Learning in School, Home and Community: ICT for Early and Elementary Education. London: Kluwer Academic.

# Kolbrún Friðriksdóttir, Birna Arnbjörnsdóttir

University of Iceland, Reykjavík, Iceland

kolbrunf@hi.is; birnaarn@hi.is

# The usefulness of Icelandic Online: Motivational factors and student retention

#### Bio data



Kolbrún Friðriksdóttir is an Adjunct Professor of Icelandic as a Second Language at the University of Iceland and a Ph.D. student at the University of Iceland. Her advisor is Birna Arnbjörnsdóttir. Kolbrún is a project manager and tutor on *Icelandic Online (IOL)* (see below). This article presents data that is part of her doctoral research.



Birna Arnbjörnsdóttir is Professor of Second Language Studies at the University of Iceland. She is the Project Director of Icelandic Online (<u>https://icelandiconline.com</u>), web based open and free courses in Icelandic as a second language offered by the University of Iceland.

#### Abstract

This paper presents an analysis of tracking and survey data collected over eight years on 400 users on one of seven courses on *Icelandic Online (IOL), IOL 2*; an open curated online program in Icelandic as a second/foreign language. The IOL 2 program offers three identical courses, which are provided in three different modes of delivery: blended, distance, and open self-directed mode. The study examines whether certain course-related and other motivational factors have an impact on student retention, the factors are, (a) the initial goal to complete a course and (b) tutor-specific factors provided in the tutorial modes, and also (c) self-reported personal motives that drive learners towards completing the course. The findings reveal that intent to complete is a significant predictor of course completion and that most of the users' report that tutor-specific factors were important in motivating them to carry on with the course. Furthermore, the results show that course-completing.

#### **Conference paper**

The free and open access to the *Icelandic Online* (IOL) program has attracted a highly diverse group of learners from all over the world, which created challenges for course developers and CALL researchers. Approximately 200,000 have enrolled in one or more of the seven courses of IOL during the period under investigation. Simultaneously, this educational resource has contributed valuable data and provided information about the

learners, usability and usefulness of the program for learners. The use of Learning Analytics provides a useful means to analyze these learner-produced data and give insight into the factors that may affect retention (Long & Siemens, 2011). The ultimate goal of the analysis is to improve the learning environment.

This study focuses on some of the many factors that may influence engagement and retention of online learners. Researchers have argued that variant course-related and motivational factors may affect retention in MOOCs (Massive Open Online Courses) and call for more data on the impact of specific factors. Reich (2014) and El Said (2017) highlight the significance of considering a student's initial goal in the discussion on retention in MOOCs. Others (de Freitas, Morgan, & Gibson, 2015) have questioned the quality of the online learning environment and pointed out the need for new engagement strategies for online learners and more structured support (Teixeira & Mota, 2014) in order to improve retention. We also need to understand better how different motivations that the highly diverse target group on MOOCs may bring with them contribute to student engagement (de Barba, Kennedy, & Ainleyt, 2016).

The study presented here is the second phase of a three-tiered mixed method study and follows-up previous findings that drew on tracking data from 43,000 learners on overall retention and online behavior on all seven courses on *IOL* over eight years (Friðriksdóttir, 2018). The findings revealed overall low completion rates and that the blended mode is more effective in retaining learners than the other modes. Regular attrition patterns across all modes were identified with sharp drop-outs initially and concentrations of drop-outs at certain junctures in the courses. These findings called for a more in-depth study of why students decide to stay on or leave the IOL program and as to why the blended learning mode is more effective than the other modes in retaining students. Guided by the previous findings, this survey research attempts to investigate why the blended learning mode is more effective in retaining students than the other modes and what factors may influence students ' motivation to stay in the course.

A survey was sent out to the group of students whose behavior online had been tracked in order to investigate the impact of certain mode-specific factors on student retention in the three different modes of delivery. Participants in the survey are learners (N = 400) who enrolled in IOL 2 from 2010-2018. This is a lower intermediate course delivered in three different modalities, a) as an open self-directed, free non-tutorial, non-credential course without time limits; b) a distance learning eight-week non-credential diploma course with a fee and an online tutor with an option to take a final online exam; and c) as a blended learning 13-week course which is integrated into a credit-bearing on-campus course at the University of Iceland (10 ECTS), with an annual registration fee where they have the option to interact with a tutor face-to-face or via email. Population in the study is diverse, 63% come from eleven countries: Germany, the USA, the Philippines, the UK, France, Canada, Poland, Denmark, Sweden, Russia, Italy, and Switzerland; with the rest scattered across the world.

The questionnaire focuses on the principles that provide the pedagogical foundation for each of the three different modes of delivery on IOL 2, allowing exploration and comparison of the effect of certain mode-specific content and presentation factors on retention. The main goal of the survey is to explore whether experimental variables are predictive of the extent to which learners engaged with the course. The investigation is aimed at learners who had covered more than 15% of the course content on each of the three modes of delivery, thus excluding those who withdrew very early. Different categories of experience were examined in terms of mode-specific factors in the two tutorial modes, that is, experiences related to a) private interaction with the tutor, b) tutor support overall during the course, c) detailed introduction of the program, and d) set syllabus where course content is pre-organized into timetabled manageable sections. Two additional categories of experiences and motives were also considered in terms of all participants, that is, a) student initial goal in terms of engagement, and b) student self-reported reason for completing the course. The results show that most of the learners in the two tutorial modes reported the variant tutor-related factors in the course important for their motivation to continue with the course and that these factors have a significant impact on retention in the blended mode. Significant differences in retention were also identified between learners who had the initial goal to complete the course and those who did not have such a goal. Finally, the results illuminate that course-completers are driven by various motives towards completing, such as course satisfaction and the desire to master the target language, where the blended learners are mainly driven by the goal of earning credentials.

The third phase of this study, which is another follow-up study, also based on tracking data, survey data and descriptive data, will explore the influence of content factors on student retention.

#### References

de Barba, P. G., Kennedy, G. E., & Ainleyt, M. D. (2016). The role of students' motivation and participation in predicting performance in a MOOC. Journal of Computer Assisted Language Learning, 32(3), 218-231. doi:10.1111/jcal.12130

de Freitas, S. I., Morgan, J., & Gibson, D. (2015). Will MOOCs transform learning and teaching in higher education? Engagement and course retention in online learning provision. British Journal of Educational Technology, 46(3), 455-471. doi:10.1111/bjet.12268

El Said, G. R. (2017). Understanding how learners use Massive Open Online Courses and why they drop out: Thematic analysis of an interview study in a developing country. Journal of Educational Computing Research 55(5), 724-752. Doi 10.1177/0735633116681302

Friðriksdóttir, K. (2018). The impact of different modalities on student retention and overall engagement patterns in open online courses. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 31(1-2), 53-71. doi:10.1080/09588221.2017.1381129

Long, P., & Siemens, G. (2011). Penetrating the fog: Analytics in learning and education. EDUCAUSE Review. Retrieved from https://er.educause.edu/articles/2011/9/penetrating-the-fog-analytics-in-learning-and- education

Reich, J. (2014). MOOC completion and retention in the context of student intent. EDUCAUSE Review. Retrieved from https://er.educause.edu/articles/2014/12/mooccompletion-and-retention-in-the-context-of-student-intent

Teixeira, A. M., & Mota, J. (2014). A proposal for the methodological design of collaborative Language MOOCs. In E. Martín-Monje & E. Bárcena (Eds.), Language MOOCs. Providing learning, transcending boundaries (pp. 33-47).

# Hui Guo

University College London, London, United Kingdom

hui.guo.14@ucl.ac.uk

### Using mobile apps to develop L2 speaking: an ecological perspective

#### **Bio data**

Hui Guo is a PhD candidate in the Department of Culture, Communication, and Media at UCL Institute of Education, UK. Her research interests include mobile learning, L2 speaking, and self-regulated learning. She received a commendation of the British Council ELT Master's Dissertation Awards 2014.



She has published in ELT Journal and International Journal of Research Studies in Education.

#### Abstract

Most MALL research has concerned the effectiveness of using mobile technologies for language learning, the users' perceptions and attitudes, and the using patterns. Detailed investigation of the learning process of MALL is scarce. From a socio-cultural ecological perspective, this research aims to explore how the learning of L2 speaking occurs with mobile apps and the learning ecology around it. This case study collected data from three overseas pre-Master students for five weeks. Eleven learning instances of L2 speaking with mobile apps were identified. Data were analysed according to the proposed learning ecology framework. The results indicated a complex and dynamic ecology of learning in MALL, i.e. active learner engagement, facilitative speaking practices, and flexible learning contexts. Implications for future research and theorising about MALL were also discussed.

#### **Conference** paper

#### Introduction

The mobile technologies that can be used anytime, anyplace are particularly suitable for language learning, which is voice/audio based interaction and often takes place in informal settings (Kukulska-Hulme, 2012). Numerous stand-alone mobile apps have been developed to support different aspects of second language learning, including speaking, which is considered as a fundamental skill. Although research on MALL has burgeoned in the last two decades, only a small number of studies have investigated the learning process in detail. van Lier (2004, p. 21) argued that "ecology and sociocultural theory (SCT) share a number of important features". The ecological perspective of language and language learning does not deny the central role of a cognitive process (van Lier, 2000, p. 251), but transcends the cognitive-social debate (Blin, 2016). From the sociocultural and ecological perspectives, this study aims to explore the learning ecology of self-regulated language learners with mobile apps. The research questions were 1) what are the things learners do when using mobile apps to develop L2 speaking; 2) in what contexts do learners use the apps; and 3) how the L2 learning is facilitated in the contexts of MALL.

#### Socio-cultural ecological approach to mobile learning

In recognition of the complexity and dynamic nature of mobile learning, Pachler and his colleagues have proposed a conceptual framework of a socio-cultural ecology of mobile

learning (Pachler, Bachmair, & Cook, 2010). The conceptual framework focuses on the sociocultural conditions of learning in the context of mass media development from an educational perspective. The framework consists of three interrelated components, namely the agency of media users/learners, cultural practices, and sociocultural structures. Firstly, "agency" stands for the user's capacity to deal with and make an impact on the world (Pachler, 2010, p. 159). It takes account of the learner's capacity to construct his/her lifeworld and make meaning via media use, representing the learner's semiotic and social capacity. Agency also links to the learner's own purpose of using mobile devices for meaning-making, the process of which is defined as learning by learners themselves. During this process, learners consciously or unconsciously develop requisite skills in, for instance, searching and evaluating information. Secondly, "cultural practices" refer to routines in relatively stable situations such as pedagogical practices in formal educational settings and media use in daily life (Pachler, 2010, p. 160). Finally, as an important contextual characteristic of mobile learning, "structures" relate to the sociocultural and technological structures that govern learner's being in the world (Pachler, 2010, p. 161). The changing structures of mass communication enable learners' diverse relationships with their physical spaces and places endowed with meaning. By using mobile devices knowledge and information can be obtained across locations, time, people, communities, and social settings, therefore learning occurs (Pachler, Bachmair, & Cook, 2013). In the following sections, the three components are instantiated to situate the context of using mobile apps to develop L2 speaking.

#### Learner agency

The language learner component reflects the learner's capacity to deal with language learning and to make an impact on his/her own learning with mobile apps. Firstly, learners selected learning apps based on their own needs and interests. In a case study of four Japanese university students using smartphone apps to learn English, the learners selected different apps for different purposes, namely content apps for accessing to information and social networking apps for communication (Mindog, 2016). Secondly, learners designed their own ways of using the selected apps. Drawing on the mediation theory embedded in SCT, Ma's (2017) multi-case study explored 10 Hong Kong university students' out-of-class informal language learning with mobile technologies. The results showed that students designed their diverse and personalized learning procedures. For instance, one participant used smartphones to watch American TV series every night before falling asleep. He believed movie watching could help him improve oral skills, particularly pronunciation. Another example is watching YouTube channel which taught English in a series of funny short stories. Finally, learners also evaluated the selected apps and content in the above-mentioned learning processes.

#### App-enabled contexts

Mobile apps-enabled contexts indicate the sociocultural and technological structures that influence the learner and his/her language learning practices. The multi-functional mobile devices and various apps supply varied educational affordances for language learning. Also, by using mobile apps, language learning occurs through and across locations, time, people, and social constellation, representing the intrinsic feature of MALL with mobile apps, i.e. mobility. In research on the user experience of an automatic speech recognition (ASR) embedded mobile app, the app features improved learners' speaking opportunities (Ahn & Lee, 2016). The recording function encouraged students to speak and practice learning materials several times. The ASR feature responded to the student's utterances and gave feedback immediately. Based on the responses, students can monitor their pronunciation and correct errors. Also, ASR enabled the interaction between the learner and the device. In the role play tasks, students felt like they were talking with a real foreigner, which increased their motivation in language learning and confidence in speaking (Ahn & Lee, 2016). Moreover, through mobile technologies students could collaborate with other agents, i.e. peers, teachers, parents or relatives, when doing teamwork (Ma, 2017). Last but not least, with smartphones students could use these functions in private spaces to avoid language anxiety and losing face, which provides a safe environment (Ahn & Lee, 2016).

#### L2 learning practices

L2 learning practices refer to the things learners do with mobile apps for specific language learning goals. It mainly focuses on L2 learning conditions and speech production. Research on SLA has formulated several hypotheses about ideal conditions for language learning (Ellis, 2008). The most acknowledged conditions for L2 learning to take place include comprehensible input (Krashen, 1981, 1985), negotiation of meaning in interaction (Gass, 1997), comprehensible output (Swain, 1985), and noticing of new language that can be promoted through appropriate feedback (Ellis, 2005). In terms of speech production, Levelt (1989) proposed four principal processes, namely conceptualisation, formulation, articulation, and self-monitoring. Conceptualisation deals with the generation of the message. Starting with an idea, the 'conceptualiser' draws on knowledge about the topic, situation, and discourse patterns. The pre-verbal message then comes to the formulation process. The 'formulator' gives language form to the idea through grammatical and phonological encoding. Nevertheless, the idea is still 'internal speech' until it passes through the articulation process which involves the articulatory organs to produce external speech. Self-monitoring enables language users to identify and self-correct mistakes. In a study of out-of-class language learning experiences with technology, learners made conscious effort to jot down and review the notes and tried to memorize the language points (Lai, Hu, & Lyu, 2018). This is an example of 'focus on form', showing that the student paid attention to the language point, which would contribute to the formulation process of speech production.

#### A learning ecology framework for MALL with apps

A framework for analysing the use of mobile apps to develop L2 speaking was proposed (see the Figure). The three key components were instantiated and adapted from the sociocultural ecological approach to mobile learning. Based on the above literature review and the themes emerged from the empirical data, each component was conceptualized into three elements.



Figure: A learning ecology framework for MALL with apps

#### Methods

The participants of this study were three overseas students (L1 Chinese, L2 English) enrolled at a UK university during summer 2017. They were taking the 8-week presessional language course preparing for MA study. The participants were all female, aged at 22 or 23. They took part in the research for five weeks. This study employed a qualitative case study methodology. The three learners could use any mobile apps for learning English speaking in their preferred ways. As a group, we met every week for approximately one hour to share their learning experiences. The details of learner's use of mobile apps to develop L2 speaking were mainly elicited from the group interviews, observations, and think-aloud protocol. Learner's app use diary in addition to screenshots and photos were

also collected as a supplement to the learning happened in their own life world. Data were initially analysed for each learner to identify learning cases. Based on the literature review and the emerging themes from the initial data analysis, the nine elements in the proposed learning ecology framework were identified, both deductively and inductively, and used as provisional codes when coding the data. Then, the ecology of the learner in each learning case was thematically analysed according to the learning ecology framework.

#### **Results and Discussion**

All of the three participants reported to regularly use language learning apps, although only two of them managed to keep a daily app use record. In total, forty learning cases were either logged by the participants or identified from the data analysis. Each learning case comprised a specific learner using a specific app(s) for an identifiable purpose(s). Among them, eleven of the more detailed and representative cases were selected for discussion here (as listed in the Table).

	Table: Selected learning cases			
Case	Learner	Арр	Learning	Week
1	Mary	IELTS Bro	IELTS speaking	1
2	Mary	Fun Dubbing	pronunciation and intonation	2
3	Mary	Daily English Listening	BBC six minute English	2
4	Mary	Daily English Listening	BBC News	3
5	Wendy	IELTS Bro	IELTS speaking	1
6	Wendy	VOA Special English	cultural topics	2
7	Wendy	Youku	idioms	4
8	Joyce	Daily English Listening	radio programmes	3
9	Joyce	WeChat public account QingClass TED and Daily English	pronunciation and daily conversation	4
10	Joyce	Listening	ideas for speaking	4
11	Joyce	TED	presentation skills	5

#### **-** . . Coloctod loomoi

#### Active learner engagement

Throughout the learning processes, the three learners actively engaged in selecting apps and the learning content, creating learning procedures, and evaluating the selected apps and learning content in addition to their own speaking performance. In the beginning, all the three learners decided to use IELTS Bro app to practice IELTS speaking. Later, each learner started to use other apps which she believed more useful for her needs. For example, Mary selected a dubbing app to practice pronunciation and intonation (case 2). Wendy used VOA Special English and Youku app to be familiar with the target culture and idioms (case 6, 7). Joyce preferred to use TED and Daily English Listening to collect topics that she could use in her speaking (case 10). It is worth noting that the app, Daily English Listening, which seemed to be an instance of just listening, was highly valued by the learners thanks to its affordances for speaking practices.

While using the selected apps, the learners creatively designed learning procedures to fulfil their own needs. Taking Mary's case 1 as an example, instead of trying to answer the speaking test questions straightaway, she listened to other learners' speech recordings firstly. From the top three ranked speech recordings, she selected some useful phrases and vocabulary, and inspiring ideas for her own speech. She used the recording function of her smartphone to record her speech in order to check her own performance. However, using the same app, Wendy picked up a topic and recorded her speech (case 5). Then, she sent it to her friend, who was an English teacher. Later, they had a video call via WeChat and her friend pretended to be the IELTS speaking interviewer to ask some questions and gave some feedback on her speaking performance.

The learners constantly evaluated the apps and learning content. Mary and Joyce both considered that the Daily English Listening as a very good app because of its rich learning materials and the functions of recording and automatic speech recognition (case 3, 4, 8, 10). In terms of self-evaluation of speaking performance, Joyce shared that she was happy with her mock presentation in the pre-sessional course because she successfully used the presentation skills that she acquired from TED talks (case 11).

#### Facilitative speaking practices

Strategically or not, the learners were all seeking facilitative language learning conditions, such as comprehensible input, comprehensible output, focusing on forms or meaning, repeated practice, and feedback. All the learning materials that the learners chose were something they were interested in and at a proper level for their language proficiency. They focused on forms and/or meaning when learning vocabulary, phrases, and idioms. When practicing for pronunciation, they spent a longer time to repeat until they were satisfied with the scores given by the app, e.g. Mary in case 2. In their daily life, the learners also managed to use the language that they learned from the apps. One interesting example of Wendy was that she used the idioms she learned from Youku when chatting with her native flatmates (case 7). Her flatmates understood and laughed out, thus Wendy produced comprehensible output and received positive feedback.

To improve the fluency, accuracy, and complexity of their speech production, evidence was identified to support the learners' conceptualization, formulation, and articulation. Firstly, listening to BBC news, cultural topics, radio programmes, and TED talks were all beneficial for the learners to collect ideas and get familiar with the topics (case 4, 6, 8, 10). Secondly, excerpting some phrases, vocabulary, and sentences from the learning content helped the learners to formulate their own sentences in speaking (case 1, 3, 5, 6, 7, 9). Finally, pronunciation and intonation were one of the main learning goals in terms of speaking learning. Mary and Wendy wanted to be as native-like as possible, so they mimicked the native speakers' speaking samples in the apps (case 2, 3, 6). Joyce practiced pronunciation by using WeChat public account, QingClass (case 9).

#### Flexible learning contexts

Mobile apps enabled learners to generate dynamic learning contexts, physically, socially, and technologically. Learning anytime/anywhere was one of the key features of mobile learning. As far as speaking was concerned, most learning instances happened in the learners' accommodation, where was quiet and free to speak aloud. One exception was when Mary used the app in the university lobby. She said that she just wanted to practice her speaking after the group meeting. She was motivated in the group meeting and could not wait to use the app. The symbolic context affected her cultural practices. Nevertheless, she found a "corner" to practice speaking. A private space was generated in the public area. Wendy often used the apps for about forty minutes after dinner. She thought it was a good time to gain some knowledge. Joyce used her apps for about one hour each time. Mary usually used the apps for ten to thirty minutes between 6 to 8 pm and around 11 pm. One might assume that it was after dinner and before bedtime. In fact, she said, "always after I go back from university and also finish my homework". When to use the apps was decided by social situations rather than simply the time. The situations were related to either university or life events, such as courses, homework, or dinner.

Although the learners used apps individually, interaction with others was never absent. Mary evaluated and excerpted ideas and phrases from other app users who shared their speaking recordings in the IELTS Bro app (case 1). She also shared her own speaking once. Joyce could record her speaking and send it to the WeChat public account QingClass. If the teacher had time, he would give feedback to some students (case 9). When Wendy showed me how she practiced speaking with the Youku app, I observed that she repeated after the teacher in the video lesson and even replied goodbye to the teacher on the screen (case 7). In addition to the interaction with other users and teachers via the apps, the learners also created opportunities to interact with people around them in their life world. One example was Wendy chatting with her flatmates as mentioned above. Another example was that Joyce joined in the discussion with her classmates and spoke on the topics she learned from the apps (case 10). The app itself also played an important role as the interlocutor when the learners received feedback from it thanks to the automatic speech recognition function.

Last but not least, the recording function was essential to the learners' speaking practices. They could either self-evaluated their speaking recordings or send them to others. When practicing for the IELTS speaking test, Mary creatively used the recording function to generate a test-feeling situation. "You know I sense there's a big difference when I speak just naturally and when I just put the button here and record it. I just regard it as the interviewer standing in front of me. And yeah, just imagine such kind of situation that you're in the exam room, so that will make me feel quite relaxed if I take the IELTS test in the future." said Mary (case 1). Her smartphone acted as an imagined interviewer in this situation, which helped her to be familiar with the sociolinguistic knowledge of the test context and get used to and/or reduced her nervousness.

#### Conclusion

From a socio-cultural ecological perspective, this paper proposed an analytical framework for the ecology of using mobile apps to develop L2 speaking. As an attempt at theory instantiation, ensemble, and synthesis (Hubbard & Levy, 2016), the framework has been constructed eclectically from fields of mobile learning, SLA, and speech production. The findings indicated a complex and dynamic learning ecology of MALL. Mobile apps enabled new habitus of language learning. Selection, creation, and evaluation happened throughout the learners' app use for L2 speaking. Learners' capacity to act on and deal with L2 learning practices was constructed in the interaction with the selected mobile apps and the contexts it enabled. Benefiting from the functionality, connectivity, and mobility of mobile apps, learners generated positive learning conditions for speech production. The learning practices of L2 speaking became dynamic when learners made full use of the educational affordances of mobile technologies. Contexts that facilitated language learning emerged while learners engaged in her L2 learning practices. Future research would focus on the interaction between the ecological elements. The framework is also adaptable for analysing the ecology of learner using mobile technologies for developing other language skills, i.e. listening, reading, and writing.

#### References

Ahn, T. Y., &Lee, S. M. (2016). User experience of a mobile speaking application with automatic speech recognition for EFL learning. British Journal of Educational Technology, 47(4), 778–786. http://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12354

Blin, F. (2016). Towards an "ecological" CALL theory. The Routledge Handbook of Language Learning and Technology, 39–54. http://doi.org/10.4324/9781315657899.ch3

Ellis, R. (2005). Principles of instructed language learning. Asian EFL Journal Quarterly, 7(3), 9–24.

Ellis, R. (2008). Individual differences in second language learning. In A.Davies &C.Elder (Eds.), The Handbook of Applied Linguistics (pp. 525–551). Oxford: Blackwell Publishing Ltd. http://doi.org/10.1002/9780470757000

Gass, S. (1997). Input, interaction, and second language learner. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.

Hubbard, P., &Levy, M. (2016). Theory in computer-assisted language learning research and practice. The Routledge Handbook of Language Learning and Technology, 24–38. http://doi.org/10.4324/9781315657899

Krashen, S. (1981). Second language acquisition and second language learning. Oxford: Pergamon.

Krashen, S. (1985). The input hypothesis: Issues and implications. New York: Longman.

Kukulska-Hulme, A. (2012). Language learning defined by time and place: A framework for next generation designs. In J. E.D'ıaz-Vera (Ed.),Left to My Own Devices: Learner Autonomy and Mobile Assisted Language Learning. Innovation and Leadership in English Language Teaching, 6. (pp. 1–13). Bingley, UK: Emerald Group Publishing Limited.

Lai, C., Hu, X., &Lyu, B. (2018). Understanding the nature of learners' out-of-class language learning experience with technology. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 31(1–2), 114–143. http://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2017.1391293

Levelt, W. J. M. (1989). Speaking: From intention to articulation. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Ma, Q. (2017). A multi-case study of university students' language-learning experience mediated by mobile technologies: A socio-cultural perspective. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 30(3–4), 183–203. http://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2017.1301957

Mindog, E. (2016). Apps and EFL: A case study on the use of smartphone apps to learn English by four Japanese students. The Jaltcalljournal, 12(1), 3–22. Retrieved from http://journal.jaltcall.org/articles/12%7B\_%7D1%7B\_%7DMindog.pdf

Pachler, N. (2010). The socio-cultural ecological approach to mobile learning: An overview. In B.Bachmair (Ed.), Medienbildung in neuen Kulturräumen (pp. 153–167). Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften. http://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-531-92133-4\_11

Pachler, N., Bachmair, B., &Cook, J. (2010). Mobile learning: structures, agency, practices. New York: Springer.

Pachler, N., Bachmair, B., &Cook, J. (2013). A sociocultural ecological frame for mobile learning. In Z. L.Berge &L. Y.Muilenburg (Eds.),Handbook of mobile learning (pp. 35–46). New York: Routledge.

Swain, M. (1985). Communicative competence: some roles of comprehensible input and comprehensible output in its development. In S.Gass &C.Madden (Eds.),Input in Second Language Acquisition (pp. 235–253). Rowley, MA: Newbury House.

van Lier, L. (2000). From input to affordance: Social-interactive learning from an ecological perspective. In J. P.Lantolf (Ed.), Sociocultural Theory and Second Language Learning (pp. 245–259). Oxford University Press.

van Lier, L. (2004). The Ecology and Semiotics of Language Learning: A Sociocultural Perspective. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers.

# Ching-yin Hsu, Chih-cheng Lin

National Taiwan Normal University, Taipei, Taiwan

cclin@ntnu.edu.tw

# Epistemic development in small groups in a task-based and mobile-assisted language learning classroom

#### Bio data



Ching-yin Hsu is an English teacher of Yi-lan Senior High School, Yi-lan, Taiwan.



Chih-cheng Lin is Professor in the English Department at National Taiwan Normal University, Taipei, Taiwan. His research interests include language learning and language acquisition with the help of technology. He has been offering courses of computer-assisted language learning at both undergraduate and graduate levels.

#### Abstract

To understand how learning unfolds, the study examines nine EFL adolescents' interactional process in a mobile-assisted collaborative learning context. In the two-month period, the participants were asked to work in groups of three to explore two topics by using their tablet PCs. The participants' in-class interactions, weekly journals, and interviews were collected. The results showed that the participants followed a circular pattern starting with the emergence of problems, the identification of focus, or the sharing of knowledge regarding epistemic development. Then, interactions aiming at generating, elaborating, and negotiating ideas followed. The pattern helped facilitate the development and maintenance of collaborative learning.

#### **Conference paper**

#### Introduction

From the early 1960s on, technological advances have brought up new opportunities as well as challenges for learners and teachers alike in terms of language learning (Levy, 1997). In particular, technology has been described to widen opportunities for interaction, communication, and collaboration, all of which play a crucial role in language learning from the perspective of sociocultural theories (Chapelle, 2013).

More recently, the popularity of mobile devices and common access to Wi-Fi connections create more dynamic language learning experiences compared with the use of computers. In the field of mobile-assisted language learning (MALL), review articles have revealed that the majority of MALL implementations took a teacher-centered pedagogical approach (Burston, 2014a, 2014b; Kukulska-Hulme & Shield, 2008). However, considering the affordances that mobile devices could offer, including portability and connectivity, scholars

have suggested that mobile devices should be used to support learner-centered and task-based learning (Burston, 2014a, 2014b).

In the existing literature of mobile-assisted TBLT studies, a large proportion of them discuss the design of mobile learning systems and the systems' effectiveness in facilitating language learning (Liu, Tan, & Chu, 2010; Ogata et al., 2008). Studies also indicate increases in learners' engagement, motivation, and enjoyment (Liu et al., 2010; Ogata et al., 2008; Tai, 2012). These studies have demonstrated the potential of mobile devices to promote students' language learning in and outside the classroom (Liu et al., 2007, 2010).

However, few of them have discussed how language learners interact with their peers and produce an outcome with technologies. Little is known about how learners, based on their needs, utilize different functions of technological tools to help them along the process. To address the research gap, the study seeks to contribute to the growing understanding of how learning unfolds in mobile-assisted task-based learning environments.

#### Literature Review

TBLT emphasizes the centrality of a task in designing language learning lessons (Ellis, 2003; Long, 1985). The implementation of tasks enables interaction and collaboration among learners, which creates contexts where language use, including input and output, and knowledge building co-occur and facilitate one another. With the growing use of technologies, more and more researchers have recognized the reciprocal benefits between technologies and TBLT (González-Lloret & Ortega, 2014; Reinders & Thomas, 2010). As argued by Reinders and Thomas (2010), TBLT aims to provide language learners with authentic materials and real life tasks, which could be sufficiently supported by technologies or the Internet that connects people around the world.

Research on technology-mediated TBLT has reported language development in syntax, vocabulary, writing, and speaking in online task performances (Stockwell & Harrington, 2003; Vetter & Chanier, 2006). Also, an increase in language output and noticing of language components have been found (Lai & Zhao, 2006). In addition to supporting language development, the use of technology enables learners to gain access to authentic linguistic materials and interact with learners of different nationalities, which is shown to have promoted language learners' intercultural competence (Ducate & Lomicka, 2008; Lee, 2009). Similarly, the use of mobile devices is found to spark learners' interest by applying what they've learned into real-life situations (Liu et al., 2007, 2010; Ogata et al., 2008).

Aside from adopting TBLT framework, the study focuses on learner interactions and their collaborative epistemic development in computer-supported settings. Previous studies have suggested that the creation of shared understanding in small groups requires ongoing elaborations and should be captured from a more dynamic view across temporal and sequential unfolding of tasks (Damşa, 2014; Teasley, 2008). More specifically, with regard to epistemic development, four phases, including phase of initiation, exploration, negotiation, and co-construction, are identified in Onrubia and Engel's study (2009) with students engaging in collaborative writing tasks through virtual classrooms.

Of the reviewed technology-assisted TBLT studies, most of them focus on the design of learning systems and the systems' effectiveness (Liu et al., 2010; Ogata et al., 2008). Less attention has been paid to how the built-in functions of mobile devices facilitate learning. In addition, most studies examine the learning outcomes (Lai & Zhao, 2006; Stockwell & Harrington, 2003; Vetter & Chanier, 2006), instead of the learning process. Little is known about how learners, based on their needs, utilize different functions of technological tools to help them along the learning process. In order to address these research gaps, the paper seeks to unravel how language learners interact with peers and thus collaboratively construct epistemic knowledge in a mobile-assisted learning context. By exploring the learner-learner interactions, the paper offers suggestions regarding pedagogical and technological support that learners might need in CSCL environments.

#### Methodology

#### The Setting and Participants

The research site was a public high school in Northern Taiwan. The instructor for the elective course was an experienced teacher who had been teaching English for more than twenty years. She was also the participants' English teacher in regular English class.

A total of nine students, including five females and four males, were recruited in the study and they met once a week for two class periods (each class period took fifty minutes). In order to ensure confidentiality, pseudonyms were used in the study. The participants included Alex, Ariel, Claire, Elva, Julia, Kelly, Ken, Ray, Tony.

#### Instructional Design

The study adopted a task-based language learning approach and implemented two inquirybased learning cycles, each of which consisted of several sub-tasks. The first cycle engaged students in the topic of heroes across time and cultures, and the second cycle introduced food and culture around the world. The main-task and sub-tasks in each cycle were designed based on the criteria proposed by Ellis (2003) to fulfill the definition of a task.

During the intervention, students interacted face-to-face with each participant having an iPad to support their learning. In order to guide the students through a variety of complex tasks as well as incorporating online materials into learning, WebQuests were adopted in this study. Developed by Bernie Dodge and Tom March in 1995, WebQuests have been shown to successfully guide the learners from one task to another as well as help learners navigate the Internet in a structured manner (Dodge, 2001).



Figure 1 Interface of WebQuest website

#### **Data Collection**

At the beginning of the study, students were given enough time to familiarize themselves with the interface and the functions of the WebQuest page. Nine participants formed groups of three and collaboratively completed the assigned tasks. In the second learning cycle, they switched group members so that every student had the opportunities to work with different learning peers.

During both cycles, classroom observations were conducted. Students' in-class discussions were recorded to observe their learning process. At the end of each task, the participants wrote reflection journals to reflect on their learning. Then, semi-structured interviews were held at the end of each cycle to collect in-depth information on the participants' learning, the use of technology, and the tasks.

#### Data Analysis

The classroom interactions were analyzed by adopting a coding scheme developed by Damşa et al. (2010). Three dimensions of learner interactions are investigated: epistemic, regulative, and other. Under the epistemic dimension, four categories can be identified:

actions that (1) create awareness – stating problems or identifying lack of knowledge, (2) share knowledge, (3) create shared understanding - creating explanations to ideas, structuring new ideas, problematizing, or (re)framing of problem, and (4) generate collaborative actions - generating, negotiating, taking in, or elaborating ideas. Actions under the regulative dimension are about planning goals, coordinating process, monitoring progress, and reflecting on individual and collective actions. Actions in "other" dimension refer to social talks that are not related to the task.

To obtain objectivity, one of the researchers and the other two graduate students participated in the coding process. After the coding was completed, an inter-rater reliability test was conducted and it showed an acceptable inter-rater agreement between three independent raters (kappa=0.73).

Other data, including interviews and reflection journals, were analyzed by using content analysis for the researchers to identify recurrent themes and possible categories.

#### **Results and discussion**

The present study aims at exploring the collaborative process of small group learning with the support of tablet PC in a task-based language learning context. During the collaborations among learners, knowledge co-construction and epistemic development are crucial aspects of learning. Epistemic dimension comprised the actions aiming at creating awareness, sharing knowledge or information, creating shared understanding, and constructing collective knowledge.

The following collection of episodes showed learner interactions of Group C when discussing their presentation about a Chinese heroine, Mulan. Excerpt 1 demonstrated how group members managed to create shared understanding of ideas across different discussion sessions in their two-hour meeting.

схсегрс т. 6го		
PHASE I		
(each group m	ember searching for information online and reading silently)	
1. Claire:	Which period in Chinese history She [Mulan] is from the Southern and Northern Dynasties of China.	2-sharing information
2. Julia:	She's from the Northern Wei.	3-idea up-take
3. Alex:	The Northern Wei.	
4. Claire:	So, it is the Southern and Northern Dynasties?	1-stating problems
5. Julia:	Probably.	
PHASE II		
(30 minutes la	ter when watching an online video together)	
6. Julia:	But, is't she? So she is from Dynasty Sui.	2-sharing information
7. Claire:	Very likely.	
8. Alex:	(in silence for 3 seconds) Do we need to check the background of the war? Like why the war erupted and why she was recruited to fight? (in silence for 3 seconds) Let me think.	1-identifying lack of knowledge 3-generating new ideas
9. Claire:	ETTV News (typing)	
10. Alex:	Mulanwarreason (typing)	
PHASE III		
(2 minutes late	er)	
11. Claire:	Alex, I suppose you mentioned something about the reason why Mulan joined the army?	1-identifying focus
12. Alex:	Because I'm looking foryes, the reason why she went for the war. The war broke out as a result of the invasion of the Hun or something?	3-creating explanations 3-reframing problem
13. Julia:	But the source we had found was outdated.	1-stating problems

Excernt 1 Group C discussion (1009 Cycle1)

But the source we had found was outdated. 13. Julia:

14. Claire: I think the information was doubtful. 1-stating problems 15. Julia: Look at this! It says the Southern and Northern 2-sharing information Dvnasties.

16. Alex: The Southern and Northern Dynasties... So which country 1-identifying focus was she born?

17. Julia: 18. Julia:	It says it's the Northern Wei. Is Dynasty Northern Wei the last dynasty, followed by Dynasty Sui? So maybe this [Dynasty Northern Wei] makes more sense and might be correct.	2-sharing information 4-generating ideas
PHASE IV		
(after 2 minute	es' discussion on the background and characters in Disney an	imation, Mulan)
19. Claire:	Dynasty Northern Wei Yes, she's from Dynasty Northern Wei. It says	3-reframing focus 4-idea up-take
20. Alex:	(Silent reading) The Rouran army	
21. Claire:	I think both of them belong to the northern tribes back then.	4-generating ideas
22. Alex:	Are you talking about Mulan?	
23. Claire:	Yes, they are Xianbei, nomadic groups in northern China, who later on established Dynasty Northern Wei. The third emperor of Northern Wei right?	4-elaborating ideas
24. Julia:	Tuoba something [the name of the emperor] Historically, he ascended the throne and soon had wars with the Rouran army.	4-(co)elaborating ideas

This excerpt illustrated how Group C created a shared understanding of knowledge when facing difficulties and confronting incongruent ideas during the task. It should be noted that although the excerpt revolved around the key idea of when Mulan was born, it was composed of several discussion sessions evolving over time, namely from phase I to phase IV. Each phase not only represented the time progression during group interaction but showcased group members' increasing involvement in knowledge and continual development of group understanding.

In phase I, short and simple utterances constituted the group interaction and the content mainly consisted of one-directional sharing of knowledge without further questioning and elaboration. In phase II, a confrontation of incongruent ideas drew the group members' attention back to the issue. In this phase, all group members recognized their lack of knowledge and suggested different ways, such as investigating the social-cultural context, to address the problem they faced. In phase III and IV, more interactions aiming at generating new ideas and explaining concepts were found, which facilitated the comprehension, elaboration, and co-construction of ideas. In the last two phases, knowledge was constructed through linking between students' prior knowledge and the newly acquired information as well as active exchange of ideas among group members.

In addition to a gradual involvement with knowledge, the analysis shows that learners followed certain participatory pattern when co-constructing epistemic knowledge in their small groups. The participatory pattern starts with actions in category 1 & 2 (the emergence of problems, the identification of focus, or the sharing of knowledge). Subsequent to the establishment of common ground, actions in category 3 & 4, including those aiming at generating, elaborating, and negotiating ideas, follow for the purpose of having productive interactions and accomplishing the assigned tasks. In other words, a trajectory of epistemic development, which starts from knowledge sharing, the emergence of problems, the negotiation of solutions, to the development and construction of new knowledge is observed.



Figure 2 Recursive pattern in group collaboration

The identified pattern reflects different interactional phases in group learning, which is similar to what Onrubia and Engel (2009) have observed in their study with students engaging in collaborative writing task through virtual classrooms. In accordance with their findings, knowledge is accumulated and refined as group discussions unfold. In addition, a gradual involvement with knowledge is found, which resonates with the idea that the creation of shared understanding in small group requires ongoing elaborations and should be captured from a more dynamic view across temporal and sequential unfolding of tasks (Damşa, 2014; Teasley, 2008).

It should be noted that the identified pattern is not a linear, but a circular one. That is to say, subsequent to the actions in category 3 & 4, actions in category 1 & 2 might emerge if necessary and beneficial for the group to complete the tasks. This finding indicated that convergence of ideas often occurs after group members have shared knowledge and negotiated points of view and that agreements might come late in the whole discussion (Gunawardena et al., 1997; Kimmerle et al., 2017).

The benefits of peer scaffolding and collaboration are also confirmed in the participants' learning journals and interviews. For example, each group member might bring in their own background knowledge or pay attention to different parts while constructing knowledge collaboratively, through which all of the group members can gain insights into the topics being discussed (Journal, Claire, 1030; Journal, Elva, 1002). Previous studies have shown that conflicts, or conflicting perspectives, are helpful in triggering deeper exploration of the topic (Jermann & Dillenbourg, 2003). The process of resolving conflicting ideas is also considered to be one of the driving forces for cognitive change (Mugny, Perret-Clermont, & Doise, 1981). In short, collaboration and the emergence of conflicting perspectives in small group learning create diverse opportunities for the participants to construct knowledge in a more comprehensive manner.

#### Conclusion

The study described a mobile-assisted collaborative learning experience in classroom settings and examined learners' interaction. In terms of the participants' epistemic development, the interaction analysis showed that learners followed certain participatory pattern, which started with the emergence of problems, the identification of focus, or the sharing of knowledge. Then, interactional moves aiming at generating, elaborating, and negotiating ideas followed for the purpose of having productive interactions and accomplishing the assigned tasks.

Taking a step further, the study showed that the identified interactional pattern was not a linear, but a circular one. In other words, subsequent to the actions attempting to create shared understanding or generate collaborative actions, actions aiming at identifying focus, pointing out problems, and/or sharing knowledge might emerge if necessary and helpful for the group to complete the tasks.

Based on our findings, adopting task-based language learning course design helps create a meaningful context for language users to practice or apply the newly developed linguistic knowledge. In this way, language learning is not seen as isolated language drills, but as a crucial and necessary step along the way of completing the assigned task. More importantly, the observed interactional pattern can inform instructors the importance of guiding learners with sequenced tasks as well as providing sufficient resources for them to explore.

#### References

Burston, J. (2014a). MALL: the pedagogical challenges. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 27(4), 344-357. doi:10.1080/09588221.2014.914539

Burston, J. (2014b). The Reality of MALL: Still on the Fringes. Calico Journal, 31(1), 103-125. doi:10.11139/cj.31.1.103-125

Chapelle, C. A. (2013). Instructional computer-assisted language learning. In C. A. Chapelle (Ed.), The encyclopedia of applied linguistics (pp. 2718-2721). West Sussex, UK: Wiley-Blackwell.

Damşa, C. I. (2014). The multi-layered nature of small-group learning: Productive interactions in object-oriented collaboration. International Journal of Computer-Supported Collaborative Learning, 9(3), 247-281. doi:10.1007/s11412-014-9193-8

Damşa, C. I., Kirschner, P. A., Andriessen, J., Erkens, G., & Sins, P. H. (2010). Shared epistemic agency: An empirical study of an emergent construct. Journal of the Learning Sciences, 19(2), 143-186.

Dodge, B. (2001). FOCUS: Five rules for writing a great WebQuest. Learning and Leading with Technology, 28(8), 6-9.

Ducate, L. C., & Lomicka, L. L. (2008). Adventures in the blogosphere: from blog readers to blog writers. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 21(1), 9-28.

Ellis, R. (2003). Task-based language learning and teaching. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

González-Lloret, M., & Ortega, L. (2014). Technology-mediated TBLT: Researching technology and tasks. Amsterdam: John Benjamins Publishing Company.

Gunawardena, C. N., Lowe, C. A., & Anderson, T. (1997). Analysis of a global online debate and the development of an interaction analysis model for examining social construction of knowledge in computer conferencing. Journal of Educational Computing Research, 17(4), 397-431.

Jermann, P., & Dillenbourg, P. (2003). Elaborating new arguments through a CSCL script. In J. Andriessen, M. Baker, & D. Suthers (Eds.), Arguing to learn: Confronting cognitions in computer-supported collaborative learning environments (pp. 205-226). Dordrecht: Springer.

Kimmerle, J., Moskaliuk, J., Brendle, D., & Cress, U. (2017). All in good time: knowledge introduction, restructuring, and development of shared opinions as different stages in collaborative writing. International Journal of Computer-Supported Collaborative Learning, 12(2), 195-213.

Kukulska-Hulme, A., & Shield, L. (2008). An overview of mobile assisted language learning: From content delivery to supported collaboration and interaction. ReCALL, 20(03). doi:10.1017/s0958344008000335

Lai, C., & Zhao, Y. (2006). Noticing and text-based chat. Language Learning & Technology, 10(3), 102-120.

Lee, L. (2009). Promoting intercultural exchanges with blogs and podcasting: A study of Spanish–American telecollaboration. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 22(5), 425-443.

Levy, M. (1997). Computer-assisted language learning: Context and conceptualization. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Liu, T.-Y., Tan, T.-H., & Chu, Y.-L. (2007). 2D barcode and augmented reality supported English learning system. Paper presented at the Proceedings of the Sixth IEEE International Conference on Computer and Information Science, Melbourne, Australia.

Liu, T.-Y., Tan, T.-H., & Chu, Y.-L. (2010). QR code and augmented reality-supported mobile English learning system. In X. Jiang, M. Y. Ma, & C. W. Chen (Eds.), Mobile Multimedia Processing: Fundamentals, Methods, and Applications (Vol. 5960, pp. 37-52). Heidelberg: Springer.

Long, M. H. (1985). A role for instruction in second language acquisition: Task-based language teaching. Modelling and Assessing Second Language Acquisition, 18, 77-99.

Mugny, G., Perret-Clermont, A.-N., & Doise, W. (1981). Interpersonal coordinations and sociological differences in the construction of the intellect. Progress in Applied Social Psychology, 1, 315-343.

Ogata, H., Hui, G. L., Yin, C., Ueda, T., Oishi, Y., & Yano, Y. (2008). LOCH: supporting mobile language learning outside classrooms. International Journal of Mobile Learning and Organisation, 2(3), 271-282.

Onrubia, J., & Engel, A. (2009). Strategies for collaborative writing and phases of knowledge construction in CSCL environments. Computers & Education, 53(4), 1256-1265. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2009.06.008

Reinders, H., & Thomas, M. (2010). Task-based language learning and teaching with technology. London: Continuum.

Stockwell, G., & Harrington, M. (2003). The incidental development of L2 proficiency in NS-NNS email interactions. Calico Journal, 20(2), 337-359.

Tai, Y. (2012). Contextualizing a MALL: Practice design and evaluation. Journal of Educational Technology & Society, 15(2), 220-230.

Teasley, S. D., Fischer, F., Weinberger, A., Stegmann, K., Dillenbourg, P., Kapur, M., & Chi, M. (2008). Cognitive convergence in collaborative learning. Paper presented at the Proceedings of the 8th International Conference for the Learning Sciences, Mahwah: Lawrence Erlbaum.

Vetter, A., & Chanier, T. (2006). Supporting oral production for professional purposes in synchronous communication with heterogenous learners. ReCALL, 18(1), 5-2.

# Hsiao-Ling Hsu, Hao-Jan Howard Chen

National Taiwan Normal University, Taipei, Taiwan

bettyeleven@gmail.com

## The investigation of personal pronouns used in academic lectures

#### Bio data



Hsiao-Ling Hsu is currently an assistant professor on the Common Core Education Committee at National Taiwan Normal University. Her research interests are computer assisted language learning and corpus linguistics.



Howard Hao-Jan Chen obtained his PhD degree from the University of Pennsylvania in 1996. He is a professor and is presently Director of the Department of English at National Taiwan Normal University. Prof. Chen's research interests include computer-assisted language learning, corpus linguistics, second language acquisition and vocabulary acquisition.

#### Abstract

Research in the lecture genre has increasingly received more attention because it is one of the main forms of instruction in higher education of, which is also the case in places where English as a medium of instruction (EMI) is promoted, such as Taiwan. However, for EMI contexts in non-English speaking countries, English lecture comprehension is a crucial concern; for example, the use of personal pronouns (e.g., "we, I, you") in a lecture may hinder lecture comprehension because the interpretation of the personal pronouns (i.e., their referents and/or discourse functions) depends largely on the context. Therefore, the present study investigated the use of personal pronouns in the lectures of five different disciplines (Engineering, Physical Science, Biology & Health Science, Social Science & Education, and the Humanities) from a variety of corpus sources that total approximately six million words. The target linguistic elements were identified through WordSmith. However, the contexts of these personal pronouns were extremely diverse and the numbers of personal pronouns among the six million words were too many to conduct a detailed analysis, with 102,529 occurrences of "you", 65,692 of "we", and 60,486 of "I". Therefore, four-word bundles with personal pronouns and the bundles over thirty occurrences per thousand words were included for further analysis. From the resulting 609 bundles with personal pronouns, it can be seen that the instructors of the hard fields, like Engineering, Physical Science, and Biology and Health Science, used more "we" to involve students, while the instructors of the soft fields, like Social Science, Education and Humanities) tended to use more "you" to direct students' attention in their lectures. This was likely due to the nature of the content knowledge in the respective disciplines, e.g., "we" was frequently used to guide students' through a series of procedural knowledge in Physical Science lectures.

#### **Conference paper**

#### Introduction

Researchers have invested great effort into exploring the word combinations because they are an integral part of human language (Firth, 1951). Much of the research into word combinations has been enabled by the recent advances in computer technology that has made it easy to identify linguistic patterns, such as WordSmith (2015) search functions that use keywords or formulaic expressions (or lexical bundles). There have been many investigations of bundles in written discourse because it is relatively easy to access and obtain compared with spoken discourse. However, more studies of spoken bundles are needed because of the clear differences between the written and spoken registers (cf. Biber, 2006, 2009; Biber & Conrad, 1999; Gray & Biber, 2013; Reppen, 2004). Therefore, the present study aims to help fill this gap by focusing the spoken discourse of academic lectures.

Lectures have been one of the most important speech events in academic settings and there are two main reasons why they have been investigated for decades. First, since the lecture is expected to be a major source for college students to acquire academic knowledge in universities (Flowerdew, 1994; Othman, 2007), students' lecture comprehension is vital for their academic success. Some studies have noted that the college students realize the importance of lectures while also struggling with the understanding of lectures as one of the most challenging tasks in universities (Badger, White, Sutherland, & Haggis, 2001; Flowerdew, 1994; Flowerdew & Miller, 1992; Jung, 2006; Miller, 2009).

The second reason for the research into lecture language involves the rise of English as an international language and as a medium of instruction (EMI) in many non-English speaking countries. Lectures in English have been considered a promising approach especially in EFL or ESL contexts in order to help students become more competitive in both English ability and the development of professional knowledge for their future career. According to Dearden's (2014) international survey, this policy was strongly supported by the majority of stakeholders (67%), including parents and policymakers, and the EMI courses have been adopted in many places, such as Hong Kong and Taiwan. However, despite their promise and potential, EMI courses present a great challenge for non-English speaking students. For this reason, Swales and Malczewski (2001) called for more research into the nature of lectures in order to help students improve their lecture comprehension.

Some studies found that the use of personal pronouns (i.e., "we", "I", "you"), in particular, might be one possible linguistic element that hinders lecture comprehension (Biber, Johansson, Leech, Conrad, & Finnegan, 1999; Fortanet, 2004). This is because the referents and discourse functions of the personal pronouns largely depend on context (Fortanet, 2004; Halliday, 1994). This study, therefore, aimed to investigate and compare the use of personal pronouns in academic lectures of five major academic disciplines. There were two research questions that guided this study:

- 1. What personal pronouns were used in the five academic lectures?
- 2. How the personal pronouns were used in the five academic lectures?

#### Method

In order to investigate the use of personal pronouns in the lectures and compare the uses in different disciplines, the present study generated a 6-million-word corpus of five disciplines (Engineering (E), Physical Science (PS), Biological and Health Science (BHS), Social Science and Education (SSE), Humanities (H)) from eight websites (Table 1). Table 1. Number of words in the lecture data

Disciplines	Number of words
Engineering (E)	1,241,132
Physical Science (PS)	1,305,037
Biological and Health Science (BHS)	1,262,419
Social Science and Education (SSE)	1,348,947
Humanities (H)	1,008,937
	Total 6,166,472

The eight websites were Michigan Corpus of Academic Spoken English (MICASE), Open Yale Course, MIT Open Courseware, Coursera, Stanford Engineering Everywhere, Rick Roderick Philosophy courses, and Missouri State University Philosophy courses (MSUP). MICASE and MSUP offered corpus meta-information (e.g., number of participants, word counts) and transcriptions of the lectures. Other websites offered free online courses that anyone could access and learn from, and they included teaching materials (e.g., handouts, tests), lecture videos, or transcriptions of the lectures. The availability of the lecture transcriptions enabled the researchers to collect a wide variety of lectures from different disciplines and analyze them.

Moreover, the lectures of different disciplines were collected in order to make crossdisciplinary comparisons. However, it was found that it was difficult to identify disciplines (Mauranen, 2006) because these websites had very different titles and categorizations on departments/disciplines, for example MIT course ware had six and MICASE had four (Table 2). In particular, MITs School of Humanities, Arts & Social Sciences included Anthropology, Comparative Media Studies/Writing, Economics, Global Studies & Languages, History, Linguistics & Philosophy, Literature, Music & Theater Arts, Political Science, Science, Technology, & Society, Women's and Gender Studies, whereas MICASE's Humanities & Arts and Social Science & Education were separate disciplines, and School of Humanities & Arts included English, History of arts, Classical studies, Asian Languages and cultures, Religion, American Culture, History of arts, and History.

In order to facilitate comparison, all of the lectures collected from different disciplines and sources were compared by only using the disciplines with identical names. In this way, only the overlapping disciplines were collected and compared. This study adopted the titles similar to those of MICASE because the MICASE categorization was more common among the other sources, thus allowing the authors to more easily make comparisons with other studies.

Two criteria were further decided in order to select representative and appropriate lectures for data analysis and comparison. First, there should be no more than five lectures collected from a single lecturer in order to limit the idiosyncratic use of language. The issue of gender was not taken into consideration because such information was not available for some of the collected lectures. Second, 60 minutes was taken as a cut-off point for a video lecture because lectures from Coursera website were divided into different sections. Therefore, 60 minutes was taken as a cut-off point in order to make these lectures comparable with those of traditionally recorded lectures. The time duration was determined based on the time spent on each course from three sources: MICASE, Open Yale Course, and MIT Open Courseware.

The target linguistic elements were identified using WordSmith (Scott, 2015). In the sixmillion-word corpus, it was impossible to conduct a detailed analysis of all of the pronouns because there were too many occurrences of "you", "we" and "I" (102,529, 65,692, and 60,486, respectively) and their meanings were also very different. Therefore, four-word bundles with personal pronouns were identified, and the bundles occurring over thirty times per thousand words were included for analysis in the present study. There were 609 bundles with personal pronouns for "we" (207), "I" (184) and "you" (218). In order to analyze the collected personal pronoun bundles used in the lectures, Biber's (2006) functional categories were was adopted to generate a model from both written and spoken data (Table 2). The researchers have strived to collect representative data, analyze manageable bundles, and observe lecturers' uses of personal pronouns in different disciplines.

Functional categorization	Examples
1. Stance expression	
1-1 Epistemic stance—Personal/ Impersonal	I don't know if, I don't think so
1-2 Attitude/ modality	
1-2-1 Desire—Personal	I want you to, I'm not going to
1-2-2 Obligation/directive Personal	you don't have to, don't have to do
1-2-3 Imperatives	don't worry about it, make it out to
1-2-4 Intention/prediction personal/Impersonal	we're going to do, you are going to do
1-2-5 Ability/effortPersonal	to be able to, see if I can
2. Discourse expression	
2-1 Topic introduction	want to talk about, if you look at
2-2 Topic elaboration	has to do with the, I mean it would
2-3 Identification focus	and this is a, one of the things
3. Referential expression	
3-1 Imprecision bundles	or something like that, and stuff like that
3-2 Specification of attributes/Quantity specification	have a lot of, a little bit about
3-3 Multi-functional reference (Time/place/text- deixis bundles)	as shown in Figure

Table 2. Biber's (2006) Categorization of Lexical Bundles with Examples

#### **Results and Discussion**

Based on Biber's (2006) model, the personal pronoun bundles of the present study appeared to perform three major functions: personal intention, desire as an expression of attitudinal stance, and topic introduction as a discourse expression. In other words, the function of the personal pronoun bundles were used to express instructors' intention (e.g., "I am going to"), desire (e.g., "I want to do"), and to introduce a new topic (e.g., "I'm going to talk").

Although the three functions were frequently used in most of the academic lectures, the lecturers' selection of the personal pronouns "we", "I", and "you" showed some interdisciplinary differences, as shown in Table 3.

Disciplines	we	%	I	%	you	%
Engineering (E)	50	32	47	31	57	37
Physical Science (PS)	67	39	58	34	45	26
Biological and Health Science (BHS)	49	41	20	17	51	43
Social Science and Education (SSE)	37	30	36	29	50	41
Humanities (H)	4	10	23	55	15	36
Total	207		184		218	

Table 3. Numbers of personal pronoun bundles

The instructors of Engineering, Physical Science, and Biology & Health Science tended to use more of the plural personal pronoun "we" (37%), while the instructors of Social Science & Education and the Humanities used more of the directive pronoun "you" (39%) and the singular personal pronoun "I" (36%) in the personal pronoun bundles. This difference may be partially explained by the different nature of disciplinary knowledge. Becher and Trowler (2001), for instance, followed the categorizations of previous researchers (Biglan, 1973; Kolb, 1981) on the distinction of academic fields, between hard-soft (i.e. existence of knowledge) and pure-applied (i.e. degree of knowledge application), and criticized these distinctions as not accounting for epistemological features (i.e., nature of knowledge). Therefore, they added six points to specifically explain the nature of knowledge: 1) characteristics of the objects of enquiry, 2) the nature of knowledge growth, 3) the relationship between the researcher and the knowledge, 4) knowledge enguiry procedures, 5) extent of truth claims and criteria for making them, and 6) the results of research (pp. 35-36). The first four points refer to the nature of knowledge between soft and hard fields, while the last two points refer to how knowledge is pursued between the pure and applied fields.

Based on Becher and Trowler's (2001) distinction, Physical Sciences is categorized as a "hard-pure" field and its nature of knowledge is described as "cumulative; atomistic (crystalline/tree-like); concerned with universals, quantities, simplification; impersonal, value-free; clear criteria for knowledge verification and obsolescence; consensus over significant questions to address, now and in the future; results in discovery/explanation" (p. 36). At the other extreme, Social Science is categorized as a "soft-applied" field and its nature of knowledge is described as "functional; utilitarian (know-how via soft knowledge); concerned with enhancement of [semi] professional practice; uses case studies and case law to a large extent; results in protocols/ procedures" (ibid. p. 36). It seems that the hard field instructors used more "we" bundles to introduce cumulative, impersonal, and value-free knowledge, while the soft field instructors used more "I" and "you" bundles to introduce functional and applied knowledge in their respective lectures.

Additionally, Fortanet (2004) explored the use of "we" through examining the referents of "we" in academic lectures. It was found that the "we" referent can refer to both students and instructors, instructors themselves in the lectures, and others of the outside world. By including students in the lectures, the lecturers involve the students more during the explanation process (Ädel, 2010; Fortanet, 2004).

The "we" referents in the present study frequently referred to both the students and instructors in the academic lectures. Therefore, it was assumed that the more use of the plural "we" (i.e., impersonal stance) for hard field instructors was possibly due to the fact that the instructors tended to include more students when explaining "cumulative" facts of the hard field. These personal pronoun bundles mostly functioned as personal intention and were used to introduce new topics, as can be seen in the following examples.

[1] one example of a tool to look at these types of traps. Oh, good. We have plenty of time. We actually might end early. So now **we're going to talk** about mobility.

We've given a lot of-- sorry? I was just wondering, is it possible to somehow (mit\_pse\_e\_me\_fp\_006) (13)

- [2] work with very low diffusion length materials and still get a device efficiency that's not too bad. Now we're going to talk quickly about how our minority carrier diffusion length is measured, and (mit\_pse\_e\_me\_006)
- [3] Gifford. I'm delighted to be back with you again, here in computational systems biology. Today we're going to talk about chromatin structure and how we can analyze it. And to give you the narrate (mit\_bhs\_b\_fsb\_016)

It is worth mentioning that the use of "you" bundles is associated with the imperative function particularly in Biology and Health Science, such as "you can see in", "you can see that", "you can see the", "you may want to", and "you might want to". It is possible that there are many visual demonstrations in this subject area, so the instructors need this type of bundle to express the instructors' imperative intention and to direct the students' attention to see the visual aids in the lectures. This is evident in the following examples.

- [4] is released from the enzyme. There are a number of things you can see here. You can see the enzyme cycle. You can see this goes over and over again. You can see that the enzyme, the protein structure, is changing. It's moving as the coenzyme is binding, as the substrate is binding. You can see that (mit\_bhs\_b\_fb\_005\_1)
- [5] that we're going to look things up in, OK, so this is going to be the dictionary looking things up in and it's going to be the genome sequence. And **you can see the** sequence on the left hand side, ACA, ACG, and the dollar sign represents the end of string terminator. OK. Now here's what we're going (mit\_bhs\_b\_fsb\_005)

As for the soft fields, the use of "I" (36%) and "you" (39%) was more frequent than the use of "we" (25%) in the personal pronoun bundles. While "we" bundles usually performed the functions of desire and personal intention in the hard fields, "you" (41%) bundles frequently performed an obligation function in the Social Science and Education, such as "you need to be", "you need to do", and "and so you can". The referents of "you" in the bundles referred mostly to the students, resulting in a more directive lecturing style, as can be seen in the following example.

[6] in families. Let's just say you look to see whether X if parents are overweight whether they're more or less likely to have overweight children, and **so you can see** the clustering in families. Now that's easy to do from a research point of view but has weaknesses as well, as you can imagine because (oy\_ss\_ps\_015)

The more use of "you" in personal pronoun bundles in Social Science lectures shows a direct contrast to the findings of Simpson-Vlach (2006) who explored MICASE. The thirdperson plural pronoun "we" was more frequently used in Social Science in MICASE for two possible reasons. First, there were many types of speech events in MICASE. The different event types were associated with different genres (e.g., classroom teaching, teacher-student seminar), and this is one of the most influential variables that changes a language user's choice of language expression (see Swales, 1990; Swales, 2004). While the third-person plural pronoun is a common choice in general academic settings (Simpson-Vlach, 2006), the second-person pronoun "you" was the most frequently used in Social Science lectures. Second, MICASE included only a million words, which is smaller and perhaps less representative than the present study that includes about six million words.

The other discipline in the soft field was Humanities and the instructors used more "I" bundles (55%), such as "I'm/we're going to..." or "I/we want...". In this type of structure, the "I" mostly indicated the instructor only, which suggested that the lecturers were less involved with the students and seemed to stress more personal stance.

[7] constantly, people from all regions, all colonies sort of remarking in a not necessarily favorable way about people from other places. **And I want to** start

- I want to offer you a couple of examples, and I want to start with Thomas Jefferson, who in the 1780s devoted some of his energies (oy\_ha\_h\_ae\_004)

[8] The novel is called The Betrothed. And he also wrote a historical work called The Column of Infamy — that is to say, Milan. Here's a picture of the event I want to tell you about, as described by Manzoni, acting as a historian. The city of Milan in 1630 was at war with Spain, and to their misfortune, four hapless (oy\_ha\_h\_ew\_004)

#### Conclusion

In short, although personal pronoun bundles in the lecture corpus were mainly used to indicate instructors' intention, desire, and introduction to a new topic, the selection of personal pronouns varied across different disciplines. These differences were likely due to the nature of knowledge in respective disciplines. The instructors of the hard fields use more plural "we" bundles to include their students and introduce hard facts, while the instructors of the soft fields use more "you" and "I" bundles in the lectures.

Despite the fact that the author of this study strived to collect data of comparable lectures, identifying different disciplines was challenging. As Mauranen (2006) suggested, although disciplines are categorized by intellectual characteristics (e.g., research methods), this principle is not universally applied. Different disciplines can vary from one country to another, and even one institution to another. For example, the British Academic Spoken English (BASE, Universities of Warwick) project included four main disciplines: Art & Humanities, Life & Medical Sciences, Physical Sciences, and Social Sciences, while MICASE (University of Michigan) included four disciplines: Biological & Health Science, Humanities & Arts, Physical Science & Engineering, and Social Science & Education. However, even with this categorization issue in mind, the findings of the present study can still be helpful for students of particular disciplines to be aware of the use of personal pronoun bundles of specific disciplines.

#### References

Ädel, A. (2010). Just to give you kind of a map of where we are going: A Taxonomy of Metadiscourse in Spoken and Written Academic English. Nordic Journal of English Studies, 9(2), 69-97.

Badger, R., White, G., Sutherland, P., & Haggis, T. (2001). Note perfect: An investigation of how students view taking notes in lectures. System, 29, 405-417.

Becher, T., & Trowler, P. (2001). Academic tribes and territories: Intellectual enquiry and the culture of disciplines. UK: McGraw-Hill Education.

Biber, D. (2006). University language: A corpus-based study of spoken and written registers. Philadelphia: John Benjamins Publishing Company.

Biber, D. (2009). A corpus-driven approach to formulaic language in English Multi-word patterns in speech and writing. International Journal of Corpus Linguistics, 14(3), 275-311. doi:10.1075/ijcl.14.3.08bib

Biber, D., & Conrad, S. (1999). Lexical bundles in conversation and academic prose. Language and Computers, 26, 181-190.

Biber, D., Johansson, S., Leech, G., Conrad, S., & Finnegan, E. (1999). Longman grammar of spoken and written English. London: Longman.

Biglan, A. (1973). The characteristics of subject matter in different academic areas. Journal of Applied Psychology, 57(3), 195-203.

Dearden, J. (2014). English as a medium of instruction – a growing global phenomenon: Phase 1. British Council. Oxford: British Council. Retrieved from https://www.britishcouncil.es/sites/default/files/british\_council\_english\_as\_a\_medium\_of \_instruction.pdf

Firth, J. (1951). Papers in Linguistic. Oxford: Oxford University Press. Flowerdew, J. (1994). Academic Listening: Research Perspectives. Melbourne: Cambridge University Press.

Flowerdew, J., & Miller, L. (1992). Student perceptions, problems and strategies in second language lecture comprehension. RELC Journal, 23(2), 60-80.

Fortanet, I. (2004). The use of 'we' in university lectures: reference and function. English for Specific Purposes, 23, 45-66.

Gray, B., & Biber, D. (2013). Lexical frames in academic prose and conversation. International Journal of Corpus Linguistics, 18(1), 109-135. doi:10.1075/ijcl.18.1.08gra

Halliday, M. A. K. (1994). An introduction to functional grammar. New York: Arnold.

Jung, E. H. S. (2006). Misunderstanding of academic monologues by nonnative speakers of English. Journal of Pragmatics, 38, 1928-1942.

Kolb, D. A. (1981). Learning styles and disciplinary differences. The San Francisco, Jossey Bass: Modern American College.

Mauranen, A. (2006). Speaking the discipline: Discourse and socialization in ELF and L1 English. In K. Hyland & B. Marina (Eds.), Academic discourse across disciplines (pp.271-294). Switzerland: Peter Lang AG.

Miller, L. (2009). Engineering lectures in a second language: What factors facilitate students' listening comprehension? The Asian EFL Journal Quarterly, 11(2), 8-30.

Othman, Z. (2007). An exploratory study of discourse markers: Their distribution, meanings and uses in a corpus of academic lectures. Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, Lancaster University, UK.

Reppen, R. (2004). Academic language: An exploration of university classroom and textbook language. In U. Connor & T. A. Upton (Eds.), Discourse in the professions: Perspectives from corpus linguistics (pp. 65-86). Amsterdam: John Benjamins Publishing Company.

Scott, M. (2015). WordSmith tools version 6.

Simpson-Vlach, R. (2006). Academic speech across disciplines: Lexical and phraseological distinctions. In K. Hyland & B. Marina (Eds.), Academic discourse across disciplines (pp. 295-316). Switzerland: Peter Lang AG.

Swales, J. (1990). Genre Analysis. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Swales, J. (2004). Research genres: Explorations and applications. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Swales, J., & Malczewski, B. (2001). Discourse management and new-episode flags in MICASE. In R. C. Simpson & J. M. Swales (Eds.), Corpus Linguistic in North American (pp. 145-164). Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press.

# Helizhu Hu, Qing Ma

The Education University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China

313044912@qq.com, maqing@eduhk.hk

# The multi-case study of English teachers' mobile-assisted technology use in Southwest China from an ecological understanding

#### Bio data

Helizhu Hu is a Master student in MA TESOL in the Education University of Hong Kong. Her research is interested in mobile-assisted English teaching.

Qing Ma is an Assistant Professor at the Department of Linguistics and Modern Language Studies, The Education University of Hong Kong. Her main research interests include second language vocabulary acquisition, corpus linguistics, Chinese English, computer assisted language learning (CALL) and mobile assisted language learning (MALL).

#### Abstract

As China promotes the innovative use of technology in education, mobile-assisted technology receives increasing attention from researchers. As Rogers (1995) suggested, the teacher is the key factor in technology use. Van Lier (2004) proposed that technology use should be analyzed based on the basic organizing constructs of ecology instead of being investigating as an isolated item. In this research, the mobile technology use by English teachers in China is analyzed from 4 aspects based on Van Lier's theory: Perception (driven by different purposes), Action (activities of adaption), Relation (attitudes and beliefs in the context), and Quality (frequency and expertise of technology use). The methods used in this research are the surveys, interviews and artifacts. The results are illustrated in the framework called Mobile Assisted Technology Use by English Teachers in *China,* in which these four aspects interact with each other in the circle path. By the examination of these factors, the corresponding interplay of the positive or negative factors suggests implications, such as the growing technology cultivation for teachers, the support of positive policies, the improvement of studying equipment and the technology training aimed to enhance the ability of students' parents. Since this is a small-scale qualitative study, a large-scale study involving more participants from various stakeholders needs to be conducted to verify this ecological framework in future.

#### **Conference paper**

In China, the innovative use of technology has been given adequate attention since the Ministry of Education announced the launch of the 'Networks between schools project' at the National Information Technology Conference for Elementary and Secondary Education in 2000 to achieve internet access in about 90% of the elementary and secondary schools across the country (MOE, 2001). As Zhao and Frank (2003) stated, the factors of how technology is adopted by teachers are examined in isolation from each other and rarely are they studied together from the system they interact. This research, however, is driven by the curiosity to explore how mobile technology is used by teachers in English education from an ecological perspective. The definition of mobile technology is provided in previous studies. According to Ma (2017), "The components of mobile technology consist of two essential parts. The first part is the mobile devices (e.g. laptop, smart phone, tablet PC,

etc.) which serve as both storage for teaching resources downloaded from online and a multifunction toolkit for teaching. The second is the virtually inexhaustible resources available online. With the Internet connection, the resources and e-tools such as apps and lexical tools (e.g. dictionary app or online dictionaries) stored in the mobile devices can be constantly renewed and updated" (p. 196). In this research, the data are interpreted into 4 aspects based on the constructs of ecology from Van Lier (2004): Perception, Action, Relation, and Quality. The explanations of the theory are shown below:

#### Ecological perspective:

As Van Lier (2004) states, "An ecological perspective" is basically "a way of being and acting in the world that has an impact on how we conduct our lives, how we relate to others and to the environment, and of course also, how we conceive of teaching and learning" (p.86). Guided by this definition, English teachers are examined through how they conduct their mobile technology use, how they connect with others and circumstances when they use mobile technology and how they think of their mobile technology use in English teaching, which can be briefly divided into 4 aspects, "perception", "action", "relation" and "quality" proposed by Van Lier (2004).

#### Perception:

Van Lier (2004) indicates that the perceiver is viewed as a pioneer of information which is selected by the purposes of themselves. So in this study, the English teacher is the "perceiver" who actively search for the "information" (mobile technology use) by their different "purposes" (needs to use mobile technology). To know their perceptions, their purposes are supposed to be examined.

#### Action:

According to Van Lier (2004), Action is an "activity in one's environment (that) brings forth the affordances in those environments that are relevant to the agent" (p.92). In this research, the activity refers to the changes English teachers embrace when they confront the difficulties of mobile technology use, to be specific, the problem solutions they chose.

#### Relation:

Van Lier (2004) also suggests, relation is related to "self-construction" in the ecological theory, i.e., "The self can be seen as a reciprocal relationship between the individual and his/her world" (p.93). Therefore, English teachers' attitudes and beliefs which reveals how they conceive their mobile technology use, are studied under their environments.

#### Quality:

According to Van Lier's theory (2004), "The fuel (of the quality) is not'input' or 'exercises', but engagement" (p.98). So to display the quality (English teachers' engagement) of English teacher's mobile technology use, the frequency of mobile technology use and the self-efficacy of technology use (teachers' confidence of using the technology) are exhibited. Therefore, in this paper, the four aspects are perception(driven by different purpose of use), action(activity for adaption), relation(attitudes and beliefs in the context), and quality(engagement exhibited in the frequency of use and technology self-efficacy).

#### The questions which guide the study are as follows:

How do English teachers in Southwest China apply mobile technology in their teaching interpreted from four aspects (perception, action, relation, and quality)? What factors matter in the mobile-assisted technology use of teachers?

The current research examines how 10 English teachers integrated mobile technology into English teaching in Southwest China (most of them from Chengdu and Chongqing) in and out of the class in order to probe into the ecology that facilitates or hinders the use of mobile technology in teaching. This study employed multiple methods including questionnaire, interviews and artifacts (concrete evidence). The questionnaire is divided into two parts: (1) background information of the participants (2) how mobile devices are used for English teaching. The participants were asked to elaborate on their choices for some questions contained in the questionnaire such as the pros and cons of the mobile

resources they used. Later, the participants were given an information sheet within 3 days to provide evidence to confirm the data collected from the questionnaire and interview.

For perception, based on the categories of teacher technology use (Russel et al., 2003), in this research, the purposes of teachers' technology use are divided into the use for preparation, communication, teachers' use in class, teacher-guided student use in class, teacher-guided student use out of class and grade record in Table 1.

Purposes	Resources
For preparation	Information except for Baidu files (80%)
	Pictures (80%)
	Videos (70%)
	Baidu files (70%)
	Music (60%)
	Films (30%)
	E-books (20%)
	Others (20%)
For communication	(1) with students
	WeChat (80%)
	Emails (20%)
	Text messages (20%)
	Others (20%)
	(2) with narents
	WeChat (100%)
	Text messages (40%)
	School Comm (40%)
	Others $(20\%)$
For teachers' use in class	Microsoft Power Point (100%)
	Online practice $(20\%)$
	Others (20%)
	$E_{\text{books}}(10\%)$
For teacher-quided student use in class	Online dictionary (10%)
Tor teacher guidea stadent use in class	Baidu search angine (10%)
	Mobile application (20%)
	No use $(80\%)$
For toochor guided student use out of class	Mobile application (60%)
Tor teacher-guided student use out of class	Opling practice (40%)
	Videos (40%)
	$N_{0} = (20\%)$
For grade record (out of the class)	No use (20%) Microsoft Event (20%)
For grade record (out of the class)	MICROSOTT EXCEL (80%)
	Online grade record exctam $(E00/)$
	Online grade record system (50%)
	Mobile phone applications (30%)
	Others (10%)

Table 1 Teachers' preferred resources in different phrases of the teaching process

For Action, the problem solutions of the mobile technology are revealed in three interviews. These activities indicate that how English teachers adapt to the mobile technology when they use it:

"I will search for the Baidu website about the problems I have met or I will ask the colleagues around me." (Fecility; Interview data 2)

"I am still unfamiliar with the technology equipments in the classroom. But I am not worried, since the school will afford us with the related training from time to time." (Joanlee; Interview data 6)

"When there is a technology problem, I will call the worker from the computer center in our school who is in the charge of these kind of stuff." (Gloria; Interview data 9)

Thus, their confrontations of difficulties such as Fecility's website searching, Joanliee's confidence in school training and Gloria's asking technicians for help illustrate their active adaptations to the mobile technology changes.

For Relation, almost every teacher basically holds a positive attitude towards mobile technology use and builds up a concept of pursuing student-centered teaching. See figure below:

# Context of the English Teachers



student's home

From the interview, most teachers commit themselves to build a class focusing on "student participation, interactive class, and learning strategy training" (Zhang & Liu, 2014, p. 187). Vicky is a representative teacher who would like to turn from the mechanical cramming into the use of mobile-assisted technology in class. She also stated that most of her colleagues are proud of their experiments with this new technology in the classroom, and she is somewhat influenced by the entire atmosphere (in office). Besides, in the case of Joanlee, she deemed the mobile technology positive, because it arose students' interests with the use of pictures, music, videos and so on to promote students' involvements (in the classroom). However, Lily, who teaches English in the underdeveloped region believed the new technology will be introduced to her remote school one day even though it was underused today. However, many parents of students left their hometown to work in big cities and students were left behind with their grandparents and other relatives so that it was almost impossible for them to use the mobile technology at home to study English (at student's home). Still, the worry exists in Felicity's case that the increasing absence of mind would be caused without technology use if the students get used to the animated knowledge presentation provided by mobile-assisted technology in class. Besides, in the case of Kate, she attributed the setback of students' reading ability to the technology use since it might distract students from focusing on the words themselves in the classroom.

For Quality, the engagement is showed in the frequency of mobile assisted technology use and teachers' efficacy of technology. See figure 1 *Frequency of mobile technology use based on the purposes above*.



What is interesting is that for public school teachers, most of them communicate with parents in a very low frequency. For Lily, Joanlee and Mary, they usually communicate with students' parents less than once a month. Besides, for Felicity and Gloria, their frequency is several times a month. The reason might be that there are too many students for teachers to take care of:

"There are about 55 students to around 60 students in a class here. The classes in city contain more, up to about 70 students." (Lily; Interview data 5)

"We have different amounts of students in each grade and class. Take Senior 2 as an example, there are about 60 students a class on average. And Senior 3 is even more, maybe up to about 80 students." (Joanlee; Interview data 6)

The engagement of mobile technology use is also demonstrated in the self-efficacy of using mobile technology. Most teachers revealed that they could handle mobile technology use basically. There were three teachers claiming that they do not have any difficulties. Nancy was willing to do more though she found it hard to study new techniques, butshe hasn't met any difficulties that is out of her control until now. Since Cici got the experience of enriching the content such as words and sentences on the existed materials, she claimed there was no difficulty for her to use the mobile technology right now. Dannie said she was stuck in the formed structure to be innovative, but had no difficulty in using the mobile technology. Some problems the teacher met are not seen as a must-solved problem. Felicity used to be amazed by others' PPT where pages can be turned while the teacher told the story. However, she gave up trying to keep up with the latest technology, since it was hard to find instruction, even on Baidu. Lily was eager to learn more about technological knowledge since she has never received any training on it. It was hard for her to find out exactly what she wanted. What made things worse is that her school is unable to provide resources in the teaching field. She indicated that her lack of pioneering spirit as an instructor or researcher hinders her from learning new techniques as well. Joanlee stated that to search what she wanted in the sea of information is very timeconsuming. But luckily, her school provided some technological training. And Jenny didn't know how to put the content of the mobile phone on the screen so that she thought the app such as Fun Movie Dubbing was not used fully. But Kate's difficulty could not be solved in a short time because of the political reasons since it was hard for mainland China to open all the search engines such as Google.

From these findings, the framework called *Mobile Assisted Technology Use of English Teachers in China* is built in figure 2.

Figure 2: Mobile Assisted Technology Use of English Teachers in China



As showed in the figure, the mobile assisted technology starts from teacher's perception which is motivated by the different purposes (needs) of teachers. Then teachers adopted actions, the activities to solve the problems in the mobile-technology use to adjust to the new environment, either from their own efforts to seek help, or from the formal school training. Next, the relation is built. "The self" teacher creates through the experiences of technology application is displayed in their beliefs and attitudes towards technology use in English teaching. Finally, the quality, the engagement, is demonstrated in the frequency of mobile technology use and teachers' existing efficacy of technology use. However, the whole process is not a linear path, instead, the quality, the engagement of teachers will in return affect their perception, thus the whole process operates in a circular direction. For example, the proficient use of mobile technology such as baidu files will enhance a teacher's technology use serving for the purpose of preparation.

Some key factors affecting the mobile technology use are found, as illustrated in Table 2:

# Table2: Factors affecting Mobile-assisted Usage

	Internal factors				
	self-efficacy	skills' training	lack of self efficacy		
	positive attitude	consideration of convenience and worries	negative attitude		
	efficient integration	pedagogy training	traditional reappearance		
	External factors				
	Policy: suggestions to use	Policy maker	Policy: requirements to control		
	Improved classroom equipments	Money	Limited classroom equipments		
	Support of family	Family technology training	Protest of family		

Since the facilitators and the barriers are the two sides of the same variables, these variables are viewed as the key factors, which suggests that the improvement of mobile assisted technology use should attach importance to the support for teachers that focuses on the internal factors such as technology skills training, pedagogy training, building of positive attitudes, and the external factors such as positive policies, equipment improvement and technology training of the students' parents.

In summary, based on Van lier's construction of ecology from four aspects: perception, action, relation and quality, the process of mobile technology use of English teachers in China is not followed in the liner path but in a circle way. The interplay of positive or negative factors suggests implications such as technology training for both teachers and parents, the guidance of teachers' positive attitudes, the pedagogy training for teachers, the implementation of the positive policy and the increasing investment of money. In further study, a large-scale study involving more participants from various stakeholders will be conducted to verify this new ecological framework.

#### References

Leo van Lier. (2004). The semiotics and ecology of language learning - perception, voice, identity and democracy. Utbildning & Demokrati, 13(3), 79-103.

Ma, Q. (2017, May 19). A multi-case study of university students' language-learning experience mediated by mobile technologies: a socio-cultural perspective. Computer Assisted Language Learning, Vol.30(3-4), pp. 183-203. doi:10.1080/09588221.2017.1301957

MOE (Ministry of Education of the People's Republic of China) (2001). The launch of 'Networks Between Schools Project' in elementary and secondary schools [in Chinese]. Available

at:http://old.moe.gov.cn/publicfiles/business/htmlfiles/moe/moe\_327/200409/2965.html

Rogers, E. M. (1995). Diffusion of innovations (4th ed.). New York: Free Press.

Zhang, F., & Liu, Y. (2014). A Study of Secondary School English Teachers' Beliefs in the Context of Curriculum Reform in China. Language Teaching Research, Vol.18(2), p.187-204.

Zhao, Y., & Frank, K. A. (2003). Factors affecting technology uses in schools: An ecological perspective. American Educational Research Journal, 40(4), 807-840.
# Cuixia Hu, Liemei Huang

Tianfu College of SWUFE, Chengdu, China

hcx\_0374@163.com

# A design of college English internet-based blended teaching with the guidance of Chinese standards of English language ability

## Bio data



Cuixia Hu was born in 1982. She graduated from Chongqing University as a postgraduate in 2009 with a master's degree in Applied Linguistics, mainly researching English Teaching and Information Technology. Up until now, she has published 4 papers in different journals as the first author, and 4 papers as the second, taking an active role in the College English curriculum reformation.



Liemei Huang was born in 1984. Graduating from Chongqing University, she got her master's degree in Applied Linguistics in 2009, focusing on English Teaching and Information Technology. She is a lecturer and, she has published 3 papers in different journals as the first author, and 3 papers as the second.

## Abstract

This paper firstly introduces the theoretical bases and design of the internet-based blended teaching mode, which is divided into three stages: pre-class online autonomous learning; in-class learning; and after-class online consolidation and knowledge expansion. The paper then discusses the implementation process of the blended teaching system based on the first unit of the self-compiled textbook "Dandelion College English". Hopefully, this research has reference significance on College English reformation with the guidance of *Chinese Standards of English Language Ability*.

## **Conference** paper

## Introduction

"Blended teaching" generally refers to the combination of two or more teaching forms and information technology. This includes network platform, micro-lecture, and coursework. It attempts to combine the teacher's input, the student's subjectivity, the advantages of online work and classroom efficiency (Qiao, 2018). The variety of teaching methods can mobilize students' learning enthusiasm and improve classroom teaching efficiency. In recent years, the combination of entity classroom and internet-based autonomous learning has become the dominant mode of College English teaching in China (Chen & Wang, 2016).

In June 2018, the *Chinese Standards of English Language Ability* (referred to as the "CSE") issued by the Ministry of Education was formally put into use. The CSE encourages the application of learning and emphasizes the use of language. It provides a strong theoretical support for the cultivation of Applied Talents in Colleges and universities.

The CSE also provides a theoretical basis for the compilation of College English textbooks, the reform of teaching modes, the improvement of teaching methods and means, and the

establishment of a scientific and feasible evaluation system for college teachers (Li, 2018). Based on the college English teaching practice, this study introduces the theoretical bases and specific design of the blended teaching mode guided by CSE, and explains the concrete implementation process of the blended teaching mode based on a unit of the self-compiled teaching material.

#### Theoretical Basis. *Education Ecology*

According to the viewpoint of educational ecology, the whole college English teaching system is a natural and open ecosystem composed of teachers, students and environment in a certain space (Gu, 2012). In order to ensure the internal harmony of the classroom ecosystem, it is necessary to strengthen the interaction cycle with the external world outside of the classroom. This can support the exchange of energy and information, and ensure the survival and development of the entire educational ecological environment (Ye et al., 2017).

At present, colleges and universities are arranging their teaching according to the requirements of College English Teaching Requirements. The teaching weeks of each semester lasts for 16-18 weeks, with 4-6 hours per week (Sui & Zhou, 2012) and classroom study time is generally very limited. However, learning English is a long-term continuous process, which requires students to devote plenty time to learning. This requires college English teaching to therefore break the limitations of time and space, and to extend the classroom boundaries by putting students in an open Internet ecosystem to increase the learning opportunites.

The blended teaching system provides students the advantages of learning at anytime and anywhere, breaking the time and space limitations of traditional English classes, and helping students to realize the fragmented learning.

#### Constructivist Theory

Constructivism defines learning as a process in which the learner actively processes information from the external environment. It is an important theoretical basis for the integration of information technology and curriculum, which is mainly divided into two parts: building a learning environment and designing self-learning strategies.

Constructing a learning environment includes creating scenarios related to intended topic and then providing the necessary resources to encourage cooperative learning.

Self-regulated learning strategies include scaffolding, anchoring, self-feedback, etc. (He, 2005). These aim to stimulate students' initiative and enthusiasm by enabling them to "construct" knowledge independently.

Constructivism theory runs through the whole process of blended teaching, from the compilation of textbooks to the design of teaching activities. Teachers can design flexible and diverse teaching activities to enable students fully participate in classroom activities. At the same time, students can actively take part in the class through demonstrations, debates, discussion and so on. This enhances the students' thinking and expression and cultivates the students' all round ability.

## Design of internet-based blended Teaching Mode with the guidance of CSE

Dandelion College English, a self-compiled textbook, is used in our college English curriculum. The main features of this textbook are as follows: guided by scales, taking full account of the difficulty gradients of each unit and the books; the overall difficulty is in line with the English proficiency of College students; and the topics are interesting and practical. In addition, the textbooks are suitable for blended teaching, including online and offline parts. The model can be summarized as: on-line autonomous learning before class + knowledge internalization in class + on-line consolidation after class and extra-curricular development, which are organically integrated and complementary.

#### On-line Autonomous Learning before Class

Dandelion College English is divided into two volumes, each having five units. Each unit includes six modules: Warm up, Talk Show, Listening Drills, Reading Exploration, Grammar Room, Supplementary Material.

The design of teaching materials and activities in all five units follows the principle of gradual progress where students gradually acquire higher English ability through learning. For online autonomous learning before the class, teachers assign videos, audios and wording materials through network-based teaching platform. Students are urged to log on to the teaching platform to learn the learning materials assigned by the teacher independently during their own time. They are free to arrange learning, testing, discussing and so on, so as to "warm up" classroom teaching.

The selection of learning content and the setting of learning tasks are fully combined with students' existing ability level, aiming to help students acquire a higher level of ability.

In case of problems, students can post questions in the discussion area and ask other students or teachers for help. By browsing students' posts and replies, teachers can also understand students' progress and learning difficulties well, so as to follow up in class.

#### Knowledge Internalization in Class

Off-line physical class is the continuation and extension of students' on-line autonomous learning, as well as the process of face-to-face interaction between teachers and students to help students gain great understanding.

In class, teachers set up teaching tasks and activities based on the students' ability level to fully participate in the class. Students either report the results of online learning, or discuss and solve difficult problems in groups. Teachers explain the content, or the difficult knowledge points students maye have found difficult during their online learning. The English classroom therefore becomes an "English training ground". Students exercise their oral english ability by the use of presentations which cultivates their critical and creative thinking ability.

At the same time, teachers can make full use of the interactive advantages of the network platform. This includes publishing discussion topics with students participating in the discussion, publishing the discussion results, and making real-time summaries. Teachers can also publish topics where students participate in voting.

The rich and colorful classroom activities combined with the powerful interactive functions of the teaching platform make the physical class full of vitality. Teachers are no longer the imparters of knowledge, but the organizers of the classroom, the guides of learning, the reviewers of learning results and the interpreters of learning difficulties. Students are no longer passive knowledge receivers, but active builders of knowledge and participants in the learning process.

#### On-line Consolidation and Extracurricular Development after Class

Through self-study before class and better understanding of classroom knowledge in real class, students have mastered the teaching content. In order to test students' knowledge mastery, teachers may push relevant tests or assignments through the network platform to help students consolidate and apply what they have learned. They can also create situations according to the teaching content which cultivates the students' competence in intercultural communication. Students may choose suitable learning materials according to their own hobbies.

#### The concrete implementation process of blended teaching mode

Taking the first unit of Dandelion College English "College Life" as an example, the author introduces the concrete implementation process of the blended teaching model. The unit is designed with six lessons in three weeks. In this paper, the author only introduces the design of teaching activities in the first week.

Before class, teachers assign videos about American higher education institutions on the online platforms. The teacher's ask students to answer two questions in their own time: (1) How many kinds of higher institutions are mentioned in the video? (2) What kind of students are preferred by American universities?

Because this video has standard speaking speed the tasks are designed with relatively low difficulty. By replying to the online discussion forum, teachers can see that 90% of the students can give accurate answers to the questions.

In class, teachers give several key expressions in the video, such as liberal arts university, well-rounded students and so on, and organize students to have relevant discussions. Combining with students' speech, teachers expand their knowledge and list five aspects closely related to students' College life, students, major, facilities, staff, degree. Let students brainstorm in groups and list the words they are familiar with. Based on the students'answers, teachers can accurately grasp the students' English vocabulary level. According to the principle from easy to difficult, teachers will list the vocabulary that students must master. Students can use learning tools to find out relevant examples, understand the usage of words, and memorize words through examples. Secondly, according to their own understanding of video, the typical educational activities are sorted to deepen the understanding of University education. Thirdly, teachers give two topics: talking about their favorite teachers; describing one of their best friends. Teachers give relevant vocabulary and sentence pattern hints. Students are asked to practise oral English in pairs, and then show their speeches. The purpose is to exercise students' oral expression ability and self-confidence. Fourthly, teachers ask questions to stimulate students' thinking. What aspects of university do you like or dislike? What was your dream in college? What are your plans to achieve your dreams?

After class, in order to help students consolidate the content of the classroom, teachers assign a certain amount of online homework. (1) completing word puzzles. There are two parts. Puzzle A belongs to the basic vocabulary. It corresponds to the Level 3 of CSE, which requires all students to complete. Puzzle B Vocabulary corresponds to Level 4 of CSE, designed for students with better foundation. (2) Listening to the audio on-line to complete the relevant tasks: find out the difficult points in listening, and prepare for the next lesson.

Pre-class and post-class stages are mainly online, while in-class teacher-student interaction is mainly offline. The setting of teaching content and the design of teaching activities are fully guided by CSE, follow the principle of gradual progress, and aim at cultivating students' abilities. Pre-class preparation, in-class learning and after-class consolidation complement each other in three stages. They not only expand classroom learning time and cultivate students' autonomous learning ability, but also improve classroom efficiency and increase students' participation in the classroom.

## Conclusion

With the guidance of CSE, the blended teaching system pays attention to the comprehensive use of English ability and gradual improvement of students' English ability.

In this teaching system, online learning and off-line classes are integrated organically. Students can not only ensure the smooth implementation of classroom teaching, but also save a lot of classroom time. This, as a result, improves classroom efficiency. Through bold questioning and active expression of their own understanding and views, students become active to absorb and explore knowledge. Classroom participation has been greatly improved, and autonomy in learning has been greatly enhanced, so that English teaching has been revitalized. However, with poor English foundation, some students have difficulties in the process of online learning, lagging behind the progress of group or class learning. Further exploration is still needed to better mobilize the enthusiasm of students with learning disabilities.

## References

[1] Chunmei, Q. (2018). Application of Mixed Teaching Model in College English Teaching of Three Universities. Journal of Jiangxi Electric Power Vocational and Technical College, 31(06), 58-59+61.

[2] Jianlin, C. & Jing, W. (2016). The Normal Change and Development in the Process of Foreign Language Education Informatization: A Visualization Study Based on Education Informatization. Foreign Language Audiovisual Teaching, 2, 3-9.

[3] Xiaoyu, L. (2018). The Enlightenment of the Chinese English Competence Scale on College English Teaching Reform in Private Colleges and Universities --- Taking the City Construction College of Jilin Architectural University as an example. Cultural and Educational Materials, 25,227-228.

[4] Zhizhong, G.(2012). Research on the Ecology of ESP Teaching Environment. Foreign Language Audiovisual Teaching, 06,47-51,59.

[5] Ling, Y. et al. (2017). Research and practice of College English flipped classroom in "Internet +" era. foreign language audio-visual teaching, 3,3-8,21.

[6] Xiaobing, S. & Tianhao, Z. (2012). Research and development of foreign language textbooks and the cultivation of students' foreign language competence: based on the analysis and discussion of the main foreign language textbooks in Chinese universities. Foreign language audio-visual teaching, 6,52-59.

[7] Kekang, H. (2005). Seeing the New Development of Educational Technology Theory from Blending Learning. Journal of National College of Educational Administration, 09, 37-48,79.

# Kristi Jauregi Ondarra

Utrecht University, Utrecht, The Netherlands

k.jauregi@uu.nl

# Inclusive telecollaboration meets diversity in TeCoLa: teachers' & learners' voices

## Bio data

Kristi Jauregi is associate professor at Utrecht University (The Netherlands). Her main area of research is on CALL. She is particularly interested in studying the role that telecollaboration plays in enhancing the communicative competence, intercultural awareness and motivation of L2 students, and in reshaping the pedagogical beliefs, activities and roles of language teachers. She has initiated and coordinated different European projects (TeCoLa, NIFLAR & TILA).

## Abstract

This paper presents the experiences around telecollaboration projects that have been carried out at primary, secondary and vocational schools in Europe within the framework of the Erasmus+ project TeCoLa: Pedagogical differentiation through telecollaboration and gamification for intercultural and content integrated language teaching (2016-2019, www.tecola.eu). Within TeCoLa 40 teachers and around 750 learners from 10 countries, have participated in telecollaboration exchanges using different virtual environments. Diverse data has been gathered: chat logs, recordings, surveys, and interviews, to disentangle how learners and teachers experience telecollaboration. We show in this paper how issues on inclusion and diversity have been addressed in TeCoLa. We present the results of a case study carried out between learners of a primary school and a secondary school, focusing on the learners and their teachers' voices.

## **Conference paper**

## Inclusive foreign language education

In our highly diverse society, it is important to foster social inclusion and active citizen participation to contribute to social cohesion and democracy. Lately, inclusion has become a central topic of debate on educational settings. Inclusion seeks to cater for the heterogeneity present in most educational contexts, which demands individualised and differentiated pedagogical strategies. Interesting in this perspective is the fact that inclusion approaches learner heterogeneity in terms of "valued diversity rather than as a teaching obstacle" (Moschenbacher, 2016: 160).

Inclusion has been used in two major senses in education. The narrower approach of the term refers to learners with disabilities or learning difficulties being included in regular classes. In its broader sense, inclusive educational practices comprise social dimensions such as social class, gender, ethnicity, and other aspects that "may cause learners to be excluded or disadvantaged and potentially result in detrimental effects with respect to teaching outcomes". (Moschenbacher, 2016: 164). Inclusion is a basic right of everyone and is achieved when all barriers, discrimination and intolerance have been removed, and as result learners feel included and supported. In TeCoLa we have followed inclusion in this broader sense.

#### **Diversity & inclusion in the TeCoLa project**

The Erasmus+ project TeCoLa, Pedagogical differentiation through telecollaboration and gamification for intercultural and content integrated language teaching (2016-2019, <u>www.tecola.eu</u>), promotes telecollaboration (Guth & Helm, 2010) to enhance meaningful foreign language learning in non-university educational settings throughout Europe, while training and coaching teachers on how to better integrate telecollaboration exchanges in their specific teaching context. In TeCoLa special attention is given to technology enhanced task development that fosters authentic communication and cooperation in diversity, intercultural experience and awareness raising, learner agency, digital literacy and knowledge development.

Between 2016 and 2019 several telecollaboration pilot projects have been carried out at primary, secondary and vocational schools in Europe within the framework of the TeCoLa project. Approximately 40 teachers and 750 learners from 10 countries, have participated in telecollaboration exchanges resorting to different interactive tools.

Diversity is approached in TeCoLa "as a socially meaningful concept in education that should strategically lead towards understanding and valuing diversity as a prerequisite for an inclusive society" (Jauregi & Melchor-Couto, 2018a; 113). This implies the development of social and intercultural strategies that will help learners understand and embrace experiences, views and values that are different from their own, as enriching for their self-identity.

Within TeCoLa we look at diversity from different angles:

- Local diversity, which refers to the diversity present in the language classroom (learners with different talents, needs, interests, cognitive development, language and intercultural skills, social and cultural background);
- Cross-educational diversity: learners from different school sectors engaging in telecollaborative work with each other;
- International diversity: learners collaborating internationally with learners from other countries.
- Technological diversity: different interaction tools being used to facilitate the inclusion of all schools in telecollaboration exchanges, irrespective of their IT level; technological diversity also caters for the individualised needs of different learners.

In TeCoLa inclusion is present at different levels, one of those being, the way we organise and structure telecollaboration exchanges in the schools so that all learners can participate and learn from the exchanges in a supportive environment.

Inclusivity also means respecting people from different backgrounds and cultures. In TeCoLa learners are exposed to other cultures and world-views as they are paired up with a peer abroad who has a different cultural, social and probably educational background. The learners meet in the virtual environment, carry out a certain task in the target language, and reflect about the exchange (whether it was meaningful to them, their role and their peer's role during the interaction, what they have learned, which difficulties they have experienced, etc.). So, learners do not just hear about other cultures but do actually engage in intercultural encounters and reflect about them. This reflective practice contributes to their understanding of other ways of acting, communicating and being, helping them to become more flexible and tolerant. In this sense inclusivity is closely related to breaking stereotypes, encouraging alternative perspectives, debating ideas and respecting different viewpoints. This is very much stimulated through the TeCoLa tasks, where learners are encouraged to share their ideas, lives, interests and to build a good rapport with their peers. The creation of a supportive, respectful environment which promotes diversity and equity (Hall, 1982) are central to the TeCoLa project.

The tasks that have been developed in TeCoLa address differentiation (by suggesting a different tool, communication mode, topic, more or less cultural & linguistic support, different assessment forms, etc. in the task description), to encourage participation from

everyone and foster success by personalising the tasks to meet the students' needs, interests and learning styles. See Table 1 for an example on how differentiation has been included in the task description on fashion.

 Table 1. Example of differentiation of the Fashion task1.

## Summary

In this task students meet in small international groups or pairs in the TeCoLa Virtual World. They talk about their favourite outfits, what they wear at school or at special occasions, where they buy their clothes, how often they buy new clothes, and whether fashion is important for them or not.

Before meeting in their international team, the students prepare short presentations about their fashion preferences, which they can upload to the discussion boards.

In this task differentiation has been introduced at different levels:

- When forming teams and arranging meetings: instead of the teachers doing this, the option is provided to the learners to manage themselves the meetings using their team discussion board.
- A pre-activity for getting to know each other is suggested as ice breaker. Learners are given the option to carry out the pre-activity in the virtual world playing synchronously the Snakes & Ladders game or asynchronously in written language using the interactive wall Padlet.
- Content related: The teachers can provide a worksheet with guiding questions to learners who need extra support. At the same time and depending on the students proficiency level, the teachers can provide vocabulary support. It is suggested that it might be helpful for the students to practice talking about their presentation in pairs or small groups before their international meeting takes place.
- Organising the Meeting in the TeCoLa Virtual World: Students who have the facilities at home and feel comfortable being on their own can work from their home computers, while those students who do not have these facilities at home or feel uncomfortable working on their own, could use a computer at school assisted by the teacher or a classmate
- Self- and Teacher assessment: The questions may differ depending on the students' proficiency level and learning needs.

Another way to strengthen inclusivity in TeCoLa is by focusing on Lingua Franca pedagogical approaches to language teaching. Mainstream education has idealised the view of the native speaker as the perfect model to be followed and imitated when learning a language (c.f. Widdowson, 1994). This systematically disempowers language learners, while the goal to be achieved is unrealistic. This is clearly a questionable model for inclusive education. A more valuable role model than the native speaker is the successful intercultural communicator (Byram, 1997), who might make some errors but who is able to communicate efficiently. The use of the target language is then primarily a means to successfully engage in intercultural communication and develop intercultural, language and interactional skills. This pedagogical paradigm shift for inclusive foreign language education puts "communicative efficiency as a teaching target, task-based language use, a tolerance

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The description of the Fashion task is to be accessed via our TeCoLa Open Educational Resources Pool: <u>https://sites.google.com/site/tecolaprojectoer/</u>

or even appreciation of non-native features as indexes of diversity and learner creativity" at the centre of the inclusive pedagogical approach (Moschenbacher, 2016:182). Within TeCoLa most telecollaboration exchanges (17 out of 21) were carried out in a Lingua Franca communication constellation, in English (Kohn & Hoffstaedter, 2017), and also in French, German and Spanish, with very satisfying results.

## Inclusion meets diversity: a case-study

This telecollaboration pilot has been chosen for presenting a great degree of diversity and for being a good example for inclusion. In this pilot, 17 Dutch learners from a bilingual secondary school participated in Spanish with 22 primary school learners from Spain, who carried out telecollaboration activities in English. The Dutch and the Spanish learners had an A2 proficiency level in their target language. The communication was asynchronous and the tool being used for the exchanges, Padlet. Five groups were created in each school and subsequently paired up with parallel groups of the other school. Separate Padlet walls were created for each paired up international group. The participants had to create four taskbased vlogs in groups, one per week in a period of a month, and upload them in their respective Padlet wall for the international peer group to view and react. In the first task they introduced themselves and their school. In task 2, they provided general information about their country/region. In task 3, they informed their peers about touristic attractions in their region. In the last task, they provided cultural information about their region/country (how people live, what a regular day looks like, how they celebrate their birthday, etc.). Tasks 1, 2, and 4 were carried out in the target language (Spanish for the Dutch learners and English for the Spanish learners). The topic of the third task was more complex and it was carried out in Spanish for the Spanish learners and in English for the bilingual Dutch learners (Jauregi & Melchor-Couto, 2018a).

Diversity was very present in this exchange at different levels:

- Education system: learners from two different educational levels, primary and secondary schools, were collaborating with one another, the former being mainstream and the latter bilingual education.
- School: The Dutch school was an IT+ school; their technological infrastructure was very good with advanced computers, good broadband internet connections and IT support. The Spanish school, on the contrary, was an IT- school, with few old computers and unstable internet connections.
- Teachers: There were differences at two interrelated levels: teacher familiarity with telecollaboration and pedagogical coaching process. The Dutch teacher had previous telecollaboration experience: she had written her M.A. thesis on a telecollaboration exchange she had initiated at a primary school; in addition she had carried out a previous telecollaboration pilot exchange with her learners in the TeCoLa virtual world. The Spanish teacher, conversely, had no previous experience and was a newbie what concerns telecollaboration. Regarding the coaching process, the Dutch teacher included telecollaboration as an add-on activity in her Spanish course: learners would get the last 10 minutes of the class to work autonomously on their vlogs or they would have to do it outside classroom hours. She provided almost no coaching to her learners. On the contrary, the Spanish teacher was very involved in the telecollaboration exchanges and would use his English classroom hours to help and coach his learners to create, record and upload the vlogs.
- Learners: in addition to learner classroom heterogeneity, both groups differed in terms of both cognitive, emotional and life maturity as inherent to age differences: the Spanish learners were 11-12 years old while the Dutch ones were between 14 and 15.
- Tasks: The Dutch teacher wanted to follow her curriculum; it was of major importance for her that the telecollaboration tasks would fit in the curriculum. As to the Spanish teacher, the curriculum offered him much flexibility, and he was open to follow the Dutch patterns.
- International experience: obviously through this telecollaboration project learners were confronted to different world-views and cultures: the Spanish and the Dutch ones.

• Language constellation: the Dutch learners were creating the vlogs for native speakers of Spanish, while the audience of the Spanish learners were more advanced English Lingua Franca speakers.

In this highly diverse setting, much energy was invested by the teachers and the TeCoLa coaches (for the importance of coaching see Jauregi & Melchor-Couto, 2018b) to make this telecollaboration project become a fruitful inclusive experience for all. This implied initially the need for a continuous, fluid, dynamic and sound communication between the TeCoLa coaches and the teachers, where the specific pedagogical, contextual and organisational issues were planned, discussed and adapted, in a recursive mode. This communication involved the use of inclusive strategies: listening to each other, understanding the other's point, negotiating meaning, establishing rapport and accommodating to each other in order to meet common goals. So for example, the Dutch teacher accommodated to the technological situation of the Spanish school and agreed on using Padlet for telecollaboration. The same happened when discussing the task content. Here the Spanish teacher complied to adapt to the curriculum requirements of the Dutch teacher.

Different sources of data were gathered from this pilot experience: the vlogs, weekly surveys and interviews to learners and teachers. In this paper we focus on the interview responses we got from the two teachers and seven learners, two girls and a boy, age 15, from the Dutch secondary school and two girls and two boys, age 12, from the Spanish primary school. A semi-structured interview was used in their mother tongue, in order to know how learners and teachers experienced and valued the telecollaboration project.

#### Teachers' voices

Four aspects of the teachers' perceptions will be highlighted here: (1) the reasons for participating in telecollaboration exchanges, (2) their role in the project, (3) the challenges they faced, (4) the effect of age difference and (5) general project valuation.

When asked why the teachers had decided to participate in the telecollaboration project, the Dutch teacher pointed out that languages are learned to be used and that thanks to the project her learners had been able to use the language in a real situation, so achieving the main target of the project: to generate curiosity towards another culture, towards children from another culture. The Spanish teacher was a quite directive teacher who habitually follows the English book in his classes. He wanted to break with this routine and offer learners a more creative and innovative pedagogical experience, so that they realise that learning a language is more than just learning it.

Over their role in the telecollaboration project, the Dutch teacher saw herself more as a planner and facilitator (contributing to task development, clarifying general project questions particularly through the email, facilitating technology use), than a real coach. The telecollaboration project was conceived as an add-on activity in her case; she could not invest much time on it. Accordingly, she gave a lot of freedom to her learners; especially introvert learners missed teacher feedback and coaching. The Spanish teacher, on the contrary, was very engaged and directive. He helped the learners in the creative process providing clear guidelines and topics to be addressed in the vlogs, making the recordings and uploading them to the interactive wall. In the Dutch case, learners had to do it all on their own.

The challenges they faced were different for both teachers. For the Dutch teacher, not being able to invest more time and energy coaching her learners was dissatisfying, while for the Spanish teacher the innovative pedagogical approach constituted a real challenge.

When asked whether the fact that the learners were interacting with peers of different ages and educational school levels would have affected the way they communicated, the Dutch teacher pointed out that her learners, being the oldest ones, might have made less effort on the linguistic level, but this divergency has certainly facilitated speaking spontaneously without fear. According to the Spanish teacher, this age difference had no effect in the way his younger learners communicated. In his view, divergent linguistic levels would have had more effect on communication than age differences. Both groups had a A2 proficiency level in their respective target languages.

Both teachers very much liked the project, the Padlet platform being very straightforward and easy to use. The Dutch teacher liked all in the project, but particularly that "the language is the vehicle to reach a destination. In this case learners used the language with a purpose, the intercultural part, to discover a new group of people". As to the Spanish teacher he valued most the innovative pedagogical approach allowing learners " to produce something away from the monotony, the daily routine, which is interactive and motivating. It gave them the possibility to generate things they usually do not do". Both teachers would like to continue with these virtual exchanges, the Dutch teacher integrating it better within the curriculum and the Spanish teacher organising it in a different period (not at the end of the school year), and with more time to view, react and create the vlogs.

#### Learners' voices

Most interview questions were geared towards valuing different aspects of the project.

Overall all interviewed learners liked the telecollaboration exchanges. Interestingly, the younger Spanish learners were more positive about the telecollaboration experience, than their Dutch peers. In a 10-point scale Spanish learners valued the project with a mean value of 8,2 versus 6,8 of the Dutch peers. They all liked meeting with learners from another country and communicating with them in the target language, which involved doing other things than the regular exercises from a book. They enjoyed the cultural tasks and the tools being used.

The Dutch learners complained about the lack of clarity (they did not know what to do), lack of time to carry out the activities and the lack of feedback (they got little or no feedback from their teacher), which made them uncertain. This clearly influenced their general valuation of the project.

Learners reported to have learned about the other culture (learning a foreign language, breaking stereotypes), to communicate in the target language, which was not easy for them, and to collaborate in teams. Two of the three Dutch learners enjoyed most viewing their peers' English vlogs and listening to their English pronunciation. One of thethree was extremely positive about their younger peers; she found them very "cute". Just one Dutch learner from the seven interviewees said to have preferred to participate with a similar age group in the exchanges.

Six out of the seven learners enjoyed creating vlogs and sharing them with their peers in Padlet. The Dutch learners asserted that they liked making vlogs more than writing down reports. They found this way of working (writing down ideas, making the recordings, adapting them when needed) a very good one. The Dutch learners had participated in a previous exchange using the TeCoLa virtual world for synchronous communication. One of the interviewees clearly preferred this instant interactive environment with avatars than the asynchronous Padlet exchange. As to the Spanish learners, three out of four would prefer an instant communication platform like Skype, to have a more direct and interactive experience with their peers, next time.

When asked whether they would like to go on participating in these international virtual exchanges, they all agreed they would.

#### Conclusions

In this paper we have seen an example of how the development of inclusive strategies can be developed in an especially diverse telecollaborative. It is important to notice that, compared to the traditional classroom inclusion sense, iclusion in telecollaboration projects includes an additional layer, as teachers from different international educational systems, with different pedagogical and cultural views will need to cooperate with one another in order to achieve common-ground and assist inclusion in such a project. This implies the need for a continuous sound communication between the teachers, where the specific pedagogical, contextual and organisational issues are planned, discussed, adapted and readapted. This communication involves the development and use of inclusive strategies: the need to listen to each other, understand the other's point, negotiating meaning, establishing rapport and accommodating to each other in order to meet common goals. Exactly the same is required in a second pedagogical layer, the contact and communication with the learners. The need to establish an open dialogue and provide supportive coaching to learners during the whole process are paramount for a successful inclusive telecollaboration experience.

## References

Byram, M. (1997). Teaching and assessing intercultural communicative competence. Clevedon: Multilingual Matters.

Guth, S., & Helm, F. (Eds). (2010). Telecollaboration 2.0. Language, literacies and intercultural learning in the 21st century. Peterlang Publishers. https://doi.org/10.3726/978-3-0351-0013-6

Hall, S. (1982). The classroom climate: A chilly one for women? Washington D.C.: Association of American Colleges.

Jauregi, K., & Melchor-Couto, S. (2018a). Successful telecollaboration exchanges in primary and secondary education: what are the challenges? In P. Taalas, J. Jalkanen, L.

Bradley & S. Thouësny (Eds), Future-proof CALL: language learning as exploration and encounters – short papers from EUROCALL 2018 (pp. 112-117). Research-publishing.net.https://doi.org/10.14705/rpnet.2018.26.822

Jauregi, K. & Melchor-Couto, S. (2018b). The role of coaching in teacher competence development for telecollaboration. ALSIC. Exchanging views on Telecollaboration (Special Issue). 20/2, 1-29.

Kohn, K. & Hoffstaedter, P. (2017) Learner agency and non-native speaker identity in pedagogical lingua franca conversations: insights from intercultural telecollaboration in foreign language education, Computer Assisted Language Learning, 30:5, 351-367, DOI: <u>10.1080/09588221.2017.1304966</u>

Moschenbacher, H. (2016). Inclusion and foreign language education: what linguistics can contribute. *International Journal of Applied Linguistics* 167:2 (2016), 159–189. doi 10.1075/itl.167.2.03mot

Widdowson, H. G. (1994). The ownership of English. *TESOL Quarterly*, 28(2), 377–389. doi: 10.2307/3587438

# Kyeong-Ouk Jeong, Hwa-Seon Kim\*

Hannam University, Daejeon, South Korea \*Pai Chai University, Daejeon, South Korea

monicakyeongouk@hotmail.com, hermes925@pcu.ac.kr

# A Study on the use of YouTube-based data curation to support learner-directed writing education

# Bio data



Kyeong-Ouk Jeong is a professor at the Department of English Education, Graduate School of Education, Hannam University, South Korea. Her main research interests include CALL, m-learning, e-portfolio, EFL pre-service teacher education, learner motivation, and cooperative learning. She serves as vice president of The Korean English Education Society. She has served on the editorial board of *International Journal of Contents* and also on various boards and committees of academic associations and international

conferences.



Hwa-Seon Kim is a professor at the Department of Liberal Arts Education, Pai Chai University, Korea South. Her main research interests include CALL, data-based writing education, crowdsourcing for collaborative writing, and digital storytelling. She has served on the editorial board of the Daejeon Artists' Association and *Journal of Child and Adolescent Literature*. She is also an author of many creative books and literary criticism.

# Abstract

The purpose of this study is to present the instructional strategies of utilizing YouTubebased digital information for data curation in the university writing education and to explore the impact of implementing interactive and collaborative writing activities using the social media within the discourse community. This study is based on an advanced writing course titled with Global Citizenship and Writing as Communication from a university in the middle part of Korea. The most important tasks in this course are for the students to search and share digital data from the various online sources such as YouTube within their discourse learning community and then to write articles in relation to the global citizenship through the digital data curation procedures. This study tries to propose a solid example and instructional strategies of applying digital curation or data curation to university writing education.

# **Conference Paper**

## Introduction

With the integration of the new digital technology into the education field, traditional educational resources have been translated into interactive digital forms through the use of various digital authoring tools (Neo & Neo, 2004). Since digital literacy has been emerging as an important ability for this era, the use of digital information and technology has played an essential role in transforming the pedagogical environment for writing education. This shift in curriculum development and syllabus design has enabled teachers to implement and integrate new digital technological elements into the course contents in order to support the multisensory educational environment for the students from the new digital generation. Recently, among educators, the utilization of digital resources from YouTube has been considered as an effective and innovative instructional techniques and

strategies. YouTube is a video-creating and -sharing website and has been also regarded as the effective and innovative teaching and learning platform to provide users with creative and dynamic opportunities while they engage not only in viewing, creating, uploading, and distributing videos but also in sharing ideas and digital contents (Alwehaibi, 2015). YouTube can be a powerful instrument which can enhance language learning both inside and outside of the classrooms. Digital materials on YouTube can be integrated into classroom learning as authentic realia to inspire intercultural learning, enrich exposure to diverse forms of language, and support genuine language development (Park, 2017). Educators can consider syllabus design using reading and writing activities based on video clips from YouTube (Watkins & Wilkins, 2011).

Writing activity is an act of restructuring the existing knowledge and giving the new value to it by adding the writer's point of view. Recently, the use of YouTube has been remarkably growing, so university students rely on digital contents from YouTube in order to access background knowledge and search for writing topics and resources. Therefore, it is necessary for educators to encourage students to realize the advantageous use of the digital information for effective writing education. In writing activities of this digital era, the process of approaching writing resources and exploring topics is very similar to the process of approaching and analyzing data and reusing the data. This process can be described as digital curation or data curation (Faniel, Minor, & Palmer, 2015). The method of digital data curation can be an effective method for writing education, yet there is no such research result in implementing digital data curation into the field of writing education. In this paper, a data curation method is proposed for interactive learning for the college writing course in which students are encouraged to collect, analyze, and archive YouTubebased digital data for their interactive writing activities. University students are using Facebook, YouTube, blogs, or various social networks on a daily basis, so these interactive multimodal channels can be implemented as effective learning and teaching platforms for the students to search and preserve digital information for their writing resources.

The purpose of this study is to explore the use of interactive multimedia learning for college writing education and to present the instructional strategies of utilizing YouTube-based digital information for data curation in class writing. This study aims at proposing a case of university writing education that reflects the paradigm shift in writing environment. As the information service in this digital era has been diversified, and educators have also tried to utilize digital information actively, this study may present a concrete example of applying digital curation or data curation to college writing education.

## **Related work**

The standpoint of writing education shifts from a formal view to a cognitive view and then to a social view again. The use of digital information and technology has also played an essential role in transforming the pedagogical environment for writing education. Writing is regarded not as a cognitive act but as a process of negotiating meaning in the environment, relation, and discourse community in which the individual belongs. This social view of writing education emphasizes the fact that writing is cooperation and dialogue between individuals (Oh & Kim, 2017). From this point of view, it has become difficult for students to obtain sociocultural background knowledge only based on print media, so the integration of visual media into writing practice can no longer be viewed as negative. Since writing education has been changing in a way that positively connects the time and society, it is essential for both the students and educators to have an interest in sociocultural issues (Fulkerson, 2005). With the development of the new digital technology in the every field of the society, college students usually search digitalized archives of the digital social media platform when they are doing assignments or team projects. Techno-savvy college students prefer surfing the web, social media, or YouTube in order to find a variety of learning materials to visiting libraries or reading books. Since 2016, the use of YouTube has increased for more than three times in South Korea, and YouTube has emerged as the top digital application among Korean users of all age groups (Sung, 2018). Figure 1 shows the statistical data on time analysis for the use of digital social media platforms.



Figure 1. The time analysis per month of Korean Android app usage

Especially, Korean teens and twenties spent some 7.6 billion minutes on the YouTube during the month of April 2018 (Doo, 2018). The use of digital devices has also become inseparable part of their daily life for university students in Korea. Therefore, educators have tried to find ways how to convert their students' enthusiastic use of digital contents and smart devices into pedagogical realms. Educators have searched ways how to integrate the advantageous features of the digital content of YouTube in order to customize the motive and interest of their digital-wise college students. Thanks to their endeavor, among educators, YouTube has recently been considered as an effective platform that has a great potential to enrich the procedure of language learning and teaching with the diverse and innovative ways. Research results have revealed that the integration of YouTube can assist language learners not only to develop their language skills (Alimemaj, 2010; Comac, 2008; Derewianka, 2008) but also support them to acquire valuable resources and content knowledge (Park, 2017). The digital contents from YouTube can also be served as an effective channel to start discussions and develop ideas for writing tasks (Ghasemi, 2011; Jyun & Hong, 2010; Nejati, 2010; Rennie, 2012).

The procedures of writing activities of this digital era can be interpreted as the process of collecting, analyzing, and using data, which is similar to the process of digital curation or data curation (Faniel, Minor, & Palmer, 2015). Digital curation is an archiving activity that collects, manages and provides digital resources. Since the term, digital curation, was first introduced in 'Digital Curation: digital archives, libraries and e-science seminar' in 2001 in London, interest in digital curation has been increasing (Beagrie & Pothen, 2001). Originally, the term curation refers to collecting, preserving and exhibiting art works, but recently it has been used more broadly. Since a lot of libraries, archives, and museum materials are expanding into digital cultural heritage including data, there is a growing interest in digital curation in the various fields of the society (Gregory & Guss, 2011). Thus, the data-curated writing method can be suggested as the innovative instructional strategy for the college writing course through which learners are encouraged to collect, analyze, and archive YouTube-based digital contents for their interactive writing activities. The procedure of data- curated writing activities can be divided into several cyclic stages. Figure 2 shows the cycles of interactive writing activities within the discourse community using digital data curation.



Figure 2.The cycles of interactive writing activities using data curation

#### Research context and procedure of classroom implementation

This study is based on an advanced writing course titled with Global Citizenship and Writing as Communication from a university in the middle part of Korea. This course is a compulsory course for liberal arts education. For the course, the global citizenship is served as a keyword for the students to discuss various issues in the global reality and express their thoughts and opinions. The course objectives aim to cultivate college students' communication skills by discussing various topics so that college students living in the global era can develop the sense of the global citizenship. The most important task in this course is for the students to search and share digital data from the various online sources such as YouTube within their discourse learning community and then to write articles in relation to the global citizenship through the digital data curation procedures. Figure 3 shows the classroom implementation of data-curated interactive writing activities.



Figure 3. The process of classroom implementation for data curated interactive writing activities

In this class, students are good at using the Internet or digital devices and exploring various multimedia from YouTube, so they can actively utilize YouTube to investigate various issues about the global society. Students search YouTube and analyze the digital materials about the issues that they want to write and then make video outlines for the topic they should write. These video outlines created by the students correspond to the outlines of the articles that the students actually should write. The most important aspect of creating digital outlines and uploading them on the web is that these data can be served as valuable digital archives. Next semester, these digital curated data will be provided for the students who are going to take the same class. Figure 4 shows the example of digital contents that the students create and share for their writing project on YouTube or the course LMS.



Figure 4. Examples of digital data that students create and upload to Smart LMS

Students access the existing YouTube data in order to write about global citizenship and then they search and analyze the data in order to create new digital contents related to the writing topics. It is important that the newly created data will be able to be recycled as important digital content resources for the learners of the next semester. In the process, students - as a member of the discourse community - become interested in a variety of issues in the global society and can have the experience of expressing their interests through written and visual modes. In the next semester, the students who will take the same course, Writing Communication with the Global Citizens, also enter the discourse community and analyze the digital content resources created by the students of the previous semester and then construct a recurrent structure that creates new contents for the students of the following semester. Through this cyclical structure, they constitute a learning community while developing social data for student-directed writing practice. This writing process can also provide the students with the opportunity to learn about membership of a discourse community as a global citizen. Students can engage in selfdirected writing activities as a member of the discourse community through the experience of YouTube based data curation.

## Discussion and conclusion

To find out students' awareness of using digital video materials from YouTube for their data curated interactive writing activities, questionnaire survey was conducted for the 55 students who enrolled in this writing course. The purpose of the survey is to investigate how the students use digital contents when they participate in the writing tasks and what they think about integrating YouTube-based digital materials and data curation process into their writing activities. As a result of the study, most of the students respond that they prefer to explore digital content materials from social networks when they search ideas for writing materials. They also respond that the data-curated writing procedures are informative and motivating. The results can confirm the idea that the use of data-curated digital archives on YouTube can support students to explore and share ideas for their successful learning tasks of the writing course and help them become members of the mutual learning community. It is shown that incorporating YouTube-based digital contents for writing activities can be a new instructional strategy that adopts digital data curation for creating digital archives. From this study, it is suggested that college writing education should reflect the students' needs and preference for digital learning and seek more innovative teaching and learning tactics to promote their learning motivation.

## References

Alimemaj, Z. (2010). YouTube, language learning and teaching techniques. AngloHigher, 2(3), 10-12.

Alwehaib, H. O. (2015). The impact of using YouTube in EFL classroom on enhancing EFL students' content Learning. Journal of College Teaching & Learning, 12(2), 121-126.

Beagrie, N., & Pothen, P. (2001). Digital curation: digital archives, libraries and e-science seminar. Ariadne, 30. Retrieved from http://www.ariadne.ac.uk/issue30/digital-curation/

Comac, L. (2008). Using audioblogs to assist English language learning. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 21(2), 181-198.

Derewianka, B. M. (2008). Venturing beyond YouTube: Learning the language of appraisal. Tesol in Context, 18(2), 42-58.

Doo, R. (2018). YouTube emerges as top app among Korean users. The Korea Herald. Retrieved from http://www.koreaherald.com/view.php?ud=20180515000689

Faniel, I. M., Minor, D., & Palmer, C. L. (2015). Putting research data into context: Scholarly, professional, and educational approaches to curating data for reuse. Proceedings of the American Society for Information Science and Technology, 51(1), 1-4.

Fulkerson, R. (2005). Composition at the turn of the twenty first century. College Composition and Communication, 56(4), 654~687.

Ghasemi, B. (2011). Utube and language learning. Procedia, 28, 63-67.

Gregory L., & Guss, S. (2011). Digital curation education in practice: Catching up with two former fellows. The International Journal of Digital Curation, 6(2), 176-194.

Jyun H-Y., & Hong, H-G. (2010). Students' perceptions on Chemistry I Class using YouTube video clips. Journal of the Korean Chemical Society, 54(4), 465-470.

Nejati, M. (2010). Annals of Language and Learning. London: Universal.

Neo, T., & Neo, M. (2004). Classroom innovation: Engaging students in interactive multimedia learning. Campus-Wide Information Systems, 21(3), 118-124.

Oh, Y-H., & Kim, H-S. (2017). The present of writing education in the 21st century and prospect through humanistic investigations. Culture and Convergence, 39(5), 481-482.

Park, Y-R. (2017). Teaching with YouTube video clips in the college classroom: Providing background knowledge to English newspaper articles. STEM Journal, 18(1), 207-231.

Rennie, F. (2012). E-Learning and Social Networking Handbook. London: Routledge.

Sing, K. W. (2018). YouTube ranks 1st in S. Korea for time of use per month. Retrieved from http://www.pennmike.com/news/articleView.html?idxno=3094

Watkins, J., & Wilkins, M. (2011). Using YouTube in the EFL classroom. Language Education in Asia, 2(1), 113-119.

# Goh Kawai

Hokkaido University, Sapporo, Japan

goh@kawai.com

# Electronics for CLIL and STEM in EFL

## Bio data

Goh Kawai is a professor of educational engineering at Hokkaido University, Center for Language Learning. Goh designs online learning systems for autonomous or blended learning. Goh has a BA in linguistics, an MA in educational technology, and a PhD in information and communication engineering. Goh worked at Xerox PARC, SRI International, University of Tokyo, University of California Santa Cruz, Oregon Health & Science University, and University of Antwerp. Website is http://goh.kawai.com.

## Abstract

We report a case study of an EFL (English as a foreign language) course that used CLIL (content language integrated learning) for STEM (science technology engineering mathematics) intended for college freshmen in Japan having English language proficiency at CEFR (common European frame of reference) A2 or B1 levels. Part of the course material was from USA amateur radio license examinations, which contains questions on electronic engineering and legal regulations. Amateur radio is within reach of many high school students and above. Learners seeking careers on the world stage may benefit from this entry-level learning experience that shows learners the types of knowledge needed to become practicing engineers in society. Before class, learners learned about amateur radio by hearing, saying, reading, and writing material on an online learning system. During class, learners engaged in conversations that focused on phraseology and task completion.

## **Conference** paper

## Motives and requirements

We begin this report by stating the needs and motives of our learners, and the design requirements of our learning experiences. The remainder of this paper describes our materials and methods, followed by results and discussion.

At our university in Japan, our ELLs (English language learners) are freshmen having English language proficiency at CEFR (common European frame of reference) A2 or B1 levels. 75 percent of our 2600 students major in technical fields. ELLs seeking careers in engineering are motivated to use practical language (such as technical terminology) and sources of technical information (such as technical data and engineering standards). Our ELLs desire to take courses in EFL (English as a foreign language) that teach how to say phrases in technical contexts and to quickly find accurate information. To meet this need, and to allow our ELLs to socially succeed, we offer courses that use CLIL (content language integrated learning) for STEM (science technology engineering mathematics; Li, 2018; Yidi, 2018).

Engineers are professionals who possess knowledge of engineering theory and technology, plus knowledge of legal requirements and practical standards for applying that engineering knowledge. To meet these objectives, we include material from USA amateur radio license examinations (FCC, 2019; ARRL, 2019b). License exams for amateur radio (also known as ham radio) contain questions on electrical and electronic engineering theory (such as

Ohm's law), application of theory (such as choosing material for constructing antennas), and questions on rules and regulations (such as radio frequencies that we may transmit on). The questions and answers are publicly available, and are collectively known as the question pool (the questions in the license exam are randomly chosen from the pool).

Our engineering freshmen are familiar in their L1 with electrical and electronic theory, certainly at the lowest license level (the technician class license) and, for many students, even at the highest license level (the amateur extra class license). Familiarity with the theory allows ELLs to quickly grasp technical terminology (for example, our ELLs learn in a few minutes how to say and answer questions like "calculate the oscillation frequency of the following LCR circuit" in L2). This means that for electrical and electronic theory, the bulk of learning is L2 vocabulary. Few theoretical concepts are introduced. This area of learning is STEM but hardly CLIL (if it is, it is of content-specific vocabulary and phrases).

Few ELLs are familiar with practical applications of theory in radio telecommunications, so they need more time to understand the content. For example, students who have learned the theory only in books do not know what resistors look like (they take many shapes and sizes) and have no idea how to read resistance values printed on the packaging (some are numbers, some are colored bands). Engineering students are excited to learn new practical knowledge, partly because much of it is standardized internationally. Our ELLs learn through L2 knowledge that they can use in L1. This area of learning is STEM and CLIL of applied theory and practical technology.

Almost none of our ELLs have ever seen even in their L1 the law, rules, regulations, and codes pertaining to electrical and electronic engineering. Engineers are rarely delighted with legal issues, but grudgingly accept their importance. Our ELLs want to know where to find information on legal requirements, electrical codes, professional standards, and best practices (the last refers to design and implementation decisions that are considered common sense in the industry, and that are often legally encouraged although not mandatory). Because many of our ELLs have been trained in the GT (grammar translation) method, they need to read the entire L2 material and convert it into L1 before they can summarize it or find relevant information in it. We seek to train scanning (British Council, 2019a) and skimming (British Council, 2019b) so that ELLs can quickly find relevant parts of the document that they should read in depth. Our ELLs are not asked to memorize rules and regulations, because they are mostly irrelevant to college study. This area of learning is CLIL of reading strategies (that is, of meta skills). CLIL of law does not take place beyond becoming initiated into the format and writing style of legal documents that students will encounter later in their professions.

All our ELLs are capable of online learning because they take compulsory courses that use it. Many ELLs prefer blended learning (that is, a combination of online asynchronous learning and face-to-face real-time learning). Blended, flipped learning (Bergmann & Sams, 2012) allows active learning in the classroom. The passive or independent learning tasks can take place outside of class at times and places of the student's choosing. The active or interactive learning tasks can take place inside of class. Students happily complete homework as long as they are graded. Truth be told, our typical student is less concerned of learning the subject matter than earning high grades. The wily instructor guides students towards studying by offering many tiny rewards to many tiny tasks (but grading many tasks accurately and fairly can be labor intensive). Online learning or active learning do not save time or money. Instead, they help students achieve more by spending more time and thought.

#### Materials and Methods

#### Learners and course format

Our students were 93 university freshmen having English language proficiency at CEFR A2 or B1 levels. 63 students were engineering majors interested in learning electrical and electronic engineering through L2. 30 students were law and business majors interested in either electronics or law pertaining to technology.

Each class period lasted 90 minutes. Classes met 1 time per week for 15 weeks. Before each class, students accessed an online learning system to complete flipped learning assignments that prepared them for the next class. During class, students spoke with instructors, TAs (teaching assistants), and classmates. Students took midterm and final exams.

We designed learning activities using the 4C/ID model (van Merriënboer, Clark, de Croock, 2002). This model allows us to build upon simple skills that culminate in complex skills. The learning objective is language proficiency (a complex skill), while learners perceive their assignments as filling in blanks or saying short utterances (simple skills). Our course is designed such that it starts with simple skills which gradually integrates them in more complex activities.

#### Language material

We used the FCC question pool (ARRL, 2019a), the US CFR (code of federal regulations; FCC, 2019), and a UK website that teaches electronics (Coates, 2018).

We prefer to include material written by other people. Exposing learners to a variety of terminology and writing formats trains learners to understand various documents and utterances. Conversely, if we were to write all our material, our learners would be exposed to only one kind of terminology. Reliance on the publications of others, however, increases the risk of material becoming unavailable or outdated.

We mixed American and British English for the following 2 reasons.

- Juxtaposing US and UK terminology shows to our learners that language varies within a technical field (e.g., "antenna" vs "aerial", "commercial power" vs "mains", "ground" vs "earth", "wrench" vs "spanner"). Some south-east Asian countries (where some of our graduates go to work) use UK terminology.
- (2) We wish to minimize the financial burden on our students. We found a UK website that teaches electronics for free. While the FCC question pool and some study guides are free (Benson, 2018; Chinn, 2016; eHam, 2016; Ham Radio School, 2018; Kemp, 2014; Tiley, 2016, Twigger, 2018), many study guides are not (ARRL, 2015; ARRL, 2016; ARRL, 2018; Romanchik, 2015; West, 2015a; West, 2015b; West, 2016).

#### **Reading skills**

ELLs practiced how to skim and scan. Students implicitly know how in L1. By learning the fairly rigid structure of technical and legal documents, implicit knowledge shifts to explicit knowledge, and students experience using it in L2. Shown below are examples of instruction intended to make implicit knowledge explicit.

(1) Explanation of skimming

----

Skimming means reading text quickly to get a rough idea or summary. Instead of reading the whole text, we look at the title, introductions, and any diagrams and subheadings.

To summarize technical documents, we read 2 parts -- the beginning and the end. Technical documents have a common structure: (1) say what you will explain, (2) explain what you will explain, and (3) say what you explained. Parts (1) and (2) summarize the document. Read them to learn roughly what the text is about.

To read a level deeper, read the first and final sentences of each paragraph, because the core message is often located there.

Speed is important for skimming. Get a general idea of what the text is about.

(2) Explanation of scanning

----

Scanning means reading text quickly to find specific information, such as figures or names. Instead of reading the whole text, we search for keywords (such as technical terms) to find the part of the text we need to read.

Scanning is similar to using a "search" function in computer software.

Once we find the keyword in the text, we read the section that contains the keyword in order to learn more about the keyword.

Assignments on the online learning system guided students to skim and scan. Here are examples:

(1) This question asks about electrical conductors and insulators. The student is directed to a section in Coates (2018), and asked some fill-in-the-blank questions.

Find the section headers. Read sentence 1 (the 1st sentence) of each section. Read fast. Do not stop to look up words in the dictionary. Read the words you know. Type words that best fit each blank below. Do not worry if your choice of words does not exactly match my suggested answers. As long as you understand, you are fine.

Electrical conductors are materials that allow electric current to \_\_\_\_\_\_ through them. Metal conductors are often made of \_\_\_\_\_, aluminum, and some alloys. Conductive gases are gases that can \_\_\_\_\_ current. Insulators are materials that prevent the \_\_\_\_\_ of electric current.

(2) This question asks about the reasons in a court ruling. The student is given a court ruling, and asked to some multiple-choice questions.

US federal law takes precedence over (that is, overrules or is superior to) state and local law. When federal law and state law disagree, then federal law prevails (that is, wins). Similar legal hierarchy exists between state law and city ordinances.

Look at the file "Final Judgment". In the main text of the document, look for the sentence containing the phrase "DECLARES" in uppercase (that is, capital letters) and the phrase "preempted" in lowercase (that is, small letters).

What can be inferred from this sentence?

- (a) the court declares accommodation for the city
- (b) the defendant preempted amateur communication
- (c) the city ordinance is overruled by federal regulations
- (d) the plaintiff is unreasonable

#### Writing skills

ELLs prepared 2 kinds of phrases for saying in class. Both kinds were written on the online learning system before class.

- (1) Engineering questions and answers based on the technical content in the reading material. For instance, "Look at the circuit diagram. If R1 is 50 ohms and R2 is 100 ohms, what is the combined value of R1 and R2?" During class, students picked from various circuit diagrams projected on the classroom wall, and asked other students to solve the problems.
- (2) Non-engineering, small talk passages. ELLs wrote 130-word passages on a different topic each week (e.g., your home town, a restaurant you recommend, should students work part-time?). Students wrote comments to each other's posts, and talked about these topics in class.

#### Listening skills

ELLs listened to recorded or streamed audio transmissions in CW (Morse code) and phone (voice). Examples of audio sources include amateur radio 2-way contacts (conversations between radio operators), WWV (a US government radio station that announces the time of day), and LAX approach (air traffic controllers talking to aircraft coming towards Los Angeles international airport).

ELLs were asked to distinguish between 1-way and 2-way transmissions (that is, broadcasts vs conversations) and between modes of transmissions (Morse code vs voice), but were not expected to understand or memorize the content of transmissions. The listening experience showed how signals can degrade over radio transmissions, and underscored the need to speak slowly and clearly using consistent phraseology in order to reduce ambiguity.

#### Speaking skills

During class, ELLs engaged conversations type (1) and (2) as shown in the "Writing skills" section above. The allocated time was 35 minutes each, with a break of 15 minutes in between to sing songs to learning linking and phonotactics (Suzaki and Kawai, 2017).

ELLs learned how to say mathematical equations in L2.

ELLs learned the ICAO phonetic alphabet, the way to say "A B C" as "alfa bravo charlie" (ICAO, 2019; not to be confused with IPA, 2019). In class, ELLs used the ICAO phonetic alphabet to spell their names to each other.

# **Results and Discussion**

#### Survey results

Our ELLs responded to an anonymous survey after their final exam, but before their grades were known.

Based on a 5-category responses (ELLs were shown a statement and asked to choose from "strongly agree", "somewhat agree", "neutral", "somewhat disagree", "strongly disagree"), our ELLs were satisfied with our course (46% of students were "very satisfied", 33% "somewhat satisfied"), did not regret taking the course (53% "very meanwhile", 29% "somewhat meanwhile"), found the content useful (59% "very useful", 28% "somewhat useful"), and believe that TAs improve our class (57% "very effective", 35% "somewhat effective"). Most students understood how to complete assignments (40% "very clear", 37% "somewhat clear"), felt that writing tasks exercised their vocabulary (36% "very good practice", 42% "somewhat good practice"), yet felt that the assignment load was heavy (41% "very heavy", 35% "somewhat heavy").

Perhaps surprisingly to European teachers and students, to the statement "Generally speaking, we should use more English, because language skills do not improve if we use Japanese all the time", a total of 14% of students' reactions were "neutral", "somewhat

disagree", or "strongly disagree", suggesting a weak but non-zero attachment to the GT method.

Overall, students were comfortable in our course (48% "This class is just right for me, and I feel comfortable", 41% "This class is slightly advanced for me, but I do not feel uncomfortable"), and enjoyed the learning experiences (46% "I enjoy almost all (100 percent) of activities", 42% "I enjoy about two-thirds (66 percent) of activities"). Apparently the course offerings excessively scared some students (59% "This class is much better than I expected", 25% "This class is slightly better than I expected").

Based on write-in responses (ELLs wrote what came to their minds), the top benefits of course included (1) talking only in L2 to many people, (2) learning wholly in L2, (3) chatting with TAs, and (4) singing songs. The worst aspects of our course included (1) heavy homework, (2) repetitive questions, especially on electronic theory, and (3) feeling shy talking with strangers.

We asked ELLs the question " Help next year's student decide. What is this class about? Who should take this class? Who should avoid this class? Your comment may appear in next year's syllabus (course offerings). You may write in either English or Japanese." Below are some responses written in L2 as-is.

In this class, you should talking in English but you have not to be worry. You can talk if you do your assignment.

Originally I didn't like speaking English and talking with unknown people. However! When I realized, I was looking forward to this class.

Students don't like classroom lecture such as sitting all the time should take thins class.

The students who like talking in English, want to improve their English comunication skills, and are interested in engineering should take this class. The students who dont't want to talk with strangers should not take this class.

This clas is for everyone, you do not mind your English skill .Let's enjoy conversation.

This class is for somebody who do not have courage to talk with foreign people but wants to enjoy English. Students can improve their English communication.

This class is for someone who want to raise one's English skills of English and the ability to communicate with someone. Someone who want to explain own opinion in English will be comfortable in this class. Someone who come to class only for some credits won't be comfortable and may be avoid.

Those who don't feel unconfortable to talk with strangers should take this class. However, it becomes chance for making new friends for everyone. I am not the person like this, but this class is interested for me and enjoyied this class.

We can learn technology in English. So students who are interested in technology and English can enjoy this class but students who are not interested in them cannot enjoy this class. Also students who take this class have an opoortunity of talking with friends and TAs, so they should talk friendly.

Who want to SPEAK English. Who have will to enjoy English class.

#### Subjective analysis and commentary

We were unable to measure the speed of skimming and scanning. We were, however, able to measure the accuracy of what we wanted our ELLs to skim and scan. Based on

introspective surveys, our ELLs (especially students who wished to avoid mistakes) spent considerable time reading the material we gave them.

The stability of the language material is a concern. The amateur radio question pool is publicly available, and remains unchanged until it is replaced with a new edition every 4 years. Some study guides are free, but unlike the question pool, study guides are the intellectual property of their owners. Japan's copyright laws require us to dynamically access them each time we use them, instead of statically reading downloaded material.

Unlike 15 years ago, our learners are friendly, gregarious, and eager to talk (a contributing factor may be the government-mandated focus on English language conversation in middle schools and high schools). The learners are held back by lack of vocabulary. When learning technical English, the primary focus should probably be terminology.

One way to improve the student-to-instructor ratio (and perhaps to decrease the workload of grading homework) is by hiring or giving course credit to upperclassmen as mentors and courseware developers. We solidify our knowledge by imparting it to others. Students with high English language proficiency who are exempted from English language courses are prime candidates for coaching underclassmen. Freshmen receive quality training, and sophomores enhance their mentoring skills. Our courses will benefit from courseware designed by students for students. The best ideas sometimes come from people closest to the learners. Learning is a creative democracy.

## References

ARRL (Amateur Radio Relay League). (2015). The ARRL general class license manual, 8th edition. Newington, CT, USA: ARRL

ARRL (Amateur Radio Relay League). (2016). The ARRL extra class license manual, 11th edition. Newington, CT, USA: ARRL

ARRL (Amateur Radio Relay League). (2018). The ARRL ham radio license manual, 4th edition. Newington, CT, USA: ARRL

ARRL (Amateur Radio Relay League). (2019a). Download or print amateur radio question pools. Retrieved from http://www.arrl.org/question-pools

ARRL (Amateur Radio Relay League). (2019b). Why should I get licensed? Retrieved from http://www.arrl.org/getting-licensed

Benson, F.L. (2018). NC4FB amateur radio. Retrieved from http://www.nc4fb.org/

Bergmann, J. & Sams, A., (2012). Flip your classroom: reach student in every class every day. Washington, DC, USA: International Society for Technology in Education

British Council. (2019a). Scanning. Retrieved from https://www.teachingenglish.org.uk/ article/scanning

British Council. (2019b). Skimming. Retrieved from https://www.teachingenglish.org.uk/ article/skimming

Chinn, R. (2016). Amateur radio practice exams. Retrieved from https://hamexam.org

Coates, E. (2018) Learn about Electronics. Retrieved from http://www.learnaboutelectronics.org/index.php

eHam. (2016). Ham exams. Retrieved from http://www.eham.net/exams/ FCC (Federal Communications Commission). (2019). Amateur radio service. 47 CFR (Code of federal regulations), Part 97. Ham Radio School (2018). Welcome to HamRadioSchool.com! Retrieved from http://www. hamradioschool.com/

ICAO (International Civil Aviation Organization) (2019). Alphabet -- Radiotelephony. Retrieved from https://www.icao.int/pages/alphabetradiotelephony.aspx

IPA (International Phonetic Association) (2019). The International Phonetic Alphabet and the IPA chart. Retrieved from https://www.internationalphoneticassociation.org/ content/ ipa-chart

Kemp, P. (2014). The teacher's guide to amateur radio instruction. Retrieved from http://www.arrl.org/instruction-getting-organized/

Li, Y. (2018). Aims and scope: International Journal of STEM Education. Retrieved from https://stemeducationjournal.springeropen.com/about

Romanchik, D. (2015). The no-nonsense, technician class license study guide for tests given between July 2014 and June 2018. Retrieved from http://www.kb6nu.com/ study-guides/

Suzaki, N. and Kawai, G. (2017) Encouraging blended learning via a group singalong activity for learning segmental and prosodic pronunciation features. TESOL-2017. Seattle, WA, USA

Tiley, J. (2016) Amateur radio level 1 technician license syllabus for the 2014 to 2018 question pool. Retrieved from http://www.vhfclub.org/downloads/License%20 instructor%20 materials/Instructor%20Guide.docx

Twigger, S. (2018). AA9PW amateur radio exam practice. Retrieved from http://aa9pw. com

van Merriënboer, J., Clark, R., & de Croock, M. (2002) Blueprints for Complex Learning: The 4C/ID-Model. Educational Technology Research and Development, 50(2), 39-64.

West, G. (2015a). Technician class 2014-2018 FCC element 2 amateur radio license preparation, 8th edition. Arlington, TX, USA: W5YI Group.

West, G. (2015b). General class 2015-2019 FCC element 3 amateur radio license preparation, 9th edition. Arlington, TX, USA: W5YI Group.

West, G. (2016). Extra class 2016-2020 FCC element 4 amateur radio license preparation, 7th edition. Arlington, TX, USA: W5YI Group.

Yidi, A. (2018). What is STEAM? Retrieved from http://stemtosteam.org

# Chao-jung Ko

The National University of Tainan, Tainan, Taiwan

dophmer@gmail.com

## The communication behaviors/styles of online users in crosscultural exchange

## Bio data

Chao-jung Ko is currently an assistant professor in the University of Tainan. Her research interests are in the fields of computer assisted language learning, cross-cultural communication, foreign language learning psychology, foreign language learners' writing and speaking skills development.

## Abstract

The development of new media technology increases interaction possibilities among people of different cultures. However, people of different cultures have different communication styles in cross-cultural communication. Those styles may influence the efficiency of their mutual communication. This study aimed to explore how Taiwanese students communicate with students of other cultures and how their communication behaviors influenced their perception of online communication.

The proposed study included 19 Taiwanese English-major students from a Taiwanese university. They participated in a 10-week online cultural communication exchange with students from Japan and Colombia. The data was collected from the students' online interaction postings and via an after-study survey. Content analysis was used to identify the Taiwanese students' online communication behaviors and to examine how those behaviors influenced their perception of communication with the students from the other two countries. The findings of the study will be reported in the presentation.

## **Conference paper**

#### Introduction

Nowadays, new media bring many possibilities for communication to people of different cultures. With their distinctive and unique nature, new media "[have] brought human interaction and society to a highly interconnected and complex level" (Chen, 2012, p.2). New media allow people to interact with others simultaneously by using individualized messages during the interaction. It not only affects the form and content of communicative messages, but also the way people understand each other during the communication process, particularly those from different cultural backgrounds. Communication media may impact mutual understanding between people of different cultures in different ways (Setlock, Fussell, & Neuwirth, 2004). How people of different cultural groups adapt and achieve mutual understanding becomes a great challenge in online communication.

For Chen (2012), thinking patterns, expression styles, and cultural context influence how people behave in online communication. The three factors are considered a manifestation of cultural values (Chen & Starosta, 2005). Some dimensions of cultural values, such as the distinct communication styles between high (e.g. Taiwan) and low context cultures, have encountered challenges with new media. Therefore, this study intended to investigate the following two research questions:

1. How do Taiwanese students communicate with students of other cultures in an

asynchronous, text-based, computer mediated-communication environment?

2. How do their communication behaviors influence their perceptions of online communication?

#### Methodology

The participants of this study were 19 Taiwanese English-major students who are currently studying at a university in Southern Taiwan. They took part in a 10-week online cultural communication exchange with students from Japan and Colombia in an asynchronous, text-based, communication setting. Their ages ranged from 20 to 23. All of them possessed basic computer skills and had social networking experience before the study.

The data was collected from the students' online interaction postings and via an after-study survey. Content analysis was used to analyze students' online interaction postings and SPSS software was used to analyze the after-study survey, in which the participants indicated their agreement with each item using a five-point Likert scale (1=strongly agree to 5= strongly disagree).

#### Findings

Regarding the first research question, the findings of the students' online interactions showed that when asked to give self-introduction, they seemed embarrassed to talk about themselves. Almost all of them shared general personal information (e.g. country (13 among 19), age (10), interests (17), the place where they live (7), major (7)) under the discussion of 'self-introduction' topic. Very few of them (6) posted their images in the discussion forum. Among the six who did, one used an avatar, and two used their Chinese names to represent themselves.

In their postings of other topics, they tended to write short messages. Instead of using words, most used images to assist in expressing their opinion. However, they rarely posted personal images (only 1). The images they posted were more about their pets, country sceneries, favorite singers, favorite movies, or food. They occasionally posted messages or images that were unrelated to the discussion topics.

The topics influenced the number of words they used in their postings. It appeared that participants were more comfortable discussing impersonal topics (e.g. hometown, culture) than personal topics (e.g. self-introduction), because the number of words in the former was greater than the number used in the latter. Familiarity with their exchange partners also had some effects on the length and depth of their discussions. Despite seeming to avoid sharing personal opinions, they expressed more after building relationships with some of the students from other countries through several postings. They also generated deeper discussion in their later postings. In addition to words, six participants used emoticons to help express emotions, while eight used emotional expression symbols (e.g. :) = smile).

Some common syntax types were found in their postings. For example, many of them used expressions such as "like ... too" or "not ... either" to show that they had something in common with their communication partners. Also most asked questions to keep the discussion ongoing. Their questions had several purposes—to discover more about others, to ask for others' opinions/thoughts, to ask for further information, to ask for suggestions or recommendations, and to ask for clarification.

Other syntax types that appeared in their records served the following purposes:

- Showing agreement *Example: I really agree with your opinions that we should do the job we love.*
- Showing admiration Example: I really admire what you do in your job.
- Expressing compliments *Example: The meaning of your name is beautiful.*

- Expressing appreciation Example: I really appreciate your thoughts.

All the above syntax types fall into the 'interactive' category of Rourke, Anderson, Garrison, and Archer (2001)'s template for assessment of social presence. In their template, the interactive responses were used to "build and sustain relationships, express a willingness to maintain and prolong contact, and tacitly indicate interpersonal support, encouragement, and acceptance of the initiator" (p.7).

The other syntax types that were found in the postings and could be classified into the interactive category were to give blessings and expectations, which were not presented in Rourke et al.'s template.

*Example: I sincerely hope that you can achieve your dreams. (give blessings) Example: I'm looking forward to your replying. (expectations)* 

In addition to the 'interactive' category, there are two other categories that indicate communicators' social presence in Rourke et al.'s template (2001)—affective and cohesive. Although most participants expressed their emotions frequently to show their affection, very few disclosed themselves in their postings. Moreover, only one who was from Hong Kong addressed her interlocutors by name in her postings. Also, one of them expressed appreciation in all her postings, which might appear odd to students of most Western countries.

The above findings indicate that the Taiwanese students shared some similar communication behaviors with Western students as the data in the study of Rourke et al. (2001) was situated in Western contexts. However, this study identified some differences that might cause communication difficulties between Taiwanese students and those from Western countries, which warrants further study.

As to the second research question about the impacts of the Taiwanese students' communication behaviors on their perceptions of online communication, the findings of the survey showed that, in general, they had good perceptions of this cross-cultural experience (Mean=2). And they thought most of their opinions were well received by students from other countries (Mean=2.29). However, they less strongly agreed that the communication could allow them to have clear perception of their communicators (Mean=2.76). Yet most agreed that the teacher's involvement could be beneficial to their perceptions of being a member of the community (Mean=2.12).

After comparing the results of the survey and interaction records, it was found that the students who used more strategies in their communication (e.g. use emoticons or expression symbols, use more syntax types, self-disclose more) had better perceptions of this communication experience and their partners. And those who used fewer strategies in their communication (e.g. never ask questions, give superficial or short messages, give replies or post messages late) tended to have worse perceptions of this experience and their partners.

In addition, the interaction records also showed that the Taiwanese students whose culture is high-context tended to send initial replies to the postings including images after the start of a new topic. The postings with more images seemed to attract more attention. However, they didn't necessarily put the same number of images in their original postings.

#### Conclusion

The above discussion suggests that although the Taiwanese students are from a highcontext culture, they share some common communication styles with others from lowcontext cultures in an asynchronous, text-based, computer mediated-communication environment. And some seem to use more strategies to keep the communication interactive. However, they use fewer strategies to maintain affection and cohesion in communication, which might affect their perceptions of online discussion. Due to its small scale, the results of the current study may not be generalizable. In addition, this study only looked into how Taiwanese students' communication behaviors influence their perceptions of online communication. Future researchers could examine how the communication behaviors of students from other cultures influence their online communication, which should be beneficial to mutual understanding in cross-cultural communication. Finally, this study didn't examine how this exchange experience impacted the involved students' language skills. Future studies could look at the aspect of language skills as performed by learners in cross-cultural exchanges.

## References

Chen, G. M., & Starosta, W. J. (2005). Foundations of Intercultural Communication. Lanham, MD: University Press of America.

Chen, Guo-Ming. (2012). "The impact of new media on intercultural communication in global context." China Media Research, 8(2), 1-10. Available at: http://www.wwdw.chinamediaresearch.net/index.php/back-issues?id=54

Rourke, L., Anderson, T., Garrison, D. R., & Archer, W. (2001). Assessing social presence in asynchronous text-based computer conferencing. International Journal of E-Learning & Distance Education, 14, 1–18.

Setlock, L. D., Fussell, S. R., & Neuwirth, C. (2004). Taking it out of context: collaborating within and across cultures in face-to-face settings and via instant messaging. In Proceedings of the 2004 ACM conference on Computer supported cooperative work (pp. 604-613). ACM.

# Xiaofang Kuang, Weiwei Yan, Bo Sun, Yuanyuan Lv\*, Juan Yang

Sichuan Normal University, Chengdu, China \*Experimental School of Sichuan Normal University, Chengdu, China

fangkwong@foxmail.com, Juan\_yang@foxmail.com

# A comparison of the machine learning technique-based computational models of eye movement data

# Bio data



X. F. Kuang is a postgraduate student in the Department of Computer Science at Sichuan Normal University, China.



W. W. Yan is a postgraduate student in the Department of Computer Science at Sichuan Normal University, China.



B. Sun Received his Master's Degree in Foreign Languages and Applied Linguistics from University of Electronic Science and Technology of China, in 2006. He is a lecturer in the College of Fundamental Education at Sichuan Normal University, China. His research interests include second language acquisition and psycholinguistics.



Y. Y. LV is a language teacher in Experimental School of Sichuan Normal University, China.



J. Yang Received her PhD in Computer Science from Southwest University, China, in 2007. She is a professor in the Department of Computer Science at Sichuan Normal University, China. Her research interests include computational models in language acquisition, simulations in e-learning, and learning data analysis.

# Abstract

When studying the ecology of the learner, it is necessary to pay attention to the learner's cognitive ability. Attention-control is a key cognitive ability in second language learning, because it is considered as a necessary and sufficient condition for conversing input to intake. Computational modeling of attention control can reveal varied cognitive mechanisms in L2 learning, and provide accurate quantitative evidence to support computer-assisted behavior control and training. Therefore, the computational models based on eye-movement data require accurate simulation and sufficient interpretation of the attention-control patterns. In this paper, we compare the performance of seven commonly used eye-movement-data analyzing methods based on a data set composed of 16 elementary school students' eye-movement records. To reveal the attention-transfer patterns, the data processing technique is required to fit the eye-movement data, as well as to explain the patterns that correlate with the specific goals. Thus, the evaluation of the referred techniques should be considered in two facets; the regression and predicting accuracy of the data, and the causal-result explaining ability of the data and a specific goal. The results show that, among the referred techniques, the prediction model from Decision Trees algorithms can generate the most intuitive explanatory rules of the behaviors, and at the same time achieves the prediction accuracy of 64.29%.

## **Conference paper**

## Introduction

Education can be seen as an ecosystem (Brown, 2000; Bernat, 2008). Elements such as teachers, students, teaching media, and teaching resources interact with each other and evolve into a dynamic ecological balance system. Larsen Freeman believes that language learning can be considered as a complex ecosystem (Cameron & Larsen-Freeman, 2007; Larsen-Freeman, 1997), which consists of two subsystems: cognitive ecosystem and social ecosystem (Larsen-Freeman, 2007; Freeman & Cameron, 2008; Larsen-Freeman, 1997). This is the inclusiveness of the current cognitive and social views of second language acquisition, and thus has a more comprehensive explanatory power for the nature of language and its development. However, regardless of cognitive ecosystem or social ecosystem, "cognition, consciousness, experience, embodiment, brain, self, human interaction, society, culture, and history are all inextricably intertwined in rich, complex, and dynamic ways in language" ("Five Graces Group" et al., 2009).

One way to balance learners ecologically is to promote personalized learning and focus on their cognitive-related abilities (Freeman, 2008). Individual factors that influence language learning include many cognitive individual differences, such as cognitive abilities which refer to understanding, perception, concentration, attention and memory (Yang et al., 2014). Attention is a critical factor in learning and information processing (Cardoso-Leite & Bavelier, 2014; Gottlieb et al., 2013), and many studies claimed that attention in second language acquisition (SLA) is a necessary and sufficient condition for converting input to intake for further mental processing (Ellis, 2005; Schmidt, 1990).

As a widely used method in psychology research (Cassimatis, 2005; Anderson et al., 2004), computational modeling is recommended for use in the study of complex language ecosystems (Cameron & Larsen-Freeman, 2007; "Five Graces Group" et al., 2009; Freeman & Cameron, 2008). Eye tracking, as a research method, has been used for over 100 years in the field of language learning (Jacob & Karn, 2003), and is a commonly used technique to monitor participants' attention-transfer and attention-maintain patterns (Stickler & Shi, 2017). The classic methods of eye-movement data processing are commonly classified as statistical techniques.

However, in recent years, machine learning techniques have been applied in building computational models for eye-movement data. Cop et al. (2017) examined how noun reading by bilinguals is influenced by the orthographic similarity with their translation

equivalents in another language through restricted maximum likelihood estimation (REML). Fernandes et al. (2017) used a computational approach based on machine learning algorithms (Naive Bayes, MLP, Support Vector Machine (SVM), K-nearest Neighbor, Decision Tree (C4.5), Random Forest) to model the decisions regarding euthanasia. In their research, they used WEKA software and NICeSim (SVM, MLP) tools. Baranes et al. (2015) constructed a model to predict the epistemic states (curiosity, confidence or surprise) through random forest algorithm, which took input a vector of eye-movement parameters. Dmitry et al. (2011) used Naive Bayes, Logistic Regression and Support Vector Machine algorithms to improve the accuracy of detecting mild cognitive impairment (MCI). The research collected the eye-movement data such as fixations, saccades, and re-fixations that occurred in the Visual Paired Comparison (VPC) task as the predicting models' parameters. However, the aforementioned machine learning techniques are mostly used in psychological research area; few studies are referred in SLA. Yang et al.(2018) used the SPADE algorithm to mine the different eye-movement trajectories of different students when they were required to implement an attention-control task.

In summary, applying machine learning techniques to build up computational models for eye-movement data is a main trend. In this paper, we compare the performance of the seven commonly used eye-movement-data analyzing methods based on a data set composed of 16 elementary school students' eye-movement records which were collected from a language listening task. Our purpose is to evaluate the referred techniques' predicting and explaining ability regarding the relationship between visual attention-control and a specific language ability that is considered in the SLA task.

#### **Data collection**

#### Voice-guided visual attention data collection

An eye tracking test was designed to investigate participants' attention-control ability in SLA. The eye tracking test was implemented through Tobii T120. Sixteen primary school students (8 boys, 8 girls) were invited to participate in the experiment, and their ages were 6-7 years old (Mean=6.31, SD=0.48). All participants were regular first-year students from a primary school in Chengdu, Sichuan Province, and performed in the normal range on their first language. The experiment was performed three times for each participant in total. We prepared an English reading audio (about 4 minutes) and slides with its corresponding written words, and participants were required to pay visual attention to the corresponded written words displayed on the screen when they were listening to the audio. The audio involved 12 slides; each slide contained one sentence and its corresponding oral reading material played 15% slower than the original speed of the recording, as illustrated in Figure 1. It should be noted that the words in the audio and slides were novel words for the participants to avoid the possible influences from the participants' different lexical management degree. To exclude the unexpected interferences maximally, words were shown in black and placed in a white background. Green highlighting blocks were used as a heuristic hint for the participants to control their attention to follow the pace of L2 audio.



Figure 1. The English video used in the eye tracking test

#### Set phonological awareness performance as an associated target

After the attention-control task, the students were asked to complete another task that examined their phonological awareness performance. It can be seen that the attention-control test was designed to collect the participants' attention-control data regarding the voice stimuli of L2. Specifically speaking, the voice stimuli of L2 in this test refer to the phonological features of the spoken English that were different to those in their first language (Mandarin). Thus, the performance of phonological awareness is designed as the goal function of attention-control experiment.

The phonological awareness task was designed as follows: 1) participants were asked to listen to a sentence first, then required to repeat the sentence; 2) each sentence needed to be repeated contains at least 7 words. Participants' repeating performance was computed through formula (1), in which  $PASR_{i,z}$  refers to student i's phonological awareness score rate (PASR) in the zth experiment,  $R_{i,j,z}$  refers to the number of words that student i repeated from sentence j in the zth experiment, and  $|S_j|$  refers to the length of sentence j. The PASR is a normalization of the participants' phonological awareness performance in each experiment.

$$PASR_{i,z} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{2} \frac{R_{i,j,z}}{|S_j|}$$
(1)

Since the machine learning algorithms used later are supervised classification algorithms, the labels are needed to be pre-set. In this paper, phonological awareness performance was the objective of attention-control, and therefore the labels were set like this: If  $PASR_{i,z} > ALL_z$ , it is marked as positive, otherwise negative. The  $ALL_z$  in formula (2) represents the average phonological awareness score of all participants in the zth task.

$$ALL_z = \frac{1}{16} \sum_{i=1}^{16} \text{PASR}_{i,z}$$
 (2)

## Comparison of the eye-movement-data processing techniques Eye-movement parameters selection

Lai et al. (2013) categorized eye-movement parameters into three scales: temporal, spatial, and count. Temporal scale includes measurements that indicate time spent in specific eye movements, such as total fixation duration, average fixation duration, and time to first fixation. Spatial scale includes measurements related to "locations, distances, directions, sequences, transactions, spatial arrangement or relationships of fixations or saccades", such as saccade length and fixation sequence. Count scale includes measurements that indicate the frequency of specific eye movements, such as total fixation count and inter-scanning count. In addition to gaze and scanning, pupil size and blink rate are other common eye-movement features (Alemdag & Cagiltay, 2018).

The stimulus materials in eye-movement experiments can be static materials (Pictures, PDF documents, etc.), and dynamic materials (Videos, external programs, etc.). Video is a commonly used stimulus material, but it is very difficult to divide an area of interest (AOI) in a video, especially if the visual elements in the video are very unevenly distributed. Methods of eye-movement data analysis require researchers to divide AOIs on stimulus materials, generate relevant eye-movement parameters for AOIs, and then use the some methods to analyze or model those parameters. Thus, based on the traditional AOI-division method, there is only one large AOI can be set in our experiment: the text area of the video. Nine parameters and descriptions generated from interest areas are shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Eye-movement parameters and descriptions

Parameters	Descriptions			
TFF	The time from the start of the stimulus displays until the test participant fixat			
	on the AOI for the first time (seconds);			
FB	Number of the times the participant fixates on the media before fixating on an			
	AOI for the first time (count);			
FFD	Duration of each individual fixations within an AOI (seconds);			
AFD	Average of duration of each individual's fixations within an AOI (seconds);			
TFD	Duration of all fixations within an AOI (seconds);			
FC	Number of the times the participant fixates on an AOI (count);			
AVD	Average of duration of each individual's visit within an AOI (seconds);			
TVD	Duration of all visits within an AOI (seconds);			
VC	Number of visits within an AOI (count);			

Note: Each visit refers to moving out of an AOI from the first gaze point to the next gaze point.

#### The machine learning methods

By employing machine learning techniques, complicated regression/prediction model should be constructed between the eye-movement feature and the goal function (label). In this paper, supervised classification algorithms were used to extract attention-transfer patterns and then predict students' phonological awareness ability in SLA. Supervised classification algorithms commonly used in eye-movement-data analysis are K-Nearest Neighbor (kNN), Nave Bayes (NB), Logistic Regression (LR), Decision Tree (C4.5), Random Forest (RF), Artificial Neural Network (ANN) and Support Vector Machine (SVM). In the study, we compared the performance of these seven methods. The eye-movement parameters used in this paper were mentioned in Table 1. About 2/3 of the data were taken as training set and 1/3 of them were used as test data. We used open-sourced software WEKA (Witten et al., 2016) as the tool to implement the classification task. The regression and prediction performance of the referred 7 kinds of techniques was shown in Table 2.

	Train	Train		Test	
	Accuracy	Precision	Accuracy	Precision	
LR	82.76%	82.35%	71.43%	70%	
NB	72.41%	78.57%	71.43%	83.33%	
ANN	86.21%	87.5%	78.57%	77.78%	
kNN	100%	100%	57.14%	62.5%	
C4.5	89.66%	84.21%	64.29%	66.67%	
RF	100%	100%	71.43%	75%	
SVM	75.86%	73.68%	64.29%	66.67%	

Note : Accuracy: the ratio of the number of samples correctly classified by the classifier to the total number of samples of a given test data set, Precision: the proportion of instances that truly belong to a class divided by the total instances classified as that class.

Unfortunately, among those techniques, only one algorithm (C4.5) is white box, and can generate the causal-result rules mentioned in the last section, while others are black-box techniques. Thus, compared with other methods, the method based on decision tree algorithm (such as C4.5) shows better performance, which produces decision tree rules (as illustrated in Figure 2) with the most intuitive behavioral interpretation rules, and achieves 64.29% prediction accuracy (as shown in Table 2). However, the rules generated by C4.5 did not have much value in practice, and it is still hard to build an explanation rule between children's attention-control behavior and their phonological awareness performance.



(a) Decision tree.

IF FixationCount <= 304 THEN decision=bad ELSE IF FixationCount > 304 IF VisitCount <= 12 THEN decision=good ELSE IF VisitCount > 12 IF FixationCount <= 324 THEN decision=good ELSE IF FixationCount > 324 THEN decision=bad

(b) Rules.

Figure 2. Decision tree rules from the learning algorithm

#### Discussion

To balance learners ecologically requires to make focus on learners' cognitive-related abilities, such as attention control. Machine learning techniques based computational modeling of the attention can provide re-balance strategies quantitatively. In this paper, 16 students' eye-movement records were used as attention-control data sets, and the performance regarding 7 kinds of machine learning-based computational models was compared.

Traditional statistical methods can only focus on a small number of eye-movement parameters associated with research hypotheses, and cannot quickly find large feature sets and feature combinations. However, machine learning-based computational models can generate more accurate regression/prediction relations between parameters and hypotheses, but with different explanatory ability. Although, the white-box technique named C4.5 in this paper can generate causal-result rules, it still cannot generate a guidance rule to restore the ecosystem balance for a learner. To reveal how attention-control correlates with a specific performance in SLA, more machine learning-based computational models of biological data should be explored, not only integrate with eye movement data, but also other biological data sources, such as electroencephalography (EEG), event-related potential (ERP) and electrocardiogram (ECG) , etc.

#### Acknowledgements

This paper is supported by the following funding: National Natural Science Foundation of China (61402309), and Natural Science Foundation of Sichuan (2018JY0312).

## References

Alemdag, E., & Cagiltay, K. (2018). A systematic review of eye tracking research on multimedia learning. Computers & Education, 125, 413-428.

Anderson, J. R., Bothell, D., Byrne, M. D., Douglass, S., Lebiere, C., & Qin, Y. (2004). An integrated theory of the mind. Psychological review, 111(4), 1036.

Baranes, A., Oudeyer, P. Y., & Gottlieb, J. (2015). Eye movements reveal epistemic curiosity in human observers. Vision Research, 117, 81-90.

Bernat, E. (2008). Beyond beliefs: Psycho-cognitive, sociocultural and emergent
ecological approaches to learner perceptions in foreign language acquisition. Asian EFL journal, 10(3), 7-27.

Brown, J. S. (2000). Growing up: Digital: How the web changes work, education, and the ways people learn. Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning, 32(2), 11-20.

Cameron, L., & Larsen-Freeman, D. (2007). Complex systems and applied linguistics. International journal of applied linguistics, 17(2), 226-239.

Cardoso-Leite, P., & Bavelier, D. (2014). Video game play, attention, and learning: how to shape the development of attention and influence learning? Current opinion in neurology, 27(2), 185-191.

Cassimatis, N. L. (2005). Integrating cognitive models based on different computational methods. In Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of the Cognitive Science Society (Vol. 27, No. 27).

Chen, S. C., She, H. C., Chuang, M. H., Wu, J. Y., Tsai, J. L., & Jung, T. P. (2014). Eye movements predict students' computer-based assessment performance of physics concepts in different presentation modalities. Computers & Education, 74, 61-72.

Cop, U., Dirix, N., Van Assche, E., Drieghe, D., & Duyck, W. (2017). Reading a book in one or two languages? An eye movement study of cognate facilitation in L1 and L2 reading. Bilingualism: Language and Cognition, 20(4), 747-769.

Dmitry, L., Cecelia, M., Zola, S. M., Buffalo, E. A., & Eugene, A. (2011). Detecting cognitive impairment by eye movement analysis using automatic classification algorithms. J Neurosci Methods, 201(1), 196-203.

Ellis, N. C. (2005). At the interface: Dynamic interactions of explicit and implicit language knowledge. Studies in Second Language Acquisition, 27(2), 305-352.

Fernandes, D. L., Siqueira-Batista, R., Gomes, A. P., Souza, C. R., Costa, I. T. D., Cardoso, F. D. S. L., . . . Cerqueira, F. R. (2017). Investigation of the visual attention role in clinical bioethics decision-making using machine learning algorithms. Procedia Computer Science, 108, 1165-1174.

Freeman, D. L., & Cameron, L. (2008). Research methodology on language development from a complex systems perspective. The Modern Language Journal, 92(2), 200-213.

Gegenfurtner, A., Lehtinen, E., Jarodzka, H., & Säljö, R. (2017). Effects of eye movement modeling examples on adaptive expertise in medical image diagnosis. Computers & Education, 113, 212-225.

Gottlieb, J., Oudeyer, P. Y., Lopes, M., & Baranes, A. (2013). Information-seeking, curiosity, and attention: computational and neural mechanisms. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 17(11), 585-593.

Hwang, W. Y., Li, Y. H., & Shadiev, R. (2018). Exploring effects of discussion on visual attention, learning performance, and perceptions of students learning with STR-support. Computers & Education, 116, 225-236.

Jacob, R. J., & Karn, K. S. (2003). Eye tracking in human-computer interaction and usability research: Ready to deliver the promises. In The mind's eye (pp. 573-605). North-Holland.

Juhasz, B. J., & Rayner, K. (2003). Investigating the effects of a set of intercorrelated variables on eye fixation durations in reading. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition, 29(6), 1312-1318.

Lai, M. L., Tsai, M. J., Yang, F. Y., Hsu, C. Y., Liu, T. C., Lee, S. W.-Y., Tsai, C.-C. (2013). A review of using eye-tracking technology in exploring learning from 2000 to 2012. Educational Research Review, 10, 90-115.

Larsen-Freeman, D. (1997). Chaos/complexity science and second language acquisition. Applied linguistics, 18(2), 141-165.

Larsen-Freeman, D. (2007). Reflecting on the cognitive–social debate in second language acquisition. The Modern Language Journal, 91, 773-787.

Schmidt, R. W. (1990). The Role of Consciousness in Second Language Learning1.

Stickler, U., & Shi, L. (2017). Eyetracking methodology in SCMC: A tool for empowering learning and teaching. ReCALL, 29(2), 160-177.

Witten, I. H., Frank, E., Hall, M. A., & Pal, C. J. (2016). Data Mining: Practical machine learning tools and techniques: Morgan Kaufmann.

Yang, J., Huang, Z. X., Gao, Y. X., & Liu, H. T. (2014). Dynamic learning style prediction method based on a pattern recognition technique. IEEE Transactions on Learning Technologies, 7(2), 165-177. doi:10.1109/TLT.2014.2307858

Yang, J., Qi, X. F., Yan, W. W., & Kuang, X. F. (2018). Attention allocation and transferring pattern mining in Chinese students invoking English. CALL your DATA: Proceedings of XIXth International CALL Research Conference, 372-376. Brugge:KU Leuven.

"Five Graces Group", Beckner, C., Blythe, R., Bybee, J., Christiansen, M. H., Croft, W., ... & Schoenemann, T. (2009). Language is a complex adaptive system: Position paper. Language learning, 59, 1-26.

# Chunlin Lei, Fulan Liu\*

Shanghai University of International Business and Economics, Shanghai, China <sup>\*</sup>Jiangxi Normal University, Nanchang, China

leichunlin@suibe.edu.cn; fulan.liu@yahoo.com

# The impact of guanxi, face and FLL self-concept on students' engagement in a WeChat-supported vocabulary learning environment

# Bio data

Chunlin Lei is an associate professor at the School of Foreign Languages, Shanghai



University of International Business and Economics. He has completed his PhD study at the University of Hong Kong and has been researching on computer-supported collaborative learning.



Fulan Liu is a professor at Jiangxi Normal University, China. She has obtained her PhD degree from the Education University of Hong Kong. Her research interest is second language acquisition and academic writing.

# Abstract

This study investigated the socio-cultural factors that influenced students' engagement in a WeChat-based English vocabulary learning platform. In a *Comprehensive English* class, a group of 21 Year-1 college students were required to use new vocabularies to make sentences and post them in their Wechat moments. They were also encouraged to read and comment on one another's postings, involving in an interactive process aiming to consolidate their vocabulary learning. The WeChat logs showed students participated differently in the environment, and the interview data indicated guanxi, face and Foreign Language Learning (FLL) self-concept are the major factors that influenced students' engagement, either positively or negatively, in the platform. Implications of the study are discussed.

# **Conference paper**

# Introduction

WeChat (Weixin or "微信" in Chinese) as a social media has gained great popularity among Chinese people and deeply changed their lives (Gan & Wang, 2015). In the college classrooms, students are often witnessed to play with their mobile phones, chatting with their friends or browsing news from the WeChat moments (friends space), which usually poses a major distraction or threat to classroom learning. As forbidding students from using mobile phones in class is neithr practical nor feasible, it is more fruitful to exploit the oppportunities of WeChat in support of students' learning, be it inside or outside the classroom.

With the ubiquity of technology in education, the benefits of networked computers or mobile phones in assisting language learning and teaching have been widely reported (Bax, 2003, 2011; Warschauer & Kern, 2000). However, research on the mechanisms behind the benefits is still under-investigated (Reinders & Stockwell, 2017), and studies shall not only focus on the advantages of technology, but also the affordances and constraints (ibid). Despite its popular use in China, WeChat is not originally designed for foreign language learning. There must be opportunities and challenges when WeChat is utilized as a learning platform/environment to facilitate a group of Chinese EFL learners' vocabulary learning.

Stockwell has rigorously investigated mobile phone-based vocabulary activities, and his main foci include a comparison of time spent on the task via mobile phones or computers (2007) as well as learners' usage patterns of mobile platforms (2010). In China, Wang (2018) conducted a quasi-experimental study examining the use of WeChat and English Learning Apps in support of students' vocabulary learning. The results showed different achievement groups had different preferences towards mobile learning and their performances on vocabulary assessment were difference as well. Nonetheless, Stockwell and Wang studies have not elucidated the deep mechanism that underpins students' engagement in or performance of the task. This study intends to investigate the socio-cultural dynamics that may influence students' engagement in the vocabulary learning activities in the WeChat-supported environment? and (2) What are the socio-cultural factors that may affect students' engagement in the platform?

# **Research Design**

This study was conducted in a Sino-British joint educational program at a university in Shanghai, China. A group of 21(11 females and 10 males) Year-1 students were registered in a course entitled *Comprehensive English*, which was delivered in a 90-minute session everyday from Monday to Friday over a 18-week long semester. *Comprehensive English* is a foundational course designed to strengthen students' competence in vocabulary, grammar and reading. The program students are mostly those who failed the Chinese Gaokao (Matriculation test), thus relying on the joint program to continue their study in higher education. As vocabulary learning is a primary task of the course and the students use mobile phones heavily in and outside the class, the teacher required the students to take adavantage of the WeChat for vocabulary learning. Specifically, students were equally divided into five groups (except for one group) and each member of the group needed to use three new vocabularies he/she learnt from the textbook to make sentence(s) and post those sentences in the Wechat moments (friends space) after class. Since WeChat moment is an open space where all friends (including classmates, teachers, even parents and relatives) have access, a students are therefore, encouraged to not only complete their own task but also read and give comments to their classmates' sentence-making. It is hoped, through these online activities, students can better understand the meaning of the vocabulary, the contexts in which the vocabulary is used, and more importantly, they learn from one another.

The data of this paper included (1) students' postings in the Wechat moments (sentencemaking, comments, responses, click of liking/appreciation, etc) throughout the semester, which provided a holistic picture of students' engagment in the environemnt; and (2) interviews with focus groups of students at the end of the instruction (N=9; each lasted for 20-25 minutes), which shed light on the socio-cultural dynamics that affected students' engagement in the WeChat-supported environoment.

#### Findings

#### Students' general engagement in the WeChat environment

We have kept the mobile phone logs to track students' participatory behaviors in the WeChat environment. Since sentence-making is a requried assignment for the course, all the students (n=21) did it accordingly. However, their postings vary in number and length. Some students diliberately put three vocabularies into one sentence thus made only one entry each time; and some students preferred to use one or two vocabularies in one

sentence and thus made two/three sentences/entries each time. In total, students made 571 sentences with a Mean of 27.19 and a SD of 8.84. One big incentive to use the platform is to encourage students' online interaction or peer comments on one another's sentence-making. However, the dataset revealed that students did not participate actively in these activities and they differed greatly in terms of receiving (Total N=99, M=4.71, SD=5.58) and giving (Total N=91, M=4.33, SD=4.75) peer comments. There is also a click-liking function in WeChat moment (showing appreciation to others' postings by simply clicking a heart-shaped button); it was found that even for the liking behavior, the number of clicks was sparse. Therefore, it constitued a line of inquiry to understand why students were engaged in such an uneven pattern.

#### The socio-cultural dynamics that affected students' engagement

Altogether, nine students, three from each of the high, middle, and low-level academic performance groups, were selected and invited to a semi-structured interview. The interviews focused on students' experiences, feelings and actual behaviours working on WeChat during the 18-week long instruction. The transcripts of the interview data were analysed and three main socio-cultural factors, namely, guanxi, face and learners' FLL self-concept, emerged that helped to explain students' varied engagement in the WeChat-supported vocabulary learning environment.

#### The impact of guanxi.

Guanxi has been defined as "dyadic relationships" based (often implicitly) on mutual interest and benefit (Yang, 1994). Usually, people are willing to offer a favor or help to those with whom they share good guanxi. This socio-cultural element has been deeprooted in China, and found its specific relevance for student engagement in this study. In the interviews, seven out of the nine students clearly expressed they have somewhat enjoyed "good guanxi" with their class instructor (Miss Q), which contributed enormously to their completion of the sentence-making assignment. "*Miss Q is nice and patient, just like my big sister, I never failed to finish her assignment although I may skip assignments given by other teachers* (Excerpt #1 SsLL1). Such a guanxi element is also reflected by a student-to-student relationship. For example, when explaining why peers' comments are sparse, SsHL2 said "*I only follow/comment on my friends with good guanxi ... we have different guanxi. For some you really do not care, and I won't bother writing feedback..."* (Excerpt #2, SsHL2). The WeChat logs did reveal that most students tended to interact within a smaller group size of 3-6 students, whom they regard as close friends or friends of good guanxi.

# The impact of face.

Leung & Chan (2003) defined face as "respect, pride, and dignity as a consequence of his/her social achievement and the practice of it". Chinese people usually have a strong consciousness towards face and face-keeping, face-gaining or face-losing are important concerns of their life. Students may feel encouraged to invest time and efforts for the environment because of face-gaining. "I often read my classmates' sentences, and it is not difficult for me to spot out their mistakes, mainly grammar [mistakes]; I feel haha [being proud], I can tell him [the student who committed the mistake] now... " (Excerpt #3, SsHL1); in addition, this high-achieving student hoped that "what I wrote [sentencemaking] could be the model of the class" (Excerpt #4). Obviously, doing something correctly aroused a sense of pride, and students' engagement enhanced with the practice of the face-gaining activities. Interestingly, the worry of face-losing or face-maintaining can also be the prompts for improved sentence-making in the WeChat environment. "There are so many friends who can read me ... when I do the sentence-making, I consult dictionaries... ask my roommates to check before I post" (Excerpt #5 SsML1). Likewise, when there is a threat of face-losing in public, a student (SsLL2) withdrew the idea of commenting on or clicking a liking button because if "you did nothing, you maintain face".

# The impact of FFL self-concept.

Learners' foreign language learning (FLL) self concept is defined as "an individual's selfdescriptions of competence and evaluative feelings about themselves as a foreign language learner (Mercer, 2011)". A learner's FFL self-concept is believed to exert great influence on his/her behaviours and impetus towards foreign language learning. In this study, WeChat offered a special space where every learning behaviour, be it good or bad, can be recorded and shown to many others openly. This function affected students' engagement either in a positive or negative way, depending on the student's FLL self-concept. For example, SsLL3 expressed that she "feel extremely uncomfortable" towards the vocabulary task, "How can you share some strange stuff [English sentence-making]' in the WeChat moment? It is a place you share your life, your travel, and food ..." (Excerpt #6). Accordingly, this student finished her assignment passively throughout the semester, and she did not give any comment to others and paid "almost no attention to others' postings at all". The interview probed further into the reasons and asked her to describe herself as an English language learner. She said, "I don't like English, you know, I often make mistakes in English, especially in writing ... I expect [that] use of Wechat is to relax me, not to make me nervous with English (Excerpt #7)". It seemed that SsLL3's passive involvement in the WeChat environment could be attributed to her weak, evasive FLL selfconcept. In contrast, a growing, progressive self-concept may enhance online engagement as SsML2 said "I don't feel ashamed when Prof. Z pinpoint my mistake in sentence-making in WeChat moment ... yes, people all know me [in WeChat friend circle], and they know I am making progress bit by bit " (Excerpt #8).

#### Implications

Technological tools such as WeChat can be harnessed to support student foreign language learning. The study showed that the pervasiveness and convenience of WeChat made the vocabulary learning activities possible among a group of college students and they accomplished their assignment accordingly. However, each tool has certain functions that may work or fail depending on their alignment with the pedagogical or socio-cultural dynamics in context. Not all students will find a technology-supported learning environment beneficial; sometimes, it can be detrimental, such as the case with the SsLL3 who has possessed an under-developed FLL self-concept. The paper seemed to highlight a need of a non-threatening, democratic learning atmosphere before and in the process of implementing technological tools. There also seemed a lot of opportunities when guanxi, face, and self-concept could be activated and worked positively towards learning and online engagement. It is hoped that this paper will shed light on how CALL can be designed more effectively aligning learning goals with socio-cultural dynamics for practitioners and course developers who are interested in using technologies.

#### References

Bax, S. (2003). CALL—past, present and future. System, 31, 13-28.

Bax, S. (2011). Normalisation Revisited: The Effective Use of Technology in Language Education" IJCALLT, 1 (2): 1-15.

Gan.C., & Wang. W. (2015). Uses and gratifications of social media: A comparison of microblog and WecChat. Journal of Systems and Information Technology, 17(4), 351-363.

Leung, T.K.P. & Chan, R.Y-k. (2003). Face, favor and positioning – a Chinese power game. European Journal of Marketing, 37: 1575-1598.

Mercer. S. (2011). Towards an Understanding of Language Learner Self-Concept. Springer Netherlands.

Reinders, H. & Stockwell, G. (2017). Computer-assisted second language acquisition. In: Loewen, S. & Sato, M. The Routledge Handbook of Instructed Second Language Acquisition, 361-365. New York: Routledge.

Stockwell, G. (2007). Vocabulary on the move: Investigating an intelligent mobile phone-

based vocabulary tutor. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 20(4), 365–383.

Stockwell, G. (2010). Using mobile phones for vocabulary activities: Examining the effect of platform. Language Learning & Technology, 14(2), 95–110.

Wang, C. (2018). Mobile learning pattern of English vocabulary in universities based on WeChat group and English Learning Apps of cell phone: A case study on parts of teachers and students in Shenyang University. Journal of Shenyang University (Social Science), 20(3), 350-355.

Warschauer, M. and Kern, R. (2000) Introduction: Theory and practice of network-based language teaching. In Warschauer, M. and Kern, R. (Eds.) Network-based language teaching: Concepts and practice. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Yang, M.M.H. (1994). Gifts, Favors, and Banquets: The Art of Social Relationships in China. Cornell University Press, Ithaca, NY, USA.

# Wenjin Li, Zhihong Lu

Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications, Beijing, China

liwenjins@bupt.edu.cn; luzhihong@bupt.edu.cn

# Effect of AWE-based writing on EFL learners' oral performance at different proficiency levels

# Bio data

Wenjin Li is currently a graduate student in Applied Linguistics of Foreign Languages Department at Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications in China. Her research interests include computer-assisted language learning and sociolinguistics.

Zhihong Lu is Professor of Foreign Languages Department at Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications where she has been involved in online teaching since 2000. She is author of over 40 research publications and member of the National Foreign Languages Teaching Advisory Board under the Ministry of Education in China. Her research interests include EFL teaching, CALL, and sociolinguistics.

# Abstract

The research studies the effect of summary writing, through online Automated Writing Evaluation (AWE) system, on improving English as a foreign language (EFL) learners' oral production at different English proficiency levels. With development of computerized language evaluation, nowadays, online AWE tools are widely used in teaching and learning process. The authors' previous studies have shown that AWE tools are beneficial for improving EFL learners' writing quality and reducing speaking-related test anxiety. The current study aims to measure if EFL learners of different proficiency levels are affected differently in the context of using AWE system. The study was carried out in one-week intervals from September 2018 to January 2019 and it involves 288 non-English major participants at an English audio-video speaking course (EVASC) at the authors' university. At the post test for integrated listening-writing-speaking, students were required to write a summary through the Pigai system (www.Pigai.org, a web-based AWE tool which has been widely used in China) prior to a one-minute oral personal statement of the same topic. The findings from students' responses to the post-test questionnaire survey reveal that they showed very positive perceptions of AWE-based summary writing before the speaking task. However, there are some differences among different-level students. The intermediate-proficiency-level students gained higher recognition on the effect of AWEbased summary writing on their oral performance than those higher or lower achievers. What's more, through data analysis, it reveals that the AWE-based summary writing has a positive impact on improving their oral language discourse.

# **Conference** paper

# Introduction

Feedback has long been recognized to have played a central role in EFL learners' learning and achievement (Carles, Salter, Yang & Lam, 2011; Ellery, 2008; Ellis, Sheen, Murakami & Takashima, 2008; Higgins, Hartley, & Skelton, 2002; Nakata, 2015; Nicol & Macfarlane-Dick, 2006; Sendziuk, 2010; Shute, 2008). With rapid development of computer technology, various online writing feedback software — Automated Writing Evaluation (AWE) tools have been developed and widely used in classrooms. Meanwhile, summary writing, as a content-based output task, has been testified with positive influence on

producing language (e.g., Ringbom 1992), including EFL learners' oral production (Lu et al. 2015). This paper studies the effect of summary writing, through an online AWE system, the *Pigai* system (www.*Pigai*.org), on improving EFL learners' oral production at different proficiency level.

### Review on AWE tools

In 1960s, automated essay scoring was developed to ease the burden of scoring a large number of students' writing in America. The first AWE software, Project Essay Grade (PEG) was developed to predict the inner quality of the writing drafts (Chung & O'Neil, 1997, Kaja Zupanc, 2017). In the last decade of 20th century, some broader automated writing evaluation programs had been developed with advance of intelligence technology, especially natural language processing and intelligent language tutoring system (Chen, 2008). Some automated essay scoring programs, such as Criterion with the engine of erater, and MY Access with the engine of Intellimetric, are able to evaluate essays with more complex dimensions including lexical complexity, syntactic variety, discourse structures, grammatical usage, word choice, and content development. Whereas in mainland China, it is not until recent 10 years that some AWE tools have been developed and implemented for assessment purposes in EFL teaching, though the first one, E-writer, was developed in 2005 and capable of assessing essays from language, content, discourse organization and technical specifications. Now, the most popular and widely used web-based AWE tool in China is the *Pigai* system (which has already exceeded 20,000,000 users). It can provide instant feedback, formative assessment and diagnostic writing reports by aligning students' writings with standard corpus (Ranalli et all, 2017). However, the rapid growth of AWE tool classroom implementation has often accompanied with fierce discussion and opposition. The corpus of the current research was collected on the *Pigai* system.

There are two main strands of the AWE research. One is the research of technological affordances of AWE, though no consensus has been reached till now (Li, 2019). For instance, Bai and Hu (2017) acknowledged the limited functionalities of AWE, which, as guided, could be the supplement of teachers' feedback. Zhang and Hyland (2018) highlighted different sources of formative assessment and consented the partial usefulness of AWE tools. The other strand concerns with students' perceptions towards AWE systems. Wang et al. (2013) studied enhancement of learner autonomy awareness when using AWE system; Lai (2010) and Lu (2018) investigated computer anxiety about AWE system; Li, Link & Hegelheimer (2015) and Zhang & Hyland (2018) studied learners' attitudes towards AWE using; Wilson & Czik (2016) researched computer self-efficacy of AWE using.

Three well-established approaches are widely used in EFL writing courses: product approach (Brown, 1994), process approach (Tribble, 1996) and genre approach (Hyland 2003, 2007). Barrot (2018) summarized limitations of these methods and advocated teachers to integrate sociocultural, pragmatic and transformative factors into writing class. Some previous studies have also indicated that summary writing may benefit EFL learners' overall English ability (e.g., Ishikawa and Suzuki 2016; Williams 2012), while others have reported that it may improve EFL learners' speaking output (Lu et al. 2015) and reduce EFL learners' anxiety (Lu et al, 2018). But few empirical evidences have been reported that summary writing may have a different impact on different-level EFL learners' oral output. Thus this study aims to measure if AWE system has a different impact on oral performance of EFL learners at different English proficiency level.

#### Methods

The research aims to address the two following questions:

- Is the AWE system used satisfied the need of different English proficiency level EFL learners?
- Does AWE-based writing have a different impact on different English proficiency level EFL learners? If yes, then, which level of EFL learners benefits the most from using it?

#### Context and participants

This study was carried out in one week intervals from September 2018 to January 2019, which lasted for 16 weeks. And 341 non-English major students who took the English audio-video speaking course (EVASC) were involved in this study at the authors' university. Their English proficiency levels were measured and classified into three groups based on their scores at College English Test Band 4 (CET-4 a nationwide English test to evaluate non-English majors' comprehensive language proficiency). Students in group one whose scores at CET-4 were below 500 (approximately equivalent to 70 in the centesimal system); students in group two whose scores at the CET-4 were from 500 to 599 (equivalent to 70-84 in the centesimal system); and those in group three whose scores at CET-4 were above 600 (equivalent to 85 in the centesimal system). Since 53 students out of 341 did not take CET-4, thus 288 were counted as valid subjects in this study and the numbers are 90, 166, and 32 respectively in each group.

The classes were conducted in digital language labs, equipped with web-based language learning system, which were helpful for instructors to accomplish curriculum teaching and data collecting simultaneously. At the beginning of each class, the instructor, assigned a topic and then shared basic and related information to the topic. Then, students were required to complete a 200-word summary writing through the *Pigai* system before conducting their oral task, a one-minute personal statement of the same topic.

The questionnaire concerning students' perceptions of summary writing was designed and used in the current study. At the post test, students were required to fill in the questionnaire items right after their final oral task. There were 12 items on the effect of summary writing on different level EFL learners' oral output and they were measured at a five-point Likert scale, which is from 1 "do not agree at all" to 5 "strongly agree". Since English is a foreign language for the participants, the questionnaire items were written in Chinese.

#### Data collection

Quantitative and qualitative analyses were conducted in this research. Descriptive statistics were used to summarize and describe the quantitative data. And the qualitative analysis was used to generalize students' responses to the open-ended survey questions. Students were required to respond to the follow-up questionnaire anonymously after submission of the final test. All the data were collected for analyzing correlation between students' English proficiency level and their perceptions on the effect of AWE-based summary writing in relation with their oral discourse.

#### **Results and analysis**

The one-way ANOVA was employed to evaluate different level students' perceptions towards AWE-based summary writing. And the data were processed by using SPSS 24.0 software. Based on the students' feedback from the survey, it is shown from Table 1 that students' perceptions of the *Pigai* system-based summary writing was very positive. And most of the students agreed that AWE-based online summary writing had provided them with necessary support and assistance so that they could perform their oral tasks properly and successfully, thus it reveals the positive effect of AWE-based summary writing on oral performance.

Table 1 Students' perceptions of the effect o	f AWE-based	summary wr	iting on their	oral performa	ance (N=	=288)
Items in the questionnaire in details	SD/D	Ν	А	SA	М	SD
1. Pigai-based summary writing	18	64	134	72	3.89	0.875
is helpful for my personal	(6.3%)	(22.8%)	(46.5%)	(25.0)		
statement task.						
<ol><li>It's necessary to do Pigai-based</li></ol>	23	65	132	68	3.84	0.909
summary writing before the	(8.0%)	(22.6%)	(45.8%)	(23.6%)		
personal statement task.						
3. I feel less nervous to perform my	19	72	128	69	3.85	0.886
personal statement task after	(6.6%)	(31.6%)	(44.4%)	(24.0%)		
Pigai-based summary writing.						
4. I feel more confident with Pigai-	22	63	139	64	3.84	0.871
based summary writing.	(7.6%)	(21.9%)	(48.3%)	(22.2%)		
5. Pigai-based summary writing can	25	73	123	67	3.79	0.929
alleviate my anxiety when I do	(8.7%)	(25.3%)	(42.7%)	(23.3%)		
personal statement task.						
6. Pigai-based summary writing	20	64	128	76	3.89	0.870
equips me psychologically when I	(6.9%)	(22.2%)	(44.4%)	(26.4%)		
do personal statement task.						
7. Pigai-based summary writing	18	67	131	72	3.89	0.870
helps me enlarge my vocabulary	(6.3%)	(23.3%)	(45.5%)	(25.0%)		
size.						
8. Pigai-based summary writing	16	62	135	75	3.92	0.874
helps me at organizing sentences.	(5.6%)	(21.5%)	(46.9%)	(36.0%)		
9. Pigai-based summary writing	21	65	133	69	3.86	0.890
helps me in speaking fluency.	(7.3%)	(22.6%)	(46.2%)	(24.0%)		
10. Pigai-based summary writing	27	67	126	68	3.80	0.937
provides me with output	(9.4%)	(23.3%)	(43.8%)	(23.6%)		
information.	<b>.</b>					
11. Pigai-based summary writing	21	65	130	71	3.86	0.901
helps me in content integrity.	(7.6%)	(22.6%)	(45.1%)	(24.7%)		
12. Pigai-based summary writing	17	66	137	68	3.86	0.851
helps me in logic.	(5.9%)	(22.9%)	(47.6%)	<u>(23.6%)</u>		

Note: SD/D: strongly disagree or disagree; N: neutral; A: agree; SA: strongly agree.

As the result shown in Table 2, the mean scores of students' perceptions were significantly varied among different English proficiency levels (F(2, 285) = 3.50, p < 0.05). Bonferroni's post hoc procedure indicated that students in Group 2 had more desirable perceptions of AWE-based summary writing than those in Group 1 and 3. It indicated that students at intermediate English proficiency level gained higher recognition of the effect of AWE-based summary writing on their follow-up oral output.

Table 2 Comparison of English Proficiency Levels on Students' Percention Scores

Table 2 companison of English Fronciency Levels on Stadents Ferception Scores								
	Group ( <i>n</i> = 9	) 1 90)	Group ( <i>n</i> = 1	o 2 166)	Group ( <i>n</i> = 3	) 3 32)	F (2, 285)	Post Hoc (Bonferroni)
	М	SD	М	SD	Μ	SD		
Students' Perception	3.81	0.76	3.94	0.72	3.58	0.89	3.50	Group 2 > Group 1
Scores								Group 2 > Group 3
*								

\* *p*<0.05

To sum up students' responses to the open-ended item about the course in the questionnaire survey, it can be concluded that many intermediate level students thought AWE-based summary writing had enriched their expressions in their follow-up oral task and it also enabled them to reduce their anxiety degree. However, those with higher English proficiency level considered the pre-summary writing to be a waste of time, and some of them claimed that they were not accustomed to the computerized test, which may have interfered in their fluency in oral discourse.

#### Conclusion

This study focuses on the effect of AWE-based summary writing on EFL learners at different proficiency levels. The results verify the positive effectiveness of the AWE-based writing

task on students' oral discourse quality. It can be concluded that AWE-based summary writing does benefit students' in their follow-up speaking output. Besides, the findings further reveal that students at intermediate English proficiency level benefit the most from the AWE-based summary writing. The results indicate that the system used not only can improve their writing skills, but also can alleviate their degree of anxiety and enrich their language expressions in the follow-up speaking output. Therefore, it is suggested that online AWE tools could be adequately used as powerful auxiliary tools in designing various speaking tasks in EFL teaching context. However, some limitations still remain in this research and further studies will be conducted with qualitative data of students' personal statements through textual analyses.

Acknowledgements: This paper is a part of the reform project on college English curriculum (2018TD04) supported by Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications.

# References

Bai, L., & Hu, G. (2017). In the face of fallible AWE feedback: how do students respond?. Educational Psychology, 37(1), 67-81.

Barrot, J. S. (2018). Using the sociocognitive-transformative approach in writing classrooms: effects on I2 learners' writing performance. Reading & Writing Quarterly, 34(2), 187-201.

Brown, H. D., & Lee, H. (1994). Teaching by principles: An interactive approach to language pedagogy (Vol. 1, p. 994). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall Regents.

Carless, D.; Salter, D.; Yang, M. & Lam, J. (2011). Developing sustainable feedback practices. Studies In Higher Education, 36(4), 395-407.

Chen, C. F. E., & Cheng, W. Y. E. C. (2008). Beyond the design of automated writing evaluation: Pedagogical practices and perceived learning effectiveness in EFL writing classes. Language Learning & Technology, 12(2), 94-112.

Chung, G. K., & O'Neil Jr, H. F. (1997). Methodological Approaches to Online Scoring of Essays, 418.

Ellery, K. (2008). Assessment for learning: a case study using feedback effectively in an essay-style test. Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education, 33(4), 421-429.

Ellis, R. (2005). Principles of instructed language learning. System, 33, 209-224

Ellis, R.; Sheen, Y.; Murakami, M. & Takashima, H. (2008). The effects of focused and unfocused written corrective feedback in an English as a foreign language context. System 36, 353–371.

Higgins, R., Hartley, P., & Skelton, A. (2002). The conscientious consumer: Reconsidering the role of assessment feedback in student learning. Studies in higher education, 27(1), 53-64.

Hyland, K. (2003). Genre-based pedagogies: A social response to process. Journal of second language writing, 12(1), 17-29.

Hyland, K. (2007). Genre pedagogy: Language, literacy and L2 writing instruction. Journal of second language writing, 16(3), 148-164.

Ishikawa, M., & Suzuki, W. (2016). The effect of written language on learning the hypothetical conditional in English. System, 58(2), 97–111.

Lai, Y.-H. (2010). Which do students prefer to evaluate their essays: Peers or computer program. British Journal of Educational Technology, 41(3), 432–454.

Li, J.-R., Link, S., & Hegelheimer, V. (2015). Rethinking the role of automated writing evaluation (AWE) feedback in ESL writing instruction. Journal of Second Language Writing, 27, 1–18.

Li, R., Meng, Z., Tian, M., Zhang, Z., Ni, C., & Xiao, W. (2019). Examining EFL learners' individual antecedents on the adoption of automated writing evaluation in China. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 1-21.

Lu, Z., Li, X., & Li, Z. (2015, August). AWE-based corrective feedback on developing EFL learners' writing skill. In Critical CALL–Proceedings of the 2015 EUROCALL Conference, Padova, Italy (pp. 375-380). Research-publishing. net.

Lu, Z., Zheng, C., & Li, Z. (2018). Effects of embedded summary writing on EFL learners' anxiety and oral production in a computer-based testing environment. Journal of Computers in Education, 5(2), 221-241.

Nakata, T. (2015). Effects of feedback timing on second language vocabulary learning: Does delaying feedback increase learning? Language Teaching Research, 19(4), 416–434.

Nicol, D.C & Macfarlane-Dick, D. (2006). Formative assessment and self-regulated learning: a model and seven principles of good feedback practice. Studies in Higher Education, 31(2), 199-218.

Ranalli, J., Link, S., & Chukharev-Hudilainen, E. (2017). Automated writing evaluation for formative assessment of second language writing: Investigating the accuracy and usefulness of feedback as part of argument-based validation. Educational Psychology, 37(1), 8-25.

Ringbom, H. (1992). On L1 transfer in L2 comprehension and L2 production. Language Learning, 42(1), 85–112.

Sendziuk, P. (2010). Sink or swim? Improving student learning through feedback and self-assessment. International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education, 22, 320–330

Shute, V. J. (2008). Focus on formative feedback. Review of Educational Research, 78, 153–189.

Tribble, C. (1996). Writing. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Wang, J.-Y., Shang, H.-F., & Briody, P. (2013). Exploring the impact of using automated writing evaluation in English as a foreign language university students' writing. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 26(3), 234–257.

Williams, J. (2012). The potential role(s) of writing in second language development. Journal of Second Language Writing, 21(4), 321–331.

Wilson, W., & Czik, A. (2016). Automated essay evaluation software in English Language Arts classrooms: Effects on teacher feedback, student motivation, and writing quality. Computers & Education, 100, 94–109.

Zhang, Z., & Hyland, K. (2018). Student engagement with teacher and automated feedback on L2 writing. Assessing Writing, 36, 90–102.

Zupanc, K., & Bosnić, Z. (2017). Automated essay evaluation with semantic analysis. Knowledge-Based Systems, 120, 118-132.

# Shan Li, Zhihong Lu

Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications, Beijing, P. R. China

lism713@163.com; <a href="https://luzhihong@bupt.edu.cn">luzhihong@bupt.edu.cn</a>

# Critical consciousness in classroom speaking tasks

# Bio data



Shan Li is currently a graduate student in Applied Linguistics of Foreign Languages Department at Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications in China. Her research includes computer-assisted language learning and Sociolinguistics.



Zhihong Lu is Professor of Foreign Languages Department at Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications where she has been involved in online teaching since 2000. She is author of over 40 research publications and member of the National Foreign Languages Teaching Advisory Board under the Ministry of Education in China. Her research interests include EFL teaching, CALL, and sociolinguistics.

# Abstract

This study concerns critical consciousness in the speaking tasks within an English as a foreign language (EFL) classroom in China. Critical consciousness is a fundamental component of critical pedagogy. Adopting the view of critical pedagogy, the goal of language teaching is to prepare students for social transformation rather than just to teach them language skills and enable them to communicate in the target language. For such purpose, teachers should maintain a strong sense of critical pedagogy is also concerned with transforming relations of power. The interaction between the teacher and learners in the teaching process and the interplay between human and technology are also crucial in the pedagogical praxis.

# **Conference paper**

# Introduction

EFL teachers used to focus on distributing language skills to students in order to enable them to communicate well in English. Language was taught as a system for transmitting messages rather than as an ideational, signifying system that plays a central role in how people understand themselves and the world (Pennycook, 1990). Critical pedagogy challenges the traditional pedagogy with an aim to transform relations of power, that is, to emancipate the oppressed learners from the role of being passive, and to empower them to act upon the external world through an awakening of the critical consciousness. To achieve this goal, EFL teachers need to introduce a critical lens in their teaching process.

Technology plays an important role in critical pedagogy, for it enables EFL teachers to construct a multimedia and even multidimensional learning environment for the learners.

In such an environment, the communication platform between the teacher and students or among students through various interactive speaking tasks can be built, and the goal of developing learners' critical thinking and analytical ability can be achieved as well. The second author teaches English audio-video speaking course (EAVSC) at the authors' university in a digital lab equipped with advanced equipment. Technology undoubtedly facilitates the teaching and learning process. However, the question remains how it supports the teacher in developing students' critical consciousness through the interplay of human and technology in classroom context. To gain critical pedagogical results, EFL teachers should take full advantage of the technological means while putting efforts into the pedagogical practice of content-based task design.

#### **Related studies**

Critical pedagogy is an approach to language teaching and learning which is concerned with emancipating oppressed people and empowering learners to think and act critically with an aim of social transformation. It is most associated with the pedagogy proposed by Freire (1970), which advocates for a new relationship between teachers and students. He proposes a problem-posing education in which students can "develop their power to perceive critically the way they exist in the world with which and in which they find themselves" (Freire, 1970, p. 83). Researchers hereafter begin to examine social, cultural, historical, and political aspects in language teaching and learning theory (Stanley, 1992; Giroux, 1997; Mclaren, 1988, 1995; Pennycook, 1999, 2001). According to Pennycook (1990), critical pedagogy investigates how knowledge is produced and legitimated within schools and society and then confronts subjugated forms of knowledge critically so as to produces new ones. For Freire (1970), critical pedagogy is concerned with development of critical consciousness. He (1973) distinguishes three levels of consciousness: intransitive, semi-intransitive and critical consciousness. And critical consciousness leads to critical actions to change the role of human beings in and with the world. Okazak (2005) defines critical consciousness as the ability to realize and question the reproduction of sociocultural and historical injustice and power relationships.

The theoretical work on critical pedagogy is relatively rich (Burbules & Berk, 1999; Canagarajah, 2005; Sadeghi, 2008). Nevertheless, some researchers conduct empirical studies examining the application of critical pedagogy and the development of critical consciousness. Winkelmann (1995) examines the convergence of electronic literacy, collaboration, and critical pedagogy in the classroom. Morgan (1998) documents how his class raised awareness by selecting for discussion content both socially and individually meaningful to students and encouraging them to reflect on their own life histories so that they find themselves in larger contexts. Okazaki (2005) analyses how students manifested critical consciousness during and after taking the course. Her (2005) shows an example of consciousness raising among TESOL international MA students who draw on critical pedagogy notions of deconstruction and agency. Parkhouse (2017) elaborates on 3 pedagogical approaches in the U.S. History classroom that enhanced students' critical consciousness and agency to act on the world, i.e., naming, questioning, and demystification.

#### Methodology

#### Teaching context and participants

EAVSC is developed for the second-grade non-English majors at the authors' university. The course is taught in the digital lab equipped with ROFALL system, a self-developed webbased English language skills training system. The teacher offers knowledge of language as input and then assigns multiple speaking tasks to the class. The tasks often include presentation, role play, group discussion, pair work, and personal statement. For pair work and group discussion, the students, randomly paired or grouped by the system, are required to conduct discourse on the given topics. Giroux and Giroux (2006) maintain that teachers should assume their responsibility as citizen-scholars by taking critical positions, relating teaching to larger social issues, offering students knowledge, debate, and dialogue about social problems. Considering adding social, cultural and historical contexts in each speaking task, the teacher sets the topics of the speaking activities ranging from campus life to social phenomenon or hot issues. Ideally, these tasks can help the students expand their perspectives on the external world and raise their critical consciousness.

#### Data collection

All the speaking tasks are under surveillance. The teacher listens to some of the speaking in real-time, paying attention to the students' English output as well as their opinions on the given topics. All the audios of the speaking activities are collected through the lab equipment for further study. The content of the audios is also useful as guidance on the course design.

#### Discussion

To examine critical consciousness in the speaking tasks is challenging because it is on a ideological level. In her study on writing, Lecourt (1998) points out that what is going on in the writer's mind at the moment of production is invisible to teachers. Here we assume technology and anonymity create a context in which students can fully express themselves and the discourse can represent the students' minds.

As mentioned above, all the discussion topics posed in the speaking tasks relate to learners' lives to some extent. Here we selected the audios of group discussions in one class under the topic "how to tell Chinese stories in English".

Most group started their conversations with acknowledging the precious cultural heritage and long history China processes. In their opinion, the premise of this question is the fact that China's positive role in global affairs intrigues more and more foreigners to learn about the country. The students experience such changes themselves in the real life and are willing to introduce their country to the outside world. This indicates that the students see the world as a reality in process, in transformation that awaits their actions (Freire, 1970).

The later discussion often involved the issue of culture differences. Several students mentioned the importance of leaning western culture as well as Chinese culture. Their concern was that the uniqueness of Chinese stories can be "weird" to westerners. Some students proposed to seek similarities between China and other countries. Some advocated for mixing western counterparts in Chinese stories while remaining the "core" of Chinese culture. One student used the phrase "tell Chinese stories in western way" during the discussion. An exception occurred when one student said that "what they (foreigners) think is not important". This point of view found no echo in other discussions. McLaren (1995) maintains that "a critical understanding of the relationship between the self and other is one of the crucial challenges of current pedagogical practices in the age of postmodernism" (p. 17). The discussion enabled the students to rethink relationships of class, race and power. Generally, discourse is a mean by which its makers transmit power and ideology (Abid & Manan, 2015). Group discussion presents in microcosm how certain discourse gains (and loses) the ability to silence and exclude or provide voice and power to a participant in the given time (Lecourt, 1998). During the interaction with group members, the students had the opportunity to reflect on their words and thoughts by examining the response. This can help the students develop skill in reflection and action that allows them to recognize and work upon the external world both for themselves and for others (Ares, 2006).

Though the majority of the class proceeded well, some of the students expressed their confusion of the topic saying, "I don't understand the question. What does she (the teacher) mean by 'how to tell Chinese stories in English'? Is it about translation?" or "what are 'Chinese stories'?". Although autonomy is valued in the speaking tasks, the students cannot dispense with the direction from the teacher as cues on how to participate. In future teaching practice, the teacher considers adding a short text as follows to guide the students:

"As China comes to play an increasingly important role in global affairs, more and more articles about China and Chinese people are being published. Everyone has the potential to tell stories. What are your thoughts about telling Chinese stories in English? How might we do it?"

#### Conclusion

In the view of critical pedagogy, students should learn to think critically and develop critical consciousness which helps them take actions to improve their life condition and make social transformation. In order to achieve such goal, teachers need to add social, cultural, historical and political views into the teaching content. Educators should see the flexibility in critical pedagogical praxis and consider critical pedagogy in their own context (Parkhouse, 2018). In the meantime, teachers should consider students' needs when developing curriculum, making sure that no one is marginalized in the classroom. Through such practice, students can gradually be trained to develop their critical consciousness which can elicit their actions to create a more just and equitable society.

Acknowledgements

This paper is a part of the reform project on college English curriculum (2018TD04) supported by Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications.

#### References

Abid, R. Z., & Manan, S. A. (2015). Integrating corpus linguistics in critical literacy pedagogy: A case study of Lance Armstrong's transformation from a titleholder to a fraud. Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences, 208, 128-137.

Ares, N. (2006). Political aims and classroom dynamics: Generative processes in classroom communities. Radical Pedagogy, 8(2), 12-20.

Burbules, N., & Berk, R. (1999). Critical thinking and critical pedagogy: Relations, differences and limits. In T. Popkewitz & L. Fendler (Ed.), Critical theories in education: Changing terrains of knowledge and politics (pp. 45-65). New York: Routledge.

Canagarajah, A. S. (2005). Critical pedagogy in L2 learning and teaching. In E. Hinkel (Ed.), Handbook of research in second language teaching and research (pp. 931-949). New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Freire, P. (1970). Pedagogy of the oppressed. New York: Seabury.

Freire, p. (1973). Education for critical consciousness. New York: Seabury.

Her, Y. (2005). Identity construction in literacy practices in I2: A case study of three Korean graduate students in a TESOL program. Second Language Studies, 23(2), 102-137.

Giroux, H. A. (1997). Pedagogy and the politics of hope: Theory, culture, and schooling: A critical reader. Colorado: Westview Press.

Giroux, H. A., & Giroux, S. S. (2006). Challenging neoliberaism's new word order: The promise of critical. Cultural Studies  $\leftrightarrow$  Critical Methodologies, 6(1), 21-32.

Lecourt, D. (1998). Critical pedagogy in the computer classroom: Politicizing the writing space. Computers and Composition, 15(3), 275-295.

Mclaren, P. (1988). Culture or canon? Critical pedagogy and the politics of literacy. Harvard Educational Review, 58(2), 213-235.

McLaren, P. (1995). Critical pedagogy and predatory culture. London: Routledge.

Morgan, B. (1998). The ESL classroom: Teaching, critical practice, and community development. Toronto: University of Toronto.

Okazak, T. (2005). Critical consciousness and critical language teaching. Second Language Studies, 23(2), 174-202.

Parkhouse, H. (2017). Pedagogies of naming, questioning, and demystification: A study of two critical U.S. history classrooms. Theory & Research in Social Education, 00, 1-41.

Pennycook, A. (1990). Critical pedagogy and second language education. System, 18(3), 303-314.

Pennycook, A. (1999). Critical approaches to TESOL || Introduction: critical approaches to TESOL. TESOL Quarterly, 33(3), 329-348.

Pennycook, A. (2001). Critical applied linguistics: A critical introduction. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Sadeghi, S. (2008). Critical pedagogy in an EFL teaching context: An ignis fatuus or an alternative approach?. Journal for Critical Education Policy Studies, 6(1), 12.

Stanley, W. B. (1992). Curriculum for utopia social reconstructionism and critical pedagogy in the postmodern era. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.

Winkelmann, C. L. (1995). Electronic literacy, critical pedagogy, and collaboration: A case for cyborg writing. Computers and the Humanities, 29(6), 431-448.

# Yueh Chin Lin

National Taiwan Normal University, Taipei, Taiwan

vincejim91126@gmail.com

# Integration of a bilingual dictionary agent to facilitate lowerintermediate EFL learners' interaction with general-purpose chatbots

# Bio data



EDUCATIONAL BACKGROUND:

National Taiwan University, Department of Foreign Language and Literature, BA, 2011 – 2015 (Currently National Taiwan Normal University, MA, TESOL) EXTRA QUALIFICATION: Programming

# Abstract

Chatbots have long been studied for their development, design and features in information technology. For language learning, most of the studies focus on educational benefit brought by chatbots. Few of them draw on information technology know-how to customize a chatbot from language learning perspectives. The present study designed Vbot, a chatbot integrated with a bilingual dictionary agent, aiming to investigate how it could facilitate its interaction with learners who tend to have difficulty comprehending a chatbot's responses due to limited vocabulary size or lack of meaning-inferring skill. Participants were ten lower-intermediate EFL learners. Data collection included conversation histories, interviews, and questionnaires. The result indicated that in comparison with a typical general-purpose chatbot, Vbot was more capable of facilitating and smoothening interaction because of instant scaffolding.

# **Conference paper**

A chatbot, as its name refers, is a computer program that simulates conversations with human beings in textual or auditory forms (Levy, 2009). Brennan (2006) described a chatbot as "an artificial construct that is designed to converse with human beings using natural language as input and output". This artificial construct can be programmed to initiate a domain-specific or a topic-specific conversation (Huang, Zhou et al., 2007), or even a wider range of topics in diverse fields (Kerly, Hall et al., 2007). However, this technology is built not only to emulate human speech but also for applications in information retrieval and education (Ciechanowski, Przegalinska et al., 2019; Jia 2004). For example, some educators built a knowledge chatbot to assist in teaching information security risk analysis in an undergrad class in Sweden, and the feedback from students indicated this virtual assistant aroused interest and was a preferred way to look up information in comparison with Wiki sites (Hoffman, Kowalski et al., 2011). Griol and Callejas (2013) also designed a friendly chatbot as a resource for primary school children at the ages of eight, nine and ten, investigating its pedagogical potential in teaching urban environments. The result demonstrated those children's satisfaction and its positive impact on education.

As a subfield of education, language learning also comprises areas where chatbots are utilized (Fryer, 2006). In particular, Jia and Chen (2008) applied a conversation bot in English class and evaluated its effect on users' behavior. It was found that the application enhanced English fluency, confidence on communications and interest in English. Ayedoun, Hayashi et al. (2015) also implemented a similar system in an EFL context, aiming to increase learners' willingness to communicate. Feedback from users underscored the bot's advantages in reducing anxiety and raising self-confidence and desire to communicate in English in real life conversation contexts. In addition to aforementioned research, many other studies have recognized chatbots as a useful tool to improve learners' motivation and alleviate teacher workload (Winkler and Söllner, 2018), to provide context awareness facilitating cognitive and affective outcomes in learning (Griol and Callejas, 2013; Kerly, Hall et al., 2007).

Educational benefits brought about by chatbots is attributed to its interactivity and communicative mechanism (Hoffmann, Kowalski et al., 2011); learners can continually ask questions and receive useful information, which satisfies their individual needs and helps them adjust their learning in an active manner (Winkler and Söllner, 2018). Liu, Moore et al. (2002) also laid emphasis on its interactive features, such as instant feedback and autonomy facilitation. However, De Gasperis and Florio (2012) stated that a large number of chatbots for language learning are used based on the assumption that learners already have a good knowledge of English as foreign language. In light of it, for those who lack sufficient knowledge of English, they may find it hard to interact with chatbots. The flow of interaction may be interrupted by limited vocabulary or grammar knowledge to comprehend chatbots' responses or produce correct sentences, which are the key factors emphasized by some studies on reading comprehension (Liou, 2000; Zhang, 2001, 2010; Gu, 2003; Lawrence Jun, 2009). Therefore, to ensure usability and a smoother flow of interaction, which play a vital role in technology-assisted learning (Levy, 2009), chatbots need to be tailored for weak learners confined to insufficient knowledge of English. In this regard, the present study aims to design a chatbot for weak learners, examining how it affects user experience and behavior in learning a foreign language.

In terms of chatbot design, Gnewuch, Morana et al. (2017) stressed four design principles of chatbots, which mainly consist of ample communicability, conversational abilities, flexible interaction flows with clarification and confirmation and abilities to handle errors. As the present study intends to help weak learners communicate with chatbots smoothly and sustain the interaction flow, the third principle, flexible interaction flows with clarification would be underlined to address issues of insufficient knowledge of English faced by weak learners.

#### Scaffolding for weak learners' interaction with chatbots

As for weak English learners, many studies have pinpointed the importance of vocabulary. As strong learners tap into contexts, guessing and contextual clues for lexical meanings, weak learners rely mainly on word-level information from dictionaries when solving vocabulary problems (Zhang, 2010). Many researchers also consider basic vocabulary knowledge a crucial role in reading comprehension, especially for the non-native or less proficient learners (Jun Zhang, 2001; Gu, 2003; Lawrence Jun, 2009). In view of it, the chatbot design of this study features scaffolding on vocabulary, expecting to smoothen their interaction and sustain the flow through vocabulary support.

#### Framework for vocabulary support

Hunt & Beglar (2005) proposed a framework to support lexical development, mainly composed of three strategies, which are providing decontextualized lexis, using dictionaries and inferring from context. The second strategy is more appropriate as previous studies have deemed word definition in dictionaries fundamental for weak learners in reading (Zhang, 2010; Jun Zhang, 2001; Gu, 2003; Lawrence Jun, 2009), while the first, decontextualized lexis, seems irrelevant to the goal of the chatbot design in this study, which aims to smoothen interaction, that is, fluency, and the third, inferring from context, is also inappropriate judging from weak earners' lack of skill in inferring meanings from context (Zhang, 2010). Therefore, a chatbot refined to optimize learners' use of dictionaries was designed in this study.

# Methodology

#### Participants

The participants involved ten lower-intermediate EFL learners in Taiwan. Four of them were adults and the others were adolescents. Though they had not taken any large-scale proficiency test such as TOFEL and IELTS, adult learners were distributed to the same lower-intermediate class after a cram school's replacement test three months before the present study was conducted, and adolescent learners were first grade high school students whose levels were evaluated as lower-intermediate by their English teacher.

#### Chatbot Design – Vbot

The design of Vbot involved AIML (Artificial Intelligent Markup Language). AIML is an XML dialect for creating natural language software agents.

The bilingual dictionary agent integrated into Vbot was designed via the programming language Python, including an English-English, an English-Chinese and a Chinese-English look-up functions. The English-English look-up function extracted entries from Oxford Dictionaries Database licensed by Oxford Dictionaries. The English-Chinese and Chinese-English data came from Dr. eye database.



#### Overall Infrastructure

- Line (styled as LINE) is a freeware app for instant communications on electronic devices such as smartphones, tablet computers, and personal computers. Line users exchange texts, images, video and audio, and conduct free conversations and video conferences.
- Vbot is a registered LINE account. Participants accessed Vbot by adding the account as a friend.
- Heroku is a cloud platform as a service (PaaS) supporting several programming languages. It lets the developer build, run and scale applications in a similar manner across all the languages.
- The main program is written in Python, responsible for processing inputs from participants, sending requests to the Oxford Dictionaries server for word definition or to the Pandorabots server for responses, and then transferring word definition or the responses to participants through the LINE server.

# **Data Collection**

# Conversation history

Participants were asked to export conversation histories to the researcher.

#### Interviews

Interviews were held twice for each participant. The first interview aims to explore difficulty they faced or feeling they experienced in chatting without the bilingual dictionary agent. The second interview focuses on how the bilingual dictionary agent changed the way they conversed and whether it made the conversation smoother.

#### Questionnaire

The questionnaire evaluates user experience, behavior, difficulties, use of dictionaries, and suggestion. Participants were asked about difficulties in interacting with Vbot but without the bilingual dictionary agent, and how they looked up unknown words, and then they were asked about difficulties in interacting with Vbot and how they used the bilingual dictionary agent for word definition. Finally, they were asked to compare the conversation with and without the bilingual dictionary agent.

#### Procedure

#### Adult Participants

The experiment lasted for two weeks. In the first week, participants were asked to converse with Vbot. Although the bilingual dictionary agent was not available, they could open any mobile application for word definition. They were assigned some topics to converse about, including self-introduction, food, sport, the 20q game, the wordplay game, and personality test game. There was neither time nor length limit, and they needed to chat at least once a day.

In the second week, they were assigned the same topics but with the bilingual dictionary agent available. There was no time and length limit either, and they needed to chat at least once a day.

On the seventh day of the first week, individual phone interviews were held. The second phone interviews were held on the seventh day of the second week, and conversation histories were elicited at the same time.

#### Adolescent Participants

The researcher was given six school periods to conduct the study due to legitimate issues. Each school period lasted for fifty minutes. Therefore, six participants were asked to form three groups with each group comprising two participants, and each group were assigned two school periods. In the first period, they were asked to converse with Vbot. Although the bilingual dictionary agent was not available, they could open any mobile application for word definition. In the second period, they were asked to chat with Vbot for which the bilingual dictionary agent was available. In the first period, they were assigned some topics to converse about, including self-introduction, food, sport, the 20q game, the wordplay game, and personality test game. There was neither time nor length limit, and they could move on to the next topic if they would not want to continue the current one.

At the end of the first period, a group face-to-face interview was held. The second interview was held at the end of the second period, and conversation histories were elicited at the same time.

#### Result

First week (school period) - conversation without the bilingual dictionary agent

What difficulties listed below have you faced when you used the chatbot in the first week (school period)?		
Comprehension of the whole sentence	2	
Comprehension of unfamiliar words	10	
Being unable to reply due to lack of English words 6		
Being unable to use an English word correctly in a sentence 4		

All the participants had difficulty comprehending unfamiliar words while only two out of ten participants couldn't understand some sentences. It shows that the majority of the

participants could infer meanings of sentences from contexts, but most of them were unable to reply due to lack of vocabulary, and four out of ten were unable to use words correctly.

Did you look up unfamiliar words?	
Yes	10
No	0
If yes, how did you look up the word?	
Open another dictionary app (including any browser)	10
other	0

#### All the participants looked up unfamiliar words using mobile applications.

How often did you look up unfamiliar words in the first week (school period)?	
As long as there was a word that I didn't know	3
Only when the unfamiliar words make it hard to grasp the meaning of the chatbo	7
response	
Only when the unfamiliar words look interesting	0

Seven out of ten participants looked up unfamiliar words with mobile applications only when unfamiliar words affected their comprehension of Vbot's response. Only three participants looked up every unfamiliar word.

#### Second week (school period) - conversation with Vbot

Г

In the second week (school period), did you encounter unfamiliar words?		
Yes	10	
No	0	

If yes, did you use the look-up function to look up the unfamiliar words?

Yes	10
No	0

How often did you look up unfamiliar words in the second week (school period)?

As long as there was a word that I didn't know	7
Only when the unfamiliar words make it hard to grasp the meaning of the chatbo	3
response	
Only when the unfamiliar words look interesting	0

In the second week (school period), all the participants encountered unfamiliar words and used look-up functions. Seven out of them used look-up functions as long as there was a word they did not know.

In comparison with the first week (school period), how did you feel when you chatted with Vbot in the second week (school period)?

- 1. I felt it was smoother. Besides accumulating language sense in conversation, I could also learn vocabulary.
- 2. The response was succinct, but with the bilingual dictionary agent it was easier to respond to Vbot.

- 3. It could easily translate unfamiliar words and those unfamiliar words would be more impressive to me.
- 4. It was smoother to respond, and I could consult the dictionary instantly
- 5. I could better understand the meaning, but responses were sometimes inconsistent.
- 6. It was smoother. I did not need to switch to another dictionary application.
- 7. In the second school period I could better comprehend the meaning of a whole sentence because looking up unfamiliar words instantly was very convenient and I did not need to switch to another dictionary application.
- 8. It was easier to answer questions.
- 9. I could have a more thorough understanding of Vbot's response.
- 10. It was easier to converse and more convenient.

Did the look-up function help with interaction with Vbot?			
Strongly agree	4		
agree	6		
disagree	0		
strongly disagree	0		

All participants strongly agreed or agreed that look-up functions could help with interaction with Vbot because

- 1. It was more convenient!! There was no need to open another dictionary application or consult a printed dictionary. Because I did not need to jump back and forth to different interfaces, I was willing to look up more unfamiliar words instead of having an approximate understanding of a sentence.
- 2. It could be someone to chat with.
- 3. I did not use another application for translation. I just used the look-up function to know unfamiliar words, and it was easier to converse with Vbot.
- 4. Deficient vocabulary size.
- 5. Because there was instant translation, and words were well explained.
- 6. I could express myself more effectively, and unfamiliar words would not affect my understanding of Vbot's response.
- 7. With the help of the look-up function, I could comprehend sentences in a more thorough way.
- 8. If Vbot said a word I did not know, I could look it up and comprehend instantly.
- 9. Facing an unfamiliar word, I did not need to open another dictionary application, but it was like a normal dictionary in which words were looked up one by one. Besides, there were so many definitions that I needed to ponder over the context to figure out which word definition suits the context.
- 10. In fact, it was very troublesome to open another dictionary application. With translation (English-Chinese look-up function) it was more convenient and faster.

# Finding

#### Questionnaire

How often did you look up unfamiliar words in the first week (school period)?		
As long as there was a word I didn't know	3	
Only when the unfamiliar words make it hard to grasp the meaning of the chatbot's response	7	
Only when the unfamiliar words look interesting	0	

How often did you look up unfamiliar words in the second week (school period)?			
As long as there was a word I didn't know	7		
Only when the unfamiliar words make it hard to grasp the meaning of t	3		
chatbot's response			
Only when the unfamiliar words look interesting	0		

In the first week (school period), only thirty percent of the participants looked up every unfamiliar word. However, in the second week (school period), seventy percent of the participants looked up every unfamiliar word. The percentage increased by forty percent. The reason for the increase was that Vbot enabled participants to obtain word definition within the same interface and with no need to open another dictionary application and switch back and forth. Furthermore, the majority of the participants mentioned the benefit and convenience brought by the bilingual dictionary agent, which provided resourceful definitions instantly.

#### Conversation history

#### Personality Test

Participants' personality was tested by Vbot. Without the bilingual dictionary agent, participants grasped the approximate meaning of questions and choices, but with the bilingual dictionary agent they were more willing to look up unfamiliar words, so they could grasp the complete meaning of questions and choices, and the answers or results in two different weeks (school periods) were different.

Learning new words to make a sentence

Participants used the Chinese-English look-up function when they needed an L2 word designating a familiar L1 concept. They typed Chinese words to learn new English words and to make English sentences on a regular basis.

Looking up words for comprehension or correspondent reply

It was discovered that participants preferred the English-Chinese look-up function for Chinese explanation. Even if they used the English-English look-up function for English explanation, they still tapped into the English-Chinese look-up function as a follow-up assistance for a clearer explanation. Besides, some participants used the English-English look-up function to construct sentences in reply.

# Interview

#### First Interview

When asked if there were unfamiliar words, participants said even if they saw unfamiliar words, they would open another dictionary app to look it up. As to participants' wording and grammar, they were concerned about limited vocabulary size and incorrect grammar usage. In this regard, they expected a function to check grammar errors before they sent out the message and a built-in translator that could translate Vbot response.

#### Second Interview

Second interviews focused on the differences brought by the bilingual dictionary agent. Most of the participants said with the bilingual dictionary agent they did not need to open another dictionary application and that within the same interface they could use the Chinese-English, English Chinese and English-English look-up functions, highlighting the convenience.

# Discussion

For weak learners, word-level information is an integral part of reading comprehension in face of unfamiliar vocabulary (Jun Zhang, 2001; Gu, 2003; Lawrence Jun, 2009). To obtain word-level information, use of dictionaries is the most suitable strategy based on their language level (Hunt & Beglar, 2005). In the present study, the integration of the bilingual

dictionary agent changed the way they obtained word definition during interaction with a chatbot. Rather than opening another mobile dictionary app, they preferred look-up functions for definitions and example sentences of unfamiliar words, and more participants were willing to look up every word they did not know, which echoed a study conducted by Hoffman, Kowalski et al. (2011), in which participants favored a chatbot for information retrieval more than Wiki sites. Word definition provided by Vbot were more vivid and conversation-like while the ones offered by mobile dictionary apps were rigid and lifeless. Judging from it, affective factors may play an important role in their willingness to look up more words.

As to flexible interaction flows with clarification (Gnewuch, Morana et al., 2017), while opening mobile dictionary apps forced learners to switch to different interfaces and interrupted the immersion into human-simulated conversation, the bilingual dictionary agent effectively sustained the flow by providing instant word-level support for clarification, keeping learners in the same interface and with the same object to interact with, maintaining their immersion into human-like conversation. For future chatbot design, it is suggested that scaffolding for weak learners should be taken into consideration in order to ensure their motivation, interest and the interaction flow are not weakened by difficulties resulting from insufficient knowledge of language.

#### Conclusion

The integration of a bilingual dictionary agent can engage learners more in a communication scenario with instant word-level support that facilitates and smoothens learners' interaction with a chatbot. For future chatbot design, barriers a weak learner may face should be taken into account to ensure robust interaction flow and learner engagement during interaction with chatbots.

# References

Ayedoun, E., Hayashi, Y., & Seta, K. (2015). A Conversational Agent to Encourage Willingness to Communicate in the Context of English as a Foreign Language. Procedia Computer Science, 60, 1433-1442. Retrieved from <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1877050915023467</u>. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2015.08.219</u>

Brennan, K. (2006). The managed teacher: Emotional labour, education, and technology. Educational Insights, 10(2), 55-65.

Ciechanowski, L., Przegalinska, A., Magnuski, M., & Gloor, P. (2019). In the shades of the uncanny valley: An experimental study of human–chatbot interaction. Future Generation Computer Systems, 92, 539-548.

De Gasperis, G., & Florio, N. (2012). Learning to read/type a second language in a chatbot enhanced environment. Paper presented at the International Workshop on Evidence-Based Technology Enhanced Learning.

Fryer, L. (2006). Bots as Language Learning Tools (Vol. 10).

Gnewuch, U., Morana, S., & Maedche, A. (2017). Towards Designing Cooperative and Social Conversational Agents for Customer Service.

Griol, D., & Callejas, Z. (2013). An Architecture to Develop Multimodal Educative Applications with Chatbots (Vol. 10).

Gu, P. Y. (2003). Fine Brush and Freehand1: The Vocabulary-Learning Art of Two Successful Chinese EFL Learners. TESOL Quarterly, 37(1), 73-104. Retrieved from <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3588466</u>. doi:10.2307/3588466

Hoffman, R., Kowalski, S., Jain, R., & Mumtaz, M. (2011). E\_Universities Services in the new social eco-systems: Using Conversational Agents to help Teach Information Security Risk Analysis.

Hoffmann, R., Kowalski, S., Jain, R., & Mumtaz, M. (2011). E\_Universities Services in the New Social Eco-systems: Security Risk Analysis: Using Conversational Agents to Help Teach Information Security Risk Analysis.

Huang, J., Zhou, M., & Yang, D. (2007). Extracting Chatbot Knowledge from Online Discussion Forums. Paper presented at the IJCAI.

Hunt, A., & Beglar, D. (2005). A framework for developing EFL reading vocabulary. Reading in a foreign language, 17(1), 23-59.

Jia, J. (2004). CSIEC (computer simulator in educational communication): An intelligent Web-based teaching system for foreign language learning. Paper presented at the EdMedia+ Innovate Learning.

Jia, J., & Chen, W. (2008). Motivate the Learners to Practice English through Playing with Chatbot CSIEC (Vol. 5093).

Jun Zhang, L. (2001). Awareness in Reading: EFL Students' Metacognitive Knowledge of Reading Strategies in an Acquisition-poor Environment. Language Awareness, 10(4), 268-288. Retrieved from <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09658410108667039</u>. doi:10.1080/09658410108667039

Kerly, A., Hall, P., & Bull, S. (2007). Bringing chatbots into education: Towards natural language negotiation of open learner models. Knowledge-Based Systems, 20(2), 177-185. Retrieved from

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0950705106001912. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.knosys.2006.11.014

Lawrence Jun, Z. (2009). Chinese senior high school EFL students' metacognitive awareness and reading-strategy use.

Levy, M. (2009). Technologies in Use for Second Language Learning. The Modern Language Journal, 93, 769-782. Retrieved from <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/25612273</u>.

Liou, H.-C. J. C. A. L. L. (2000). The electronic bilingual dictionary as a reading aid to EFL learners: Research findings and implications. 13(4-5), 467-476.

Liu, M., Moore, Z., Graham, L., & Lee, S. J. J. o. r. o. t. i. e. (2002). A look at the research on computer-based technology use in second language learning: A review of the literature from 1990–2000. 34(3), 250-273.

Winkler, R., & Söllner, M. (2018). Unleashing the Potential of Chatbots in Education: A State-Of-The-Art Analysis (Vol. 2018).

Zhang, L. J. (2010). A Dynamic Metacognitive Systems Account of Chinese University Students' Knowledge About EFL Reading. TESOL Quarterly, 44(2), 320-353. Retrieved from <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/27896727</u>.

# Hui-Chuan Lu, An Chung Cheng, Yue-Hsueh Fang

Professor, National Cheng Kung University, Tainan, Taiwan; Associated professor, University of Toledo, USA & Research assistant, National Cheng Kung University, Tainan, Taiwan

huichuanlu1@gmail.com, anchung.cheng@gmail.com & julianisabear@gmail.com

# Developing a web-based adaptive evaluation tool: a case of Spanish copular verbs

# Bio data



Hui-Chuan Lu, Ph. D., is professor of Spanish and Chair of the Department of Foreign Languages and Literature at National Cheng Kung University in Taiwan. Her research areas are in corpus-based approaches to third language acquisition and comparative syntax.



An Chung Chen, Ph. D., is professor of Spanish and director of the Asian Studies Institute at the University of Toledo in the United States. Her research areas are in instructed second language acquisition, input processing, corpus-based approaches to third language acquisition, Chinese heritage language education, and teacher education. She is currently the President of the National Council of Less Commonly Taught Languages.



Yue-Hsueh Fang is a research assistant of Prof. Hui-Chuan Lu, and is studying in the Department of Computer Science and Information Engineering at National Cheng Kung University.

# Abstract

This study focuses on the development of an adaptive web-based system using the learning of a Spanish grammatical form (SER/ESTAR with adjectives) as an exemple. The purposes include providing a user-friendly environment in which to assess learning effectively. The proposed computer-assisted evaluation tool allows for a positive experience for learners during testing or self-assessment. The research results indicated that this free web-based adaptive tool was easy for users to access and could be used effectively to assist with learning the target forms. Finally, this study shed light on pedagogical applications of the integration of experimental research and tool development in the learning of a grammatical form that is free, accessible, and effective.

# **Conference** paper

#### Introduction

The application of CALL (computer-assisted language learning) in foreign language pedagogy and the use of the Internet have recently revolutionized language learning. However, the availability of hardware and software, technical knowledge, and acceptance

of technology are often barriers to the use of CALL in foreign language learning. Specifically, when social justice perspectives are considered, inequities in the distribution of resources and the low academic achievement of students with lower socioeconomic status have made the application of CALL in foreign language learning a problem. Ubiquitous access is one of the main characteristics of the Internet. However, the access to technology could be based on power and privilege. Rice & Katz (2003) referred this as the "digital divide," which is defined as "the gap between those who have and do not have information and communication technologies." (p.91) Osborn (2006) suggested that the Internet in language education could be utilized to reconstruct social realities. This research project, sponsored by a government grant, was intended to develop a free tool on the Internet at no cost to users, so students can learn a foreign language on their own beyond classroom walls. This study focused on the development of an adaptive web-based system using the learning of a Spanish grammatical structure (SER o ESTAR+Adjective) as an example. Its objectives are to provide a user-friendly environment and to effectively assess student learning of the target forms. The assessment tool on the website can introduce users to the learning process leading to acquisition of the target structure. At the same time, it can serve as a point of connection for other language classrooms engaging in the same process.

This computer-assisted evaluation tool allows for a positive testing or self-assessment experience for learners in an online learning context. This self-learning tool is also expected to allow for effective use of class time for foreign language instructors who teach hybrid classes by putting self-learning information and exercises online and conducting face-toface communicative activities in the classroom. In addition, to benefit students who cannot afford learning software, our research team attempted to build a web-based system open to the general public, using the learning of a Spanish grammatical structure as an example of CALL. This tool is easy to access, with no subscription fee, and without the hassle of software download and installation. It is hoped that this adaptive web-based educational resource with immediate feedback will encourage autonomous learning for interested learners.

#### Literature review

With the increasing prevalence of computer-assisted language learning, recent studies have put an emphasis on the adaptability of learning assisted tools as well as their content, which can be dynamically tailored to different learning styles, backgrounds, or the language proficiency of learners. Soflano, Connolly, and Hainey (2015) discussed adaptability in a game-based learning context according to different learning styles. Their experimental study showed that a context with adaptability led to better learning results as compared to paper-based learning. Muhammad, Zhou, Beydoun, Xu and Shen (2016) investigated adaptability based on a learning path to optimize a personalized e-learning system by analyzing metadata such as learning content, difficulty level, learner profiles, and users' visit history. Taking Duolingo as a referential example, it is a platform that include language learning website and app and is well-known for its data-driven technology. With the help of big data and artificial intelligence, Duolingo provides a personalized learning experience for each user through adaptive learning systems based on mathematical models. Its unique reward system also keeps users engaged in the learning process. It was evident that Duolingo is effective in improving the average language abilities of beginning learners of Spanish during an eight-week research period (Vesselinov and Grego, 2012).

The grammatical point chosen for this study is Spanish copular verbs (SER and ESTAR, which are equivalent to TO BE in English). This target form was selected because the structure of Spanish SER and ESTAR with adjectives presented a unique situation for our students, who learned Chinese as the first language, English as their first foreign language, and Spanish as a second foreign language. In Mandarin Chinese, the copular verb often occupies an empty position, whereas there are two options (SER or ESTAR) in Spanish and one possibility (TO BE) in English. The examples are presented below.

(1) La mamá <u>es</u> bonita.

媽媽 Ø(很)漂亮.

The mother is pretty. (2) El chico <u>está</u> enfermo. 那個男孩 Ø 病了. The boy is sick.

VanPatten (1985, 1987) proposed the developmental stages of the acquisition of Spanish copular verbs, SER and ESTAR based on English-speaking learners. Among the five developmental stages, SER is acquired before ESTAR overall, and the structure of ESTAR with adjectives is acquired late, much later than the structure of SER with adjectives. (See VanPatten, 1985 for details.) A similar pattern of developmental stages of the Spanish SER and ESTAR was found among Chinese-speaking Learners of Spanish (Cheng, Lu & Giannakouros, 2008). Spanish SER and ESTAR are typically taught early, but the structure of "SER or ESTAR + adjectives" is challenging for foreign language learners (e.g., Geeslin, 2004).

#### Methodology

The assessment tool developed for this study was designed to evaluate learners' reading and listening comprehension of sentences containing the Spanish structure "SER or ESTAR + adjectives." The research data was based on our previous research involving two experiments on the learning of the structure of Spanish SER or ESTAR with adjectives by Chinese-speaking L3 Spanish students: one experiment on L3 Spanish acquisition and another one on eye-movement recordings.

On the one hand, the results of the experiment on L3 Spanish acquisition provided empirical evidence related to differentiating various difficulty levels of test questions measured by the accuracy rates of learners' answers (Lu and Cheng, 2007). On the other hand, the results of the eye-movement experiment showed that the first and total fixation duration time of beginning learners were higher than those of intermediate level students for the copular verb SER, and there was a positive correlation between the first fixation time and the accuracy rate of comprehension.

The programming languages included a front end website user interface (such as html, ejs, css, JavaScript) and a website back end (the web server that processes the data, node.js and express). The programming framework included: (1) a user system for recording user scores and incorrect answers and (2) an evaluation system that provides users with questions at an appropriate difficulty level as determined by the learners' error rate when using "Spanish SER or ESTAR + adjectives" in their previous answers, and (3) the following sequence: "log in, input client data, evaluate, scoring, input client data, and connect to external website."

Two modules were developed to create an adaptive web-based evaluation system. First, the Question-List-Generation module was created based on records of user scores and incorrect answers. The Question-List-Generation module provided a list of questions at appropriate levels of difficulty for the user. The list of questions, which the Question-List-Generation module provided, showed up in order according to the json file storage sequence. The second module, the List-Shuffle module, which shuffled the question list into a random sequence, generated the special Question-Providing feature of this system.

The system development process started with the building of the ejs models (embedded JavaScript, through embedding the function with JavaScript features to create the HTML template) for each type of question, which reduced the amount of HTML files needed for storage and significantly lowering the complexity of the page routing. Then, the question format was transferred from the documents to json (JavaScript Object Notation, a file format) files, which worked with the ejs models. Later, the audio files were produced, and then the front- and back-ends were integrated. After that, the system was tested to locate formatting errors and system bugs, which were then fixed. Finally, we optimized all of the test items and modified the appearance of the website before the product was finalized.

Based on an internal evaluation, the final score was calculated based on the level of difficulty of each question. The level was determined by previous research data, feedback from Spanish professors and research assistants after they tested each question in our database, after which a cross-validation was performed. The weighting factors for easy, medium, and difficult levels were set at x1.0, x1.1, and x1.2, respectively, where users receive 4 points, multiplied by the corresponding coefficient if they answer correctly.

#### **Results and limitations**

This tool (https://spanish-testing-edu8.herokuapp.com/) not only helps learners gain a better understanding of the usage of the target structure (SER and ESTAR + adjectives), but also provides them with the opportunity to develop reading and listening comprehension skills. Furthermore, one of the main characteristics of this tool is the adaptive algorithm, which presents the subsequent question according to the overall user performance based on his/her previously answered questions. With that being said, if a user chooses the correct answer to a question with a medium difficulty level, there is a greater chance that the next question will be automatically selected at a medium or harder level to match this user's ability. In addition, since the questions appear randomly each time, learners can use the tool for repeated practice. Finally, users can go over the questions without a time limit until they really understand the target forms.

To evaluate user satisfaction of the assessment tool, a survey was conducted as well. With regard to the interface interaction between the users and the developed tool, the survey results showed that most users were satisfied with the Web-Based Adaptive Evaluation Tool. The assisted learning tool was easy and simple to use, and the types of questions included in the evaluation system were found to be useful for learning the target forms set for the purpose of this study. The participants also recommended this developed tool for self-learning.

However, during the process, we encountered several difficulties, such as identifying and classifying a large amount of data, including the correct answer for each test item, user answers and the test bank data. The key was to clearly set the data type beforehand, and then to manage the data based on the user. During the assessment, the user's account number was used as a basis for saving the data. One problem was that the templates of the questions were not compatible, such that the questions could not be saved under the same variable. The solution was to categorize the questions according to their type beforehand so that when the server was opened, the data would then be loaded to different variables. In addition, we simplified the template of each test item and then built each template separately. Another problem was that the questions could not be computed in the front end (to avoid cheating due to the data accessibility). We resolved this problem by moving the computing function to the back end, which, on the other hand, led to an increased flow of data.

Finally, there are some limitations of this developed tool that should be improved in the future. For example, the answer key only appears after users finish the test, which makes it difficult for them to pinpoint the test items they missed. Thus, compared to existing language learning tools, the interface and functions of this system are still very limited at this stage. For example, Duolingo, widely known for its functionality, allows learners to set daily goals and to use their virtual currency to make purchases in the store as a strategy to motivate them. Their discussion platform also enhances the user experience in the language learning process.

# Conclusion

This study focused on the development of an adaptive web-based system using the learning of a Spanish grammatical form to provide a user-friendly environment and to allow easy assess to a learning platform. The research results indicated that this web-based adaptive tool was easy to access for users at no cost. It could be effectively used to assist learners with learning the target forms (SER/ESTAR with adjectives). In addition, this study shed light on the integration of experimental research and its pedagogical application in

developing an online self-learning tool for the purpose of developing a no cost, easy access and effective learning tool for users.

# References

Cheng, A.C., Lu, H-C, & Giannakouros, P. (2008). The uses of Spanish copulas by Chinese-speaking learners in a free writing task. Bilingualism: Language and Cognition, 11 (3), 301–317.

Geeslin, K. (2004). Crossing disciplinary boundaries to improve the aAnalysis of second language data: A study of copula choice with adjectives in Spanish. Munich: Lincom Europa Publisher.

Lu, H.-C. & Cheng, A. C. (2007). Método de procesamiento y adquisición de la selección de verbos copulativos por los aprendices Taiwaneses. Encuentros en Catay, 21, 269-287.

Muhammad, A., Zhou, Q., Beydoun, G., Xu, D. & Shen, J. (2016). Learning path adaptation in online learning systems. 2016 IEEE 20th International Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work in Design (CSCWD) (pp. 421-426). United States: IEEE.

https://ro.uow.edu.au/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=6989&context=eispapers

Osborn, T. A. (2006). Teaching world languages for social justice: A sourcebook of principles and practices. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Rice, R. E., & Katz, J. E. (2003). Digital divides of the Internet and mobile phone: Structural determinants of the social context of communication technologies. In J. E. Katz (Ed.), Machines that become us: The social context of personal communication technologies (pp. 91-104). New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction.

Soflano, M., Connolly, T. M., & Hainey, T. (2015). An application of adaptive gamesbased learning based on learning style to teach SQL. Computers & Education, 86, 192-211.

VanPatten, B. (1985). The acquisition of "ser" and "estar" by adult learners of Spanish: A preliminary investigation of transitional stages of competence. Hispania, 68(2), 399-406.

VanPatten, B. (1987). Classroom learners' acquisition of ser and estar: Accounting for developmental patterns. In B. VanPatten, T. R. Dvorak & J. F. Lee (Eds.), Foreign languages learning: A research perspective (pp. 61-75). Rowley: Newbury House.

Vesselinov, R. & Grego, J. (2012). Duolingo effectiveness study. Final Report. Retrieved from http://static.duolingo.com/s3/DuolingoReport\_Final.pdf.

# Sarah H.J Liu

Kainan University, Taoyuan City, Taiwan

sarah.hjliu@gmail.com

# Using peergrade to investigate peer feedback in EFL and CSL writing

# Bio data



Sarah H-J Liu is currently an Associate Professor at the Department of Applied English at Kainan University in Taoyuan, Taiwan. Her research mainly focuses on technology-enhanced language learning and computer mediated communication.

# Abstract

This study aims to examine the focused and unfocused peer feedback in English-as-aforeign-language (EFL) and Chinese-as-a-second-language (CSL) contexts with the minimal intervention of the teacher-researcher through a web-based system. More specifically, this study conducted in Peergrade sought to understand whether focused (providing feedback on incorrect past simple tense in English and particles, e.g., "le" in Chinese) and unfocused (providing feedback on all errors) groups would provide different types of comments (local and/or global) on their peers' written assignments. The instruments used in this study included semi-structured and stimulated-recall interviews, feedback contents, and first/revised drafts of English and Chinese compositions. The preliminary results of the pilot study indicated that either focused or unfocused groups in EFL and CSL preferred to provide more local types of comments, e.g., incorrect grammatical features. However, the focused group yielded more global-type comments, such as sentential level comments, than did the unfocused group. Pedagogical implications based on the findings of this study will be included in this report.

# **Conference paper**

# Introduction

In the past few decades, peer feedback has been considered an important process that students are engaged in when performing a given task, which benefits students' critical thinking development, enriches students' learning experience, and facilitates independent learning (Topping, 1998). In line with the optimal goal of fostering learner autonomy, technology use that engages students in learning has been empirically proved in support of authentic communication, an increase of learners' motivation, and, more importantly, the enhancement of academic performance (Bellhäuser, Lösch, Winter, & Schmitz, 2016). Peer feedback in L2 or FL learning allows students to work collaboratively in groups in which they help each other to identify grammatical or lexical errors and to exchange their ideas or opinions regarding word usages, uncertainty of grammatical structures, and to develop problem-solving skills.

The purpose of the present research is twofold: First, it aims to help us understand whether learners who focus on particular grammatical features provide more global types of comments than those who concentrate on all grammatical features, including prepositions, conventions, spellings, and tenses. Second, a considerable number of previous research

studies in peer feedback in L2 or FL have examined the nature of peer feedback strategy use by L2 or FL learners without systematically drawing learners' attention to what to focus on when providing feedback to their peers. Hence, the current study based on a previous research (Min, 2005) designed a three-step peer rubric in the peer feedback system Peergrade to assist learners to first identify, then to explain, and finally to correct errors. Following this, relevant literature and previous studies regarding peer feedback in L2 or FL will be discussed subsequently.

#### **Literature Review**

To date, previous empirical studies have offered insights into how peer feedback could improve students' writing in L2/FL. The two sections presented here look at the impact of peer feedback or peer feedback training on L2/FL writing in both face-to-face (F2F) and technology-based environments.

#### Impact of Peer Feedback on the Development in L2/FL Writing

Peer feedback in L2 or FL writing refers to the condition where learners work together to provide each other with comments or feedback on writing (Chen, 2014). Trained peer feedback is considered to be a rich source of linguistic (e.g., grammar) and non-linguistic (e.g., a sense of group cohesion) information (Hansen & Liu, 2005). Evidence drawn from quantitative and qualitative studies suggests that learners benefited from peer feedback, for example, improving their writing accuracy, cultivating their critical thinking, and facilitating self-regulated learning. In Min's (2005) study, EFL participants received peer feedback training, that is, they learned how to provide written comments on their peers' essays according to a four-step procedure: to clarify a writer's intentions, to identify problems, to explain the problems, and to make suggestions for the problems. In that study, the written comments consisted of global and local aspects, where the former related to the ideas of the essays, and the latter to grammar, word usage, and so on. Her findings reveal that the participants were able to make more global types of comments than local ones, and they expressed positive attitudes toward the peer feedback training, improving their confidence, language skills, and ability to self-monitoring.

Rahimi (2013) discovered that the feedback-trained group was more likely to pay attention to global comments regarding contents and organization of writing, whereas the untrained group tended to make local comments, such as grammatical and lexical errors. In addition, the trained group was found to incorporate more global comments than local ones into their revisions; on the other hand, those in the untrained group used more local feedback than global feedback. As suggested, the tendency of providing global feedback that contributed to better quality of writing was attributable to feedback training; in other words, the participants who received feedback training noticed not only the global aspects but also linguistic features that influenced the quality of their peers' writing.

# Technology-Based Peer Feedback Training

Peer feedback training in technology- or computer-based environments has received much research attention in recent years because of the advantages it offers: It allows teachers/instructors and students to provide instant access to feedback (Chen, 2014) and enhances writing proficiency (Liou & Peng, 2009). In their study, Liou and Peng (2009) assessed the quality of students' comments before and after peer feedback training and showed that students made more evaluative comments about the strengths or weaknesses of their peers' writing and suggestions as to how a piece of writing could or should be revised. Apart from the increasing number of comments made by the participants, webbased instruction increased the participants' interest in improving their writing.

A group of researchers conducting a meta-analysis, van Popta, Kral, Camp, Martens, and Simons (2017), emphasizes that feedback providers play an important role in enhancing metacognitive skills in L2/FL writing. These skills involve monitoring and evaluating their own learning and, more importantly, developing learners' critical thinking skills. In one situation, when a learner as a reviewer evaluates his/her fellow's writing, s/he compares

to what s/he knows to make effective feedback or comments that in turn effectively helps revise his/her compositions.

Empirical evidence of comparative studies supports a claim that online applications offer more opportunities than F2F environments to increase the quality of peer feedback and writing in L2 or FL. For example, Liu and Sadler (2003) conducted a study that examined the differences between F2F and online groups. The latter group used Word that automatically checks their grammar and ill-formed sentences, whereas the former group did not have the technological aid or lacked confidence in providing corrections/comments to their peers. As a result, the latter yielded more comments than did the former group.

#### Methods

#### Participants

A total of 12 participants, involving 5 male and 7 female students, took part in this pilot study with a mean age of 24 years. The participants were sophomore- and junior-year students in the chosen university. Of these students, 6 were in the EFL group and 6 in the CSL group. The former involved EFL students who have studied English for more than 5 years; the latter group was CSL students from Vietnam studying Chinese in Taiwan for at least 3 years. As shown in Table 1, both EFL and CSL groups were further divided into focused peer feedback (FPF) and unfocused peer feedback (UPF) groups. This condition resulted in an equal number of students in FPF (N = 6) and UPF (N = 6) in two languages: in EFL, 3 students in FPF and 3 students in UPF; in CSL, 3 in FPF and 3 in UPF.

Table 1. List of the Groups				
	FPF	UPF		
EFL	3	3		
CSL	3	3		

#### Online Peer Feedback System

The online system Peergrade promotes peer collaborative learning whereby groups of students work together to provide each other with feedback on their own work (Peergrade, 2017), consisting of two modes that allow a tutor to manage "live sessions" and "classes." In this study, "classes" was adopted, where the researcher created written assignments for students and set up feedback rubrics. Figure 1 illustrates that the system permits a tutor to edit dates for assignment and feedback submissions.



Figure 1. Peergrade: setting up dates for assignment and feedback submissions

In the feedback loop, each student is asked to review his/her fellow's assignment (see A in Figure 2)— for example, the student views the first assignment shown in B—and provides feedback according to the rubrics. In this study, three questions of the rubric displayed on the right-hand side in C required each student to first identify errors and then to explain the errors in relation to grammar, word usage, and content of compositions and finally to correct the errors.



Figure 2. Peergrade snapshot of the tutor interface

#### Feedback Rubrics

Based on the feedback categories proposed by Min (2005), three rubric questions with three stages guided the students to provide feedback on their peers' writing. The rubrics were implemented in Peergrade. In the first stage, the participants as reviewers identified global and/or local types of errors. However, to avoid directing the attention of the participants to providing global or local comments as the researcher attempted to provide minimal intervention in the participants' preferences, the focused groups were only informed to identify past simple tense in EFL and CSL, whereas the unfocused groups were invited to identify any types of errors in this stage.

In the second stage, the rubric questions provided to the FPF and UPF groups involved asking the learners to explain the errors identified in the previous stage. During this stage, having to express themselves in the target language might cause difficulties or affect what they tried to say. Thus, they were allowed to use their first language. In the last stage, the students were required to provide corrections or suggestions for the errors.

#### Instruments and Materials

In this study, instruments and learning materials adopted for both EFL and CSL groups are discussed as follows.

# 1. Writing tasks

Two online writing tasks, taken from Heaton (1975), were utilized in EFL and CSL groups. Each task was composed of a set of pictures to deal with some situations including people, objects, places, and so on. Each online task asked a participant to compose a draft of 300 words and to revise the draft after receiving feedback from their peers.

# 2. Semi-structured interviews and stimulated-recall interview

A semi-structured interview with 7 questions was conducted to determine whether the participants noticed their own and others' errors in compositions, whether peer feedback could help them improve their writing in the target language, whether they understood the steps of peer feedback training, and how they felt about using Peergrade to provide feedback to others. The purpose of this interview is to understand how they perceived providing feedback to their peers via the given technological tool. Additionally, to understand how the students reacted or interpreted feedback contents, a paper-based stimulated-recall interview was administered. During the interview, the students were asked if they revised their writing according to the feedback and why they did not revise it. More importantly, the researcher avoided asking leading questions that interrupted the participants' thoughts and minimized talking time and only asked questions to clarify unclear responses of the participants.

#### Procedure of Data Collection

The researcher first contacted some of potential EFL and CSL students through LINE Instant Messaging. Those who were interested to participate in this study were informed regarding
an introductory session taking place in a computer cluster. The first introductory session was arranged for the focused groups of EFL and CSL, where the researcher briefly explained the research intent and ethics. The participants also had the right to discontinue the research when they did not feel comfortable undertaking any tests. As a result, all the participants gave their written consent sheets.

Each learner signed up for a new account and practiced using the system to upload his/her document, sending messages, and providing comments. Three students worked in one group whereby each student was required to review two compositions. The session lasted about two hours. The focused groups were told to compose a 300-word story that occurred in the past using verbs and to provide comments on errors in relation to the past simple tense in EFL and Chinese particles (e.g., "le") in CSL. For the unfocused groups in EFL and CSL, they were notified to compose a 300-word story, but they were instructed to use the past tense during the writing process and to provide feedback on what they were told. The next day, the same procedure was repeated for the unfocused group students of EFL and CSL. However, during the feedback process, the learners were instructed to provide feedback on all types of errors.

During weeks 2 and 3, the learners were informed to compose two pieces of writing, provide feedback to their peers, and revise their own work. All these requirements were done in Peergrade. In the final week, four learners were randomly selected from each group to participate in the semi-structured and stimulated-recall interviews. They were interviewed individually by the researcher; during the semi-structured interview, individual students were prompted to answer 7 questions. Immediately after this interview, they were instructed to look at their first and revised compositions that corresponded to their peer comments during the paper-based stimulated-recall interview. One entire interviewing session took a participant approximately one hour. All interviews conducted in Mandarin Chinese were video-recorded, and the recording data were transcribed verbatim for further analyses.

## Data Analysis

Qualitative data were gathered and analyzed in this study. The interview data including semi-structured and stimulated-recall interviews were first transcribed and then coded. In addition, peer feedback contents were analyzed according to global and local comments. All data were first coded by the researcher; after one month, she coded the data again. The intra-rater reliability reached 82%.

## **Results and Discussion**

This research explored what types of comments FPF and UPF groups tended to provide to their peers in two languages. Data kept in Peergrade and interview recordings were used. Based on the analysis of the comments in EFL and CSL in two online tasks, Table 2 displays the number (N) and percentages (%) of global and local comments. EFL and CSL students were more likely to make local comments relating to incorrect tenses or prepositions and word usages. For example, in EFL, FPF and UPF made more than 50% of local types of errors.

	Table 2. comments of global and local types made by fift and off									
		FPF			UPF					
	Glob	al	Loca	al	Glob	al	Loca	al		
	N	%	Ν	%	N	%	Ν	%		
EFL	18	40	27	60	4	11	32	89		
CSL	11	42	15	58	5	17	24	83		

Table 2. Comments of global and local types made by FPF and UP
--

Specifically, both the FPF and UPF groups in EFL were found producing more local comments (N = 27, 60% and N = 32, 89% respectively) than global comments (N = 18, 40% and N = 4, 11% respectively). Similarly, the CSL groups yielded more local (N = 15, 58% in FPF, N = 24, 83% in UPF) than global (N = 11, 42% in FPF, N = 5, 17% in UPF)

Note: FPF: focused peer feedback; UPF: unfocused peer feedback

comments. However, learners of the two languages in FPF made more global comments than those of the two languages in UPF.

In the semi-structured and stimulated-recall interview data, two EFL students in the FPF groups mainly focused on their peers' incorrect tenses, such as using present simple instead of past simple, due to the grammatical feature that all participants were familiar with that did not take too much time or efforts to identify or explain. This condition helped them to notice some other mistakes, such as the incoherent ideas expressed in a composition. On the other hand, three learners in UPF paid attention to the local types of errors that widely covered subject-verb agreement, present/past perfect tenses, prepositions, misspellings, and conventions, because numerous linguistic errors occurred in their peers' compositions.

In CSL, one learner in FPF explicitly stated that his group members did not make any Chinese particle errors (e.g., "le [7]," "guo [過]," "zhe [8]"), so this enabled him to read more carefully the contents and ideas of stories composed by his fellows and to identify whether all the sentences were coherent or logical. He also strongly expressed that making local corrections did not make any sense at all because the ideas of the stories were more important than the linguistic items.

## Conclusion

This pilot study explored the differences in the peer feedback of focused and unfocused groups in EFL and CSL via Peergrade. The following limitations need to be considered though. First, the learning behavior in terms of providing peer feedback found in this study cannot be generalized since the sample size is relatively small. Second, as a pilot study, it was expected that the participants would have spent insufficient time practicing peer feedback or writing, and this condition in turn would affect the learner performances. It is likely that the length of the experiment was too short to internalize the learned knowledge (e.g., providing feedback or noticing one's own errors). However, the results provide useful indications for future studies that cover a longer period of time, e.g., a six- or eight-week experiment.

The results of this study point at some pedagogical implications. The first implication is that technological resources provide learners with significant opportunities to enhance autonomous learning as those resources are widely accessible from home or on campus thus allowing the learners to learn the target language without physical or time constraints. Furthermore, peer feedback that benefits students' learning should be effectively implemented inside the classroom where a tutor demonstrates how it works; doing so will potentially contribute to developing self-regulated learning outside the classroom in which learners are able to plan their own learning agenda, monitor their learning progress, and evaluate their learning performances with regard to their writing skills.

Acknowledgment: The author would like to thank the Ministry of Science and Technology, Taiwan, Republic of China, for financially supporting this research under Grant No. MOST 107-2410-H-424-011-.

## References

Bellhäuser, H., Lösch, T., Winter, C. & Schmitz, B. (2016). Applying a web-based training to Foster self-regulated learning – Effects of an intervention for large numbers of participants. The Internet and Higher Education, doi: 10.1016/j.iheduc.2016.07.002

Chen, T. (2014). Technology-supported peer feedback in ESL/EFL writing classes: a research synthesis. Computer Assisted Language Learning, DOI: 10.1080/09588221.2014.960942

Hansen, J. G., & Liu, J. (2005). Guiding principles for effective peer response. ELT Journal, 59(1), 31-38.

Heaton, J. B. (1975). Beginning composition through pictures. London: Longman. Liou, H. C., & Peng, Z. Y. (2009). Training effects on computer-mediated peer review. System, 37, 514-525.

Liu, J., & Sadler, R. W. (2003). The effect and affect of peer review in electronic versus traditional modes on L2 writing. Journal of English for Academic Purposes, 2, 193-227.

Min, H. T. (2005). Training students to become successful peer reviewers. System, 33, 293-308.

Peergrade. (2017). Peergrade Features. Retrieved from https://www.peergrade.io/features/

Rahimi, M. (2013). Is training student reviewers worth its while? A study of how training influences the quality of students' feedback and writing. Language Teaching Research, 17(1), 67–89.

Topping, K. (1998). Peer assessment between students in colleges and universities. Review of Educational Research, 68(3), 249-276.

Van Beuningen, C. G., de Jong, N. H., & Kuiken, F. (2012). Evidence on the effectiveness of comprehensive error correction in second language writing. Language Learning, 62(1), 1-41.

# Sihui Liu, Aditi Jhaveri

The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong

1155081866@link.cuhk.edu.hk

# A corpus-driven genre analysis of captions of food-related posts of popular Hong Kong foodies on Instagram

# Bio data



Sihui Liu is a full-time RA working at Centre for Applied English Studies (CAES) in HKU. After finishing her MA study in CUHK, she worked as a fulltime RA in several universities in HK. She developed her interest in sociolinguistics during her working with Professor David LI in PolyU and her interest in CALL during her participation in the ICCE 2018.



Aditi Jhaveri is a Lecturer working at Centre for Applied English Studies (CAES) in HKU. She has been teaching language, communication and media courses to tertiary students in Hong Kong since 2004. She is also the recipient of HKU SPACE's Outstanding Teacher Award (2007) and HKU's Postgraduate Fellowship Award (2008). Prior to starting her career in education, she worked for BBC World Service Radio as a news presenter and writer.

# Abstract

As a photo capturing and sharing application launched in October 2010, Instagram has been increasingly popular in recent decades especially among the young generation. Previous studies have investigated this topic in terms of socio-culture, digitalization, gender and also other aspects. However, very few have focused on the genre of the captions of food discourse on Instagram. Thus, the present study aims to fill this niche by adopting a corpus-driven genre-based approach through analyzing popular Hong Kong foodies' foodrelated posts on Instagram trying to investigate: 1). What are the moves and move types of the captions of food-related posts of these popular Hong Kong foodies on Instagram? 2). If so, what are the communicative purposes served by these move types in terms of Instagram as a social medium? 3). Are there any special features of these captions?

## **Conference paper**

## Introduction

The way people communicate and socialize with each other has been dramatically changed by the emerging social media in recent decades. As a relatively new application released by its co-founders Kevin Systrom and Mike Krieger in October 2010, Instagram has witnessed rapid evolution in the past years. Its user community grew from 150 million registered active users (Instagram 2013) to over 700 million in 2017 (Instagram 2017). In less than 10 years, its uploaded photos and videos also grew from the time of its launch over 55 million to 80 million daily in 2016 (Instagram 2016).

As a visual-based mobile application, Instagram is mainly used for capturing people's moments of life through photo or video shooting, editing and sharing. After capturing the photos, users could render the image by using the built-in filters and effects to adjust the color saturation, sharpness etc. before their uploading. Below the uploaded photos is the

caption, which usually offers relevant context for the posted photos. Captions normally encompass Texts, Emojis, Hashtags and Tags. Each of them serves different functions as one component of the caption.

Texts are the descriptions or explanations of the posted photos and the word limit is 1000. Emojis are symbols used by users to express themselves during their Instagram communication. Below the texts within the caption is the Hashtag, which is composed of the symbol (#) followed by a word or certain series of words. Hashtags usually serve two functions: classify the uploaded content into different categories and help the audience to conveniently trace specific topics which they are interested in. The maximum number of the hashtags of each post is 30. Users could also mention other users by the tagging function on Instagram, which would produce a hyperlink directly reaching the profile of the one being tagged. Another kind of tag is called "geo-tag", which is used for users' convenient marking of the location for the post.

Each user's posts are displayed in reverse chronologic order but they are not always viewable to everyone due to different privacy settings on Instagram. The logged-in users can follow others after they receive the "follow requests" permission from the other side so as to become "friends" (i.e. "followers") of those users; however, users followed by them are not necessarily to follow them back. The logged-in users could also "like" or "comment" others' posts and their likes or comments could also be tracked by viewers who could approach these posts. The more feedback (i.e. likes and comments) users give to the posts, the better Instagram would know their preferences so as to recommend posts that cater to their interests, which would help to expand users' social connection within the Instagram community correspondingly.

To sum up, the emerging of the Instagram has revolutionarily changed people's way of viewing and experiencing the visual content on social network. Through the people followed by you and the posts recommended by the platform, Instagram provides new ways for its users to discover and explore the wonder of the world, express themselves through creating and sharing their life experience beyond the restriction of time and space, expand their social networks to interact and connect with each other and broaden their horizons through all the process. Thus, Instagram is of great significance as a social medium in modern society, which lays the scene for the present research.

## **Literature Review**

## Previous studies on Instagram

Being an emerging social medium, Instagram has receiving increasing attention from the academia in recent decades. Manikonda, Hu and Kambhampati (2014) conducted the first thorough study on the analysis of users' behavior, demographic information, posted content as well as their social network on Instagram. Though almost focusing on the same issues, Jang, Han, Shih and Lee (2015) noticed the differences of the number and content of the posted photos, way of engagement (e.g. photo tagging for gaining more likes and comments) and using frequency of the self-representation vary from teenager group to the adult group due to the age gap. Compared with these two studies, Ferrara, Interdonato and Tagarelli (2014) moved one step closer to the social dimension and studied how do interesting topics of individuals crystallize to formulate the trend in vogue across our society. Apart from focusing on behavior dimension, scholars also studied the influence of the use of Instagram on people's psychological or emotional well-being. For example, Andalibi, Ozturk and Forte (2015) conducted a research on what kind of role photo sharing played by analyzing what kinds of photos posted by depression people and how would they formulate corresponding captions for these posts so as to offer some guidance for the design of computer systems in such contexts. Reece and Danforth (2017) distinguished depression markers by analyzing attributes of photos posted on Instagram through adopting a computer science based approach. Apart from research related to depression, researchers also found that compared with other media which are text-based, image-based applications (like Instagram) tend to relieve people's loneliness since the application enhances intimacy between users on the platform (Pittman & Reich, 2016). Furthermore,

since Instagram is a very powerful social media platform to reach the audience, it is widely used in various audience-targeted industries like brand building in marketing (Miles, 2014), fashion (Carah & Shaul, 2016; Abidin, 2016 etc.), tourism (Fatanti & Suyadnya, 2015); teaching and learning facilitation in the digitalized era (Al-Bahrani & Patel, 2015 etc.); dermatology (Karimkhani, Connett, Boyers, Quest & Dellavalle, 2014), journalism (Alper, 2014) and so on.

## Previous studies of food on Instagram

Manikonda, Hu and Kambhampati (2014) classified Instagram photos into eight categories (friends, food, gadget, captioned photo, pet, activities, selfies and fashion) in terms of content. Among all, food category accounts for over ten percent, which is not small in number. However, studies of food on Instagram are relatively few. In terms of the analysis of content of food posts on Instagram, Rich, Haddadi and Hospedales (2016) conducted the first large scale content analysis of food posts to investigate the relationship between posted food images and their related Hashtags through a data-driven approach and formulated the approach for food image recognition at high accuracy level. As for the impact of food posts on Instagram towards people and their behaviour, Spence and his colleges (Spence, Okajima, Cheok, Petit & Michel, 2016) investigated whether the increase of the exposure of food images could exert any physiological or psychological influence on people's brain (like changing their neural activity etc.) or people's behaviour response (like triggering hunger or intensifying their desire for food etc.). Researchers have also explored how do food posts on Instagram serve specific purposes in the social contexts like how do food posts on Instagram could be used as a tool for promoting healthy lifestyle (Mejova, Abbar & Haddadi, 2016) or as a tool for motivating healthy eating on campus among university students (Conklin, Giuliano & Baker, 2018). However, very few have focused on the genre of the captions of food discourse on Instagram.

Thus, the present study aims to fill this niche by adopting a corpus-driven genre-based approach through analyzing popular Hong Kong foodies' posts on Instagram and answer the following questions: 1). What are the moves and move types of the captions of food-related posts of these popular Hong Kong foodies on Instagram? 2). If so, what are the communicative purposes served by these move types in terms of Instagram as a social medium? 3). Are there any special features of these captions?

## Methodology

## Theoretical foundation

Swales (1990) defines genre as a communicative event which serves certain communicative purposes and is identified and understood by its community members. Focusing on meaning and ideas of the text, he also developed "move analysis" into a top-down approach which regarded each discourse text as being composed of several "moves" in a certain kind of order and each move serves a certain communicative purpose (Swales, 1981, 1990).

Since we found that the captions posted by these popular HK foodies formulate a certain type of genre and the top-down approach is a very effective way to analyze specific kind of genre, we decided to conduct a top-down genre analysis of these captions to explore their moves and move types as well as the functions potentially served by them since certain genre is associated with certain group of people and certain communicative purposes (Jones, 2012).

We drew on the adapted version (see Table 1. below) of the top-down approach of the move analyzing strategies of Biber et al. (2007) and Upton & Cohen (2009) to analyze moves, move types of these captions and Hashtags in terms of the communicative or functional purposes served by them.

Table 1. Top-down corpus-based analysis of discourse organization

1. Communicative/ functional categories(1) Identify all possible move types of the genre in terms of communicative/functional purposes by roughly reading the texts of the captions for several times (2) Group move types that are functionally close to each other into the same category (3) Keep refining the classification of the move types by conducting a pilot-coding until the boundaries are clear and there is no overlap between each move type (4) Write the first draft of the definition of each move type (5) Segment the texts into moves as defined in (4) and record the new moves (6) Refine the move type categorization by creating new move types based on (5) and merge with the old scheme developed and defined in (4) (7) Rewrite definition, explanation and give examples for each move type within the new categorizing scheme (8) Classify each identified moves into the new scheme of move types	Steps	Application
functional categoriescommunicative/functional purposes by roughly reading the texts of the captions for several times (2) Group move types that are functionally close to each other into the same category (3) Keep refining the classification of the move types by conducting a pilot-coding until the boundaries are clear and there is no overlap between each move type (4) Write the first draft of the definition of each move type (5) Segment the texts into moves as defined in (4) and record the new moves (6) Refine the move type categorization by creating new move types based on (5) and merge with the old scheme developed and defined in (4) (7) Rewrite definition, explanation and give examples for each move type within the new categorizing scheme (8) Classify each identified moves into the new scheme of move types	1. Communicative/	(1) Identify all possible move types of the genre in terms of
<ul> <li>of the captions for several times         <ul> <li>(2) Group move types that are functionally close to each other into the same category</li> <li>(3) Keep refining the classification of the move types by conducting a pilot-coding until the boundaries are clear and there is no overlap between each move type</li></ul></li></ul>	functional categories	communicative/functional purposes by roughly reading the texts
<ul> <li>(2) Group move types that are functionally close to each other into the same category <ul> <li>(3) Keep refining the classification of the move types by conducting a pilot-coding until the boundaries are clear and there is no overlap between each move type</li> <li>(4) Write the first draft of the definition of each move type</li> <li>(5) Segment the texts into moves as defined in (4) and record the new moves</li> <li>(6) Refine the move type categorization by creating new move types based on (5) and merge with the old scheme developed and defined in (4)</li> <li>(7) Rewrite definition, explanation and give examples for each move type within the new categorizing scheme</li> </ul> </li> <li>3. Classification</li> </ul>		of the captions for several times
<ul> <li>(3) Keep refining the classification of the move types by conducting a pilot-coding until the boundaries are clear and there is no overlap between each move type <ul> <li>(4) Write the first draft of the definition of each move type</li> <li>(5) Segment the texts into moves as defined in (4) and record the new moves</li> <li>(6) Refine the move type categorization by creating new move types based on (5) and merge with the old scheme developed and defined in (4)</li> <li>(7) Rewrite definition, explanation and give examples for each move type within the new categorizing scheme</li> </ul> </li> <li>3. Classification <ul> <li>(3) Keep refining the classification of the move types</li> </ul> </li> </ul>		(2) Group move types that are functionally close to each other into the same category
<ul> <li>conducting a pilot-coding until the boundaries are clear and there is no overlap between each move type         <ul> <li>(4) Write the first draft of the definition of each move type</li> <li>(5) Segment the texts into moves as defined in (4) and record the new moves                 <ul> <li>(6) Refine the move type categorization by creating new move types based on (5) and merge with the old scheme developed and defined in (4)</li> <li>(7) Rewrite definition, explanation and give examples for each move type within the new categorizing scheme</li> <li>(8) Classify each identified moves into the new scheme of move types</li> </ul> </li> </ul> </li> </ul>		(3) Keep refining the classification of the move types by
2. Segmentation(4) Write the first draft of the definition of each move type (4) Write the first draft of the definition of each move type (5) Segment the texts into moves as defined in (4) and record the new moves 		conducting a pilot-coding until the boundaries are clear and
<ul> <li>(4) Write the first draft of the definition of each move type</li> <li>2. Segmentation <ul> <li>(5) Segment the texts into moves as defined in (4) and record the new moves</li> <li>(6) Refine the move type categorization by creating new move types based on (5) and merge with the old scheme developed and defined in (4)</li> <li>(7) Rewrite definition, explanation and give examples for each move type within the new categorizing scheme</li> <li>3. Classification </li> </ul> </li> </ul>		there is no overlap between each move type
<ul> <li>2. Segmentation         <ul> <li>(5) Segment the texts into moves as defined in (4) and record the new moves</li> <li>(6) Refine the move type categorization by creating new move types based on (5) and merge with the old scheme developed and defined in (4)</li> <li>(7) Rewrite definition, explanation and give examples for each move type within the new categorizing scheme</li> <li>3. Classification                 <ul> <li>(8) Classify each identified moves into the new scheme of move types</li> </ul> </li> </ul> </li> </ul>		(4) Write the first draft of the definition of each move type
<ul> <li>(6) Refine the move type categorization by creating new move types based on (5) and merge with the old scheme developed and defined in (4)</li> <li>(7) Rewrite definition, explanation and give examples for each move type within the new categorizing scheme</li> <li>3. Classification</li> <li>(8) Classify each identified moves into the new scheme of move types</li> </ul>	2. Segmentation	(5) Segment the texts into moves as defined in (4) and record the new moves
<ul> <li>based on (5) and merge with the old scheme developed and defined in         <ul> <li>(4)</li> <li>(7) Rewrite definition, explanation and give examples for each move type within the new categorizing scheme</li> <li>3. Classification</li> <li>(8) Classify each identified moves into the new scheme of move types</li> </ul> </li> </ul>		(6) Refine the move type categorization by creating new move types
<ul> <li>(7) Rewrite definition, explanation and give examples for each move type within the new categorizing scheme</li> <li>3. Classification</li> <li>(8) Classify each identified moves into the new scheme of move types</li> </ul>		based on (5) and merge with the old scheme developed and defined in (4)
3. Classificationtype within the new categorizing scheme (8) Classify each identified moves into the new scheme of move types		(7) Rewrite definition, explanation and give examples for each move
3. Classification (8) Classify each identified moves into the new scheme of move types		type within the new categorizing scheme
	3. Classification	(8) Classify each identified moves into the new scheme of move types

Adapted from Biber et al. (2007) and Upton & Cohen (2009).

## **Data Collection and Analysis**

The three selected participants of this research are foodies on Instagram who satisfy the following criteria. They are: 1). Ranked top ten among the HK foodies in terms of popularity (i.e. the number of the followers on their Instagram profile) based on our literature review; 2). Their posts are mainly HK based (judged from the geo-tags of each post); 3). They should be willing to participant in this study and allow us to retrieve their food-related Instagram posts for the use of this academic research.

The corpus consists of snapshots of food-related posts from their Instagram pages throughout the whole February of 2019. All the texts of the captions were converted into word text files matched with corresponding food pictures (see in the Appendix 2) but all other information like emojis, check-ins and comments were excluded.

One multilingual researcher coded and tagged the corpus data in Microsoft Word files manually with the guidance of Saldana (2009) and procedures in Table 1 for the first round, which was later double-checked by the other multilingual researcher for the sake of accuracy. Follow-up discussion and re-confirmation were also deployed for the refinement of the coding scheme and coding results between these two researchers. The final statistical analysis was conducted and accomplished by the use of Microsoft Excel.

## **Results and Discussion**

## Move types and their communicative functions

According to the statistical analysis, twelve move types were identified from the total 123 moves as showed by the following Table 2 including their using frequency as well as percentage:

Table 2. Twelve identified move types, their frequency and percentage

Move types	Frequency	Percentage
1. Sharing their own experience, emotions or thoughts	16	13.01
<ol><li>Introducing the food name or style</li></ol>	7	5.69
<ol><li>Describing the appearance or taste of the food</li></ol>	3	2.44
<ol><li>Evaluating the restaurant or the taste of the food</li></ol>	5	4.07
5. Making congratulations or wishes to others	11	8.94
6. Making greetings to others	5	4.07
7. Thanking others	2	1.63
8. Hashtags	42	34.15
9. Tagging (e.g. people or restaurants)	17	13.82
10. Cheers/proclaims	3	2.44
11. Appealing (e.g. friends, customers etc.)	8	6.50
12. Adding relevant background story (e.g. historical background	4	3.25
etc.)		
Total	123	100

As we can see from the above, Move 8 Hashtags (34.15%) is used most frequently among all twelve move types, followed by Move 9 Tagging (13.82%) and Move 1 Sharing their own experience, emotions or thoughts (13.01%). Such results might indicate that these popular HK foodies on Instagram are quite used to make full use of the Instagram built-in functions (namely, Hashtags and Tagging) to formulate their captions to reach their target audience and share their own experience, emotions or thoughts.

## **Different categories of Hashtags**

536 hashtags were identified from the captions of all the collected posts, which fell into three main theme categories in terms of their communicative or functional purposes: A). Food description; B). Experience of getting food; C). Issues shared by certain Instagram communities (as shown in Appendix 1). The frequency of each category was recorded and the percentage of each sub-category was also calculated as follows:

Table 3. Freque	ency and perce	entage of three catego	ries of Hashtags	
Category	Hashtags	Category A Food	Category B Experience	Category C Issues
		description (7	of getting food (5	shared by certain
		categories)	categories)	Instagram communities
Frequency	526	201	158	167
Percentage	100	38.21	30.04	31.75

Table 2 Fm ...... ~ **f** + h + ~ . . . 

The definition, explanation, examples, frequency and percentage of each category are listed as below:

Categories	Definition & Explanation & Examples	Frequency	Percentage
Food description	Descriptions centering on food include the following 7 subcategories	201	100
A1. Cuisine/ Dishes	Food cooked in a particular way as a meal, e.g. friedeggs, charsiu etc.	20	9.95
A2. Ingredients	The ingredients that were used to cook cuisine/dishes, e.g. soy, glutinousrice etc.	80	39.8
A3. Desserts	Sweet food served after the main part of a meal, e.g. pastry, cookies etc.	9	4.48
A4. Drinks	What they drank when they enjoyed the food, e.g. bubbletea, coffee etc.	3	1.49
A5. Styles	The style of the food, e.g. hkfood, chinesefood etc.	59	29.35
A6. Features/ Properties	The features or properties of the food like the shape (e.g. rose), the taste (e.g. sweet), the size (e.g. mini) etc.	20	9.95
A7. Evaluation	Judgment or evaluation about the food from foodies, e.g. yumyum, lovefirstbite etc.	10	4.98

Table 4. Category A Food description (7 categories)

Table 5. Category B Experience of getting food (5 categories)

Categories	Definition & Explanation & Examples	Frequency	Percentage			
B. Experience of getting food	The event or activity that the poster jointed for getting good, which consists of the following 5 elements	158	100			
B1. With whom	Suggest their relationship with those who they are together with when enjoying the	1	0.633			
	experience of getting food, e.g. brosforlife, friends etc.					
B2. Time	The time when they enjoyed food including season (e.g. summer), month (e.g. July), day (Friday) etc.	1	0.633			
B3. Emotion/mood	What kind of emotion the user was in, e.g. happytired, missinguk etc.	20	12.66			
B4. Where(country/ district/restaurant)	The place or venue that they enjoyed food including the name of the country (e.g. Singapore), district (e.g. hk) or restaurant (e.g. no5italian) etc.	49	31.01			
B5. What/Why	The event/activity of getting food or other things that deserve marking, e.g. picnic, dinnerdate etc.	87	55.06			
Table 6. Category C Issu	es shared by certain Instagram communities					
Category C Definition & Explanation & Examples Frequ						
Issues shared by cer	tain The hashtags related to issues shared b	ру	167			
Instagram communit	ties certain communities on Instagram e.g. hkfoodie, food52 in food community an in Instagram community etc	certain communities on Instagram e.g. hkfoodie, food52 in food community and hkig in Instagram community atc				

As we can see from the above Table 3 to Table 6, Category A Food description depicts food in terms of 7 aspects, among which the subcategory A2. Ingredients ranked the highest percentage (39.8%) followed by the subcategory A5 Styles (29.35%), which seems indicate that people care more about these two aspects of food shared on Instagram.

As for Category B Experience of getting food, the percentage of the subcategory B5 What/why ranks the highest (55.06%) followed by subcategory B4 Where (country/district/restaurant) (31.01%) and B3 Emotion/Mood (12.66%), which indicates that these popular HK foodies tend to be more likely to offer information about the event and location as well as express their emotion when they describe experience of getting food in the Hashtags of their captions.

As for Category C Issues shared by certain Instagram communities, Hashtags within this category contain issues shared by people from particular communities on Instagram such as #food52 in the Instagram foodie community, #hkig in the Instagram community etc. By various roles played within different kinds of communities, these popular HK foodies succeed in reaching varied target audience and relevant communities so as to build and reinforce connections with these people.

To sum up, Hashtags used by popular HK foodies mainly play three roles in terms of their social functions: food description, record of the experience of getting food and symbols to certain target audience communities for connection building and reinforcement.

## Tagging as a special feature

Apart from the above discussed text and Hashtags within these captions, we also distinguished tagging as a special feature in the formulation of the captions of these popular HK foodies' posts on Instagram to serve various communicative purposes in different social contexts such as tagging people (e.g. their friends or photographers or chefs etc.) to express their thanks or giving feedback or sharing experience, tagging restaurants or stores or brands for recommendation, tagging certain community to reach the target audience to attract more attention etc.

To sum up, we collected and analyzed captions of food-related posts from three top popular HK foodies on Instagram through a top-down approach based on the corpus-driven genre analysis. We distinguished twelve move types from 123 moves of the texts of the captions and three main categories from 536 Hashtags. We also statistically analyzed the frequency of each move type and Hashtag category as well as their percentage within each larger category. Furthermore, tagging is also distinguished as one special feature for contributing to the formulation of the captions of the posts. Through the process of analyzing various communicative purposes served by these posted captions, we can see that these popular HK foodies are quite good at making full use of Instagram as a social medium for information exchange, eating experience expressing and sharing, interpersonal relations building and reinforcement with targeted community within different social contexts.

## Limitations and future research

Due to the narrow focus of this research, the analysis of food images was not included, which might influence the comprehensiveness of the present research. Future study could continue in this direction, namely, to explore how would these captions support people's understanding of the images.

## References

Abidin, C. (2016). Visibility labour: Engaging with Influencers' fashion brands and# OOTD advertorial campaigns on Instagram. *Media International Australia*, *161*(1), 86-100.

Al-Bahrani, A., & Patel, D. (2015). Incorporating Twitter, Instagram, and Facebook in economics classrooms. *The Journal of Economic Education*, *46*(1), 56-67.

Alper, M. (2014). War on Instagram: Framing conflict photojournalism with mobile photography apps. *New Media & Society*, *16*(8), 1233-1248.

Andalibi, N., Ozturk, P., & Forte, A. (2015, February). Depression-related imagery on instagram. In *Proceedings of the 18th ACM Conference Companion on Computer Supported Cooperative work & social computing* (pp. 231-234). ACM.

Biber, D., Connor, U., & Upton, T. A. (2007). *Discourse on the move: Using corpus analysis to describe discourse structure*(Vol. 28). John Benjamins Publishing.

Cairns, K., Johnston, J., & Baumann, S. (2010). Caring about food: Doing gender in the foodie kitchen. *Gender & Society*, *24*(5), 591-615.

Carah, N., & Shaul, M. (2016). Brands and Instagram: Point, tap, swipe, glance. *Mobile Media & Communication*, 4(1), 69-84.

Conklin, P., Giuliano, J., & Baker, S. (2018). College Students Find Social Media Effective in Promoting USDA's MyPlate Guidelines. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, *50*(7).

Cook, G., Pieri, E., & Robbins, P. T. (2004). 'The scientists think and the public feels': Expert perceptions of the discourse of GM food. *Discourse & Society*, *15*(4), 433-449.

Eli, K., Schneider, T., Dolan, C., & Ulijaszek, S. (2017). 11 Digital food activism. *Digital Food Activism*, 11.

Fatanti, M. N., & Suyadnya, I. W. (2015). Beyond User Gaze: How Instagram Creates Tourism Destination Brand?. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *211*, 1089-1095.

Ferrara, E., Interdonato, R., & Tagarelli, A. (2014, September). Online popularity and topical interests through the lens of instagram. In *Proceedings of the 25th ACM conference on Hypertext and social media* (pp. 24-34). ACM.

Instagram. (2013). Instagram statistics. Retrieved from: http://instagram.com/press

Instagram. (2016). Instagram statistics. Retrieved from: http://instagram.com/press

Instagram. (2017). Instagram statistics. Retrieved from: http://instagram.com/press

Jang, J. Y., Han, K., Shih, P. C., & Lee, D. (2015, April). Generation like: Comparative characteristics in instagram. In *Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (pp. 4039-4042). ACM.

Jones, R. H. (2012). Discourse analysis. *Abingdon/New York*.

Jurafsky, D. (2014). *The language of food: A linguist reads the menu*. WW Norton & Company.

Karimkhani, C., Connett, J., Boyers, L., Quest, T., & Dellavalle, R. P. (2014). Dermatology on instagram. *Dermatology online journal*, 20(7).

Manikonda, L., Hu, Y., & Kambhampati, S. (2014). Analyzing user activities, demographics, social network structure and user-generated content on Instagram. *arXiv* preprint arXiv:1410.8099.

Mechlem, K. (2004). Food Security and the Right to Food in the Discourse of the United Nations. *European Law Journal*, *10*(5), 631-648.

Mejova, Y., Abbar, S., & Haddadi, H. (2016, March). Fetishizing food in digital age:# foodporn around the world. In *Tenth International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media*.

Miles, J. (2014). *Instagram power: Build your brand and reach more customers with the power of pictures*. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Education.

Pittman, M., & Reich, B. (2016). Social media and loneliness: Why an Instagram picture may be worth more than a thousand Twitter words. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 62, 155-167.

Reece, A. G., & Danforth, C. M. (2017). Instagram photos reveal predictive markers of depression. *EPJ Data Science*, 6(1), 15.

Rich, J., Haddadi, H., & Hospedales, T. M. (2016, April). Towards bottom-up analysis of social food. In *Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Digital Health Conference*(pp. 111-120). ACM.

Rousseau, S. (2012). *Food and social media: You are what you tweet*. Rowman Altamira. Saldana, J. (2009). An introduction to codes and coding. *The coding manual for qualitative researchers*, *3*.

Spence, C., Okajima, K., Cheok, A. D., Petit, O., & Michel, C. (2016). Eating with our eyes: From visual hunger to digital satiation. *Brain and cognition*, *110*, 53-63.

Swales, J. M. (1981). *Aspects of article introductions*. Language Studies Unit, University of Aston in Birmingham.

Swales, J. M. (1990). *Genre analysis: English in academic and research settings*. Cambridge University Press.

Tomlinson, I. (2013). Doubling food production to feed the 9 billion: a critical perspective on a key discourse of food security in the UK. *Journal of rural studies*, *29*, 81-90.

Upton, T. A., & Cohen, M. A. (2009). An approach to corpus-based discourse analysis: The move analysis as example. *Discourse Studies*, *11*(5), 585-605.

Van Esterik, P. (1999). Gender and sustainable food systems: a feminist critique. *For hunger-proof cities: Sustainable urban food systems*, 157-161.

Weismantel, M. J. (1989). *Food, gender, and poverty in the Ecuadorian Andes*. University of Pennsylvania Press.

# Appendix 1



# Appendix 2



foodandtravelhk•Following Sweet Fashion House Liked by chocolatemuimui and 243 others FEBRUARY 8

foodandtravelhk #FoodandtravelHK beautiful colourful cakes

at <u>#SweetFashionHouse</u> 's latest branch in <u>#RitzCarltonHongKong</u> . 3 things i like about them:

1) unusual flavour ( yuzu + orange papaya/ black tea with blackberry!) .

2) textures' always on point

3) chic outlook

This is my go-to cake shop if I need a cake to impress for any special occasion <u>#TsimShaTsuiEats</u>

7w

# foodandtravelhk

<u>#hongkongcake#hongkongcakeshop#hongkongpatisserie</u> <u>#cakeshk#hkcakes</u> <u>#kowloo</u> <u>nstation#hongkongeats#RitzCarltonHotel</u> <u>#FrenchPastry#ArtOfCake</u> <u>#sweetsweat#cra</u> <u>zyforcakes#sweettoothforever#sweettoothsatisfied</u>

# Beate Luo

Feng Chia University, Taichung, Taiwan

beate@fcu.edu.tw

# Improving reading rate through vocabulary learning using an online learning platform

## Bio data



Beate Luo works as an associate professor at the Department of Foreign Languages and Literature of Feng Chia University in Taichung, Taiwan. Her research interests include CALL/MALL, vocabulary acquisition, and pronunciation training.

## Abstract

This study explored the influence of the use of the learning-platform Quizlet on students' vocabulary knowledge and their consequent improvements in reading rates. These improvements were compared to vocabulary knowledge and reading rates achieved by students who used their own approaches to vocabulary learning, mainly rote learning. Results show that students in both groups increased reading rates over repetitions and over the duration of the study period. However, using the learning platform Quizlet was more effective for vocabulary learning. Consequently, increases in reading rates were higher in the experimental group than in the control group. One explanation may be that Quizlet helped students to better judge how well they had learned the vocabulary.

## Acknowlegdement:

This research was supported by the Ministry of Education, Taiwan (Grant 18M22022) and the Ministry of Science and Technology, Taiwan (Grant 108-2914-I-035 -010 -A1).

## **Conference** paper

## Introduction

This research focuses on English for Science and Technology in Taiwan. Students in these fields are required to read large quantities of academic texts. However, low reading rates due to very limited vocabulary knowledge impede their reading. To overcome this problem, this study investigated whether the use of a learning platform can better assist students in developing their vocabulary knowledge than the rote learning techniques students traditionally use, and whether the use of this platform influences students' reading rates. The methodology used in this study also provided a technique for students to evaluate their own progress, thereby enabling them to enrich their own learning ecologies.

## Literature review

An important factor in reading rates and comprehension in a foreign language is vocabulary knowledge. Laufer (1989) estimated that 95% of vocabulary is necessary to understand texts, while Hu and Nation (2000) proposed that 98% would be needed. Schmitt, Jiang, and Grabe (2011) also found a vocabulary coverage of 98% to be a more reasonable target for language learners.

Previously, university students in Taiwan had been required to learn 7000 English words in high school. Although this number was reduced to 4500 in 2018 to give more time for listening and speaking practice (Everington, 2018), this change did not affect students taking part in this study. Yet, Chen (1998) showed that Taiwanese high school graduates normally have a vocabulary size of just 2000 to 3000 words while Chen and Jonas (2009, p.100) stated that English teaching at universities is often '*remedial education in the basics of what they are supposed to have already learned*'. One of the reasons for students' low performance on vocabulary tests may be the use of rote learning techniques such as rereading and rewriting new vocabulary items, which is popular among students at Feng Chia University (Luo, 2019). Rote learning may also lead to an illusion of competence as students make judgements about their learning during study based on information at hand which will not be available during testing (Koriat & Bjork, 2005).

The use of computer-assisted language learning for learning high frequency words has been shown to improve vocabulary knowledge, reading comprehension, and speed of word recognition (Tozcu & Coady, 2004). Mobile technology can foster learner autonomy as it allows for ubiquitous learning in informal settings (Chen, 2013) and a large effect size has been found in a meta-analysis on mobile assisted vocabulary learning (Lin & Lin, 2019). Using a spaced repetition software (SRS) has been successful in increasing vocabulary knowledge but the software only allowed for receptive learning modes, such as matching answers (Bower & Rutson-Griffiths, 2016) or flashcards (Seibert Hanson & Brown, 2019).

This study investigated whether the use of a mobile app that also allows for productive study modes such as translations would improve learners' vocabulary retention more effectively than the rote learning techniques students in Taiwan often use. Furthermore, it investigates whether such improvements in vocabulary knowledge lead to a higher increase in reading rates in the experimental group compared to the control group.

## Methodology

The course is a one-semester English for Science and Technology course, offered twohours a week. While open to students from all departments and all years, the majority of students taking the course are undergraduates in their final year of study coming from different departments. Of the 60 students in each of the two classes, about 60% of the students volunteered to take part in the study. However, to better control for other factors that might influence the outcome of the study, only those students who were not taking any other English classes that semester and having comparable reading rates were included in the study, 28 students in the experimental class and 25 students in the control class.

Over the semester, all students read a new reading passage each week. The length of the passages they read depended on students' reading rate, as initial time for reading was set to 20 minutes. This will normally result in 20 to 30 unknown words per reading independent of the length of the reading passage read at that time. Students used their smartphones to control for reading time and for looking up unknown words in their preferred online dictionaries. They annotated unknown vocabulary items and their translations on an online log sheet while reading.

For each reading passage, students in the experimental group created learning sets on the learning platform Quizlet (https://quizlet.com) that contained the unknown words of the respective passage. Then, they studied these words on Quizlet over a two-day period using different study modes such as flashcards, translations, dictations, matching word and definition, or a test mode which combines translations, multiple choice, matching items and true/false questions. They were asked to try out the different modes and identify which modes worked best for them and to study a set at least 5 times on a day that required studying that respective set.

Figure 1 shows a part of the online reading log. The cells in line 46 automatically calculate reading rate in wpm and unknown words per line (wpl) from the data the student recorded

on the log sheet (lines read, time needed, and unknown words). Students also uploaded a snippet from Quizlet to the school's LMS iLearn 2.0 showing modes of studying on that day (Figure 2).

						1			1	
40	32	lion's share	;	最大部分						
41	33	randomly		隨機地						
42	34	caulking		填隙						
43	35									
44	36									
45	37									
46	wpm:	32.04	wpl:	1.0625	wpm:	74.36	wpl: 0.125	wpm:	#DIV/0!	wpl: 0
47		Mode of stu	dy day	1		Mode of stud	y day 1		Mode of st	udy day 1
48		cards	1			cards 1	l			
49		match	ιб			learn3				
50		learn	2							
51										
52		Mode of stu	dy day	2		Mode of stud	y day 2		Mode of st	udy day 2
53		learn	5			learn3				
54										
55										
56										

Figure 1: Example of part of the online reading log (experimental group)



IN THE LAST FEW N	NINUTES					
21 terms a	D0410864					
C	Ð		· []1)		Ð	0 O
TODAY						
21 terms	D0410864					
C:	Ð	.🖉	. <u> </u>	5		Ð

Figure 2: Examples of a student's proof of study modes in Quizlet posted to iLearn 2.0

Instead of using Quizlet, students in the control group studied their vocabulary in their own way, but kept records about their modes of learning on their log sheets. They uploaded a recording of themselves reading the words, or a photo of the paper showing the words they had written down, the mind maps they had created, or whatever other way they had studied the vocabulary. They also studied their vocabulary on two days. However, writing down the words several times was the most commonly used option. Figure 3 shows an example of a recording uploaded to the school's LMS iLearn 2.0.



Figure 3: Example of a recording posted on iLearn 2.0 (control group)

One week later, all students reread the same reading passage they had read the week before, annotating time needed and unknown words on their log sheets. Again, students studied their vocabulary on two days, students in the experimental group using their learning sets on Quizlet and students of the control group revising their vocabulary according to their preferred way of studying. Three weeks later, they finished the third reading of the respective texts, again annotating time needed and unknown words and practiced their respective vocabulary again on two days. Over the semester, students read 14 reading passages. They completed all three readings of the first 10 reading passages, while the remaining passages were read only twice before the end of the semester. The first reading passage was again read at the end of the semester, in week 15, to evaluate vocabulary learning and reading rate changes over an even longer period.

To avoid the problem Luo (2018) identified of having too long a time at the beginning of the study to obtain reliable data from students concerning their use of Quizlet, from the first week on, students received feedback through the app Remind (<u>https://remind.com</u>) after uploading their data. If they had not uploaded their data by 5 pm on the day of class and/or the following day, they were notified of the missing homework to give them enough time to finish on time. Consequently, reliable data were obtained from the outset of the study.

Shapiro-Wilks test and Levene's test were used to test for normality and for homogeneity of the variances, respectively. To test for significant differences, t-tests were run.

## **Results and Discussion**

## Increases in reading rates over the semester

Students in both groups increased their reading rates over the semester (Figures 4 – 6). Reading rates in words per minute (wpm) were low for the initial readings of each week (Figure 4) because reading time also included the time needed to check vocabulary while reading. They are thus unrepresentative of reading rates for texts at a difficulty level appropriate for each student. Thus, the second reading (Figure 5), when students had studied the vocabulary and were familiar with most words, gives a much more precise representation of increases in reading rates over the semester. Nonetheless, even initial reading rates increased significantly, from 16.4 wpm in the first text (T1) to 26.9 wpm in the last text (T10, p < 0.000) in the experimental group while there was no significant increase in the control group (p = 0.088). Beginning with T9, differences between the two groups were significant (p = 0.025).









The increases in reading rates (p < 0.000 for both groups) between the first and the second reading of the same text were due to less time needed to look up words. First, because students still remembered most of the new words after one week (Table 1). Another reason is that forgotten vocabulary items can be found on the log sheets, which is much faster than looking up words in a dictionary. However, students also increased their reading rates over the entire semester. Students in the experimental group doubled their reading rates from 43.7 wpm (T1) to 95.5 wpm (T14) and from 58.0 wpm (T1) to 95.4 wpm (T10) in the second (Figure 2) and the third readings (Figure 3), respectively. Students in the control group also increased their reading rates significantly (p < 0.000) in the second and third readings, but to a much lower extent (Figures 5 and 6). Beginning with T8, reading rates in the second reading were significantly lower than reading rates in the experimental group (p = 0.025). Differences between reading rates in the third reading were significant (p < 0.05) for most of the texts, except for T1, T7, and T8. Differences between the second and third reading of each text were also less than differences between these readings in the experimental group.

The difference in vocabulary learning techniques used seems to be the factor responsible for differences in increases in reading rates between the two groups. Both initial reading rates in T1 and English instruction outside this class had been controlled for when selecting participants. Furthermore, during the semester, students only studied between 200 and 300 new words. Thus, the number of new words learned alone does not explain why students increased their reading speed over the semester to such an extent. Data analyzed thus far reveal that students' word lists in both groups contained more than 50% of the most frequent 3000 words at the beginning of the semester – high frequency words students were supposed to have learned at high school. These words are an important part of each text. Over the semester, the number of high frequency words on students' vocabulary lists in the experimental group appeared to drop. This might be an important factor in increasing reading speed. However, analysis of these data and the data from the control group has not been finalized and further investigation is needed to verify this hypothesis.

## Vocabulary retention

Figure 7 shows the number of unknown words per line when a text was read for the first time. In the experimental group, the amount of new words in a text decreased from 1.52 words per line in the first text to 0.59 in the last text. While the evaluation of these data has not been finalized, the drop in the first five weeks in both groups may be due to students relearning vocabulary they had learned in high school but had forgotten. Thus, when reappearing in later texts these high frequency words would not reappear in students' reading logs while the percentage of low frequency words would increase. However, further evaluation of the data is needed to verify this theory.



Figure 7: Number of unknown words per line in the first reading of each text

However, the number of unknown words did not drop to the same extent in the control group. In addition, the percentage of words forgotten again after one week and one month differed significantly (Table 1). One explanation for better word retention in the experimental group could be that the use of the app Quizlet allowed students to better control the extent to which they had learned the new words. Rereading and rewriting the new items several times may have led to a familiarity with the learned content that in turn may have induced an illusion of competence (Koriat & Bjork, 2005). The use of Quizlet, however, allows for self-testing. In the learning modes *learn, spell,* and *write,* a set is only marked as finished, if all items have been correct twice. As a result, students in the experimental group could better predict the extent to which they had learned the vocabulary well. Thus, this study supports findings from Seibert Hanson and Brown (2019) that vocabulary apps are beneficial for learning. However, satisfaction with the app as expressed orally in class in this study was much higher, probably because students were able to see their progress in the learning logs.

Table I. Average percentage of wo	ius iorgou	ten agam	arter one	WEEK	and one mond
	Experi	mental	Con	trol	Significance
	mean	SD	mean	SD	р
% words forgotten again (week)	22.65	11.49	33.07	16.80	0.000
% words forgotten again (month)	11.50	9.04	19.64	12.49	0.006
Significance (p)	0.000		0.000		

	Table	1:	Average	percentage	of	words	forgotten	again	after	one	week	and	one	mont
--	-------	----	---------	------------	----	-------	-----------	-------	-------	-----	------	-----	-----	------

Table 2: Changes	in the	e number of	unknown wo	ords per line	(wpl), first	reading passage
Group		Week 1	Week 2	Week 5	Week 15	p(w5*w15)
Experimental	wpl	1.498	0.138	0.098	0.109	0.168
Experimental	SD	0.291	0.131	0.089	0.092	
Control	wpl	1.507	0.484	0.239	0.379	0.002
Control	SD	0.520	0.437	0.160	0.239	
Significance (p)		0.217	0.000	0.000	0.000	

When comparing the number of forgotten words in T1 over the whole semester (Table 2), results show that the decrease in the number of unknown words was higher in the experimental group than in the control group. In addition, students in the experimental group were also able to maintain their low level of unknown words, while their peers in the control group began to forget words they had learned before, generating significant differences between week 5 and week 15 in the control group.

## Conclusion

The study has shown that spacing repetitions had a beneficial effect not only on vocabulary learning but also on reading rates. Furthermore, using the app Quizlet for vocabulary learning helped to improve vocabulary retention to a higher degree than self-study with rote learning techniques as it enables students to have a better understanding of how well they have learned the vocabulary. A further evaluation of the data available to get a better understanding of students' preferences of study modes and their effect on learning as well as the reappearance of learned items in later readings is under way.

## Acknowlegdement

This research was supported by the Ministry of Education, Taiwan (Grant 18M22022).

# References

Bower, J. V., & Rutson-Griffiths, A. (2016). The relationship between the use of spaced repetition software with a TOEIC word list and TOEIC score gains. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 29(7), 1238-1248. https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2016.1222444

Chen, H.J. (1998). A preliminary investigation on Taiwanese EFL learners' vocabulary size. In Proceedings of the fifteenth conference on English teaching and learning in the Republic of China (pp. 193-211). Taipei: Crane.

Chen, X.-B. (2013). Tablets for informal language learning: Student usage and attitudes. Language Learning & Technology, 17(1), 20–36. http://dx.doi.org/10125/24503

Chen, K.T. and Jonas, A.M. (2009). Understanding Taiwanese college students' strategies for English language learning. Chaoyang Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences, 7(1), 97-130. Retrieved from: http://ir.lib.cyut.edu.tw:8080/bitstream/310901800/8932/1/ %2004%E9%99%B3%E5%A7%BF

Everington, K. (2018/01/23). English vocabulary requirement in Taiwan high schools reduced by 2,500 words. Taiwan News. Retrieved from: https://www.taiwannews.com.tw/en/news/3347797

Hu, M., & Nation, I.S.P. (2000). Unknown vocabulary density and reading comprehension. Reading in a Foreign Language, 13, 403–430. Retrieved from: http://nflrc.hawaii.edu/rfl/PastIssues/rfl131hsuehchao.pdf

Koriat, A. & Bjork, R.A. (2005). Illusions of competence in monitoring one's knowledge during study. Journal of experimental psychology: Learning, memory, and cognition, 31(2), 187-194. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.31.2.187

Laufer, B. (1989). What percentage of text-lexis is essential for comprehension? In C. Lauren & M. Nordman (Eds.), Special language: From humans to thinking machines (pp. 316–323). Clevedon, England: Multilingual Matters.

Lin, J.-J. & Lin, H. (2019). Mobile-assisted ESL/EFL vocabulary learning: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Computer Assisted Language Learning, online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2018.1541359

Luo, B. (2018). CALLing un-CALLable data. In CALL your Data, XIXth International CALL Research Conference-Proceedings (pp. 264-267). Antwerp: Universiteit Antwerpen.

Luo, B. (2019). The influence of teaching learning techniques on students' long-term learning behavior. Computer Assisted Language Learning, online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2019.1567557

Schmitt, N., Jiang, X., & Grabe, W.P. (2011). The percentage of words known in a text and reading comprehension. Modern Language Journal, 95(1), 26-43. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4781.2011.01146.x

Seibert Hanson, A.E. & Brown, C.M. (2019). Enhancing L2 learning through a mobile assisted spaced-repetition tool: an effective but bitter pill? Computer Assisted Language Learning, online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2018.1552975

Tozcu, A. & Coady, J. (2004). Successful learning of frequent vocabulary through CALL also benefits reading comprehension and speed. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 17(5), 473-495. https://doi.org/10.1080/0958822042000319674

# Boning Lyu, Chun Lai

The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong

millylyu@hku.hk, laichun@hku.hk

# Learning through social media in the ecology of language learners

## Bio data

Boning Lyu is currently a Ph.D. student at the Faculty of Education, the University of Hong Kong. She is particularly interested in technology enhanced language learning.

Chun Lai is an Associate Professor at the Faculty of Education, the University of Hong Kong. Her research agenda is to understand the nature of learners' out-of-class language learning with technology and the influencing factors so as to inform educators on ways to support language learners in constructing quality out-of-class language learning experience.

# Abstract

Over the past decade, attention has focused on examining learner-centric language learning ecology. A learner-centric language learning ecology views the learners as negotiators in their own learning experience. They perceive and act upon a configuration of human, material, and discursive resources across different learning contexts to create their language learning experience, which changes according to time and space. The current study examines how language learners perceive and act upon an instructionoriented social networking site, Lang-8, in relation to their language learning ecologies. A total of 14 active users from Lang-8 were recruited. Narrative inquiry was adopted to obtain in-depth insights into the learners' experiences. Three portraits of learners were used to illustrate the different roles on the platform employed in the construction of learning ecologies. The study contributes to social media-assisted language learning beyond the classroom, both theoretically and practically.

## **Conference paper**

## Introduction

Ecology was first introduced in the biological field to examine the relationship between humans and the surrounding environment. Since then, an ecological perspective has been applied to other fields such as anthropology (e.g., Bateson, 1972) and sociology (e.g., Hollingshead, 1947), with a focus on the human context, as well as the relationships and interactions among them. Bronfenbrenner (1979), a psychologist, put forward ecological system theory, which concerns "the progressive accommodation between a growing human organism and its immediate environment, and the way in which this relation is mediated by forces emanating from more remote regions in the larger physical and social milieu" (p. 13). Barron (2006) proposed a learning ecology framework, aimed at understanding adolescent learners' learning across various settings (e.g., the classroom, home, and community, etc.). In language learning, particular attention has been paid in examining learner-centric language learning ecology. A learner-centric language learning ecology views the learners as negotiators in their own learning experience. They perceive and act upon a configuration of human, material, and discursive resources across different learning contexts to create their language learning experience, which changes according to time and space (Kramsch, 2002).

In the field of computer-assisted language learning research, little is known about how language learners use communication-oriented technologies (e.g., social networking sites and blogs, etc.) for their language learning. However, such technologies are believed to be useful tools for language learners to access authentic languages and audiences, providing opportunities to use the language students learned in the classroom in a meaningful context outside it (Bloch, 2007; Lee, 2010). Hence, the current study aims to maximize the potential of communication technologies in self-initiated learning beyond the classroom by examining the roles of Lang-8 (a communication-oriented technological resource) in the construction of language learners' learning ecologies.

## Theoretical framework

The current study adopted an ecological perspective to understand language learners' perceptions and use of Lang-8. Bronfenbrenner (1979) argued that the ecology of human development involves "mutual accommodation between an active, growing human being and the changing properties of the immediate settings in which the developing person lives, as this process is affected by relations between these settings, and by the larger contexts in which the settings are embedded" (p. 21). He defined the ecological transition as a change in the role or setting, or both, which occurs over the lifetime of a person. The ecological transitions of learners were found in Barron's (2006) study. She suggested that learning happens across boundaries, from a school context to an out-of-school context. In her learning ecology framework, she included school, home, community, work, peers, and distributed resources, and discussed how learners' interests and skills in ICT literacy developed within various contexts. Early works distinguished different characters between in- and out-of-class learning (e.g., Scribner & Cole, 1973). However, using an ecological perspective to examine learning, the relations and interactions among learning in different contexts should also be noted (Barron, 2006). Lai (2015) specified the relationship between in-class learning and out-of-class learning among university students in Hong Kong, indicating the interaction between out-of-class learning and in-class learning. The ecological perspective also highlights the learners' agency in making use of the resources around them to meet their needs and achieve their goals (van Lier, 2004; 2010). Luckin's (2008) learner-centric ecology of resources framework suggested that it includes both objects and people. In language learning, the resources in the learner's ecology includes not only the material resources such as technical (e-dictionaries, online learning platforms), non-technical (books, worksheets), and human resources (teachers, peers, family), but also discursive resources such as motives and beliefs (Gao, 2010; Palfreyman, 2006; Zeng, 2018). Studies examined how language learners interact with the different resources inand out-of-class (e.g., Gao, 2010). However, little is known about the interactions among the resources across time and settings, especially with communication-oriented technology.

In summary, the study adopted an ecological perspective to examine language learners in the context where they perceive and act upon a configuration of human, material, and discursive resources across time and settings. It aims at documenting the role of Lang-8, a communication-oriented site, in the language learners' learning ecology.

## Methodology

Narrative inquiry was adopted because it provides in-depth data on learners' experiences (e.g., Chik, 2011). The current study recruited 14 active users from Lang-8 (eight Chinese L2 learners, four Japanese L2 learners, and two English L2 learners). This study mainly used participants' oral accounts of their learning histories on Lang-8, elicited through semistructured interviews. The interviews were conducted either in English or the participants' native language (depending on the participants' preference) through online communication tools such as Skype, Line, or WeChat. The interview data were transcribed verbatim and analysed inductively through a cyclical and evolving process (Saldaña, 2015). Thematic analysis was employed, in which initial codes were generated, then themes were searching for, defined, and named (Braun & Clarke, 2006). In-vivo coding was used in the initial coding process. After analysing and grouping the initial codes, two themes were generated: (a) language learners' use of Lang-8, and (b) the shaping force of the learners' use of Lang-8. The data from the interviews were triangulated through the log data, as well as the content of their online posts. Then quantitative analysis was performed on the log data to understand the learners' actual behaviours on the platform. The content of the posts was qualitatively analysed to understand the nature of the posts, the discourses in the posts, and the interaction between the learners in the discussion forum.

## Findings

The aim of the current study is to understand the role of a communication-oriented technology in the construction of language learners' learning ecologies. Three Lang-8 user portraits will illustrate the different roles of the platform in the construction of learning ecologies: 1) the platform supplements the learning activities in the classroom; 2) the platform bridges the learning activities supported by other types of technological resources out-of-classroom; and 3) the platform was positioned and re-positioned in accordance with the development of the learners' discursive resources in the learning ecology.

## The Platform Supplements the Learning Activities in the Classroom

It was found that participants actively use Lang-8 to compensate for limited learning activities in the classroom. Students reported that they sometimes lack opportunities to use "practical" and "authentic" language, which they believe are basic or common expressions used when communicating with native speakers. Hence, they tend to use those expressions on Lang-8.

"Our teachers have their own teaching plans. We learned about vocabulary and drillpracticed them...there were lots of exercises in the textbooks, but we had limited opportunity to truly use them in a meaningful context" (Leo, March 2018).

"I attended the beginner level course two years ago, and what I learned during this time was closely related to my daily life. However, I am studying Business Chinese this semester, which is less relevant to my life. Therefore, I tried to post diaries on Lang-8 to practice what I had previously learned" (Leo, September 2018).

"We are able to read newspapers in class, but I still want to improve my language skills for everyday discussions, so I mainly share my daily experiences on Lang-8" (SK, January 2019).

These examples show that Lang-8 acts as a supplement to the limited learning activities in the classroom—due to the limited use of communicative language in this context. Some participants also reported that they did not receive enough classroom exercises. As a result, they tended to use the language they learned in class when they posted blogs on Lang-8. As Arvehisa stated, "I do not have many opportunities to practice what I have learned in class, so instead, I post blogs on Lang-8 to apply my knowledge" (Arvehisa, December 2018).

However, it should be noted that students rarely brought their out-of-class learning experiences back to the classroom. Some of the reasons included, "I never thought about doing so before"; "I do not have a very close relationship with my teachers".

## The Platform Bridges the Learning Activities Supported by Other Out-ofclassroom Technological Resources

Unlike the one-way relationship between student experiences on Lang-8 and their in-class learning, the participants showed a tendency to integrate all of their out-of-class learning activities. For example, apart from posting blogs on Lang-8, Bill also watched free learning videos on YouTube. He then wrote down what he had learned in the videos on Lang-8. If he missed something, he asked for help on Lang-8, and provided video links on his blogs. These blogs constituted a large proportion of his posts at the beginning stage of his Japanese learning. When he started to read Japanese textbooks during the later stages of his learning, he encountered more difficult linguistic issues. However, he found that the native speakers from Lang-8 could not provide detailed and professional explanations. Thus, he instead used WordReference Forums to enquire about tricky grammar issues and to "receive detailed explanations from professional linguists".

learner, Kim, perceived Lang-8 as a potential avenue to extend interactions with native Chinese speakers on other instant messaging applications, where "the dialogue and the relationship between [them] were close, and the words were more intimate".

Therefore, language learners actively selected different platforms based on the perceived affordance of each technological resource in their learning ecologies. Furthermore, they actively integrated all of their out-of-class material learning resources in order to meet various learning needs.

# The Platform was Positioned and Re-positioned along with the Development of Learners' Discursive Resources

An ecological perspective examines language learning with technology as a dynamic process. This study found that language learners repositioned Lang-8 in response to their discursive resources—especially if their learning motives or beliefs changed. Using Bill and Kim as examples, although both used Lang-8 differently over time, their positions of the platform showed different patterns, which could be due to their learning beliefs and motives.

Bill, for example, mainly had three stages of using Lang-8. The two scenarios presented above were the first two stages: questions about transcribing YouTube videos and grammar questions. The third was confirming meanings after reading meaningful and authentic Japanese materials, such as comics. However, to examine the nature of Bill's blogs, it was found that he mainly perceived Lang-8 as a "help-seeking" platform. According to Bill, he tended to learn the language rather than use the language. He also believed that "one should learn writing systematically from teachers".

However, Kim's case showed dramatic changes in terms of how he positioned Lang-8. In this instance, he went through the process of using "a proofreading site for writing practice", "a self-expression, emotion regulation, and social networking site", and "a proofreading site to support authentic language use". This ongoing process was a result of the ongoing changes in his learning motives at different stages. Kim just wanted to practice writing at first, but later, he tried to "use" the language to serve his purposes, such as expressing himself, making friends, and sharing his country's culture with others. To further examine the shaping forces of Kim's learning motives, one of the reasons was the positive feedback he received from Lang-8 as well as conversations he had with native Chinese people during his work. According to Kim, the positive feedback he received from Lang-8 made him more open to interacting with strangers online, and his conversations with native Chinese people inspired him to use the online platform to introduce more cultural-related topics with others.

In summary, this finding provides evidence that supports the dynamic nature of language learning with out-of-classroom technology. The (re)positioning of technology tools is an ongoing process that corresponds with the development of learners' discursive resources, which might be mediated by human relationships in both the virtual and physical world.

## Discussion

In summary, the current study suggested three roles of Lang-8 in the construction of a learner's learning ecologies: 1) the platform supplements learning activities in the classroom, 2) the platform bridges the learning activities that are supported by other types of out-of-classroom technological resources, and 3) the platform was positioned and repositioned along with the development of learners' discursive resources in the learning ecology. First, the study agrees with previous research that students extend and enliven their in-class learning and compensate for the limitations of their in-class learning through technology out of the classroom (Lai, 2015). It can be concluded that students' use of out-of-classroom technology is affected by the learning experience in the classroom context, where it is mostly directed by teachers. However, it should be noted that the participants rarely discussed their out-of-classroom learning experience with their teachers in the class. Based on this reason, teachers may lack basic knowledge about the learning needs of students or the limitations of in-class learning activities. However, language learners showed a strong tendency to use their agency to integrate all other out-of-classroom

material resources. The term agency is defined as "the socioculturally mediated capacity to act" (Ahearn, 2001, p.112), emphasizing its situated nature. Huang and Benson (2013) believe that agency is a necessary condition for autonomous learning. Learners' agency is highlighted in an ecological perspective (van Lier, 2010). However, this study showed that students' agency might be constrained by in-class learning. This might be due to a curriculum-oriented teaching plan that lacks the flexibility to integrate students' learning experiences into in-class learning. Another reason might be due to the loss of interaction between the student and teacher. Bronfenbrenner (1979) argued the development in the ecology is largely influenced by the interactions with other people in the setting where the developing person exists. Previous language learning research suggested that the language learners' social relations with the people around them such as teachers, peers, and family have an impact on their learning experience both directly and indirectly (which might be mediated by their discursive resources) (Zeng, 2018). This study is consistent with previous studies and further supports the idea that social relations in the psychical and virtual world both have a significant impact in this domain.

Therefore, to enhance language learners' use of technology out-of-classroom, the following suggestions are provided for language teachers and educational technology designers: To encourage students' out-of-classroom language learning, teachers should integrate the students' learning experiences out-of-classroom into the classroom. As for educational technology designers, an ideal learning platform should provide affordances to embrace learners' multiple learning experiences, which vary in different contexts. Moreover, for communication-oriented technologies, it is important to enhance the learners' attachment to their peers or the learning community.

## Conclusion

In conclusion, this paper presented the roles of a communication-oriented technology platform in the ecology of language learners. The findings of this study provide an insight into the nature of language learning with technology out-of-classroom as well as provide suggestions for language teachers and educational technology designers.

## References

Ahearn, L. M. (2001). Language and agency. Annual review of anthropology, 30(1), 109-137.

Barron, B. (2006). Interest and self-sustained learning as catalysts of development: A learning ecology perspective. Human development, 49(4), 193-224.

Bateson, G. (1972). Steps to an Ecology of Mind: Collected essays in anthropology. Psychiatry, Evolution, and Epistemology. New York: Bantam Books.

Benson, P. (2013). Teaching and researching: Autonomy in language learning. London: Routledge.

Bloch, J. (2007). Abdullah's blogging: A generation 1.5 student enters the blogosphere. Language Learning & Technology, 11(2), 128-141.

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative research in psychology, 3(2), 77-101.

Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). The ecology of human development. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Chik, Hsia Hui. (2011). Learner autonomy development through digital gameplay." Digital culture & education, 3, 30-45.

Gao, X. (2010). Strategic language learning: The roles of agency and context. Bristol: Multilingual Matters.

Hollingshead, A. B. (1947). A re-examination of ecological theory. Sociology and Social Research, 31(3), 194-204.

Kramsch, C. (ed.) (2002). Language Acquisition and Language Socialization. Ecological perspectives. London: Continuum.

Lai, C. (2015). Perceiving and traversing in-class and out-of-class learning: Accounts from foreign language learners in Hong Kong. Innovation in Language learning and Teaching, 9(3), 265-284.

Lee, L. (2010). Fostering reflective writing and interactive exchange through blogging in an advanced language course. Recall, 22(2), 212-227.

Luckin, R. (2008). The learner-centric ecology of resources: A framework for using technology to scaffold learning. Computers & Education, 50(2), 449-462.

Palfreyman, D. (2006). Social context and resources for language learning System, 34(3), 352–370.

Saldaña, J. (2015). The coding manual for qualitative researchers. London: Sage Publishing.

Scribner, S., & Cole, M. (1973). Cognitive consequences of formal and informal education. Science, 182(4112), 553-559.

van Lier, L. (2004). The ecology and semiotics of language learning: A sociocultural perspective. Boston: Kluwer Academic Publishers,

van Lier, L. (2010). The ecology of language learning: Practice to theory, theory to practice. Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences, 3, 2-6.

Zeng, S. (2018). A Sociocultural Framework for the Study of WELL Use. In S. Zeng (Ed.), English learning in the digital age (pp. 45–71). Singapore: Springer.

# Qing Ma, Yi Ching Eugene Leung & Shanru Lin

The Education University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China

maqing@eduhk.hk, eycleung@eduhk.hk, lins@eduhk.hk

# Social interactions of online learning community of pre-service teachers in developing a corpus-based pedagogy for addressing common L2 language mistakes of Chinese learners

# Bio data



Qing Ma is Assistant Professor at the Department of Linguistics and Modern Language Studies, The Education University of Hong Kong. Her main research interests include second language vocabulary acquisition, corpus linguistics, Chinese English, computer assisted language learning (CALL) and mobile assisted language learning (MALL).



Yi Ching Eugene Leung is Research Assistant at the Department of Linguistics and Modern Language Studies, The Education University of Hong Kong. His main research interests include second language vocabulary acquisition, corpus linguistics, teaching English in the greater China region, and Community of Practice (CoP).



Shanru Lin is Research Assistant at the Department of Linguistics and Modern Language Studies, The Education University of Hong Kong. Her main research interests include vocabulary learning, corpus linguistics, computer assisted language learning, the practice of English language teaching, and reading intervention for English language learners.

# Abstract

This research aims to investigate how corpus literacy & pedagogy is developed among a group of pre-service teacher students who formed an online community of practice (CoP) by completing several learning tasks involving both intra- and inter-group interactions. Both qualitative and quantitative data were collected and analysed, covering both the learning process and outcome of the student teachers. The results show that such a corpus-based training enhanced by an online CoP is effective in providing a good corpus literacy for our pre-service teachers, and allows them to further develop corpus-based knowledge and skills to design appropriate learning and teaching materials. In addition, some interesting findings regarding both the intergroup and intragroup interactions among the online CoP are revealed and discussed.

## **Conference paper**

## Introduction

Community of Practice (CoP) can be understood as a group of individuals who share a common concern or passion for something they do and learn how to enhance their competences, through their regular interactions with each other (Wenger, 2010).

For this reason, interactions are essential in the processes of practices and sharing among community members and responsible for their successful learning (Hoadley, 2012). In the context for training L2 teachers, corpus linguistics has great potential to help language teachers develop a corpus-based pedagogy (Reppen, 2010). This research aims to investigate how a corpus-based pedagogy is developed among a group of pre-service teacher students who formed an online CoP by completing several learning tasks involving both intra- and inter-group interactions.

## Literature

## Corpus literacy

Corpus linguistics has firmly established itself as an innovative and effective approach to language studies and analyses. However, a corpus-based linguistic approach remains largely unknown to the majority of the professional teaching community due to various reasons, i.e., problems with hardware, limited computing skills, scarcity of free and user-friendly corpus resources (Römer, 2010; Tribble 2012), and lack of willingness among teachers to develop corpus literacy (Zareva, 2017). It is common for language teachers (pre- or in-service) to rely on an intuition-based approach to solving language issues as well as developing pedagogical materials. Corpus literacy can be defined as "the ability to use the technology of corpus linguistics to investigate language and enhance the language development of students" (Heather & Helt, 2012, p. 417). Nonetheless, very few studies have investigated how to develop corpus literacy among pre- or in-service language teachers with a few exceptions (Heather & Helt, 2012; Leńko-Szymańska, 2014; Zareva, 2017).

## Community of Practice (CoP)

Through the participation in a learning community, meaning is rendered public and shared (Bruner, 1990). The term "community of practice" is originated from a research project in the social learning field by Jean Lave and Etienne Wenger in 1990 and subsequently developed into a major ideology in the field (Lave & Wenger, 1991). Traditionally, CoP is recognized as a social constructivist approach in which learning is seen as an ongoing process where learners engage in cognitive construction of existing knowledge and develop new knowledge through sharing, conversation, and negotiation processes within the community (Sharples, Taylor, & Vavoula, 2007). In order to ensure a shared understanding of the learning objectives and develop a common purpose for gathering a genuine learning community (Graham & Ferriter, 2010), the participants (researchers and research subjects) of this research must gather from time to time in the physical setting, so as to review the learning outcomes.

## Social Interactions

Social interactions have been recognized as an important form of social mechanism that provides vital cognitive and social support in the students' learning engagement, especially for contexts outside classroom (Merry & Orsmond, 2008). Within the context of a learning community, interactions are essential in the processes of practices, sharing among community members and responsible for their successful learning (Hoadley, 2012). Traditionally, intragroup dynamics is a common area of study in organizational and social contexts (Mateeva & Dimitrov, 2013). Research into intragroup interactions has also drawn the attention in the field of language learning in recent decades (Storch, 2002; Zhu & Li, 2017). Comparatively, intergroup interactions (eg., the influence of peer feedback from other groups on the final writing product) is rarely researched, let along in the field of language learning. The research focus of this paper will focus on both intragroup dynamics and intergroup relations as the primary forms of social interactions to be studied.

## Research context and research questions

In the context for training L2 teachers, corpus linguistics has great potential to help language teachers design language learning and teaching activities (Reppen, 2010). Few studies investigate how to develop corpus literacy among pre- or in-service language teachers with a few exceptions (Heather & Helt, 2012; Leńko-Szymańska, 2014, 2015; Zareva, 2017; Lin & Lee, 2015). While showing varied degree of success in experiencing corpus-based training materials, the results gain little insights into teachers' actual skills in the application of corpus-based materials in real classroom settings. In other words, most of the existing studies only succeed in developing the teachers' corpus literacy, i.e., how to use corpus tools for learning purposes, but little has been done to investigate how this acquired corpus literacy can be developed and incorporated into the teachers' pedagogy repertoire. In addition, it is common for participants to complain about the monotony of concordance-based activities and a lack of interaction among participants (Leńko-Szymańska, 2014), as well as encountering difficulty in figuring out what can and cannot be done with corpus data (Zareva, 2017). Using an innovative approach, involving appropriate use of technology and encouraging interaction among participants as an online learning community, may add more fun elements to the training programme and hence motivate student teacher participants to be more engaged in the teacher-training course featuring corpus use that aim to develop both their corpus literacy and pedagogy for language teaching in future. This study will address the following research questions:

- 1. To what extent can student teachers develop their corpus literacy and corpus pedagogy respectively via an online learning community?
- 2. How do intragroup and intergroup interactions among the online learning community contribute to their learning outcome?

## Methodology

## Participants and research site

The research took place in a university of Hong Kong as a MA course that trains pre-service teachers of English mainly for Hong Kong, mainland China or other Chinese-related countries/regions. After receiving input from physical lectures and workshop on corpus training, student teachers were invited to attend online sessions where they worked collaboratively and interactively to deepen their learning. Then the participants were formed into groups to complete a group task design where they have to design some vocabulary learning and teaching activities to address the common problems or learning difficulties encountered by Chinese students of English learners (primary or secondary level). Examples include how to learn adjectives ending with –ing and –ed (interesting vs. interested), how to differentiate 'economical' from 'economic', and how to use the connectors 'however' and 'but' accurately.

The online sessions were facilitated by the Moodle online learning platform, which served as the virtual classroom as the second part of a flipped learning course. This virtual classroom included various forms of learning spaces: the activity session, where materials and documents are uploaded students' reference and use; a discussion forum, where the students could upload their work to be commented by other groups; and a name list where the students could view all other participants of the online course. The main board of the activity session is where the researchers posted the instructions for the task. Once the groups' works are uploaded to the general forum, their group work can be commented by students from other groups, where information related to the group task design will be discussed. The discussion forum can function as a space for uploading files and eliciting comments. Throughout the processes of the task, the researchers were available for consultation.

## Data collection

Both qualitative and quantitative data were collected for analysis: (1) a self-designed survey consisting of both Likert-scale questionnaire were sent to participants at the end of the project to measure their learning on corpus literacy; (2) the initial and final versions of the group work were collected for analysis to measure their learning on corpus-based

language pedagogy and efforts made in addressing other groups' comments; (3) the comments provided on each other group's task design were analysed to unveil intergroup interactions; (4) interviews were used to probe into the mechanism of intragroup and intergroup interactions. The quantitative data were tabulated with descriptive statistical information (e.g. mean, standard deviation or frequency). All qualitative data were coded and checked by two researchers. Discussions were used to resolve all disputed codes and patterns till an agreement was reached.

## Results

#### The development of Corpus literacy

Mukherjee (2006) included 4 essential aspects for corpus literacy which are: (1) understanding what a corpus is; (2) knowing what can and cannot be accomplished with corpus data; (3) acquiring the skills to analyse concordance lines; (4) knowing how to summarise language use patterns/trends from observing corpus data. Based on these four components of corpus literacy, a survey was developed, comprising five sub-sections of 16 6-point Likert-scale items to measure student teachers' development of corpus literacy at the end of the corpus-training. Two separate sections, namely "advantages of using corpus data" and "limitations of using corpus data", are developed to measure the component "knowing what can and cannot be accomplished with corpus data" following Mukherjee's (2006) definition of corpus literacy. See Table 1 below for the results of the survey.

N=40	No. of items	Sample item	Mean (max.=6)	SD
Understanding of corpus data	4	e.g. I understand what a concordance line is	5.39	0.78
Advantages of using corpus data	3	e.g. I can draw conclusion about language use after searching corpus data	5.00	0.81
Limitations of using corpus data	3	e.g. I'm aware of the limitations of using corpus data for language teaching	4.76	1.21
Search skills of corpus data	3	e.g. I know how to search words in corpus data	5.24	0.78
Analysis of corpus data	3	e.g. I will examine the words before or after the key word in concordance lines	4.92	0.91

Table 1. Survey results for corpus literacy.

The table shows that students in general self-perceived that they had developed a good corpus literacy by attaining a mean of around 5 (out of 6) in all five sections that comprise corpus literacy. The highest mean (5.39 out of 6) is "understanding of corpus data", indicating that participants have developed fairly good knowledge of what a corpus is and the nature of corpus data.

# *Competence in developing corpus-based teaching materials for Chinese students' L2 learning (English)*

One important indicator for measuring to what extend the student teachers addressed the needs of Chinese students' learning of English as L2 is to examine the selection of the topics in their group task design, i.e., whether the student teachers could select some pair of words/phrases that are deemed to be easily confused by Chinese learners and come up with some corpus-based learning and teaching activities to help Chinese learners differentiate the pair in question. The information of topic selection in the task design is summarised in the following table.

Table 2. Analysis of the choice of topics in the group task design.				
Group	Language Focus	The analysis of the choice of the topic and to what extent the choice could address Chinese students' difficulty or needs in learning English as L2	Corpus used in designing the activities	Target Level of the students
А	get to vs. get up	<ol> <li>"get to" and "get up" are not the common phrasal verb pairs Chinese students mix up.</li> <li>Suggestion → better choose "get out" and "get off"</li> <li>Phrasal verbs of "get to" and "get up" are too easy for secondary school students</li> </ol>	Lextutor	Junior Secondary Ievel
В	apply to vs. apply for	Appropriate -Chinese learners use "apply" a lot but they may be confused by which preposition, i.e., "to" or "for", should be used	Words and Phrases	Junior Secondary level
С	The synonyms of "important" / "verv"	Appropriate - Synonyms of "important" and "very" are useful in writing	COCA	Junior Secondary level
D	alone vs. lonely	Appropriate -Both English words share a similar translation "孤獨的" and may be easily confused by Chinese learners	Lextutor	Junior Secondary level
E	economic vs. economical	Appropriate - Economic and economical are two easily mixed up words	COCA	Secondary level
F	make vs. do	Appropriate - a common mistake for Chinese students in writing - the corpus chosen may be a bit difficult for primary level but the design made the activities quite manageable by upper primary level students	COCA	Upper Primary level
G	agree to vs. aaree with	Appropriate	Lextutor	Secondary level
Η	however vs. but	Appropriate - a common mistake for Chinese students in writing as both words share a similar Chinese translation	Words and Phrases	Junior Secondary Ievel

Table 2. Analysis of the choice of topics in the group task design.

As seen from the table, 7 out of the 8 topics are considered to be appropriate selections that may address the learning needs and difficulties that target Chinese L2 students encounter, particularly, in helping them differentiate some easily confused pairs of words/phrases due to both inter- or intra-lingual influences. The selection of the lexical pair is also suitable for the level of the target students (primary or secondary).

A panel of two teachers who have expertise in corpus linguistics and its implications in language education evaluated all group task design against three marking criteria: (1) use of pedagogical content knowledge, (2) implementation of teaching and learning activities, (3) language accuracy. The scores and ranking of all group work are provided in the following table.

Table 3. The quality of group work as rated by teachers.

	1	
Group	Scores (Max. = 60 100%)	Ranking
С	58 (97%)	1
F	56 (93%)	2
D	55 (91%)	3
G	53 (88%)	4
В	51 (85%)	5
E	49 (82%)	6
Н	46 (77%)	7
А	43 (72%)	8

As can be seen from the table, all groups achieved at least 70% of the full the scores, which were evaluated separately and agreed upon by two teachers, reflecting a rather high competence of the corpus-based language pedagogy achieved by the student teachers themselves.

## Intragroup Interactions

With reference to Li and Zhu's (2017) framework for analysis of intragroup interactions, the interview results show that different groups adopted different interaction patterns. Efforts are made to see if such interaction patterns are associated with the learning outcome. The interaction pattern for each group and their achievement (i.e., ranking of their group work, see Table 3 above) are compiled for readers' convenience.

Table 4. The interaction patterns of all groups.

Group	No. of groupmates	Interaction pattern	Ranking of the group work
С	4	Expert/novice (Mid-low Equality, High Mutuality) -the group leader Tommy had more share of the task and managed the overflow of the task completion; -Tommy communicated with each member separately whereas there was relatively low interaction between other groupmates.	1
F	4	Dominant/defensive (Low Equality, Low Mutuality) -the group leader Katie held lots of group discussions and convinced her groupmates by adopting her ideas finally); -Katie had more share of the workload and managed the overflow of the task completion.	2
D	4	Expert/novice (Mid-low Equality, High Mutuality) -the leader May guided each member and controlled the quality of their work	3
G	4	Cooperating-in-parallel, High Equality, Middle-low Mutuality -high mutuality between Candy and Alice; -low mutuality with/between other groupmates	4
В	4	Cooperating-in-parallel (High Equality, Middle-low Mutuality) -high-mutuality between Cathy and Lily; low mutuality with/between other groupmates	5
E	5	Cooperating-in-parallel (High Equality, Middle-low Mutuality) -each member managed the task in different perspectives and helped with others' part, e.g., making comments on and providing suggestions for others' work)	6
Н	3	Cooperating-in-parallel (High Equality, Middle-Low Mutuality) -occasional discussion in the task design process and in the final stage of finalising the group work	7
A	4	Collective (High Equality, High Mutuality) -group discussions were conducted all the time and all groupmates completed together all parts in the task design	8

The table shows that the most commonly adopted intragroup interaction patterns are cooperating-in-parallel, i.e., the workload is equally distributed among all groupmates who each completed independently their own part and then assembled everything together; some discussion and synthesis of ideas may take place when it comes to the stage of finalising the group work. However, these groups' work is not necessarily of top quality. Instead, the two groups (C and D) who adopted the expert/novice (mid-low equality, high mutuality) pattern are ranked the first and third, showing a high achievement of their learning outcome. Interestingly, the group F adopting a dominant/defensive pattern (low equality, low mutuality) also had a high achievement in its group work, being ranked the second place. It is revealed from the interview data that the group leader, Katie, insisted on using her ideas in the task design and disregarded many of the ideas proposed by her group mates. However, the group leader had lots of group discussions with other groupmates who eventually agreed that the Katie's ideas were better after some lengthy 'arguing'. After examining the interview data, it is revealed that all group leaders in the four groups with the best performance (C, F, D and G) had played a key role in managing and executing the group tasks; all leaders share two same characteristics: (1) they have a great interest in using corpus data for language learning and teaching and (2) they are

highly motivated in applying what they had learned from the training to the task design. They can be considered as "star students" who have the highest competence in corpus literacy & pedagogy, made special efforts in completing and managing the overall task design, helped their group mates with various aspects and had taken more workload accordingly. Despite relatively low equality, high mutuality or frequent discussions/negotiations among group members are generally observed for these high-achieving groups.

By sharp contrast to Li and Zhu's (2017) study where the groups adopting a collective pattern had the highest achievement, the group (A) from the current study, adopting a collective approach with both high equality and mutuality, had the lowest achievement, even though their task design was evaluated to have achieved 70% of the total score by the teachers. For this group, there is not a "strong" group leader as for the top-achieving groups who provided guidance, scaffolding and assistance for all members. Instead, the members in this group made all decisions and completed each step of the task design together.

## Intergroup Social Interactions

The main platform for intergroup interactions to take place in this study is when each group was asked to upload their group work online, other group members provided comments for the group to improve the task design, and the group concerned addressed the comments, revised and reposted online their task design. The following table provides the quantitative information of the comments (e.g. suggestions for improvement) together with the revisions made by each group.

Group	Ranking	Suggestions	Revision as Response to	Self-initiated	Total
			Comments	Revision	revisions
С	1	9	5	1	6
F	2	9	3	2	5
D	3	6	4	4	8
G	4	3	2	3	5
В	5	1	1	0	1
Е	6	4	1	0	1
Н	7	3	1	0	1
А	8	4	1	2	3

Table 5. The intergroup interactions for all groups.

The trend is clear that the groups which made more efforts to address comments and made more revisions are associated with high quality of work, i.e., groups C, F, D and G. These groups selected and addressed more suggestions for improvement in the final versions of task design; they also made more efforts to make self-initiated revisions to improve the quality of the work. It is further discovered that it is the leaders of these groups who decided on which comments to address and made the corresponding revisions. Again, it seems that the group leaders who have high corpus literacy & pedagogy critically reviewed all comments and decided to address the most crucial comments in revising the final version of the task design. It can be concluded that the groups that possess a higher degree of willingness in incorporating other groups' comments in the revised task design tend to demonstrate better quality in their revised group tasks. Thus, the ideas and comments from intergroup social interactions are as important as the intragroup interactions to the improvement on the group task design, but the effectiveness of such intergroup comments may depend, to some extent, on the wise decisions and subject knowledge of the group leaders.

## **Discussion & Conclusion**

In this study, a lively online CoP is formed by physical workshop training, online learning and group task design. The intragroup and intergroup interactions centred around the group task design mediated by online technologies greatly enriched and energised the learning of the community members, and facilitated the completion of the group task. As a result, our student teachers had a high self-perceived competence in their development
of both the corpus literacy and corpus-based language pedagogy. This finding is verified by the relatively high-quality of the group task design graded by the teachers. In addition, the majority of our student teacher participants are able to make an appropriate selection of topics in their task design that can address the common problems or difficulties that Chinese L2 (English) learners encounter.

This study also reveals some interesting findings regarding intragroup and intergroup interactions. The best achieving groups all are led by a 'star' student as group leader who played a key role in guiding and helping all the other groupmates in their learning process of completing the group work. It is the group leader who pushed and motivated the group members, and controlled the quality of the part designed by other group members. As a result, there is low equality in workload distribution and leaders necessarily undertook more workload than other groupmates. Despite a lack of equality, these top-achieving groups all possessed relatively high mutuality, e.g., the group leaders would maintain a good communication channel with all the other groupmates and they listened, discussed and resolved the problems together with other groupmates in the task design process. The result of this study shows that it is not the equal workload distribution, but the relatively high mutuality among all group mates, including discussion, arguing, seeking help, offering comments or solutions, etc., that tends to be associated with high quality of group work. In this sense, the definition of mutuality not only means "the level of engagement with each other's contribution" (Storch, 2002, p. 127), but also includes the willingness to discuss each other's ideas and make appropriate decisions in the design of group work.

In addition, the intergroup interactions play an important role in improving the final version of group work. All top-achieving groups made efforts to address more comments in the task design than those relatively low-achieving groups. Furthermore, these top-achieving groups all adopted a judicious approach, only selecting to address some crucial comments rather than all comments. Again, it seems that the group leaders of these top-achieving groups played a key role in deciding what comments to address and how to revise the final versions.

#### References

Bruner, J. (1990). Acts of meaning. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Graham, P., & Ferriter, W. M. (2009). *Building a professional learning community at work: A guide to the first year*. United States: Solution Tree Press.

Heather, J., & Helt, M. (2012). Evaluating corpus literacy training for pre-service language teachers: Six case studies. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education*, *20*(4), 415–440.

Hoadley, C. (2012). What is a community of practice and how can we support it? In D. H. Jonassen & S. M. Land (Eds.), *Theoretical foundations of learning environments* (2nd ed., pp. 287–300). New York: Routledge.

Lave, J., & Wenger, E. (1991). *Situated learning: Legitimate peripheral participation*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Leńko-Szymańska, A. (2014). Is this enough? A qualitative evaluation of the effectiveness of a teacher-training course on the use of corpora in language education. *ReCALL*, *26*(2), 260–278.

Leńko-Szymańska, A. (2015). A teacher-training course on the use of corpora in language education: Perspectives of the students. In A. Turula & B. Mikołajewska (Eds.), *Insights into technology-enhanced language pedagogy* (pp. 129–144). Frankfurt am Main, Germany: Peter Lang.

Li, M. & Zhu, W. (2017). Good or bad collaborative wiki writing: Exploring links between group interactions and writing products. *Journal of Second Language Writing*, *35*, 38-53.

Lin, M. H., & Lee, J. Y. (2015). Data-driven learning: Changing the teaching of grammar in EFL classes. *Elt Journal*, *69*(3), 264-274.

Mateeva, N. L., & Dimitrov, P. L. (2013). Influence of intragroup dynamics and intergroup relations on authenticity in organizational and social contexts: A review of conceptual framework and research evidence. *Psychological Thought*, *6*(2), 204-240.

Merry, S., & Orsmond, P. (2008). Students' attitudes to and usage of academic feedback provided via audio files. *Bioscience Education*, *11*(1), 1-11.

Mukherjee, J. (2006). Corpus linguistics and language pedagogy: The state of the art-and beyond. In S. Braun, K. Kohn, & J. Mukherjee (Eds.), *Corpus technology and language pedagogy: New resources, new tools, new methods*. Frankfurt am Main, Germany: Peter Lang.

Reppen, R. (2010). *Using corpora in the language classroom*. Cambridge University Press.

Römer, U. (2010). Using general and specialized corpora in English language teaching: Past, present and future. *Corpus-based approaches to English language teaching*, 18-35.

Sharples, M., Taylor, J., & Vavoula, G. (2007). A theory of learning for the mobile age. In R. Andrews & C. Haythormthwaite (Eds.), *The sage handbook of e-learning research* (pp. 221–247). London: Sage.

Storch, N. (2002). Patterns of interaction in ESL pair work. *Language Learning*, *52*(1), 119-158.

Wenger, E. (2010). Communities of practice and social learning systems: the career of a concept. In C. Blackmore (Ed.), *Social learning systems and communities of practice* (pp. 179-198). London: Springer.

Zareva, A. (2016). Incorporating corpus literacy skills into TESOL teacher training. *ELT Journal*, 71(1).

# Yanjin Pan, Shin-Chieh Hsieh, Seng-Hian Lau

National Chiayi University, Chiayi City, Taiwan

elsapan@mail.ncyu.edu.tw, sch230@mail.ncyu.edu.tw, voyu.lau@gmail.com

## A study on the teacher-student relationship in interactivetechnology-enhanced English classrooms in Taiwan

## Bio data



Yanjin Pan is an Assistant Professor at National Chiayi University. She received her Ph. D. in Educational Administration & Leadership from University of Minnesota, U.S.A. in 2008. Her Ph.D. study shed light on communicative language learning and teaching in General English courses in high education in Taiwan. Her long-term interests are language teaching and learning in English and Mandarin Chinese, respectively.



Shin-Chieh Hsieh is an assistant Professor at National Chiayi University. Her Ph.D. study builds around the area of semantics, sociopragmatics, pragmalinguistics, and computer-mediated pragmatics. She received her Ph.D. in English Education from the University of Birmingham, U.K in 2009. Her long-term interests are to explore the issues of pragmatics, online learning and virtual intercultural communication.



Seng-hian Lau is an Assistant Professor at National Chiayi University. He received his Ph. D. in Linguistics from National Tsing Hua University, Taiwan in 2017. His dissertation elucidates the syntax-pragmatics interface in Taiwanese from a cross-linguistic perspective. His research interests are syntax, semantics, syntax-pragmatics interface, and comparative syntax.

#### Abstract

Numerous interactive technologies have been invented nowadays to help learners learn more effectively. However, literature has shown different results of applying interactive technologies in teaching and learning in terms of student-teacher relationship. Therefore, in order to shed more light on the differences of student-teacher interaction and student engagement between interactive-technology-enhanced and traditional instructions, this study partially adopted Australian Survey of Student Engagement (AUSSE) to investigate student engagement in both language learning environments. A sample of 179 freshman undergraduates in Taiwan are required to complete the questionnaire online during the 2018-2019 academic year. The results inform us that an interactive-technology-enhanced instruction, ZUVIO, does have a positive impact on student-teacher interaction and student engagement in language learning environment.

Key words: Interactive technologies, ZUVIO, student-teacher relationship, student engagement

#### **Conference paper**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Studies have indicated that learners tend to reveal more behavior problems and poorer academic performance when they have negative relationship with their teachers (Baker, 2006; Pianta, 1995; Pianta & Stuhlman, 2004). Moreover, it has been reported that when confrontations occurred between teachers and students, students are less engaged and less likely to enjoy learning. This vicious circle eventually results in poorer academic achievement (Ladd & Burgess, 2001). This stresses the importance of teacher-student relationship to students' learning outcome.

In this present study, we wish to find out whether there are positive correlations between teacher-student relationship and student engagement. Recently, research on teaching and learning in higher education has revealed great interest in the use of interactive technologies to enhance classroom engagement for "digital-native" students. Due to the ubiquitous availability of mobile devices for each individual, interactive technologies have begun to be widely used in the teaching field (Ding & Li, 2011; Neo & Neo, 2004). Using mobile to assist language learning can create spontaneous interactions with every individual in the classroom. Because learners are expressing their ideas via their own mobile devices, the learners feel a greater sense of freedom. Studies have shown that using digital devices to assist learning can not only increase student extrinsic motivation without causing higher pressure, but also enhance students' conceptual understanding (Pei-Luen et al., 2008; Zacharia, Lazaridou & Avraamidou, 2016). Thus, we wish to find out whether implementing interactive technologies in language classroom can increase learners' learning motivations and invite more active learning. We attempt to answer the following questions: (1) To what extent does interactive-technology-enhanced instruction have impact on teacher-student relationship? (2) To what extent does interactivetechnology-enhanced instruction have impact on student participation in class?

# LITERATURE REVIEW

#### Teacher-student relationship

Researches have shown that students tend to reveal long and lasting learning motivations when they have strong connections with their instructors (Flood, Lapp, Squire & Jensen, 2003; Spiro, Coulson, Feltovich & Anderson, 1987). This statement clearly stated the importance of having supportive teacher-student relationship. Students feel more secure and therefore lower the learning anxieties when their relationships with the instructors are well and supportive. Pianta (1999) defines the student-teacher relationship, as "emotions-based experiences that emerge out of teachers' on-going interactions with their students." It is suggested that students tend to behave and engage more in the classroom activities when they considered the teachers as friends and protectors. When the students were more behaviorally and emotionally engaged, their academic achievement would improve (Hughes, Luo, Kwok, & Loyd, 2008; O'Connor & McCartney, 2007).

Although the aforementioned literature shows the importance of having good teacherstudent relationship, evidence regarding the effect of students' emotions in class and their academic performance is mixed. Studies using measures of emotional engagement combined with behavioral engagement (Borman & Overman, 2004; Connell, Spencer, & Aber, 1994; Sirin & RogersSirin, 2004) have generally found a positive relationship between engagement and academic performance. However, in PISA (Willms, 2003) and Finn's (1993) studies, students' academic performance was not positively associated with their emotional engagement with the school or teacher. In order to clarify this mixed argument, we wish to see whether using ZUVIO in language class can enhance teacherstudent relationship, and in turn, raise students' long-term learning motivations.

#### Interactive technologies

Recently, research on teaching and learning in higher education has revealed great interest in the use of interactive technologies to enhance classroom engagement for "digital-native" students. Due to the ubiquitous availability of mobile devices for each individual, interactive technologies have begun to be widely used in the teaching field (Ding & Li, 2011; Neo & Neo, 2004). Using mobile to assist language learning can create spontaneous interactions with every individual in the classroom. Because learners are expressing their ideas via their own mobile devices, the learners feel a greater sense of freedom. Studies have shown that using digital devices to assist learning can not only increase student extrinsic motivation without causing higher pressure, but also enhance students' conceptual understanding (Zacharia, Lazaridou, & Avraamidou, 2016). Thus, we wish to find out whether implementing interactive technologies in language classroom can increase the chances for teacher-student and peer interactions. Moreover, we wish to see if this change of classroom dynamics can enhance teacher-student relationship.

ZUVIO is a cloud-based interactive system developed by NTU electrical engineering alumni in 2012. This online interactive system allows students to communicate with their peers or teachers using various internet devices (e.g. smart mobile phones, tablet PCs, laptops or desk computers). Since teachers can receive instant feedback from the students, they can adjust their teaching contents anytime depending on students' responses. It soon draws attentions from college faculties in Taiwan because it is easy to use and does not require additional transmitter. Students can use their own digital mobile devices to connect to ZUVIO platform. Through the wireless communication, teachers and students can execute learning activities in a low-cost and individualized manner (Lee and Shih, 2015; Melero et al., 2015; Tan et al., 2014). ZUVIO system mainly consists of four parts: course account management system, multimedia item bank system, peer assessment system and grading system. The features are listed in Table 1.

Course account management system	Teacher can add different courses and enroll different students in the classes.
Multimedia item bank system	Teachers can create quizzes or questions in various forms, such as multiple choices, open- ended questions.
Peer assessment system	Learners with the same background assess their peers' performance. During the peer assessment, the system will update scores and rankings among individuals or groups.
Grading system	After students finish answering the questions, the statistic results can be seen immediately. From the results, teachers can tell the parts where most students make mistakes and make proper adjustment to suit learners' needs.

Table 1. Four parts of ZUVIO and their features

# Methodology

#### Participants

The participants for this study were students of the same proficiency level based on a placement exam held before the semester began. All 179 participants were at a proficiency level not higher than CEFR A2, corresponding to the scale lower than 349 in TOEIC Listening & Reading Test. These sample students were college freshmen from six General English classes. Three of them adopted the software ZUVIO in the class (marked as experimental group, 102 students) whereas the other three applied traditional instructions (controlling group, 77 students). Except for the adoption of ZUVIO and the instructors, all six classes used an identical textbook and followed schedules alike. The differences of instructional activities between classes with and without ZUVIO are summarized in Table 2.

Table 2 Th	o difforoncos	of instruction	botwoon 7UV/IO	and tra	ditional classrooms
Table 2. III	e unierences		Detween 2010		

	with ZUVIO	without ZUVIO
Warm-up	Teacher played a short extracurricular video in English.	Teacher reminded students of today's agenda or having quizzes, and/or elicited predictions or inferences of the topic of the day.

Attendance	Students signed in on ZUVIO individually.	Teacher did a traditional roll call attendance.
Activity	Some textbook activities were done on ZUVIO, either in groups or individually.	Teacher followed the activities provided on the textbook, including previewing vocabulary, listening to conversations, etc., and students usually worked in pairs or groups.
Preview	Teacher conducted quizzes on ZUVIO after students previewed a section. Sometimes the grade distribution would be shown after the quiz. Sometimes the quiz would be re-opened for students to revise their answers after mistakes were pointed out.	Teacher briefly reminded students of what have been done in the previous lessons, and/or introduced or explained some vocabulary with photos that may be difficult for students.
Oral practices	After oral practices in pairs or groups, teacher would randomly select students on ZUVIO to perform.	Students would be asked to do pre-, during, or post-lesson activities in pairs or groups, such as discussing pictures in the textbook. After discussion, teacher would ask one person from each group to orally describe the pictures.
Listening practices	Students submitted their answers on ZUVIO	Students would be asked to do pre-, during, or post-listening activities, such as listening to the audios and answering the questions in the textbook.

#### Instrument

In this study, an engagement questionnaire, revised from AUSSE, was distributed online via Google Form to measure students' attitudes relevant to their interactions with the instructor and classmates, and their engagement in the General English classes. AUSSE, The Australasian Survey of Student Engagement, is extensively used and highly validated measure of student engagement in Australia and New Zealand (Radloff, 2012). It originally contains six scales including academic challenge, active learning, student and staff interactions, enriching educational experiences, supportive learning environment, and work integrated learning, consisting of approximately 130 items in total. We adopted 20 items from the first scale focusing on academic challenges and student-teacher interaction, added six more questions related to the General English course, and then translated those items into Chinese, the primary language of these students, to assure understanding. After piloting the new brief Chinese-version student engagement questionnaire, we uploaded it to Google Form, and one week before the semester ended, we invited all students in the six classes to conduct the online survey.

#### Data analysis

Survey data were collected during the 2018/2019 academic year, and were analyzed with the statistical software SPSS 22.0 version. The Cronbach's Alpha for the class participation questionnaire is .91. In other words, the reliability coefficients indicated high reliability for the measurement in this study.

#### Results and discussions

In this section, we will present the statistical results and discuss how well they answer our research questions.

#### Results

Let us first look at the demographic data of the participants in this study. Forty-three percent of the participants are in the controlling group and 57% are in the experimental group. Among all the participants, 56% are male and 44% are female; and 93% of participants are aged from 18-19 years old. Additionally, this sample group is very homogeneous; 97% of them are Taiwanese. In terms of colleges, 18% of them are from College of Life Science, 37% from College of Science & Engineering, 21% from College of Agriculture, 12% from Teachers College, and 13% from College of Humanities and Arts. Last but not least, 67% of the participants study English less than one hour everyday, which is understandable since the sample participants were classified as low achievers in English and they may not have much learning motivation in this subject.

We now examine the results from the engagement survey. First, we ran factor analysis and divided all the 26 items in the participation survey into four categories: Interaction with teacher, Interaction with classmates, Preparation for class, and Class participation. Next, an Independent-sample t-test was conducted to compare the degrees of participation between the controlling and experimental groups. As Table 1 shows, there was a statistically significant difference in the scores of Interaction with teacher for the controlling (M=2.1266, SD=.56795) and experimental groups (M=2.3297, SD=.64887); t(177)=-2.185, p=0.030. These results suggest that ZUVIO, did have an effect on teacher-student interaction. In other words, students in ZUVIO classes were more likely to have interaction with the instructor.

Table 1. Independent-sample t-test results comparing controlling and experimental groups on Interaction with Teacher.

Groups	n	Mean	SD	t-cal	t-crit	df	р
Controlling	77	2.1266	.56795	-2.185	-2.226	177	.030
Experimental	102	2.3297	.64887				

Next, we compare the degrees of participation between males and females. The results from Independent-sample t-test are showed in Table 2, indicating that there was a statistically significant difference in the scores of Preparations before class between males (M=2.5967, SD=.59750) and females (M=2.7869, SD=.44970); t(177)=-2.430, p=0.016. The results suggest that female students were more likely to prepare for the lessons before class.

Table 2. Independent-sample *t*-test results comparing males and females on Preparations before class.

Groups	n	Mean	SD	t-cal	t-crit	df	р
Males	100	2.5967	.59750	-2.352	-2.430	177	.016
Females	79	2.7869	.44970				

To shed more light on the effect of the intervention of ZUVIO on gender, One-way ANOVA was conducted to compare the degrees of participation among gender groups: controlling males and females, and experimental males and females. Table 3 shows that there was a statistically significant difference in the scores of Interaction with teacher among gender groups (F=9.257, p<.000). The results of post hoc using Scheffe test in Table 4 further indicate that there were statistically significant differences between controlling males and females (MD=-.41934, p=.021), between controlling males and females (MD=-.58130, p<.000), and between experimental males and females (MD=-.41957, p=.007). These results suggest that the controlling females were more likely to have interaction with the instructors than the controlling males, and that the experimental males were very likely to have more interaction with the instructor than both controlling males and experimental females.

Table 3. One-way ANOVA result of the scores of Interaction with teacher among gender groups. **ANOVA** 

	SS	DF	MS	F value	Pr > F
Between groups	9.429	3	3.143	9.257	.000
Within groups	59.420	175	.340		
Total	68 849	178			

Table 4. Post hoc results of the scores of Interaction with teacher among gender groups.

(I)	(J)	Mean Difference (I-J)	Std. Error	Sig.
Con-male	Con-female	41934 <sup>*</sup>	.13291	.021
	Ex-male	58130 <sup>*</sup>	.12069	.000
Ex-male	Ex-female	.41957*	.11873	.007

Table 5 shows that there was a statistically significant difference in the scores of Preparation for class among gender groups (F=5.891, p=.001). Furthermore, post hoc results in Table 6 indicate that there were statistically significant differences between controlling males and females (MD=-.47613, p=.002), between controlling males and experimental males (MD=-.35364, p=.016), and between controlling males and experimental females (MD=-.34835, p=.041). These results suggest that the controlling females, the experimental males and females were all more likely to prepare for class than the controlling males.

Table 5. One-way ANOVA result of the scores of Preparation for class among gender groups. ANOVA

	SS	DF	MS	F value	Pr > F
Between groups	4.835	3	1.612	5.891	.001
Within groups	47.880	175	.274		
Total	52.715	178			

Table 6. Post hoc results of the scores of Preparation for class among gender groups.

(I)	(J)	Mean Difference (I-J)	Std. Error	Sig.
Con-male	Con-female	47613 <sup>*</sup>	.11931	.002
	Ex-male	35364*	.10834	.016
	Ex-female	34835*	.12004	.041

Table 7 shows that there was a statistically significant difference in the scores of Class participation among gender groups (F=6.871, p<.000). Again, we ran post hoc test and the results in Table 8 indicate that there were statistically significant differences between controlling males and females (MD=-.54493, p=.001), and between controlling males and experimental males (MD=-.48402, p=.002). These results suggest that both controlling females and experimental males were very likely to participate more in class than the controlling males.

Table 7. One-way ANOVA result of the scores of Class participation among gender groups. **ANOVA** 

	SS	DF	MS	F value	Pr > F
Between groups	7.253	3	2.418	6.871	.000
Within groups	61.579	175	.352		

Total 68.832 178	
------------------	--

Table 8. Post hoc results of the scores of Class participation among gender groups.

(I)	(J)	Mean Difference (I-J)	Std. Error	Sig.
Con-male	Con-female	54493 <sup>*</sup>	.13530	.001
	Ex-male	48402 <sup>*</sup>	.12286	.002

#### Discussion

In this section, we summarize the findings and answer the research questions in this study. There are two main findings in this study; first, the participants in the experimental group were more likely to have more interaction with the instructor, which means even though the observation in ZUVIO classrooms showed that there seemed like little interaction between the instructor and the students, the learners did believe that they had more interaction with the teacher in this course. This is the only difference between ZUVIO and the traditional classrooms. Secondly, females were more likely to prepare for class than their male counterparts, and the controlling males is more likely to both prepare for class and to participate in class the least.

Based on the findings above, we try to answer our research questions. Research question 1: To what extent does ZUVIO instruction have impact on teacher-student relationship? The findings inform us that ZUVIO instruction did have an impact on teacher-student relationship; students in ZUVIO classrooms believed they had more interaction with the instructor. However, the instructor's in-class observation did not confirm these findings; he did not observe a lot of teacher-student interaction in class. This phenomenon may relate to the perceptions of learners of Net Generation. Magnani & Bardone (2011) define Net Generation as "The generation of youth which is growing up with modern information and communication technologies shaping strongly their mental models, i.e. views on the world around them." The study of Sandars & Morrison (2009) also suggest that young people of Net Generation have different methods of learning from those of previous generations, and that a large majority of undergraduates have experience of using online systems and their attitudes toward online learning be positive. Therefore, echoing the above literature, in this study students in ZUVIO instruction may believe they had more interaction with the instructor because of using an interactive learning tool which allowed them to have more connection with the instructor.

Our second research question is: "To what extent does ZUVIO instruction have impact on student participation in class?" According to the findings, ZUVIO learners were more likely to prepare for the lessons than the males in traditional instruction; and the male learners in ZUVIO were more likely to participate in class than the male ones in traditional instruction. Consequently, ZUVIO instruction did encourage male language learners to involve more in class-related activities, including preparation before class, in-class activities, and after-class assignments.

#### CONCLUSION

Nowadays, there are numerous interactive technologies invented to help language educators and learners to teach and learn languages, and those tools are popular for some reasons. For Net Generation, which perceives the world differently from the previous generations including us, interactive-technology-enhacned or computer-assisted instruction thus could be an effective learning model (Chen & Pan, 2016). The findings in this study confirm that the ZUVIO instruction did promote teacher-student interaction, as well as male students' engagement in terms of preparation for class and class participation. This may provide an implication for language educators that male learners are more likely to engage more in an interactive-technology-enhanced learning environment, especially

for lower achievers in language learning.

#### References

Baker, J. A. (2006). Contributions of teacher-child relationships to positive school adjustment during elementary school. Journal of School Psychology, 44(3), 211–229.

Borman, G. D., & Overman, L. T. (2004). Academic resilience in mathematics among poor and minority students. Elementary School Journal, 104(3), 177-195.

Chen, C., & Y. Pan. (2016). Student Perceptions toward Computer Supported Collaborative Learning on Chinese Language Learning. Paper presented at the Proceedings of The Asian Conference on Education & International Development (ACEID, 2016). Japan.

Connell, J. P., Spencer, M. B., & Aber, J. L. (1994). Educational risk and resilience in African-American youth: Context, self, action, and outcomes in school. Child Development, 65, 493-506.

Ding, M., & Li, H. (2011). On the application of multimedia in economics teaching. Interactional Educational Studies, 4(3), 88-90. http://dx.doi.org/10.5539/ies.v4n3p88.

Finn, J. D. (1993). School engagement and students at risk. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.

Flood, J., Lapp, D., Squires, J.R., & Jensen, J.M. (2003). Handbook of research on teaching the English language arts. Mahwah,NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Hughes, J. N., Luo, W., Kwok, O., & Loyd, L. (2008). Teacher–student support, effortful engagement, and achievement: A three year longitudinal study. Journal of Educational Psychology, 100, 1 - 14

Ladd, G. W., & Burgess, K. B. (2001). Do relational risks and protective factors moderate the linkages between childhood aggression and early psychological and school adjustment? Child Development, 72(5), 1579–1601.

Lee, J. W. S., & Shih, M. L. (2015). Teaching Practices for the Student Response System at National Taiwan University. International Journal of Automation and Smart Technology, 5(3), 145-150. doi:10.5875/ ausmt.v5i3.862

Magnani, L., & Bardone, E. (2011). Ambient Intelligence as Cognitive Niche Enrichment: Foundational Issues. In N. Chong & F. Mastrogiovanni (Eds.), Handbook of Research on Ambient Intelligence and Smart Environments: Trends and Perspectives. (1-2). USA: IGI Global.

Melero, J., Hern\_andez-Leo, D., & Manatunga, K. (2015). Group-based mobile learning: Do group size and sharing mobile devices matter? Computers in Human Behavior, 44, 377-385.

Neo, T.K., & Neo, M. (2004). Integrating multimedia into the Malaysian classroom: Engaging students in interactive learning. The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology, 3(3), 31-37.

O'Connor, R., & McCartney, K. (2007). Examining teacher–child relationships and achievement as part of an ecological model of development. American Educational Research Journal, 44, 340 –369.

Pianta, R. C., Steinberg, M. S., & Rollins, K. B. (1995). The first two years of school: Teacher-child relationships and deflections in children's classroom adjustment.

Development and Psychopathology, 7(2), 295–312.

Pianta, R. C. (1999). Enhancing Relationships Between Children and Teachers, American Psychological Association, Washington, DC.

Pianta, R. C., & Stuhlman, M. W. (2004). Teacher–child relationships and children's success in the first years of school. School Psychology Review, 33(3), 444–458.

Sandars, J., & Morrison, C. (2009). What Is the Net Generation? The Challenge for Future Medical Education. Accessed online, March 11, 2019. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/01421590601176380?journalCode=imte2 0

Sirin, S. R., & Rogers-Sirin, L. (2004). Exploring school engagement of middle-class African American adolescents. Youth & Society, 35, 323-340.

Spiro, R. J., Vispoel, W. L., Schmitz, J., Samarapungavan, A., & Boerger, A. (1987). Knowledge acquisition for application: Cognitive flexibility and transfer in complex content domains. In B. C. Britton & S. Glynn (Eds.), Executive Control Processes. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.

Spiro, R. J. (1988). Cognitive Flexibility Theory: Advanced Knowledge Acquisition in Ill-Structured Domains. Technical Report No. 441.

Tan, G. W.-H., Ooi, K.-B., Leong, L.-Y., & Lin, B. (2014). Predicting the drivers of behavioral intention to use mobile learning: A hybrid SEM-Neural networks approach. Computers in Human Behavior, 36, 198-213.

Willms, J. D. (2003). Student engagement at school: A sense of belonging and participation: Results from PISA 2000. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD).

Zacharia, Z.C., Lazaridou, C., & Avraamidou, L. (2016). The use of mobile devices as means of data collection in supporting elementary school students" conceptual understanding about plants. International Journal of Science Education, 38(4). 596-620. DOI: 10.1080/09500693.2016.1153811

# Joan-Tomas Pujola, Olivia Espejel, Pilar Concheiro\*

\*University of Iceland, Reykjavík, Iceland Universitat de Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

jtpujola@ub.edu, olivia.epejel@ub.edu, mdc@hi.is

# First encounters in a virtual exchange project: analysis of students' interactions and their reflections

# Bio data



Joan-Tomàs Pujolà, PhD in Applied Linguistics at the University of Edinburgh, is currently a Senior Lecturer at the Department of Language Education in the Faculty of Education at the *Universitat de Barcelona*. He is the Principal Investigator of the <u>realTIC Research Group</u>. B. His research interests focus on several areas related to Computer Assisted Language Learning such as telecollaboration and m-learning, and on Teacher Education.



Olivia Espejel is an Associate lecturer in the Department of Language Education at the *Universitat de Barcelona* where she co-teaches the subject ICT for Foreign Language Teaching in the Master's degree in Training of Teachers of Spanish as a Foreign Language (SFL). She holds a PhD from the *Universitat de Barcelona*. Currently, she is also an SFL teacher at the *Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona*'s Languages School.



Pilar Concheiro, PhD in Applied Linguistics to the Teaching of Spanish as a Foreign Language from Nebrija University. Currently, she teaches Spanish to different levels at the University of Iceland in the Faculty of Languages and Cultures and in the Language Centre. Her research interest focuses on the development of digital learning spaces to promote interaction in the language classroom.

# Abstract

In virtual exchange projects, first encounters are essential for successful subsequent tasks, and perhaps even more so in language-learning contexts. Propinquity is a psychological factor to be pursued since it reduces insecurities and negative feelings in social encounters. Thus, the main objective of this study is to explore the technical, communicative and affective strategies that students who participated in a virtual exchange project used in their first interactions to achieve propinquity. Data were gathered from video recordings uploaded on FlipGrid from 22 Spanish teacher trainees and 11 Icelandic students of Spanish, and from their reflection reports taken from an online questionnaire and their learning portfolios. The results show that this first asynchronous video encounter has proved useful since it helped them to reduce anxiety, provided a good emotional atmosphere and fostered their motivation towards subsequent tasks in the telecollaboration project.

#### **Conference paper**

#### Introduction

In any social interaction emotions play a role and influence our behaviour and reactions (Marinetti et al., 2011). In virtual exchanges such as a one-to-one synchronous learning environment, mixed feelings are acting together at different levels of intensity (Chen & Lee, 2011). Students may feel anxiety because of an online meeting with someone unknown but at the same time, they may feel excited to meet someone from another culture. In foreign-language education contexts, we should also consider students' apprehension of communication (Horwitz, 1986) or students feeling insecure as not being in full command of the language they are learning (Horwitz et al., 1986; Dewaele, 2013; Dörnyei & Ryan, 2015). Thus, the initial contacts of students in virtual exchanges are key for the success of any telecollaboration program, since they determine the way learners are going to relate to one another in the process of developing collaborative tasks that benefit both parties' learning.

The context of the study is a virtual exchange program (O'Dowd, 2018) between Icelandic learners of Spanish from the University of Iceland and teacher trainees of Spanish studying for their master's degrees at the University of Barcelona. Virtual exchange is a common pedagogical approach in foreign language education which involves online collaboration projects in different formats, i.e. e-tandem (O'Rourke, 2007) and telecollaboration (Dooly, 2017). This telecollaboration project, which pairs language learners and pre-service language trainees, proposes different communicative tasks that must be completed collaboratively using different formats of interaction (videoconferencing, WhatsApp and so on). The model of this virtual exchange is not based on a bilingual exchange and does not focus only on intercultural issues (O'Dowd, 2019) but on developing complementary competences although having different learning goals: one group of students wants to practise Spanish and the other wants to practise how to teach it online.

The first task of the project consisted of recording a video introduction of themselves on Flipgrid as a way to start getting to know one another and as a preliminary task for the first one-to-one video conferencing encounter. Flipgrid is a video discussion platform where teachers can create a grid on a topic and students, using any mobile device, can upload short videos (up to 90 seconds in the free version) responding to the topic in question. The University of Barcelona (UB) students had to introduce themselves and invite the University of Iceland (HI) students to choose them as future partners. On their behalf, HI students had to watch all of the videos and record messages in response to their three favorites. The telecollaboration tutors considered the preferences expressed on Flipgrid to match students. Since the group at HI was smaller than the one at UB, each HI students were asked to conduct a videoconference with their partner or partners. They were asked to share personal pictures related to different times in their lives. This was used as an ice-breaking task that would allow UB students to perform a needs analysis.

#### Electronic propinquity

Electronic propinquity has been described as the sense of proximity, involvement and presence over any digital communication environment, all of which leads to satisfaction towards interaction (Kozernny, 1978). According to Walther & Bazarova (2008), propinquity is strongly associated with satisfaction, communication effectiveness and task accomplishment. In computer-mediated communication, propinquity is expressed and perceived in innovative ways: emojis, humour and likes are relatively new ways of making digital conversations "closer and warmer". Propinquity is a concept that is closely related to social presence in e-learning (Anderson & Garrison, 2003), where it is considered a key element in terms of fostering interaction and learning, since the sense of belonging to a learning community motivates students and lowers their anxiety levels (Garrison, Anderson & Archer, 1999). Actions such as reciprocation, smiling, asking questions, or off-task chatting, have been pointed out as being relevant to language-learning videoconferencing (Satar, 2015).

#### Methodology Objective

The main objective of this study is twofold: first, to explore how students who participated in a virtual exchange project used different communicative strategies in their first interactions to start developing propinquity with their interlocutors, and second, to explore the students' emotions and reactions of their first encounters.

#### Data collection and analysis

Data were gathered from video recordings uploaded in Flipgrid and students' reflections of the strategies used from an online questionnaire. In addition, their reflection reports after completing the task were analysed. The corpus of videos (Figure 1) consists of 17 video recordings from the UB trainees and 35 replies from the HI students.



Figure 1: Video grid of the students' first task on Flipgrid

The group of students from the University of Iceland followed the course "Conversation II" but studied in different BA or BS and master's programs. Their language level could be described as B1-B2 according to The Common European Framework of Reference for Languages (2001). The group of trainee teachers from the UB were enrolled in the course *ICT for Spanish teaching* and had no previous experience in either online teaching or telecollaboration. Both groups' demographics are summarized in Table 1 below.

Table 1. Demographics of both groups of students

	HI	UB
Number of students	11	22
Gender	8 females - 3 males	17 females - 5 males
Origin	5 Icelandic, 1 Albanian/Icelandic, 1 Lithuanian/Icelandic, 1 French, 1 Russian, 1 Norwegian, 1 USA	17 Spanish, 2 Peruvian, 1 Argentinian, 1 German, 1 French
Age	Ranges from 21 to 45	Ranges from 20 to 28

A qualitative approach of analysis of the videos by the Spanish trainees and the emotional video reactions from the Icelandic students was carried out identifying three types of strategies: technical, communicative and affective. These data were contrasted with both students' and trainees' reflections on the experience of their first interactions.

#### Results

The three types of strategies students applied are presented first. Then, UB students' perceptions about their video performances, and, finally, data obtained from both groups' reflections about their first encounters are described.

#### Technical strategies

After analysing all the videos, we realized that most of UB students intentionally chose the location to record their videos, although only few of them used it explicitly as a meaningful resource of providing personal information. Regarding the background, HI students did not realize how much information about them could be expressed by choosing the background more carefully. In general, HI students did not pay special attention to technical strategies such as lighting and framing.

The selection of backgrounds for both groups also determined the lighting used in the videos, which means that students who decided to use exterior backgrounds were also well lit, whereas those who ended up recording themselves inside (two students from Barcelona and one from Iceland) had problems with too little light on their faces.

Also, regarding the way the students framed their videos, we need to mention that half of them used a portrait orientation without taking into account that the landscape mode would have been more suitable. Only three of them did not use a static shot, and instead recorded their videos while they were walking, and most of them used medium shots.

#### Communicative strategies

We observed that even though there was no explicit teaching included for any of the groups about how to use Flipgrid, the vast majority did not explore the application features by themselves nor go beyond including a profile picture. They failed to use hashtags, likes or emojis to decorate their name or add any additional features to their profile pictures. Moreover, the body language, use of gestures and visual support were more obvious among the students from Barcelona, mainly because of their role as future teachers, but this could also be related to a cultural difference in how to display emotions. Nearly all the students from UB smiled openly and tried to send a positive and happy message. We also noticed that the trainee teachers could have paid more attention to their voice tones, since some of them talked too fast, using a monotonous intonation without emphasizing any particular words.

The verbal communicative strategies had the same goal for all of the students: to foster propinquity, create social closeness and look for common ground. Therefore, discourse intensifiers, invitations to visit their respective countries and linguistic structures to express willingness to participate in the telecollaboration project were, for example, used by most of the participants.

#### Affective strategies

Many UB students chose meaningful backgrounds such as university campuses, classrooms or their own bedrooms but only four of them actually used those spaces for any kind of self-disclosure. Some of them meaningfully showed personal objects such as pets, travel souvenirs or jewellery.

Probably the most salient affective strategy for UB students was smiling. Only three students remained serious while recording, a feature that was clearly recognized by all three researchers. Humour is considered an affective strategy but none of the 22 students seems to have used it.

The HI students, most of whom recorded themselves in interior locations, did not use the locations as representative elements to express and tell additional things about their lives. Also, just two of them showed personal objects (a flag and a book) to express self-disclosure. As with the UB students, smiling was the most noteworthy affective strategy used and humour was not used as a strategy to generate propinquity. One possible explanation for the lack of humour is that humour is based on sociocultural factors and students might have wanted to be cautious during their first encounters and avoid sending messages that could generate misunderstandings.

#### How UB students evaluate their own strategies on Flipgrid

Responses on the questionnaire indicate that students believe they considered technical strategies. However, not all students made the most of the locations where they recorded their videos and the same number of vertical and horizontal formats were used regardless of the background displayed. Some students used full-body framing, meaning the objects they showed to the camera could not be seen clearly, among other problems. Therefore, they lack self-awareness about technical strategies while recording their videos and thus, some awareness tasks on these issues should be introduced before recording on Flipgrid to strengthen students' digital competence.

The communicative strategies used are evaluated in different ways. On the one hand, students reported using gestures and pitch tones that facilitate comprehension. Moreover, 12 UB students state having modified discourse to make it clearer. But in most cases speaking speed is fast and tone is monotonous. On the other hand, just one student used Flipgrid communicative affordances and only two recognized having used visual support on their videos. Despite this, this last strategy was mentioned by 12 students as their favourite strategy on peers' videos. It remains to be seen whether they adopted this strategy on their videoconferences on subsequent tasks. Moreover, there is one student who values how their classmates used persuasive strategies on their videos:

(Me han gustado... y) las estrategias que han seguido lxs compañerxs que grabaron el vídeo en pareja para decir por qué [sic] les tenían que escoger a ellxs: [(I liked) the strategies that my classmates followed recording the video in pairs to say why they had to choose them].

Finally, with regard to affective strategies there are several comments that value propinquity shown on Flipgrid videos. As an example, we have selected the following two extracts that mention proximity and self-disclosure:

*El uso de dibujos y pizarras, de mostrarse muy próximos a su interlocutor a pesar de no conocerlos y similares.* [(I like the) use of drawings and whiteboard, to be very close to their interlocutor despite not knowing them].

*Mostrar elementos personales que los caractericen y que sean importantes para ellos* [showing personal elements that characterize them and that are important to them].

In fact, all four students that left final comments on their questionnaires highlighted their satisfaction about the locations in which they chose to record their videos. The following comment indicates the importance of the location and supports the idea that backgrounds on videos should be more carefully considered:

*He querido usar mi habitación porque es lo que más me representa como espacio.* [I wanted to use my room since it is the space that really represents me].

#### **Reflections on first encounters**

In their portfolios UB students concentrated on reflecting upon their first video-encounters and very few included comments about their experiences using Flipgrid. Those who commented on their experience using this application mentioned the following: one person mentioned the excitement of receiving her first response to the video recording; another student indicated that having seen her partner previous to the video-conference helped reduce the unavoidable awkwardness of meeting a student online for the first time; and, finally, one student mentioned that he felt he had a lot of things in common with his partner from the first moment he saw his video recording on Flipgrid. Therefore, these responses could indicate that having video recordings before the synchronous encounter actually helped students establish emotional links with their peers and reduce anxiety.

#### **UB students' perceptions on first videoconference encounters**

Six students explicitly mentioned their affinity with their HI partners. They mostly mentioned hobbies such as sports, traveling or learning languages. They also mentioned places they both like or similar experiences in life. Moreover, another five students mentioned a high level of motivation during their first encounters and a willingness to continue the project. For example, one student said:

*ime hubiera quedado una o dos horas más hablando con él!* [I could have stayed another one or two hours talking to him!]

In one case, this motivation is not the result of affinity, but of complementary learning objectives in the telecollaboration project as we can read in the comment below:

Aunque nuestros perfiles sean diferentes, ella como alumna y yo como futura profesora de ELE, creo que esta experiencia será un aprendizaje significativo y constructivo para ambas. [Although our profiles are different, she as a student and I as a future SFL teacher, I believe that this experience will be a significant and constructive learning process for both of us.]

As expected, not all reflections were positive. One student reported having felt uncomfortable and insecure because of the teacher role he had to play. But even in this case, the student ends his reflection hoping to enjoy the next tasks.

#### HI students' perceptions on first videoconferences

HI students' reflections, as with most of their partners in Barcelona, did not include explicit mentions to their usage of Flipgrid. They concentrated on reflecting on their experiences with their first encounters through videoconferencing. They all shared nice feelings about how this task had a positive impact on their learning process. All of them expressed how their partners from Barcelona helped them to improve their language skills.

All of the Icelandic students shared their motivations and high expectations about the project in their reflections. Two of them were surprised by how much time they spent talking during the video-conference (it was longer than they expected) and how fast time passed by. Three students also mentioned how nervous they felt before having the first conversation and another one said that she was scared before this task as she had not used Spanish for a long time. However, these three students that exhibited anxiety and fear before the first encounters affirmed in their reflections that after talking to their UB partners those negative feelings disappeared and they felt more confident.

*iWow, me encantó hablar con mis compañeras ! iAmbas son súper amables y divertidas! Antes de conocerlas en vivo estuve un poco nerviosa, ipero ellas fueron también! La verdad es que me fue muy bien. Con J. hablé por 2 horas y con P. 1 hora y media, y siento que soy mucho más segura cuando hablo, puedo expresarme mejor iEstoy muy feliz y agradesida por este curso. Solo estamos empezando y ya me ha ayudado muchísimo!* [sic] [Wow, I loved talking to my partners! Both were really nice and great fun! Before meeting them, I was a little bit nervous, but they also felt that way! It all went really well. I talked to J. for two hours and to P. for one and a half, and that helped me to feel more confident when speaking in Spanish; I can express myself better. I ´m very happy and feel grateful for this course. We have just started and I already feel it has helped me so much!]

#### Conclusion

The results show that this first contact using the video grid helped to reduce the foreign language learners' anxiety, provided a good emotional atmosphere and fostered their motivation towards the virtual exchange project. From the trainees' perspective, results also suggest that trainees felt more comfortable and prepared for the first task. They also felt they improved their awareness of effective communication strategies when faced with recording a video of themselves. Results suggest there is a connection between effective strategies and positive emotional responses. Propinquity is a key factor in CMC. Both groups of students highlight factors that denote proximity and appreciate those classmates' videos that used strategies that foster nearness. However, some explicit digital competence work is needed in order to help students make the most of video recording regarding technical, communicative and affective strategies.

#### References

Chen, C.-M., & Lee, T.-H. (2011). Emotion recognition and communication for reducing second-language speaking anxiety in a web-based one-to-one synchronous learning environment. British Journal of Educational Technology, 42(3), 417–440. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8535.2009.01035.x

Council of Europe. (2001). Common European framework of reference for languages: Learning, teaching, assessment. Cambridge, U.K: Press Syndicate of the University of Cambridge.

Dewaele, J.M (2013). Emotions in multiple languages. Basingstoke (UK): Palgrave Macmillan

Dooly, M. (2017). Telecollaboration. In C. A. Chapelle & S. Sauro (Eds.), The handbook of technology in second language teaching and learning (pp. 169–183). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell

Dörnyei, Z., & Ryan, S. (2015). The psychology of the second language learner revisited. New York: Routledge.

Garrison, D. & Anderson, T. (2003). E–Learning in the 21st century: A framework for research and practice. London: Routledge/Falmer.

Garrison, D., Anderson, T., & Archer, W. (1999). Critical inquiry in a text-based environment: Computer conferencing in higher education. The Internet and Higher Education, 2 (2–3), 87–105. doi: 10.1016/S1096-7516(00)00016-6

Horwitz, E. K., Horwitz, M. B., & Cope, J. A. (1986). Foreign Language Classroom Anxiety, The Modern Language Journal, 70(2), 125-132. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-4781.1986.tb05256.x

Horwitz, E. K. (1986). Preliminary evidence for the reliability and validity of a Foreign Language Anxiety Scale. TESOL Quarterly, 20(3), 559-562.

Kozernny, F. (1978). A Theory of Electronic Propinquity: Mediated Communication in Organizations, Communication Research, 5(1), 3-24. doi: 10.1177/009365027800500101

O'Dowd, R. (2018). From telecollaboration to virtual exchange: state-of-the-art and the role of UNICollaboration in moving forward. Journal of Virtual Exchange, 1, 1-23. doi:10.14705/rpnet.2018.jve.1

O'Dowd, R. (2019). A transnational model of virtual exchange for global citizenship education. Language Teaching, 1–14. doi:10.1017/s0261444819000077

O'Rourke, B. (2007). Models of telecollaboration 1: eTandem. In R. O'Dowd (ed.), Online intercultural exchange (pp. 41–61). Bristol: Multilingual Matters

Marinetti C., Moore P., Lucas P., Parkinson B. (2011). Emotions in Social Interactions: Unfolding Emotional Experience. In Cowie R., Pelachaud C., Petta P. (eds.) Emotion-Oriented Systems. Cognitive Technologies (pp. 31-46). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.

Müller-Hartmann, O'Dowd, and EVALUATE team (2017). A Training Manual on Telecollaboration for Teacher trainers. Retrieved from: https://www.evaluateproject.eu/evlt-data/uploads/2017/09/Training-Manual\_EVALUATE.pdf

Walther, J. B. & Bazarova, N. N. (2008). Validation and application of electronic propinquity theory to computer-mediated communication in groups, Communication Research, 35(5), 622-645. doi: 10.1177/0093650208321783

# Takeshi Sato, Masa'aki Ogura\*, Shoma Aota\*\*, Tyler Burden\*\*\*

Tokyo University of Agriculture and Technology, Tokyo, Japan. \*Osaka Ohtani University, Osaka, Japan. \*\*University of Tsukuba, Ibaraki, Japan. \*\*\*Meisei University, Tokyo, Japan.

tsato@cc.tuat.ac.jp, oguramasa@osaka-ohtani.ac.jp, aota.shoma.fu@u.tsukuba.ac.jp, burden.tyler@meisei.ac.jp

# Does an automated translation bot support or hinder L2 collaborative interaction? - In terms of L2 production and motivation.

## Abstract

This study explores the effectiveness of an automated translation chatbot used in online interactions among English (L2) learners. Considering the advantages and challenges of mobile-based collaborative L2 learning, our study introduces an automated translation chatbot offered by LINE, one of the most popular online communication apps in Japan. As the chatbot almost simultaneously translates L1 messages into L2 ones during online interactions between peers or among a group, its users receive a substantial amount of L2 exposure. This study hypothesizes that the chatbot, which allows its users to interact in their L1, will make online interactions with English less challenging by offering various  $L^{2}$ comprehensive input. This, as a result, will not only help the learners' L2 output which would be hard for them to generate without using the chatbot, but also facilitate their active involvement in the interaction, leading to better L2 outcomes and higher motivation for L2 collaborative learning on their part. To verify our hypothesis, both quantitative and qualitative research are conducted for Japanese undergraduates. Vocabulary recall tests, pre and post questionnaires for collaborative learning and semi-structured interviews are carried out after the L2 interaction with the bot for a certain period of time. The findings of this study suggest that the use of online translation apps leads to successful L2 learning in terms of learning gains and motivational enhancement.

#### **Conference paper**

#### Introduction

Collaboration has been regarded as being useful in terms of L2 learning instruction. This comes from the perspective that it helps learners to recognize the differences from others and establish shared meanings (Sharples, 2005). Swain (2000) suggested the importance of collaborative dialogue in that language use and learning through L2 interactions in problem-solving or knowledge-building tasks will result in appropriation (Wertsch, 1988) in which L2 learners acquire the knowledge or skills from others.

Additionally, computer-mediated communication (CMC) is regarded as a useful method of L2 instruction (Ortega, 2009). This is not merely because L2 learners can communicate multi-modally with others (Kearney, Schuck, Burden, & Aubusson, 2012), but also because CMC is more likely to ensure equal participation than face-to-face interactions and facilitates collaborative learning (Nguyen, 2011), leading to deep learning and therefore successful L2 outcomes (Mondahl & Razmerita, 2014). Such computer-mediated collaborative activities also foster learner autonomy particularly when the tasks are conducted via mobile devices (e.g. Reinders, 2011; Sato, Murase, & Burden, 2015). This is because they enable prompt access to resources and feedback outside the classroom and consequently facilitate out-of-class learning, which can supplement in-class activities (Kukulska-Kulme, 2015) where a sufficient amount of collaboration might not be provided.

However, some challenges are left for mobile-based L2 collaboration. Stockwell & Hubberd (2013) pointed out that reading and writing L2 texts on small screens could be a significant obstacle to learning. Furthermore, writing L2 texts is challenging, especially for learners with limited experience of typing the alphabet in their daily use of mobile devices. As there is a difference between QWERTY and flick keyboards with which Japanese letters are typed, the difference may hinder motivation to write comments on online communication boards. Furthermore, learners' anxiety about the accuracy of their L2 output can be another problem. McCarty, Obari & Sato (2017), for example, reported that Japanese L2 learners' inactive output in an online learning community resulted mainly from their perception that their English language competence was not sufficient for their peers to understand their online posts. The hesitation to upload L2 comments most likely prevented active interaction with others, and hindered L2 learning.

This study aims to facilitate collaborative activities for successful L2 learning. These activities are made possible by using LINE, one of the most popular online messenger apps in Japan. McCarty, Obari & Sato (2017) illustrate the advantage of using LINE for academic purposes. Compared with other popular social media tools such as Facebook or Twitter, LINE has a function where a group can be created and only those invited by the group administrator can join the interaction. Those without an invitation cannot access the group. Although learners are not willing to use their private social media accounts for academic use (Stockwell & Hubbard, 2013), LINE has a clear division between academic and private use of its tools. To make participants' privacy sufficiently secure, this study used LINE Works, a business version of LINE because it includes a function that keeps participants online communication anonymous.

#### **Automated Translation Chatbot**

To tackle the challenges of computer-mediated L2 collaborative learning, this study utilizes a function of LINE: an automated translation chatbot. This chotbot is available for all LINE users and various kinds of the chatbot (e.g. Korean-Japanese, Chinese-Korean, English-Spanish) are available. It automatically generates an L2 translation of a statement posted by users. Therefore, the users can see any statement both in L1 and L2 on the screen at the same time. Figure 1 illustrates the simultaneous display of L1 and L2 posts.



12:

Figure 1. An example of an online interaction with the chatbot

The LINE chatbot has characteristics similar to other machine translation tools such as Google Translate, which also promptly provides translations and some studies have investigated its application in L2 activities (e.g. Garcia & Pena, 2011; Yamada, 2019). What makes the LINE chatbot different from other similar tools is that its translation function can be used during online interactions between peers or with a group, while other machine translations cannot be used during the interaction because their L2 output is not provided automatically, thus hindering interaction.

One drawback of machine translation services is that the L2 output generated is occasionally awkward or inaccurate (McCarty, Obari, & Sato, 2017; Yamada, 2019). LINE, although constantly improving, is no exception. However, the problem may be mitigated to some extent by the fact that it offers various types of L2 translation together with the L1 texts, some of which L2 learners generate themselves. In that sense, L2 learners are exposed to comprehensive input (Krashen, 1982).

In this respect, the chatbot helps learners gain a substantial amount of L2 exposure, which is understandable given that the L1 and its L2 counterpart are simultaneously displayed. In addition, the use of the bot does not make L2 learners feel inferior about their L2 competence. These advantages lead the authors of this study to hypothesize that the chatbot will, in a sense, scaffold their exposure to L2 output, which as a result will bolster L2 performance and motivation for collaborative learning.

#### Research

#### **Research Questions**

The advantages of the automated translation chatbot lead our study to hypothesize that it will scaffold online interactions, leading to the enhancement of L2 performance and motivation for collaborative learning. The present study investigates the following research questions:

1. Could L2 learners, doing collaborative learning with the translation bot, recall the L2 words or expressions found in the automated output?

2. Did the experience of the bot change their attitude towards collaborative tasks?

#### Participants

Twelve Japanese L2 learners participated in this research. They are all undergraduate students who belong to the faculty of education of a private university in Japan. Students' proficiency of English varies from false-beginners to intermediate level learners. For online interaction with LINE, the participants were gathered in one group. They had already experienced online group interactions with LINE, so they were able to post their statements on LINE talks and conduct online discussion by the time the present research started.

#### **Research Procedures**

The participants were then given a task whereby each of them posted a single Japanese sentence which follows a sentence posted by their peer, keeping in mind that the sentences as a result should make a coherent whole. The very first sentence was given by the instructor. The task lasted for a week, and they worked on another two sets of the same task with different starting sentences, meaning that it took three weeks for the tasks to be completed. After the activities, a vocabulary recall test was conducted a few days after the completion of the task to examine the retention of the vocabulary generated by the chatbot in the duration of the tasks, which they were not instructed to memorize. In developing the test, the log data of the outputs by the chatbot was collected. Then, the words that the participants were highly unlikely to know were selected for the test to minimize the possibility of their existing lexicon affecting the result. A delayed recall test was then conducted one week after the first recall test. Subsequently, follow-up interviews were administered as well as a post-questionnaire. The post-questionnaire was implemented to examine potential changes of their perspective with regard to collaborative learning. The collected data was analyzed from such angles as word recall, perception of collaborative learning, and their reflections.

The participants were then given a task whereby each of them posted a single Japanese sentence which follows a sentence posted by their peer, keeping in mind that the sentences as a result should make a coherent whole. The very first sentence was given by the instructor. The task lasted for a week, and they worked on another two sets of the same task with different starting sentences, meaning that it took three weeks for the tasks to be completed. After the activities, a recall test was conducted a few days after the completion of the task to examine the retention of the vocabulary generated by the chatbot in the duration of the tasks, which they were not instructed to memorize. In developing the test, the log data of the outputs by the chatbot was collected. Then, the words that the participants were highly unlikely to know before the tasks were selected for the test to minimize the possibility of their existing lexicon affecting the result. A delayed recall test was conducted one week after the first recall test. Subsequently, follow-up interviews were administered as well as a post-questionnaire. The post-questionnaire was implemented to examine potential changes of their perspective with regard to collaborative learning. The collected data was analyzed from such angles as word recall, recognition of collaborative learning, and their reflections.

#### Findings

Although the current study has not found any finding yet, our previous studies using automated chatbot described some findings. McCarty, Obari, & Sato (2017) showed that the L2 sentences written by the participants using the LINE chatbot during one-month interactions became more elaborate than the sentences before the task in terms of word selection and sentence structure. They speculated that this improvement might result from the exposures to L2 output from the chatbot that the participants have not encountered before. Therefore, their improvement was prominent compared with those who conducted the interaction by writing L2 on their own without the chatbot.

In Sato, Ogura, Aota, & Burden (2018), on the other hand, the participants showed little improvement of their L2 performance in terms of vocabulary recall and elaboration of essay writing, although some expressions that they encountered during the task appeared in the post-writing, which is evidence of appropriation. Moreover, motivational enhancement was observed through a psychological scale examining belief in cooperation: "inequity" and "usefulness of cooperation" changed little, whereas "individual orientation" decreased. In addition to this, they conducted interviews after the post-tests in order to investigate the attitudinal difference between successful and non-successful participants. By analyzing their interviews we found that metacognitive skills could be a factor to make an interaction with the chatbot beneficial to L2 learning. In the interview, for example, a successful participant said, "I found it interesting that a couple of Japanese words with different connotations are translated into the same word in English." As this remark shows, one of the characteristics of successful participants is that they are working on tasks with this kind of metacognition. Based on these results as a hypothesis, the authors designed the experiment of the current study.

#### **Conclusion & Discussion**

This study aims to verify the effectiveness of an automated translation chatbot for L2 learning regarding L2 production and motivation for L2 collaborative learning. Our study is theoretically underpinned by Krashen (1982)'s input hypotheses. With the chatbot, participants were exposed to a variety of L2 sentences, some of which were comprehensible, together with the Japanese texts. This meant that the combined input each participant received may have been strengthened in terms of comprehensible input, which is necessary to develop their L2 proficiency. However, it should be noted that any generalized conclusion could not be derived from our current study due to the limited number of participants, with no control group available. Therefore, further studies should be conducted with more participants and a control group to compare differences among participants with various backgrounds.

#### References

Garcia, I., & Pena, M. I. (2011). Machine translation-assisted language learning: writing for beginners. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 24(5), 471-487.

Krashen, S. (1982). Principles and practice in second language acquisition. Oxford: Pergamon.

Kukulska-Hulme, A. (2015). Language as a bridge connecting formal and informal language learning through mobile devices. In L. H. Wong, M. Milrad, & M. Specht (Eds.). Seamless learning in the age of mobile connectivity (pp. 281-294). Singapore: Springer.

Kearney, M., Schuck, S., Burden, K., & Aubusson, P. (2012). Viewing mobile learning from a pedagogical perspective. Research in Learning Technology, 20(1), 1–17.

Mondahl, M., & Razmerita, L. (2014). Social media, Collaboration and Social Learning -- a Case-study of Foreign Language Learning. Electronic Journal of E-Learning, 12(4), 339–352.

Nagahama, F., Yasunaga, S., Sekita, K., & Kouhara, S. (2009). Development of a scale to measure belief in cooperation. Japanese Journal of Educational Psychology, 57, 24-37.

Nguyen, L. V. (2011). The nature of "talk" in synchronous computer-mediated communication in a Vietnamese tertiary EFL context. International Journal of Computer-Assisted Language Learning and Teaching, 1(3), 14-36.

McCarty, S., Obari, H., & Sato, T. (2017). Implementing Mobile Language Learning Technologies in Japan, Singapore: Springer.

Ortega, L. (2009). Interaction and attention to form in L2 text-based computer-mediated communication. In A. Mackey & C. Polio (Eds.), Multiple perspectives on interaction (pp. 226-253). New York: Routledge.

Reinders, H. (2011) Learner autonomy and new learning environments. Language Learning & Technology, 15(3), 1-3.

Sato, T., Murase, F., & Burden, T. (2015). Is mobile-assisted language learning really useful? An examination of recall automatization and learner autonomy. In F. Helm, L. Bradley, M. Guarda, & S. Thouësny (Eds.), Critical CALL – Proceedings of the 2015 EUROCALL Conference (pp. 495-501). Dublin: Research- publishing.net.

Sato, T., Ogura, M., Aota, S., & Burden, T. (2018). Examining the impact of an automated translation chatbot on online collaborative dialog for incidental L2 learning. In P. Taalas, J. Jalkanen, L. Bradley & S. Thouësny (Eds), Future-proof CALL: language learning as exploration and encounters – short papers from EUROCALL 2018 (pp. 284-289). Dublin: Research-publishing.net.

Stockwell, G., & Hubbard, P. (2013). Some emerging principles for mobile-assisted language learning. The International Research Foundation for English Language Education, 1-15.

Wertsch, J.V. (1998). Mind as Action. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Yamada, M. (2019). The impact of Google Neural Machine Translation on Post-editing by student translators. The Journal of Specialised Translation, 31, 87–106.

# John Sloan, Beate Luo\*, Julie Carson-Berndsen

University College Dublin, Dublin, Ireland \*Feng Chia University, Taichung, Taiwan

john.sloan.1@ucdconnect.ie, beate@fcu.edu.tw, julie.berndsen@ucd.ie

# Emotional response language education: a first `in-the-wild' evaluation

#### Bio data



John Sloan is a PhD candidate in the School of Computer Science at University College Dublin under the supervision of Professor Julie Carson-Berndsen. His research is centered on the development and testing of a personalised, elearning platform where feedback to language learners is provided through the facial expressions of an animated avatar. His background includes teaching ESL and an MA in Linguistics from UCD in 2016.



Beate Luo works as an associate professor at the Department of Foreign Languages and Literature of Feng Chia University in Taichung, Taiwan. Her research interests include CALL/MALL, vocabulary acquisition, and pronunciation training.



Julie Carson-Berndsen is a Professor in the UCD School of Computer Science where her research group has developed phonetic-feature based approaches to speech recognition and expressive speech synthesis systems. Her current research focusses on spoken language analytics using data-driven syntagmatic and paradigmatic similarities to approximate native speaker intuitions for nonnative learners and virtual agents.

# Abstract

This paper reports on the development and testing of Version 3 of the Emotional Response Language Education (ERLE) e-learning platform. An 'in-the-wild', heuristic user evaluation with five English as a Foreign Language students from Feng Chia University in Taiwan and one native English speaker in Ireland was performed over three months, with feedback from students informing changes and improvements. The primary goal of the study was to assess the robustness and reliability of a newly integrated speech recognition system to the ERLE platform. The feedback garnered led to the introduction of a tutorial prior to the initial class, a redesign of the buttons and presentation of the ASR output, and an animated response to loud input which causes difficulty for the ASR system. The improved system has since been implemented as a complimentary aid to a first-year English speaking and listening course at the same university in a larger, longitudinal study.

#### **Conference** paper

#### Introduction

ERLE is an e-learning platform which enables English language learners anywhere in the world to interact with a native speaker through the medium of an animated avatar on the erle.ucd.ie website. By employing 3D WebGL technology, the platform was developed to provide learners with an engaging and immersive virtual interaction (Sloan & Carson-Berndsen 2018). A human-like avatar displays live, native-speaker feedback primarily through change in facial expressions and gaze (see figures 1&2). This form of feedback affords the learner an opportunity to receive instant, accurate and consistent evaluation on their production while maintaining а familiar learner-teacher interaction, and has been shown to prompt language learners into reflecting on their production and altering the complexity of further utterances in response (Sloan & Carson-Berndsen 2017). The pedagogical method of providing learners with explicit, meta-linguistic information on all errors is based on both the first authors experience as an ESL teacher and numerous empirical studies demonstrating the effectiveness of this method (Li, 2010; Lyster et al., 2013). The interaction initiated after an illformed utterance (shown bottom-right in Figure 2), where the learner can choose to try again, ask to see what's wrong (Figure 3) or attempt another sentence follows from task-based



Figure 1: Main ERLE user interface with recording and listening buttons on the right.



Figure 2: Expression and interaction buttons after ill-formed learner sentence



Figure 3: Error and Correction Displayed

studies demonstrating improved vocabulary and grammar retention when interaction is allowed (Gass & Veronis, 1994; Mackey, 1999)

The user interface to an application is crucial for affording the users the ability to perform the tasks for which it has been designed. This is of particular importance when providing language learners with explicit corrective feedback on language production. They are taking part in a cognitively demanding task where correction can lead to embarassment, frustration and anxiety. Therefore, creating an easy-to-understand, highly usable interface is essential to minimise non-linguistic related errors (i.e. pressing the wrong button) which could lead to a negative experience. Two widely used forms of interface testing are user testing and heuristic evaluation. User testing usually involves scenario-based tasks, while heuristic evaluation is based on the user exploring and evaluating the interface on their own terms (Tan et. al, 2009). The major advantages of heuristic testing over user testing that it is relatively quick to implement and can be used early in the design process. Nielsen & Molich (1990) demonstrated that such a method, whereby users interact with a platform and informally give their opinion on what is good and bad about the design, identified 55-90% of usability problems on the four different interfaces they tested. This was achieved with as few as five evaluators. Jeffries et al. (1991) showed heuristic analysis could discover three times more errors than standard user testing. The success of heuristic evaluation along with its flexibility and ease of implementation made it the best choice for this study.

The interaction with the avatar on ERLE was designed with the aim of informing the learner, with the least amount of written and spoken instruction, how to use the interface. This is in line with the principle of minimising the users' cognitive load through human-centered design (Oviatt, 2006). Consideration for reducing this load is of even higher concern when the end users are intermediate-level ESL learners who are already preparing for a demanding task - speaking in English. Where possible, easy to understand signifiers (Norman, 1988), e.g. microphone and square stop symbols, were included to be understandable by users regardless of first language. The avatar is programmed to begin each class with a greeting, then ask the learner how they feel and what they would like to talk about. The learner is then instructed "Please begin when you are ready", and input buttons appear on the right-hand side (Figure 1). From this point, the learner is able to control their input and interaction with the avatar for the duration of the class – 30 minutes - after which, class automatically ends. Users are expected to be able to navigate the website, begin and maintain an interaction with the avatar using the speech recognition for the full 30 minutes. Any deviation from this is to be deemed a failure of the interface design and warrant a potential redesign.

#### Method

A remote heuristic user evaluation study with five EFL students from Feng Chia University in Taiwan was carried out over three months. The five evaluators were first given access to the e-learning system via the web for two weeks, where they took classes and provided feedback on their experience. This feedback was used to inform a major redesign of the interface to improve the user experience. After one month of development, the same evaluators were given access to the platform and performed another round of evaluation. This was used to locate problems and make final changes and improvements to the interface to create an easy-to-use and robust system for future users.

To gather detailed, honest user feedback which would maximise the benefit to the system, it was important to have regular and close contact with users who evaluated the platform over a number of weeks. Heuristic user evaluation requires that evaluators are free to access and interact with the interface as they see fit. The physical distance and time difference between Taiwan and Ireland (8 hours) were significant barriers to overcome in this form of study. The use of a mobile instant messaging (IM) service was necessary to allow for contact between developer and evaluators when the evaluators wished to use the platform. 'Remind', was used for the initial two weeks of testing, then 'Line' was brought in as a replacement due to teacher and student preferences.

The researcher posted initial instructions on how to log on and enter the first class in a group chat. Later, when evaluators used the ERLE platform, the researcher was concurrently in contact with the students before, during and after the class on the

messenger platform. Evaluators were invited to post messages whenever they felt something was wrong, or they were not sure what to do (see figures 6, 8 & 9). After class, the evaluators were invited to give their opinion on the class. No evaluators were required to continue doing more classes if they did not wish, as drop-out is an important indicator of engagement.

Concerns over the collection and storing of user data increased with the introduction of speech recognition to the ERLE platform. As voice recordings are potentially identifiable, it was of paramount importance that the evaluators were fully aware as to how their data is stored, and their right to obtain and delete it. As such, the information sheet and consent form for the study were presented to the evaluators in both simple English and a translation of that into their native Chinese. Each point of consent had to be individually clicked to be confirmed before the evaluators were allowed to begin participation. These included statements on the storing of all audio and text entered. All data is stored on a private, secure server which only the researchers and evaluators themselves can access.

#### Results





Figure 4: Graph showing classes taken by evaluators A, B, C, D & E over the two sessions

Figure 5: Chart displating number of Instant Messenger turns completed by each evaluator over both sessions

A total of 20, 30-minute classes were taken by the five evaluators over two sessions. 9 classes were taken in the first 2-week session, the remaining 11 being completed in Session 2 after the month-long redesign (Figure 4). The total number of Instant Messaging 'turns' was 756 (One turn meaning a message or series of messages from an evaluator followed by one or more in response from the researcher, e.g. Figure 6 shows 2 turns), with 57 of those including screenshots from the evaluators (Figure 5).

Feedback from evaluators falls into two distinct categories. Queries and statements of uncertainty on how to navigate the interface and interact with the avatar were prominent in the first class. Figure 6 shows an exchange from one student which demonstrated that the minimal initial instructions were not sufficient to inform all users as to how to begin the interaction. In later classes, evaluators commented more on aspects of the interface and interaction which appeared erroneous or problematic, providing screenshots of the interface and the issue where necessary. Examples of three pieces of feedback and the changes implemented are detailed in the following section.

#### Feedback & Changes

Three major changes were implemented to the platform following the feedback provided from the users during the three-month testing period: a tutorial was introduced prior to the initial class; the ASR output to students and buttons for manipulating it were significantly changed; a means of dealing with background noise and loud input by using the visible physiological response of the avatar was put in place. These changes, and the conversations on messenger services which brought them about, are detailed below.

#### Change 1 – Tutorial



Figure 6: IM example with evaluator B

The ERLE interface had been designed to be easy and intuitive for users of any language. Icons for the buttons were chosen to be universally

recognized (e.g. the microphone icon seen in the blue button in Figure 1). Three did you get feedback for that last sentence?

What I said is usually not the same what was written for me. Is it because my pronunciation or is it because of the noise out side?

microphone icon seen Figure 8: IM example with evaluator A - in the blue button in pronunciation query

students were able to navigate and work out the correct usage of the platform with minimal to no assistance, but two required explicit instructions over IM as to how to engage with the avatar. The two IM turns in Figure 6 showed that evaluator B did not understand from the avatar's instructions and symbols in the microphone buttons how they were

expected to proceed. This included both the topic of conversation and using the functionality of the site.

The avatar, Tia, at the beginning of a class, asks the student what they would like to talk about, and the student must choose a topic to proceed. The microphone button then appears, indicating that it should be clicked and it is the student's turn to speak. There are many reasons a user may not know how to proceed in this case, including having an insufficient English ability to fully comprehend the avatar's instructions to even simply not paying attention to the introduction. Therefore, it was decided that a short tutorial (Figure 7) which included examples and practice of the main scenarios encountered in a class would be beneficial. Each step of the tutorial must be carried out successfully before the user can enter their first real class.



Figure 7: Example from the tutorial added in the redesign explicitly stating how to interact with the avatar via speech

# Change 2

#### ASR Output Representation

The speech-to-text system frequently does not provide output which matches the user's intended utterance. This occurs most frequently due to non-native pronunciation, e.g. the user intends to say, "I think that...", but the ASR outputs, "I seen that...", due to the user erroneously pronouncing [ $\theta$ ] as [s]. However, non-target output can also be due to a number of other factors, including microphone quality and volume, background noise and

the language model underpinning the ASR not containing grammatically erroneous word sequences which non-native speakers utter.

The ASR used by ERLE is the WEB Speech API of Google's Chrome browser. Users click the microphone button, say a sentence and then click the stop button. This is transcribed to text by the ASR and displayed to the user. If the text displays the desired target output, the user may send this sentence to the avatar to receive grammatical and lexical feedback. If the ASR output is different from the user's intended utterance, then they have the option of trying to record again or typing and correcting the section which differs. Three of the evaluators made comments that demonstrated their uncertainty over the ASR output. Figure 8 shows evaluator A questioning why the output is usually different. A major problem which emerged was the evaluators growing mistrust of the ASR system as it failed to output their desired target despite repeated tries.

To solve the problem of user frustration due to repeated non-target ASR output, two changes were made during the redesign. First, a section of the new tutorial explaining why the ASR may provide different output was included. Second, it was decided to display to users up to three ASR outcomes for each spoken utterance. The user can now click through the 3 transcriptions to see what possible alternatives exist and which words and phrases are confusing the system. In Session 2, this appeared to improve the evaluators understanding of both the workings of the ASR system, and their own pronunciation errors.

#### Change 3 – Interference Signal



Figure 9: IM example with evaluator A - microphone proximity problem

As this is both an 'in-the-wild' and a remote heuristic user evaluation study, the researcher had no control over the conditions under which the evaluators used the platform. As a result, each evaluator had different conditions from which they provided speech input. These differences included the type of microphone being used, the proximity of the microphone to the user's mouth, the input volume and background noise.

Checks on the microphone volume and instructions to minimise background noise were included in the tutorial. However, the adverse effects of microphone proximity on the ASR output was difficult to convey to the evaluators. This is demonstrated in the IM turns shown in Figure 9. Evaluator A said "bell", but due to the close proximity of their headset microphone, the aspiration from the plosive [b] next to the microphone reaistered more energy. This was recognised as a fricative, which, the language model predicted as an 'f' in 'fell'. Evaluator A, upon listening to their own

recording of the attempted 'bell', could clearly hear the 'b', not 'f'. This caused confusion and a loss of trust in the ASR.

Explaining the problems associated with background noise and microphone volume to users is relatively straightforward and achievable with the tutorial. However, doing the same for problems related to individual phoneme realisations and the workings of language models is more complex. Therefore, four solutions have been put in place which improved the quality of audio recordings in Session 2. These are a visible volume bar when the user is speaking, a negative expressive reaction from the avatar when the input volume passes an upper limit, an interference sound played back to the user, and a verbal signal from the avatar (see figure 10). These guide the users toward maintaining a minimum distance between the microphone and mouth to provide input which can be more accurately transcribed by the ASR, all while minimising the cognitive load on the user.



Figure 10: Example feedback from the avatar when the spoken user input is too loud

#### Conclusion

With 5 users, 10 hours of classes and 756 IM turns, the ERLE platform was tested, feedback gathered, a redesign implemented, and a second session of testing and feedback carried out. Following the heuristic user evaluation model proved to be successful in identifying major problems users had with the platform. It allowed the evaluators freedom to test when and how they wished, and the researcher the flexibility to make, implement and test changes rapidly. Three major changes were implemented along with a larger number of minor ones and these have improved the robustness and usability of the platform. The improved platform is now being used successfully by a larger number of students in a longitudinal study to test the effectiveness of the pedagogical method based on feedback provided through expression.

# References

Gass, S. M., & Varonis, E. M. (1994). Input, interaction, and second language production. *Studies in second language acquisition*, *16*(3), 283-302.

Jeffries, R., Miller, J. R., Wharton, C., & Uyeda, K. (1991, April). User interface evaluation in the real world: a comparison of four techniques. In *CHI* (Vol. 91, pp. 119-124).

Li, S. (2010). The effectiveness of corrective feedback in SLA: A meta-analysis. *Language Learning*, *60*(2), 309-365.

Lyster, R., Saito, K., & Sato, M. (2013). Oral corrective feedback in second language classrooms. *Language teaching*, *46*(1), 1-40.

Mackey, A. (1999). Input, interaction, and second language development: An empirical study of question formation in ESL. *Studies in second language acquisition*, 21(4), 557-587.

Nielsen, J., & Molich, R. (1990, March). Heuristic evaluation of user interfaces. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human factors in computing systems* (pp. 249-256). ACM.

Norman, D. A. (1988). *The psychology of everyday things* (Vol. 5). New York: Basic books.

Oviatt, S. (2006, October). Human-centered design meets cognitive load theory: designing interfaces that help people think. In *Proceedings of the 14th ACM international conference on Multimedia* (pp. 871-880). ACM.

Sloan, J., & Carson-Berndsen, J. (2017). Was it something I said? Facial Expressions in Language Learning. In *SLaTE* (pp. 1-6).

Sloan, J., & Carson-Berndsen, J. (2018). Expressive Data: A learner corpus with emotion. *Proceedings of Computer Assisted Language Learning Conference XIX*.

Tan, W. S., Liu, D., & Bishu, R. (2009). Web evaluation: Heuristic evaluation vs. user testing. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics*, *39*(4), 621-627.

# Yanjie Song, Hiroaki Ogata<sup>\*</sup>, Kousuke Mouri<sup>\*\*</sup>

The Education University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China \*Kyoto University, Kyoto, Japan \*\*Tokyo University of Agriculture and Technology, Tokyo, Japan

ysong@eduhk.hk, hiroaki.ogata@gmail.com, mourikousuke@gmail.com

# Enhancing pupils' English vocabulary learning mediated by a learner-generated content tool from an ecological perspective

## Bio data



Yanjie Song is an assistant professor from Department of Mathematics and Information Technology, the Education University of Hong Kong. She is a promising researcher in innovative pedagogical design and implementation leveraged by mobile technologies in science and language learning, theory of affordances from an ecological perspective, and class orchestration with technology. She has published over 20 SSCI journal papers.



Hiroaki Ogata is a full professor from Graduate School of Informatics, Kyoto University. His research interests focuse on CALL (Computer Assisted Language Learning), CSCL (Computer Supported Collaborative Learning), CSCW (Computer Supported Collaborative Writing), CSSN (Computer Supported Social Networking), Personalized and adaptive learning environments, Mobile and Embedded Learning Analytics.



Mouri Kousuke is an assistant professor from Tokyo University of Agriculture and Technology. His research interests include seamless language learning, learning analytics, ubiquitous learning analytics, ubiquitous learning and data mining

#### Abstract

Despite studies on improving young learners' language learning supported by mobile technologies both inside and outside classroom are increasing, the majority of them have focused on learners' learning for prescribed tasks. Learners hardly have room to explore how to make use of the affordances of mobile technologies on their own to support their learning.

This paper reports on a case study of examining Grade 4 students' learning experiences of linking in-class and in real life English vocabulary learning mediated by a mobile learnergenerated content (m-LGC) tool from an ecological perspective, taking the vocabulary topic of "food" as an example. Premised on the concept of affordances using an ecological approach, how learners perceived and acted on the affordances of the mobile technologies in their real life to consolidate, apply, review, share and expand the vocabulary learned in class to real life was demonstrated and learners' vocabulary learning outcomes were presented.

#### **Conference paper**

#### Introduction

Despite studies on improving young learners' language learning supported by mobile technologies both inside and outside classroom are increasing, the majority of them have focused on learners' learning for prescribed tasks (e.g. Saran, Seferoglu, & Cagiltay, 2012; Wu, 2018). Learners hardly have room to explore how to make use of the affordances of mobile technologies on their own to support their learning in real life. The study explores how learners perceive and use the affordances a mobile learning tool to consolidate and apply the vocabulary they have learned in class to real life in a mobile learning environment from an ecological perspective.

#### **Relevant literature**

#### English as a second language (ESL) vocabulary learning

Although e-learning in English as a second language (ESL) school education is advocated in Hong Kong to create a language-rich environment for learners to use English for purposeful communication across informal and formal learning spaces (The Curriculum Development Council, 2017), several studies have revealed that in-class receptive knowledge acquisition dominates learners' vocabulary learning process which might make learners feel that reciting English vocabulary a passive and boring learning activity (Reinders, & Loewen, 2013; Zhang, et al., 2016). How to motivate ESL learners to apply English vocabulary learned in class in real life is a major concern for primary school English education.

#### Mobile technology supported ESL vocabulary learning

In the digital age, studies on enhancing learners' vocabulary learning using mobile devices become prevalent. Some studies have been conducted to consolidate learners' vocabulary learning using multimedia messages (MMS) (Saran et al., 2012); adopt mobile game-based learning to enhance vocabulary learning in class (e.g., Vahdat & Behbahani, 2013; Wu, 2018), improve learners' language learning outside classroom (Stockwell, 2013); and support learners' learning of idioms ubiquitously across different settings (Foomani & Hedayati, 2016).

Despite that the findings of these studies are generally positive, it is noted that, in many cases, the vocabulary learning tasks mediated by mobile apps or systems have been predefined by teachers, students have had little room to apply what they have learned in class to real life contexts (Song & Yang, in press). Although some studies have been conducted to investigate the effects of learning vocabulary in an authentic environment, the majority of them have been carried out in higher education (Stockwell, 2013; Uosaki et al., 2012).

#### The concept of affordances from an ecological perspective

To make room for learners to explore ways of making the affordances of the mobile technologies to mediate their vocabulary learning in real life, Gibsonian ecological approach to perception and action, using the concept of "affordances" is introduced. According to Gibson (1979), "Affordances" refers to the possibilities that the environment can offer for the observer for action, given that a learner has the capability to act, and exist only within the context of an observer- environment system. The concept suggests that the agent actively detects the information from the environment, and makes use of it. The ecological approach to perception and action using the concept of affordances is developed as an approach to learning. A metaphor, "person/learner as detector" of information, is coined as an alterative to how people think and learn (Young, 2013), and how we conceive of learning and teaching (Van Lier, 2004).

Moreover, affordances have social values when learners perceive the common affordances (Gibson, 1979). This concept is reinterpreted as "social affordances" to describe "the possibilities for action that people offer one another and on the role of other people in pointing out new affordances" (Still & Good, 1991, cited in Gaver, 1996, p. 3). Indeed,

perception of affordances, to some extent, is determined by the observer's culture, social setting, experience and intentions in learners' ecologcial niches (Song, 2013; van Lier, 2004).

The ecological approach to perception and action using the concept of affordances is adopted in this study to understand how learners think, interact and learn in their ESL vocabulary learning.

#### This study

#### Framework of affordances of mobile learner-generated-content tool in a mobile learning environment from an ecological perspective

This study aims at investigating how ESL learners as "dectors of information" or how they think and learn by making use of the affordances of the mobile technology – mobile learnergenerated-content (m-LGC) tool (see detailed information about the tool in the next section.) to enhance their vocabulary learning from an ecological perspective. The role that affordances plays between learners and the mobile learning environment is shown in Figure 1 (adapted from "Affordance in Context", Van Lier, 2004, p. 96).





Figure 1 shows that the framework of affordances of m-LGC tool in a mobile learning environment consists of five elements: learners, the mobile learning environment, learner perceptions, affordances of m-LGC tool and learning activities which are all relational. In particular, it is assumed the perceptions of learners in a mobile learning environment for specific learning activities can influence the adoption of affordances of the m-LGC tool to mediate the learning activities; on the other hand, specific learning activites in a mobile learning environment may also influence learners' perceptions of the adoption of affordances of the m-LGC tool. In this study, affordances of the m-LGC tool to mediate vocabulary learning activities are examined from an ecological perspective under this framework. The research questions to be addressed are:

Q 1. How did the learners perceive and act on the affordances of the m-LGC tool for vocabulary learning in a mobile learning environment?

Q 2. Can learners'vocabulary learning be improved by making use of the affordances of the m-LGC tool in a mobile learning environment?

#### The mobile learner-generated content (m-LGC) tool (refer to Song et al. in press)

The m-LGC tool is adapted from SCROLL (System for Capturing and Reminding of Learning Log) originally developed by our research collaborators from Japan (see Ogata et al., 2014). The main features of the m-LGC tool adopted in this study is a web-based platform which includes learner generated vocabulary logs (e.g., picture taking and uploading, text input, and context with GPS), and the "recall" function which could help learners to recall the learned vocabulary in class by the automatic matching with the learner created learning logs. Figure 2 shows the interface of the learner-generated content tool on the mobile device. When the learner logs in the tool, he/she can add a learning note in "Note" in terms of the English vocabulary, its translation in Chinese, and the picture of the object representing the vocabulary, which is GPS-location tagged (see Figure 3). The audio/video function is not the focus of this study. Learners could review all personalized learning logs by clicking the "My logs" button.



Figure 2. The interface of m-LGC tool captured on iPad

Chinese					
	TRANSLATE				
English	Langu Target vocabulary				
	TRANSLATE				
Files (Image//	Audio/Pdf)				
Image 透取文件	★法择文件→ Take/upload pictures				
Audio/Vide 选取文件	Audio/Video 选取文件 未洗择文件 Record voice/upload videos				
Descriptio	Make descriptions by using the target vocabulary				
	A Sub With Learning location				
73	toz share hastery * 律教育大學 ◆ 大圳工业部 市計PO HE 本利山別男変 HE 本利 HELS				
	e 地图数据 1 公里 — 使用条数				

Figure 3. The main function of "Note"

In addition, the m-LGC tool offers an opportunity for learners to learn from peers by sharing learning notes and comments. Learners can not only see their own learning logs but also reflect on what peers have learned and how peers describe the words.

#### Case study as the research method

The ecological approach to perception and action suggests case study as an appropriate research approach (Van Lier, 2004) in order to understand learners' process of perceving and acting on the affordances of the m-LGC tool in a mobile learning environment taking the topic of "food" with 17 new words as a example. A class with 28 students in Grade 4 participated in this one-year study.

#### Data collection and analysis

Data collection included students' vocabulary learning logs recorded on the m-LGC tool. In addition, pre-and post-vocabulary test with 16 questions constructed based on the curriculum was also collected. To understand the learners' performance of vocabulary learning, a control group with 27 students in Grade 4 without using the m-LGC tool in the same school and learning the same vocabulary topic was also involved in the pre- and post-vocabulary tests.
Both qualitative and quantitative data analysis methods were adopted. "Process-oriented analysis" in a natural context (Järvelä et al., 2008, p. 305) was adopted, including on-task analysis and content analysis to understand how learners perceived and acted on the affordances of the m-UGC tool to create their vocabulary learning logs and interact with their peers. In addition, some of the logs were irrelevant to the words in the vocabulary list were also analysed and categorized. The categorized data were then quantified by counting the numbers of postings and variety. Quantitative data analysis using mixed-design two-way ANOVA was adopted to analyze the vocabulary test data with the assistance of SPSS version 21. The within-subject independent variable was the repeated measures with two levels of the pre-test and the post-test. The between-subject independent variables was the m-LGC tool intervention with two levels of the case study group and control group.

#### **Results and discussions**

The results to address the two research questions are presented in this section.

## Results for Q 1. How did the learners perceive and act on the affordances of the m-LGC tool for vocabulary learning in a mobile learning environment?

The learners perceived and acted on the affordances of the -m-LGC tool for vocabulary learning in real life in a mobile learning environment, and generated 126 vocabulary learning logs related to the new words in the 17 vocabulary list on the topic of "Food". In addition, another 26 vocabulary learning logs were created that were beyond the vocabulary list. Moreover, learners made 56 comments on the learning logs created by peers. It was found that six types of affordances that learners perceived and acted on the affordances of the m-LGC tool for vocabualry learning, i.e., making use of the affordance of the m-LGC tool to : (1) take pictures and relate the pictures with the new words learned in class for consolidation (e.g., see Figure 4); (2) input the new words learned in class related to the pictures taken for consolidation (see Figures 4, 5, 6 and 7); (3) make descriptions of the pictures by using the new words learned in class for applying the words in context (see Figures 4, 6 and 7; (4) share and communicate with peers for social interactions (social affordance) (see Figures 6 and 7); (5) review or expand vocabulary learning bank by capturing words beyond the vocabulary list (see Figures 6 and 7); and (6) recall the words learned in class through the automatic matching with the learner created learning logs.

It was noted that the top five students made use of the affordances of the m-LGC tool and created 79 vocabulary learning logs in total (51.97 % of the entire class' postings) while 13 students generated fewer than five logs on average (Song & Yin, in press). This echos with the view that the use of agency depends on a learning-conducive environment that allows and contributes to a diversity of manifestations of agency at different levels (Van Lier, 2010). Some interesting learning logs created by students were indentified. Eight students created different learning logs about "spaghetti". One added the description in the learning log (see Figure 4): "This is a spaghetti. It's a noodle, it has cheese, tomato sauce and some meat balls and it's very yummy to eat!". It is noted that the student, by spotting "spaghetti" in real life, he made the affordances of the m-LGC tool not only to input the word "spaghetti" to consolidate what he learned in class, but also apply the word in describing the ingredients of "spaghetti". Another student also expanded his vocabulary by creating the learning log "Roti" (see Figure 5) mediated by the m-LGC tool. Some students also made use of the social affordances of the m-LGC tool by making comments on the learning logs created by peers, taking "Chicken joy" (see Figure 6) as an example. It is noted that "Chicken joy" was a newly added word stemmed from "chicken curry" in the newly learned vocabualry list. Another interesting learning log was about "cake". Although the word "cake" was not new to peers, it attracted nine comments: "This is a very yummy cake I ever see!", "Big", "This cake looks so delicious", "I like cake very much", "This cake is so big", "Yes cakes are big jerk", "I love cakes they are so yummy", "It looks so tasty", "I like cake". This indicates that the social affordance of the m-LGC tool increased peers interactions in vocabulary learning. Figure 7 shows the learning log and the first two comments.







These learning logs demonstrate that the m-LGC tool could offer a variety of affordances for learners to consolidate, apply, review, share and expand vocabulary in real context in interesting ways in a mobile learning environment. Van Lier (2004) posits, "The affordance fuels perception and activity, and brings about meanings – further affordances and signs, and further higher-level activity as well as more differentiated perception (p. 96)". Thus, it is important for learners to detect different affordances on their own and among peers to explore unlimited possibilities in the environment for learning (Song, 2013).

# Results for Q 2. Can learners'vocabulary learning be improved by making use of the affordances of the m-LGC tool in a mobile learning environment?

The results of two-way mixed design ANOVA were summarized in Table 1. Table 1 shows that neither the main effect of intervention (F[1,43]=1.254, p-value=.269, partial  $\eta^2$ =.028) nor the effect of repeated measures (F[1,43]=0.063, p-value=.803, partial  $\eta^2$ =.001) had significant difference on vocabulary scores. Yet, most importantly, the interaction between the intervention and the repeated measures was significant (F[1,43]=9.574, p-value=.003, partial  $\eta^2$ =.182). The effect size achieved the medal level

(>.15, Corhen, 1992). It indicates that the case study group had the change in the vocabulary scores from pre-test to post-test significantly different from the control group. The difference of the change between the two groups can be observed in Figure 8. The mean score of the case study group (N=28) improved from 4.522 (SD=2.858) in the pre-test to 6.261 (SD=4.654) in the post-test. In contrast, the control group (N=27) reduced their mean score from 4.310 (SD=3.261) in the pre-test to 4.064 (SD=3.526) in the post-test.

Table 1. ANOVA summary table for the factors of m-LGC tool intervention and the repeated measures on vocabulary Scores to the students in Grade 4.

Source		SS	df	MS	F	p-value
Randomi	zed Groups					
	Intervetion	22.712	1	22.712	1.254	0.269
	Error	778.888	43	18.114		
Repeated	l Measure					
	VS	0.528	1	0.528	0.063	0.803
	Intervention×VS	80.528	1	80.528	9.574**	0.003
	VS×Error	361.695	43			
	Total	1244.351	89			

*Note*. VS = vocabulary score.





Figure 8. Mean of vocabulary scores of the case study group and control group in the pre- and post-tests.

The results show that the m-LGC tool can significantly improve learners' performance of vocabulary learning. This indicates that learners performed better if they were allowed a conducive learning environment to perceving and acting on the affordances of m-LGC tool for their vocabulary.

#### **Conclusion and implications**

This case study, from an ecological perspective, investigated how learners perceived and acted on a variety of affordances of the m-LGC tool to link their vocabulary learning in class with real life learning experiences in a mobile learning environment. The findings indicate that learners' agency can be greatly improved in language learning if they are situated in an ecological learning environment where they can perceive and act on the affordances of mobile technologies to create artifacts and share them with their peers to support their learning. The study renders four implications. Firstly, the ecological approach using the concept of affordances in learning can help create a more conducive environments for learners to explore the possibilities offered by the tool use for their vocabulary learning. Secondly, affordances can be increased if learners' agency is motivated and employed. Thirdly, social afforances the tool use can help increase social interactions among learners in vocabulary learning. Finally, to motivate learners to learn, there must be room in a learning environment for "a variety of expressions of agency to flourish" (Van Lier, 2010, p.5). The creation of such an environment is a major task in the pedagogical design and practice in ESL vocabulary learning.

#### References

The Curriculum Development Council (2017). English Language Education Key Learning Area Guide (Primary 1-Primary 6). Retrieved from goo.gl/m5W5fX

Dixon, L. Q., Zhao, J., Shin, J. Y., Wu, S., Su, J. H., Burgess-Brigham, R., ... & Snow, C. (2012). What we know about second language acquisition: A synthesis from four perspectives. Review of Educational Research, 82(1), 5-60.

Foomani, E. M., & Hedayati, M. (2016). A seamless learning design for mobile assisted language learning: An Iranian context. English Language Teaching, 9(5), 206-213.

Gass, S., & Mackey, A. (2007). Input, interaction and output in second language acquisition. In B. VanPatten & J. Williams (Eds.), Theories in second language acquisition: An introduction (pp. 175-199). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.

Gaver, W. W. (1996). Situating action II: Affordances for interaction: The social is material for design. Ecological Psychology, 8(2), 111-129.

Gibson, J. J. (1979). The ecological approach to visual perception. Boston: Houghton.

Järvelä, S., Veermans, M., & Leinonen, P. (2008). Investigating student engagement in computer-supported inquiry: A process-oriented analysis. Social Psychology of Education, 11(3), 299-322.

Kreijns, K., Kirschner, P. A., & Jochems, W. (2002). The sociability of computersupported collaborative learning environments. Educational technology & society, 5(1), 8-22.

Ogata, H., Hou, B., Uosaki, N., Mouri, K., & Liu, S. (2014). Ubiquitous learning project using life-logging technology in Japan. Educational Technology & Society, 17(2), 85-100.

Reinders, H. & Loewen, S. (2013). Autonomy and language learning behavior: The role of student initiation and participation in L2 Classrooms. Study in English Language Teaching, 1(1), 1-7.

Saran, M., Seferoglu, G., & Cagiltay, K. (2012). Mobile language learning: Contribution of multimedia messages via mobile phones in consolidating vocabulary. The Asia-Pacific Education Researcher, 21(1), 181-190.

Song, Y. (2013). Developing a framework for examining the "niche" for mobile-assisted seamless learning from an ecological perspective. British Journal of Educational Technology, 44(5), E167-E170.

Song, Y., Lung K. M., Ogata H., Yang Y., Hasnine N., & Mouri, K. (in press). Bridging inclass and real life vocabulary learning using a mobile learner-generated content tool: A case study. The 23rd Global Chinese Conference on Computers in Education (2019), Wuhan, China.

Stockwell, G. (2013). Tracking learner usage of mobile phones for language learning outside of the classroom. CALICO Journal, 30(1), 118-136.

Uosaki, N., Ogata, H., Sugimoto, T., Li, M., & Hou, B. (2012). Towards seamless vocabulary learning: How we can entwine in-class and outside-of-class learning. International Journal of Mobile Learning and Organisation, 6(2), 138-155.

Van Lier, L. (2004). The ecology and semiotics of language learning: A sociocultural perspective. Boston: Kluwer.

Van Lier, L. (2010). The ecology of language learning: Practice to theory, theory to practice. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 3, 2-6.

Wu, T. T. (2018). Improving the effectiveness of English vocabulary review by integrating ARCS with mobile game-based learning. Journal of Computer Assisted Learning, 34(3), 315-323.

Young, M. (2013). An ecological psychology of instructional design: Learning and thinking by perceiving–acting systems. In Handbook of research on educational communications and technology (pp. 180-188). Routledge.

Zhang, H., Li, J., Jiao, L., Ma, W. and Guan, C. (2016). The Adjustment and Effects of Vocabulary Teaching Strategies in Flipped Classroom. Creative Education, *7*, 1966-1973.

#### Vance Stevens

Learning2gether.net, Penang, Malaysia

vancestev@gmail.com

#### Thinking SMALL about social media assisted language learning

#### Abstract

This paper makes a case for a more appropriate acronym than CALL to reflect the reduced significance of the microprocessor in language learning and emphasize instead the most salient affordances computers bring to the process. Early CALL theorists note that the term might not transition to an era of network based learning. This paper describes such learning, and its use with language learners from the time the terms social media and Web 2.0 were coined. Since social media is an enabler of the meaningful and authentic communication so critically necessary to effective language learning, the paper encourages language practitioners to "think SMALL" and model for one another the use of social media and Web 2.0 in language learning. The paper shows how engagement in communities of practice spills over into changes in teaching practices and reports results of a survey of teacher perceptions of how effectively students and teachers are able to transition use of social media in their personal lives to their professional ones, for the purposes of both teaching and learning.

#### Paper

#### An introduction to distributed learning

Anisoara is an English teacher in Romania. Recently she was trying to recall where she could find free images online, so she decided to write to a Yahoo group she was a member of called Webheads in Action (WiA). Over the next six days she received 8 replies with 56 link suggestions. In gratitude she wrote the list, "What a wealth of suggestions to look through! Thank you so much! You are my memory and my crowdsource, Hugs, Anisoara."

This kind of thing happens all the time in our connected world, but there are several things noteworthy about this incident. Anisoara wrote her message in March 2019 to a list populated mostly by language teachers that started in 2002. This list is one way that this community (currently 1100 members) have been interacting with each other for almost two decades. The fact that this community of practice (CoP) continues to function and help one another after so many years is itself remarkable. Another interesting detail is the way Anisoara signs off with hugs. This is a community of teaching practitioners, but informality and caring for one another are two of its salient characteristics (Bostancioglu, 2018).

Another aspect of this is that Anisoara intuits what Downes (2005) and Siemens (2006) write about how knowledge is distributed in networks, and how networks redefine what knowledge is and how it is learned. They suggest that any node in the network (e.g. Anisoara) is potentially as knowledgeable as the most knowledgeable other-node in the network. In other words, what the network "knows" is equivalent to the sum of the knowledge at all its nodes, and the wealth of networks lies in how any given node, Anisoara for example, is able to extract that knowledge, make it hers, and learn from it. Another characteristic of networks is that they overlap, so that any given node in the network is connected to dozens of other networks. The trick for a given node in a given network is to access that wider knowledge ("the pipe is more important than the content within the pipe," Siemens, 2004, n.p.), but the knowledge is potentially there, and potentially accessible, wherever it lies in the wide web of interconnected networks

#### An example of a SMALL distributed learning network

Webheads in Action derived in 2002 from a precursor group called Writing for Webheads (WfW). This group emerged in 1998 as a small (number of participants) community of language learners who enjoyed meeting regularly online in avatar-based spaces for the purpose of improving their command of English. They wrote about their experiences, thoughts, and feelings and sent emails along with recordings and pictures to the present author to post on a website he maintained in Web 1.0 fashion (Stevens, 2018).

WfW roughly coincided in time with the emergence of the term 'social media.' Bercovici (2010) credits Ted Leonsis with inventing the term in 1997. By the following year WfW was posting participants' photos to a wall on our portal page (see Figure 1), and attaching the thumbnails to their writings as well. This was four years before Martin Dougiamas released Moodle in 2002, and associated each posting with an image of the person posting. It would be another two years before Mark Zuckerberg would put faces to names and profiles with his social network site Facebook. Later in that same year, 2004, Tim O'Reilly and Dale Dougherty held their Media Web 2.0 Conference which popularized the term Web 2.0, coined originally by Darcy DiNucci in 1999 (Toledano, 2013; DiNucci, 1999).



Figure 1: The Writing for Webheads students portrait gallery

WfW was premised on the assumption that language learners would improve their language not through a course of study ordained top down via a prescriptive curriculum but through motivation to interact with one another socially and set individual agendas for personal language development guided by their immediate communication needs within the social network. This is similar to what Cormier (2008) later termed 'community as curriculum', but this notion came to us intuitively and through experimentation, and in time we discovered that our approach worked and made learning fun.

WfW participants even went out of their way to meet us from a distance at online and faceto-face professional conferences and discuss with attendees how they were benefiting from their use of voice and other Web 2.0 tools in our socially connected network (albeit still couched in a Web 1.0 portal). Accordingly we began attracting a following among language teachers who started joining the group in order to have an opportunity to interact online with language learners. Eventually the teachers predominated and displaced the students, but once the teachers were there we focused on modeling how they could use Web 2.0 with each other and thus learn to use these tools second-naturedly with students. In so doing we began to function as a social network, patterned on what had been learned with students pioneering SMALL, or social media assisted language learning.

#### Transition from pre-network CALL to network-based teaching and learning

In 2001 the Teachers of English to Speakers of Other Languages Computer-assisted Language Learning Interest Section (TESOL CALL-IS) launched an experiment in learning through Web 2.0 and social media. Electronic Village Online (EVO) has been an annual offering of 5-week long professional development courses given by teachers for free and for other teachers each January-February ever since.

In 2002 an EVO session was formed to help teachers understand how Web 2.0 tools had been used to create and nurture the community of learners online in WfW by enrolling them in a similar learning community. Called Webheads in Action, by its second year, participants had come to consider themselves to be a perfect example of a community of practice (Johnson, 2005; Lave and Wenger, 1991; Wenger, 1998).

Meanwhile, some practitioners of CALL at around this time were questioning the validity of their acronym. CALL is by definition computer assisted language learning, but computers are integrated into almost everything electronic. Bax (2003, 2011) argued that computers had become so normalized that the C in CALL is decreasingly descriptive, implying that a better acronym was in order. Levy and Hubbard's (2005) riposte was that we should continue to call CALL "CALL" largely as a matter of convention and practicality, but suggested that "perhaps ... the label CALL cannot ultimately make the transition from pre-network to network-based teaching and learning," (pp. 143-144).

This paper concurs with that conclusion. The purpose of language is communication, and students internalize languages through meaningful, authentic communication. Communicative skills are best honed through practice during opportunities for authentic communication which form the most stable substrate for sustained language learning.

Social media is a ubiquitous enabler of natural communication. What computers do best for language learners is to facilitate communication among themselves and with native speakers of a language, largely through social media. In reality, SM assists LL more than does the old C so over the past decade I have been encouraging people to "think SMALL" in recognition of the diminished role of computers themselves in the process of language learning vis à vis how they actually help learners acquire a target language. And for teachers to be able to facilitate this, they have to use social media in their own professional development with one another.

One modeling of this insight occurred during three global online Webheads in Action Online Convergences (WiAOC) in 2005, 2007, and 2009. In mounting these, we utilized a panoply of Web 2.0 tools, including Elluminate, to which we had been granted free access by LearningTimes.org, along with our burgeoning social networks, to organize ourselves around a Moodle portal where presenters submitted proposals which we vetted, and then facilitated for presentation over three straight days in each of those years for free to a worldwide audience. These were conferences about language teaching, involving language teaching practitioners, who in effect were modeling for one another how they could use Web 2.0 and social media in such a way that it might carry over into their teaching practices (Hunter, 2006).

Indeed, during a keynote session at WiAOC 2007 (see Figure 2), Etienne Wenger was talking with Cristina Costa about her participation in the Webheads in Action CoP, when he asked her

how she knew she was in a community of practice. She immediately answered: when she realized that her practice had changed.



Figure 2: Susanne Nyrop's announcement of the keynote conversation with Etienne Wenger, retrieved from https://www.flickr.com/photos/netopnyrop/503628210

Stevens (2014) asserts that teachers learning through connectivist frameworks might apply similar strategies in their teaching, thus introducing their students to networked learning methods that will help them in future endeavours. Such a change in practice might materialize as a DIYLMS, or do-it-yourself learning management system. A DIYLMS is a collection of Web 2.0 tools that together function as a learning management system (LMS) in a way similar to Moodle or Blackboard, but with much greater flexibility and at minimal cost. Stevens (2012, pp.5-6) specifies what components might be included in a DIYLMS:

- A wiki portal for course information and organization, with links pertinent to course content and management, and other relevant resources, such as screencasts and tutorials
- Google Docs for student submission of assignments, and teacher feedback on student writing
- Blogging, to showcase student work
- Etherpad clones for group collaboration tasks
- Jing <http://www.techsmith.com/jing.html> and Screenr <http://www.screenr.com/> to create and annotate screen-capture and screencast tutorials
- A back-channel tool such as Twitter, Skype group chat, or Edmodo <http://www.edmodo.com/>
- ... synchronous learning tools
  - Skype group chat as a synchronous AND asynchronous forum
  - $\circ$   $\;$  Google Hangout for live webcam and voice-enabled interaction  $\;$

o WizIQ

Suggested in 2012, these specific tools may be dated, but the basic principles still apply; for example in place of WizIQ, educators these days might substitute Zoom as a platform for synchronous voice, webcam and text chat-enabled spaces allowing for sharing screens and documents among participants. As such tools become widely used and accepted, teachers are able to become familiar with them through practice in the course of their own professional development, thus becoming empowered to use them with students. In this way participants in networked communities

continually leverage each other's professional development, and what is modeled and practiced in transactions there is applied later in their teaching practices ... This strongly suggests that teachers must be trained not only in the use of social media, but through its use (Stevens, 2009, p.1).

#### Why not call CALL "SMALL"?

Many acronyms have been proposed to replace the C in CALL; e.g. MALL, TALL, TELL, etc. but it was this heavy emphasis on social media in our work with teachers which led to the proposal, at the TESOL conference in Denver, that we consider rebranding CALL as SMALL (Stevens, 2009a, slide 8) (see Figure 3).



This appears to be the first use of SMALL to appear in the literature. A Google Scholar search on the string "social media assisted language learning" turns up no hits when filtered through 2009, and filtered through 2010 it produces one hit for Stevens (2010). Filtered through 2011 there is an additional hit on Mashinter, (2011), who cites Stevens, Cozens, and Buckingham (2010) as her source for the term.

The term SMALL was independently arrived at by Chua (2013) as a characterization of his research showing how students generally benefited in writing, speaking, grammar, and vocabulary from using wikis, YouTube, Facebook, and to a lesser extent, Twitter. But the acronym did not appear to gain much more traction until a panel was formed at the 2019

TESOL Conference in Atlanta to address the case for using social media in language learning and referred to that as SMALL.

In communications with other panelists, I felt that we were describing how social media was used in our contexts depending, as with the proverbial blind men, on which part of the elephant we happened to be touching. My own impressions of social media have been formed from decades of working with students in Arab countries where social media was sometimes restricted, sometimes banned altogether, and colleagues might not be amenable to its use. However, my impressions when I encountered colleagues from more developed parts of the world were that they and their students, especially in K-12 and to some extent higher education, were more sophisticated in their use of social media in both their teaching and their learning.

#### Selected survey results

I wanted to better understand how educators worldwide perceived their competence and effectiveness in using social media in language learning vis à vis that of their students. So I created a survey to establish a benchmark of educator perceptions of how SMALL is used worldwide, drawn from a range of contexts, not only from mine.

All 60 respondents to the survey reported themselves to be educators;, 93% had been in the field for over 10 years. They came from 31 countries. 85% were teachers, the rest specialists working in support of teachers (Figure 4).



Figure 4: Breakdown of educator roles of those surveyed

The survey sought to establish what percentage of respondents used social media with each other for personal learning and with their students for academic purposes. Most tended to use social media with their students and in their own learning, though many did not use social media for either.

When asked about their own use of social media for learning, 74% said they used social media in learning from their peers; 19% said they didn't (Figure 5).



Figure 5: Extent to which respondents used social media in learning from their peers

Two thirds said they used social media with their students; almost a quarter (14 respondents) said they didn't (Figure 6).



Figure 6: Extent to which respondents used social media with their students

#### How educators learn about social media

When asked how they had acquired their knowledge of social media, half said through reading, through trial and error, and from websites. A quarter said they had learned from YouTube videos. Almost half said they learned from peers, and a quarter said they learned from mentors / teachers (see Figure 7). Therefore, 75% of the respondents cited peers and mentors as being a prime factor in their knowledge base on social media.



Figure 7: How respondents acquired their knowledge of social media

On the presupposition that peer scaffolding would be important to teachers in improving their skills with social media, one item in the survey asked if teachers were good models for one another on using social media effectively in their teaching and personal learning. As seen in Figure 8, teachers overwhelmingly agreed (95%) that they could be effective models for one another in this regard. The other 5% were neutral; no one disagreed.

Educator Perceptic	ons of Social Media in ESOL 🖿 🛣 🏶
	QUESTIONS RESPONSES 60
	<text></text>

Figure 8: Appreciation of teachers modeling use of social media with one another

Respondents were slightly less sanguine when asked if students appear to be good models for one another. Over 88% agreed with the statement that students can be highly effective models for other students regarding how to use social media effectively for learning. 10% were neutral, and one respondent noted that social media can be unsafe for students from non-western countries (Figure 11).



Figure 11: Extent to which students can effectively model use of social media for each other

Another item asked if the educators polled thought that teachers might also learn from observing how students used social media. 80% surveyed felt they could learn about social media from their students, with 12% appearing neutral, and only 3 respondents disagreeing. One said s/he was more net-aware than his or her students, and another expressed reservations about students from a particular country (Figure 9).



Figure 9: Appreciation of students modeling use of social media for teachers

## Attitudes of educators toward using social media with students and in their own learning

The survey had items designed to shed light on the value teachers placed on using social media with students. Replies were mostly positive on the statement "Social media holds compelling potential for language learning." 85% were in agreement, 13% neutral, and one respondent said it could be, but was not worth the privacy risk (Figure 12).



Figure 12: Perception of potential of social media for language learning

One acknowledged problem of students having access to social media in the classroom is the temptation for distraction it provides. This has been an issue in my own context, and appeared to be a concern shared by survey respondents. To the statement, social media generally distracts from learning in the classroom, 22% agreed, 25% were neutral, and 47% disagreed (8% strongly), with other answers pointing out that it depends on how social media is used in class (Figure 13).



Figure 13: Extent to which social media distracts from learning in the classroom

Most of the respondents reported mostly positive experiences with social media, both in their personal learning and in working with students.

Almost 60% reported mostly positive experiences using social media with their students in their teaching, whereas on this question 20% (11 of 60, plus one who wrote 'not applicable') said they had never used social media with students in their teaching (Figure 14; c.f. Figure 6 above).



Figure 14: Respondents reporting positive experiences using social media in teaching

Of all respondents, 82% reported mostly positive experiences using social media in their own personal learning. Only three of 60 (5%) answered not having had positive experiences with social media in their own learning, and five (8.3%) said they had never used social media in their personal learning (Figure 14).



Figure 14: Respondents reporting positive experiences using social media their personal learning

# Do educators think their colleagues and their students are able to use social media effectively

Regarding educators' perceptions of other teachers' use of social media, the survey asked if teachers in general might use social media themselves but not know how to use it effectively in their teaching. Surprisingly, 85% agreed (20% agreed strongly). Only 8% disagreed, and 5% (3 respondents) were neutral. So it appears that educators responding to this survey felt that many of their colleagues were familiar with social media for their own purposes, but not up to speed on its use with students (Figure 15).



Figure 15: Perceptions of other teachers' ability to use social media effectively in their teaching

A similar question asked educators to rate the statement that students might use social media themselves but not know how to use it effectively in their learning. According to Figure 16, there was strong agreement with this (78%), 12% were neutral, and 8.3% disagreed (but none strongly).



Figure 16: Perceptions of students' ability to use social media effectively in their learning

#### Social media found most useful in teaching and in personal learning

Respondents were asked in two places on the survey if they used social media with their peers/colleagues and if they used social media in teaching their students; and if they did, to list their favorite use(s) of social media, and if not, why not? These items elicited some of the more useful data to emerge from the survey. Respondents interpreted the question differently, some listing *ways* they used social media, others listing specific *tools*. Both response types were useful, and the reasons given for not using social media were particularly revealing.

Ways that the educators gave of using social media in their personal learning with colleagues included building relationships, class collaboration and collaboration in general, exchange of ideas, networking, online learning, professional development, reading articles, school events, sharing ideas, and tagged, categorized, and annotated resource sharing.

Some of the tools mentioned were

#ELTChat BBC Blogs bookmarking Engvid eTwinning Facebook groups feed aggregator forums	Google Docs Google+ Groups Headway Linked In MOOCs Moodle Pinterest Say again?	TED Talks threaded discussions Twitter webinars WhatsApp WhatsApp groups Wikis Zoom; online meetings
---	--	---

YouTube was particularly salient in the responses; in particular for

- Lectures
- Tech channel subscriptions
- YouTube to create my own videos
- Youtube videos of ESL lessons by other teachers

When the educators did not use social media with their peers and colleagues, these were the reasons given:

- 1. My colleagues lack technical skill.
- 2. They are not very fond of using social media.
- 3. I avoid Facebook.
- 4. Facebook online book club, limited success.
- 5. I think most see social as social and work as work.
- 6. I use email with peers.

Ways that the educators gave of using social media in teaching with their students included announcements, collaboration, communications, discussion, events, group chats, peer homework, platform, projects, publishing, sharing, and songs.

Some of the social media teaching tools mentioned were

blogs		Google+	Telegram
Duolingo		Instagram	Twitter
Edmodo		Kahoot!	Viber
EdPuzzle		Memrise	Whatsapp
Facebook		Messenger	Wikis
Google	Docs,	PBWorks	YouTube
Google translate		TED talks	

For teaching, YouTube was again salient (mentioned in 10 of 60 responses). One respondent noted that Facebook was used decreasingly these days.

Again, the reasons not to use social media with students were interesting and varied:

- 1. Privacy laws in Italy prevent teachers using social media with students.
- 2. College does not allow. Used to use in past college.
- 3. Mostly, I'd like students to talk with each other face-to-face.
- 4. No need, we have other ICT like Moodle, Google+, emails.
- 5. I have not found a sufficiently strong pedagogical purpose for which to use it. Moodle provides enough opportunities for interaction.
- 6. Does not seem relevant.
- 7. I have enough trouble getting them into the main system where they can access the things I need to do ... have occasionally considered whether nipping round sheep dog like and trying to herd them into spaces / tasks they intend to (but don't always find time to) complete would be effective, but haven't resorted to it yet.
- 8. I use social media for personal, social reasons and for professional development.
   Students tend to use it for social, personal reasons and teachers engaging
  - them there may intrude into their personal space.
  - It can also blur personal/professional boundaries and appear inappropriate.

Answers 4 and 5 point out a limitation in survey data such as this. Inclusion of tools such as Moodle and Google+ in answers explaining why they don't use social media suggests that respondents don't have a common idea of what constitutes social media. Today's Wikipedia definition is "interactive computer-mediated technologies that facilitate the creation and sharing of information, ideas, career interests and other forms of expression via virtual communities and networks." By this definition, Moodle and Google+ are in fact social media.

#### Conclusion

Social media-facilitated collaboration in CoPs shows teachers how utilizing social media creatively with one another not only helps them model social media techniques most effective in learning from one another, but this informs the teaching practices of everyone in the participatory culture. When practices change, then novel techniques for using social media with students can develop, such as those reported in the research conducted here. As use of social media becomes normalized for language teaching, and as the computers themselves are seen as no more integral to the process of language learning than are overhead projectors, we might consider the acronym describing our field to be SMALL, or social media assisted language learning.

#### References

Bax, S. (2003). CALL – Past, present and future. *System*, *31*(1), 13–28. Retrieved from http://www.u.arizona.edu/~jonrein/internettech10/bax\_03.pdf.

Bax, S. (2011). Normalisation revisited: The effective use of technology in language education. *International Journal of Computer-Assisted Language Learning and Teaching*, 1(2), 1-15. Retrieved from

http://www.academia.edu/3754724/Normalisation\_Revisited\_The\_Effective\_Use\_of\_Technology\_in \_Language\_Education.

Bercovici, J. (2010, December 10) Who coined 'social media'? Web pioneers compete for credit [Blog post]. *Forbes*. Retrieved from https://www.forbes.com/sites/jeffbercovici/2010/12/09/who-coined-social-media-web-pioneers-compete-for-credit/.

Bostancioglu, A. (2018). Online communities of practice in the service of teachers' technology professional development: The case of Webheads in Action. *TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, *17*(2), 97-110. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1176173.pdf.

Chua, K. (2013). Thinking big on SMALL: Social media assisted language learning [SlideShare slides]. Paper presented at ThaiTESOL Conference, Khon Kaen. Retrieved from http://www.slideshare.net/keemanxp/socialmedia-assisted-language-learning.

Cormier, D. (2018). Rhizomatic education: Community as curriculum [PDF file]. *Innovate: Journal of Online Education, 4*(5). Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/234577448\_Rhizomatic\_Education\_Community\_as\_Curri culum.

Downes, S. (2005). An introduction to connective knowledge. *Stephen's Web*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.downes.ca/cgi-bin/page.cgi?post=33034</u>.

Hunter, M. (2006). Are you on the PD cybertrain or still hesitating [PDF file]? *TEWT: The Journal of Teaching English with Technology,* 6(3). Retrieved from http://www.tewtjournal.org/?wpdmact=process&did=MjEwLmhvdGxpbms.

Johnson, C. M. (2005). Establishing an online community of practice for instructors of English as a foreign language. Unpublished doctoral dissertation. Nova Southeastern University. Fort Lauderdale, Florida.

Lave, J. and Wenger, E. (1991) *Situated Learning: Legitimate Peripheral Participation*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Levy, M. & Hubbard, P. (2005). Why call CALL "CALL"? *Computer Assisted Language Learning, 18* (3) 143-149. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/233230354\_Why\_call\_CALL\_CALL/stats.

Mashinter, K. (2011). Cell phones + self-access: A summer campaign. *Studies in Self-Access Learning Journal, 2*(3), 219-227. Retrieved from

https://sisaljournal.org/archives/sep11/mashinter/?like=1&source=post\_flair&\_wpnonce=134bd2d71b

Siemens, G. (2004). Connectivism: A Learning theory for the digital age. *Elearnspace*. Retrieved from http://www.itdl.org/journal/jan\_05/article01.htm.

Siemens, G. (2006). *Knowing Knowledge*. knowingknowledge.com. Retrieved from https://archive.org/details/KnowingKnowledge.

Stevens, V. (2009a). Celebrating 25 years of CALL: Forging new pathways [SlideShare slides]. Presentation at the 2009 TESOL Conference, Denver. Retrieved from https://www.slideshare.net/vances/celebrating-25-years-of-call.

Stevens, V. (2009b). Modeling social media in groups, communities, and networks. *TESL-EJ*, *13*,(3), 1-16. Retrieved from http://tesl-ej.org/pdf/ej51/int.pdf.

Stevens, V. (2010) PLN: The paradigm shift in teacher and learner autonomy [PDF file]. *Memoria Académica: Puertas Abiertas 2010*(6), pp.1-11. Retrieved from http://www.memoria.fahce.unlp.edu.ar/art\_revistas/pr.4919/pr.4919.pdf.

Stevens, V. (2012). Learner-centered do-it-yourself learning management systems. *TESL-EJ*, *15*(4), pp. 1-14. Retrieved from http://tesl-ej.org/pdf/ej60/int.pdf.

Stevens, V. (2014). Connectivist learning: Reaching students through teacher professional development [PDF file]. In Son, J. (Ed.). *Computer-assisted language learning: Learners, teachers and tools.* APACALL Book Series Volume 3. Newcastle upon Tyne, UK: Cambridge Scholars Publishing. Retrieved from http://www.vancestevens.com/papers/archive/2014connectivist\_learning.pdf

Stevens, V. (2018). Webheads [PDF file]. In Liontas, J. (Ed.). *The TESOL Encyclopedia of English Language Teaching*. Wiley-Blackwell. 5824 pages. Retrieved from http://www.vancestevens.com/papers/archive/9781118784235eelt0458webheads.pdf.

Stevens, V., Cozens, P., & Buckingham, J. (2010, April 10). "Thinking SMALL: Realizing ongoing professional development through grassroots social networking in the UAE." [Presentation]. Abu Dhabi ELT Conference. Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates.

#### Xiangyu Tan

Shanghai Open University, Shanghai, China

tanxy@sou.edu.cn

# Exploring adult EFL leaners' engagement with oral corrective feedback in one-on-one online English tutoring

#### Bio data



#### Abstract

Oral corrective feedback (CF) plays an important role in online tutoring. Oral CF available to students and how they engage with it has a considerable impact on their learning experience and their learning outcome. This multiple-case study investigated how low-level adult learners of English as a foreign language engage with various patterns of oral CF in their online one-on-one English tutoring. The data collected through online tutoring observations points to the complexity and diversity of learners' engagement with CF on a cognitive, behavioral and affective level. In addition, how a learner's engagement level is impacted by their expectation, current English proficiency, motivation, task load and the difficulty of the online.

Key words: oral corrective feedback, engagement, one-on-one online language learning

#### **Conference** paper

#### Introduction

Emerging technologies are providing more opportunities for L2 learners to acquire a foreign language. One particular technological development named cloud computing has transformed L2 learning by creating a tool that makes one-on-one online tutoring with an interactive interface possible. With this new tool, a large number of online platforms provide services of interactive online foreign language teaching. A better understanding of this new form of foreign language learning is essential. Despite the fact that the effectiveness of oral CF in L2 acquisition is a already a widely researched area, questions still remain as to how students engage with it on an online level and what factors influence this engagement. (Pawlak, 2014). Therefore, a key component of online learning, oral CF, will be scrutinized in order to assess its effects on learners' engagement.

As an increasing number of L2 learners turn to the online classroom, it is necessary to examine how deeply L2 students engage with oral feedback in an online setting in order to help these learners to reap the maximum benefits.

#### Literature Review

Ellis (2010) provides a framework for examining learner engagement with CF: from the behavioral, the cognitive, and the attitudinal perspective.

As regards to the behavioral response, the results of many researches show that recasting is the most frequently used CF type in all classroom interactions (Tsang 2004, Lyster 2010). Using observations from an advanced-level adult ESL classroom, Lee (Lee 2013) found that the most frequent type of corrective feedback was recasting which generated 92.09% of learner repairs. Nassaji (2009) also found that there are more occurrences of recasts following written and interactive tasks.

In terms of cognitive engagement, Mackey et al (2000) found that greater noticing on recasts and negotiation generates more frequent output modification. However, Yoshida (2010) reported that the occurrence of uptake does not guarantee noticing and understanding of corrective information since leaners often provide a response to avoid social strain and embarrassment.

Regarding affective engagement with oral CF, Agudo, M., & de Dios, J. (2013) suggested that EFL learners emotionally respond to teachers' oral corrective feedback in different ways. The researchers such as Rassaei, E. (2015) began to explore how learners' anxiety affects CF. He found that low-anxiety learners benefited from both meta- linguistic feedback and recasts however the effect of metalinguistic feedback on their development was more profound. Conversely, the high-anxiety learners benefited from recasts significantly more than they did from metalinguistic corrective feedback.

While these studies have provided some insights into our understanding of learners' engagement with corrective feedback, no research to our knowledge has studied the multifaceted learner engagement with CF in a one-on-one online tutoring setting.

To narrow the research gap, this study used a multiple-case approach to explore how online learners' engage with a tutor's CF. It is conducted in the setting where students were observed in their natural online tutoring environment without any manipulation or intervention by the researcher. It is designed to triangulate the three facets of student engagement using a qualitative approach. It is guided by the following research question: How do Chinese adult EFL learners engage affectively, behaviorally, and cognitively with teachers' oral CF during online one-on-one tutoring?

#### Methods

#### Context and participants

Each learner was required to answer questions, read conversations and make dialogues with a tutor during a 25-minute interactive online tutorial. Each task was displayed on the screen and all topics were based on business communication.

Purposive sampling strategies were used to select learner participants. Four learners were recruited, typifying the average English L2 leaner profile of low-proficiency, middle-aged and working full-time.

#### Data collection

The data collection lasted four weeks. The online classes were observed and videorecorded, totaling 200 minutes. Within 24 hours of each online tutorial, the learner participants attended a stimulated recall session. During these sessions learners recalled their thoughts and feeling during the online class while watching the corrective feedback episodes that occurred during the online interaction, totaling 370 minutes. The stimulated recall was conducted in each participant's first language or based on their preference.

#### Data analysis

First, linguistic errors in the online tutoring were identified and categorized. Secondly, according to Lyster and Ranta's (1997) taxonomy with minor adaptations, the tutor's oral CF was coded and categorized. Thirdly, the learner's immediate response to their oral CF

was coded and analyzed using the terms: repair, ignore, just acknowledged, no chance to repair and wrong repair. If there was no chance to respond due to the tutor's continuation of the conversation without a pause, it was coded as no chance. Lastly, the data collected by the stimulated recall session was coded and analyzed to explore the learners' cognitive process and attitude response.

#### Findings and discussion

#### What errors do learners make during online one-to-one tutoring sessions?

The first question is to investigate the learners' oral error patterns. All the participants made a wide range of linguistic errors during the online tutorial, with phonological errors occurring most frequently followed by lexical errors.

The data suggests that once learners noticed that the tutor was correcting their errors they felt obligated to respond to the tutor (Bao, Egi et al. 2011). Compared with classroom settings where feedback is given to the whole group, the participants are the sole interlocutor for each online tutoring thus they have a deeper compulsion to engage with what the tutor is expressing.

	Lily	Michel	Lucy	Martin
Discourse	2	1	2	1
Grammar	10	4	5	6
Lexis	14	6	5	6
Phonology	11	13	12	12
Pragmatics	3	3	2	2
Total	40	27	26	27

# What oral CF is provided by the native tutors of learners' L2 to address these errors?

The second research question focuses on the pattern of oral CF.

Table 2 Oral CF on errors

	Discourse	Grammar	Lexis	Phonology	Pragmatics
Clarification request	2	3	1	0	0
Elicitation	0	1	1	0	0
Explicit correction	2	5	10	1	4
Metalinguistic clues	0	3	13	3	2
Recast	2	6	12	26	5
Repetition	0	1	1	0	1

Recasting was most frequently offered solution to address almost all types of errors. Clarification, explicit correction and recasting are used an equal amount to address discourse errors. For phonological and lexical errors, meta-linguistic clues are the second most frequently adopted oral CF.

#### How do these learners cognitively process the oral CF?

Compared with written corrective feedback, oral CF may not be as salient and thus less easily noticed. During the interaction, the learners misidentified some oral CF as tutors' confirmation, clarification to what they had said or as another question not related to the errors.

As Michel stated: The online tutorial is quite interactive. Frankly speaking, I didn't notice that the tutor corrected me often, but confirmed or questioned what I had said often.

Moreover, although they tried to retrieve the meta-linguistic rule to self-correct the errors, they often failed to grasp the correct rule to do this effectively. The learners also conducted the cognitive strategies of conceptualizing in order to learn the words and memorizing in order to process and respond to the oral CF. If they failed to do so, they tried to skip or ignore the errors and continue the interaction.

	Correct repair	Igno re	Just acknowledge	No chance to repair	Wrong repair
Clarification request	2	1	0	0	0
Elicitation	1	0	0	0	0
Explicit correction	12	0	4	2	1
Metalinguistic clues	13	1	5	1	1
Recast	27	6	12	1	4
Repetition	1	0	1	0	0

How do these lea	rners respond to the	e errors following	the tutor's oral CF?
	Table 3 Participa	ants' response to oral Cl	F

The data in this study is consistent with the findings of Lee (2013) in that the most frequently used oral CF recasting can generate the immediate correct repair but this recasting can easily be ignored or misunderstood by learners. The data also revealed that learners felt they did not always have to chance to repair their errors after the tutors' oral CF. This revelation is less documented in the previous studies. The learners thought this was as a result of limited task time or overall lesson time for each tutoring or that it was due to the tutors' beliefs of the importance of the error.

Many phonological errora corrected by recasting during the lesson were still mispronounced after the lesson. As Lucy stated: *I could follow the teachers' correction on phonology, I could do it based on my short term memory just like imitation, but since I am not familiar with the words, I still could not pronounce the corrected word in the right way. I need to write it down and practice it more after the tutorial to make it right.* 

This result corroborates the ideas of Pawlak (2014) who claimed that the leaners might manage to perform self-correction, but it was only thoughtless parroting.

#### What are learners attitude towards the online oral CF?

Although sometimes the learners felt confused when they do not understand the oral CF, they are positive to oral CF from the case study overall. It is worth noticing that the attitude is also subject to the learners' current level of English proficiency, expectation or motivation and the task difficulty of online learning.

*Martin: Since my goal is to communicate with foreigners, I do not care too much about pronunciation accuracy. I think some errors do not interfere with our communication.* Peer embarrassment can be an enormous communicative restraint in a regular classroom setting as learners fear embarrassment in front of the peers. The learners in this study commented that the lack of peers allowed them to feel less embarrassed when having their errors corrected during their online tutorial than in the regular classroom.

This attitude varied with depending on the amount of online learning experience. One learner, Lily, was initially upset upon the receipt of oral CF. She commented that she felt as if she was being interrupted and insulted by the tutors' oral CF in the beginning of the tutorial but later she successfully converted this into a positive emotion regarding the same oral CF as help from the tutors.

In this case, it can be suggested that learners require guidance regarding CF before they commence tutoring on an online platform in order to benefit leaners more and to steer them through the initial stages if they feel uncomfortable.

#### Conclusion

This study has explored the differences between oral CF in an educational settings and the traditional classroom setting. It has found that phonological, lexical errors are most

frequently addressed by recasting followed by meta-linguistic clues. Although recasting provoked an immediate behavioral response in the learner, the effectiveness of recasting can be brought into question due to the fact that phonological errors still could not be addressed by learners themselves after the lesson. It can be proposed that these tutorials alone do not deliver enough phonological practice and extra offline practice is required to correct these errors. To combat the influence of a learners' current English proficiency, expectation, motivation and the task difficulty of online learning on their online classroom engagement level, it is important that learners' complete a survey on their backgrounds and needs prior to their language learning sessions. In order to facilitate a deeper engagement with oral CF on an online learning platform, it is essential that guidance on this is provided before the tutoring sessions commence.

#### References

Agudo, M., & de Dios, J. (2013). An investigation into how EFL learners emotionally respond to teachers' oral corrective feedback. Colombian Applied Linguistics Journal, 15, 265-278.

Bao, M., et al. (2011). Classroom study on noticing and recast features: Capturing learner noticing with uptake and stimulated recall. System, 39, 215-228.

Lee, E. J. (2013). Corrective feedback preferences and learner repair among advanced ESL students. System, 2, 217-230.

Lyster, R. (2010). Negotiation of Form, Recasts, and Explicit Correction in Relation to Error Types and Learner Repair in Immersion Classrooms. Language Learning, 48, 183-218.

Tseng, W. K. (2004). Feedback and Uptake in Teacher-Student Interaction: An Analysis of 18 English Lessons in Hong Kong Secondary Classrooms. RELC Journal, 35, 187-209.

Pawlak, M. (2014). Investigating learner engagement with oral corrective feedback: aims, methodology, outcomes. In *Awareness in Action: The Role of Consciousness in Language Acquisition*, eds. A. Lyda and K.Szcześniak, 69–84. London: Springer

Rassaei, E. (2015). Oral corrective feedback, foreign language anxiety and L2 development. System, 49, 98-109.

Yoshida, R. (2010). How do teachers and learners perceive corrective feedback in the japanese language classroom?. Modern Language Journal, 94, 293-314.

#### Jingxuan Tian

The Education University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China

S1126315@s.eduhk.hk

#### **Imitating American TV dramas in the Online exam-oriented English language preparation class**

#### Bio data



EdD student, year one at The education University of Hong Kong Specialization: English Language Education Have been teaching IELTS Speaking online lessons from December 2013 to now

#### Abstract

This study aims to investigate the effects of imitating American TV dramas in the examoriented context as practices after receiving online International English Language Test System (IELTS) preparation instruction on second language pronunciation. The participants were 24 Chinese IELTS candidates who got 5.5 in previous IELTS speaking test and would retake the IELTS test again before December 2018. They were divided into 2 groups (Control Group and Experimental Group). Fourteen of them were in the Experimental Group. The others were in the Control Group. They attended an online IELTS preparation course which lasted for 8 days through an online teaching platform, Tecent Ke, and did practice every day during the course session. Participants in the Experimental Group did one more task each day which is to imitate American TV dramas. This practice was done and recorded after class by themselves, and recordings were sent back to the teacher through Wechat which is a social APP, after which feedback from the teacher was given to students. Participants were asked to use the APP called 'Funny Dictionary' in which American TV dramas had been edited with subtitles to imitate. After they received a 10hour instruction with the 8 days' practice, a post-test was conducted to evaluate the participants' oral production in English by an ex-IELTS speaking examiner. Four participants in the Experimental Group were invited to do a follow-up interview after the post-test. Results suggested that imitating American TV dramas had a significant effect on L2 learners' pronunciation of the target language. A model of applying American TV dramas imitation was set up, which is suitable in the exam-oriented context.

#### **Conference paper**

#### Introduction

When preparing the English proficiency test, speaking is one of the four skills and as important as the other three skills (listening, writing, and reading). Pronunciation, as one of the criteria of English proficiency test, drew language learners' attention. When acquiring productive skills, receptive skills play an important role and represent the basics of some categories of active skills (Golkova & Hubackova, 2014). A listening task is always assigned before a speaking task when teaching a new language because if learners have an imperfect perceptual ability, it would be hard for them to produce the sound (Ioup, 2008).

In second language acquisition (SLA), imitation in the class has become an important part of second language habit formation (Brown, 2007). Through repetitive practice and imitation, language learners can acquire language skills (Vygotsky, 1986, p.188).

According to the band descriptor of the International English Language Testing System (IELTS), achieving native-like is the main goal for candidates (Appendix 1.). To achieve this goal, learners need to be given authentic language materials. In addition, the topics in IELTS speaking test are related to daily life, for example, season, park, hometown, and so on (IELTS, 2007). TV dramas can fulfil these requirements. Also, using videos in language teaching is effective and can motivate language learners compared with using paper books (Pisarenko, 2017; Shepley et. al, 2016). This is the reason that TV dramas had been selected as the materials for language learners to imitate.

Computer-Assisted Language Learning (CALL) has become more popular in the Chinese context. Chinese language learners, especially those who live in less developed areas, choose computer- or mobile-assisted learning because they can get access to more educational resources, for example, lectures given by experts, online lessons, and so on. In addition, using the computer- or mobile-assisted learning is time-saving and money-saving. Even though the language learners are the people who are busy in the daytime or those who cannot afford to join face-to-face training, CALL programs provide them with chances and resources to learn. Language learning, especially vocabulary learning started to be integrated into CALL programs since 1908s and CALL programs are effective and efficient in language learning (Ma & Kelly, 2006). However, pronunciation learning in the CALL programs has not been touched by researchers because pronunciation teaching not only contains instruction but also giving feedback is an important part, especially for those language learners without sensitive ears and cannot distinguish the differences between sounds with similar pronunciation.

It would be of great value to determine in what ways teachers teach pronunciation in CALL programs, the purposes of this study are two-fold:

1) Investigate whether American TV dramas imitation helps online language learners correct mispronunciations; and

2) Identify American TV dramas imitation in the online exam-oriented context in China from students' points of view.

#### Method

Twenty four Chinese IELTS candidates in two classes were recruited as participants. All of them got 5.5 in IELTS speaking test, which means that they have mispronunciations. After being recruited, a pre-test which shares the same procedure and content with the IELTS speaking test was conducted and rated by an ex-examiner of the IELTS speaking test. The pronunciation sub-score of each participant was given, and all 24 participants received 5 in the pronunciation criterion. Based on the results of the pre-test, participants were divided into two groups (14 in the Experimental Group, 10 in the Control Group). Both groups attended a 10-hour online IELTS preparation course which lasted for 8 days on an online teaching platform, Tencent Ke. The two groups were instructed by the same instructor. There were 5 sessions of the course, 2 hours per session. After each session, participants in the Experimental Group imitated American TV dramas as practices. They used the APP, Funny Dictionary, and imitated the video clips edited with subtitles. After practising, participants sent recordings to the teacher through WeChat. Then, the teacher gave individual feedback to each student. After all training sessions, all participants had a post-test which is a mock exam of IELTS speaking test given by the same rater in the pretest. However, the topics in the post-test are different from those in the pre-test. Four participants in the Experimental Group were invited to attend follow-up interviews after the post-test on a voluntary basis, which has the aim to investigative the application of TV drama imitation in exam-oriented context. The whole procedure was conducted online.

#### American TV Drama Imitation and Feedback

In the exam-oriented context, selecting appropriate TV dramas is a necessary part. The subtitles and the speech speed should not be too tricky and fast, for example, *The Big Bang Theory* which contains a lot of physical terminologies is not suitable for IELTS candidates. Also, learners should have watched the drama before imitating. Instead of focusing on the plot of the drama, learners should pay more attention to pronunciation features, for example, intonation, rhythm, vowels, consonants and so on. In this training, *Desperate Housewives* has been selected.

All participants in the experimental group downloaded the APP and found the drama that the instructor recommended. Learners can watch video clips with both English and Chinese subtitles, as shown in Figure 1. They can choose to hide the subtitles to practice. During the whole 8-day training session, all participants watched and imitated a video every day.



Figure 1 Screenshots of the video clip in the Funny Dictionary

All participants recorded their imitations and sent the recordings back to the instructor for feedback through WeChat. When listening to the recordings, the teacher should fill in a checklist (Appendix 1.) to record errors in each recording and send the checklist back to the participants. After receiving the feedback, participants should watch the video clips again to correct the mispronounced sounds in the checklist. The teacher should check whether the learners mispronounced the sounds again in the following practices. If they mispronounced a sound twice, the instructor connected the learner and taught him or her articulatory knowledge of the sound to correct his or her mispronunciations.

#### Post-test

All participants took a post-test 2 weeks after the training session. The post-test followed the procedure of the IELTS speaking test which contains 3 parts. The ex-IELTS speaking

examiner who rated the pre-test rated the post-test based on the 9 band descriptors of IELTS speaking test (Appendix 2.).

#### Follow-Up Interviews

Four participants in the experimental group participated the follow-up interviews on a voluntary basis. All the questions were asked to get a picture of participants' feeling and motivation about finishing the tasks.

#### Results Post-test Results

An Independent sample t-test was conducted to test the post-test scores of the two groups. The results showed that the Experimental Group achieved better performance in the post-test than the Control Group (p < 0.05)

T-test	Mean	Observations	Std. Deviation	df	t	р
Control Group	5.85	10	0.3375	13	-2.661	0.014*
Experimental Group	6.25	14	0.3798			

Table 1. Post-test Results

P=0.014\* (two-tailed)

A paired-samples t-test was conducted to test the differences between participants' previous IELTS speaking scores and their post-test scores (Table 1.). The results showed that participants achieved higher speaking scores in the post-test (M=6.18) than the score (M=5.5) in the previous IELTS speaking test (p < 0.000)

Table 2. Test Results of the Experimental Group

Paired Samples t- test	Mean	Observations	Std. Deviation	df	p
Previous IELTS Speaking Score	5.5	14	0.0000	13	0.000**
Post-test Score	6.25	14	0.3798		

 $p < .000^{**}$  (two-tailed)

#### Interview Results

According to the interviews, all four participants think that the imitation task is interesting and they were motivated to do the task. Also, all participants think that the checklist is important and helpful. Extracts from each participant (P1, P2, P3, and P4) are listed below to support the above-mentioned ideas.

**P1:** I hadn't done tasks like this before and it's really amazing. My teacher asked me to read words or International Phonetic Alphate (IPA), which is boring. Even though I finish my class at school at 10 p.m. every Tuesday, I still tried to finish the task and send recordings to my teacher. Her feedback is really useful. In the past, I did not realize that I mispronounced the /e/ sound. Her feedback rose my awareness about this mispronounced sound. **P2:** I am a big fan of American TV drama, but in the past, I just focused on the plot. Using TV dramas as practice materials motivated me in pronunciation learning. My teacher gave me a lot of useful suggestions for intonation and rhythm. With her feedback and practice, I think I speak English more fluently. **P3:** I hadn't practised English pronunciation for 8 days. In the past, I just read When studying, the first thing that I would like to do is to imitate TV dramas. It really sparked my interesting in English pronunciation. Even though the course has finished, I will continue practising. But I cannot get feedback when I practice alone. I hope that the teacher can provide us with more feedback and tell us which parts need to be further improved.

**P4:** Before this training, I had tried to imitate TV dramas or films, because I like this method and it is more interesting than reading words or sentences again and again. But I did not make progress in English pronunciation because my listening ability is not good and I cannot distinguish my pronunciation with the native speech. The feedback from my teacher helped me a lot. I tried to correct my mispronunciation based on the checklist.

#### **Discussion and Conclusion**

This study examined American TV dramas imitation in English proficiency test preparation classrooms in China. The pronunciation practice procedure has been identified. Learners' views of this task type were explored.

The results of the post-test and follow-up interviews indicate that the use of American TV imitation tasks in the English proficiency preparation course is effective. Also, learners stated that feedback that they received is effective and helped them to correct mispronunciations and achieve better pronunciation. Receiving feedback is an important part of second language learning (Dlaska & Krekeler, 2013; Gooch, Saito, & Lyster, 2016). A pronunciation practice model has been made based on current research (Figure 2.).



Figure 2. Pronunciation practice model

This is a pioneering study exploring how to practice pronunciation in CALL programs. However, this study only focused on participants who goe 5.5 in previous IELTS speaking test. Whether this model is suitable for candidates who have higher or lower English proficiency should be further studied. It would be better if more participants whose IELTS speaking scores below 5 or over 6 can be recruited and trained. Also, which type of TV drama is more suitable for English proficiency tests candidates would be another worth investigating topic for future studies.

# IELTS

# IELTS Speaking band descriptors (Public version) 雅思考试口语评分标准 (公众版)

Band	Fluency and coherence	Lexical resource	Grammatical range and accuracy	Pronunciation
ø	<ul> <li>speaks thermby with only rare repetition or self- correction: any heatabon is content-related rather than to find works or grammar.</li> <li>spoaks coherently with hully appropriate coherently with hully appropriate</li> <li>develops totics halfy and genorpriately.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>uses vocabulary with thil fiteability and precision in all topics</li> <li>uses kitomatic language naturally and accurately</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>uses a ful range of structures naturally and asportpreters?</li> <li>producies consistently accurate structures apart from 'sign' characteristic of native speech</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>uses a full range of pron- with precision and sublik sustains flaxble use of h</li> <li>is effortiess to understart</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>upoulta theratly with only occasional repetition or self-correction; hesitation is usually contents related and only arealy to search for language develops topics coherently and appropriately.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>uses a wide vocabulary resource readity and flexbby to convey precise meaning uses less comment and idomatic vocabulary aithuby, with occasional inaccuracies</li> <li>uses paraphrase effectively as required</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>uses a wide range of structures flexibly</li> <li>produces a majority of enco-free sentences with only very occasional impropriaties of basichnon-systematic entors</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>uses a wide range of prot suntains flexible use of fe occasional lagrees</li> <li>occasion understand from accent has minimul effect</li> </ul>
*	<ul> <li>speaks at length without noticeable effort or loss at coherence may demonstrate language related hezhation at threes, or succe repetition and/or set conrection</li> <li>uses a proge of connectives and discourse markers with some feablity</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>uses vocabulary resource feetby to discuss a variable of topolar uses some less common and idomatic vocabulary and Shows same averages of style and cotioustion, with some impropriate choices</li> <li>uses paraphrase effectively</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>uses a range of complex structures with acrea featibity</li> <li>trequently produces entir free sentences, though some greenmatical risibles perisis</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>shows all the positive heat and some, but not all, the of band 8.</li> </ul>
¢	<ul> <li>is willing to speak at length, though may lose contension at threat one to concatorial registrian, self-corrective to cheataconal registrian, self-correctives and discourse markens but not alweiys appropriately</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>this a wide enough vocabiliary to discuss topics at length and make meaning clear in spite of impropriscies.</li> <li>generally paraphrases successfully</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>uses a more of simple and complex structures, but with immed terbibility may make inequent mistakes with complex emprehension problems</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>uses a range of primurcial mixed control</li> <li>athoes a come effective use ( this and sustained the agnitude the underation control reduced carly a or sourcis reduced carly a</li> </ul>
en.	<ul> <li>usually maintains flow of speech but uses repetition, self-correction and/or slow speech to keep gaing may work-use reteatin correctives and decourse atmpie speech fluently, but more compare communication causes fluency problems.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>manages to take about tamiliar and untansiliar topics but uses south-utary with limited like/billy</li> <li>attempts to use paraghrase but with mixed success</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>produces basic servitence forms with reconsolie excrements;</li> <li>uses a fimaled range of more complex structures, but there usually contrain errors and may cause some comprehension problems</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>shows at the positive half when the positive but not all, the p of band 6.</li> </ul>
-	<ul> <li>cannot respond without noticeable pauses and set-connotann and set-connotann</li> <li>Byte basic sentences but with repetitions use of single connectives and some breakdowns in collesions</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>is able to taik about familiar topics but can only oncey basis meavings on unfamiliar topics and makes trecysent entrars in word oncice</li> <li>rstrely attempts paraphrase</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>produces basic serifence forms and same correct single serifences for subordinate sthuctures are tree</li> <li>errors are frequent and may lead to misurderstanding</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>uses a limited range of pro- features</li> <li>attempts to control features frequent</li> <li>magronunciations are freq- aome difficulty for the laten</li> </ul>
•	<ul> <li>speaks with long poutes</li> <li>has immed addity to link simple semences</li> <li>gives only simple responses and is trequently unable to convey basic message</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>uses simple vocabulary to convey personal information</li> <li>has insufficient vocabulary for less familiar topics</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>attempts braic sentence forms but with initied success, or releas on apparently memorised utherances</li> <li>maker numerous entors except in methodied expressions</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>shown some of the features some, but not al, the posity band 4.</li> </ul>
a .	<ul> <li>pauses lengthily before most words</li> <li>litte communication possible</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>only produces licitated words or memorised ulterancos</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>cannot produce basic sentence forms</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>speech is often untratelligible</li> </ul>
-	<ul> <li>no communicación possese</li> <li>no rateatée language</li> </ul>			

www.chinalelts.org www.ielts.org

·1·

# Appendix 1.

#### Appendix 2.

#### Checklist

Wrong pronunciation of consonant sounds

Wrong pronunciation vowels and diphthongs

Sound insertion & deletion

Wrong word stress

Inappropriate pausing

Misplacement of nuclear stress (tonic syllable)

Inappropriate use of co-articulation features (e.g. linking, elision, and/or assimilation)

Inappropriate intonation

#### References

Brown, H.D. (2007). Principles of language learning and teaching (5th ed.). White Plains, NY: Pearson.

Dlaska, A., & Krekeler, C. (2013). The short-term effects of individual corrective feedback on L2 pronunciation. System: An International Journal of Educational Technology and Applied Linguistics, 41(1), 25-37. doi:10.1016/j.system.2013.01.005.

Golkova, D., & Hubackova, S. (2014). Productive skills in second language learning. Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences, 143, 477-481. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.07.520.

Gooch, R., Saito, K., & Lyster, R. (2016). Effects of recasts and prompts on L2 pronunciation development: Teaching english /J/ to korean adult EFL learners. System, 60, 117-127. doi:10.1016/j.system.2016.06.007.

IELTS. (2007). IELTS Handbook 2007. https://www.ielts.org/pdf/IELTS Handbook.pdf.

Ioup, G. (2008). Exploring the Role of Age in the Acquisition of a Second Language Phonology. John Benjamins Publishing Company.

Ma, Q., & Kelly, P. (2006). Computer assisted vocabulary learning: Design and evaluation. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 19(1), 15-45. doi:10.1080/09588220600803998.

Pisarenko, V. (2017). Teaching a foreign language using videos. Social Sciences, 6(4), . doi:10.3390/socsci6040125.

Shepley, C., Lane, J. D., & Shepley, S. B. (2016). Teaching young children with socialcommunication delays to label actions using videos and language expansion models: A pilot study. Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities, 31(4), 243-253. doi:10.1177/1088357614552189.

Vygotsky, L.S. (1986). Thought and language. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.

#### Pi-hua Tsai

Mackay Medical College, Taipei, Taiwan

tsaipihua@mmc.edu.tw

# Computer-assisted pronunciation training through learner-made family narratives

#### Bio data



Tsai Pi-hua, an associate professor in Taiwan, has been teaching English as a foreign language for over 30 years. Her fields of interest include computer-assisted pronunciation training, English for specific purpose, corpus linguistics, and discourse analysis.

#### Abstract

Learners who use computer-assisted pronunciation training (CAPT) programs usually practice with material that is provided by their teachers or software companies. But if the content of the material is not meaningful and relevant to them, practicing with it may not be motivating for the students. One option to help learners engage in the CAPT practice is to have them write their own material that is related to their life and culture. The purpose of this study is to help students write family narratives and use that material on the CAPT system. Two groups were included in this study: a control group (with 29 students) and an experiment group (with 28 students). The experiment group was encouraged to listen to their elder family members' storytelling and write down their narratives, which later were edited, recorded by native speakers of English, and uploaded to a CAPT system for pronunciation practice. The participants' speech performance was rated in four categories: segmental, intonation, timing (i.e., fluency) and overall performance.

Quantitative results showed that the experiment group benefited from their practice with the family narratives on the CAPT system and made significant improvement in all rating categories after the experiment. As compared with the control group, it made significant improvement especially in the category of timing. In addition, the students' family narratives were analyzed for content by using the software package Wordsmith Tools to determine story themes. The analysis result indicated that some students mentioned the hardships their elder family members (e.g., parents and grandparents) endured, such as how they survived poor financial situations by farming in small villages in Taiwan, supported their family by working hard, took care of family who were suffering from diseases (e.g., Alzheimer), or completed their higher education in difficult times. Other students revealed an affective connection they felt with elder family members during their practice reading aloud, such as the love these family members gave them, and the pride in knowing how they overcame the challenges they encountered.

In sum, practice with learner-produced family narratives for CAPT practice resulted in increased pronunciation fluency as well as affective connection between the learners and their elder family.

#### **Conference paper**

#### Introduction

With the use of state-of-the-art technology, computer-assisted pronunciation training (CAPT) system has been reported to be effective, though there is still room for improvement in how to design the material for practice that the learners can make the best use of it. Learners who use CAPT programs usually practice with material that is provided by their teachers or software companies. Practicing with program materials that are not meaningful to them may not be motivating to students. They are more likely to engage in the CAPT practice if they have content that interests them. One approach is to have them write their own material that is related to their life, such as family stories.

#### Stories in pronunciation pedagogy

Texts selected for use in the classroom should be meaningful and useful in meeting learning needs and also relevant to the real-life experiences, emotions, or dreams of the learner (Hişmanoğlu, 2005). Literary genres such as short stories can help students understand and develop an interest in course content (Aufderhaar, 2004). Sage (1987) stated that "The world of short fiction both mirrors and illuminates human lives." (p. 43). Stories are also considered a medium that learners can use in social interaction to demonstrate their communication skills (Hansen, 2009).

Stories are great materials that offer a rich context for learners to develop their language skills (Breiner-Sanders, Lowe, Miles, and Swender, 2000). Because stories are composed of strings of sentences or paragraph-level discourse, Levis and Grant (2003, p. 14) state that they can be used to teach "high-priority suprasegmental feature—thought grouping, also known as chunking or phrasing." Tench (2005) further notes that monologues or dialogues in stories can be very good materials used to illustrate how intonation is pertinent to all spoken language. The participants of Aufderhaar (2004) revealed that engaging with an authentic, emotional context allowed them to feel suprasegmental features and that they considered the practice with stories helpful in improving their fluency.

#### Learner-centered material

The active role of the learner in language classrooms has been recognized in the teaching pedagogy of this 21st Century. With a vision for putting learners' lives and experiences at the center of curriculum, Gail Weinstein advocated the use of what students have known (e.g., their stories) as the means for learning English (reviewed and cited in Johnson, 2011). She underscored that students, equipped with a wealth of knowledge and experiences, can work with their teacher and classmates for a shared purpose, such as producing a meaningful product.

The learner-centered material, such as students' own short stories, can provide them with the opportunity to express their thoughts and ideas naturally (Adams, 2003). Instead of playing acting by reading the lines of material they are not familiar with, learners would remember their times of sadness, joy or hardship, the memory of which helps them express their emotions with their speech production in a more natural way. Moreover, the learner-based material as such can help learners feel a sense of ownership of their own learning (NG and Boucher-Yip, 2010).

Materials for L2 learners should be able to stimulate them to be emotionally involved in the content of the materials and they should also be meaningful and authentic to the learners (Tomlinson, 2010). According to Tomlinson, if the learners can feel emotion whilst exposed to language in use, it is more likely they will learn the language content from their language experience, either feeling enjoyment, sadness, feeling empathy, fear, or being amused. Materials such as stories of personal experiences may facilitate classroom interactions, motivation and positive affect for learners and help increase language skills (Essig, 2005).
However, as Nicholas, Rossiter and Abbott (2011) has noted, little research has been done on the use of learners' personal stories in L2 classrooms, although use of the stories in general has its impact upon the development of learners' language skills in learning English as a second language. It is also true of the materials used in CAPT. Hanson-Smith (2018) underscored that students can create their own study materials for CALL (Computer-Assisted Language Learning) by using easy-to-use digital tools. In a similar line, Motteram (2011) saw the possibility for students to use a variety of media such as blogs to create language-learning materials on their own.

The research questions set for this study include:

- 1. What is the effect of the use of learner-made stories in CAPT?
- 2. What are the themes of the learner-made stories?

#### Methodology

#### Subjects

57 college students around 17 years old were included in this project. They were randomly divided into three groups: one control group (hereafter referred to as the control group) with 29 students and one experiment group (referred to as the CAPT group with 28 students). These students took courses related to speech training and met for two hours a week. A pretest and a posttest were given to the two groups.

#### Materials

The participants' stories were the texts for their CAP learning. Wordsmith Tools was employed to analyze the content of the stories in order to determine the themes that the students wrote. During each practice, journals were given to them to write down their reflections about the practice with their own stories on the ASR system of *MyET*.

#### Experiment design

The purpose of this study is to examine the effect of use of family narratives the students wrote for computer-assisted pronunciation (CAP) learning. Two groups were included in this study: a control group (with 29 students) and an experiment one (with 28 students). The experiment group members were encouraged to listen to their elder family member's storytelling and write down those narratives, which later were edited, recorded by native speakers of English and then uploaded to a CAPT system for practice. The learners practiced reading the stories they wrote in the first four weeks. Then in the last four weeks of the experiment, they could also practice the stories written by the other classmates. The experiment design is illustrated in Table 1.

Table 1 A Procedure Sketch of this Project

Groups	CAPT Group	Control Group
	N=28	N=29
	Treatment	N/A
Week 1	<b>Pretest</b> An introduction to the experiment	pretest
Week 2	The students wrote their own stories.	N/A
Week 3-4	The students' stories were recorded by native speakers of English and uploaded to <i>MyET</i> (a CAPT system)	
Week 6-9	Then the students listened to <b>their story</b> recordings and repeated after the model teachers.	
Weeks 6-13	Individual student's practice with <b>other</b> classmates' stories on <i>MyET</i>	N/A
Week 14	Posttest Practice evaluation	posttest
Materials	<ol> <li>Students' own story writings</li> <li>Learning logs</li> </ol>	N/A
Data Sets	<ol> <li>Audio recordings of pretest and posttest</li> <li>Learning logs</li> </ol>	Audio recordings of pretest and posttest

#### Data analysis

The recordings of the 57 participants' reading of the text of a play in the pretest and posttest were collected in order to evaluate their improvement. All the audio files collected were uploaded to a database operating behind a rating website specifically designed and developed for this study. Each audio file was rated by three raters. All the sound files were presented to the raters without revealing the names of the participants and the order of the tests (i.e., pretest or posttest). Such arrangements could prevent the raters from knowing whose production they were listening to and which productions preceded or followed the teaching treatment.

The rating system adopted in this study is similar to that of *MyET*, which categorizes the scores of a learner' production into four components: *pronunciation, intonation, timing and intensity* (i.e., loudness). Due to the fact that the recording of the participants' speech might be affected by how well their microphones worked, the scoring system this study set for the articulation rating did not include the category of *intensity*. Therefore, the rating categories of this study included four components: *pronunciation, intonation, timing, and overall performance*. The score for *overall* production is added to the rating items because, according to Chen's finding (2006), the human judgment tended to be subjective and more holistic instead of being discrete.

As to the qualitative analysis, the students' reflective journal entries and the teacher's notes on students' learning behaviors will be examined. In line with suggestions by Miles and Huberman (1994), the analysis includes editing, segmenting, summarizing the data, organizing and assembling it. The "open coding" proposed by Strauss & Corbin (1990) will be used to label and code the themes found in students' statements about their learning and axial coding will also be employed to note similarities found in the first step of analysis.

#### **Results and discussion**

This section starts with the presentation of the quantitative results that demonstrated the effectiveness of the CAPT program on students' pronunciation learning. Then the qualitative results would uncover the themes that were found in the learner-produced materials, which could become references for CAPT material developers. Moreover, the difficulty the students experienced during the practice session and their attitudes toward this learner-centered approach to integrating storytelling into CAPT are presented at the end of this section.

#### Quantitative results

This section first looks at the group difference between the experiment group, i.e., the CAPT group, and the control group **before the experiment**. As shown in Table 1, the control group had better performance than the experiment group in the categories of *segmental pronunciation* and *overall performance* (P<0.05) **before the experiment** was conducted.

	Mean 95% C.I.						
	Control	Experiment	t Difference	Lower	Upper	L	Ρ
Ρ	3.17	2.81	0.36	0.04	0.68	2.27	0.03
I	3.15	2.87	0.28	-0.02	0.58	1.85	0.07
т	3.15	2.88	0.27	-0.10	0.64	1.46	0.15
0	3.18	2.83	0.35	0.03	0.67	2.19	0.03

Table 1 The proficiency level in speech between the experiment group and the control one before the experiment

\*Significant (P<0.05)

The next investigation focuses on the group performance difference **after the experiment**. Table 2 indicates that the CAPT group outperformed the control group in all the categories (P<0.05), especially the category of *timing* 

	Mean 95% C.I.						
	Control	Experimen t	Difference	Lower	Upper	t	Р
Р	0.01	0.29	-0.27	0.02	0.53	2.13	0.04*
I	0.02	0.42	-0.39	0.09	0.69	2.63	0.01*
т	-0.21	0.44	-0.65	0.31	0.98	3.88	<.01*
0	-0.07	0.36	-0.43	0.12	0.74	2.76	0.01*

Table 2. The progress the experiment groups made

\*Significant (P<0.05)

As shown in Table 3, the experiment group made significant progress in all the categories, especially in the category of *intonation*.

Table 3. The progress the experiment group made

	Mean		50		D		
	Before	After	Difference	50 E		F	
Р	2.81	3.10	0.29	0.49	3.06	0.002*	
I	2.87	3.29	0.42	0.53	4.19	<.001*	
т	2.88	3.32	0.44	0.67	3.46	0.001*	
0	2.83	3.19	0.36	0.62	3.04	0.003*	

\*Significant (P<0.05)

The quantitative results showed that the experiment group benefited from their practice with the family narratives on the CAPT system. It made significant improvement in all the rating categories after the experiment, especially in the category of *timing*.

#### Qualitative results

Furthermore, the students' family narratives were analyzed for content using **Wordsmith Tools**, and the analysis indicated that some students mentioned the hardship their elder family (e.g., parents and grandparents) had endured. Some narratives depicted how the elder family members went through the hardships of farming in small villages in Taiwan and surviving from poor financial situation, worked hard to support their family, took care of their family who had diseases such as Alzheimer, or completed their higher education in difficult time. Furthermore, the journals of the students in the experiment group also revealed that during their practice reading aloud the stories of their family members, they felt the love the elder family members gave to their family, and their perseverance in overcoming the challenges they faced.

In sum, practice with learner-produced family narratives for CAPT practice resulted in creating affective connection between the learners and their elder family and that there was an increase in pronunciation fluency (i.e., *timing*).

The challenges this research encountered was that it was not easy for the learners to patiently read the feedback provided by the CAPT system and that the students did not know what was expected in the journal reflections on their practice with the story they wrote, which might diminish the effectiveness of using CAPT that pronunciation practice with family narratives might bring out. The solution is that before having learners practice with their own material, a language teacher has to demonstrate to them how to make the best use of every feedback generated from the CAPT system and what journal reflections on pronunciation practice should include.

#### Conclusion

This research examined the impact of the student's family narratives on CAPT practice. The students were found to identify with the values and the spirit denoted in the stories told by their elder family members. The CAPT practice with family narratives written by learners resulted in creating affective connection between the learners and their elder family and a significant improvement in the category of *timing*, that is, the fluency. This study has succeeded in demonstrating how the learner-made materials could become a catalyst for facilitating the effect of CAPT practice. The learners were found to be emotionally involved because they could feel the love, the hardships, and the endurance of their elderly members while reading the narratives they wrote, which made themselves engaged with the CAP learning.

#### References

Adams, W. (2003). Institute book of Readers Theatre: A practical guide for school, theatre and community. Chapel Hill, NC: Professional Press.

Aufderhaar, C. (2004). Learner Views of Using Authentic Audio to Aid Pronunciation: "You Can Just Grab Some Feelings." TESOL Quarterly, 38(4), 735-746.

Breiner-Sanders, K., Lowe, P., Miles, J., & Swender, E. (2000). ACTFL proficiency guidelines—Speaking. Foreign Language Annals, 33(1), 13–18.

Chen, H. C. (2006). Interlanguage phonetic timing patterns and their effects on native listeners' perceptions. Unpublished dissertation. National Kaohsiung Normal University.

Elizabeth Hanson-Smith, E. (2018). In Computer-Assisted Language Learning Materials Development. The TESOL Encyclopedia of English Language Teaching CALL. Liontas, J. I. (ed.). Wiley Publisher.

Essig, W. (2005). Storytelling: Effects of planning, repetition and context. In C. Edwards, & J. Willis (Eds.). Teachers exploring tasks in English language teaching. (pp. 201-213). Houndmills: Palgrave Macmillan.

Hansen, K. (2009). Tell Me about Yourself: Storytelling to Get Jobs and Propel Your Career. Indianapolis: JIST Publishing.

Harwood, N. (ed.) (2010). Materials in ELT: Theory and practice. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Hişmanoğlu, M. (2005). Teaching English Through Literature. Journal of Language and Linguistic Studies, 1(1), 53-66.

Johnson, J. D. (2011). Special issue introduction. TESOL Journal, 2(2), 121-131.

Levis, J. M. & Grant, L. (2003). Integrating Pronunciation Into ESL/EFL Classrooms. TESOL Journal, 12 (2), 13-19.

Miles, Matthew B. & Huberman, A. Michael. (1994). Qualitative Data Analysis. London: United Kingdom.

Motteram, G. (2011). Developing language-learning materials with technology. In B. Tomlinson (Ed.), Materials development in language teaching (2nd ed., pp. 303–327). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

NG, P. & Boucher-Yip, E. (2010). Readers Theatre: Improving Oral Proficiency in a Japanese University EFL Course. Features, Volume 2. (Available at http://blog.nus.edu.sg/eltwo/2010/12/20/readers-theatre-improving-oral-proficiency-in-a-japanese-university-efl-course/)

Nicholas, B; Rossiter M.; Abbott, M. (2011). The Power of story in the ESL classroom. The Canadian Modern Language Review/La Revue canadienne des langues vivantes, 67(2), 247-268.

Sage, H. (1987). Incorporating Literature in ESL Instruction. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall, Inc.

Strauss, A. L., & Corbin, J. (1990). Basics of qualitative research: Grounded theory procedures and techniques. Newbury Park, California: Sage.

Tench, P. (2005). Teaching intonation. Speak Out! 34, 45-53.

Tomlinson, B. & Avila, J. (2007). Seeing and saying for yourself: the roles of audio visual mental aids in language learning and use. In B. Tomlinson (ed.), 61–81.

Tomlinson, B. (ed.) (2007). Language acquisition and development: Studies of first and other language learners. London: Continuum.

Tomlinson, B. (2008). Language acquisition and language learning materials. In Tomlinson, B. (ed.), 3–14.

Tomlinson, B. (2010). Principles and procedures of materials development. In Harwood, N. (ed.), 81–108.

# Yun-Pei Tseng, Hsien-Chin Liou

Feng Chia University, Taichung, Taiwan

fevshw080525@gmail.com; hcliou@fcu.edu.tw

# Including learners with different needs of cross-register materials: Corpus analysis of TED talk transcripts with polysemous phrasal verbs

# Bio data



Yun-Pei Tseng is an MA student in the Department of Foreign Languages and Literature, Feng Chia University, and takes an interest in corpus-aided language learning and use of technologies to help English teaching.



Hsien-Chin Liou, Professor of Foreign Languages and Literature, Feng Chia University, has been a long-term CALLer. She practices CALL, and publishes as well as conducts CALL research. Her current research is datadriven learning and online writing.

# Abstract

With corpus analyses of TED talks, the study aimed to reveal their forms and meanings of English phrasal verbs, one of the most difficult lexical units for non-native learners (Liu, 2011), and provide pedagogical implications for CALL practitioners. The study analyzed 382 TED talk transcripts dated across three years, 2016, 2017, and 2018 from five major topics by examining different senses of 150 phrasal verbs (PVs) and compared them to findings in Liu and Myers' S & AW PHaVE list (data from COCA sub-corpora). Applying Antconc, we identified tokens and types of possible PVs in the TED corpus automatically. Manual reading concordance lines and double-checking PV meaning senses in context by the two authors and a third rater, we found 147 PV types (approximately 3,357 phrase tokens) in 666,426 word tokens with the other 3 types unfound in our corpus. Compared our results with the sense order and percentage of the S & AW PHaVE list, we also grouped our PVs into three divisions in each register. In the spoken part, the first group contains PVs which are significant different in both sense orders and percentages between the spoken part of S & AW list and our TED corpus (59 PVs [40.4%]); second, similar in sense order but different in percentage (63 PVs [43.1%]); third, not significantly different in either (24 PVs [16.4%]). On the contrary, in the written register, the first part accounts for 35.6% (52 PVs); the second part is 41% (60 PVs) and the third one is 23.2% (34 PVs). The result indicates that concerning the PV forms and functional meanings, the TED corpus has higher similarity with the written sub-corpora of COCA as a scripted speech genre, but it still demonstrates important features of the spoken register for ELF learners and CALL courseware designers.

#### **Conference** paper

#### Introduction

As one public speaking source, TED tasks have been very popular for learners of English as a lingua franca (ELF). Precursor corpus literature shows different difficulty levels of the lexical coverage are evident among diversified topics of TED talk transcripts. They found different difficulty levels among various topics; science TED talks were more difficult compared with talks in business, technology, or global issues. To expand our L2 vocabulary knowledge from single words to multi-word units, CALL scholars may desire to know how corpus insights from verb phrases can help designers choose appropriate pedagogical materials to meet differentiated learner needs. Phrasal verbs (PVs), a group of polysemous, high frequency lexical items, comprise an important and common component of spoken English and academic writing. Even though PVs are prevalent in English language, researchers still find them hard for ELF learners to acquire this lexical group, especially for students whose first language system is completely different from English (Liu, 2011).

Three PV corpus studies paved the way for the current project. Liu (2011) compiled a list of 150 common PVs based on his corpus analyses of BNC and COCA (*British National Corpus, Corpus of Contemporary American English*), and cross-register examination of five sub-corpora in COCA. Liu disclosed that phrasal verbs appear commonly and frequently in spoken and fiction registers, while magazine, newspaper and academic registers have fewer PV occurrences. Then, he divided those 150 PVs into three groups: 43.33% evenly distributed among different registers, 45.33% not evenly distributed and with 11.33% very unevenly distributed. Focusing on more common meaning senses of the same PV group, Garnier and Schmitt's (2015) devised their PHaVE list based on corpus analysis. The list has a total number of meaning senses of 288 and the average number of meaning senses in each of its 150 phrasal verbs is 1.92. This means one common PV may have more than one meaning. Given its corpus frequency, incidents or tokens appearing in each meaning can be different. Researchers arrange the meaning with more tokens as the major or first sense in ranking or order, followed by the other minor meaning order. For instance,

#### Come in:

1. Enter a situation or conversation, often by bringing STH else to the table or into play (more abstract version) (47.3%)

2. Enter a place or area (room, country, etc.) (40.3%)

3. Receive news, money, information, or some other non-concrete object (10.5%)

The verb phrase come in has three meanings as shown above (1, 2, 3). The first meaning sense shows the most incidents, 47.3%, compared those with sense 2 and 3.

With their S & AW PHaVE list, Liu and Myers (in press) found different senses of PVs between the spoken or written registers using COCA. Their 150 frequently used PVs (each with 2.19 meanings) can be divided into three groups: (1) significantly different in both sense order and percentage between the speaking and academic writing registers (72 PVs [48%]); (2) similar in sense order but significantly different in percentage (34 PVs [22.66%]); and (3) not significantly different in either, with most of them sharing a single meaning for at least 80% of the uses in both registers (44 PVs [29.33%]). For example, among their 150 PVs, "break up" is placed in Group 1:

(in the spoken register)

Sense 1: End or cause STH to end or fail, esp. relationships (76.8%)

Ex: Karen's marriage broke up.

Sense 2: Divide into smaller parts or component (20%)

Ex: They wanted to break up the large percentage of poor people and move them. to different places.

(in the academic writing register)

Sense 2: Divide into smaller parts or components (53.8%)

Ex: They decided to break up the tests across different times.

Sense 1: End or cause STH to end or fail, esp. relationships (45.8%) Ex: The teacher had to break up the fight.

They suggest other registers such as public speaking data warrant future corpus research. The purpose of the current study is to respond to their suggestion and compare TED talk transcripts, a typical and popular public speaking data with the results of their S & AW PHaVE list.

### The corpus study

First, we compiled our TED corpus with 382 talk transcripts. They covered topics of technology, science, design, business, and global issues, mostly issued in 2016 to 2018. Then, we applied Antconc to automatically locate potential PVs (tokens and types) for investigation. Based on the S & AW PHaVE list (Liu & Myers, in press), we also sorted PVs in the TED corpus into three groups, the same as those in S & AW PHaVE list. The two authors and a third rater manually read concordance lines and double-checking PV meaning senses in context. Initially, the first author examined all PV tokens and where there was discrepancy, the second rater checked them. Last, the second author finalized the controversial PV meaning sense.

# **Preliminary Findings and Discussion**

We found 147 PV types (about 3,357 phrase tokens) in 666,426 word tokens with the other 3 types unfound in our corpus. Compared with the data in COCA (unscripted TV or radio programs in USA) with multiple senses (2.19 on average per PV) investigated by Liu and Myers to produce the S and AW PHaVE list, we grouped our results into three groups: first, significantly different in both sense orders and percentages between S & AW list (COCA) and our TED corpus; second, similar in sense order but significantly different in percentage; third, not significantly different in either. Comparing with the spoken register of COCA, the results of our TED corpus are 59 PVs (40.4%), 63 PVs (43.1%), and 24 PVs (16.4%). On the contrary, in the written register, we found 52 PVs (35.6%) in the first group, 60 PVs (41%) in the second one, and 34 PVs (23.2%) in third group. Group 2 and 3 display the similarity between two corpus (TED-COCA [spoken] & TED- COCA [written]), and our TED corpus has the register inclination toward the written since there are more PVs in group 2 and 3 in the written register (74 PVs) than those in the spoken (67 PVs), which is different from the common assumption that TED talks are completely used in a spoken setting with its register features.

To clearly explain our PV distribution in TED Talks, we provide some examples in appendix A, which is based on the way Liu and Myers (in press) displayed their examples in their list.

Respectively compared to the spoken and written parts of S & AW PHaVE list, the major group of our TED PV distribution is in group 2 which means TED and COCA have similar sense order but distinct percentage. This may result from different corpus size as well as language use between COCA's data and our TED corpus.

# Conclusion

ELF learners with different backgrounds have various needs for obtaining materials from either written or spoken media under CALL designs. As found, over half PVs in our TED corpus had one major meaning sense; therefore, learners can easily acquire those identified specific PVs by viewing TED Talks. CALL courseware designers are informed how to prioritize TED talks (or choose COCA) to assist particular learner groups in order to attend to their English needs via picking up PVs. In the conference, we will report findings of more TED talks.

# References

Garnier, M., & Schmitt, N. (2015). THE PHaVE list: A pedagogical list of phrasal verbs and their most frequent meaning senses. Language Teaching Research, 19, 645-666.

Liu, D. (2011), The most frequently used English phrasal verbs in American and British English: A multi corpus examination. *TESOL Quarterly*, *45*, 661-668.

Liu, D., & Myers, D. (in press). The most-common phrasal verbs with their key meanings for spoken and academic written English: A corpus analysis. *Language Teaching Research*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362168818798384</u>

Group 1	Group 2	Group 3
<ul> <li>Come out (TED):</li> <li>Sense 1: Physically leave, exit, or erupt from a place or object (40%)</li> <li>Ex: "Last night I saw a flying saucer. I was coming out of the pub after a few drinks."</li> <li>Sense 3: (Often Come Out + And) Announce, display, or emerge from STH else (37.1%)</li> <li>Ex: And of course, the issue of failure came out. I decided to confess to my friends the story of my failed business.</li> <li>Sense 2: Become known/discovered, released, or issued like a film, book, CD, including certain idioms (15.7%)</li> <li>Ex: And when I sat down to try and draw a picture of what that might look like, strange though this is going to sound, it came out looking like a doughput</li> </ul>	<ul> <li><b>Fake on</b> (TED):</li> <li>Sense 1: Undertake, handle, or challenge (role task, responsibility, problem, issue, etc.) (72.2%)</li> <li>Ex: No economist from last century saw this picture, so why would we imagine that their theories would be up for <b>taking on</b> its challenges?</li> <li>Sense 2: Assume characteristics; to become/acquire (27.7%)</li> <li>Ex: What I learned was what's more important than the actual thing I designed is an attitude that I had <b>taken on</b> while doing this.</li> </ul>	Find out (TED): 1. Sense 1: Discover STH; get knowledge of STH (100%) for both registers Ex: To find out what was going on, he did an ingenious experiment.
<b>Come out</b> (S & AW PHaVE list-Academic Written): <ol> <li>Sense 2: Become known/discovered, released, or issued like a film, book, CD, including certain idioms (32.5%)</li> <li>Ex: It has <b>come out</b> that the school will close down.</li> <li>Sense 3: (Often <i>Come Out</i> + And) Announce, display, or emerge from STH else (33.1%)</li> <li>Ex: While the peace talks went on between the two parties, other groups <b>came out</b> against it.</li> <li>Sense 1: Physically leave, exit, or erupt from a place or object (28.3%)</li> <li>Ex: When he <b>came out</b> after the meeting, he met with the reporters.</li> </ol>	<ul> <li><b>Fake on</b> (S &amp; AW PHaVE list-Spoken):</li> <li>Sense 1: Undertake, handle, or challenge (role task, responsibility, problem, issue, etc.) (82.6%)</li> <li>Ex: Team USA is taking on Team Canada in the hockey final.</li> <li>Sense 2: Assume characteristics; to become/acquire (15.1%)</li> <li>Ex: Tom takes on a very sad look.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Find out (S &amp; AW PHaVE list)</li> <li>1. Sense 1: Discover STH; get knowledge of STH (100%) for both registers.</li> <li>Ex (spoken): We need to find out who did this to her.</li> <li>Ex (academic): The researcher is trying to find out why the experiment failed.</li> </ul>

#### Appendix A. Comparison of sense order and percentages between TED and S & AW

Aurelio Vilbar, Rohizani Yaakub\*, Rose Makaramani\*\*, Zanabazar Bayarchimeg\*\*\*, Norlida Ahmad\*, Magnolia Laus, Cherry Malaque, Jeraline Gumalal

University of the Philippines Cebu, Cebu City, Philippines \*Universiti Sains Malaysia, Penang, Malaysia \*\*Suan Sunandha Rajabhat University, Bangkok, Thailand \*\*\*Mongolian State University of Education, Mongolia

apvilbar1@up.edu.ph, rohizani@usm.my, norli@usm.my, makaramani@yahoo.com, z.bayarchimeg@gmail.com

# Telecollaboration among Malaysia, Mongolia, Thailand, and the Philippines to develop intercultural ebook on local indigenous knowledge system

# Bio data



Aurelio Vilbar, Associate Professor of the University of the Philippines Cebu, Philippines, is an advocate of education for sustainable development and culturally-appropriate educational technology. He has helped the Philippines' new curriculum as one of the researchers in the Mother Tongue-Based Multilingual Education and in Media and Information Literacy.



Rohizani Yaakub is an Associate Professor of the Universiti Sains Malaysia, Penang, Malaysia. Her research interests include Curriculum and Pedagogy, Teacher Studies, Teaching Methods in Language and Malay Literature, Universiti Sains Malaysia.



Rossukhon Makaramani is an Associate Professor in Educational Technology of Suan Sunandha Rajabhat University, Thailand. She was the Dean of the Faculty of Education and Chair of Master Degree Program in Teaching Profession.



Zanabazar Bayarchimeg is a professor of Mongolian State University of Education in Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia.



Norlida Ahmad is a Lecturer at School of Educational Studies, Universiti Sains Malaysia, Penang, Malaysia.



Magnolia Ariza-Laus finished Master of Education-Social Sciences at UP Cebu. The Senior High School Coordinator of UP High School Cebu, Prof. Laus handles social sciences and education courses in the High School and Master of Education programs.



Cherry Malaque is a former Assistant Professor of the University of the Philippines Cebu, Cebu City. She has taught in the Master of Education and High School Programs. Her research interests include literature, English language teaching, and dramatics.



Jeraline Gumalal, an Assistant Professor at the University of the Philippines Cebu, is a graduate of Bachelor of Science in Biology and Master of Education in Biology at the University of the Philippines Cebu. She is the current Coordinator of the UP Cebu Teaching and Learning Resource Center.

# Abstract

This paper aims to develop an intercultural ebook on local indigenous knowledge system (LINKS) in Malaysia, Mongolia, Thailand, and the Philippines using telecollaboration. It also aims to develop a telecollaboration model in the development of the ebook. Telecollaboration involves participants from different locations using Internet tools and videoconferencing with learning objectives. LINKS refers to the knowledge, traditional technologies by indigenous people used for survival which has faced deterioration due to content assimilation. The participants were 136 students and 8 professors from Malaysia, Mongolia, Thailand, and the Philippines. Using mixed methods, this study used questionnaire and key informant interviews to determine the LINKS and to design the ebook. Findings show that the telecollaboration model used this flow: A) Conduct LINKS inventory, (B) Discuss through Social Media and Email, (C) Conduct telecollaboration, and (D) Design and Publish the Ebook. The countries have common LINKS on navigation, farming, fishing, pregnancy and health, and avoiding calamities. The ebook design uses Dual Coding theory which presents the common LINKS among the countries with appropriate illustrations. Participants' evaluation showed that they strongly agreed that the telecollaboration model and the project promoted digital literacy, intercultural competence, content learning, fun, and motivation.

#### **Conference** paper

#### Introduction

Local and indigenous knowledge system (LINKS) refers to the cumulative and dynamic body of knowledge, traditional technologies, know-how and representations possessed by peoples with long histories of interaction with their natural milieu; and is intimately tied to language, social relations, spirituality and worldview, and is generally held collectively (International Council of Science, 2002). LINK practices are associated with traditional pharmacology, farming technologies and agricultural methods, environmental management, vegetation classification, cultural norms, belief systems, and others (Dei, 2011). Although greatly considered as traditional practices, LINKS includes present technologies by indigenous people for their daily survival (Onwu & Mosimege, 2004) in which the present society can learn from.

Despite its important role to sustainable development, LINKS is perceived to be of little value and is often equated to little more than lip service, which is seldom translated into action (Khupe, 2014). It has deteriorated due to content assimilation which resulted from the loss of interest of these practices from the young generation, thus cultural preservation is encouraged (Kinomis, 2016).

In addition, LINKS has not been strongly integrated in education due to prejudice by some academic societies and the dominance of Western science over other ways of knowledge (Khupe, 2014). To respond to these challenges on LINKS, the 2001 UNESCO Universal Declaration on Cultural Diversity aims to recognize and preserve LINKS embodying traditional lifestyles relevant for the conservation and sustainable use of diversity. It raises cultural diversity to the level of the 'common heritage of humanity" as necessary for humankind (UNESCO Universal Declaration on Cultural Diversity, 2002).

The use of technology is a catalyst to transform education as a tool to preserve these LINKS which are beneficial to the next generation. The 2001 UNESCO Declaration encourages the use of ICT in preserving the LINKS to promote wider dissemination of indigenous cultures (Matsuura, 2001).

This research project aims to determine the various LINKS from Malaysia, Mongolia, Thailand, and the Philippines through telecollaboration, and to produce an intercultural ebook about these LINKS. Telecollaboration is the use of computer and/or digital communication tools to promote learning through social interaction and collaboration, thus moving the learning process beyond the physical boundaries of classrooms (Sauro & Chapelle, 2017). It is a dialogic process that supports geographically distanced collaborative work through social interaction, involving synchronous or asynchronous communication technology for the participants to produce mutual outputs (Sadler & Dooly, 2016).

#### **Research Questions**

This descriptive exploratory research aims to develop an intercultural ebook about the LINKS from Malaysia, Mongolia, Thailand, and the Philippines through telecollaboration. It aims to answer the following questions:

- 1. What is the telecollaboration model used in developing the ebook?
- 2. What are the common LINKS among Malaysia, Mongolia, Thailand, the Philippines?
- 3. What is the evaluation of the students on the telecollaboration project?

# Review of Related Literature *Telecollaboration*

Telecollaboration is a dialogic process that supports geographically distanced collaborative work through social interaction, involving synchronous or asynchronous communication technology for the participants to produce mutual outputs (Sadler & Dooly, 2016). This internet-based intercultural exchange between people of different backgrounds (Guth & Helm, 2010) helps students enter into a new realm of collaborative inquiry and construction of knowledge, viewing their expanding repertoire of identities and communication strategies as resources in the process (Lai & Li, 2011).

Telecollaboration anchored on Project-Based Learning (PBL) can lead to optimum results for PBL is a systematic teaching method that engages students in learning knowledge and skills through an inquiry process structured around complex, authentic questions and carefully designed products and tasks (Buck Institute for Education, 2003).

PBL uses authentic, complex, and real-life tasks to motivate learning and provide learning experiences (William, Barbara, 1999). These real-life tasks include comparison and analysis tasks in which students analyze cultural products of both cultures, and the collaborative tasks in which students create together a final product (O'Dowd & Waire, 2009) Telecollaborators maximize the affordances of technology by using email, social networking sites, and video-conferencing (Develotte, Guichon, & Vincent, 2010).

#### Electronic books (Ebooks)

Ebooks are electronic versions of academic books, textbooks, reference books, and other one-off publications which have the portability and lightweight advantages than regular textbooks (Enright, 2004). Since the users of the ebooks are adolescents in this study, the use of ebooks can improve their learning experiences through the enhanced flexibility

of the curriculum delivery to accommodate the mobile lifestyle of the leaners, improved efficiency in the use of study time, and new strategies for reading course materials; and improved student achievement (Ming, et al.,2011).

Ebooks cause a meaningful difference to be created in several contexts such as academic progress, variety of learning resources, flexibility while learning, and learning effectiveness between the students of virtual and conventional programs (Biranvand & Khasseh, 2014).

#### The Research Project

This exploratory research aimed to develop and produce an intercultural ebook documenting the LINKS from Malaysia, Mongolia, Thailand and in the Philippines. The ebook was used as an alternative instructional material on learning Asian cultures. The researchers are from the Universiti Sains Malaysia (Malaysia), Mongolia State University (Mongolia), University of the Philippines High School Cebu (Philippines), and Suan Sunandha Rajabhat University (Thailand). They were the recipients of the UNESCO Thailand's Telecollaboration Workshop on Reorienting Teacher Education towards Education for All and Education for Sustainable Development. For the student-participants, there were 11 Mongolians; 78 Thais; 8 Malaysians; and 39 Filipinos as shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Participants in the Telecollaboration

Universities	Countries	Students	Professors
Universiti Sains Malaysia	Malaysia	8	2
Mongolian State University of Educ	Mongolia	11	1
Suan Sunandha Rajabhat University	Thailand	78	1
University of the Philippines High School Cebu	Philippines	39	4
Total		136	8

This project was integrated in each country's university course for one semester. For Suan Sunandha Rajabhat University, it was in Educational Technology; for Mongolia State University, it was in Teacher Education; and for Universiti Sains Malaysia, it was in Malaysian Culture and in Language Teaching. For the Philippines, it became a multidisciplinary project in English, Research, Social Sciences, and Science subjects. The researchers who were the professors handling the courses prepared the syllabi integrating the project in the course objectives, content, exercises, and assessment.

These students conducted an inventory of LINKS in their country for three months. A telecollaboration was conducted three times in December, January, and March to discuss and analyze the LINKS from the four countries and to design the ebook.

#### Methodology

This descriptive research used mixed methods. To gather the LINKS, the students from the four countries used participatory rural appraisal tools such as interviews from key informants and group interviews. They interviewed elderly, parents, fishers, farmers, and traditional health workers, mountaineers, regarding the different indigenous practices and used referral system to look for the other key informants. To determine the effectiveness of using telecollaboration, a teacher-made questionnaire was used to assess the experiences of all respondents.

# **Results and Discussion**

#### Telecollaboration model in developing the intercultural ebook

The telecollaboration model in developing the intercultural ebook as shown in Figure 1 followed this process: (1) Conduct LINKS inventory in every country, (2) Discuss through social media and emails, (3) Conduct a series

of telecollaboration, (4) Design and publish the ebook.



Fig.1. The Telecollaboration Model in Developing Intercultural ebook

In Stage 1, the researchers integrated the ebook project in their specific syllabi and determined the objectives, activities, and assessment of the project in relation to their course competencies. The researchers discussed the projects to their students. In this stage, the student-participants conducted LINKS inventory through interviews to their specific countries. Then they submitted the analyses of their LINKS to their professors. This first stage was anchored on Project-Based Learning (PBL) which engaged students in creating the ebook project through inquiry process structured around authentic questions about their LINKS (Buck Institute for Education, 2003; William & Barbara, 1999).

In Stage 2, the students from four countries formed small groups according to their chosen LINKS. They created a Facebook (FB) Group, a social networking site, where they discussed their findings, compared and contrasted the LINKS from the four countries, and traced the historical and socio-cultural contexts of the LINKS. The groups were the Calamity, Pregnancy and Health, Navigation, Farming, and Fishing LINKS.

In Stage 3, the participants, facilitated by their professors, conducted three telecollaborations. The telecollaboration platform was provided by Suan Sunandha Rajabhat University, Thailand. All telecollaboration sessions followed this flow: (1) Introduction, (2) Stating of the Session's Objectives, (3) Presentation, (4) Discussion, (5) Synthesis and Closing. All sessions lasted for three to four hours.

In the first meeting, the students provided introduction about their countries and universities. Group presenters from each category discussed their LINKS which was followed by question and answer. In the second meeting, the students analyzed their LINKS by discussing the similarities and differences of the Asian countries' geographical location, socio-cultural historical background, and cultures. In the third meeting, the students continued to discuss their LINKS and made reflections and assessment about their project and on their personal learnings. These interactions prove that telecollaboration develops students' collaborative communication and inquiry and construction of knowledge (Lai & Li, 2011). It allowed the four groups of nationalities to exchange their ideas about promoting their LINKS despite globalization. Figure 2 shows the telecollaboration.



Fig. 2. The Telecollaboration among Four Countries

In Stage 4, selected students and the researchers from four countries collaborated and designed and published the ebook. They collaborated through emails and Facebook (Lai & Li, 2011) which allowed to create the output together (O'Dowd & Waire, 2009).

#### **Evaluation of the telecollaboration project**

Table 2 shows the participants from the four countries "strongly agreed (1.645) that the telecollaboration model in creating the ebook used the appropriate ICT tools for the exchange of communications and video conferencing. Because of the quality telecollaboration platform from Suan Sunandha Rajabhat University, the participants believed that the project developed intercultural competence, confidence, higher level thinking during the discussion and analysis about the LINKS. They claimed that the research project allowed them to discover new knowledge about other Asian countries and cultures which were not formally taught in their universities.

 Table 2. Overall Evaluation of the Telecollaboration Model and the Project

Mean	Qualitative description
1.645	Strongly agree

1.00-1.80Strongly agree1.81-2.60Agree2.61-3.40Neutral3.41-4.21Disagree4.21-5.00Strongly disagree

The positive evaluation was validated in the open-ended questions where the respondents claimed that the telecollaboration platform allowed them to share and communicate with each other conveniently. Thai Student A said, "It was easy to share our ideas on how we can improve our LINKS through the social networking site and the video conferencing."

In addition, Mongolian Student A stressed, "We developed our skills of listening to each other, working in a team, and in social networking." The same assessment was given to Filipino Student A when she said that the Thai telecollaboration platform offered a higher quality video conferencing platform which could handle nine windows simultaneously conferencing.

Furthermore, the participants claimed that the whole project was fun and educational. Their expectations were met. Thai Student B said that the most enjoyable part of the project was they shared each country's LINKS and they discovered they had similarities, like in using ghost or supernatural stories to scare children from going out in the evening. On the other hand, Mongolian Student B commented that videoconferencing and Facebook chatting was enjoyable which also improved her ICT and English communication skills. Filipino Student B said that the regular telecollaboration made him more excited in presenting his LINKS to the big group. He found out that the LINKS in the four countries have commonalities especially on health practices like treating asthma.

The qualitative data validate the basic function of telecollaboration which supports geographically distanced collaborative work through social interaction, involving synchronous or asynchronous communication technology for the participants to produce mutual outputs (Sadler & Dooly, 2016). The geographic challenges and time zones of the four countries did not impede the participants to create an ebook.

However, the project also experienced logistical and technical challenges (Dunne, 2014) especially on the internet connection during the telecollaboration. The Philippines may have the most unstable connection but it did not totally obstruct the communication exchanges. The participants emailed the LINKS outputs in powerpoint format prior to the telecollaborations. In this way, all participants viewed their file while the country presenters were discussing their LINKS. In addition, FB groups and messaging were also used to verify some information presented in the telecollaboration.

#### The design of the ebook

The design of the ebook was anchored on Paivio's Dual Coding Theory which states that the human cognition consists of two subsystems that process knowledge simultaneously, one processing the nonverbal objects (i.e., imagery) and one dealing with language (verbal). The two systems have different functions--- the verbal subsystem processes and stores linguistic information whereas the visual subsystem processes and stores images and pictorial information. While the two subsystems can be activated independently, the interrelations and connections of the two systems allow the dual coding of information (Schutt, 2003). The relationship of the two systems has been shown to have some positive effects on recall (Al-Seghayer, 2001).

Designed and published by the participants, the intercultural ebook presents the similarities of the LINKS in the four countries. Figures 3-5 shows screen shots of the ebook.



Fig. 3. LINKS on Pregnancy

Figure 3 presents the LINKS related to pregnancy which the Philippines and Mongolia have commonality. In the Philippines, "Eating large amounts of pineapples can cause miscarriage" while in Mongolia, "Eating too much white mushroom may cause miscarriage.



Fig.4. LINKS on Singing in the House

Figure 4 shows the superstitious belief of singing in the kitchen among the four countries. For Mongolians, "Do not whistle in the house, it will give you bad luck". For Thais, "Do not sing in the kitchen, otherwise you will marry an old person". For Malaysians, "Do not sing

in the kitchen, otherwise you will marry an old person or a widower." For Filipinos, "Do not sing in the kitchen or else you will not get married."



Don't leave any food on your plate. You will have misfortune.

Ayaw pag bilin ug pagkaon sa imong plato. Ma gabaan ka.



Fig. 5. LINKS on Eating

Figure 5 shows the parenting practice on eating habits. For Thais, "Having rice remained in a dish after eating causes dot scars on your face". For Filipinos, "Don't leave any food on your plate. You will have misfortune."

#### Conclusion

The telecollaboration process to (1) Conduct LINKS inventory, (2) Discuss through Social Media and Email, (3) Conduct telecollaboration, and (4) Design and Publish the Ebook was an appropriate model in achieving the research project in publishing an intercultural ebook on Asian LINKS. The use of Project-Based Learning coupled with the use of videoconferencing, social media, and email, was effective in exchanging knowledge and ideas about LINKS. The affordances of this telecollaboration technology allowed the students to orally discuss their ideas with their presentation slides and receive various feedbacks on real time. These qualities were not available to existing free social networking sites or applications.

For the indigenous knowledge, the four countries have common LINKS on navigation, farming, fishing, pregnancy and health, and in avoiding calamities. All countries use ghosts or supernatural creatures in the environment as themes in local stories to promote discipline among children. All countries avoid their pregnant women to go to the funeral or to do knitting. To produce more quality milk among breastfeeding mothers, Mongolians eat boiled radius and shank, and drink milk tea with millet. Filipinos, Thai, Malaysians eat soup with vegetables and fruits. The country's geographical location and culture have implications on its LINKS. Countries with many islands like Malaysia, Thailand, and the Philippines have common LINKS on fishing and on water navigation while Mongolia has more LINKS on land travel.

Overall, the project promoted digital literacy, intercultural competence, content learning, fun, and motivation to learn. This study recommends to conduct more telecollaborative projects among other countries and conduct further investigation explaining the sociocultural background on the given LINKS. It also recommends computer science engineers and experts to design open source telecollaboration platforms for education.

#### References

Al-Seghayer, K. (2001). The effect of multimedia annotation modes in L2 vocabulary acquisition: A comparative study. Language learning and technology, 5 (1): 202-232. llt.msu.edu/vol5num1/alseghayer/default.html.

Biranvand, A. & Khasseh, A. K. (2014). E-book Reading and its Impact on Academic Status of Students at Payame Noor University, Iran. *Library Philosophy and Practice* (e-journal). 1170. http://digitalcommons.unl.edu/libphilprac/1170.

Buck Institute for Education (2003) Project based learning handbook. A guide to standards-focused project based learning for middle and high school teachers, 2nd ed. Hong Kong: Quinn Essentials Books & Printing, Inc.

Dei, G. (2011). Introduction. *Counterpoints, 379*, 1-13. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/42980880.

Develotte, C., Guichon, N., & Vincent, C. (2010). The use of the webcam for teaching a foreign language in a desktop videoconferencing environment. ReCALL, 22(3), 293–312.

Dunne, G. (2014). Reflecting on the Japan-Chile Task-Based Telecollaboration Project for Beginner-Level Learners *TESL Canada Journal/Revue TESL DU Canada*, 175 Vol 31, Special Issue 8.

Enright, S. (2004). Ebooks: the learning and teaching perspective. In: Woodward, H. (ed.) Ebooks in Education: Realising the Vision. Pp. 21–33: Ubiquity Press. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.5334/bal.d.

G. Onwu, & M. Mosimege (2004). Indigenous knowledge systems and science and technology education: A dialogue.

Guth, S. & Helm, F. (eds.) (2010). Telecollaboration 2.0. Languages, Literacies and Intercultural Learning in the 21 <sup>st</sup> Century . Bern: Peter Lang.

International Council for Science. 2002. *ICSU Series on Science for Sustainable Development* No . 4: Science. Traditional Knowledge and Sustainable Development.

Khumalo, N. B. Khumalo & Baloyi, C. (2017), "African Indigenous Knowledge: An Underutilised and Neglected Resource for Development". *Library Philosophy and Practice (e-journal)*. 1663. https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/libphilprac/1663.

Khupe, G. (2014) Indigenous Knowledge and School Science: Possibilities for Integration, Unpublished dissertation. University of the Witwatersrand.

Kinomis X. (2016) Indigenous Knowledge Systems and Practices in the Teaching of Science. 13th National Convention on Statistics (NCS) EDSA Shangri-La Hotel.

Lai, C. & Li, G. (2011) Technology and Task-Based Language Teaching: A Critical Review. CALICO Journal, 28(2), 498-521.

Matsuura, K. (2001). UNESCO Universal Declaration on Cultural Diversity, UNESCO, Paris.

Ming, N., Armellini, C., Witthaus, G., & Barklamb, K. (2011). How do e-book readers enhance learning opportunities for distance work-based learners?, Research in Learning Technology, 19:1, 19-38. DOI: 10.1080/09687769.2010.548506.

O' Dowd, R. & Waire, P. (2009). Critical Issues in Telecollaborative Task Design. Computer Assisted Language earning 22.2: 173-188. Sadler, R. & Dooly, M. (20016) ELT Journal, Volume 70, Issue 4, 1: 401–413.

Sauro, S. & Chapelle, C. (2017) The Handbook of Technology and Second Language Teaching and Learning, 459-472.

Schutt, M. (2003). Psychology of technology-based learning. http://coe.sdsu.edu/EDTEC640/Modules/module1/dualcoding.htm. UNESCO Universal Declaration on Cultural Diversity, UNESCO, Paris (2002).

William, R. & Barbara, M. (1999). Observing classroom processes in project-based learning using multimedia: A tool for evaluators. *The Secretary's Conference on Educational Technology*.

# Le Vo Thi Hong

University of Economics Ho Chi Minh City, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

levth@ueh.edu.vn, vvtthhll@gmail.com

# Learning to write business email by email exchange with smartphones

# Bio data



I am a lecturer in School of Foreign Languages for Economics at University of Economics Ho Chi Minh City. I hold a PhD in TEFL/TESL from the University of Portsmouth, U.K. I am particularly interested in CALL, using technology in English teaching and how English language training can be improved with IT support, classroom research, teacher education and English language communicative competence required of graduates at the workplace.

# Abstract

This paper explores how email exchange is able to motivate learners to practice writing business email in classroom, and importantly to support learners to understand cultural behaviors to write effective business email. The goal of this study is to investigate whether this pedagogy of doing simulated business-context email exchange enhance learner's motivation. There was a comparison on the same group of learners who did the same writing tasks on paper and on smartphones. The comparison is to explore to what extent learners are willing to invest energy to experience computer-based writing tasks comparing with doing the same tasks on paper. The different performance shows that tasks designed as relevant to what learners will be doing at the workplace to do on smartphones/computer would motivate learners in practising writing business email.

Key words: email exchange, business-context simulation, computer-based writing tasks, learner's motivation.

#### **Conference** paper

#### Introduction

Writing effective business email has been known as one of the most important skills for the workplace need of graduates. This need requires graduates not only the language skills but also sociocultural communication skills – know how to write a formal or an informal email in a proper context or how to use politeness strategies to express ideas effectively. It raises the importance of English learning and teaching tailored to such workplace needs of graduates. However, writing skills, particularly business writing, are always difficult for learners of ESP. The question of how to motivate students to get engaged to practise writing always challenge teachers.

The study was carried out in University of Economics Ho Chi Minh city where Business English is considered as the first goal to prepare for graduates. The study contends that writing tasks with the assistance of the computer could help to deal with the challenges. These tasks support learners to exchange emails in a simulated-workplace environment. From this, students will be supported to understand cultural behaviors to write effective business email.

#### Email and the positive effect of email exchanges

Email has been considered as an important aspect of communication since computermediated communication (CMC)- the discourse produced when more people used computers for interaction. Different forms of CMC include instant messages, discussion groups and email (Skovholt, 2009). The origins of email emerged from the two different theories in the research are: email has developed from the genre of written memos (Yates and Orlikowski, 1992); and email is derived from telephone conversations due to a new need in the business environment (e.g. communication across time zones) (Gimenez, 2000).

Email is defined by Gimenez (2006) as the phenomenon of "embedded" emails – a chain of connected messages being sent back and forth in contexts– which is likely to fulfil a particular need in globalized business environment, as a tool "when the complexity of the topic being discussed by a geographically dispersed team calls for team decision-making" (Gimenez, 2006, p.162). Furthermore, the facilities (the carbon copy and forward) are other key features of email which allow messages to be sent and passed to different levels of the recipients – whether actively involved or as "witnesses" of the process. This explains why email is considered as the most common means of communication by both employees and employers in companies (Vo, 2015; Vo et al., 2016).

Research has reported the positive effect of email interactions with computer support. Skehan (2003),for instance, evaluates interaction tasks important as 'interactive tasks produce markedly more accuracy and complexity'(p.349). Vinther (2011) supports the results reported by Levy and Stockwell (2006) that 'learners involved in email interactions demonstrated increases in both the accuracy and the complexity of the language produces' (Levy and Stockwell, 2006, p.104).

#### The setting of the study

#### The aim of the study

The study was carried out in the setting of EFL (English is used as a foreign language). In this context, learners have fewer chances to practise English outside classroom has been a challenge to achieve the goal. Furthermore, writing skills seem to be the most difficult skill for students to deal with. It has been reported that graduates from the university had limited English proficiency, particularly business writing skills to fulfil the requirements at the workplace.

This study explores how email exchange is able to enhance learner's motivation to practice writing business email in classroom, and importantly to support learners to understand cultural behaviors to write effective business email. It is to investigate whether this pedagogy of doing simulated business-context email exchange enhances learner's motivation.

#### Participants

There were 36 students involved in this study who were all university students of English for Foreign Trade at pre-intermediate level. This English program aims to support students to develop English communicative competences required at the workplace; particularly, business writing skills are put on the priority of the program to fulfil the requirements at the workplace.

The study comprised learner participants working in pairs or triads in two sections of learning writing email: one section in which email exchanges was done on paper, the other section email exchange practice was done on smartphones.

#### Tasks design and procedure

With the aim at preparing learners communication competence to meet the requirements at the workplace, students are step-by-step prepared four key language components. In this study, writing in career-related contexts is focused. Writing skills include the most frequent types of business English documents: summaries, emails, memos and reports. The common business topics are: email of complaint, email exchanges for negotiation and email writing for a progress report. When exchanging emails, students were asked to send email to the class email account at the same time for giving feedback.

The students were engaged in the writing course over a period of four weeks. There were two class meeting sections each week. As for the objectives of the study, the course was arranged in the order: in the first section of the first week students did the tasks on paper; in the second section, the tasks were verified and done on computer or smartphones. In the second week, students did the tasks on computer first; the verified tasks were done on paper later. Each section was followed by feedback and discussion. The same process was applied for the rest two weeks. This arrangement provides the basis for the validation of findings in terms of their accuracy, checking for bias in research method.

#### Findings

# *Learners tend to make less mistakes experiencing computer-based email writing tasks than writing email on paper.*

#### Linguistic features

The most common mistake which can been seen in learner's writing email is the use of linking words. For example, 'And', 'But' at the beginning of a sentence to connect with the previous ideas or transferring the ideas were used instead of 'However', 'Furthermore'. However, it indicates that the errors made writing on paper seem to be quite far away the correct ways to express the ideas than they are on smartphones as shown in table 1.

Errors	Examples of errors		
	On paper	On smartphones	
Linking words	<ul> <li>And employees affect my company productivity.</li> <li>But at the moment, the buses are running late-15 minutes on average.</li> <li>But unfortunately, there are</li> </ul>	I will give you a 5% discount per order, <b>but</b> you promise to pay the invoice in time from next transaction We are very sorry for this email <b>but</b> we have to send to you.	
	mistakes in your orders		
Transferring/ Organizing ideas	<b>First</b> , the customer service will operate 24/7 <b>Second</b> , our amenities will have new modern equipment	Besides, we offer two special vouchers	
	<b>About</b> our deliveries service, we are hiring more employees to boost our productivity <b>So that</b> we can give you our best services.	Your company is <b>also</b> always delay the delivery <b>So</b> if you give us the better and cheaper services, we will pay as soon as possible.	
Tenses	Our revenue <b>has increasing</b> since we signed the contract.	The revenue <b>increased</b> since June	
Model verbs	Perhaps your systems <b>may</b> have some troubles	I think your systems <b>could</b> have some problems	

Note: Problematic structures are indicated in bold Table 1. Problematic structures in learners' writing email

The use of tenses and model verbs are the other common mistakes which were often found in the writing email. For example, though it was not exactly correct, the use of tenses was better when learners writing on smartphones than it was on paper. As for the same content, the expressions on the second columns (on smartphones) were easier to understand than they were in the first column (on-paper). Interestingly, while the average time limit for each writing task was twenty-five minutes, students spent 30 minutes doing the tasks on paper and 20 to 25 minutes doing the tasks on smartphones. This could be explained that students had more motivation writing email with their smartphones or computers.

#### Informal or Formal email

Considering formal or informal email is a major problem of most of English learners in email writing. Although recently this is regularly a focus in many topics for improving writing skills, supporting learners to be able to distinguish two types is still a challenge to English teachers. Learners tend to be more comfortable to write an informal email, however, formal email is used more in business contexts. Therefore, the form of professional and accurate structures which a formal email required is what learners need to prepare to use in the workplace.

It is very common that learners open or close an email with the titles 'Mr./ Ms' going with a first name. The reason could be Vietnamese people always use first names in communication. Although being reminded several times during the course, a number of learners still made these mistakes when writing email on paper. Interestingly, it happened less when the tasks were done on smartphones or computer.

Errors	Examples of errors		
	On paper	On smartphones	
Subjects	Often without	More with a title	
		Eg. Complaint about slow payment	
Greetings	Hi Mr. Tien,	Dear Mr. Tien,	
Using First name	Dear Ms. Tri, Mr. Long	Dear Miss Nguyen,	
Closing	Thanks	Hope to continue our good business	
	Regards,	relationship.	
	Tien	Yours sincerely/ Yours faithfully	
	BB Company	Tien Nguyen	

Table 2. Informal or formal email

When writing an email on smartphones, email features such as the title, the carbon copy and forward are shown on the screen which could suggest writers (learners) to think about who they are sending to. This could lead students to pay more intention to think about the email style they are writing. For instances, while email subjects were often neglected when writing email on paper, learners often sent emails with a subject when they wrote it on their computer or mobile phone. Obviously, the benefit is that this can help the sender to attract the recipient's interest and attention. In the same vein, when exchanging email on smartphones, learners tended to use 'Mr./Ms' and sir names more for the greeting. This was similar when they closed their emails keeping in mind to use "Yours sincerely/ Yours faithfully" rather than "Thanks or Best regards" for a formal email.

# *Computer-based email exchange could create a simulated workplace environment to support learners to understand cultural behaviors in writing business email.*

Learners found they have more motivation as if they were working in a simulated environment to practice business email on smartphones. For example, they could see an email to a manager could not been written in informal manner. In other words, the tasks could support learners to be aware of cultural factors (e.g. politeness, face-threatening) to use politeness strategies or avoid face-threatening for receivers. Such simulated workplace tasks include:

*Email of complaint:* Students were asked to write an email, e.g. to a supplier to complain about the mistakes (e.g. the wrong size, the wrong number) in orders; to a hotel to complain about the bad service.

Errors	
Occurs more when students write on paper	Occurs more when students write on smartphones
I would like to complain about your hotel	
after that staying.	We planned to stay with you for a
	week. Unfortunately, some bad
These experience I really don't want to	things happen.
have any more	
	Unfortunately, we had to change
I am disappointed with your service	the hotels after two days because
	of some terrible experiences
I suggest that you should improve your	I think you need to improve that
hotels service and have training courses for	in order to offer the best services to
your staffs carefully	customers
	I hope our feedbacks will help
I really want to see the improvement next	your business grow vigorously and
time we visit your hotel. (But I know that	evolve thanks from top clients.
you and everyone are doing so well.)	

Note: Bold indicates the errors Table 3. Errors in emails of complaint

The most important thing in this kind of email is to avoid face-threatening, a politeness strategy employed to save the addressee's face (Schnurr, 2013). The writer needs to write in the way that it avoids face-threatening for the receiver. For instance, the receivers could be offended receiving the complaint such as 'I am disappointed' or 'I don't want to have anymore'. They should be considered for the politeness to write in some ways as 'Unfortunately', 'I think', 'I hope'. Interestingly, the appropriate manners happened more in email exchange on smartphones than on paper. Clearer writing which avoids a confusion such as '[A complaint], But I know that you and everyone are doing so well' could see more when learners wrote email on smartphones.

*Email of negotiation*: learners were asked to write an email to ask for lower prices because of bad service or ask for a slow payer.

Errors	
Occurs more when students write on paper	Occurs more when students write on
	smartphones
Recently, I have seen several surveys from	Moreover, to be honest, your prices
other companies which show that they	is not really reasonable. I would
have the better and cheaper services.	appreciate if you can slow down
Could you please low the prices for a little?	your price and <b>improve your</b>
	delivery department
Therefore, I would be the most grateful if you	Could you please take these
could decrease the prices for our company in	problem into accounts and have us
order to make up for your mistakes.	a 30% discount on packaging
	materials?

Note: Bold indicates the errors Table 4. Errors in emails of negotiation

For the email of negotiation, getting to a win-win situation is the key for the conversation. If the writer wrote in the way as 'I would be the most grateful if you could decrease the prices for our company **in order to make up for your mistakes**', he/she could go to 'lose-lose' or 'lose-win' situation. The partners would feel annoyed and hard to continue the business.

A progress report: learners were asked to write a report on search for new franchises (e.g. a haircare, sandwich shop).

	Errors occur more when students write	Errors occur more when students	
	on paper	write on smartphones	
Opening	I am writing this email to report the	This report is to analyze some	
	analyzing the risks of WCM when we	risk to see all respect of	
	exploit in Africa.	our problem.	
	I am writing <b>a report for you</b> to	This is a progress report on source	
	analyze and to evaluate some risks.	for two excellent supplier focusing	
		on quality	
Linking words to	Without/None	Firstly, Secondly, Thirdly	
arrange the			
findings/results	First, Second, Third	First, Second, Third	
in the report			
Ending	Even though we are behind schedule	Even though we are running behind	
	and a little over budget. However, we	the schedule, I believe with hard	
	expect to source at least two excellent	work, quality and efficiency will	
	suppliers.	make up for the time loss	
		Although, the project is expected to	
	<b>Even though</b> our project will probably	be behind the schedule and a little	
	behind schedule as quality is more	over budget, we can guaranty the	
	important than speed. Also I expect a	best quality ever.	
	little over budget		
Note: Bold indicates the errors Table 5. Errors in writing reports			

In a report, the objective of the report and the progress of work should be clear to tell how the project is carrying out. Statements of the objectives 'This report is to...' and conjunction words such as 'Firstly, Secondly, Thirdly' are very essential to make the report clear. The findings show that though learners made mistakes in both cases of writing, learners tended to have minor mistakes; for example, they used 'Firstly, Secondly, Thirdly' more when they were writing on smartphones. Though there were still some mistakes such as 'first, second, third' or errors in punctuation, writing on smartphones seems support writers to have clearer writing.

#### Conclusion

The interesting finding is that though it took more time for students to do the tasks on paper than on smartphones, learners writing email on smartphones are likely to make less mistakes than writing email on paper. It seemed to support results from previous study (Levy and Stockwell, 2006; Vinther, 2011) which report that email interactions produce positive outcomes with regard to increases in the accuracy. Though writing email on smartphones could be considered to be supported with predicting writing when some errors in spelling and grammar are corrected automatically by the software, it does not apply in this study: English requirements of learners are at intermediate levels of business English.

Another finding is that email exchange on smartphones is likely to enhance learner's motivation to practise writing business email. This finding is significant because it is encouraging to teachers in the context that Internet is not commonly used as it should be in classrooms due to teachers' heavy workload and large-sized classes. Though it is difficult to say exactly how much the motivation was, it is evident that learners were motivated to write following the requirements of business email. That is, while doing workplace simulated tasks on computer/smartphones, learners had more awareness of formal manners, politeness strategies required of email of complaints, emails of negotiation and writing a report. As a result, they showed more attention in choosing and using correct words and expressions. Email exchange on smartphones can also help instructors to give feedback to many learners at the same time with less face-threatening. The cultural behaviors in writing which need to prepare for learners were also emphasized through these tasks. It is a sign of success for learners and instructors to get closer to the objectives of the program. This pedagogy could be used for the implications for teaching methods and materials design at the university, and in similar contexts, to meet the workplace need of graduates.

#### References

Gimenez, J. C. (2000), Business e-mail communication: Some emerging tendencies in register', English for Specific Purposes 19, 237-251.

Levy, M., & Stockwell, G. (2006). CALL dimensions: Options and issues in computer assisted language learning. London and New York: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. American Psychologist, 55, 68-78.

Schnurr, S. (2013). Exploring professional communication. Routledge

Skehan, P. (2003). Task-based instruction. Language Teaching, 36, 1–14.

Skovholt, K. (2009). Email Literacy in the workplace. Unpublished PhD dissertation. University of Oslo, Norway.

Vo, Thi Hong Le (2015). A Study of the Extent to Which University English Education Fulfills Workplace Requirements for Vietnamese Graduates and of the Extent to Which Action Research Can Lead to Improvements in University English Education. Unpublished Ph.D dissertation. The University of Portsmouth: The School of Languages and Area Studies.

Vo, Thi Hong Le, Wyatt, M. & McCullagh, M. (2016). Exploring the gap between Vietnamese workplace communication in English and English language teaching at a university, Asian ESP Journal.12 (1).8-38.

Vinther, J. (2011) Enhancing motivation with cultural narratives in computer-mediated communication, Computer Assisted Language Learning, 24:4, 337-352

Yates, J. and Orlikowski, W. (1992), Genres of organizational communication: A structurational approach to studying communication and media, Academy of Management Review 17 (2), 299-326.

# Pham Vu Phi Ho

Ba Ria – Vung Tau University, Vung Tau City, Vietnam

phamvuphiho@gmail.com

# Future of CALL for Vietnamese Students

# Bio data



Assoc. Prof. Pham Vu Phi Ho, PhD, is the Vice-Rector of Ba Ria – Vung Tau University. He has published 30 research articles on both local and International Journals (ISI & Scopus-indexed) and 5 books. He is also the Vice President for Administrative Affairs of the AsiaCALL. His main interests include Academic Writing and Technology-enhanced learning.

# Abstract

E-learning environment is now widely used by the students in Vietnam beyond the classrooms to conduct their independent learning. However, few research studies investigated what activities the students had conducted when they assessed online in order to adjust the learning curriculum at universities. Two hundred thirty-seven students of the current study described their actual activities when they conducted their studies outside the classrooms and their expectations for the future learning conditions to support their studies. The study also revealed the most common types of social networks that they have employed for their self-studies. The results of the current study provided good thoughts for educational leaders to make wise decisions to apply e-learning activities at their universities.

# **Conference** paper

E-learning environment has been widely applied in the curriculum of education in higher education around the world. Many universities and institutions develop their own e-learning system or software to help students enhance their learning beyond the boundaries of the four-wall classrooms. According to Azhari and Ming (2015) and (Thang, et al., 2016), elearning in learning English as a Second Language (ESL) is not a new trend of teaching and learning methods in the Malaysian education system and has already been implemented in some of the universities in Malaysia. Livingstone (2015) also found that students are generally ready for e-learning and are prepared for this new educational initiative. In Taiwan, Chiu (2003) claims that Taiwanese college students hold positive attitudes towards e-learning by using computers to learn English. In particular, Kao and Windeatt (2014) state that the e-learning environment helps students to stay engaged, relaxed, entertained and is effective on students' learning processes. E-learning also has a positive impact on learners' intrinsic motivation and learning attitudes. Also, students find course Websites to be helpful resources that enhance the understanding of course content, and that these Websites will continue to have an impact on higher education in the future (Nicole & More, 2008). Thang et al. (2016) surveyed students in four universities and confirmed that technology is useful for learning English as a second language (ESL).

However, the implementations of the e-learning environment in teaching and learning in higher education are not as practical as is expected. Different teachers in different environments made use of e-learning in different ways. Saata et al. (2012) found that lecturers and students commonly used the e-learning system at a university in Malaysia

just to upload lecture notes and download lecture notes. Furthermore, Souleles (2011) argues that e-learning can contribute little or nothing to teaching and learning. He/she adds there is a noticeable misalignment between perceptions and practices of e-learning and the associated rhetoric and literature of e-learning and innovative teaching and learning practices. In terms of teachers, Xing (2008) claims that most of the teachers at a university in China lacked a clear understanding of what e-learning is and what e-learning can do. In addition, the professional development in e-learning for college English teachers is insufficient both in terms of techniques and pedagogy in technology.

As educators, we need to understand the students' perception of e-learning as it has become one of the more successful practices for language learning and teaching among students and lecturers (Azhari & Ming, 2015). In order to shape the curriculum for Vietnamese institutions in applications of CALL into their teaching and learning activities, exploring students' current practices on CALL is a crucial issue. Discussion of applying technology in language learning classrooms, many educators are worried about students' budgets or the cost imposed on students' families (personal communication, 2017). However, the facts of students using technological devices are now not as hard as that in the past.

The findings of those studies such as Popovici and Mironov (2015); Saata, et al. (2012); Kao and Windeatt (2014); Pang et al. (2005); Eldeeb (2014); Keller and Cernerud (2002); Ibrahim et al. (2014); Ja'ashan (2015); Kar et al. (2014); Akkoyunlu and Soylu (2008) confirmed that (1) e-learning environment helped students engaged, relaxed and enjoyable and it had positive impacts on learners' intrinsic and extrinsic motivation and learning attitude; (2) e-learning was perceived to be a better learning experience compared to face-to-face learning; (3) e-learning and its effects on appealing students' participation on online lectures, workshop, and conferences; (4) e-learning provides an environment for students seeking help from their peers to practice their communication skills in English outside the classrooms in a more relaxing atmosphere; and (5) e-learning gives shy students chances to participate and share their opinions with their classmates online.

In order to provide useful information for universities in Vietnam to make orientations before employing e-learning system, the current paper aims to explore what actual activities the students had conducted when they accessed online beyond the classrooms, the social network they often use, and their perceptions on e-learning activities.

#### Methodology

The study surveyed 237 students at five Faculties at Van Hien University in Vietnam. The survey questionnaire items were constructed based on the need for applying e-learning to Van Hien University and by the researcher's observations. The questionnaire was designed based on the Office-forms (Microsoft Office forms) which were provided via the email system of the University. The link of the questionnaire was sent to the Deans of 5 faculties so that they could spread it to their students via either emails or Facebook. Facebook is very popular in Vietnam these days, and most of the students and lecturers owned an account for it. By providing the questionaries through many forms of communication platforms, we were able to ensure that most of the students from each faculty had an equal chance to respond to the questionnaire. The data collection closed a month after the questionnaire-link was administered to the students.

In terms of quantitative data, software SPSS vs. 22 was used to conduct a descriptive analysis. The qualitative data (open-question items) was analyzed selectively based on the answers which directly responded to research questions.

#### Results

The data obtained from the questionnaire were presented mostly by the Chats of Microsoft Excel or the SPSS ver. 22 for means scores. Fig. 1 reports possessions of IT tools.



Fig. 1 students' possessions of IT tools

As displayed in fig. 1, 76% of the students (n = 179) today owned smartphones in their daily lives. Smartphones seemed to be popular in Vietnamese contexts where the prices were affordable to most of the students. Laptops were the second IT possession owned by students. 73% of the students (n = 172) equipped themselves laptops to support their learning activities. Laptops are a useful tool for students to carry to their classrooms to do assignments and search for information. 22% of the students (n = 53) owned computers in their daily lives to support their learning. The extensive use of smartphones and laptops indicates the potential for lecturers who wished to employed technological lesson plans for their teaching activities. The results of this study were consistent with Popovici and Mironov (2015) that most of the students owned digital devices and they made use of these tools in their daily lives. In order words, owning a technological device was widespread by the students not just in Vietnam, but other countries as well. The result of this study alerts that teachers take advantage of students' available devices to design the learning activities so that the students could learn at their own pace.



Fig. 2 Frequencies of students' activities when accessing online

According to the Miniwatts Marketing Group (2018), the population of Vietnam is 96,491,146 people and with 64,000,000 Internet users. As shown in the fig. 2, most of the students at Van Hien University used Facebook when they accessed online (n = 193; 81%). Facebook is popular amongst Vietnamese people today, especially with young people. The second most popular activity students engaged in was reading the news (n = 173; 73%). This includes the news in the Vietnamese language. This could be interpreted as the Facebookers often 'tag' news from other websites to their personal Facebook. Then all of their friends on their friend's list could see and read it. The third most common activity that the students committed to when they got online was chatting online with friends (n = 164; 69%). Students in Vietnam often use Facebook Messenger to chat with their friends or make new friends via Facebook and other related social media platforms. Social media platforms are an easy way for them to make friends with people from around the world, especially with native speakers to practice their languages. This result was consistent with that of Popovici and Mironov (2015) who found that their students used the Internet for

their socializing and communication. Consistently, students used the Internet to seek help from their peers and enhance their communicative skills (Ibrahim, Prain, & Collet, 2014).

Downloading materials for their learning accounts for fourth place (n = 152; 64%) in this survey. The Internet today has become a powerful tool for students to search for what they need to know and learn. With the help of Google Search, they could easily find their related learning materials for a second. It served as the world library for all of the students. Corresponding to this result, Saata, et al. (2012) also found that most students in Malaysia used e-learning for downloading learning materials and the lecturer's notes. The activities of watching movies (n = 149; 63%) and checking emails (n = 131; 55%) were also employed by the students when they accessed online. Students could watch movies on Youtube or other related websites to relax or check emails for their personal or public connection. These findings were useful for lecturers who wished to design their lessons via video clips or get connected with their students about the contents of their educational activities. Also, the results suggest that teachers change their teaching mode and activities to make their teaching more effective.



Fig. 3 Students' learning English via the media

Different from fig. 2 which presents students' activities when they access the Internet, fig. 3 reveals what kinds of media the students employed to enhance their English skills. As shown in fig. 3, the most media tool that the students used to enhance their English skills was Youtube (n = 183; 77%). Youtube was a channel which included many video clips, lessons, and stories in English that meet all the levels of learners' English proficiency. Therefore, most of the students loved to enhance their English via this channel. The second most used media to help students enhance their English skills was free software available online (n = 117; 49%). Relating to this issue, 77% of the students (n = 182) reported that they never owned a commercial software to learn and practice their English skills. 23% of them (n = 54) stated that they used to buy or have been owning one to enhance their English skills.

Students often accessed free software provided on the Internet to practice their pronunciation and grammar structures. These methods are an effective way to help students learn the accents of the native speakers of English. Websites relating to learning English were also the third concern by students (n = 75; 32%) as they could play games in English, learn the grammar of structures, or download materials to learn English skills. The VOA Learning English page was also considered by the Vietnamese students to learn and practice their English skills (n = 54; 23%). Besides, chatting with native speakers (n = 41; 17%), reading news in English (n = 38; 16%), and webpage BBC learning English (n = 35; 15%) were also sought by the Vietnamese students to learn and improve their English skills. These findings suggest that teachers make use of video clips on Youtube to support their teaching activities to make the classroom more effective. In addition, the teachers should assign the students to do projects such as making video clips and uploading to Youtube. The activities help students pay more attention to the "perfect work" when they showed their products to the real world.



Fig. 4 Students' frequencies of learning English via the television channels

Besides making use of online tools to learn English, Vietnamese students were also in favor of channels on television to enhance their English proficiency. As can be seen from fig. 4, 50% of the Vietnamese students (2 = 118) frequently watched Disney Channel to enhance their English proficiency. Disney Channel was owned by the Walt Disney Company which produced many entertainment programs shown on television every day. Disney channels in Vietnam usually show young kids' movies, plays, and other forms of entertainment. Besides the Disney channel, 49% of Vietnamese students were also in favor of HBO Channel (n = 117), an American pay television channel, which has now expanded to several countries around the world. HBO (Home Box Office) regularly showed movies in English every hour so that any people who wished to enhance their English proficiency could watch it in their convenient time at home. In addition to the HBO channel, Star Movies channel was also seen by the Vietnamese students as a channel to enhance their English language. 46% of the students (n = 110) regularly watch movies in English from this channel to improve their English proficiency. The fourth favored television channel by Vietnamese students was Discovery channel (n = 67; 28%). Discovery is also another television pay channel in the United States which often shows documentaries or speculative investigations that interest young people to watch. These findings indicate that Vietnamese students often made use of media to enhance their English language beyond the boundaries of the classrooms. The study suggests that teachers (or curriculum designers) use some exciting scenes in the movies (movie-cut) as a resource for classroom activities so that the learning process could be more enjoyable.

Content	N	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation
I like to learn English via the Apps on smartphones or tablets.	232	1	5	3.71	1.276
of websites helps me to better my pronunciation.	235	1	5	3.86	1.098
I like to take courses through the e-learning modes.	235	1	5	3.44	1.417
Valid N (list wise)	232				

Table 1. students' attitudes towards e-learning

As can be seen from Table 1, most of the students (M = 3.71; SD = 1.28) agreed that they liked to conduct their learning English via the Applications on smartphones or tablets. These tools were easy to carry and convenient for learning. Also, most of the students (M = 3.86; SD = 1.10) agreed that learning English via software or websites help them enhance their pronunciation appropriately. The students could learn the accents of the native speakers on these instruments. However, in terms of taking suitable courses of the curriculum through e-learning modes, not many students agreed on this kind of learning mode (M = 3.44; SD = 1.42). We can see that students preferred learning English online via

applications on mobile devices. Universities should take this into account when they design their learning curriculum. The following session will describe the students' preferences of the modes of learning styles between e-learning and traditional learning styles.

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	100% e-learning	14	5.9	6.0	6.0
	30% e-learning vs. 70% face- to-face	70	29.5	29.8	35.7
	70% e-learning vs. 30% face- to-face	25	10.5	10.6	46.4
	50% e-learning vs. 50% face- to-face	76	32.1	32.3	78.7
	100% face-to-face plus e- learning	50	21.1	21.3	100.0
	Total	235	99.2	100.0	
Missing	System	2	.8		
Total		237	100.0		

Table 2.	Students'	preferences	of learning	modes
Tuble 21	Students	preferences	oricurning	mouco

Table 2 helps specifies the students' preferences of the modes of learning styles today. As shown in Table 9, the most preferred learning modes that students preferred was a combination of e-learning and face-to-face learning styles. 32% of the students (n = 76) preferred to learn 50% of e-learning modes and 50% of the traditional methods (face-to-face styles). 30% of the students (n = 70) wished to learn 30% of e-learning, combing with 70% of traditional learning methods. 21% of the students (n = 50) preferred learning 100% face-to-face styles, plus additional e-learning. In other words, the students still felt like learning with traditional modes, and e-learning was an additional method to support learning such as doing homework or projects at home. The findings show that students request to combine both learning styles (e-learning modes should be between 30% - 50%), instead of placing one to another. While the current study got 6% of students (n = 14) who preferred learning 100% of e-learning models, Eldeeb (2014) found that only 4% of the students preferred to have a fully online course, 23% preferred a full traditional classroom course, and 73% preferred mixed-mode - web supplemented courses- rather than a complete web-dependent course.

Similarly, Eldeeb (2014) found that students preferred mixed modes and e-learning as a supplementary course rather than a solely online course. Furthermore, Akkoyunlu and Soylu (2008) found that students still preferred face-to-face interactions and e-learning should not be used as a substitution for the traditional learning mode because the lecturers were seen as important to help students with their problems and motivate them in learning activities. These findings indicate that students request to combine both learning styles (e-learning modes should be in between 30%- 50%), instead of placing one to another.

				Valid	Cumulati ve
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Percent
Valid	No idea	3	1.3	1.3	1.3
	Low evaluated	102	43.0	43.2	44.5
	the same as that of face-to-face learning	59	24.9	25.0	69.5
	highly evaluated	67	28.3	28.4	97.9
	very highly evaluated	5	2.1	2.1	100.0
	Total	236	99.6	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.4		
Total		237	100.0		

Table 3. Vietnamese people's perceptions on taking courses online

Table 3 summarizes what the students were thinking about the Vietnamese people's evaluation of taking online courses. Their concepts were still mixed. 43% of the students (n = 102) supposed that taking courses online was low evaluated by the society while 30% of them (n = 72; 30%) thought it was highly evaluated. 25% of the students (n = 59) supposed that taking online courses were evaluated the same as that of face-to-face learning modes. This item came from the shared perspective of the Vietnamese society that obtaining degrees online via taking online courses were not as qualified as that of the traditional methods (face-to-face learning). This might explain the issues that while e-learning modes brought lots of benefits to the students (see tables 10a & 10b), only 6% of the students (see table 9) preferred 100% of e-learning modes without face-to-face learning. In other words, the students in Vietnam were still sensitive about taking courses online to earn a degree.



Fig. 5 Disadvantages of e-learning courses

Fig. 5 summarizes students' perceptions on the disadvantages of taking e-learning courses. As can be seen, 64% of the students (n = 152) stated that they did not wish to take online courses only because this mode of learning prevented students from interacting directly with the teachers. 60% of the students (n = 141) claimed that e-learning modes did not provide them chances to ask the teachers directly whenever they raised questions. 57% (n = 135) confirmed that the disadvantages of e-learning courses were a lack of interactive environments for the students to practice their languages. 54% (n = 127) of the students stated that e-learning modes prevented them from communicating directly with their classmates. Different from the result of this study, Pang et al. (2005) claimed that e-

learning was perceived to be a better learning experience compared to face-to-face learning mode. Similar to Pang et al. (2005), Akkoyunlu and Soylu (2008) found that their students preferred face-to-face interaction. The results of this questionnaire helped clarify the reason why most of the students in Vietnam preferred the combination of e-learning and face-to-face learning modes described in Table 2.

#### Conclusion

In short, the results of the study reveal that, first, IT tools such as smartphones and laptops were the favorite devices equipped by the students to assist their learning activities. Teachers should make use of students' devices to design the learning activities so that the students could learn with their own pace. Second, most of the students liked to conduct their learning English via applications on their smartphones or tablets because these tools were easy to be carried and convenient for learning. It could be useful in case teachers design lessons on Apps in order to help students conduct their learning frequently whenever the mobile devices were on their hands. Third, most of them used free software and social network such as Youtube, VOA learning English, BBC Learning English to help them learn English by themselves. Accordingly, chatting with native speakers and reading news in English were also employed by the students to do their independent learning of English. These findings indicate that teachers or curriculum designers should change their teaching activities into employing available video clips online, or use some interesting scenes from movies as resources for the classroom activities so that the learning processes could be more enjoyable. These activities would request students to give more effort in their learning activities when they wished to show their products to the real world. Fourth, most students wished for e-learning modes to be combined with face-to-face learning activities (from 30% to 50% of e-learning) rather than a substitution. The reason for not using e-learning could be, in Vietnam, taking courses online to obtain degrees was not highly evaluated by society. Besides, learning with the online modes had certain disadvantages in terms of communication between the teachers and their classmates.

Though the current study explored most of the students' activities and perceptions of elearning to enhance their independent learning of English, it has some limitations as follows. First, the samples in this study were just limited to the students at Van Hien University so the sample might not be generalized to other more significant contexts. Further research should employ a larger population to obtain a bigger picture for the educators in Vietnam to make the right decisions to apply e-learning in the Universities throughout the country. Second, this study employed only quantitative data to analyze for the results; some deeper issues attached in the findings might not be covered. Future research should take this issue into account.

# References

Azhari, F. A., & Ming, L. C. (2015). Review of E-learning Practice at the Tertiary Education Level in Malaysia. *Indian Journal of Pharmaceutical Education and Research*, *49*(4), 248-257.

Akkoyunlu, B., & Soylu, M. Y. (2008). A Study of Student's Perceptions in a Blended Learning Environment Based on Different Learning Styles. *Educational Technology & Society*, *11*(1), 183-193.

Chiu, M.-W. (2003). *Computer-Assisted Language Learning: Attitudes of Taiwanese College Students.* Florida: The University of West Florida. Retrieved from Doctoral Dessertation of The University of West Florida

Eldeeb, R. A. (2014). Students' Perceptions to E-learning. *Journal of Research & Method in Education*, *4*(3), 33-36.

Ibrahim, C. W., Prain, V., & Collet, P. (2014). Perceived Learning Strategies of Malaysian University Students in Web 2.0-based English as a Second Language Informal Learning. *GEMA Online Journal of Language Studies*, *14*(1), 29-42.

Ja'ashan, M. N. (2015). Perceptions and Attitudes towards Blended Learning for English Courses: A Case Study of Students at University of Bisha. *English Language Teaching*, 8(9), 40-50.

Kao, P.-L., & Windeatt, S. (2014). Low-Achieving Language Learners In Self-Directed Multimedia Environments: Transforming Understanding. In J.-B. Son, *Computer-Assisted Language Learning: Learners, Teachers and Tools* (pp. 1-20). Newcastle: Cambridge Scholars Publishing.

Kar, D., Saha, B., & Mondal, B. C. (2014). Attitude of University Students towards Elearning in West Bengal. *American Journal of Educational Research*, *2*(8), 669-673.

Keller, C., & Cernerud, L. (2002). Students' Perceptions of E-learning in University Education. *Journal of Educational Media*, 27, 1-13.

Livingstone, K. A. (2015). Students' perception of the potential of elearning practices at the University of Guyana. *International Journal of Instructional Technology and Distance Learning*, *12*(10), 23-44.

Nicole, A., & More, B. (2008). Student Perceptions of Various E-Learning Components. *Interdisciplinary Journal of E-Learning and Learning Objects*, *4*, 113-135.

Pang, V., Wah, L. K., Keong, T. C., & Mohamed, S. (2005). E-Learning Initiatives In E-Ducating Student Teachers. *GEMA Online Journal of Language Studies*, *5*(2), 15-27.

Popovici, A., & Mironov, C. (2015). Students' perception on using eLearning technologies. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences, 180*, 1514 – 1519.

Saata, N. Z., PN, C., Omara, B., Manafb, Z., Ishaka, I., Ramlia, N., . . . NF, N. (2012). Knowledge, perception and practice on the usage of e-learning among health students in Kuala Lumpur. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 60, 610 – 614.

Souleles, N. (2011). Elearning in art and design: perceptions and practices of lecturers in undergraduate studio-based disciplines and the rhetoric of innovative practices. *University of Sharjah* (pp. 004492-004501). Valencia: Proceedings of INTED2011 Conference. doi:ISBN: 978-84-614-7423-3

Thang, S. M., Lee, K. W., Murugaiah, P., Jaafar, N. M., Tan, C. K., & Bukhari, N. I. (2016). ICT Tools Patterns of Use among Malaysian ESL Undergraduates. *GEMA Online Journal of Language Studies*, *16*(1), 49-65.

Xing, X. (2008). *An investigation of the use of CALL by college English teachers: Perspectives in a Chinese normal university.* Brisbane: Queensland University of Technology. Retrieved from Master Thesis from Queensland University of Technology.
#### Na Wang, Jingyuan Zhang, Juanwen Chen

University of Science and Technology Beijing, Beijing, China

marywangna@163.com, zhangjingyuan@263.net, juanwenchen@163.com

## Designing CALL courseware for an EAP situation: a report on a case study

#### Bio data



Na Wang received her PhD degree in English Language and Literature from Tsinghua University (Beijing, China). She has taught College English to undergraduate students in the University of Science and Technology Beijing since 2008. Her research interests include CALL, ELT and EAP. She has published many research articles and one book in China.

#### Abstract

This paper reports, by means of a case study, how a principled, EAP approach has been applied to CALL (computer-assisted language learning) courseware design. A case study of a defining skills package, designed for undergraduate students in the University of Science and Technology Beijing, is used to illustrate this EAP approach. The first part of the paper details the various stages of the courseware design and proposes a synthesis of the language-centered, academic skills-centered and learning-centered approaches to the CALL courseware design. The second demonstrates with examples how different resources of digital tools and multimodal media have been exploited to devise and produce defining skills CALL materials.

#### **Conference paper**

#### Introduction

This project was first conceived as a response to many requests from undergraduate, graduate and postgraduate students, as well as from teachers across disciplines from different schools in the University of Science and Technology Beijing (USTB) for improvement of students' academic communication skills in both spoken and written English. For various reasons which are dealt with in the section on "Learning Needs", a decision was made to promote an English academic skills package in the blended EAP (English for Academic Purposes) courses in USTB, of which the defining skills package is the first in this project. CALL courseware is an ideal medium and critical support for different learning situations, such as blended learning, self-access learning, etc., as tasks can be worked through online and without the physical presence of teachers. The program occupies a critical position in the blended EAP course design, delivering course content and interacting with students to construct an online community of EAP learning. It can also serve as a self-access EAP learning center where learners are enabled to select those materials which are directly relevant to their own learning situation and to progress through the activities at their own pace.

With the rapid development of technology and the widespread use of online open course platforms in China's higher education, as in many other countries (Ana, 2016), many universities throughout China have started to optimize traditional classroom English learning with the latest CALL or MALL facilities (Jiang, Renandya & Zhang, 2017; Tsai, 2019;

Gu, Zhang & Gu, 2019), either for self-access learning as part of course components, or for blended learning and flipped classroom learning. Various innovative authoring systems, such as MOODLE, open online course platforms and mobile learning applications (Zou, Li & Li, 2018), are popular among English teachers since they require a minimum knowledge of software programming skills and allow them to develop a bank of courseware materials highly relevant to their students' learning needs within a relatively short period of time. However, a survey of the literature in the field of EAP instruction reveals that existing courseware was usually not systematically designed for a specific group of learners. This paper is an attempt to demonstrate, by means of a case study of the defining skills package, how a principled EAP approach has been applied to CALL courseware design utilizing an online open course platform in China to devise a set of materials highly relevant to students' learning needs.

The first part of the paper details the various stages of the courseware design and proposes a synthesis of the language-centered, academic skills-centered and learning-centered approaches to the CALL courseware design. After an analysis of learning needs, based on the analysis of definitions in a corpus of academic writing, drawing upon the findings of the existing literature of definitions in different academic genres, it covers issues related to the defining skills package. The significance of defining skills for EAP learners are highlighted in relation to the ideational, interpersonal and textual functions of definitions in academic settings. The defining skills package are constructed with both the communicative functions and linguistic realizations of the definitions considered. The second part demonstrates with examples how different resources of structural and functional aspects of definitions in academic writing, digital tools and multimodal media have been exploited to devise and produce defining skills CALL materials. Finally, the paper illustrates the ways this CALL courseware can be applied for EAP learners.

#### Learning needs

Analysis of needs from the learner's perspective is an important part of any instructional project design (Lytle, 1988). Hamp-Lyons (2001) points out that EAP begins with the learner and the situation, whereas General English begins with the language. The assessment of students' learning needs remains fundamental and critical to EAP curriculum development and course design. Therefore, understanding students' learning needs is a good point of departure for designing an EAP course, tasks and materials (Flowerdew and Peacock, 2001). In this paper, the needs analysis draws on three strands of theoretical insights. The first is the insights of Munby (1978) on communicative syllabus design which are very much language-centered and focuses on the target situation. It also takes account of the learning-centered approach proposed and advocated by Hutchinson and Waters (1987), which considers the conditions of the learning situation and how learners learn. The needs analysis also concerns the application of genre analysis (Swales, 1990; Swales & Feak, 2012) for the developing and writing of academic skills-centered materials and tasks.

Applying Munby's operational instrument, three main types of learners in the local context of USTB have been identified as end-users of the CALL courseware. It is expected that the majority will be first year science, engineering and business students who are taking courses where English is the medium of instruction and are taking a blended EAP course regularly in USTB. Another group consists of students of other majors whose general level of English is high and who want to study abroad after graduation. A third potential group comprises graduates and postgraduates who are using English as a medium of research, either reading research articles published in English, or listening to lectures delivered in English, or planning to write and publish their research in English. It makes most sense to offer academic skills packages that can be available for any student to consult and which fulfil a genuine need in specific situations.

Applying Swales' genre analysis, various key English academic skills, such as defining, explaining, comparing, contrasting, analyzing, discussing, evaluating, synthesizing, etc.,

are identified as fundamental skills that Chinese students need to develop in order to communicate in academic situations both in writing and orally.

This paper focuses on the defining skills. It illustrates, by a case study, the development of CALL materials for the defining skills package for the blended EAP courses that take the improvement of students' English skills for academic purposes as their pedagogical aim. The CALL materials were authored via the open online course platform—iCourse (www.icourses163.org), co-built by the Higher Education Press and NetEase in 2014 and responsible for the operation and management of China's national-level MOOCs (Massive Open Online Courses).

#### Functional specification of materials

The present paper determines the functional specification of the material by relying on Swalian (Swales and Feak, 2012) genre analysis of definitions in a corpus of academic writing and the findings of the existing literature of definitions in different academic genres (Triki, 2019). Definitions have been studied since ancient times (for example, Aristotle) in an attempt to understand the essence of things (real definitions) and the meanings of words (nominal definitions) (Triki, 2019). They are used in almost all types of academic genres and in both spoken and written academic discourses and texts. By definitions, writers and speakers elaborate explanations of terms, ideas, concepts, etc., to provide clarity and highlight the pertinence of research findings. Definitions have various structural and functional realizations, and are considered a recurrent "function" and one of the "syndromes" of scientific writing in both its popular and academic forms (Halliday & Martin, 1993).

#### Functions of definitions

The basic function of definitions is to elaborate on the meaning of the defined objects which could be (1) a new term, thing, idea, notion or concept, which is unfamiliar but key to audience understanding, (2) a commonly used word or phrase, which is given a different meaning in a research paper or academic lecture, (3) an important term that will help expand upon a point in academic writing or speaking, (4) a term, thing or concept over which there might be confusion if the writer or speaker does not make it clear, (5) a familiar term, which the writer or speaker wants the readers or audience to understand in a new way.

According to Halliday (1988, 1994), defining units (clauses), like most English clauses, are intrinsically multifunctional. They express different kinds of meaning simultaneously, among which ideational meaning, interpersonal meaning and textual meaning are the three metafunctions. In designing the CALL courseware for the defining skills package, the three metafunctions were given full consideration.

#### Linguistic realization of definitions

Definitions have been found to vary from short and simple linguistic realizations to expanded and lengthy paragraphs or texts (Trimble, 1985; Harvey, 1999; Swales & Feak, 2012; Triki, 2019). The length and extent of a definition depend on its purpose, the level of familiarity the audience has with the defined objects, and the extent to which there is an accepted common understanding of the term, thing, concept or notion. The smallest unit of a definition might be a short sentence, or a parenthetical addition to a sentence, while the larger unit of a definition could be a substantial part of a paper, and the largest unit might be a whole paper, or even a whole book.

Whatever their length or extent, definitions usually have three basic elements: term, class and differentiating features (Harvey, 1999). The term is what is being defined, and the class is the broader category that the defined term belongs to. Both elements are realized linguistically through nouns or nouns phrases. The differentiating features are what distinguish the defined term from other items in the same broad category. The linguistic realization of the differentiating features can be as short as a noun phrase or a prepositional phrase, as long as a clause, and as large as a paragraph or a text. Accordingly, we used these specifications in designing the CALL materials. Four types of materials have been designed to construct the defining skills package. The first type is the video lecture of 8-10 minutes, delivering basic knowledge about defining skills. It includes five lecture videos focusing respectively on the critical thinking of defining skills, skills of reading definitions, listening skills for taking notes of definitions and speaking skills delivering definitions, the linguistic features of definitions, and writing skills for producing definitions. In each video, there are embedded multiple choice questions or blank filling exercises that will pop up while the video is playing. This creates interaction between learners and the content of the videos. The second type includes authentic academic reading and listening materials that help learners practice defining skills. The third type is tasks that help consolidate the factual and procedural knowledge of defining skills. The tasks offered range from true or false questions, to writing a simple definition, and to producing an extended definition of a term, concept or notion from the learner's field of study. The fourth type is discussion topics related to defining skills, and this is posted in the forum section of the online open course platform. In the online forum, learners can also post questions and share information so as to interact with both teachers and other learners. The forum and learners' interactions thereby create an online learning community.

While writing the materials, we used authentic examples from the corpus we constructed ourselves. The corpus consists of 40 journal articles from each of three disciplines: materials science, engineering, business and management.

#### Description of the authoring program

The defining skills package was implemented using the iCourse platform, which is the most used open online course platform in China. It is a versatile program, as it allows the teacher to package different types of learning resources: multimodal learning resources including videos, audios, images, and texts; and several task types including multiple choice, blank filling, true or false, short answer questions, and writing. For the objective tasks, the program can give instant feedback, and for the writing tasks the program supports both teacher feedback and peer review.

The following section describes how each function of the program has been exploited for a selection and presentation of the different learning resources. In the construction of the defining skills package, we have considered the learners' current level in relation to the target level.

## Implementation of the authoring program *Video lectures module*

By utilizing the function module of presenting video resources and supporting interaction between learners and learning content, we offer five video lectures on defining skills. The first is a "Brief introduction to definitions" which covers: (1) understanding what a definition is, (2) recognizing the importance of definitions, (3) understanding when a definition is necessary and should be given, (4) understanding the paradigm pattern of a definition, and (5) distinguishing good definitions from poor ones.

The second video is "Reading definitions for information" which covers: (1) understanding definitions of different lengths, (2) reading in a prediction-confirmation pattern, (3) reading definitions in literature, and (4) defining by referring to literature.

The third video is "Definitions in lectures" which covers: (1) understanding definitions of different lengths, (2) reading in a prediction-confirmation pattern, (3) reading definitions in literature, and (4) defining by referring to literature.

The fourth video is "Three steps to an extended definition" which covers: (1) writing formal definitions, (2) writing naming definitions, and (3) producing an extended definition.

The fifth video is "Vocabulary: Noun phrase" which covers: (1) understanding the functions of nouns in academic texts, (2) using different forms of nouns, and (3) expanding nouns by adding modifiers.

#### Exercise and test module

This module has been used to present exercises and tests that help learners consolidate what they have learned in the videos and practice the relevant skills in the defining skills package. The module provides instant feedback and supports self-access learning effectively. It has been also used to launch the final test for the course.

#### Discussion forum module

This module has been used to create an online learning community. It includes such tasks as discussion, short answer questions, information sharing, exchanges of ideas, etc. The online community thereby established provides learners with a social environment for academic learning.

#### Peer review module

This module has been used to offer writing and peer review tasks. Learners are required to produce an extended definition of a term, concept, notion or theory in their own field of study. The module will randomly assign each learner five pieces of writing by their peers to evaluate. Learners need to give marks and make comments and suggestions about their peers' writing. And this peer review work in turn earns learners marks as part of the 20% of the total score for the writing task.

#### Conclusion

In this paper, we have reported, by means of a case study, how a principled, EAP approach has been applied to CALL (computer-assisted language learning) courseware design. A case study of a defining skills package, designed for undergraduate students in the University of Science and Technology Beijing, is used to illustrate this EAP approach. In responding to students' learning needs, we proposed a synthesis of language-centered, academic skills-centered and learning-centered approaches to CALL courseware design.

There are several scenarios where the CALL courseware can be used. One is a traditional multimedia equipped classroom where the courseware helps the teacher demonstrate knowledge of definitions in EAP situations. A second is a blended learning environment where EAP students learn online on a MOOC platform or other online course platforms and practice offline in the classroom. A third is a self-access EAP learning center where students can cover the materials in the CALL courseware at their own pace and which allows students to select those activities which are directly relevant to their own situations or in which they would like extra practice.

#### References

Ana Gimeno-Sanz (2016) Moving a step further from "integrative CALL". What's to come?, *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 29:6, 1102-1115.

Bin Zou, Hui Li & Jiaying Li (2018): Exploring a curriculum app and a social communication app for EFL learning, *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 31:7, 694-713.

Colpaert, Jozef (2004). *Design of online interactive language courseware: Conceptualization, specification and prototyping. Research into the impact of linguisticdidactic functionality on software architecture*. Antwerp: University of Antwerp.

Dayu Jiang, Willy A. Renandya & Lawrence Jun Zhang (2017) Evaluating ELT multimedia courseware from the perspective of cognitive theory of multimedia learning, *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 30:7, 726-744.

Flowerdew, J., & Peacock, M. (2001). The EAP curriculum: Issues, methods, and challenges. In J. Flowerdew, & M. Peacock (Eds.), *Research perspectives on English for academic purposes*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Halliday, M.A.K. (1988) On the ineffability of grammatical categories. In J. Benson, M. Cummings and W. Greaves (eds). *Linguistics in a Systemic Perspective*. Amsterdam: Benjamins.

Halliday, M. A. K., & Martin, J. R. (1993). Writing science: Literacy and discursive power. London: Routledge Falmer.

Halliday, M.A.K. (1994). *An Introduction to Functional Grammar*. 2nd ed. London: Edward Arnold.

Hamp-Lyons, L. (2001). Fourth generation writing assessment. In T. Silva & P. K. Matsuda (eds.), *On Second Language Writing* (pp. 117-128). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Harvey, A. (1999). Definitions in English technical discourse: A study in metafunctional dominance and interaction. *Functions of Language*, 6(1), 55-96.

Hutchinson, T., & Waters, A. (1987). English for specific purposes: A learning-centered approach. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Lytle, S. L. (1988). From the inside out: Reinventing assessment. "Focus on Basics", 2 (1), 1-4. (EDRS No. ED 300 638).

Peiya Gu, Ye Zhang & Haibo Gu (2019). Creating a technology-enhanced constructivist learning environment for research ability development in a BA Thesis Writing course, *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, DOI: 10.1080/09588221.2019.1576735.

Shu-Chiao Tsai (2019) Implementing interactive courseware into EFL business writing: computational assessment and learning satisfaction, *Interactive Learning Environments*, 27:1, 46-61.

Swales, J. (1990). *Genre analysis - English in academic and research settings*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

Swales, J., & Feak, C. (2012). *Academic writing for graduate students: Essential skills and tasks*. The University of Michigan Press.

Triki, Nesrine (2019). Revisiting the metadiscursive aspect of definitions in academic writing, *Journal of English for Academic Purposes*, 37, 104-116.

Trimble, L. (1985). *English for Science and Technology: A Discourse Approach*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

### Pei-Ling Wang, Hsiao-Chien Lee, Chien-Chin Chen

National Kaohsiung University of Science and Technology, Kaohsiung, Taiwan

peiling@nkust.edu.tw, marianelee@nkust.edu.tw, marco710719@nkust.edu.tw

## English majors creating bilingual picture books: a collaborative online task

#### Bio data



Pei-ling Wang received her Ph.D. degree in Bilingual Education from Pennsylvania State University, U.S.A. Currently, she is a professor in the Department of Applied Foreign Languages, National Kaohsiung University of Science and Technology in Taiwan. Her research field is teaching English as a foreign language and CALL.



Hsiao-chien Lee is an associate professor at the Foreign Language Education Center of National Kaohsiung University of Science and Technology, Taiwan. She earned her Ph.D. in Learning, Teaching and Curriculum at University of Missouri. Her research interests include CALL and using multimodal tasks to involve EFL learners in authentic learning. Currently she has been working on applying trans-disciplinary approach in her EFL instructions.



Chien-chin, Chen is a lecturer at Innovation and Entrepreneurship Education Center of National Kaohsiung University of Science and Technology, Taiwan. He is pursuing his Ph.D. degree in Industrial Design at National Cheng Kung University, Taiwan. His research interests include Product Design, Trademark Design, and Computer Assisted Design.

#### Abstract

Research shows that the task of collaborative picture books could help language learners practice the target language in a creative way. However, one challenge of this task is that language learners may feel frustrated when group members lack drawing skills. In this study, an English teacher collaborated with an art teacher to seek to overcome this problem. The two teachers arranged for their students from two different campuses to meet online and create picture books together. A total of seven groups were formed; each group consisted of four English majors and their English teacher from Yen-Chao campus, and one Art major as well as the art teacher from First campus. During the one-semester collaboration, the English majors were responsible for the English and Mandarin content of the picture book, while the Art majors were in charge of drawing pictures. Each group brainstormed, discussed, and share their work on the social media platform LINE. The two teachers monitored the progress of the group project and provided their advice whenever it was needed. At the end of the semester, students successfully completed and published seven bilingual picture books. The results of the questionnaire showed that the majority of students held positive attitude toward the collaboration task, and art students suggested

that in addition to online communication, group members should meet face-to-face at least once to clarify their thoughts.

#### **Conference paper**

#### Introduction

Creating picture books in the target language could boost foreign language learners' learning interests and also their learning achievements (Arisa, 2015; Sun, 2017). However, for those learners who cannot draw well, being asked to complete a picture book might be an unpleasant experience. To make matters worse, members of one group might all lack illustration skills, but still have to complete a collaborative picture book. This situation may be avoided if the teacher could find someone with artistic talent to join the team. In this way, language learners could concentrate on the linguistic aspects of the story, while the "artists" could illustrate the story with beautiful pictures.

Previous studies on collaborative learning have mainly investigated how learners in the same class interacted with each other. Studies focusing on how the online meeting of the learners with different majors influenced the learners' perception of the experience are limited. This study examined two groups of university students, from different academic backgrounds, working with each other to complete a collaborative task, namely, picture books. Using "Line group" as the communicative tool, the participating groups successfully created ocean-themed bilingual picture books. Collaborative learning theory constructs the theoretical framework of the study while trans-disciplinary learning practices highlight the implementation of the learning task.

The study aims to answer the following research questions.

- 1. What are language students' perceptions of the collaborative learning?
- 2. What are art students' perceptions of the collaborative learning?
- 3. What are students' suggestions for their teachers?

#### Theoretical Background of the Study: Collaborative Learning

Vygotsky's concept of zone of proximal development proposes the importance of learning through interactions with more capable others. When working with peers to complete a collaborative task, defined as "a coordinated, synchronous activity that is the result of a continued attempt to construct and maintain a shared conception of a problem" (Roschelle & Teasley, 1995, p. 70), EFL students are found to improve their reading capability (Yang, Chuang, Li, & Tseng, 2013), writing skills (Faustin, 2013; Linh & Suppasetseree, 2016), and vocabulary (Afghari & Khayatan, 2017). In addition, classroom teachers have observed that collaborative learning fits with the teaching philosophy as the EFL students work together, build together, learn together, change together and improve together (Stapa, 2009). Although collaborative learning, especially in an online learning environment, may suffer certain drawbacks, such as limited social interactions (Pang, Lau, Seah, Cheong, & Low, 2018) or social loafing, "a matter of expending less energy on a task than if one were working alone on that same task" (Ashcraft & Treadwell, 2007), yet collaborative learning approach is still considered beneficial as it promotes higher-order thinking (Gokhale, 1995) and initiates knowledge co-construction (Imai, 2010) and therefore helps lead to better learning performances.

#### Methodology

In this study, an English teacher recruited 27 English majors from her class of Freshmen English on Yen-Chao campus, and an art teacher recruited 7 Art majors from his class of Innovation and Aesthetic on First campus. They asked their students to form seven groups. After English majors found their group members, one art-majored student was randomly assigned to the group. As a result, each group consisted of 3 to 4 English majors and 1 art major. Students were requested to create a bilingual group picture book with the theme of 'ocean' because their school is located in an ocean city and the teachers aimed to raise students' ocean awareness through the collaborative project.

To help students become familiar with the format and style of the picture books, the English teacher asked her students to read six English ocean picture e-books as the outside reading materials. Each week students read one picture book, posted their reflections about the story on the school e-learning platform, and then their group members gave online peer feedback. After six-week practice in reading picture books, students started to create their group picture book. During the process of collaboration, English majors and art majors exchanged opinions through the social media platform LINE. As a result, seven beautiful English online picture books were created and successfully published. See one example as follows.



In the last week of the semester, each group presented their picture book in class, and then other groups gave comments and scores based on the scoring rubrics provided by the teacher. Finally, to understand students' perceptions of the class, students filled the exit questionnaire, including 8 Likert scale questions, 2 multiple choice questions, and 5 open-ended questions.

#### **Result and Discussion**

Table 1-1 shows that 92.5% of the English majors held positive attitude toward the collaborative task. They liked to collaborate with peers in creating the picture book. Moreover, they fully devoted themselves to complete the project. Concerning the task of peer feedback, the majority of students also worked hard to do their best. They said they enjoyed viewing others' projects online and learning from their classmates. Another positive result is that the majority of the students felt they benefited greatly from the collaborative task (92.5%), and the task of group picture book is especially beneficial to their English ability (88.9%).

It is noteworthy that while almost all language students gave positive responses to the above-mentioned questions, two language students were not happy about the collaborative task. Among the eight questions, they gave all negative answers. The possible reasons for their negative attitude will be discussed later.

Similarly, all art students held positive attitudes toward the group project. However, two art students were unhappy about their team members' commitment to the group discussion, and they doubted that the project was beneficial to their English ability (see Table 1-2).

|--|

Items	TA		A	,	PA		DA		TDA	1
(Agree / VS. Disagree //)	Ν	%	N	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%
I like to collaborate with peers in creating the group picture book. (92.5% vs. 7.4%)	6	22.2	12	44.4	7	25.9	2	7.4	0	0
I think I fully devoted myself to the project of group picture book. (92.5% vs. 7.4%)	9	33.3	11	40.7	5	18.5	2	7.4	0	0
I was serious when I evaluated other groups' projects. (92.5% vs. 7.4%)	7	25.9	10	37.0	8	29.6	1	3.7	1	3.7
I think other groups dedicated themselves to evaluating our group's project. (92.5% vs. 7.4%)	4	14.8	9	33.3	12	44.4	2	7.4	0	0
I like to view other groups' projects online and learn from them. (92.5% vs. 7.4%)	5	18.5	5	18.5	13	48.1	2	7.4	0	0
I feel that I have benefited greatly from the collaborative project. (92.5% vs. 7.4%)	9	33.3	7	25.9	9	33.3	2	7.4	0	0
I feel the task of group picture book is beneficial to my English ability. (88.9% vs. 11.1%)	3	11.1	8	29.6	13	48.1	2	7.4	1	3.7
All in all, I like the task of group picture books. (92.5% vs. 7.4%)	9	33.3	7	25.9	9	33.3	2	7.4	0	0

Note: TA= totally agree, A= agree, PA= partly agree, DA= disagree, TDA= totally disagree

Table 1-2.	Art majors'	perceptions of the collaborative task (	(N=7)	)
------------	-------------	---	-------	---

Items	TA		A		PA		DA		TDA	
	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%
I like to collaborate with peers in creating the group picture book. (100% vs. 0%)	1	14.3	3	42.9	3	42.9	0	0	0	0
I think I fully devoted myself to the project of group picture book. (100% vs. 0%)	4	57.1	3	42.9	0	0	0	0	0	0
I think English majors were diligent in writing the story. (100% vs. 0%)	2	28.6	3	42.9	2	28.6	0	0	0	0
I think my group members dedicated themselves to group discussion. (71.4% vs. 28.6%)	1	14.3	3	42.9	1	14.3	2	28.6	0	0
I enjoy doing the online group project. (85.7% vs. 14.3%)	0	0	2	28.6	4	57.1	1	14.3	0	0
I feel that I have benefited greatly from the collaborative project. (100% vs. 0%)	2	28.6	3	42.9	2	28.6	0	0	0	0
I feel the task of group picture book is beneficial to my English ability (71.4% vs. 28.6%)	0	0	0	0	5	71.4	1	14.3	1	14.3
All in all, I like the task of group pictur books. (100% vs. 0%)	3	42.9	2	28.6	2	28.6	0	0	0	0

Note: TA= totally agree, A= agree, PA= partly agree, DA= disagree, TDA= totally disagree

Regarding the question- What do you like most about the group collaborative task?", the top five answers among language students are as follows, creating stories is interesting (70.4%), I can understand others' opinions (66.7%), I can make friends with different majors (48.1%), my classmates and I become closer over the project (44.4%), and my classmates helped correct my English errors (40.7%) (See table 2-1). In contrast, to art students, they liked the task because creating stories is fun (42.8%), they could understand others' opinions (42.8%), and the task increased their self-confidence (42.8%) (See table 2-2).

Apparently, for most of the students it was fun to create stories together with peers. Furthermore, they valued their classmates' opinions and friendship as well. To these freshmen, who probably left home the very first time in their life, having companions or close friends their age is important. Through doing the inter-major online project together, they got to know not only the students on the same campus, but also others on the different campus, which might give participating students even more pleasure.

Question	Answers	Ν	%	Rank
What do you like most	Creating stories is interesting.	19	70.4	1
about the group	I can understand others' opinions.	18	66.7	2
collaborative task?	I can make friends with different majors.	13	48.1	3
	My classmates and I become closer over	12	44.4	4
	the project.			
	My classmates helped correct my English errors.	11	40.7	5
	The task motivated me to learn English.	10	37.0	6
	I can help peers correct their English errors.	6	22.2	7
	The task increased my self-confidence.	4	14.8	8

Table 2-1. Reasons why English majors liked the collaborative task (N=27)

Table 2-2. Reasons why Art majors liked the collaborative task (N=7)

Question	Answers	Ν	%	Rank
What do you like most	Creating stories is interesting.	3	42.8	1
about the group	I can understand others' opinions.	З	42.8	1
collaborative task?	The task increased my self-confidence.	З	42.8	1
	I can make friends with different majors.	2	28.5	2
	The task motivated me to learn English.	2	28.5	2
	I can help peers correct their English errors.	1	14.2	3

Even though the majority of English majors enjoyed the collaborative task, the following three situations were cited as negative aspects of the project. The first is the students felt the collaborative task was time-consuming (55.6%). The second is when group members did not equally contribute to the project but still shared the scores of the group project (37%). The third one is when their group members were not diligent enough (14.8%) (See table 3-1). As for art students, being rushed to draw for the story is the most challenging aspect for them (100%), and some were not content with their lazy group members (42.8%) (See table 3-2).

One solution to a largely experienced problem, would be for the teacher to grade each individual student according to his/her individual devotion to the project, rather than assigning a group score. In the last class of the study, the English teacher asked the students to evaluate every group member and explained why they gave such a score. Interestingly, a student, Ming, who was not involved in the group work according to all of his group members' comments, came to the teacher and asked whether he would be failed because he knew his group members gave him "bad" evaluation. When the teacher asked Ming why he did not cooperate with the peers, he replied in low voices that he didn't like to talk to people, and he preferred to do the project individually. He thought his English was not good, and he was afraid that his group members would laugh at him if he made lots of English errors. From the student portfolio provided by the school, the teacher realized Ming had the problem of learning disorder. In order to understand more about Ming, the teacher talked to one of his group members, Ken, who was also his roommate. Surprisingly, Ken was very angry at Ming because Ming had totally ignored the group project. He complained that Ming was addicted to the

online video games and often stayed up late all night. However, when the teacher asked Ken why he did not report Ming's behavior to her before, Ken said he did not like to be an informer and he thought it is unkind to say some bad words behind people.

The story of Ming and Ken made the English teacher reflect that she should have interfered with the miscommunication between them if she had known the anger of Ken earlier. Nevertheless, on the one hand, since Ming is a learning disabled student, the teacher always tolerated his unusual behaviors in class such as dozing, or frequently using the restroom. On the other hand, due to typical Chinese character, Ken swallowed his anger about Ming in order to maintain the fake group harmony. Probably, both the English teacher and Ken were wrong. Their tolerance did not help Ming to face his problem and as a consequence, his group suffered from this during the collaborative project.

Question	Answers	Ν	%	Rank
What do you dislike most	The collaborative task took me lots of time.	15	55.6	1
about the group collaborative	Group members shared the scores of	10	37.0	2
task?	the group project even though each			
	one did not contribute equally.			
	My group members were being lazy.	4	14.8	3
	Group discussion was troublesome.	2	7.4	4
	I didn't learn anything from the task.	2	7.4	4
	Group discussions bored me.	2	7.4	4
	My group members rejected my suggestions	1	3.7	5
	My inadequate English competence	1	3.7	5
	made me feel embarrassed.			

Table 3-1. Reasons why English majors disliked the collaborative task (N=27)

Table 3-2. Reasons why art majors disliked the collaborative task (N=7)

Question	Answers	Ν	%	Rank
What do you dislike most	The project was completed in a hurry.	7	100	1
about the group collaborative	My group members were being lazy.	3	42.8	2
task?	Group discussion was troublesome.	1	14.2	3
	The collaborative task took me lots of	1	14.2	3
	time.			

Fortunately, the other groups did not suffer from similar unhappy experiences. Instead, the majority of participants believed they gained something from the collaborative task. Students' answers to the open-ended question- "What are the greatest gains from the collaborative project?" show that a half of the language students were very excited about having their own picture book (see table 4-1). As one student wrote, "I have never made an English picture book in my life. And I can't believe that we even get it published. How thrilling it is!" Moreover, working with peers is another gain for approximately 20% of the language students. For example, one student said, "It's very interesting to make a picture book together. I'm so proud of my team. And I greatly enjoy the successful accomplishment of our task."

As for art students, in addition to creating a picture book (42.8%), trans-disciplinary collaboration (28.6%) and the joy of self-accomplishment (28.6%) were also valued to them (See table 4-2). One student wrote that, "I never knew I can draw so fast. It's really amazing."

Table 4-1. English majors' greatest gains (N=26)

Item	Ν	%	Rank
Creating a picture book and getting it published	13	50	1
Team collaboration	5	19.2	2
Reading some English picture books	4	15.4	3
Getting to know new vocabulary	3	11.5	4
Understanding my own inadequacy when I compared myself wit	1	3.9	5
others			

Table 4-2. Art majors' greatest gains (N=7)			
Item	Ν	%	Rank
Creating a picture book and getting it published	3	42.8	1
Trans-disciplinary collaboration	2	28.6	2
Realizing I could draw quickly	2	28.6	2

Regarding the students' deepest frustration at the collaborative project, only three English majors gave their answers. It seems that very few students felt dissatisfied with the group work. Among the three students, one student was upset that the length of his/her group story was shorter than that of other groups, probably feeling sorry that his/her group did not work hard enough. Another student expressed that he/she would have liked to be involved more in the project rather than just sitting there and while the group leader did everything. The third student had difficult time in translating Mandarin into English (see table 5-1). In contrast, art students felt frustrated when they had to get the painting task done in a hurry (42.8%), and some were not satisfied with the quality of their own drawing (28.6%). Another student complained that due to the sudden change of the storyline, she had to draw the pictures all over again (See table 5-2). It seems that some miscommunication did happen between language students and art students.

Table 5-1. English majors' deepest frustration (N=3)

Item	Ν	%
Other groups' stories are longer than ours.	1	33.3
I did not contribute enough, because our group leader	1	33.3
had done everything for us.		
Translating Mandarin into English was frustrating.	1	33.3

Table 5-2. Art majors' deepest frustration (N=7)

Item	Ν	%
I was rush to get the painting task done.	3	42.8
My painting quality was not good enough because the given tim	2	28.6
was not enough.		
My team changed the story suddenly when I had almost finished	1	14.3
the illustration.		
I was not familiar with the drawing software.	1	14.3

Among the ten language students who would make changes if they could do the project again, six students wanted to work harder, three students said they would participate more in the discussion, and one student would revise the story content and make it even better (see table 6-1). As for art students, three students would discuss more thoroughly with their group members, two would complain less, and one wanted to improve her painting skills (see table 6-2).

Table 6-1. English majors' changes if they could do the task again (N=10)

Item	Ν	%
Work harder.	6	60
Participate more in the group discussion.	3	30
Revise the content of the story and make it better.	1	10

Table 6-2. Art majors' changes if they could do the task again (N=7)

Item	Ν	%
Spent more time discussing with group members.	3	42.8
Complain less.	2	28.6
Improve my painting skills.	2	28.6

Two language students offered their suggestions about the course. One student suggested that the teacher should not limit the theme of the picture book to the ocean. He/she thought that it would be better to allow students to decide the theme of the picture book. The other student proposed that they should have a chance to preview each illustrator's work before they decide which one to draw for their story according to the painter's painting style.

Finally, eighteen language students left some touching and interesting messages to the teacher. As typical Chinese students would express their appreciation to the elder before they depart, they said "thank you for teaching us", "to be your student is a blessing", or "I like your student-centered instruction" (see table 7-1).

Art students offered different suggestions from those of language students (see table 7-2). Apparently, they were more concerned about the way of interaction between group members. Five among seven art students expressed that sometimes it is not clear to communicate through the online media platform LINE. They suggested that group members need to meet face-to-face so that they could clarify their thoughts. Another interesting suggestion is that teachers should arrange two illustrators in one team to provide a sense of belonging and to counter loneliness of the art students. In this study, each group only has one art student. Before the art students started drawing, they had to wait until the language students came up with the story content. Thus, when the language students delayed the production of the story, the illustrators were in a panic trying to finish the project on time. That's why some art students stressed that it is vital to make a strict timetable for the project.

Table 7-1. English majors' messages for the teacher (N= 18)

Item	N	%
Thank you for teaching us.	7	38.8
You have been working hard.	6	33.3
I like the student-centered instruction.	2	11.1
Writing the reflections of picture books is difficult,	1	5.6
but I think it's worthy.		
Please let me pass.	1	5.6
I want to meet your dog.	1	5.6
Table 7-2. Art majors' messages for the teacher $(N=7)$		

Item	Ν	%
In addition to online discussion, group members should	5	71.4
meet in person and discuss face to face.		
Arrange two painters from the same campus in one	1	14.3
team; being alone is very painful.		
Give more time to draw for the story.	1	14.3

All in all, the findings of this study are in accord with the results of the previous studies on collaborative learning (Arisa, 2015; Sun, 2017). However, the present study enhances the previous studies' findings by investigating trans-disciplinary collaboration among two different majors. Transdisciplinary teamwork has been promoted by scholars in educational settings as it reflects real world circumstances and enhances student communication skills. However, there is no denying that working with peers from different majors can cause frustrations to students, in the present case study, particularly to freshman students since they might be lacking in collaborative working experiences at all. Previous studies show that efficient communication and information management are major issues if transdisciplinary work should succeed (Vyt, 2008). Therefore, the quality of team meeting is important. In the present study, the students across campuses could rely on Line messages to communicate with each other. This might hinder further and more thorough discussions among group members. As previous studies pointed out, learners in an online environment may have limited social interactions (Pang, Lau, Seah, Cheong, and Low, 2018). This study suggests that when a group consists of members from different campuses, online communication alone will possibly lead to misunderstanding and reduce the collaboration dynamics.

For transdisciplinary teamwork, there is also a need for a collective code of ethics, that is, a shared complementary responsibility (Vyt, 2018). In this study, several students were not happy about their group members' contribution to the completion of the learning task. Therefore, this study suggests that effective team coaching is essential. Teachers can play a more active role as supervisor and moderator.

#### Conclusions

In this study, English majors and art majors collaborated in creating picture books through the social media platform LINE. The majority of the participating students believed this is a successful and pleasant experience. They also enjoyed meeting new friends from different campuses and with different talents. However, while most students valued the collaborative task, some students might feel dissatisfied when their group members did not devote themselves to the task, or when someone in the group was reluctant to listen to others' opinions. Due to Chinese character, many students may hide their dissatisfaction with their peers for the sake of group harmony. Therefore, the teacher should join each discussion group, monitor the process of collaboration, and pay special attention to the situation if there is disagreement between group members. It will be even better if the teacher could advise students some strategies to communicate or negotiate with their classmates before they participate in the task. Finally, to encourage the social interactions among group members, teachers could arrange learners with different majors to meet in person. Thus, learners may have better communication and then finish their project even more smoothly.

#### References

Afghari, A., & Khayatan, P. (2017). Collaborative learning and Iranian EFL learners' vocabulary improvement through snowball and world-webbing techniques. International Journal of English Language and Translation Studies, 5(2), 122-131.

Arisa K. (2015). Using picture books to enhance motivation and language learning of remedial EFL learners. Indonesian EFL Journal, 1(1), 10-16.

Ashcraft, D. & Treadwell, T. (2007). The social psychology of online collaborative learning: the good, the bad, and the awkward. In: Orvis, K. L. and Lassiter, A. L. R. (eds.), Computer supported collaborative learning: best practices and principles for instructors. Hershey, PA: Information Science Publishing, 140–163.

Faustin, M. (2013). Promoting university students' collaborative learning through instructor-guided writing groups. International Journal of Higher Education, 2(3), 1-11.

Gokhale, A.A. (1995). Collaborative learning enhances critical thinking. Journal of Technology Education, 7(1),22-30.

Imai, Y. (2010). Emotions in SLA: New insights from collaborative learning for an EFL classroom. Modern Language Journal, 94(2), 278-292

Linh, N.D., & Suppasetseree, S. (2016). The development of an instructional design model on Facebook based collaborative learning to enhance EFL students' writing skills. IAFOR Journal of Language Learning, 2(1), 48-66.

Pang, C., Lau, J., Seah, C.P. Cheong, L., & Low, A. (2018). Socially challenged collaborative learning of secondary studies in Singapore. Education Sciences, 8(1), 24.

Stapa, A. H. (2009). Support from a distance: Perceptions of Malaysian students on computer mediated collaborative learning. The Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education, 10(4), 104-115

Sun, C. H. (2017). The value of picture-book reading-based collaborative output activities for vocabulary retention. Language Teaching Research, 21(1), 96-117.

Vygotsky, Lev. (1997). Interaction between learning and development. New York: W.H. Freeman and Company.

Vyt, A. (2008). Interprofessional and transdisciplinary teamwork in health care. Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews, 24(51), 106-109.

Yang, Y.T.C., Chuang, Y.C., Li, L.Y., & Tseng, S.S. (2013). A blended learning environment for individualized English listening and speaking integrating critical thinking. Computer & Education, 63, 285-305.

#### Ting Zeng, Ju Wen\*

School of Foreign Languages and Cultures, Chongqing University, Chongqing, China Guangzhou ALP School, Guangdong, China \*School of Foreign Languages and Cultures, Chongqing University, Chongqing, China

jupiter@cqu.edu.cn

## Is SET system effective in promoting EFL learners' speaking proficiency? Evidence from a longitudinal study

#### Bio data



Ting Zeng is a chief assessment researcher at Guangzhou ALP School where she is in charge of the Language Education & Assessment Section. She is also a visiting scholar at Chongqing University. Her research interests include language assessment, language education and interpretation studies.



Ju Wen is currently a PhD student in Language, Cognition & Intelligent Computing at the School of Foreign Languages & Cultures, Chongqing University, China. His research interests include CALL, educational data mining and quantitative linguistics.

#### Abstract

This study aims to explore, from a longitudinal perspective, the effectiveness of using a responsive spoken-English training (SET) system in oral English teaching and learning for EFL students in China. The system, based on automatic speech recognition (ASR) and deep neural networks, is a popular SET app that is capable of rendering immediate corrective feedbacks on different facets (accuracy, fluency and completeness) of speaking performance. Two groups of freshman students, who enrolled in the same spoken English course, were invited to participate in the study that lasted for one academic year. Students from the experimental group were required to finish various types of oral tasks with the SET app, while their peers in the control group were assigned to accomplish similar tasks by recording themselves and submitting the recording to their instructors. Upon the completion of the course, all participants were directed to finish a questionnaire on their perceived usefulness, attitude towards using. Results revealed that the integration of SET application in the course is positive in improving spoken-English proficiency. To be specific, students from the experimental group outperformed their counterpart in the control group in spoken activities such as read aloud, listen and retell, role play. We therefore argue that, based on the findings of this study, the application of computer-assisted language learning technology (SET system in our case) has helped to elevate students' effective access to individualized spoken-English tutoring opportunities.

Keywords: spoken English training; ASR; CAPT; longitudinal exploration

#### **Conference paper**

#### Introduction

The advancement of machine learning and big data has made possible the large-scale personalized oral English training based on machine, which has triggered the development

and widespread application of the spoken English training (SET) systems in the foreign language education field. In the traditional spoken-English classroom, given the large number of students in one class, it is impossible for teachers to give prompt corrective and responsive feedbacks to every student.

However, with the use of SET systems, not only more opportunities are given to students to practice in and beyond class, but also detailed feedbacks in terms of pronunciation, fluency and completeness can be gained instantly. Students' motivation of learning has proved to be largely promoted and satisfactory improvements have been reported.

The SET systems, in general, are the integration of technologies such as automatic speech recognition (ASR), computer assisted pronunciation training (CAPT), machine learning (ML) and learning management system (LMS). Targeting at assisting verbal language training and providing diagnostic assessment, these systems have been welcomed by both EFL learners and teachers.

Previous research has investigated the use of SET and alike systems in various contexts. One line of research in the area is the design and development of ASR and CAPT systems in various forms (Doremalen et. al., 2016; Neri, Cucchiarini, & Strik, 2001; Warschauer & Healey, 1998; Zhao, 2003). Another line of research focuses on using ASR and CAPT systems as a means of verbal language assessment (Litman, Strik, & Lim, 2018; Sabu & Rao, 2018).

Despite the widespread adoption of SET systems in recent years, to our knowledge, whether these systems are effective in promoting EFL learners spoken proficiency remain largely unidentified. To this end, the current study aims at validating the effectiveness of SET systems in spoken English teaching and learning by means of experiments, which lasted for two semesters.

The following research question quides the present study: Is the SET system effective in promoting EFL learners' speaking proficiency in the longitudinal perspective?

#### Method

#### **Participants**

A total number of 105 participants were recruited from a university located in southwest of China, they were all non-English major freshmen students. The data shown in Table 1 indicated that both the control group and experiment group are similar in terms of the demographic features such as population, the ratio of genders and age in average.

	Population	Male	Female	Age in average (Years)
Control Group	53	14	39	20.17
Experiment Group	52	12	40	20.41

#### The SET system

The FiF spoken-English training system, based on automatic speech recognition (ASR) and deep neural networks, is a popular SET app that is capable of rendering immediate corrective and responsive feedbacks on different facets (accuracy, fluency and completeness) of speaking performance. In addition to its broad application in over 1,000 schools and universities across China, FiF has been officially adopted as the spoken-English assessment application by the National College Entrance Examination in Guangdong province in 2013 and the College English Test in 2015 nationwide.

••••• 中国电位	፤ ≎ 15:38 @ √ ७ \$ ■⊃	・・・・・・・中国电信 令 15:17 ④ イ 0 ※ ■□・	•••••• 中国电信 令 15:31 ④ ブ ぎ 常 ■□	••••••中国移动
( ★下	/e/ vs/æ/		Topic	THE ALMAN LAND
set /set/		way to Columbia University. Can you give me directions, please? 我想到再伦比亚士学主	Personally speaking, I'd like to be an owner of a restaurant. And I have two main reasons.	
/let/	00	20回転用 200 (100 (100 (100 (100 (100 (100 (100		描述图片,点明问题 (1) 首先要从整体上概括图片所呈现的问题,即儿 重食用垃圾食品的问题。 <示例>
/get/ pet	00	准确度 86 流利度 99 完整度 100	准确度 77 流利度 94 完整度 100	As is shown in the picture, the junk food problem in children has been noticed by more and more people. 正如照外所示,儿童食用起恐食品的问题给我
/pet/ met /met/	00	Sorry, I'm from out of town myself. But I know it's in Manhattan.	Reason 1 First, restaurant managers must have outgoing	来越多的人所关注。 (2) 接着描述图片的具体内容。本题图片描述的是 一个大人对一个吃着垃圾食品的孩子发出感叹的情
beg	去挑战	为不起,我也不定这十地 方的。但是我知道是在曼 哈顿区.	personalities which I lack.	□. □ • □ • □ • □ · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Figure 1. Screenshots of various spken-English activities in the FiF app in smartphone

#### Design

All the participants attended a compulsory spoken-English course that lasted for 32 weeks (two semesters) with two in-class sessions per week. Prior to being assigned into a specific class (group), all the participants were required to take a spoken-English placement test. For students in the experiment group, they were required to finish various types of oral tasks with the SET app, while their peers in the control group were assigned to accomplish similar tasks by recording themselves and submitting the recording to their instructors.

The participants' performance in the given tasks was automatically evaluated by the SET app for the experiment group, while that of the control group was manually judged by two instructors. Before the experiment, two experienced independent instructors were trained to score the spoken performance of the sample recordings. The mean of their scoring results were compared with that of the automatically generated score based on the same sample recordings by the SET system. Statistics (r = 0.902, p = 0.000) showed that significant correlation was found between the human and machine scoring.

For the experiment, six spoken tasks were given at the beginning, in the middle and at the end of each semester respectively (see Table 2 below). That is, three oral tasks were assigned in each semester. All the tasks were evaluated in terms of pronunciation, fluency and completeness.

Task #	Semester	Task description	Quantity of questions
1	1	Listen and repeat (words)	30
2	1	Listen and repeat (sentences)	10
3	1	Oral dictation	10
4	2	Role-play reading	5
5	2	Listen and repeat (paragraphs)	2
6	2	Picture description	1

Table 2. List of spoken-English tasks

#### Instruments

A follow-up 7-point Likert scale survey (see Table 3 below) on the perceived usefulness and attitude towards using was issued to all the participants in the experiment group at the end of the second semester. Reliability test showed the coefficient was .87, indicating that the items in the survey have high internal consistency.

Table 5. Quest	contaire on the perceived userumess and attitude towar	as using of FIF	
Construct	Item	Values (1-7)	Item
			references
Perceived	<ol> <li>FiF is useful to assist me in speaking.</li> </ol>		Huang (2016)
Usefulness	<ol><li>FiF is useful to assist me in speaking fluently.</li></ol>		
	<ol><li>Using FiF, I can speak much better.</li></ol>		
Attitude	<ol><li>I like using FiF to assist me in speaking.</li></ol>		Huang (2016)
Toward	5. I think using FiF is a good idea.		
Using	6. I think that FiF makes speaking English more		
	interesting.		

arcaived usefulness and attitu

#### **Results & Discussions**

The descriptive statistics of the spoken-English placement test are presented in Table 4. From the statistics, the score values of the control group and experiment group are similar in terms of mean, standard deviation, maximum, and minimum. The findings are selfevident in that spoken performance of the control group and experiment group in the placement test is comparably close. An independent samples test (F = 11.021, p = 0.432) also found no significant difference between the control group and experiment group.

Table 4. Descriptive statistics of the spoken-English placement test						
	Mean	Median	S.D.	Max	Min	
Control Group	72.54	74.66	6.33	80.66	56.00	
Experiment Group	71.72	72.00	4.16	78.67	60.67	

The results of each assessing aspects such as pronunciation, fluency and completeness were plotted in Figures 2 to 4. Participants from the experiment group scored higher in almost all aspects except completeness in the 4<sup>th</sup> task. This significant difference can be accounted for by the immediate responsive and corrective feedbacks provided by the SET system. On the contrary, participants in the control group were less involved in such kind of interaction.



Figure 2. Results of pronunciation in the six tasks







Figure 4. Results of completeness in the six tasks

After 32 weeks, as shown in Figure 5, the overall score of participants in the experiment group outrun their peers in the control group. Besides, the time (see Figure 6 below) that the experiment group spent on these tasks are long than that of the control group, indicating participants in the experiment group are more like to 'interact' with the SET system to improve their results.



Figure 5. Results of overall scores in the six tasks



Figure 6. Statistics of the time spent in the six tasks

The results of the follow-up questionnaire indicated that most participants in the experiment group were positive in using SET apps such as FiF in the study of spoken English. (see Figure 7 below)



Figure 7. Statistics of the follow-up survey

#### Conclusion

The spoken-English training systems has made individualized tutoring in oral English training a possibility, with prompt corrective and responsive feedbacks, EFL learners are empowered with abundant opportunities of verbal interactions, which otherwise, would not be possible in real pedagogical practice. This longitudinal study, enduring for 32 weeks, provided empirical evidence of the usefulness and effectiveness of adopting SET technology in assisting and promoting verbal language learning. Future studies may consider enlarge the population of participants, and extend duration of the experiment into more than two semesters.

#### References

Huang, Y. (2016). The factors that predispose students to continuously use cloud services: Social and technological perspectives. Computers & Education, 97, 86–96.

Litman, D., Strik, H. & Lim, G. (2018). Speech Technologies and the Assessment of Second Language Speaking: Approaches, Challenges, and Opportunities. Language Assessment Quarterly, 15(3), 294-309.

M. Golonka, Ewa & Bowles, Anita & M. Frank, Victor & L. Richardson, Dorna & Freynik, Suzanne. (2014). Technologies for foreign language learning: A review of technology types and their effectiveness. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 27(1), 70-105.

Neri, A., Cucchiarini, C., & Strik, H. (2001). Effective feedback on L2 pronunciation in ASR-based CALL. In Proceedings of the Workshop on Computer Assisted Language Learning, Artificial Intelligence in Education Conference (pp. 40-48). San Antonio, TX: AIED.

Sabu, K. and P. Rao (2018). "Automatic assessment of children's oral reading using speech recognition and prosody modeling." CSI Transactions on ICT, 6(2), 221-225.

Warschauer, M., & Healey, D. (1998). Computers and language learning: An overview. Language Teaching, 31(2), 57-71.

Zhao, Y. (2003). Recent developments in technology and language learning: A literature review and meta-analysis. CALICO Journal, 21(1), 7-27.

### Sumei Wu, Meei-Ling Liaw, Paige Ware

Southern Methodist University, Dallas, the United States National Taichung University of Education, Taichung, Taiwan Southern Methodist University, Dallas, the United States

sumeiw@smu.edu, meeilingliaw@gmail.com, pware@smu.edu

# Virtual rReality simulations: a medium for promoting pedagogical interactions among teachers in an intercultural telecollaborative project

#### Bio data



**Sumei Wu** is a doctoral student in education at Southern Methodist University. Her research interests include telecollaboration for teacher intercultural learning and teacher professional development of adaptive teaching competence with English learners.



**Meei-Ling Liaw** is professor of the Department of English at National Taichung University of Education. Her research focuses on intercultural learning, teacher education, and using computer technology to facilitate EFL teaching and learning. She is the chief editor of *Taiwan International ESP Journal* and associate editor of *Language Learning and Technology*.



**Paige Ware** is Professor in Education at Southern Methodist University. Her research focuses both on the use of multimedia technologies for fostering language and literacy growth among adolescents, as well as on the use of Internet-based communication for promoting intercultural awareness through international and domestic online language and culture partnerships.

#### Abstract

This intercultural telecollaborative project explores the types of learning opportunities that Virtual Reality Simulations (VRS) can provide for pedagogically rich interactions among teachers from different cultural and linguistic backgrounds. The VRS, a new technology, allows participants to teach three human-augmented avatar ESL students in real time. Participants include three experienced language teachers in Taiwan and two experienced language teachers in the U.S. They taught individual ten-minute lessons in the VRS and met in real time over Zoom to compare and contrast their teaching; they then co-planned, co-taught a 30-minute lesson, and discussed their teaching. Multiple data sources were collected: video recordings of VRS teaching, teacher written reflections, Zoom video recordings of teachers' co-planning and debriefing conferences, and lesson plans. Preliminary findings reveal that VRS mediated the development of a pedagogical "third space" for teachers across cultures (Kramsch, 1993; Skerrett, 2010). The teachers tended to refer to teaching moments of high cultural interest and such teaching moments triggered their critical analysis of cultural inflection points in the videos. Further, the teachers'

conversations led to their discovery of similarities and differences in their teaching beliefs and practices, and directed their attention to implicit values in the teaching acts.

#### **Conference paper**

This presentation reports on an intercultural telecollaborative project exploring the types of learning opportunities that Virtual Reality Simulations (VRS) can provide for pedagogically rich interactions among teachers from different cultural and linguistic backgrounds. The VRS in this project involved a new technology that allows participants to teach a small group of three human-augmented avatar children in real time. The avatar children were animated by a human "simulation specialist" trained to enact five profiles of 13-year-old, intermediate level ESL students (Driver, 2018; Murphy, Cash, & Kellinger, 2018; Schott & Marshall, 2018). The use of VRS echoes O'Dowd's (2016) call for telecollaborative tasks with higher-level authenticity in order to promote authentic social interaction and intercultural awareness of learners, which also in turn, allows the explorations of the VRS affordances in a telecollaborative project. Its integration contains the potential, as an expanded approach to conventional telecollaboration, of providing more revealing insights on the social impact of telecollaboration on the intercultural learning of teachers.

In a three-phase approach, participants exchanged information about themselves, and their teaching beliefs on Padlet; they made and enacted individual ten-minute VRS lessons; they then met in real time over Zoom after watching one another's recordings to discuss their own teaching; finally, they co-planned and co-taught a 30-minute lesson in the VRS, followed with a discussion about their teaching via Zoom. This three-phase approach reflects the task types and sequence described by O'Dowd and Ware (2009) of information exchange, comparison, and collaboration. Therefore, in using this socioconstructive lens to ground a task-based learning approach to the project design, we positioned the teachers to enhance their critical thinking about pedagogies and intercultural communication by teaching, reflecting, and co-teaching across linguistic, cultural, and geographic lines (Belz, 2002; Byram, 1997; O'Dowd & Ware, 2009).

We explored within this new type of telecollaborative tasks—teaching in a VR simulation, reflecting, and then co-teaching—how teachers performed and produced teaching events that became the context for intercultural social conversations grounded in concrete instances of pedagogical decision-making. Participants include three experienced language teachers (elementary school teachers enrolled in a M.A. program) in Taiwan and two experienced language teachers (who are studying for a doctoral degree in education) in the U.S. They were formed in two groups of two/ three intercultural partners to (co-)plan and enact lesson plans; observe video recordings of their teaching to make comparisons and analyses; reflect on their teaching practices; and interact to understand each other's instructional beliefs and decision-making in language and culture teaching. These interactions took place using multiple online tools (i.e., Padlet, email, Google docs, Zoom), primarily using Zoom, a synchronous videoconferencing tool.

Data were collected from four sources: video recordings of participants' VRS teaching practices, written reflections, video recordings of participants' co-planning and debriefing on Zoom video conferences, and teacher-made lesson plans. The analytical lenses included Gee's (2011) discourse analysis tool of intertextuality and the two dimensions of Bryam's (1997) intercultural communicative competence framework (skills of discovery and interaction, critical cultural awareness). The data were analyzed to understand the following: 1) the types of intertextuality functions the teaching events produced via the platform of VRS for the enrichment of pedagogical conversations, which reflect the types of opportunities the VRS provides for pedagogically rich conversations among the teachers, 2) the mediated roles the VRS exhibits in the teachers' development of discovery and interaction skills as well as their critical cultural awareness, 3) ways in which the conversations about instructional practices and teaching goals share common threads

across different language education contexts. Data analyses were conducted as an iterative process with alignment along the protocols established in grounded theory case study qualitative research (Miles, Hubermann, & Saldana, 2019). Open coding of the transcripts of all text-based and transcribed files of video recordings will take place using qualitative analysis software (NVivo12) to develop a coding system, followed by two independent raters using the coding system with a goal to achieve interrater reliability of 80% or higher.

Preliminary findings reveal that VRS mediated the development of a pedagogical "third space" for teachers across cultures (Kramsch, 1993; Skerrett, 2010; Helm, Guth, & Farrah, 2012). It enabled them to engage in teaching events that functioned as "significant reference sources within and across cultures [to] elicit their significance and connotations" (Brym, 1997, 53). The teachers tended to refer to teaching moments of high cultural interest, and the teaching events triggered their critical analysis of cultural inflection points in the videos. The teachers' conversations led to their discovery of similarities and differences in their teaching beliefs and practices, and directed their attention to implicit values in the teaching acts. In terms of the ways the teachers shared common threads in their instructional practices and teaching goals, the analysis of their pedagogical conversations showed three major patterns: a) both teachers in Taiwan and teachers in the U.S. valued the input from intermediate ESL students and showed high-level awareness to purposefully use strategies to elicit responses from them, particularly their open-ended responses, b) the teachers from both educational settings designed and enacted lessons focused on objective goals for the intermediate ESL students to master conceptual understanding of a topic and develop their language skills, and c) the teachers tended to compromise instructional time for cultural learning to the development of content and language due to the pressure to address the expectations of high-stake testing and their tendency to stick to original lesson plans and avoid the lesson flow being disrupted in order to ensure the lesson objectives to be fulfilled, which was particularly salient when moments of cultural inquiries or disagreement arose among the ESL students from diverse cultures. In general, the teachers' knowledge base (especially in pedagogical and cultural dimensions) broadened and their critical cultural awareness increased as they continuously analyzed and reflected on their instructional decisions across international contexts. Based on the findings, the presenters will provide suggestions for the integration of virtual reality simulations into a telecollobrative project to enrich teachers' intercultural learning experience and prepare them to become interculturally sensitive educators.

#### References

Belz, J. A. (2002). Social dimensions of telecollaborative foreign language study. *Language Learning & Technology*, 6(1), 60–81.

Byram, M. (1997). *Teaching and assessing intercultural communicative competence*. Clevedon, UK: Multilingual Matters.

Driver, M. (2018). Using mixed reality simulations to prepare preservice special educators for collaboration in Inclusive settings. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education*, *2*6(1), 57-77.

Gee, J. P. (2010). *How to do discourse analysis: A toolkit*. Routledge.

Helm, F., Guth, S., & Farrah, M. (2012). Promoting dialogue or hegemonic practice? Power issues in telecollaboration. *Language Learning & Technology*, *16*(2), 103-127.

Kramsch, C. (1993). *Context and culture in language teaching*. Oxford University Press.

Miles, M. B., Huberman, A. M., & Saldana, J. (2019). *Qualitative data analysis: A methods sourcebook*. Sage Publications.

Murphy, K. M., Cash, J., & Kellinger, J. J. (2018). Learning with avatars: Exploring mixed reality simulations for next-generation teaching and learning. In *Handbook of Research on Pedagogical Models for Next-Generation Teaching and Learning* (pp. 1-20). IGI Global.

O'Dowd, R. (2016). Learning from the past and looking to the future of online intercultural exchange. *Online intercultural exchange: Policy, pedagogy, practice*, 273.

O'Dowd, R., & Ware, P. (2009). Critical issues in telecollaborative task design. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 22(2), 173-188. doi:10.1080/09588220902778369

Schott, C., & Marshall, S. (2018). Virtual reality and situated experiential education: A conceptualization and exploratory trial. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, *34*(6), 843-852.

Skerrett, A. (2010). Lolita, facebook, and the third space of literacy teacher education. Educational Studies, 46(1), 67–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00131940903480233</u>

#### Lisha Xu

Mount Holyoke College, South Hadley, U.S.A

lxu@mtholyoke.edu

## Facilitate Aautonomous learning of Chinese language with social media enhanced pedagogy

#### Bio data

Lisha Xu specializes in teaching Chinese as a foreign language. Her research interest is technology-assisted Chinese language learning. She conducted several research projects on online listening and extensive reading, technology-assisted vocabulary acquisition and teaching, and integrating blended learning approaches. Her publications include a co-authored textbook and two short papers on EUROCALL 2017 and WorldCall 2008.

#### Abstract

Reinhardt (2019) concluded autonomy is the key to achieving the goal of lifelong second language learning (p.26). Lai (2017) noted that "autonomy is an important component in successful language learning, and it can occur in both formal and informal contexts" (p.1). Scholars argued networked digital technologies enable language learners to express autonomy through collaborative and individualized language learning (Tim, Marco, Annick Rivens, 2017, p1). Studies have explored the use of digital technologies and the impact they have on second language learning and learner autonomy (e.g., Dizon & Thanyawatpokin, 2018; Hamada, 2012; Wang & Li, 2017). Yet quite a few studies have focused on autonomous Chinese language learning with technology out of a classroom. Thus, the aim of this study was twofold: 1) to examine the effectiveness of social media as a pedagogical method to support self-directed Chinese learning beyond the classroom and bridge in-class instruction to out-of-classroom learning, and 2) to understand the nature of autonomous Chinese language learning with technology among learners in three proficiency levels for in-depth exploring of aspects that the instructor can support.

Keywords: Social Media, Chinese language learning, Learner Autonomy

#### **Conference** paper

#### Introduction

Current discussion among Chinese language instructors/scholars focuses on adopting digital technologies as a pedagogical method to promote out-of-classroom learning. One of the goals of self-directed learning is the "promotion of emancipatory learning and social action" (as cited in Lai, 2017, p.18). Peeters and Ludwig (2017) claimed that the rapid development of social media in recent years developed approaches for learner autonomy that "highlight the social and collaborative dimension" (p.115). The current study examines the pedagogical practices involving social media tools, WeChat (SNS) and blog, to teach Chinese language learners at novice, intermediate, and advanced level. These practices aim to encourage learners' participation in both collaborative and individualized language learning activities synchronously and/or asynchronously to facilitate autonomous learning of Chinese and to support the rapid development of Chinese language skills in reading and writing.

This paper first reviews available research in the field of autonomous language learning and digital technology practices, which highlights theoretical models, ways to develop learner autonomy in language learning with technology and the role of social media in achieving language-learning proficiency. Then it presents the pedagogical design of adopting WeChat and blog to encouraging learner autonomy and addresses the research from the perspectives of learners to identify potential opportunities of applying social media in teaching and learner behavior in practice. Lastly, the paper discusses and provides recommendations on pedagogical practices enhancement.

#### Literature Review

Autonomous language learning with digital technologies beyond the classroom Lai (2017) stated the learning context influences autonomous learning with technology beyond the classroom (p.14). Chik (2018) argued that the digital era expanded the affordances of foreign language education, and the learner should have "the competence to manage the learning and understand learning needs" (p.88). Nonetheless, scholars stated that instructors play an essential role to engage students in using technology autonomously in learning. For that reason, instructors are crucial in socially mediating learner autonomy in and out of the classroom (Lai, 2017, p.116). This leads to the question: How can educators support autonomous language learning with technology beyond the classroom? Lai (2017) highlighted several theoretical models and proposed a theoretical framework to help educators understand and facilitate the development of autonomous learning of language with technology. The theories and models include "technology adoption models" (p.37), "self-regulated learning models" (p.41) and "Hubbard's CALL learner-training principles" (p.44). The models stress that: 1) learner's psychological factors and contextual characteristics are key factors influencing autonomous learning with technology; 2) learner's motivation and strategies should be assessed to increase learner's awareness of individualized learning and to involve in autonomous learning of language; 3) technologies and resources should be carefully selected and integrated into the curriculum to meet pedagogical needs and benefit developing specific language skills; 4) learner's autonomy, experiences, and behavior interact with technology in bi-directional ways in the learning process. Therefore, these frameworks provide support to learners in multifaceted dimensions. Lai (2017) pointed out that it is important to foster autonomous learning by supporting self-directed learning outside the classroom and bridging in-class instruction to out-of-class learning (p.118).

#### Social media: blog and social networking

Reinhardt (2019) argued formal and informal use of social media in second and foreign language teaching and learning could create meaningful social interactions, and this method of digital communicative practice has been integrated into teaching methods (p.4). The review also emphasizes the impacts of social media have on language learning, including it facilitates "meaningful interaction for language learning in authentic discourse communities" (as cited in Reinhardt 2019, p.4). By doing so, this "allowed individual expression through homepage authoring and participation in cyber-communication not bound by physical and temporal immediacy" (as cited in Reinhardt 2019, p.5). It provides a learning environment with the nature of "dynamic, networked, multimodal, and multinode" (as cited in Reinhardt 2018, p.5). Lai (2017) argued that the various contexts that technology provides would motivate learners to tune to learning opportunities and thus increase their autonomy (p.25). Furthermore, social network theories offer insights into the influence of social media on autonomous language learning, such as providing guidance and advice and a platform for sharing and clarifying of the learning process (Lai 2017, p.40).

#### <u>Blog</u>

Research on blog-enhanced language teaching and learning argued that blog-based tasks should support and develop learner autonomy because of creating networked communities of writers and readers and providing unique affordances for writing as a social practice" (Reinhardt 2019, p.5). Despite the "novel and convenient nature" of technology, studies found limitations because of "focusing on formal learning tasks rather than the blog-enhanced quality" may restrict learner autonomy (as cited in Reinhardt 2019, p.9). But in Sun's (2012) study, learners were motivated to freely express themselves in blogs by

emphasizing content over accuracy. Moreover, research on autonomy in a collective blog (Daniela, Kathleen, and Marco, 2017) found that autonomy naturally takes on a social dimension because the members posted to talk to the community by pooling what they have learned and providing support to each other.

#### Social networking

Scholars argued that because SNSs are now integrated with mobile technology and have functions like chatting and messaging, photo posting, multimedia sharing, it can "facilitate the development of collaborative and participatory learning communities, as well as opportunities for informal and unstructured learning" (as cited in Reinhardt 2019, p.25). The research found that multimodal resources like stickers and memos also provide the scaffolding to use the target language to benefit the lower proficiency learners (Reinhardt 2019, p19). Researchers supported "the hypothesis that giving learners a sense of control is key to developing autonomy" in promoting autonomous learning with SNS support, and suggest "unsanctioned quality of the informal group afforded the learning of interpersonal language not possible in the formal group" (as cited in Reinhardt 2019, p.25). Hamada's study (2012) found that Facebook could be a tool to enhance interaction and learner autonomy. Peeters and Ludwig's study (2017) proposed a model on peer collaboration through social networking, indicating social networking can support learner autonomy because it facilitates dialogue and negotiation. Meanwhile, the research also suggested that learners might resist learning with SNSs if "the task is required and imposed topdown" (Reinhardt 2019, p.26). The research (Katerina, Anthippi, Filio, 2017) also echoed that "formal learning environments somehow failed to enhance autonomy development in a natural, learner-driven, self-initiated way, and being autonomous is a stance that needs to be individually experienced to be socially enacted" (p.163).

#### Pedagogical Design

The essential factor of the pedagogical design is to enhance the in-class learning outcome by fostering and maintaining learner autonomy using social media tools outside of class. The social media tools used were a Wordpress blog and WeChat. WeChat is the most commonly used text and voice-messaging app among Chinese people. It is also capable of photo and article sharing, mobile wallet, RSS feed, finding people nearby, QR codes reading, eCommerce buying and selling. Incorporating WeChat in Chinese language learning allows learners to connect with their tutors and Chinese friends, creating a community with opportunities to practice Chinese autonomously outside of the classroom and maintain learner autonomy. The pedagogical design was guided by the principle proposed by Lai (2017) that focuses on incorporating technology recourses in the out-ofclass learning contexts to bridge in-class and out-of-class learning (p.156).

In the semester of Spring 2019, the instructor taught three Chinese language courses: First-year Chinese II, Second-year Chinese II, and Fourth-year Chinese (Learning Chinese through Films). At the beginning of the semester, three closed class WeChat groups and three closed class blogs were created to support the learning outside the classroom in reading and writing through frequent commentary by the instructor and classmates. The objective of these social network platforms was to promote interactive readership and to develop a sense of authority. The learners were also encouraged to express themselves in multimodal composition and digital storytelling.

The instructor posted different discussion topics in the WeChat groups along with the classroom learning to encourage students to use the language out-of-classroom. The learning resources links, such as songs, short video clips, and movies, were also provided in three WeChat groups to support self-directed learning and foster learner's autonomy. On the other dimension, the class WeChat groups were served as the platforms to involve students in non-formal learning with daily life conversations using Chinese in dynamic and multimodal contexts to promote learning motivation.

For using the blogs in language learning, first-year Chinese and second-year Chinese students were provided a topic related to each textbook chapter and required to make a

post in the various formats, such as text, picture, audio or video about personal stories or ideas related to the topic learned in the class. The students in the fourth-year Chinese class were asked to post a story of each movie watched after in-class vocabulary learning intending to facilitate vocabulary understanding, production and retention. Additionally, the fourth-year students were required to post movie clips and stories, a movie review, and a report in the format of the text to discuss Chinese movie and society at the end of the semester. The blogging required 150-200 words for first-year students, 250-350 words for second-year students, and 400-1000 words for fourth-year students.

In regards to providing feedback on posts and chats, the instructor commented on each blog post to make corrections for all first and second-year students and commented on some blog posts to make corrections for fourth-year students. Rather than pointing out errors in WeChat group chats, the instructor responded to messages by using correct grammar and language structure to encourage learners to adopt Chinese in their daily conversations. All learner's posts were included in their final semester grade.

#### The Current Study

By investigating the practices of integrating WeChat and blog activities into Chinese language learning, the study seeks to answer three research questions: whether these practices helped learners develop autonomy in Chinese language learning?; whether these practices helped learners to improve reading and writing skills?; and does autonomy motivate learners in different proficiency levels using social media in Chinese language learning?

#### Method and procedure

The participants of the study were 39 students (38 females and 1 male) from three levels of Chinese language courses at Mount Holyoke College in the semester of Spring 2019, including 22 students from first-year Chinese, 12 students from second-year Chinese, and 5 students from fourth-year Chinese. Among them, four first-year students, one second-year student, and one fourth-year student are heritage learners, two are Koreans, one is Vietnamese, and one is Turkish.

During the semester, the instructor recorded all communications on WeChat groups by phone screenshot, and categorized monthly conversations from January 2019 to April 2019 and classified all blog posts and comments by topics. I administered a questionnaire at the end of the semester to collect information about learner's experience. The questionnaire comprised of 5 multiple choice questions about how frequently learners used social media tools, what tools they preferred for language learning outside of the classroom setting, and whether learners participated in WeChat and blog activities. Additionally, 4 open-ended questions inquired for reasons why learners did not engage in online activities, and 9 questions were in the format of a five-level Liker scale where 1 represented "strongly disagree" and 5 presented "strongly agree" to perceive learners' attitude towards the autonomous Chinese language learning using WeChat and blog. Of the 39 students, 34 students responded to the questionnaire: 5 fourth-year students, 18 first-year students, and 11 second-year students.

#### Data analysis and results

At the end of the semester, the instructor reviewed the screenshots of WeChat groups and the records on the blogs.

Table 1 Summarizes the blog activities of three classes.

Class	Number of	Topics	Blog posts	Blog Comments by	Blog Comments
	students			the instructor	by classmates
First-year	22	7	117	115	70
Chinese					
Second-year Chinese	12	8	69	69	23
Fourth-year	5	11	52	17	11
Chinese	5	11	52		11

Table 2 Summarizes student number in class and WeChat group.

Class	Student number in class	Student number in the WeChat group
First-year Chinese	22	16
Second-year Chinese	12	11
Fourth-year Chinese	5	3

Table 3 Summarizes the WeChat log of three classes.

	First-year Chinese	Second-year Chinese	Fourth-year Chinese
Month	Screenshots of the posts	Screenshots of the posts	Screenshots of the posts
January	1	15	0
Feburary	12	8	2
March	0	10	2
April	8	5	1

The results for 5 multiple choice questions about the nature of autonomous language learning with social media are as follows:

Figure 1: Question1 What social media tools do you use for language learning out-of-classroom? Please check all that applied.



Figure 2: Question 2 How often do you use social media in your language learning?



Figure 3: Question 3 In the Spring of 2019, the instructor involved WeChat in Chinese learning in an informal



learning context. How often did you participate in chatting with classmates in Chinese out of classroom autonomously?

Figure 4: Question 4 In the Spring of 2019, the instructor involved blog in Chinese learning in a formal learning context. Did you post as required?



Figure 5: Question 5 Did you comment on other classmates posts?



For the open-ended questions that inquired about reasons why learners did not post and comment on the blog, did not participate in WeChat discussion, or only engaged in a few, students cited they were too busy to join the activities as the main reason for their lack of participation. For the first-year students, there were several statements I would like to include: "There were times when I was unsure how to respond, and felt awkward putting in an incorrect sentence to the group [chat]. Although I understand that it is good practice, and could have possibly corrected the mistakes I was worried about."; "I felt intimidated by the group chat because everyone could see my posts, but I would text with my native Chinese speakers occasionally."; "I didn't really feel the need to use it unless there was a prompt that the instructor put up on WeChat. Also, in general, I don't have much to say."; "I did not feel confident in my own grammar knowledge, so I was unsure of what to comment on other students' posts."

The results for 9 questions to perceive learners' attitude towards the autonomous Chinese language learning using WeChat and blog are as follows:

Figure 6: Statement 1 Non-formal learning with daily life conversations using Chinese on WeChat with dynamic and multimodal contexts promote learning motivation. One student in the first-year class checked "disagree."



Figure 7: Statement 2 Non-formal learning with WeChat supports self-directed learning and fosters learner's autonomy. One student in the first-year class and one in the second-year class checked "disagree."



Figure 8: Statement 3 Non-formal learning with WeChat helps you gradually take control of learning to reach the goal of autonomous language learning. One student in the first-year class and one in the second-year class checked "disagree."



Figure 9: Statement 4 Non-formal learning with WeChat supports the development of Chinese language skills in reading and writing. One student in the first-year class checked "disagree."



Figure 10: Statement 5 The learning resources, such as songs, short video clips, and movies, provided on WeChat, support self-directed learning and foster learner's autonomy. One student in the first-year class checked "disagree" and "Neutral" at the same time.


Figure 11: Statement 6 The class blog improves writing skills through commentary by the instructor and peer, promotes interactive readership, and develops a sense of authority. One student in the first-year class and one in second-year class checked "disagree."



Figure 12: Statement 7 The blogging in various formats, such as text, picture, audio or video to express personal stories or ideas related to the topics learned in the class facilitate learner's autonomy. One student in the first-year class checked "Strongly disagree."



Figure 13: Statement 8 The tasks assigned help support self-directed learning outside the classroom and bridge in-class instruction and out-of-class learning.



Figure 14: Statement 9 The autonomy motivates you using social media in Chinese language learning. Five students in the first-year class checked "disagree."



### Discussion and Pedagogical Implication

The results of the survey showed that overall reaction from the learners in all three levels was generally positive to the integration of WeChat and blog in enriching autonomous Chinese language outside from classroom.

First, the investigation to the nature of autonomous Chinese language learning with technology and social media among the learners in three proficiency levels displayed that although WeChat and blog were required to use, not every student was motivated to use them in out-of-class Chinese learning. The percentage of students interested in joining the WeChat group among the first-year student is 72%, for the second-year student is 92%, and for the fourth-year student is 60%. In addition to highest interest joining the WeChat group, students in the second-year class also demonstrated more interest in interacting in the group chat compared to students in the fourth-year student is the fourth-year student interest using the blog as an educational tool increased greatly. However, the percentage of students frequently participating and posting comments to classmates' posts was only 10%, with one student in the fourth-year class and two students in the second-year class responded "often."

Second, when evaluating learner's attitude towards WeChat and blog use in fostering autonomous Chinese language learning, students in all three-level mostly agreed that the practices helped them develop autonomy in Chinese language learning beyond the basic classroom setting and helped them improve their reading and writing skills. The compelling finding was that the few "disagree" voices were mostly from the students from the first-year class, especially to the last statement showed on Figure 14.

Language learners widely use social media as a tool outside of the structural classroom setting to improve language skills and facilitate learner autonomy. The current study suggested that the learner at the novice level in college needs a considerable amount of support to encourage utilizing technology as an instrument to develop motivation and maintain learner autonomy beyond the classroom.

### References

Chik, Alice (2018). Learner Autonomy and Digital Practices. In Alice Chik, Naoko Aoki, & Richard Smith (Eds), *Autonomy in Language Learning and Teaching* (p.73-92). Macmillan Publishers Ltd.

Daniela Nogueira de Moraes Garcia, Kathleen M. O'Connor, and Marco Cappellini (2017).

A Typology of Metacognition: Examining Autonomy in a Collective Blog Complied in a Teletandem Environment. In Marco Cappellini, Tim Lewis, & Annick Rivens Mompean (Eds), *Learner Autonomy and Wed 2.0* (p.67-90). Equinox Publishing Ltd.

Dizon, Gilbert & Thanyawatpokin, Benjamin (2018). Web.2.0 tools in the EFL Classroom: Comparing the Effects of Facebook and Blogs on L2 Writing and Interaction, *The EUROCALL Review*, *26*(*1*), 29-42.

Hamada, Mayumi (2012). A Facebook Project for Japanese University Students: Does it Really Enhance Student Interaction, Learner Autonomy and English Abilities? In L. Bradley & S. Thouësny (Eds.), *CALL: Using, Learning, Knowing, EUROCALL Conference, Gothenburg, Sweden,* Proceedings (p. 104-110). Research-publishing.net Dublin

Katerina Zourou, Anthippi Potolia, and Filio Zourou (2018). Informal Social Networking Sites for Language Learning: Insights into Autonomy Stances. In Marco Cappellini, Tim Lewis, & Annick Rivens Mompean (Eds), *Learner Autonomy and Wed 2.0* (p.141-164). Equinox Publishing Ltd.

Lai, Chun (2017). *Autonomous Language Learning with Technology: Beyond the Classroom*. Bloomsbury Academic.

Peeters, Ward & Ludwig, Christian (2017). 'Old Concepts in New Spaces': A Model for Developing Learner Autonomy in Social Networking Spaces. In Marco Cappellini, Tim Lewis, & Annick Rivens Mompean (Eds), *Autonomy and Wed 2.0* (p115-140). Equinox Publishing Ltd.

Reinhardt, Jonathon (2019). Social Media in Second and Foreign Language Teaching and Learning: Blogs, Wikis, and Social Networking. *Language Teaching*, 52(1), 1-39. doi:10.1017/S0261444818000356

Sun, Yu-Chih (2012). Examining the Effectiveness of Extensive Speaking Practice via Voice Blogs in a Foreign Language Learning Context. *CALICO Journal*, 29 (3), 494-506. Equinox Publishing Ltd.

Tim Lewis, Marco Cappellini, & Annick Rivens Mompean (2017). Introduction. In Marco Cappellini, Tim Lewis, & Annick Rivens Mompean (Eds), *Learner Autonomy and Wed 2.0* (p1-11). Equinox Publishing Ltd.

Wang, Shan & Li, Xiaojun (2017). Autonomous Vocabulary Learning Beyond the Classroom: New Media for Learners of Chinese as a Second Language. In S.C. Kong et al. (Eds), *Emerging Practices in Scholarship of Learning* and Teaching in a Digital Era (p. 199-217). Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. doi: 10.1007/978-981-10-3344-5\_13

# Lu Yunru, Qing Ma

The Education University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China

s1125870@s.eduhk.hk, maqing@eduhk.hk

# The usefulness and improvement of one-to-one online oral English courses in China

# Bio data

Lu Yunru is the master student in MA TESOL in the Education University of Hong Kong. Her research interested in online teaching and learning.

Qing Ma is the assistant professor at the Department of Linguistics and Modern Language Studies, The Education University of Hong Kong. Her main research interests include second language vocabulary acquisition, corpus linguistics, Chinese English, computer assisted language learning (CALL) and mobile assisted language learning (MALL).

# Abstract

Online one-to-one oral English can be considered a new form of English learning, which has been increasingly adopted by adult English learners in China. This study examines learners' perceived usefulness and their learning outcome of one online one-to-one oral English course for adult learners to find out positive aspects that contribute to usefulness of such courses and what can be further improved. 18 adult learners from different cities in mainland China participated in this study and each of them received three lessons. Data are collected through pre and post oral English tests to examine the learning outcome, questionnaire is used to examine positive and negative components, and semi-structured interviews are conducted to probe into the learners' perspectives. Quantitative results show that participants made progress in complexity and they regarded this course as a pleasant learning experience. Qualitative results revealed several factors that contribute to learners' learning: (1) opportunities to express personal views; (2) timely scaffolding; (3) efficient feedback, while improvements should be made by providing (1) homework with timely feedback and correction (2) real-time video course as choices; (3) online study groups. Four constructs "perception", "action", "relation" and "quality" of van Lier's ecological theory are used as an analytical tool and theoretical framework to provide insights into the results. A mode with four constructs is built to show inner relationships of the results and an improved course model for one-to-one online oral English learning is provided in the end.

### **Conference** paper

### Introduction

Online courses and programs soar shockingly with various forms due to a huge demand for English learning in China for different purposes like better job opportunities, reading technical materials, and studying aboard. However, due to the complexity and difficult operation on researching into synchronous one-to-one online courses, most research carried out in China focuses on asynchronous online courses, which fails to provide theoretical instructions for the active online educational market in China. Ecology, which looks at the organisms in their relationships with the environment, has been used in SLA and CALL studies to explain factors that influence the learning and provide insights into improvements (Berglund, 2009; Peng, 2012). The ecological approach, in the words of van Lier (2006, p. 17), aims to understand "what is in this environment that makes things happen the way they do." Thus, this paper applies van Lier's ecological theory as an analytical approach to examine the usefulness and students' views toward the one-to-one online oral course and then looks into the helpful and discouraging components that account for the positive and negative perspectives that shape learners' learning. Based on the findings, a number of implications for better online one-to-one oral English course model are provided.

### Theoretical framework

When ecology is applied in language learning, ecological linguistics focuses on the full complexity and interrelatedness of relationship between the organism and its learning environment (van Lier, 2006, p. 11). In this study, the participant is taken as the organism and all the elements that students encountered construct his/her online learning environment, including the instructor, class activities, course materials, and ways to stimulate interaction. According to van Lier's ecological theory (2004, p. 86), among all the characteristics of the ecological approach, "perception", "action", "relation" and "quality" are the four basic organizing constructs, which are used as an analytical tool and theoretical framework to examine the inner relationships of the learners' learning in this course.

### Perception

Perceiver is taken as an active explorer of information and the information is picked up partly driven by the purposes of the perceiver. With the multisensory characteristic of perception, the notion various senses (particularly auditory and visual) work in concert to facilitate meaning making can be extended to other areas of language experience (van Lier, 2004, p. 88).

### Action

Action must be taken if learners want to perceive. Van Lier (2004, p. 92) states "to perceive, we must act and to act, we must perceive." Learners must act to pick up linguistic information they need for activities and projects. Activities like scaffolding in one's environment bring forth the affordances in those environments that are related to the agent. In this study, previews, free talk and other sessions are activities provided for learners.

### Relation

Relation discussed in this paper is how a different self is constructed through the influence of three other constructs in this theory and interacts with each other. The self is seen as past, present, and future oriented by Colapietro (1988) and Wiley (1994). And identities can be projections as well as projectors of the self and serve to connect the self to the world in a multiplicity of ties, roles, aspirations and practical activities (van Lier, 2004, p. 96).

### Quality

The quality of educational experience, from van Lier's point of view, cannot be measured by test scores. Learning is the ability to adapt to one's environment in increasingly effective and successful ways (van Lier, 2004, p. 98). When it comes to language learning, language learning is that learners increasingly engage themselves in learning and successfully acquire some aspects of language. As van Lier explains in an ecological way, language learning is not "input" but "engagement".

According to van Lier (2004, p. 86), these four basic constructs are interrelated with each other in different situations. Van Lier's framework provides useful insight into how the participants' views towards the online learning model and usefulness of it in this paper.

### Method

### Participant information

The researcher sent a link with the introduction and requirements of course through a widely used social platform called WeChat in China. Finally, eighteen applicants from different provinces in mainland China, such as Shanghai and Guangzhou were included in the research. The variety of the students' background information ensures the representativeness and holistic findings of this small-scale study. The information of participants is provided in Table 1 below.

Number	participants	Gender	Region	English proficiency	Job	Age
1	Gao	F	Shanghai	CET-4	Travel Agent	25
2	Yang	М	Guangdong	CET-6	Postgraduate	26
3	Li	F	Jiangsu	CET-4	Undergraduate	21
4	Dannie	F	Sichuan	IELTS 7	English Teacher	27
5	Sunny	F	Guangdong	CET-4	Foreign trader	24
6	Cao	F	Inner Mongolia	TOEFL 70	Graduate	25
7	Liu	F	Guangdong	IELTS 6	Teacher of Law	25
8	Erin	F	Guangdong	TEM-8	Safety Assessor	28
9	Ма	F	Shanghai	CET-6	Postgraduate	23
10	Xiao	F	Jiangsu	CET-6	Auditor	24
11	Liang	F	Shanghai	CET-6	Undergraduate	24
12	Kong	F	Jiangsu	CET-4	Undergraduate	20
13	Hua	F	Guangdong	GET-6	Buyer	23
14	Billy	F	Guangdong	CET-6	Gynecologist	35
15	Ма	F	Guangdong	CET-6	Postgraduate	24
16	Kong	F	Guangdong	CET-6	Undergraduate	21
17	Pan	F	Guangdong	CET-6	Undergraduate	20
18	Lu	М	Guangdong	CET-4	Bidder	23

Table 1: Participant information.

### Data collection and analysis

This study examines a model (See Fig. 1) for one-to-one online oral English courses used by leading online educational companies in China. The current one-to-one online course is a reproduction based on the model used in the market of China. Eighteen young adult English learners from different parts of China are invited to attend three online one-to-one lessons designed based on the model. Both quantitative and qualitative methods are utilised to examine usefulness of the online course in two aspects: (1) progress in terms of fluency, accuracy, and complexity (using grading and t-test) and (2) students' views towards outcomes and satisfaction (using 6-point Likert Scale). Progress in oral English is examined by a test before class and a test after class, both are rated by three English teachers of the same educational company. The assessment is adapted from Skehen's mode of English proficiency assessment, which has been used in other studies to examine improvement of oral English proficiency (Liu, 2011). An online survey with 24 Fig. 1 One-to-one online English model in China



items for 6 dimensions, including (1) the instructor, (2) course structure, (3) feedback, and (4) interaction, (5) outcomes, (6) satisfaction, is employed to find out positive and negative aspects. This is followed by an semi-structured individual interview in which participants will explain their views towards the six aspects and their learning experience. Qualitative methods such as content analysis and categorisation are used to analyse all data collected.

### Results

### Results in changes in oral English proficiency

The results of pre-test and post-test below show that learners make improvement in complexity while no significant improvement in fluency and accuracy (Table 2 & Table 3). Table 2 Changes in fluency, accuracy, complexity

	Fluency pre	Fluency post	Accuracy pre	Accuracy post	Complexity pre	Complexity post
Ν	18	18	18	18	18	18
Mean	1.75	2.03	2.07	2.22	1.93	2.11
SD	0.49	0.51	0.46	0.43	0.51	0.48

Table 3 Results of t-test in fluency, accuracy, complexity

	Fluency	Accuracy	Complexity
P (T<=t) one-tail	0.08	0.13	0.03
t Critical one-tail	1.74	1.74	1.74

Although participants made progress in complexity only, their perceived outcome of course is high with a mean of 5.70 shown in Table 4 (students' views towards the learning experience). All participants regarded this experience as a pleasant learning experience with means over 5.5 in each dimension. The result of the students' views matched their overall positive understanding towards the course in the individual interview.

Table 4 Students views towards the learning experience

Factors	Mean	Standard Deviation
The role of the instructor	5.93	0.07
The course	5.93	0.06
Feedback	5.90	0.09
Interaction	5.92	0.11
Learners' perceived outcome	5.72	0.43
Learners' satisfaction	5.72	0.36

### Results of semi-structured individual interview

A careful analysis of the data collected from the interviews regarding the positive and negative aspects of their experience reveals several themes which were categorized into four constructs of van Lier's ecological theory (Table 5 & Table 6).

Table 5 Positive aspects in students' views towards their learning experience

Constructs	Positive aspects	Frequency
	Opportunities to express personal views	11/14
Perception-Action	Timely scaffolding	10/14
	Efficient feedback	3/14
Action-Quality	Successfully speaking out	5/14
	Changes in English learning strategies	3/14
	Best oral English learning experience ever	3/14
Quality-Relation	Confidence in further English learning	12/14
Relation-Perception	Motivation to improve oral English	12/14

Table 6 Negative aspects in students' views towards their learning experience

Constructs	Negative aspects	Frequency
Perception-Action	No homework with checking and feedback	11/14
	No peer interaction	3/14
Relation-Perception	No real-time video for class control	6/14
	Less formal	5/14
	Not fully preview before class	4/14

The constructs interact with each other in the situation of the course model, which results in Fig. 2 (Inner connections between four constructs of ecology) to show their have inner connections.

### Varied activities bring forth perceived affordance

The connection between action and perception is that varied activities of the course bring forth perceived affordance, which facilitates action and contributes to perception. Most of the participants reported that they gained opportunities not only to speak out but also to express their personal views and feelings, especially in the role play and free talk sessions. Participant Yang felt he had no choices but to speak and think in English due to the frequent interaction, which gave him a sense of achievement in learning English. Participant Lu memorized expressions through pictures and sometimes words in the dialog box, which improved his listening and speaking. Feedback was efficient for six of the interviewers because they recognised their mistakes and consolidated acquired information through the personal feedback. But they also reported that the lack of homework with checking and feedback made the course less effective. Peer interaction was also recommended for communication in L2 after class.

### Engagement improves the quality

In an ecological perceptive, engagement is the fuel for learning instead of "input" or "exercises" (van Lier, 2004, p. 98). Efficient learning activities should facilitate active engagement in learning, which would improve the quality of educational experience. Unlike traditional "mute English learning" in China, this course successfully encouraged participants to speak out and even helped some of them to develop appropriate strategies to assist their oral English learning, which resulted in their best oral English learning experience ever.

### Changes in beliefs in past, present, and future self

Their overall understanding to the quality of the educational experience was positive. They reported this course provided them totally different learning experience from traditional classroom, synchronous courses or one-to-many asynchronous courses. Their current learning experience reminded them of their negative oral English learning in the past and changed their views towards their abilities to speak, which led to more positive beliefs in the current and future self.

### Perception shapes new identities

Not only did the participants perceive knowledge but they also perceived themselves. It is interesting to note that they understood the necessity for concentration in class, review after class and taking classes but still they sometimes failed to control themselves. However, they came up with some solutions. Most of the participants suggested that a real-time video course be a better choice mainly because it helped in monitoring. A fixed class schedule and homework checking were also advised. From this experience, they admitted that they were not yet a successful autonomous learner but tried to find solutions to motivate their learning, which would shape new identities for themselves.

### Learning agency as the core

Learning agency is the core in this framework (Fig. 2). Van Lier claims that a completely pass learner won't learn. Participants employed agency to act and to perceive and at the same time they rebuild their identities. As Norton Peirce said (1995), "when language learners speak, they are not only exchanging information with target language speakers but they are constantly organizing and reorganizing a sense of who they are and how they relate to the social world". Actively employing agency to act in the learning activities improve the chance of higher quality of educational experience, which might change their beliefs in their past, present and future self as the participants reported.



#### Fig. 2 Inner connections between four constructs of ecology

### Discussion

The framework of inner connections between four constructs of van Lier's ecology provides insights into why and how this one-to-one online oral English course model is recognised useful and influences participants' views towards this course. According to the results above, an improved model (see Fig. 3) is provided with discussions below.

Fig. 3 Improved one-to-one online oral English course model



### Maintain role play and free talk sessions with timely scaffolding

Van Lier (2006) stated agency in the final analysis as movement, a change of state or direction, or even a lack of movement where movement is expected. If the participants want to express his/her view, he/she must organise ideas and languages then speak out. These two sessions provide room for a variety of expressions of agency like listening, speaking, thinking, memorizing to flourish. As participants reported, role play and free talk sessions with timely scaffolding successfully helped them to speak, which was not only efficient for perception but changed their belief in the present self and build up new identity who can speak English after practice.

### Homework with checking and correction fter feedback

Participants suggested that homework with checking and correction after the feedback session like a voice message should be provided as reinforcement and a tool to improve learners' proficiency. Thanks to the flexibility of taking classes, long interval and short inclass period may lead to no significant improvement in accuracy and fluency. However, that participants made progress in complexity might result from Erin's reflection that the instructor advised her to make full sentences.

### Real-time video course as choices

Van Lier (2010) agrees that autonomy, motivation and investment are in a sense product of a person's agency. According to the reflection of the participants' learning experience, this online course was less formal than a traditional classroom, which might account for distraction (not moving to learn). A real-time video, which allows the instructor to supervise the learner and provides more visual supports like facial expressions and gestures. The learner might be more concentrated and take part in more activities, which moves the inner connections of the framework in a positive way, like higher quality of educational experience and a more confident self.

### Online study group before and after class

Online study group with learners and the instructor before and after class is suggested for peer interaction in English. According to van Lier's perceptive of ecology, agency is also closely connected to identity, and this emphasizes the social and dialogical side of agency: it depends not only on the individual, but also on the environment which should be agency rich. Due to short in-class period (25 minutes per period), this course did not provide enough opportunity for participants to speak. And online study group with English as the used language might fill the gap in a certain extent. What's more, van Lier (2008, p. 599) states that meaning is created, enacted, and shared in conversation. Language learning, if

it is to be at all meaningful, and if it is to be tied to the self and the formation of identities, must therefore be embedded in conversation (van Lier, 2006, p. 149). Based on the process of language learning, conversation with peers is an effective way.

### **Conclusion and limitation**

Due to the rapid development of China's online education, this study aims to examine the usefulness and improvement of the heated one-to-one oral English course. Learners made progress in speaking in terms of complexity. From an ecological perspective, the helpful components include: (1) opportunities to express personal views; (2) timely scaffolding; (3) efficient feedback. Improvement should be made in the following aspects: (1) homework with timely feedback and correction should be added as an important activity for reinforcement and self-improvement after class; (2) real-time video course as choices; (3) online study groups are recommended to improve abilities like creating new semiotic network except the in-class session.

Since this is a small-scale study, more efforts should be made in future research to expand the sample size and verify or improve the model so that more effective one-to-one online language courses will be offered to the market and society.

### References

Berglund, T. Ö. (2009). Multimodal student interaction online: An ecological perspective. ReCALL, 21(2), 186-205.

Colapietro, V. M. (1988). *Peirce's approach to the self: A semiotic perspective on human subjectivity*. Suny Press.

Liu, X. (2011). A Study on the Effects of Reciting on Chinese College Students' Oral English Proficiency. *Theory & Practice in Language Studies*, *1*(12).

Peirce, B. N. (1995). Social identity, investment, and language learning. *TESOL quarterly*, 29(1), 9-31.

Peng, J. E. (2012). Towards an ecological understanding of willingness to communicate in EFL classrooms in China. System, 40(2), 203-213.

Van Lier, L. (2004). The semiotics and ecology of language learning. *Utbildning & Demokrati*, *13*(3), 79-103.

Van Lier, L. (2006). The ecology and semiotics of language learning: A sociocultural perspective (Vol. 3). Springer Science & Business Media.

Van Lier, L. (2008). 42 Ecological-Semiotic Perspectives on Educational Linguistics. *The handbook of educational linguistics*, 596-605

Van Lier, L. (2010). The ecology of language learning: Practice to theory, theory to practice. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *3*, 2-6.

Wiley, N. (1994). *The semiotic self*. University of Chicago Press.

# Elena Yurieva, Elena Sokolova

Russian State Social University, Moscow, Russia

selena12@mail.ru, eaurieva@yandex.ru

# English for specific purposes: from GE teacher to ESP practitioner

### Bio data

Elena Sokolova, an Associate Professor at Russian State Social University. Scientific interests: Cognitive Linguistics; Teaching English as a Foreign Language.

Elena Yurieva, an Associate Professor at Russian State Social University. Scientific interests: Phraseology, Stylistics; Teaching English as a Foreign Language.

### Abstract

This paper deals with some basic concepts of 'English for Specific Purposes' (ESP) and the approaches to language teaching types of ESP. It highlights the point if General English teacher can succeed in dealing with teaching ESP, and there is a comparison between the General English teacher and the so-called ESP practitioner.

### **Conference paper**

In recent years, many applied linguists have come to realize that to ensure students' success they need to be provided with knowledge of register/genre differences (Biber & Conrad). This awareness has given rise to the general field of English for Academic Purposes (EAP), which puts into the focus the English-language skills of selecting and using the appropriate registers/genres. The development of science, technology, education, and business, in their turn, has led to the worldwide demand of English for Specific Purpose (ESP) emphasizing the description of the language used in various registers and genres from a particular profession or academic discipline (such as biochemistry or physics) and especially the specialists who are able to teach ESP courses.

The origin of ESP and its development is closely linked with learners' interest in various specific disciplines and various genres connected with them e.g. Insurance English, English for Tourist Management, and English for Engineers etc.

Learners' motivation enables teacher to meet students' needs and expectations easier. So, the ESP teachers' work involves much more than teaching. Dudley-Evans and St.John (1998) prefer the term 'ESP practitioner' instead of 'ESP teacher' as this definition seems to be more clear and complete. They distinguish the following key roles of ESP practitioner: - teacher;

- course designer and materials provider;
- collaborator;
- researcher;
- evaluator.

The first role is synonymous with that of the 'General English' teacher. EFL methodology changes as teaching becomes more specific. The ultimate goal of education process nowadays is developing instructional materials that contribute to students learning the particular language patterns that are typical for the different situations and different kinds of texts in specific fields.

Text varieties and the differences among them are known to affect people's daily lives. If a practitioner of any profession cannot analyze a new variety, they cannot help others learn or master it.

To solve this problem innovation approaches in mastering foreign languages based on meaning-centered tasks when a student is involved in cognitive process of analyzing communicative situations and formulating rules instead of mechanical memorizing them should be applied. Traditional instruction is directed solely at formal accuracy by means of traditional, controlled exercises where focus is on the formal elements of the language while innovation instruction is directed at establishing form-meaning mappings where attention is drawn to understanding of how language is acquired and perceived.

Thus, nowadays, foreign language teachers use problem-solving instruction for developing students' cognitive skills and facilitating their engagement in meaningful and authentic learning experiences. Case study is a vehicle that has the potential to help toward effectively meeting learning and assessment needs.

In the model of case study task development attention is focused not only on the linguistic level of lexical and grammatical means usage, but especially on a creating a communicative situation aimed at selecting the best possible solution between interlocutors, taking into account constraints and communicative opportunities.

The teacher's main role is to create real, authentic communication in the classroom based on the students' knowledge. If a teacher designs their classes for students who are studying Insurance, a teacher may rely on the students' knowledge of insurance policy types, concepts, and principles obtained during their specialized classes.

The second role is a course designer and materials provider. Teacher has to plan the course and provide materials for it. Provision of materials does not only mean appropriate content selection and making a suitable number of copies for the class. The teacher's task also includes adapting material when published materials are unsuitable for a specific target audience's need or creating their own exercises. One of the ESP teacher's tasks is to make a list of important terms, principles, rules, and procedures in the field of Insurance so that the students can easily shape and express their ideas. But, one of the main controversies in the field of ESP is how specific those materials should be. Many scientists support the idea that discipline content should cover a wide range of fields, at the same time they argue that the grammatical structures, functions, discourse structures, skills, and strategies of different disciplines are identical.

The third role of an ESP teacher is a collaborator. In order to meet the specific needs of the learners and adopt the methodology and activities of the target discipline, the ESP Practitioner must first work closely with specialists in a specific field. In case it is impossible the ESP Practitioner must collaborate more closely with the learners, who will generally be more familiar with the specialized content.

An ESP teacher should also be a researcher. Very often while designing an ESP course practitioners have no alternative than to develop original materials. It means that the ESP practitioner's role as a 'researcher' is especially important, with results leading directly to appropriate content selection.

The final role of a teacher is an 'evaluator'. All teachers should be involved in various types of assessment and the most popular one is testing students. Tests are conducted to assess the students' progress and teaching effectiveness. However, in ESP classes an additional kind of testing should take place, which is the evaluation of course and education content. General English courses are well-studied and improved by a group of methodologists whereas ESP courses are unique, as it is very often not possible to create one ESP course that would satisfy all ESP students. Therefore assessment plays the crucial role in this case.

So, a question arises: 'What is the difference between the ESP and 'General English' approach?'

According to T. Hutchinson and A. Waters, the answer to this question is quite simple, "in theory nothing, in practice a great deal" [Hutchinson, T. & Waters, A. English for Specific Purposes: A learner-centered approach. Cambridge University Press. 1987].

Relevant content search for creating cases for a target audience is constantly improved and becoming more interactive. Corpus can be helpful in creating a glossary of frequent collocations on a certain topic which can be further developed into case studies, which as Mostert (2007) highlights, provide not only unique scenario for critical analysis, but should help graduates prepare for employment. The fact is, employers may feel that available case study tasks are too focused on large corporations rather than preparing students for working in small medium enterprises or local companies. It could therefore be argued that by failing to provide students with case examples considering specifications of professional context they are going to work in, a teacher ignores the graduate employability agenda (Knight & Yorke 2003).

A traditional textbook applied in education process usually presents glossary derived either from the chapters or entire books, so selection of active vocabulary may not have been based on frequency decisions but only intuitions of the textbook creator. In real practice, the vocabulary that students need is the one that they can use to address their professional needs and, as our survey shows, the lack of it may very often lead to students' frustration.

Summing everything up, it should be mentioned that an education process is centered around the approach based on the learners' needs, purposes, their expectations. The success of the process depends on learning strategies and teachers' attitude and interest to ESP course, that's why motivation may be emphasized as an integral part of a learning process.

The role of an ESP teacher is seen as more complex and more responsible than a General English teacher. Understanding its peculiarities is meant to encourage universities to design education environments that go beyond traditional learning practice and focus mainly on students' needs, interests and creativity and support the development of highly skilled professionals who feel free to solve problems, work on projects and think critically.

### References

Biber, D., & Conrad, S. (2009). *Register, genre, and style*. Cambridge University Press. Mohammad, K. A. (2014). *The ESP Teacher: Issues, Tasks and Challenges//* English for Specific Purposes World. Issue 42, Vol. 15.

Hutchinson, T. & Waters, A. (1987). *English for Specific Purposes: A learner-centered approach*. Cambridge University Press.

# Artem Zadorozhnyy, Yu Baohua

Education University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong

s1130750@s.eduhk.hk, baohuayu@eduhk.hk

# The importance of informal digital learning practices for English language acquisition

# Bio data



Artem Zadorozhnyy is currently a first-year PhD Student at the Education University of Hong Kong. His research interests include informal digital language learning and the impact of ICT technologies on the development of English language proficiency.



Baohua Yu is an Assistant Professor at the Education University of Hong Kong. Her research interests involve acculturation, learning motivation and strategies in SLA, and digital language learning and teaching. She has published in international refereed journals such as Journal of Multilingual and Multicultural Development, Language Teaching, Higher Education and International Journal of Intercultural Relations.

# Abstract

Nowadays, technologies have changed the ways we perceive every part of our life, and the sphere of education is not an exception. In particular, Web 2.0 technologies provide opportunities for new generations of learners to enhance their process of English language acquisition in various ways, allowing them to communicate with other learners from all over the world and to have easy access to the resources they need. This paper aims to present a critical literature review analysis on the effect of online digital technologies on informal learning of English language. Initially, we will define informal, non-formal and formal ways of learning, elaborating on the existing conceptualizing theories and emphasizing the differences between them. Further, the paper will describe the recent papers, where the informal learning strategies of English were underlined. Finally, we discuss the importance of informal learning practices for English language development.

# **Conference paper**

# Introduction

Nowadays, learning can happen in any place and in any time; however, in a traditional sense, when people referred to learning space, they usually meant formal settings such as classrooms or auditoriums with teachers and lecturers. During the last decade, with the appearance of new technologies and their implementation into educational process, the notion "learning space" is no longer limited by the size of the classroom. These days, learning can take place both inside and outside the classroom, as well as in physical or virtual spaces, influencing the learning process to a greater or lesser extent (Oblinger, 2006). The formal type of learning is no longer a panacea for the development of students' skills and competences, especially nowadays with the proliferation of Internet technologies (IT) to the lives of millions of people. As Richards (2009) points out, "it has taken us a while to realize that while good teaching is no less important than ever, today's learners

are not as dependent on classroom-based learning and teaching as they used to be" (p. 10). A huge influence of learning beyond the classroom through digital technologies should be considered and, in this vein, the aim of this paper is to explore the influence of informal learning on the development of English language. In addition, this paper highlights various existing conceptual theories of informal learning practices and attempts to show its features and benefits, touching upon the impact of digitalization on this process.

### Formal and non-formal learning

Before elaboration on informal ways of learning, it is of vital importance to understand each type of learning separately and to examine how they were conceptualized by different authors before. The definitions and boundaries between types of learning were and still are a debatable issue in academia. Among various types of learning, the formal learning, seems to be the easiest to define. In their study, Colardyn and Bjornavold (2004) referred to the glossary and stated that "formal learning consists of learning that occurs within an organized and structured context (formal education, in-company training)...(which) may lead to a formal recognition (diploma, certificate)" (p. 71). In the same vein, Livingstone (2006) defined formal learning as a process "when a teacher has the authority to determine that people designated as requiring knowledge effectively learn a curriculum taken from a pre-established body of knowledge" (p. 204). In other words, formal education is characterized by prescribed structured and organized content, which is usually led by teacher and leads to specific kind of certification. This type of education is organized in a way to help students gradually move from one stage to another through "intermediate and final assessments" (Dib, 1988, p. 1), it usually has a top-down direction with teachers, who play the role of mediators between students and the knowledge, which needs to be acquired by students (Cross, 2011). This type of education is traditional and, in many cases, might disregard specific needs and interests of students since it might be extremely difficult to align general curriculum with the needs of every single learner (Eshach, 2007). The inability of formal education to find ways to meet the needs of every individual is one of the main cornerstones in the field of education nowadays. Therefore, even taking into account that formal education system is a core system around the world, many scholars critique it and emphasize its "...aloofness from the real needs of the students and of the community" (Dib, 1988, p. 2). Such attitudes towards traditional education have forced scholars to pay attention to non-formal and informal ways of learning.

Non-formal learning, in its turn, is harder to define, since some authors perceive it as being closer to the formal type of learning, emphasizing that non-formal learning is also a structured and pre-arranged process (Eshach, 2007; Jagušt, Botički, & So, 2018; Werquim, 2010), while the others (Sefton-Green, 2004) blur the boundaries and perceive it to be closer to informal type of learning. Schugurensky (2000) defined non-formal type of learning as "organized educational programs that take place outside the formal school system, and are usually short-term and voluntary" (p. 2). Livingstone (2006) argued that non-formal learning happens "when learners opt to acquire further knowledge or skill by studying voluntarily with a teacher, who assists their self-determined interests by using an organized curriculum" (p. 204). Both of these definitions could be partially scrutinized since some scholars noted that non-formal learning is not bounded to specific location and to the personality of teacher, who does not always play a guidance role in non-formal learning (Jagušt et al., 2018; Werguim, 2010). Latchem (2014) and Sefton-Green (2004) added that non-formal learning could take place in public institutions and NGOs, in soccer training camps and during many other voluntary or extra-curricular activities and courses, which are considered to be structured activities. In this vein, Werquim (2010), defined non-formal learning as "learning which is embedded in planned activities not explicitly designated as learning" (p. 22).

Summing up, non-formal learning could be distinguished from formal learning by its detachment from the boundaries of formal lessons, voluntariness of actions, absence of evaluation and intrinsic rather than extrinsic motivation. However, non-formal learning shares similarities with formal type of learning, such as the presence of guidance, which takes place beyond the frames of formal and compulsory education and prearrangements

of activities (Eshach, 2007; Jagušt et al., 2018; Mok, 2011). Orientation on the knowledge acquisition and absence of grading system allows learners to concentrate on the knowledge acquisition rather than being worried about their grades. With these differences in mind, we may conclude that non-formal learning does not have strict boundaries and is more directed to consider students' needs than the formal education.

### Informal learning

After defining formal and non-formal types of learning and eliciting the differences between them, we may proceed to the notion of informal learning as an important part of the whole paradigm. To begin with, the interest towards informal learning appeared in the end of the XX century, when scholars of National Research Council (1996) recognized its importance and distinguished it as a separate type of learning. Back to the late 80s, when educational technologies were not developed as nowadays, Dib (1988) perceived informal learning as supplementary to formal and non-formal practices, stating that informal learning includes such activities as attending museums, various conferences and lectures, watching specific TV programs or participating in professional associations. Later, Werquim (2007) described informal learning as "...daily activities related to work, family or leisure" and researchers started to associate informal learning with online and digital activities of individuals (as cited in Jaqušt et al., 2018, p. 418). However, the term "informal learning" was and still is disputable and many authors are making attempts to conceptualize their vision. Thus, while adding particular features to their definitions, in the recent years, along with the term informal learning, the authors in the field of second languages acquisition (SLA) launched several notions, which obtain similarities with the general notion but emphasize particular features and dimensions of informal learning practices.

Sundqvist (2011) elaborated on the term "extramural English" and conceptualized her term based on the dimension of settings (p. 107). While defining the notion, the author argued that it could become an "umbrella term" for such notions as 'out-of-class', 'out-of-school' (Yi, 2005) and 'naturalistic learning of English' (Benson, 2011). Later, Benson (2013) emphasized the notion of "learning beyond the classroom", describing his theoretical framework of four dimensions: location, formality, pedagogy and locus of control. While creating his framework, he concluded that the myriad of existing terms excludes some dimensions of the concept. As such, the notions "out-of-class" and "extracurricular" learning are based on the dimension of location and the others ("informal" and "nonformal") exclude other dimensions but the degree of formality (Benson, 2011). Because of the diversity of terms, which could be used as synonyms of informal learning, such scholars as Schugurensky (2006), defined informal learning as a "loose" category that combines everything that formal and non-formal types of learning do not (p. 163). However, there were many attempts to conceptualize informal learning through the prism of different perspectives.

For instance, some authors conceptualize learning based on the dimensions of location, intention or based on the degree of structure of learning process that occurs outside of formal settings (Bäumer, Preis, Roßbach, Stecher, & Klieme, 2011; Sefton-Green, 2004). So, Kim, and Looi (2008) conceptualized informal learning based on the dimensions of physical setting and intentionality, where the authors underlined that informal learning might be of an intentional or unintentional nature. Others perceived informal learning in terms of the structure and process of learning and concluded that informal learning is a self-directed and self-guided learning process, which takes place based on the intentions of a particular student (Eshach, 2007; Lai, Khaddage, & Knezek, 2013). Thus, after the analysis of existing frameworks, we may conclude that informal learning has particular features, which allows researchers to conceptualize it from different perspectives for further studies.

The main feature of informal learning practices is in pedagogy, which could be described as self-directed, self-instructed and learner-led, where instead of the teacher, the learner takes the leading role (Bennett, 2012; Eshach, 2007). Since informal learning activities are flexible to the interests of learners, to their time schedule and style of learning, the second

differentiation comes from the perspective of the purpose of learning. Whilst formal learning is connected to learning that happens within classroom settings and is based on curriculum and lesson plans and goals, informal learning practices are always based on individual preferences and interests (Benson, 2013; Eshach, 2007; Latchem, 2014). In such cases, learner does not concentrate on passing examinations or specific courses and acts in accordance with his or her preferences and interests with no official support provided by teacher or another authority (Clough, Jones, McAndrew, & Scanlon, 2008). Therefore, due to the focus on individual needs, such type of learning is often seen as effective by some scholars (Cross, 2011). Thirdly, unlike formal and non-formal types of learning, informal learning is usually unstructured and non-sequential (Eshach, 2007), what could be explained by the absence of guides or authorities. Benson (2011) described this dimension as a locus of control, where while learning beyond the classroom level the learners quide themselves. The elaboration on the existing features of informal learning allows us to understand this concept more than every existing definition. Therefore, summarizing the features and variability of activities, the influence of informal learning might be enormous because of its ubiquitous presence.

# Recent research on the effect of online digital technologies on informal learning of English language

After implementation of technologies to all levels of education has changed educational practices and particularly reshaped the whole process of foreign language acquisition, different scholars (Lee, 2017; Lee & Dressman, 2017; Sylvén & Sundqvist, 2012) started to consider informal learning from the perspective of digitalization. It was said by many authors that the usage of technologies for language learning in informal settings allows students to individualize their learning, to simplify collaboration and to choose the ways to perform their tasks in an appropriate to them way (Ma, 2017).

The findings from research on informal ways of learning English shows that those students, who are more exposed to informal learning practices in digital settings tend to have higher levels of productive vocabulary (Sundqvist, 2009; Sundqvist & Wikström, 2015), better grades (Sundqvist & Wikström, 2015) and oral proficiency level (Lee & Dressman, 2017; Sundqvist, 2009). Such outcomes are possbile because technologies allow to receive and transmit ideas and thoughts through visual, audial and textual modalities and by doing so they help to improve such skills as critical thinking, intercultural communication and collaboration learning skills, to name a few. Technologies facilitate the overall quality of learning and help to find access to various sources of knowledge (Bates, 2000) and enhance students' motivation and collaboration (Beatty, 2013). Many scholars paid attention to the influence of IT in education emphasizing authenticity of settings (Gilmore, 2007), opportunities for multitasking and multiple activities, immediate feedback and support (Scheeler & Lee, 2002), possible online discussions for experience sharing (Wagner & Bolloju, 2005) to name a few.

In recent years, with the growing interest towards informal ways of learning, there are some scholars who have made attempts to conceptualize their vision of informal learning in digital settings. As such, Lai, Zhu and Gong (2015) researched the quality of students' informal digital practices for learning language. The authors perceived the quality of informal practices as the diversity of form- and meaning-focused digital practices. In other words, informal digital activities were attributed as form-focused (e.g. online grammar exercises, usage of online dictionaries) if students put more influence on linguistic systems, and as meaning-focused if students were focused on "naturalistic language exposure" (e.g. watching movies, playing games in English) (p. 12). Further, by adding to this framework, Lee (2017) introduced the notion of informal digital learning of English (IDLE) by elaborating specifically on digitalization within the concept of informal learning, and defined it as "self-directed, informal English learning using a range of different digital devices (e.g., smartphones, desktop computers) and resources (e.g., web apps, social media) independent of formal context" (p. 768). By forming this notion, the author used the main dimensions of informal learning practices, which were described by Benson (2011) and Lai (2015) and added the layer of technological influence. Finally, Lai, Hu and Lyu (2018)

researched the nature of students' informal learning practices in digital environments and differentiated that there were three main types of students' interactions with technologies: instruction-oriented, entertainment and information-oriented and social-oriented. The authors emphasized that three types of interactions were based on various impetuses and students' need to understand the nature of informal digital learning more in depth through other perspectives. Therefore, it is seen that through recent studies, educators make attempts to understand the process, the nature as well as the strategies, which students use while learning in digital and online spaces in informal ways. Informal practices may allow students to learn the content in more effective ways and to create "continuous learning process" (Jagušt, Botički, & So, 2018, p. 417) along with a raised level of interest and motivation to study languages (Mubin, Stevens, Shahid, Al Mahmud, & Dong, 2013). The rationale for research in this field is to understand how the process of learning occurs and what variables are influential since the results will allow teachers to structure educational process to help their students by bridging informal and formal ways of learning.

Until recently, informal learning environments were only considered as spaces for entertainment activities; however, recently, with the growing body of research in this field, the scholars started to emphasize the ways to use such environment for educational goals by finding the ways to connect formal and informal types of learning (Eshach, 2007; Sefton-Green, 2004). Thus, while proposing his framework through the analysis of existing research, Sauro (2017) elaborated on the usage of technologies for language learning and differentiated digital wilds, as places where students use non-pedagogical web-pages and software for their learning during their leisure time, domesticated CALL (or MALL), when informal ways of learning come to class from digital wilds, and dedicated CALL as pedagogically constructed set of digital activities led by instructor. This framework justifies the recognition of informal learning activities within holistic ecology of learning since it was created to differentiate the set of activities and to point out the trend in existing studies to bridge "wild" and autonomous activities of learners with instructed and teacher-constructed practices. Therefore, there are many reasons to conduct studies to understand the process of informal learning by analysing the strategies used by students. Informal digital settings allow students to have more freedom and flexibility in comparison with formal settings and it happens because informal learning is not limited by location, time frames or teachers' choice of material (Kukulska-Hulme, 2012). Unfortunately, informal practices may be left uncovered due to several reasons starting from their invisibility and inaccessibility of its users and finishing with complexity of methodologies to get data (Benson, 2013). However, in order to help students to become better language users there is a need to concentrate on this particular field because of its possible benefits for learners.

### Conclusion and directions for further studies on informal digital learning

In the modern world, language learners need to know how to take advantage not only from learning at schools or universities, but from all types of learning while using the affordances of technologies for their benefits. Such skills are considered to be vital since the influence of informal learning is beyond the boundaries of time and location and allows learners to use a wide range of features, which were discussed before. The importance of informal learning is increasing, especially if we take into consideration that not every educational institution around the world has sufficient technologies and teachers, who may guide students. Thus, further research on informal digital learning practices of English is of high importance since the results will not only help to enhance the process of language acquisition among those students, who have exposure to advanced technologies in their educational institutions of various levels, but will also give a chance to provide help to those, who do not have proper access to technologies within formal settings.

Future research on students' experiences and perceptions about informal ways of learning should add to the whole picture of foreign languages acquisition. There were several authors, who have already paid attention to the nature (Lai et al., 2018), the quality of out-of-class learning (Lai et al., 2015), and to specific informal digital learning of English practices (Lee, 2019; Lee & Dressman, 2017). However, this is only the tip of the iceberg, and future research is needed to understand how to bridge formal and informal practices

of language learning and, more importantly, to explain the process of informal languages learning in order to provide students with specific skills to learn the language in autonomous manner in digital settings.

In order to be able to help those students, who are not well-aware about informal digital learning practices, scholars need to study informal learning of particular individuals in various contexts around the world. Such an approach will allow for understanding of the particularities of individuals' learning strategies, their choice of techniques and informal learning approaches along with the quality of such practices. Lai et al. (2015) and Lee (2017) have already touched upon the quality of informal practices through the perspective of learning ecology. In their studies, the authors considered quality of informal practices through the diversity of students' engagement in informal practices. However, the process of informal learning and the quality of such activities might also be researched through other perspectives, which should be further defined and explored. For instance, in future studies, the researchers might look at the quality of practices through the perspective of the depth of students' approaches. In other words, the scholars around the world need to pay attention to the process of learning through specific applications, social media and other certain digital affordances to understand experiences of individuals' process in detail. The analysis of such phenomenon from different perspectives will help to understand the impact of myriad of internal and external factors, that influence the appearance of informal learning practices, the awareness and nature of such approaches, along with the perceptions about informal digital learning (Lai et al., 2018). It is crucial nowadays, since it is not only the influence of formal learning, that helps students to acquire the language, but interconnection of students' experiences and knowledge they get from different formal, non-formal and informal environments, which are interrelated and form cumulative educational outcomes.

### References

Bates, A. W. (2000). Managing Technological Change: Strategies for College and University Leaders. The Jossey-Bass Higher and Adult Education Series. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.

Bäumer, T., Preis, N., Roßbach, H.-G., Stecher, L., & Klieme, E. (2011). 6 Education processes in life-course-specific learning environments. Zeitschrift Für Erziehungswissenschaft, 14(2), 87.

Beatty, K. (2013). Teaching & Researching: Computer-Assisted Language Learning. Routledge.

Bennett, E. E. (2012). A four-part model of informal learning: Extending Schugurensky's conceptual model. Adult Education Research Conference. http://newprairiepress.org/aerc/2012/papers/3

Benson, P. (2011). Language learning and teaching beyond the classroom: An introduction to the field. In Beyond the language classroom (pp. 7–16). Palgrave Macmillan, London..

Benson, P. (2013). Teaching and researching: Autonomy in language learning. Routledge.

Cardoso-Leite, P., Green, C. S., & Bavelier, D. (2015). On the impact of new technologies on multitasking. Developmental Review, 35, 98–112.

Clough, G., Jones, A. C., McAndrew, P., & Scanlon, E. (2008). Informal learning with PDAs and smartphones. Journal of Computer Assisted Learning, 24(5), 359-371.

Colardyn, D., & Bjornavold, J. (2004). Validation of Formal, Non-Formal and Informal Learning: policy and practices in EU Member States 1. European Journal of Education, 39(1), 69–89.

Council, N. R. (1996). National Science Education Standards. National Academy Press. Washington: DC. DC Google Scholar.

Cross, J. (2011). Informal learning: Rediscovering the natural pathways that inspire innovation and performance. John Wiley & Sons.

Dib, C. Z. (1988). Formal, non-formal and informal education: concepts/applicability. In AIP conference proceedings (Vol. 173, pp. 300–315). AIP.

Eshach, H. (2007). Bridging in-school and out-of-school learning: Formal, non-formal, and informal education. Journal of Science Education and Technology, 16(2), 171–190. Gilmore, A. (2007). Authentic materials and authenticity in foreign language learning. Language Teaching, 40(2), 97–118.

Golonka, E. M., Bowles, A. R., Frank, V. M., Richardson, D. L., & Freynik, S. (2014). Technologies for foreign language learning: a review of technology types and their effectiveness. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 27(1), 70–105. https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2012.700315

Jagušt, T., Botički, I., & So, H. (2018). A review of research on bridging the gap between formal and informal learning with technology in primary school contexts. Journal of Computer Assisted Learning, 34(4), 417-428.

Kukulska-Hulme, A. (2012). Chapter One: Language Learning Defined by Time and Place: A Framework for Next Generation Designs. In Left to my own devices: Learner autonomy and mobile-assisted language learning (pp. 1-20). BRILL.

Lai, C. (2015). Modeling teachers' influence on learners' self-directed use of technology for language learning outside the classroom. Computers & Education, 82, 74–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2014.11.005

Lai, C., Hu, X., & Lyu, B. (2018). Understanding the nature of learners' out-of-class language learning experience with technology. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 31(1–2), 114–143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2017.1391293</u>

Lai, C., Zhu, W., & Gong, G. (2015). Understanding the quality of out-of-class English learning. TESOL Quarterly, 49, 278–308.

Lai, K., Khaddage, F., & Knezek, G. (2013). Blending student technology experiences in formal and informal learning. Journal of Computer Assisted Learning, 29(5), 414–425.

Latchem, C. (2014). Informal learning and non-formal education for development. Journal of Learning for Development, 1(1). http://www.jl4d.org/index.php/ejl4d/article/view/6/6 (Retrieved 05.05.2015).

Lee, J. S. (2017). Informal digital learning of English and second language vocabulary outcomes: Can quantity conquer quality? British Journal of Educational Technology. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12599

Lee, J. S. (2019). Quantity and diversity of informal digital learning of English. Learning & Technology, 23(1), 114–126. https://doi.org/10125/44675

Lee, J. S., & Dressman, M. (2017). When IDLE hands make an English workshop: Informal digital learning of English and language proficiency. TESOL Quarterly, 52(2), 435-445. Livingstone, D. W. (2006). Informal learning: Conceptual distinctions and preliminary findings. Counterpoints, 249, 203–227.

Ma, Q. (2017). A multi-case study of university students' language-learning experience mediated by mobile technologies: a socio-cultural perspective. Computer assisted language learning, 30(3-4), 183-203.

Mok, O. N. A. (2011). Non-formal learning: clarification of the concept and its application in music learning. Australian Journal of Music Education, 1, 11–15.

Mubin, O., Stevens, C. J., Shahid, S., Al Mahmud, A., & Dong, J.-J. (2013). A review of the applicability of robots in education. Journal of Technology in Education and Learning, 1(209–0015), 13.

National Research Council. (1996). The national science education standards. National Academy Press, Washington, DC. Retrieved from: http://www.nap.edu/openbook.php?record\_id=4962.

Oblinger, D. G. (2006). Space as a change agent. In D. G. Oblinger (Ed.), Learning spaces (pp. 1–4).

Richards, J. (2009, March). The changing face of TESOL. In Jack Richards' Plenary Address at the 2009 TESOL Convention in Denver USA.

Sauro, S. (2017). Online fan practices and CALL. Calico journal, 34(2).

Scheeler, M. C., & Lee, D. L. (2002). Using technology to deliver immediate corrective feedback to preservice teachers. Journal of Behavioral Education, 11(4), 231–241.

Sefton-Green, J. (2004). Literature review in informal learning with technology outside school. Bristol, UK: Futurelab.

Schugurensky, D. (2000). The forms of informal learning: Toward a conceptualization in the field. WALL Working Paper 19, Centre for the Study of Education and Work, Ontario Institute for Studies in Education of the University of Toronto.

Schugurensky, D. (2006). "This is our school of citizenship": Informal learning in local democracy. In Z. Bekerman, N. C. Burbules, & D. S. Keller (Eds.), Learning in places: The informal education reader (pp. 163–182). New York: Peter Lang AG.

So, H.-J., Kim, I., & Looi, C.-K. (2008). Seamless mobile learning: Possibilities and challenges arising from the Singapore experience. Educational Technology International, 9(2), 97–121.

Sundqvist, P. (2009). Extramural English matters: Out-of-school English and its impact on Swedish ninth graders' oral proficiency and vocabulary (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from http://www.divaportal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2%3A275141&dswid=-2491

Sundqvist, P. (2011). A possible path to progress: Out-of-school English language learners in Sweden. In Beyond the language classroom (pp. 106–118). Springer.

Sundqvist, P., & Wikström, P. (2015). Out-of-school digital gameplay and in-school L2 English vocabulary outcomes. System, 51, 65-76.

Sylvén, L. K., & Sundqvist, P. (2012). Gaming as extramural English L2 learning and L2 proficiency among young learners. ReCALL, 24(3), 302–321.

Wagner, C., & Bolloju, N. (2005). Supporting knowledge management in organizations with conversational technologies: Discussion forums, weblogs, and wikis. Journal of Database Management, 16(2).

Werquim, P. (2010). Recognising non-formal and informal learning: Outcomes, policies and practices. Paris, France: OECD publishing.

Yi, Y. (2005). Asian adolescents' out-of-school encounters with English and Korean literacy. Journal of Asian Pacific Communication, 15(1), 57–77.

# Chen Zhao, Wei Wei

University International College, Macau University of Science and Technology, Macau, China

sunnyzhaooo@163.com, weiweitesting@hotmail.com

# Is mobile-assisted online feedback a better way to improve pronunciation than face-to-face feedback at both word and phrase level?

# Bio data



Zhao Chen, PhD candidate at Macau University of Science & Technology.

Research areas: Peer Feedback/ Mobile-assisted Language Learning / Multimedia Learning.



Wei Wei, Assistant Professor at Macau University of Science & Technology.

Research areas: Language Assessment/ Teacher Evaluation / Learning Technology.

# Abstract

Peer feedback and mobile-assisted online feedback have received increased attention in the field of second language education, with overwhelmingly encouraging results. This study investigated the extent to which different combinations of teacher/peer and mobileassisted/face-to-face feedback can help Chinese language learners improve their pronunciation. The collected data include 1) sub-scores from two speaking tests at two levels with a five-week break in between: micro or word level (consonants, vowels, tone) and macro or sentence/paragraph level (stresses, pauses, intonation and fluency), 2) surveys which measure students' feedback practices with their peers or teachers on social network software or in face-to-face communications and 3) interview data. Multiple regression tests identified 'face-to-face sessions with teachers' as the only significant predictor for improved pronunciation at the phrase level (intonations and stress). The frequency of use of the other three types of feedback (seeking feedback from teachers in mobile applications; seeking feedback from peers in mobile-assisted and face-to-face sessions) failed to predict any improvement in any dimension between the two tests. The reasons have been explored by interviews: first of all, it is difficult to visualize and model the physical and physiological aspects of pronunciation—the position of tones and muscles of the facial expressions—with mobile devices. Secondly, feedback givers spend more time discussing and explaining the meanings of reading text than correcting specific mistakes in tones, vowels and consonants. Thirdly, it is difficult for introductory language learners to communicate with others about pronunciation issues without the presence of other visual aids, such as electronic dictionaries, phonetic symbols and body language.

# **Conference paper**

### Introduction

This study investigated the extent to which different combinations of teacher/peer and mobile-assisted/face-to-face feedback can help Chinese language learners improve their pronunciation. Its relevance to current debates on pronunciation corrections can be demonstrated from two perspectives. First of all, there is a large volume of evidence suggesting that mobile applications can be effective in helping second language learners to engage with peer feedback (Montero-Fleta, Pérez-Sabater, & Pérez-Sabater, 2015; Yusofa, Manan, & Alias, 2012) and teacher feedback (Xu, Dong, & Jiang, 2016; Xu & Peng, 2017) in the context of writing and speaking. Secondly, although the number of studies which compare the effectiveness of face-to-face and mobile-assisted feedback practices have gradually increased, only a few studies have investigated the effectiveness of feedback practices on improving language pronunciations.

### Literature review

Literature on computer-assisted pronunciation instruction can be sorted into two groups highlighting its effectiveness and convenience. The first group focuses on the effectiveness of using various computer-assisted pronunciation training programs (CAPT) to train phonetic knowledge or detect pronunciation mistakes at word level (Hirata, 2004; Luo, 2014; Wu, Su, & Liu, 2013). Automatic speech recognition components (Neri, 2008) and computer-generated visual aids (e.g. animation of tongue movements and ultrasound imaging of tongue positions) are reported as the two most important functions that benefit users' short-term improvement (Engwall, 2012; Ouni, 2014). The second group concludes that higher engagement with social networking sites, such as Twitter and Facebook, can also improve pronunciation (Fouz-Gonzalez, 2017). The main tasks include sharing explicit explanations of the target aspects and authentic targeted language video/audio files. Interestingly, unlike the evidence from the first group, evidence from the second group shows that participating in social networking may improve fluency, rather than accuracy and pronunciation (Sun et al., 2017). Finally, some studies recommend an integrated approach, which combines computer-assisted pronunciation programs and face-to-face interaction, to instruction and delivery feedback on pronunciation problems (Engwall & Balter, 2007). For example, Luo's (2014) study concludes that the combination of classroom instruction and post class CAPT techniques with peer review function can improve pronunciation quality significantly.

In relation to the effectiveness of feedback practices, most studies suggest that teacher feedback, or a combination of teacher and peer feedback, is better than peer feedback alone, although most of these studies have been conducted in second language writing classes. The advantages of teacher feedback is reported as being highly trusted by receivers and more acceptable which leads to a higher degree of self-correction in subsequent submissions (Miao, Badger, & Zhen, 2006; Park, 2018). In addition, the actual improvement in terms of grammatical accuracy after receiving teacher feedback is also reported to be greater than peer feedback (Ruegg, 2015), which tends to be more suggestive and appreciative, and not explanatory enough (Min, 2005; Park, 2018). Besides, in the context of language writing, peer feedback devotes more attention to organization and supporting evidence than to mistakes in language use (Park, 2018).

In conclusion, there are more studies investigating the effectiveness of various computerassisted pronunciation training programs than social networking sites. Most evidence are presented at the word and sentence level. Bearing in mind that teacher feedback is considered more acceptable by learners and more effective in terms of learning outcomes, this study poses two research questions: Is mobile-assisted online feedback a better way to improve pronunciation than face-to-face feedback at both word and phrase level? And if so, why?

# Research design

One hundred and five CFL (Chinese as a foreign language) learners at Jiangsu Normal University participated in the study. Collected data included: 1) scores and sub-scores from two pronunciation tests administered by reading a 399 word text at HSK Level 4 (HSK is the Chinese Proficiency Test, an international standardized test to assess non-native Chinese speakers' ability in Chinese); 2) one survey which records the frequency of seeking feedback from both teachers and peers in mobile applications and face-to-face sessions between the two tests; and 3) interviews (n = 6) which reflect learners' attitudes and experiences with the received feedback. Their pronunciation performances were measured in seven dimensions at two levels, including micro or word level (consonants, vowels, tone) and macro or phrase/paragraph level (stress, pauses, intonation and fluency).

Items	Definition	References
Consonant	There are 21 consonants in Chinese (b, p, m, f, d, t, n, l, g, k, h, j, q, x, zh, ch, sh, r, z, c, s).	_
	There are 39 consonants in Chinese (a,o,e,i[i],u,ü, ê,-i[ŋ], -i[IJ,er,	
Vowel	ai, ei, ao, ou, ia, ie, ua, uo, üe, iao, iou, uai, uei, an, ian, uan,  üan, en, in, uen,  ün , ang, iang, uang, eng, ing, ueng, ong, iong) .	
Tone	There are four tones of Standard Chinese. (high-level tone, rising tone, dipping tone, falling tone), together with the neutral tone.	(Huang &
Pause	Readers break sentences into chunks with short pauses.	2100,2011)
Stress	Readers read some words louder and longer to emphasize specific part of the sentence.	_
Intonation	Intonation include: statement tone, interrogative tone, rhetorical tone, satirical tone, etc., four changes of the sentence are made (up, down, flat, tune).	
Fluency	Oral fluency is largely concerned with temporal aspects of speech such as rate and pause length. (e.g. it could be assessed by the syllables per minute.)	(Grimshaw& Cardoso, 2018)

#### Table 1 7 Level Indicators Explanations

Table 2

Semi-structured Interview Participants Information

Name	HSK Level	Mother Tongue
Billy	One	English
Nature	One	French
Мао	Three	Arabic
Chris	One	Spanish
Bennett	One	English
Yin	Тwo	Korean

### Findings

Paired T-tests suggest significant improvements between the two tests at all seven dimensions between the two tests with most improvements in two of them at paragraph level: Pause and Intonation.

		М	N	SD	Sig.	Effect Size
	T1	23.39	90	49.681		
Consonant	Т2	9.83	90	11.632	0.005	0.087
	T1	24.31	90	50.157		
Vowel	Т2	8.89	90	11.875	0.001	0.110
	T1	79.32	90	63.459		
Tone	Т2	51.18	90	34.374	0.000	0.204
	T1	10.69	90	12.884		
Pause	Т2	4.36	90	4.397	0.000	0.232
	T1	8.82	90	18.501		
Stress	Т2	2.88	90	3.774	0.003	0.095
	T1	4.53	90	3.014		
Intonation	Т2	2.80	90	2.376	0.000	0.225
	T1	105.40	90	27.946		
Fluency	T2	112.27	90	28.046	0.004	0.090

Table 3						
Summary	/ of Paired	T-tests	Results	of Test	1 and	Test 2

*Note:* Effect size  $(\varsigma^2) = t^2/(t^2 + df)$ , >0.01 suggests a small effect, >0.06 suggests a moderate effect, >0.14 suggests a large effect.

Multiple regression tests were used to determine the relationship between four types of feedback practice and the progress between the two speaking tests in seven dimensions. Four independent variables were used to predict the improved results from the scored seven dimensions: the frequency of seeking feedback from teachers in 1) mobile applications and 2) face-to-face sessions, and the frequency of seeking feedback from peers in 3) mobile applications and 4) face-to-face sessions. Multiple regression tests identified 'face-to-face sessions with teachers' as the only significant predictor for improved pronunciation at the phrase level (intonations and stress). The frequency of using the other three types of feedback failed to predict any improvement in other dimensions between the two tests.

### Table 4

Summary of Multiple Regression Test Results

	Face-to-face with teachers	Face-to-face with peers	Mobile with teachers	Mobile with peers
Consonant				
Vowel				
Tone				
Pause				
Stress	R <sup>2</sup> = .035*, B = .215*			
Intonation	R <sup>2</sup> = .037*, B = .220*			
Fluency			R <sup>2</sup> = .131, B =375	

### *Note:* \**p*<.05

The TAM model was used to code the interview data. In comparison with face-to-face feedback, seeking feedback in mobile applications from teachers and peers were reported as not useful and difficult to use for at least three reasons. First of all, it is difficult to visualize and model the physical and physiological aspects of pronunciations—the position of tones and muscles of the facial expressions—with mobile devices. For example, Billy, whose mother tongue is English, has no sense of standard Chinese tones, especially the second and third tones. One time, on the phone, when someone was making demonstration of a third tone meaning ' $\exists$  ma' (horse), he couldn't visualize it. But in a face-to-face situation, he said that people used their hands to draw in the air and make his tongue and

head go up and down. It helped him a lot. Secondly, feedback givers, either peers or teachers, spend more time discussing and explaining the meanings of reading text than correcting specific mistakes in tones, vowels and consonants. Understanding the meaning of a text can help learners to make a pause and to be aware of the change of intonations by the end of each sentence. However, it does not help the students to be aware of their pronunciation mistakes at the word level. For example, Yin said that once she read a paragraph and asked for feedback from others, the comment did not usually focus on the accuracy of the pronunciation. As long as they could understand what she read, the conversations were not interrupted. She recorded that many comments focused on the complimentary words, which suggested a pause between two sentences due to the principle of being polite. Thirdly, it is difficult for low-level language learners to communicate with others about pronunciation issues on mobile devices, without the presence of other visual aids, such as electronic dictionaries, phonetic symbols and body languages. For example, Nature said that English and Chinese are the most two common languages used by others in chatting software. His mother tongue is French. He preferred face-to-face communication, where he can point fingers at specific characters or words and ask for clarifications.

### References

Engwall, O., & Balter, O. (2007). Pronunciation feedback from real and virtual language teachers.Computer Assisted Language Learning, 20(3), 235-262.

Engwall, O. (2012). Analysis of and feedback on phonetic features in pronunciation training with a virtual teacher.Computer Assisted Language Learning, 25(1), 37-64.

Fouz-Gonzalez, J. (2017). Pronunciation instruction through Twitter: the case of commonly mispronounced words. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 30(7), 631-663.

Grimshaw, J.,& Cardoso, W.(2018). Active space rats! Fluency development in a mobile game-assisted environment. Language Learning & Technology, 22(3), 159-175.

Hirata, Y. (2004). Computer assisted pronunciation training for native English speakers learning Japanese pitch and durational contrasts.Computer Assisted Language Learning, 17(3), 357-376.

Luo, B. (2014). Evaluating a computer-assisted pronunciation training (CAPT) technique for efficient classroom instruction. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 29(3), 451-476.

Huang, B.R., & Liao, X.D.(2011). XianDai HanYu [Contemporary Chinese] (5th ed.). Beijing, China: Higher education.

Miao, Y., Badger R., & Zhen, Y. (2006). A comparative study of peer and teacher feedback

in a Chinese EFL writing class. Journal of Second Language Writing, 15(3), 179-200.

Min, H.T. (2005).Training students to become successful peer reviewers. System, 33(2), 293- 308.

Montero-Fleta, B., Pérez-Sabater, C., & Pérez-Sabater, M. L. (2015). Microblogging and Blended Learning: Peer Response in Tertiary Education. Social and Behavioral Sciences, 191, 1590 – 1595.

Neri, A., Mich, O., Gerosa, M., & Giuliani, D. (2008). The effectiveness of computer assisted pronunciation training for foreign language learning by children.Computer Assisted Language Learning, 21(5), 393-408.

Ouni, S. (2014). Tongue control and its implication in pronunciation training.Computer Assisted Language Learning, 27(5), 439-453.

Park, J. (2018). Effectiveness of teacher and peer feedback: through the lens of Korean tertiary writing classroom. The journal of Asia TEFL,15 (2), 429-444.

Ruegg, R. (2015). Differences in the uptake of peer and teacher feedback. RELC Journal, 46(2), 131-145.

Sun, Z., Lin, C., You, J., Shen, H., Qi, S., & Luo, L. (2017). Improving the English-speaking skills of young learners through mobile social networking.Computer Assisted language Learning, 30(3), 304-324.

Wu, C., Su, H., & Liu, C. (2013). Efficient personalized mispronunciation detection of Taiwanese-accented English speech based on unsupervised model adaptation and dynamic sentence selection. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 26(5), 446-467.

Xu, Q., Dong, X.Q., & Jiang, L. (2016). EFL learners' perceptions of mobile-assisted feedback on oral production. TESOL QUARTERLY, 51(2), 408-417.

Xu, Q., & Peng, H. (2017). Investigating mobile-assisted oral feedback in teaching Chinese as a second language. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 3-4 (30), 173-182.

Yusofa, J., Manan, N.A.A., & Alias, A.A. (2012). Guided Peer Feedback on Academic Writing Tasks using Facebook Notes: an Exploratory Study. Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences, 67, 216 – 228.

# Chunping Zheng, Lili Wang, Yutong Lu and Xiaohan Yu

Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications, Beijing, China

zhengchunping@bupt.edu.cn

# Effects of video-based collaborative and formative practices on EFL learners' public speaking anxiety and language proficiency

# Bio data



Chunping Zheng is an associate professor and academic adviser for MA program at Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications, China. She received her Ph.D. in Education at Beijing Normal University. Her research interests include applied linguistics and educational technology. She has authored one monograph and published over 30 journal articles.



Lili Wang, is a MA candidate at Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications. Her research interest is computer-assisted language learning.



Yutong Lu, is a MA candidate at Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications. Her research interest includes computer-assisted language learning and machine translation.



Xiaohan Yu, is a MA candidate at Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications. Her research interest includes computer-assisted language learning and machine translation.

# Abstract

The current research explores the effects of video-based formative practices on easing English language learners' speaking-related anxiety and improving their target language competence in a blended language course at a comprehensive university in mainland China. Using a quasi-experimental research approach, 51 university students were randomly assigned into two-comparative groups, 25 in the self-assessment-initiated group and 26 in the peer-assessment-initiated group. The one-way ANCOVA analysis was conducted based on the data of learners' speaking-related anxiety and public speaking competence in the pre- and post-tests. Results indicated that learners in the first group showed significantly lower public speaking anxiety compared with those in the second group. Very interestingly but also on the contrary, learners in the second group showed significantly higher public speaking competence compared with those in the first group. Related pedagogical implications were discussed at the end.

### **Conference** paper

### Introduction

During the process of language learning, foreign language anxiety (FLA) is regarded as a critical affective variable influencing language learners' foreign or second language acquisition (e.g., Arnold, 2005; Horwitz, 2001). A number of previous studies have reported its negative effects on learners' language learning (e.g., Hewitt & Stephenson, 2012; Horwitz, 2001; Oxford, 2017; Yan & Horwitz, 2008). Among English language related activity, English public speaking is regarded as the most anxiety-provoking activity (Koch & Terrell, 1991; Pichette, 2009; Young, 1990; Young, 1999). Previous studies have reported factors affecting FLA and possible strategies to alleviate FLA. However, few studies used video-based collaborative and formative practice to reduce learners' English public speaking anxiety and further improve their language proficiency. With the positive influence of formative assessment on enhancing learners' learning (e.g., Black & Wiliam, 1998a; Kennedy, Chan, Fok, & Yu, 2008; Pellegrino, Chudowsky, & Glaser, 2001), formative assessment has increasingly been implemented in Chinese educational contexts (e.g., Chen, Kettle, Klenowski, & May, 2013). In this study, video-based formative or collaborative assessment practices were designed to support English language learners' English public speaking. Through a quasi-experiment research, this study attempted to analyze the effects of video-based collaborative and formative assessment practices on English language learners' English public speaking anxiety and their language proficiency.

# Literature Review

### Formative Assessment

Formative assessment was proposed by Michael Scriven in 1967 to explain distinct roles of formative assessment and summative assessment (see Sardareh & Saad, 2012). It refers to the assessment that is specially intended to generate feedback on performance to improve and accelerate learning (Sadler, 1998). Previous studies have reported positive effects of formative assessment on learners' learning achievement (e.g., Black & Wiliam, 1998a; Black & Wiliam, 1998b; Kennedy et al., 2008; Pellegrino et al., 2001). Several studies have researched about formative assessment practices in the college English teaching in Chinese context (e.g., Tang & Zhang, 2007; Wang & Zhang, 2008; Wen, 2011). However, the research of formative assessment practices mainly focused on its effects on learners' English reading and writing skills, while there is still limited research concerning the application of formative and collaborative assessment in speaking-related activity, especially in English public speaking.

### Foreign Language Anxiety

Foreign Language Anxiety (FLA) refers to "a distinct complex of self-perceptions, beliefs, feelings and behaviors related to classroom language learning arising from the uniqueness of the language learning process" (Horwitz, Horwitz & Cope, 1986, p. 128). FLA has been recognized as a crucial affective variable effecting learners' foreign or second language learning achievement (e.g., Arnold, 2005; Horwitz, 2001). Scholars have studied FLA from a variety of angles like second language classroom anxiety (e.g., Guo, Xu, & Liu, 2018; Horwitz, 2001; Horwitz et al., 1986; Kondo & Ying-Ling, 2004; Melchor-Couto, 2016) and specific skill-based anxiety (e.g., Elkhafaifi 2005; Hilleson, 1996; Pae, 2013; Wen, 2011; Young, 1990). Among these specific skills, speaking-related activity is regarded as the most anxiety-provoking language learning activity (e.g., Koch & Terrell, 1991; Pichette, 2009; Young, 1990; Young, 1999). Young (1990) found that the main FLA triggers are fear of making mistakes, speaking spontaneously in front of peers and taking part in oral activities in class. Several studies have indicated the existence of test-taking anxiety for language learners (e.g., Cheng, Horwitz, & Schallert, 1999; Horwitz et al., 1986; Li, 2015; Liu, 2016). Thus, this study designed video-based formative assessment practices in

English public speaking course and tried to explore its' effects on English language learners' English public speaking anxiety and language proficiency.

### Research Methodology Research Context

This study was conducted in an English public speaking course for learners who learn English as a foreign language (EFL) at a comprehensive university in mainland China. The course is an elective course and is targeted at improving EFL learners' integrated skills in composing and delivering English public speeches. The course lasted for 16 weeks with a 2-h class period per week.

### Participants

Total of 51 sophomores who have selected this course participated in this study. The participants came from different majors (mostly were computers and business administration). 41.5% participants have passed the CET-4 exam and three of them have passed the CET-6 exam, which are two levels of national English language test to examine learners' English proficiency.

### Research Procedure

This study is a quasi-experimental research. 51 students were randomly assigned into twocomparative groups, 25 in the self-assessment-initiated group and 26 in the peerassessment-initiated group. They were required to make three public speeches and their performance was recorded by the videotaping devices. For the self-assessment-initiated group, they were asked to complete the video-based self-assessment, peer-assessment, teacher-assessment, and video-based self-reflection for three individual public speaking tasks. For the peer-assessment-initiated group, students were required to complete the peer-assessment, video-based self-assessment, teacher-assessment, and video-based self-reflection for the same three individual public speaking tasks. The data was collected through two questionnaires, namely, the Personal Report of Public Speaking Anxiety (PRPSA, McCroskey, 1970) and the English language self-efficacy (ELSE) questionnaire (Su, Zheng, Liang, & Tsai, 2018; Wang, Kim, Bai, & Hu, 2014) and learners' reflective journals. The one-way ANCOVA analysis was conducted.

### **Results and Discussion**

The results of one-way ANCOVA analysis indicated that learners in the first group showed significantly lower public speaking anxiety compared with those in the second group. Very interestingly but also on the contrary, learners in the second group showed significantly higher public speaking competence compared with those in the first group. Moreover, no significant difference was revealed through learners' self-report language self-efficacy. Learners' reflective journals upon video-based self-reflection were also collected after three rounds of public speaking, and content analysis were used for further understanding the above findings. The qualitative data showed that self-assessment-initiated formative practices helped learners pay more attention to their delivery skills in the public speaking while peer-assessment-initiated formative practices may lead learners to further improve their appropriate use of language. Although learners reported their persistent efforts for improving their public speaking competence and managing their speaking-related anxiety, a majority of Chinese students in both groups were still unconfident in their overall language proficiency. The study sheds light on the potential of different procedures of conducting formative assessment on alleviating learners' public speaking anxiety and improving their competence in public speaking. In addition, collaborative assessment practices were found to be effective for supporting EFL learners' sustainable work for selfimprovement. (To be submitted to a peer-reviewed journal)

# Conclusion

This study adopts an ecological approach, aiming to explore the effect of video-based collaborative and formative practices on learners' second language acquisition, particularly focusing on alleviating their public speaking anxiety. Our investigation emphasizes the teacher's role of sequencing video-based formative practices and learner's interactions

mediated by technology from an ecological perspective. Our findings provide useful insight and pedagogical implications that can contribute to technology-enhanced language teaching in the classroom.

### Acknowledgements

This research is funded by Fok Ying Tung Education Foundation (161093) awarded to Dr. Chunping Zheng and is a part of the reform project on college English curriculum (2018TD04) supported by Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications.

### References

Arnold, J. (2005). Affect in language learning. Beijing: Foreign Language Teaching and Research Press.

Black, P., & Wiliam, D. (1998a). Assessment and classroom learning. Assessment in education: Principles. Policy and Practice, 5, 7-74.

Black, P., & Wiliam, D. (1998b). Inside the black box: Raising standards through classroom assessment. Phi Delta Kappan, 80(2), 139-148.

Chen, Q. X., Kettle, M., Klenowski, V., & May, L. (2013). Interpretations of formative assessment in the teaching of English at two Chinese universities: A sociocultural perspective. Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education, 38(7), 831-846.

Cheng, Y. S., Horwitz, E. K., & Schallert, D. L. (1999). Language anxiety: Differentiating writing and speaking components. Language Learning, 49(3), 417-446.

Elkhafaifi, H. (2005). Listening comprehension and anxiety in the Arabic language classroom. The Modern Language Journal, 89(2), 206-220.

Hewitt, E., & Stephenson, J. (2012). Foreign language anxiety and oral exam performance: A replication of Phillips's MLJ study. The Modern Language Journal, 96, 170-189.

Hilleson, M. (1996). 'I want to talk with them, but I don't want them to hear': An introspective study of second language anxiety in an English-medium school. In K. M. Bailey & D. Nunan (Eds.), Voices from the language classroom (pp. 248-277). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Horwitz, E. K. (2001). Language anxiety and achievement. Annual Review of Applied Linguistics, 21, 112-126.

Horwitz, E. K., Horwitz, M. B. and Cope, J. (1986). Foreign language classroom anxiety. The Modern Language Journal, 70, 125-132.

Kennedy, K. J., Chan, J. K. S., Fok, P. K., & Yu, W. M. (2008). Forms of assessment and their potential for enhancing learning: Conceptual and cultural issues. Educational Research for Policy and Practice, 7, 197-207.

Koch, A. S. and Terrell, T. D. (1991). Affective reactions of foreign language students to natural approach activities and teaching techniques. In: Horwitz, D. K. and Young, D. J. (eds.), Language anxiety: From theory and practice to classroom implications. Upper Saddle River: Prentice-Hall, 109-126.

Li, H. (2015). A study of EFL listening anxiety in a test setting. International Journal of English Linguistics, 5(2), 106-114.

Liu, H. K. (2016). Correlation research on the application of E-Learning to students' self-regulated learning ability, motivational beliefs, and academic performance. Eurasia Journal of Mathematics Science and Technology Education, 12(4), 1091-1100.

McCroskey, J. C. (1970). Measures of communication-bound anxiety. Speech Monographs, 37, 269-277.

Melchor-Couto, S. (2016). Foreign language anxiety levels in Second Life oral interaction. ReCALL, 29(1), 99-119. doi:10.1017/S0958344016000185

Pae, T. (2013). Skill-based L2 anxieties revisited: Their intra-relations and the interrelations with general foreign language anxiety. Applied Linguistics, 34, 232-252.

Pellegrino, J. W., Chudowsky, N., & Glaser, R. (2001). Knowing what students know: The science and design of educational assessment. Washington, DC: National Academic Press.

Pichette, F. (2009). Second language anxiety and distance language earning. Foreign Language Annals, 42(1), 77-93.

Sadler, D. R. (1998). Formative assessment: Revisiting the territory. Assessment in Education, 5(1), 77-84.

Sardareh, S. A. & Saad, M. R. M. (2012). A sociocultural perspective on assessment for learning: The case of a Malaysian primary school ESL context. In W. Mansor, M. H. Zakaria, A. Scriven, M. (1991). Evaluation thesaurus (Fourth ed., p. 168). London: Sage publications.

Su, Y., Zheng, C., Liang, J.-C., & Tsai, C.-C. (2018). Examining the relationship between English learners' online self-regulation and their self-efficacy. Australasian Journal of Educational Technology, 34(3), 105-121. https://doi.org/10.14742/ajet.3548.

Tang, X. Y., & Zhang, S. Q. (2007). Implementing new assessment in college English teaching: Practices and problems. Foreign Languages and Their Teaching, 1, 14-19.

Wen, Q. F. (2011). Formative assessment in the course "reading and evaluating research papers": Theories and practice. Foreign Language Testing and Teaching, 3, 39-49.

Young, D. J. (1990). An investigation of students' perspectives on anxiety and speaking. Foreign Language Annals, 23(6), 539-553.

Young, D. J. (1999). Affect in foreign language and second language learning: A practical guide to creating a low-anxiety classroom atmosphere. Boston: McGraw-Hill.

# Sha Zhong

Tianfu college of Southwestern University of Finance and Economics, Chengdu, China

65259960@qq.com

# Exploration and practice of blended teaching modes of college English based on the platform of ReallyEnglish

# Bio data



Sha Zhong, English lecturer, Tianfu College of Swufe. Schoollevel Excellent Teacher.Won the "Third Prize of the Fourth China Foreign Language Micro-course Competition" of Sichuan Province. As main responsible group member, now in charge of Schoollevel academic project : Innovative Research and Practice of Curriculum Reform of College English in Tianfu College under the Blended Teaching Mode.

# Abstract

At present, a number of colleges and universities are assuming the initiative in creating a diversified teaching and learning environment through full utilisation of information technology, as well as encouraging teachers to build and make use of online English learning platforms to transform and expand teaching content with high-quality online educational resources, so as to achieve the implementation of blended learning modes, such as flipped classrooms, based on combinations of classroom and online courses. In this way, the development of students can be oriented by active, autonomous and individualised learning. This paper explores the blended learning mode of College English Based on the platform developed by ReallyEnglish.

# **Conference paper**

The objectives of the current College English teaching reform are to cultivate students' English application abilities, enhance their intercultural communicative awareness and interpersonal abilities, develop their autonomous learning abilities as well as improve their comprehensive cultural literacy, so as to enable them to fulfil the demands of the development of the nation, society, schools and individuals by effectively applying English in their study, life, social communication and future work. In College English classes, taskbased, cooperative, program-based and inquiry-based teaching methods can be adopted to embody the teaching concept of 'teacher-leading and student-centred', in order to achieve the transformation of teaching activities from 'teaching' to 'learning', the transformation of the teaching process from 'purpose of teaching' to 'demands of learning', and ultimately promote the normalisation of teaching characterised by teachers' guidance and inspiration, coupled with students' active participation. By making full use of information technology, colleges and universities are expected to take the initiative in creating diverse teaching and learning environments, encouraging teachers to build and use online English learning platforms, transforming and expanding teaching content by taking advantage of high-guality online educational resources, and implementing blended teaching modes, such as flipping classrooms, based on a combination of classroom-based and online courses. In this way, the development of students can be oriented by proactive, autonomous and individualised learning.

Because of these factors, we are committed to the implementation of the ReallyEnglish Online Learning Platform. We regard it as a tool to promote students' autonomous learning. Students' initiative and enthusiasm will be fully mobilised through the links to online resources, including the initial English proficiency test, adaptive learning, optional learning and man-machine interactive learning provided by the ReallyEnglish platform. In addition, the innovative thinking and practical ability of students will also be effectively exercised in the integration process by combining the interactive tasks of teachers and students in the offline classroom, focusing on online learning content, which is exactly what is required for the cultivation of innovative talents. It can be concluded that the blended teaching mode that integrates information technology and a conventional curriculum is an effective path to changing traditional teaching structures and encouraging the cultivation of innovative talents. It is therefore considered to be a substantial progressive measure to create efficient and high-quality teaching environments.

The advantages of both 'online' and 'offline' learning are expected to be brought into full play in blended English teaching, while teachers should cultivate students' habits of genuine, self-conscious and autonomous learning, and their passion for learning, by playing the roles of guide and supervisor, and providing personalised guidance in these fields.

### Combining online resources with offline courses.

Providing both web and APP platforms, the ReallyEnglish Online Learning Platform is dedicated to "enable students to have access to and master the real, lively and practical language that is used in native English-speaking countries at any time and anywhere". In order to achieve this objective, Practical English Starter and Practical English courses are at first offered to new entrants to our school. Besides covering a number of core skills including listening, speaking, reading, writing, grammar and vocabulary, the courses also provide practical and authentic English exercises involving different areas of life, using amusing and rich animation, pictures, recordings, man-machine dialogues and original reading content. More importantly, in view of every student's individual level of English proficiency, the platform will establish a unique learning path for each one of them by requiring them to take a preliminary test, which includes listening, reading and grammar, and then pushing appropriate courses to them in line with their individual test results. Hundreds of rich courses will be offered to students on the platform, each of which includes three parts: Learning, practice and testing. Only when 60 points are reached in both the learning and testing parts will the course be considered passed. In this way students' effective learning in each link is ensured.

We are expected to make full use of the abundant resources on the ReallyEnglish Online Learning Platform to create a new mode of blended English teaching, in which students will fully engage in integrated self-learning online as well as participating in practice and consolidation sessions offline. By combining ReallyEnglish with offline classroom content, students will be assured of gains in learning; the ability to apply what they have learned in practice as well as grasping professional skills. For example, before commencing Unit 1 of the course College Life (figure 1), students will be expected to have accumulated vocabulary and expressions in advance by completing relevant ReallyEnglish courses including College Education, a New Start and Studying at College, so as to be able to contribute to discussion of college life and related topics in the next class. Students will also be encouraged by means of awarding bonus points to use more words that have been learned in ReallyEnglish. In addition, in view of the fact that students are expected to be able to describe the classmates they meet on campus and in the dormitories they live in during a 'talk show' in Unit 1, they will be asked to study relevant ReallyEnglish courses in advance such as Looks and Appearance(figure 2), Describing People and Places and Good Friends. After the objective of 'being able to express oneself' is established, students will develop the motivation to accumulate vocabulary and expressions consciously; they will learn more actively and make full use of the ReallyEnglish platform. As an area that has historically caused both study problems for students and teaching difficulties for teachers, grammar will be learned by students more easily and amusingly through the combination
of conventional grammar teaching and ReallyEnglish study. For example, to help understand the difference between 'so...that' and 'such...that' in the text of Unit 1, there are detailed and interesting interactive exercises in the ReallyEnglish module Describing People and Places(figure 3). If students' study this module in advance of commencing Unit 1 it will be conducive to better responses to questions raised by teachers in class and consequently leave a deeper impression. Another example is the difference between 'used to' and 'be used to', which again appears in the text of Unit 1. There are detailed and interesting explanations and exercises in the ReallyEnglish module a New Start, which will help to fix the distinction in students' memories and enable them to use the expressions appropriately. In addition, vocabulary reviews in textbooks are generally regarded as extremely boring by students, while a platform for vocabulary review, practice and consolidation is provided by ReallyEnglish. For example, vocabulary relating to clothing and accessories in fashion, the topic of Unit 2, can be found in the ReallyEnglish courses Let's Go Shopping, Clothing and Fashion and Online Shopping. Through a variety of listening and speaking exercises on ReallyEnglish which are full of interest, students will be able to master the use of words in a flexible and effective way. The combination of the ReallyEnglish platform and classroom content is the perfect manifestation of 'blending' English teaching environments. Students are expected to engage in more amusing, efficient and non-boring English learning; cultivating autonomous and proactive English learning habits as well as achieving greater progress by virtue of the effective learning design of the teacher.



Figure 1

Figure 2

Figure 3

### To consolidate online learning through offline activities.

The ReallyEnglish platform enables students to acquire a general grasp of basic knowledge or expression through online learning, which requires teachers to organise and motivate students to consolidate and flexibly apply the basic knowledge learned online through elaborate design of classroom teaching activities. In this way, students' initiative and enthusiasm in class will be greatly enhanced because they are fully prepared and filled with expectations for the presentation of material in class. For example, by providing students with an abundance of vocabulary and expressions, the Designer Shopping course on ReallyEnglish helps students to engage in classroom discussions in English on the topic of 'whether people should pursue fashion' in Unit 2 of the textbook. In addition, in Unit 3, on the topic of love, students are required to offer advice on the subject of love to three friends suffering emotional distress. Students are expected to study the ReallyEnglish courses Words of Advice and Advice for a Sick Friend in advance. Once appropriate English expressions have been accumulated and 'input' by the students, the 'output' will no longer be a problem. Another example is Unit 4, which is entitled 'Culture Shock' and in which Chinese and Western cultures are compared. In addition to the varied vocabulary and expressions that are provided to students in the textbook, students' horizons will also be expanded by studying the content of the ReallyEnglish course Cultural Shock, a Rich Culture and Fitting into a New Culture which looks at adaptation to different cultures while studying abroad. Moreover, the content of the ReallyEnglish courses Weddings, Planning a

*Wedding* and *Breaking up* can be effectively applied in students' drama performances portraying love stories. By integrating learning and applications, students will participate actively rather than passively in learning and devote themselves to the study of new courses on the ReallyEnglish platform with a sense of achievement brought about by participation.

#### Online and offline follow-up, assessment and guidance.

It is believed that the most effective way to ensure that students are encouraged to pursue continuous and persistent learning is to provide them with timely, effective and kindly assessment and guidance. Making students aware of the problems inherent in the learning process and providing guidance in solving them are considered to be crucial obligations of teachers who adopt the blended English teaching mode.

The complete, comprehensive and systematic student learning report system provided by the ReallyEnglish platform makes reporting on students' learning progress and learning effectiveness straightforward, and the reports are available at any time. The duration of every session of students' study is shown in the reports, so it is possible to monitor the students' learning activity each week. Students will be reminded to log on to the platform for study every day after class. From the results of the initial test and reports on current learning performance, it is possible to check which aspects of the students' English ability have been improved and which are still inadequate, so they can be provided with targeted guidance. In addition, tasks for students' participation in the classroom can be adjusted accordingly. By following the courses that the students have passed and the results in each course as shown in the reports, it can be determined whether the students have completed the prescribed program of offline classroom tasks for each week, and they can be promptly reminded to prepare for offline classroom tasks by completing the relevant courses. Targeted guidance can be provided to them for the content of the courses they have not passed.

The most effective method for managing the top offline English classes is to allow students to discuss, prepare, and participate in groups outside the classroom, so that students can fully utilise their time in class to learn, digest, apply, and master the content of the class. However, in doing so the inherent problems of group collaboration become apparent, for example, the tendency towards over-reliance on one or two of the students in the group, or shifting responsibility for group tasks onto others, etc., which makes it difficult for teachers to identify underachievers in the group. During this semester, the groups have been designated as A, B, C, D & E, and their class performance recorded on a table. The abscissa of the table is the name of the group, and the ordinate is the number A, B, C, D or E. A small square corresponding to each abscissa and ordinate represents a student of each group. If a member of a group actively participates in classroom activities or discussion during the class, the group's name and the member's number will be recorded to reflect the student's participation performance in the group. In this way, it is clearly shown on the record table to what extent each student in each group actively participates in classroom tasks. Correspondingly, students who do not engage in classroom interaction according to the record table will be encouraged and supervised, so that each student will receive the teacher's attention and encouragement and will actively participate in classroom interaction. In addition, students will be encouraged to apply, express, consolidate and practice what they have learned on the ReallyEnglish platform by the addition of marks based on classroom performance, further stimulating students to actively engage in study on the ReallyEnglish platform.

#### Conclusion

In view of the continuous exploration and practice of the blended teaching mode of College English based on the ReallyEnglish platform, I hope to design more suitable classroom activities for students' abilities and demands through further refinement of the courses on ReallyEnglish, with the view of enriching students' passion for English learning, leading to more proficient application of English as well as greater progress and achievements in English learning.

#### References

[1] Yang Fang, Wei Xing & Zhao Wenxia. An Exploration of Blended English Teaching Model. Computer-Assisted Foreign Language Education. 2017, (173), 21-28.

[2] LI Ying. Research on College English Mixed Teaching Mode Based on Flipping Classroom.Journal of Liaoning University of Technology(Social Science Edition). 2016, 18(06), 115-118.

[3] Li Deng. Current Situation and Analysis of Informal Learning of College Students under Information Technology Environment [D]. Wuhan: Central China Normal University, 2013,18

[4]. Butterworth, J & Thwaits, G. Thinking Skill Critical Thinking and Problem Solving [M]. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2013.

[5]. Waters, A. Thinking and language learning [J]. ELT Journal, 2006,60(4),319-327

[6] Bork Kan. New Development of Educational Technology Theory from the Perspective of Mixed Learning [J]. Research on Audiovisual Education, 2004, (3), 3-4

[7]. Swain, M. Three Functions of Output in Second Language Learning [M].InG. Cook & B. Seidlhofer (Eds), Principles and Practice in Applied Linguistics. Oxford, England:Oxford Univrsity Press, 1995

**Edited by:** Jozef Colpaert, Ann Aerts, Qing Ma

# Local Organising Committee:

Ann Aerts - University of Antwerp, Belgium Jozef Colpaert - University of Antwerp, Belgium Qing Ma - The Education University of Hong Kong Jackie Lee Fung King - The Education University of Hong Kong

## Scientific Committee:

the editorial board of the CALL Journal



www.call2019.org